

Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement

# Northwest Training and Testing

March 2019 | Draft

Vol. **2** 

NAVAL SEA SYSTEMS COMMAND







## Northwest Training and Testing Activities Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/ Overseas Environmental Impact Statement







## Volume 2

## March 2019

NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager 3730 North Charles Porter Ave. Building 385 Oak Harbor, WA 98278-3500

3.7

### Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

### **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

### Northwest Training and Testing

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Marine Vegetation		3.7-1	
3.7.1	'.1 Affected Environment		
	3.7.1.1	General Threats	3.7-1
	3.7.1.2	Marine Vegetation Groups and Distribution	3.7-1
3.7.2	Environmental Consequences		
	3.7.2.1	Explosive Stressors	3.7-2
	3.7.2.2	Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors	3.7-4
	3.7.2.3	Secondary Stressors	3.7-11

### **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this section.

### **List of Tables**

There are no tables in this section.

This page intentionally left blank.

#### 3.7 Marine Vegetation

#### 3.7.1 Affected Environment

For purposes of this Supplemental, the region of influence for marine vegetation remains the same as that identified in the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas EIS (OEIS).

#### 3.7.1.1 General Threats

Following a review of recent literature, the existing conditions of marine habitats in the Study Area as listed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS have not appreciably changed. As such, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

#### 3.7.1.2 Marine Vegetation Groups and Distribution

A literature review found that the information on marine vegetation groups in the Study Area have not substantially changed from what is shown in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As such, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid for the following marine vegetation groups: phylum Dinophyta [dinoflagellates], phylum Cyanobacteria [blue-green algae], phylum Chlorophyta [green algae], phylum Heterokontophyta [brown algae], phylum Rhodophyta [red algae], diatoms, and phylum Spermatophyta [seagrasses and cordgrasses]).

Some of the vegetated habitats, such as eelgrass beds, are Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) and protected under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act, which was reauthorized and amended by the Sustainable Fisheries Act in 1996.

#### 3.7.2 Environmental Consequences

In the Proposed Action for this Supplemental, some modifications have been made to the quantity and type of explosive stressors under the two action alternatives. New activities being proposed; high-energy lasers (Energy stressor), as described in Section 3.0.3.3.2.2 (High-Energy Lasers); and biodegradable polymer (Entanglement stressor), as described in Section 3.0.3.5.3 (Biodegradable Polymer) would not impact marine vegetation and therefore do not change the stressors analyzed or the results of the analyses presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS considered training and testing activities proposed to occur in the Study Area that may have the potential to impact marine vegetation. The stressors applicable to marine vegetation in the Study Area include the same stressors considered in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS:

- **Explosive** (in-air explosions, in-water explosions)
- **Physical disturbance and strike** (vessels and in-water devices, military expended materials, seafloor devices)
- Secondary (impacts associated with sediments and water quality)

This section evaluates how and to what degree potential impacts on marine vegetation from stressors described in Section 3.0 (Introduction) may have changed since the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS was completed. Proposed training and testing activities, the number of times each activity would be conducted annually, and the locations within the Study Area where the activity would typically occur under each alternative are presented in Tables 2.5-1, 2.5-2, and 2.5-3 in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives). The tables also present the same information for

activities described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS so that the proposed levels of training and testing under this Supplemental can be easily compared.

The analysis presented in this section also considers standard operating procedures described in Section 2.3.3 (Standard Operating Procedures) and mitigation measures that are described in Chapter 5 (Mitigation) and analyzed in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment). These procedures and measures include the use of lookouts or observers to observe for additional biological resources, such as floating vegetation. The term "floating vegetation" refers specifically to floating concentrations of detached kelp paddies and *Sargassum*. The Navy observes for these additional biological resources to protect Endangered Species Act-listed species or to offer an additional layer of protection for marine mammals and sea turtles. The Navy would implement these measures to avoid potential impacts on marine vegetation from stressors associated with the proposed training and testing activities.

#### 3.7.2.1 Explosive Stressors

#### 3.7.2.1.1 Impacts from Explosives

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the potential for an explosion to injure or destroy marine vegetation would depend on the amount of vegetation present, the number of munitions used, and their net explosive weight. In areas where marine vegetation and locations for explosions overlap, marine vegetation on the surface of the water, in the water column, or rooted in the seafloor may be impacted. Seafloor macroalgae and single-celled algae may overlap with underwater and sea surface explosion locations. If these vegetation types are near an explosion, only a small number of them are likely to be impacted relative to their total population level. Also, some seafloor macroalgae are resilient to high levels of wave action (Mach et al., 2007), which may aid in their ability to withstand underwater explosions that occur near them. Underwater explosions also may temporarily increase the turbidity (sediment suspended in the water) in nearby waters, incrementally reducing the amount of light available to marine vegetation. Reducing light availability decreases, albeit temporarily, the photosynthetic ability of marine vegetation.

#### 3.7.2.1.1.1 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-7, the number of explosions would increase for E1, E2, and E5 explosives, but decreases for E12 explosives compared to levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously, with underwater detonations typically occurring in waters greater than 200 ft. in depth and greater than 50 nautical miles (NM) from shore, with the exception of mine countermeasure and neutralization testing proposed in the Offshore Area, and existing mine warfare areas in Inland Waters (e.g., Crescent Harbor and Hood Canal Explosive Ordnance Disposal Training Ranges). Therefore, the impacts to marine vegetation would be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, underwater and surface explosions conducted for training activities are not expected to cause population-level impacts on seagrasses because (1) the impact area of underwater explosions is very small (localized) relative to seagrass distribution; (2) the training would occur in previously disturbed areas; (3) the low number of charges reduces the potential for impacts; and (4) disturbance would be temporary and dependent upon the level of sediment redistributed, the amount of time it takes the sediment to settle, and the amount of light that reaches the disturbed area. Based on these factors, potential impacts on marine algae and vegetation from underwater and surface explosions are not expected to result in detectable changes to growth, survival, or propagation that would result in population-level impacts.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of explosives during training activities under Alternative 1 may have an adverse effect on EFH by reducing the quality and quantity of marine vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC. Impacts on attached macroalgae is determined to be minimal and temporary to long term throughout the Study Area and minimal and long term (stressor duration or recovery in more than 3 years but less than 20 years) on submerged rooted vegetation beds.

#### Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-7, the number of explosions would increase for E1, E7, and E11 explosives, but decreases for E4 explosives compared to levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities that use explosive munitions would occur in the same general locations and in a similar manner as previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, with one exception. A new mine countermeasure and neutralization testing activity would occur in the Offshore Area approximately three times per year and would use explosives within the water column (see Chapter 2, Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives). This activity would occur closer to shore that other activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that involved the use of in-water explosives in the Offshore Area. Although this activity would occur closer to shore, it would typically occur in water depths greater than 100 feet. Therefore, the impacts to marine vegetation would be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, underwater and surface explosions conducted for testing activities are not expected to cause population-level impacts on seagrasses because (1) the impact area of underwater explosions is very small (localized) relative to seagrass distribution; (2) the low number of charges reduces the potential for impacts; and (3) disturbance would be temporary and dependent upon the level of sediment redistributed, the amount of time it takes the sediment to settle, and the amount of light that reaches the disturbed area. Based on these factors, potential impacts on marine algae and vegetation from underwater and surface explosions are not expected to result in detectable changes to growth, survival, or propagation that would result in population-level impacts.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of explosives during testing activities under Alternative 1 may have an adverse effect on EFH by reducing the quality and quantity of marine vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC. Impacts on attached macroalgae is determined to be minimal and temporary to long term throughout the Study Area and minimal and long term (stressor duration or recovery in more than 3 years but less than 20 years) on submerged rooted vegetation beds.

#### 3.7.2.1.1.2 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

The quantity of explosives used during training activities under Alternative 2 would increase compared to levels presented above for Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-7) and levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously, with underwater detonations typically occurring in waters greater than 200 ft. in depth and greater than 50 NM from shore, with the exception of mine countermeasure and neutralization testing proposed in the Offshore Area, and existing mine warfare areas in Inland Waters (e.g., Crescent Harbor and Hood Canal Explosive Ordnance Disposal Training Ranges). Therefore, the impacts to marine vegetation would be the same as described above under Alternative 1 and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Impacts of explosions that exceed natural disturbance intensities may uproot plants and damage substrates, which would delay recovery; however, the Navy reduces impacts on overall

vegetation communities by using previously disturbed areas for training. Therefore, potential impacts on marine algae and vegetation from underwater and surface explosions are not expected to result in detectable changes to growth, survival, or propagation that would result in population-level impacts.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of explosives during training activities under Alternative 2 may have an adverse effect on EFH by reducing the quality and quantity of marine vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC. Impacts on attached macroalgae is determined to be minimal and temporary to long term throughout the Study Area and minimal and long term (stressor duration or recovery in more than 3 years but less than 20 years) on submerged rooted vegetation beds.

#### Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

The quantity of explosives used during testing activities under Alterative 2 would be the same as Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-7), but would decrease from 148 to 129 activities compared to levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities that use explosive munitions would occur in the same general locations and in a similar manner as previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, with one exception. A new mine countermeasure and neutralization testing activity would occur in the Offshore Area approximately three times per year and would use explosives within the water column (see Chapter 2, Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives). This activity would occur closer to shore that other activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that involved the use of in-water explosives in the Offshore Area. Although this activity would occur closer to shore, it would typically occur in water depths greater than 100 feet. Therefore, the impacts to marine vegetation under Alternative 2 would be the same as those described above under Alternative 1 and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of explosives during testing activities under Alternative 2 may have an adverse effect on EFH by reducing the quality and quantity of marine vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC. Impacts on attached macroalgae is determined to be minimal and temporary to long term throughout the Study Area and minimal and long term (stressor duration or recovery in more than 3 years but less than 20 years) on submerged rooted vegetation beds.

#### 3.7.2.1.1.3 Impacts from Explosives Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Explosive stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer explosive stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential impacts from explosive stressors on marine vegetation, but would not measurably improve growth, survival, or status of marine vegetation populations.

#### 3.7.2.2 Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors

This section analyzes the potential impacts on marine vegetation of the various types of physical disturbance and strike stressors during training and testing activities within the Study Area. Three types

of physical disturbance and strike stressors are evaluated for their impacts on marine vegetation, including (1) vessels and in-water devices, (2) military expended materials, and (3) seafloor devices.

The evaluation of the impacts of physical disturbance stressors on marine vegetation focuses on proposed activities that may cause vegetation to be damaged by an object that is moving through the water (e.g., vessels and in-water devices), or dropped to the seafloor (e.g., military expended materials), or dropped to the seafloor and recovered (e.g., seafloor devices such as anchors). Not all activities are proposed to occur throughout the entire Study Area. Wherever appropriate, specific geographic areas of potential impact are identified within the Study Area boundaries.

#### 3.7.2.2.1 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices

As described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the potential impacts of Navy vessels used during training and testing activities on marine vegetation are based on the vertical distribution of the vegetation, and vessel disturbance of marine vegetation would be limited to floating marine algae. Vessel movements may disperse or injure algal mats. Training and testing activities would be on a small spatial scale, and because algal distribution is patchy, mats may re-form. Navy training and testing activities involving vessel movement would not impact the general health of marine algae; the impact would be minimal relative to their total population level.

#### 3.7.2.2.1.1 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the combined number of proposed training activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices would increase (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) compared to those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would decrease slightly in the Offshore Area (from 1,156 to 1,144 annual activities) and in the Inland Waters (from 368 to 327), so there would still be a net decrease in the Study Area. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously.

There is an overall increase in the use of in-water devices (Table 3.0-13), all of which are associated with small, slow-moving unmanned underwater vehicles. The proposed increase of approximately 104 in-water devices would not change the conclusion presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of vessels and in-water devices on marine vegetation would remain inconsequential because impacts are expected to be short term and temporary, based on (1) the quick recovery of most vegetation types; (2) the short-term nature of most vessel movements and local disturbances of the surface water, with some temporary increase in suspended sediment in shallow areas; (3) the deployment of in-water devices at depths where they would not likely come in contact with marine vegetation; and (4) the implementation of Navy protective measures. Based on these factors, potential impacts on marine algae and vegetation from physical disturbance and strike are not expected to result in detectable changes to growth, survival, or propagation that would result in population-level impacts.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices during training activities under Alternative 1 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the combined number of proposed testing activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) would increase compared to those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would increase in the Offshore Area (from 181 to 283 annual activities), and increase slightly in the Inland Waters (from 916 to 918) and in the Western Behm Canal (60 to 63).

There is also an overall increase in the use of in-water devices during testing activities in the Study Area (Table 3.0-13), all of which are associated with small, slow-moving, and unmanned underwater vehicles. The number of testing activities increases in the Offshore Areas (156 to 215), Inland Waters (576 to 664), and in the western Behm Canal (8 to 19). The proposed increase of in-water devices would not change the conclusion presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. In spite of these increases, and as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, these vessel and in-water device activities remain unlikely to impact marine vegetation. The proposed net increase of vessel and in-water device activities combined would not change that conclusion. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of vessels and in-water devices on marine vegetation would be inconsequential for the same reasons presented above for training activities. Based on these factors, potential impacts on marine algae and vegetation from physical disturbance and strike are not expected to result in detectable changes to growth, survival, or propagation that would result in population-level impacts.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices during testing activities under Alternative 1 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### 3.7.2.2.1.2 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2

#### Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the combined number of proposed training activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices would be slightly greater than Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) and greater than those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would increase in the Study Area compared to Alternative 1 (1,471 for Alternative 1 compared to 1,658 for Alternative 2), and increases (1,524 to 1,658) compared to levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Table 3.0-12).

There would also be a slight total increase in the use of in-water devices compared to Alternative 1 (600 for Alternative 1 compared to 620) and an increase from levels presented in the 2015 NWTT final EIS/OEIS (496 to 620) (Table 3.0-13). All of the increased in-water device activities are associated with small, slow-moving unmanned underwater vehicles. The proposed increase of in-water devices would not change the conclusion presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of vessels and in-water devices on marine vegetation would remain inconsequential because impacts are expected to be short term and temporary based on (1) the quick recovery of most vegetation types; (2) the short-term nature of most vessel movements and local disturbances of the surface water, with some temporary increases in suspended sediment in shallow areas; (3) the deployment of in-water devices at depths where they would not likely come in contact with marine vegetation; and (4) the implementation of Navy protective measures. Based on these factors, potential impacts on marine algae and vegetation from physical disturbance and strike are not

expected to result in detectable changes to growth, survival, or propagation that would result in population-level impacts.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices during training activities under Alternative 2 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the combined number of proposed testing activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices would increase compared to Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) and those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would increase slightly in the Offshore Area compared to Alternative 1 (from 283 to 295) and would increase compared to numbers presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 181 to 295). Vessel movements would increase in the Inland Waters compared to Alternative 1 (from 918 to 1,028) and would increase compared to numbers presented in the 2015 NWTT final EIS/OEIS (from 916 to 1,028). Similarly, vessel movement would increase in the Western Behm Canal (from 63 to 77) compared to Alternative 1 and would increase from 60 to 77 compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, resulting in a net increase in the Study Area.

There would also be a slight increase in the total use of in-water devices compared to Alternative 1 (898 for Alternative 1 compared to 932) and an increase from levels presented in the 2015 NWTT final EIS/OEIS (740 to 932) (Table 3.0-13). The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. In spite of these increases, and as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, impacts to marine vegetation during vessel and in-water device activities would be unlikely. The proposed increase of vessel and in-water device activities would not change that conclusion. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of vessels and in-water devices on marine vegetation would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for training activities. Based on these factors, potential impacts on marine algae and vegetation from physical disturbance and strike are not expected to result in detectable changes to growth, survival, or propagation that would result in population-level impacts.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices during testing activities under Alternative 2 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### 3.7.2.2.1.3 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative

would lessen the potential impacts from physical disturbance and strike stressors on marine vegetation, but would not measurably improve growth, survival, or status of marine vegetation populations.

#### 3.7.2.2.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials

Military expended materials that could impact marine vegetation includes non-explosive practice munitions (Table 3.0-14), other military materials (Table 3.0-15), and explosive munitions that may result in fragments (Table 3.0-16).

#### 3.7.2.2.2.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-16 is combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 decreases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine vegetation would be expected to be the same or marginally reduced, as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended material during training activities under Alternative 1 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-16 is combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 increases compared to ongoing activities. Although there are a few new activities, such as mine countermeasure and neutralization testing and kinetic energy weapon testing, that would generate military expended materials, impacts to marine vegetation would be expected to be the same as those described above and would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended material during testing activities under Alternative 1 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### 3.7.2.2.2.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from Tables 3.0-14 through Table 3.0-16 are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increase compared to both Alternative 1 and ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine vegetation would

be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of military expended materials on marine vegetation would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended material during training activities under Alternative 2 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-16 are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases compared to Alternative 1 and ongoing activities. Although there are a few new activities, such as mine countermeasure and neutralization testing and kinetic energy weapon testing, that would generate military expended materials, impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same as those described above and would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended material during testing activities under Alternative 2 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### 3.7.2.2.2.3 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential impacts from physical disturbance and strike stressors on marine vegetation, but would not measurably improve growth, survival, or status of marine vegetation populations.

#### 3.7.2.2.3 Impacts from Seafloor Devices

Several training and testing activities include the use of seafloor devices—items that may contact the ocean bottom temporarily. The activities and the specific seafloor devices are (1) precision anchoring training, where anchors are lowered to the seafloor and recovered; (2) EOD mine countermeasures training exercises, where some mine targets may be moored to the seafloor; (3) crawler UUV tests in which UUVs "crawl" across the seafloor; and (4) various testing activities where small anchors are placed on the seafloor to hold instrumentation in place.

#### 3.7.2.2.3.1 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of training activities that include the use of seafloor devices would increase from 10 to 40 compared to ongoing activities, all of which would occur in the Inland Waters (Table 3.0-18) as part of the Precision Anchoring exercise. The activity is comprised of a vessel navigating to a precise, pre-determined location and releasing the ship's anchor to the bottom. The anchor is later recovered, and the activity is complete. Because of the nature of the activity, marine vegetation on the seafloor may be impacted by seafloor devices by physically removing vegetation (e.g., uprooting), crushing the vegetation, temporarily increasing the turbidity (sediment suspended in the water) of waters nearby, or shading seagrass, which may interfere with photosynthesis. However, the impact of seafloor devices on marine vegetation would be inconsequential because (1) the anchors will be deployed in previously disturbed areas; (2) most vegetation types will recover quickly; and (3) the implementation of Navy protective measures.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices during training activities under Alternative 1 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of testing activities that include the use of seafloor devices would increase compared to ongoing activities (from 1,809 to 1,878) (Table 3.0-18). The majority of the activities involve the temporary placement of mine shapes in Inland Waters. Because of the nature of the activity, marine vegetation on the seafloor may be impacted by seafloor devices by physically removing vegetation (e.g., uprooting), crushing the vegetation, temporarily increasing the turbidity (sediment suspended in the water) of waters nearby, or shading seagrass, which may interfere with photosynthesis. However, the impact of seafloor devices on marine vegetation would be inconsequential for the same reasons given in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the size of the disturbed area would be small, and the activities would be short term and infrequent.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices during testing activities under Alternative 1 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### 3.7.2.2.3.2 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of training activities that include the use of seafloor devices would be the same as under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-18) and would increase from 10 to 40 compared to ongoing activities. Because of the nature of the activity, marine vegetation on the seafloor may be impacted by seafloor devices by physically removing vegetation (e.g., uprooting), crushing the vegetation, temporarily increasing the turbidity (sediment suspended in the water) of waters nearby, or shading seagrass, which may interfere with photosynthesis. However, the impact of seafloor devices on marine vegetation would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices during training activities under Alternative 2 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of testing activities that include the use of seafloor devices would increase compared to both Alternative 1 (1,878 to 1,953) and ongoing activities (1,809 to 1,953) (Table 3.0-18). The majority of the activities involve mine shapes. Because of the nature of the activity, marine vegetation on the seafloor may be impacted by seafloor devices by physically removing vegetation (e.g., uprooting); crushing the vegetation; temporarily increasing the turbidity (sediment suspended in the water) of waters nearby; or shading seagrass, which may interfere with photosynthesis. However, the impact of seafloor devices on marine vegetation would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices during testing activities under Alternative 2 would have no impact on attached macroalgae or submerged rooted vegetation that constitutes EFH or HAPC.

#### 3.7.2.2.3.3 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential impacts from physical disturbance and strike stressors on marine vegetation, but would not measurably improve growth, survival, or status of marine vegetation populations.

#### 3.7.2.3 Secondary Stressors

As described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Navy determined that neither state or federal standards or guidelines for sediments nor water quality would be violated by proposed training and testing activities. Because of these conditions, population-level impacts on marine vegetation are likely to be inconsequential and undetectable. Therefore, because these standards and guidelines are structured to protect human health and the environment, and the proposed activities do not violate them, no indirect impacts are anticipated on marine vegetation from the training and testing activities proposed by Alternative 1, or Alternative 2, or the No Action Alternative.

### **REFERENCES**

Mach, K. J., B. B. Hale, M. W. Denny, and D. V. Nelson. (2007). Death by small forces: A fracture and fatigue analysis of wave-swept macroalgae. *The Journal of Experimental Biology, 210*(13), 2231–2243.

### Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

### **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

### Northwest Training and Testing

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

3.8	Marine Invertebrates			
3.8	3.8.1	Affected Environment		
		3.8.1.1	Taxonomic Groups	
		3.8.1.2	Sound Sensing and Production	
		3.8.1.3	General Threats	
		3.8.1.4	Endangered Species Act-Listed Species	
		3.8.1.5	Federally Managed Species	
	3.8.2	Environr	nental Consequences	
		3.8.2.1	Acoustic Stressors	
		3.8.2.2	Explosive Stressors	
		3.8.2.3	Energy Stressors	
		3.8.2.4	Physical Disturbance and Strike	
		3.8.2.5	Entanglement Stressors	
		3.8.2.6	Ingestion Stressors	
		3.8.2.7	Secondary Stressors	

### **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this section.

### List of Tables

Table 3.8-1: Taxonomic Groups of Marine Invertebrates in the Study Area	8-	.2
---	----	----

This page intentionally left blank.

#### 3.8 Marine Invertebrates

#### 3.8.1 Affected Environment

For purposes of this Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas EIS (OEIS), the region of influence for marine invertebrates remains the same as that identified in the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final EIS/OEIS. Following a review of recent literature since 2015, including government technical documents and reports, and online scientific journal databases managed by the Navy (e.g., MARLIN), the existing conditions of marine invertebrates in the Study Area, as listed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, have not appreciably changed.

#### 3.8.1.1 Taxonomic Groups

As described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, all marine invertebrate taxonomic groups are represented in the Study Area (see Table 3.8-1), with the major taxonomic groups presented below in Invertebrate Hearing and Vocalization.

Following a review of recent literature, including government technical documents and reports and online scientific journal databases, the information presented on invertebrate hearing and vocalization, as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, has not appreciably changed. New research describes detection of particle motion in mechanical receptors on various invertebrate body parts (Roberts et al., 2016) and how acoustic sensory capabilities, if present, are apparently limited to detecting the local particle motion component of sound (Edmonds et al., 2016). As such, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS regarding invertebrate hearing and vocalization remains valid.

#### 3.8.1.2 Sound Sensing and Production

Following a review of recent literature, including government technical documents and reports and online scientific journal databases, the information presented on invertebrate sound sensing and production, as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, has not appreciably changed. New information on particle motion detection by Roberts et al. (2016) reinforces the finding that mechanical receptors on some invertebrates are found on various body parts. In addition, these structures are connected to the central nervous system and can detect some movements or vibrations that are transmitted through substrate (Edmonds et al., 2016) (Roberts et al., 2016). As such, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS regarding invertebrate sound sensing and production remains valid.

#### 3.8.1.3 General Threats

The general threats to marine invertebrates discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS included overexploitation and destructive fishing practices; habitat degradation from pollution and coastal development; disease; and invasive species, with compounding factors such as increasing temperature and decreasing pH of the ocean from pollution linked to global climate change. New information is regularly being published on the effects of global climate change and ocean acidification on various aspects of invertebrate life development such as larval development (McLaskey et al., 2016). However, the new research is generally in agreement with the information provided in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As such, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS regarding general threats remains valid.

Maj	or Invertebrate Groups <sup>1</sup>	Presence in Study Area		ups <sup>1</sup> Presence in Study Area	
Common Name (Species Group)	Description	Offshore	Inland Waters	Western Behm Canal, Alaska	
Foraminifera, radiolarians, ciliates (Phylum Foraminifera)	Benthic and pelagic single-celled organisms; shells typically made of calcium carbonate or silica.	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	
Sponges (Phylum Porifera)	Benthic animals; large species have calcium carbonate or silica structures embedded in cells to provide structural support.	Seafloor	Seafloor	Seafloor	
Corals, hydroids, jellyfish (Phylum Cnidaria)	Benthic and pelagic animals with stinging cells.	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	
Flatworms (Phylum Platyhelminthes)	Mostly benthic; simplest form of marine worm with a flattened body.	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	
Ribbon worms (Phylum Nemertea)	Benthic marine worms with a long extension from the mouth (proboscis) from the mouth that helps capture food.	Water column, seafloor	Seafloor	Seafloor	
Round worms (Phylum Nematoda)	Small benthic marine worms; many live in close association with other animals (typically as parasites).	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	
Segmented worms (Phylum Annelida)	Mostly benthic, highly mobile marine worms; many tube-dwelling species.	Seafloor	Seafloor	Seafloor	
Bryozoans (Phylum Bryozoa)	Lace-like animals that exist as filter feeding colonies attached to the seafloor and other substrates.	Seafloor	Seafloor	Seafloor	
Cephalopods, bivalves, sea snails, chitons (Phylum Molluska)	Mollusks are a diverse group of soft-bodied invertebrates with a specialized layer of tissue called a mantle. Mollusks such as squid are active swimmers and predators, while others such as sea snails are predators or grazers, and clams are filter feeders.	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	

Table 3.8-1: Taxonomic Grou	ps of Marine Invertebrates in the Study	Area

Major Invertebrate Groups <sup>1</sup>		Presence in Study Area		
Common Name (Species Group)	Description	Offshore	Inland Waters	Western Behm Canal, Alaska
Shrimp, crab, barnacles, copepods (Phylum Arthropoda - Crustacea)	Benthic or pelagic; some are immobile with an external skeleton; all feeding modes from predator to filter feeder.	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor
Sea stars, sea urchins, sea cucumbers (Phylum Echinodermata)	Benthic predators and filter feeders with tube feet.	Seafloor	Seafloor	Seafloor

Table 3.8-1: Taxonomic Grou	ps of Marine Invertebrates in the Study	/ Area (continued)
-----------------------------	---	--------------------

<sup>1</sup>Major species groups (those with more than 1,000 species) are based on the World Register of Marine Species (Appeltans et al., 2010) and Catalogue of Life (Bisby et al., 2010)

Notes: Benthic = a bottom-dwelling organism; Pelagic = relating to, living, or occurring in the waters of the ocean.

#### 3.8.1.4 Endangered Species Act-Listed Species

#### 3.8.1.4.1 Offshore Area

No marine invertebrates listed as threatened or endangered under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) occur in the Offshore Area of the Study Area, as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 3.8.1.4.2 Inland Waters

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, no marine invertebrates listed as threatened or endangered under the ESA occur in the Inland Waters; but three species of concern, the Pinto abalone (*Haliotis kamtschatkana*), the Olympia oyster (*Ostreola conchaphila*), and the Newcomb's littorine snail (*Algamorda subrotundata*) do occur in the Inland Waters of the Study Area. Species of concern status does not carry any procedural or substantive protections under the ESA.

#### 3.8.1.4.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, no marine invertebrates listed as threatened or endangered under the ESA occur in the Western Behm Canal; but three species of concern, the Pinto abalone (*Haliotis kamtschatkana*), the Olympia oyster (*Ostreola conchaphila*), and the Newcomb's littorine snail (*Algamorda subrotundata*) have potential to occur in the Western Behm Canal. Species of concern status does not carry any procedural or substantive protections under the ESA.

#### 3.8.1.5 Federally Managed Species

The Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (MSA), which was reauthorized and amended by the Sustainable Fisheries Act (1996), requires eight regional fishery management councils to describe and identify Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) in their respective regions, to specify actions to conserve and enhance that EFH, and to minimize the adverse effects of fishing on EFH. Congress defined EFH as "those waters and substrate necessary to fish for spawning, breeding, feeding or growth to

maturity." This definition also covers federally managed invertebrates such as squid, krill, and scallops, which are described below.

#### 3.8.1.5.1 Offshore Area

Market squid (*Doryteuthis opalescens*) and krill (euphausiids) are the only federally managed coastal pelagic invertebrate species found in the Offshore Area of the Study Area, as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. A literature review found that the information on this species in the Study Area has not substantially changed from what is shown in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As such, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. The analysis of impacts on commercial and recreational fisheries is provided in Section 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources).

#### 3.8.1.5.2 Inland Waters

Market squid (*Doryteuthis opalescens*) and krill (euphausiids) are the only federally managed coastal pelagic invertebrate species found in the Inland Waters of the Study Area, as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. A literature review found that the information on this species in the Study Area has not substantially changed from what is shown in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As such, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. The analysis of impacts on commercial and recreational fisheries is provided in Section 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources).

#### 3.8.1.5.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

As described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, four species of scallops including *Patinopecten caurinus, Chlamys rubida, Chlamys hastata,* and *Crassadoma gigantean* are federally-managed in the Western Behm Canal portion of the Study Area include. A literature review found that the information on this species in the Study Area has not substantially changed from what is shown in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Siddon et al. (2017) describes a standardized method for determining the age of *Patinopecten caurinus* in Alaska that helps provide the foundation for sound fisheries management. As such, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. The analysis of impacts on commercial and recreational fisheries is provided in Section 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources).

#### 3.8.2 Environmental Consequences

In the Proposed Action for this Supplemental, some modifications have been made to the quantity and type of acoustic stressors under the two action alternatives. Because of new activities being proposed, two new stressors would be introduced that could potentially affect marine species; high-energy lasers (as an Energy stressor), as detailed in Section 3.0.3.3.2.2 (High-Energy Lasers), and biodegradable polymer (as an Entanglement stressor), as detailed in Section 3.0.3.5.3 (Biodegradable Polymer).

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS considered training and testing activities proposed to occur in the Study Area that may have the potential to impact marine invertebrates. The stressors applicable to marine invertebrates in the Study Area for this Supplemental include the two new stressors and the same stressors considered in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS:

- Acoustic (sonar and other transducers, vessel noise, aircraft noise, weapons noise)
- **Explosives** (in-air explosions, in-water explosions)
- **Energy** (in-water electromagnetic devices, high-energy lasers)
- **Physical disturbance and strike** (vessels and in-water devices, military expended materials, seafloor devices)
- Entanglement (wires and cables, decelerators/parachutes, biodegradable polymer)

- **Ingestion** (military expended materials munitions and military expended materials other than munitions)
- Secondary (impacts on habitat and impacts on prey availability)

This section evaluates how and to what degree potential impacts on marine invertebrates from stressors described in Section 3.0 (Introduction) may have changed since the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS was completed. Tables 2.5-1, 2.5-2, and 2.5-3 in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) list the proposed training and testing activities and include the number of times each activity would be conducted annually and the locations within the Study Area where the activity would typically occur under each alternative. The tables also present the same information for activities described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS so that the proposed levels of training and testing under this Supplemental can be easily compared.

The Navy conducted a review of federal and state regulations and standards relevant to marine invertebrates and reviewed scientific literature published since 2015 for new information on marine invertebrates that could inform the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The analysis presented in this section also considers standard operating procedures (see Section 2.3.3, Standard Operating Procedures) and mitigation measures that the Navy would implement to avoid or reduce impacts to live hard bottom, artificial reefs, and shipwrecks (see Appendix K, Geographic Mitigation Assessment, for more details). Mitigation for marine invertebrates will be coordinated with the National Marine Fisheries Service through the ESA consultation process.

#### 3.8.2.1 Acoustic Stressors

Little information is available on the potential impacts on marine invertebrates from exposure to sonar and other sound-producing activities. Most studies have focused on a few species (squid or crustaceans) and the consequences of exposures to broadband impulsive air guns typically used for seismic exploration, rather than on sonar or explosions. Because research on the consequences of marine invertebrate exposures to anthropogenic sounds is limited, qualitative analyses were conducted to determine the effects of the following acoustic stressors on marine invertebrates within the Study Area: non-impulsive sources (including sonar, vessel noise, aircraft overflights, and other active acoustic sources) and impulsive acoustic sources (including explosives and weapons firing).

While the number of training and testing activities would change under this supplement, the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.8.3.1 (Acoustic Stressors) remains applicable. The changes in training and testing activities are not substantial and would not result in an overall change to existing environmental conditions or an increase in the level or intensity of acoustic stressors within the Study Area.

As stated in the 2015 analysis, marine invertebrates are generally not sensitive to most sounds that would result from the proposed activities. Given that the activities would also be conducted in the same areas as described in the 2015 analysis, the amount of sound (i.e., the number of activities producing those sounds) would not change the conclusions. The analysis below analyzes the impacts from all acoustic sources such as sonar and other transducers.

#### 3.8.2.1.1 Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers

#### 3.8.2.1.1.1 Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, there will be an overall decrease in the number of sonar hours used in the Study Area during training activities and a slight increase in other sources of acoustic stressors (aircraft and weapons noise) (Table 3.0-2) compared to the number analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the analysis in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

As described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, invertebrates throughout the Study Area may be exposed to non-impulse sounds generated by low-, mid-, and high-frequency sonar and other acoustic sources, vessel noise, and aircraft noise. Acoustic impacts on marine invertebrates under Alternative 1 would be inconsequential because most marine invertebrates would not be close enough to intense sound sources to potentially experience impacts on sensory structures. Any marine invertebrate capable of sensing sound may alter its behavior and become disoriented due to masking of relevant environmental sounds if exposed to non-impulsive sound, although it is unknown if responses to non-impulsive sounds occur. Continuous noise, such as from vessels, may also contribute to masking of relevant environmental sounds. Because the distance over which most marine invertebrates are expected to detect any sounds is limited and vessels would be in transit, any sound exposures with the potential to cause masking or behavioral responses would last only minutes. Furthermore, invertebrate species have their best sensitivity to sound below 1 kilohertz and would not be capable of detecting the majority of sonars and other acoustic sources used in the Study Area.

Non-impulsive sounds associated with training under Alternative 1 are not expected to impact the majority of marine invertebrates or cause more than a short-term behavioral disturbance (e.g., change in orientation or swim speeds) to those marine invertebrates capable of detecting nearby sound. No population-level impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of marine invertebrate populations are expected under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the MSA and implementing regulations, the use of sonar and other transducers during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or Habitat Areas of Particular Concern (HAPCs) within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, there will be an increase in both the number of sonar hours and other sources of acoustic stressors used in the Study Area during testing (Table 3.0-2) compared to the number analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the analysis in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

As described above, acoustic impacts on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because most marine invertebrates would not be close enough to intense sound sources to potentially experience impacts on sensory structures. Non-impulsive sounds associated with testing under Alternative 1 are not expected to impact the majority of marine invertebrates or cause more than a short-term behavioral disturbance (e.g., change in orientation or swim speeds) to those marine invertebrates capable of detecting nearby sound. No population-level impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or

reproduction of marine invertebrate populations are expected under Alternative 1. Therefore, acoustic impacts on marine invertebrates under Alternative 1 would be inconsequential.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the MSA and implementing regulations, the use of sonar and other transducers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.1.1.2 Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of sonar hours and noise generated by other acoustic sources used during training activities (Table 3.0-2) would increase compared to the numbers analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and compared to Alternative 1. Under Alternative 2, increases in the number of sonar hour would have no appreciable change on the impact conclusions for acoustic stressors as summarized above under Alternative 1 and as presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Therefore, acoustic impacts on marine invertebrates under Alternative 2 would be negligible.

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and discussed above for Alternative 1, invertebrates throughout the Study Area may be exposed to non-impulse sounds generated by the same sound sources under Alternative 2. Acoustic impacts on marine invertebrates under Alternative 2 would be inconsequential because most marine invertebrates would not be close enough to intense sound sources to potentially experience impacts on sensory structures. Any marine invertebrate capable of sensing sound may alter its behavior and become disoriented due to masking of relevant environmental sounds if exposed to non-impulsive sound, although it is unknown if responses to non-impulsive sounds occur. Continuous noise, such as from vessels, may also contribute to masking of relevant environmental sounds. Because the distance over which most marine invertebrates are expected to detect any sounds is limited and vessels would be in transit, any sound exposures with the potential to cause masking or behavioral responses would last only minutes. Furthermore, invertebrate species have their best sensitivity to sound below 1 kilohertz and would not be capable of detecting the majority of sonars and other acoustic sources used in the Study Area.

Non-impulsive sounds associated with training and testing under Alternative 2 are not expected to impact the majority of marine invertebrates or cause more than a short-term behavioral disturbance (e.g., change in orientation or swim speeds) to those marine invertebrates capable of detecting nearby sound. No population-level impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of marine invertebrate populations are expected under Alternative 2.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the MSA and implementing regulations, the use of sonar and other transducers during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of sonar hours and noise generated by other acoustic sources used during testing activities (Table 3.0-2) would increase compared to the numbers analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and compared to Alternative 1. Under Alternative 2, increases in the number of sonar hour would have no appreciable change on the impact conclusions for acoustic stressors as summarized above under Alternative 1 and as presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Therefore, acoustic impacts on marine invertebrates under Alternative 2 would be negligible.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the MSA and implementing regulations, the use of sonar and other transducers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.1.1.3 Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Acoustic stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer acoustic stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from acoustic stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.2 Explosive Stressors

Explosives introduce loud, impulse, broadband sounds into the marine environment. Impulse sources are characterized by rapid pressure rise times and high peak pressures. Explosions produce high-pressure shock waves that could cause injury or physical disturbance due to rapid pressure changes. Impulse sounds are usually brief, but the associated rapid pressure changes can injure or startle marine invertebrates. While the number of training and testing activities would change under this supplement, the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.8.3.1 (Acoustic Stressors), remains applicable. The changes in training and testing activities are not substantial and would not result in an overall change to existing environmental conditions or an increase in the level or intensity of explosive stressors within the Study Area.

As stated above and in the 2015 analysis, marine invertebrates are generally not sensitive to most sounds that would result from the proposed activities. Given that the activities would also be conducted in the same areas as described in the 2015 analysis, there would be no change to the conclusions.

Effects of explosions on marine invertebrates include physical disturbance, fragmentation, or mortality to sessile organisms and pelagic larvae. Energy from an explosion at the surface would dissipate below detectable levels before reaching the seafloor and would not injure or otherwise impact deep-water, benthic marine invertebrates. Additionally, the vast majority of explosions occur at distances greater than 3 nautical miles (NM) from shore, where water depths are greater than the depths where the majority of hard bottom associated invertebrates occur.

As discussed in Chapter 5 (Mitigation), the Navy will implement mitigation to avoid impacts from explosives on seafloor resources throughout the Study Area. For example, the Navy will not conduct explosive mine countermeasure and neutralization activities within a specified distance of live hard bottom, artificial reefs, and shipwrecks. The mitigation will consequently help to avoid potential impacts on invertebrates that inhabit these areas. In addition, procedural mitigations include the requirement to avoid jellyfish aggregations during the use of explosive torpedoes.

#### 3.8.2.2.1 Impacts from Explosives

#### 3.8.2.2.1.1 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Explosives under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

The quantity of explosives used during training activities under Alterative 1 would generally increase compared to levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Table 3.0-7). The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously, with underwater detonations typically occurring in waters greater than 200 ft. in depth and greater than 50 NM from shore, with the exception of mine countermeasure and neutralization testing proposed in the Offshore Area and existing mine warfare areas in Inland Waters (e.g., Crescent Harbor and Hood Canal Explosive Ordnance Disposal Training Ranges). Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be the same as those described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Both pelagic and benthic marine invertebrates could be impacted by explosive stressors. Explosions would likely kill or injure nearby marine invertebrates. The potential effects could include physical disturbance, fragmentation, or mortality to sessile organisms and pelagic larvae. Most explosions at the water surface would not injure benthic marine invertebrates because the explosive weights would be small compared to the water depth.

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, non-impulsive sounds from explosions associated with training and testing under Alternative 1 are not expected to impact the majority of marine invertebrates or cause more than a short-term behavioral disturbance (e.g., change in orientation or swim speeds) to those marine invertebrates capable of detecting nearby sound. Impacts to marine invertebrates from explosions would be inconsequential because most detonations would occur in deeper waters greater than 50 NM) from shore in the offshore training area, and less than 1 percent would occur in Inland Waters. As water depth increases away from shore, benthic and pelagic invertebrates are generally disturbed, rather than struck, as the water flows around the vessel or in-water device. Shockwaves created by explosions would impact invertebrates in a similar way, causing them to be disturbed rather than struck as water flows from around the explosion. In addition, detonations near the surface would release a portion of their explosive energy into the air, reducing the explosive impacts in the water. No population-level impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of marine invertebrate populations are expected under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the MSA and implementing regulations, the use of explosives during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Explosives under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

The quantity of explosives used during testing activities under Alterative 1 would generally increase (Table 3.0-7) compared to levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities that use explosive munitions would occur in the same general locations and in a similar manner as previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, with one exception. A new mine countermeasure and neutralization testing activity would occur in the Offshore Area approximately three times per year and would use explosives within the water column (see Chapter 2, Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives). This activity would occur closer to shore that other activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that involved the use of in-water explosives in the Offshore Area. Although this activity would occur closer to shore, it would typically occur in water depths greater than 100 feet. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be the same as those described in the 2015 NWTT Final

EIS/OEIS and would be inconsequential because most detonations would occur greater than 50 NM from shore. As water depth increases away from shore, benthic and pelagic invertebrates would be less likely to be impacted by detonations at or near the surface. Pelagic marine invertebrates are generally disturbed, rather than struck, as the water flows around the vessel or in-water device. Shockwaves created by explosions would impact invertebrates in a similar way, causing them to be disturbed rather than struck as water flows from around the explosion. In addition, detonations near the surface would release a portion of their explosive energy into the air, reducing the explosive impacts in the water. No population-level impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of marine invertebrate populations are expected under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the MSA and implementing regulations, the use of explosives during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.2.1.2 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2

#### Impacts from Explosives under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

The quantity of explosives used during training activities under Alternative 2 would generally increase compared to levels presented above for Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-7) and levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine vegetation would be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and above for Alternative 1, both pelagic and benthic marine invertebrates could be impacted by explosive stressors during training activities under Alternative 2. However, impacts to marine invertebrates from underwater and surface explosions conducted for training activities would be inconsequential because most detonations would occur greater than 50 NM from shore in the offshore training area, and less than 1 percent would occur in Inland Waters. As water depth increases away from shore, benthic and pelagic invertebrates would be less likely to be impacted by detonations at or near the surface. Pelagic marine invertebrates are generally disturbed, rather than struck, as the water flows around the vessel or in-water device. Shockwaves created by explosions would impact invertebrates in a similar way, causing them to be disturbed rather than struck as water flows from around the explosion. In addition, detonations near the surface would release a portion of their explosive energy into the air, reducing the explosive impacts in the water. No population-level impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of marine invertebrate populations are expected under Alternative 2. No population-level impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of marine invertebrate populations are expected under Alternative 2.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the MSA and implementing regulations, the use of explosives during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Explosives under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

The quantity of explosives used during testing activities under Alterative 2 would generally be the same as Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-7), but would increase slightly compared to levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities that use explosive munitions would occur in the same general locations and in a similar manner as previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, with one exception. A new mine countermeasure and neutralization testing activity would occur in the Offshore Area approximately three times per year and would use explosives within the water column (see Chapter 2, Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives). This activity would occur closer to shore

that other activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that involved the use of in-water explosives in the Offshore Area. Although this activity would occur closer to shore, it would typically occur in water depths greater than 100 feet. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be the same as those described above for Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the MSA and implementing regulations, the use of explosives during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.2.1.3 Impacts from Explosives Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Explosive stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer explosive stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from explosive stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.3 Energy Stressors

The energy stressors that may impact marine invertebrates include in-water electromagnetic devices and high-energy lasers. The in-water electromagnetic devices stressor remains the same as analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS; high-energy lasers is a new stressor analyzed in this Supplemental. While the number of training and testing activities would change under this supplement, the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.8.3.2 (Energy Stressors), remains valid. As discussed in Section 3.0.3.3.2.2 (High-Energy Lasers), high-energy lasers are designed to disable surface targets, rendering them immobile. The primary concern is the potential for an invertebrate to be struck with the laser beam at or near the water's surface, where extended exposure could result in injury or death.

Magnetic fields are not known to control spawning or larval settlement in any invertebrate species. Existing information suggests sensitivity to electric and magnetic fields in at least three marine invertebrate phyla: Mollusca, Arthropoda, and Echinodermata (Lohmann et al., 1995; Lohmann & Lohmann, 2006; Normandeau et al., 2011). A possible magnetic sense has been suggested in jellyfish as well, although this has not been demonstrated experimentally (Fossette et al., 2015). Much of the available information on magnetic field sensitivity of marine invertebrates pertains to crustaceans. For example, a magnetic compass sense has been demonstrated in the spiny lobster (*Panulirus argus*) (Lohmann et al., 1995; Lohmann & Lohmann, 2006), and researchers suggest subtle behavioral response to magnetic fields of about 1 millitesla (1,000 microtesla) in the Dungeness crab and American lobster (*Homarus americanus*) (Woodruff et al., 2013). A review of potential effects of undersea power cables on marine species provides a summary of numerous studies of the sensitivity of various invertebrate species to electric and magnetic fields (Normandeau et al., 2011). Electric field sensitivity is reported in the summary for only two freshwater crayfish species, while magnetic field sensitivity is reported for multiple marine invertebrate species, including molluscs, crustaceans, and echinoderms. Sensitivity thresholds range from 300 to 30,000 microtesla, depending on the species. Most responses consisted of behavioral changes, although non-lethal physiological effects were noted in two sea urchin species in a 30,000 microtesla field (embryo development) and a marine mussel exposed to 300–700 microtesla field strength (cellular processes). Marine invertebrate community structure was not found to be affected by placement of energized underwater power cables with field strengths of 73–100 microtesla (Love et al., 2016). Effects to eggs of the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* and to brine shrimp (*Artemia* spp.) cysts have been reported at relatively high magnetic field strengths (750–25,000 microtesla) (Ravera et al., 2006; Shckorbatov et al., 2010). The magnetic field generated by the Organic Airborne and Surface Influence Sweep (a typical electromagnetic device used in Navy training and testing) is about 2,300 microtesla at the source. Field strength drops quickly with distance from the source, decreasing to 50 microtesla at 4 meters (m), 5 microtesla at 24 m, and 0.2 microtesla at 200 m from the source. Therefore, temporary disruption of navigation and directional orientation is the primary impact considered in association with magnetic fields.

Studies of the effects of low-voltage direct electrical currents in proximity to marine invertebrates suggest a beneficial impact to at least some species at appropriate current strength. American oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) and various stony and soft corals occurring on substrates exposed to low-voltage currents (between approximately 10 and 1,000 microamperes) showed increased growth rates and survival (Arifin et al., 2012; Goreau, 2014; Jompa et al., 2012; Shorr et al., 2012). It is thought that the benefits may result from a combination of more efficient uptake of calcium and other structure-building minerals from the surrounding seawater, increased cellular energy production, and increased pH near the electrical currents. The beneficial effects were noted in a specific range of current strength; higher or lower currents resulted in either no observable effects or adverse effects. The moderate voltage and current associated with the Organic Airborne and Surface Influence Sweep are not expected to result in adverse effects to invertebrates. In addition, due to the short-term, transient nature of electromagnetic device use, there would be no beneficial effects associated with small induced electrical currents in structures colonized by invertebrates.

Marine invertebrates could be exposed to the laser during testing activities only if the beam misses the target. Should the laser strike the sea surface, individual invertebrates at or near the surface, such as jellyfish, floating eggs, and larvae, could potentially be exposed. The potential for exposure to a high-energy laser beam decreases rapidly as water depth increases and with time of day, as many zooplankton species migrate away from the surface during the day. Most marine invertebrates are not susceptible to laser exposure because they occur beneath the sea surface.

#### 3.8.2.3.1 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices

#### 3.8.2.3.1.1 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 1 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed training activities involving the use of in-water electromagnetic devices would remain the same (Table 3.0-9) as those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be the same as those described above for Alternative 1 and presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of in-water electromagnetic devices on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because (1) the area exposed to the stressor is extremely small relative to most marine invertebrates' ranges; (2) the number of activities involving the stressor is low; (3) exposures would be localized, temporary, and would cease with the conclusion of the activity; and (4) even for susceptible

invertebrates (e.g., some species of arthropods, mollusks, and echinoderms), the consequences of exposure are limited to temporary disruptions to navigation and orientation under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of in-water electromagnetic devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

No in-water electromagnetic devices are proposed for testing activities under Alternative 1.

#### 3.8.2.3.2 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 2

#### Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed training activities involving the use of in-water electromagnetic devices would remain the same as Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-9) and those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be the same as those described above for Alternative 1 and presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As described above for Alternative 1, marine invertebrates may be exposed to in-water electromagnetic devices during training activities and only exposed to high-energy lasers during testing activities. The impact of these stressors on marine invertebrates under Alternative 2 would be inconsequential because (1) the area exposed to the stressor is extremely small relative to most marine invertebrates' ranges; (2) the number of activities involving the stressor is low; (3) exposures would be localized, temporary, and would cease with the conclusion of the activity; and (4) even for susceptible invertebrates (e.g., some species of arthropods, mollusks, and echinoderms), the consequences of exposure are limited to temporary disruptions to navigation and orientation under Alternative 2.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of in-water electromagnetic devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

No in-water electromagnetic devices are proposed for testing activities under Alternative 2.

#### 3.8.2.3.2.1 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Energy stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer energy stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from energy stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.3.3 Impacts from High-Energy Lasers

High-Energy Lasers were not proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

As discussed in Section 3.0.3.3.2.2 (High-Energy Lasers), high-energy laser weapons testing activities involve evaluating the effectiveness of a high-energy laser deployed from a surface ship or helicopter to create small but critical failures in potential targets from short ranges.

This section analyzes the potential impacts of high-energy lasers on marine invertebrates. The primary concern for high-energy weapons testing is the potential for a marine invertebrate to be struck by a high-energy laser beam at or near the water's surface, which could result in injury or death, resulting from traumatic burns from the beam.

Marine invertebrates could be exposed to a laser only if the beam missed the target. Should the laser strike the sea surface, individual invertebrates at or near the surface, such as jellyfish, floating eggs, and larvae could potentially be exposed. The potential for exposure to a high-energy laser beam decreases rapidly as water depth increases and with time of day, as many zooplankton species migrate away from the surface during the day. Most marine invertebrates are not susceptible to laser exposure because they occur beneath the sea surface.

#### 3.8.2.3.3.1 Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

No high-energy lasers are proposed for training activities under Alternative 1.

#### Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-10, a total of 54 testing activities involving the use of high-energy lasers are proposed to be conducted in the Offshore Area under Alternative 1. Invertebrates that do not occur at or near the sea surface would not be exposed due to the attenuation of laser energy with depth. Surface invertebrates such as squid, jellyfish, and zooplankton (which may include invertebrate larvae) exposed to high-energy lasers could be injured or killed, but the probability is low based on the relatively low number of events, very localized potential impact area of the laser beam, and the temporary duration of potential impact (seconds). Activities involving high-energy lasers are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting effects on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at the population level because of the relatively small number of individuals that could be impacted. The impact of high-energy laser would miss its target, (2) it is highly unlikely that the laser would miss in such a way that the laser beam would strike a marine invertebrate, and (3) it is highly unlikely that the marine invertebrate would be at or near the surface, just as two equally unlikely events take place.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of high-energy lasers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.3.3.2 Impacts from High-Energy Lasers under Alternative 2

#### Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

No high-energy lasers are proposed for training activities under Alternative 2.

#### Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-10, a total of 54 testing activities involving the use of high-energy lasers are proposed to be conducted in the Offshore Area under Alternative 2, the same as under Alternative 1; as stated above, this represents a new activity not covered in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Therefore, the impacts would be the same as described under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of high-energy lasers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.3.3.3 Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Energy stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer energy stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from energy stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.4 Physical Disturbance and Strike

The physical disturbance and strike stressors that may impact marine invertebrates include (1) vessels and in-water devices, (2) military expended materials, and (3) seafloor devices. These stressors remain the same as analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 3.8.2.4.1 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices

#### 3.8.2.4.1.1 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the combined number of proposed training activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices would increase (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) compared to those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would decrease slightly in the Offshore Area (from 1,156 to 1,144 annual activities) and in the Inland Waters (from 368 to 327), so there would still be a net decrease in the Study Area. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. There is an overall increase in the use of in-water devices (Table 3.0-13), all of which are associated with small, slow-moving unmanned underwater vehicles. Because the increases are to activities in which the in-water devices are small and slow-moving, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be similar. The proposed increase of approximately 100 in-water devices would not change that conclusion. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of vessels and in-water devices on marine invertebrates would remain inconsequential because (1) the area exposed to the stressor amounts to a small portion of each vessel's and in-water device's footprint, and is extremely small relative to most marine invertebrates' ranges; (2) the frequency of activities involving the stressor is low such that few individuals could be exposed to more than one event; and (3) exposures would be localized, temporary, and would cease with the conclusion of the

activity. Under Alternative 1, activities involving vessels and in-water devices are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at the population level.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the combined number of proposed testing activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) would increase compared to those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would increase in the Offshore Area (from 181 to 283 annual activities), and increases slightly in the Inland Waters (from 916 to 918) and Western Behm Canal (60 to 63).

There is also an overall increase in the use of in-water devices during testing activities in the Study Area (Table 3.0-13), all of which are associated with small, slow-moving, and unmanned underwater vehicles. The number of testing activities increases in the Offshore Areas (156 to 215), Inland Waters (576 to 664), and in the western Behm Canal (8 to 19). The proposed increase of in-water devices would not change the conclusion presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. In spite of these increases, and as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, these vessel and in-water device activities remain unlikely to result in a strike to any marine invertebrate. The proposed increase of vessel and in-water device activities would not change that conclusion. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of vessels and in-water devices on marine invertebrates would remain inconsequential because (1) the area exposed to the stressor amounts to a small portion of each vessel's and in-water device's footprint, and is extremely small relative to most marine invertebrates' ranges; (2) the frequency of activities involving the stressor is low such that few individuals could be exposed to more than one event; and (3) exposures would be localized, temporary, and would cease with the conclusion of the activity. Under Alternative 1, activities involving vessels and in-water devices are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at the population level.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.4.1.2 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the combined number of proposed training activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices would be slightly greater than Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) and greater than those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would increase in the Study Area compared to Alternative 1 (1,471 for Alternative 1 compared to 1,658 for Alternative 2), and increases (1,524 to 1,658) compared to levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Table 3.0-12).
There would also be a slight total increase in the use of in-water devices compared to Alternative 1 (600 for Alternative 1 compared to 620) and an increase from levels presented in the 2015 NWTT final EIS/OEIS (496 to 620) (Table 3.0-13). All of the increased in-water device activities are associated with small, slow-moving unmanned underwater vehicles. Because the increases are to activities in which the in-water devices are unlikely to have an impact to marine invertebrates (small, slow-moving in-water devices), the impacts to marine invertebrates would be similar. The proposed increase of in-water devices would not change that conclusion. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of vessels and in-water devices on marine invertebrates would remain inconsequential because (1) the area exposed to the stressor amounts to a small portion of each vessel's and in-water device's footprint, and is extremely small relative to most marine invertebrates' ranges; (2) the frequency of activities involving the stressor is low such that few individuals could be exposed to more than one event; and (3) exposures would be localized, temporary, and would cease with the conclusion of the activity. Under Alternative 2, activities involving vessels and in-water devices are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at the population level.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the combined number of proposed testing activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices would increase compared to Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) and those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would increase slightly in the Offshore Area compared to Alternative 1 (from 283 to 295) and would increase compared to numbers presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 181 to 295). Vessel movements would increase in the Inland Waters compared to Alternative 1 (from 918 to 1,028) and would increase compared to numbers presented in the 2015 NWTT final EIS/OEIS (from 916 to 1,028). Similarly, vessel movement would increase in the Western Behm Canal (from 63 to 77) compared to Alternative 1 and would increase from 60 to 77 compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, resulting in a net increase in the Study Area.

There would also be a slight increase in the use of in-water devices compared to Alternative 1 (898 for Alternative 1 compared to 932) and an increase from levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (740 to 932) (Table 3.0-13). The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. In spite of these increases, and as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, these vessel and in-water device activities remain unlikely to result in a strike to any marine invertebrate. The proposed increase of vessel and in-water device activities would not change that conclusion. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of vessels and in-water devices on marine invertebrates would remain inconsequential because (1) the area exposed to the stressor amounts to a small portion of each vessel's and in-water device's footprint, and is extremely small relative to most marine invertebrates' ranges; (2) the frequency of activities involving the stressor is low such that few individuals could be exposed to more than one event; and (3) exposures would be localized, temporary, and would cease with the conclusion of the activity. Under Alternative 2, activities involving vessels and in-water devices are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting

impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at the population level.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.4.1.3 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from physical disturbance and strike stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.4.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials

Military expended materials include non-explosive practice munitions (Table 3.0-14), other military materials (Table 3.0-15), high explosives that may result in fragments (Table 3.0-16), and targets (Table 3.0-17).

#### 3.8.2.4.2.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from (Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-16) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 decreases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended material during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from (Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-16) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 decreases slightly compared to ongoing activities.

Although there are a few new activities such as mine countermeasure and neutralization testing and kinetic energy weapon testing that would generate military expended materials, impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same as those described above and would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended material during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.4.2.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from Table 3.0-14, Table 3.0-15, and Table 3.0-16 are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases compared to both Alternative 1 and ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of military expended materials on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended material during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-16 are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases compared to Alternative 1 and ongoing activities. Although there are a few new activities such as mine countermeasure and neutralization testing and kinetic energy weapon testing that would generate military expended materials, impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same as those described above and would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended material during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.4.2.3 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore,

existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from physical disturbance and strike stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.4.3 Impacts from Seafloor Devices

Several training and testing activities include the use of seafloor devices—items that may contact the ocean bottom temporarily. The activities and the specific seafloor devices are: (1) precision anchoring training, where anchors are lowered to the seafloor and recovered; (2) EOD mine countermeasures training exercises, where some mine targets may be moored to the seafloor; (3) crawler UUV tests in which UUVs "crawl" across the seafloor; and (4) various testing activities where small anchors are placed on the seafloor to hold instrumentation in place.

#### **3.8.2.4.3.1** Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of training activities that include the use of seafloor devices would increase from 10 to 40 compared to ongoing activities, all of which would occur in the Inland Waters (Table 3.0-18) as part of the Precision Anchoring exercise. The activity is comprised of a vessel navigating to a precise, pre-determined location and releasing the ship's anchor to the bottom. The anchor is later recovered and the activity is complete. Because of the nature of the activity, the risk to marine invertebrates would be discountable because (1) the area exposed to the stressor amounts to a small portion of footprint which is extremely small relative to most marine invertebrates' ranges; (2) the frequency of activities involving the stressor is low such that few individuals could be exposed to more than one event; and (3) exposures would be localized, temporary, and would cease with the conclusion of the activity. Under Alternative 1, activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at the population level.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the total number of testing activities that include the use of seafloor devices would increase (Table 3.0-18) compared to ongoing activities (from 809 to 878). The majority of the activities involve the temporary placement of mine shapes in Inland Waters. Because of the nature of the activity, marine invertebrates on the seafloor may be impacted by seafloor devices by physically removing, crushing the individual, and temporarily increasing the turbidity (sediment suspended in the water) of waters nearby. However, the impact of seafloor devices on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for training activities.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.4.3.2 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of training activities that include the use of seafloor devices would be the same as under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-18) and would increase compared to ongoing activities (from 10 to 40). Because of the nature of the activity, marine invertebrates on the seafloor may be impacted by seafloor devices by physically removing, crushing the individual, and temporarily increasing the turbidity (sediment suspended in the water) of waters nearby. However, the impact of seafloor devices on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of testing activities that include the use of seafloor devices would increase compared to both Alternative 1 (878 to 935) (Table 3.0-18) and ongoing activities (809 to 953). The majority of the activities involve mine shapes. Because of the nature of the activity, marine invertebrates on the seafloor may be impacted by seafloor devices by physically removing, crushing the individual, and temporarily increasing the turbidity (sediment suspended in the water) of waters nearby. However, the impact of seafloor devices on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.4.3.3 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from physical disturbance and strike stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.5 Entanglement Stressors

The entanglement stressors that may impact marine invertebrates include (1) wires and cables, (2) decelerators/parachutes, and (3) biodegradable polymer. Biodegradable polymer is a new stressor not previously analyzed, but the other two stressors remain the same as analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 3.8.2.5.1 Impacts from Wires and Cables

Wires and cables include fiber optic cables, guidance wires, and sonobuoy wires (Table 3.0-19).

#### 3.8.2.5.1.1 Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of wires and cables that would be expended during training activities (Table 3.0-19) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. No fiber optic cables are used in the NWTT Study Area under training, either in the previous analysis or this Supplemental. Two guidance wires are proposed to be expended in the Offshore Area under Alternative 1, none were proposed in the previous analysis and no guidance wires would be expended in Inland Waters. As shown in (Table 3.0-19), the expenditure of sonobuoy wires in the Offshore Area is proposed to increase slightly (from 8,928 to 9,338), and no sonobuoys are proposed to be used in the Inland Waters, where none were proposed previously. The activities that expend wires and cables would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Because the number and locations of these wires and cables is similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of wires and cables on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because: (1) the area exposed to the stressor is extremely small relative to most marine invertebrates' ranges, (2) the activities are dispersed such that few individuals could conceivably be exposed to more than one activity, (3) exposures would be localized, and (4) marine invertebrates are not particularly susceptible to entanglement stressors as most would avoid entanglement and simply be temporarily disturbed. Activities involving fiber optic cables and guidance wires are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at individual or population levels.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of wires and cables during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the total number of wires and cables that would be expended during testing activities is increased (Table 3.0-19) compared to the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Fiber optic cables used in the Offshore Area would increase (20 to 36), guidance wires used in both the Offshore Area and the Inland Waters would increase (92to 152 in Offshore Areas and 155 to 230 in Inland Waters), and sonobuoy wires expended would also increase (1,000 to 4,049 in Offshore Areas and 6 to 48 in Inland Waters). Even though the number of cable and wires would increase during testing activities, the locations are similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of wires and cables on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because:

(1) the area exposed to the stressor is extremely small relative to most marine invertebrates' ranges,
(2) the activities are dispersed such that few individuals could conceivably be exposed to more than one activity, (3) exposures would be localized, and (4) marine invertebrates are not particularly susceptible to entanglement stressors as most would avoid entanglement and simply be temporarily disturbed. Activities involving fiber optic cables and guidance wires are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at individual or population levels.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of wires and cables during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.5.1.2 Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of wires and cables that would be expended during training activities (9,380) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (9,340) (Table 3.0-19) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (8,928). No fiber optic cables are used in the Study Area under training, either in the previous analysis or this Supplemental. Two guidance wires are proposed to be expended in the Offshore Area under Alternative 2, none were proposed in the previous analysis. As shown in Table 3.0-19, the expenditure of sonobuoy wires in the Offshore Area is proposed to increase (from 9,338 to 9,380), and no sonobuoys are proposed to be used in the Inland Waters, where none were proposed previously. The activities that expend wires and cables would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Because the number and locations of these wires and cables is similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of wires and cables on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential for the same reasons discussed above under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of wires and cables during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of wires and cables that would be expended during testing activities increases compared to the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (from 4,712 to 6,958) (Table 3.0-19) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (1,395 to 6,958). Fiber optic cables used in the Offshore Area and Inland Waters would be the same as Alternative 1 and increase compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Guidance wires used in the Offshore Area would increase compared to Alternative 1 (from 152 to 192) and those proposed in the previous analysis (from 92 to 192). Guidance wires in Inland Waters would be the same as Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-19), but increase (from 155 to 230) compared to those proposed in the previous analysis. Sonobuoy wires expended in Offshore Areas would increase compared to Alternative 1 (from 4,049 to 6,255) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 1,000 to 6,255). Sonobuoy wires expended in Inland Waters would be the same as Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-19) and would increase compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 1,000 to 6,255). Sonobuoy wires expended in Inland Waters would be the same as Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-19) and would increase compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 6 to 48). The activities that expend wires and cables would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar

manner as were analyzed previously. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of wires and cables on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential for the same reasons discussed above under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of fiber optic cables during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.5.1.3 Impacts from Wires and Cables Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Entanglement stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer entanglement stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from entanglement stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.5.2 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes

Decelerators/parachutes include small, medium, large, and extra-large decelerator parachutes (Table 3.0-20).

#### 3.8.2.5.2.1 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the total number of decelerators/parachutes that would be expended during training activities increases (9,097 to 9,456) compared to the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As shown in Table 3.0-20, the expenditure of small size decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area is proposed to increase (8,928 to 9,354), and no small decelerators/parachutes are proposed to be used in the Inland Waters, where none were proposed previously. The number of medium decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area decreases from 24 to 4, and the number of large decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area decreases from 145 to 98 (Table 3.0-20). The activities that expend decelerators/parachutes would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Because the number and locations of these decelerators/parachutes is similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same.

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, most marine invertebrates would never encounter a decelerator/parachute from training activities. The impact of decelerators/parachutes on marine invertebrates is not likely to cause injury or mortality to individuals, and impacts would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for fiber optic cables and guidance wires. Activities involving decelerators/parachutes are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at individual or population levels.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of decelerators/parachutes during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the total number of decelerators/parachutes that would be expended during testing activities is increased (1,181 to 1,983) compared to the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As shown in Table 3.0-20, the expenditure of small size decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area is proposed to increase (1,068 to 1,759), and in the Inland Waters to increase from 113 to 224. No other sizes of decelerators/parachutes are proposed during testing activities. The activities that expend decelerators/parachutes would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Even though the number of decelerators/parachutes would increase during testing activities, the locations are similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of decelerators/parachutes on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential for the same reasons presented above for wires and cables.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of decelerators/parachutes during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.5.2.2 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of decelerators/parachutes that would be expended during training activities increases compared to the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (from 9,456 to 9,563) (Table 3.0-20) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (9,097 to 9,563). As shown in Table 3.0-20, the expenditure of small size decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area is proposed to increase (9,354 to 9,394), and no small decelerators/parachutes are proposed to be used in the Inland Waters, where none were proposed previously. The number of medium decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area increases from 4 to 24 compared to Alternative 1 and is the same as the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The number of large decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area increases from 98 to 145 (Table 3.0-20) compared to Alternative 1 and is the same as the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities that expend decelerators/parachutes would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Because the number and locations of these decelerators/parachutes is similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of decelerators/parachutes on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential for the same reasons detailed above under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of decelerators/parachutes during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of decelerators/parachutes that would be expended during testing activities increases compared to the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (from 1,983 to 1,991) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (1,181 to 1,991). As shown in Table 3.0-20, the expenditure of small decelerators/parachutes would be the same in the Offshore Area compared to Alternative 1 and increase compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 1,068 to 1,759). The expenditure of small decelerators/parachutes in Inland Waters would increase compared to both Alternative 1 (224 to 232) and the previous analysis (113 to 232). The activities that expend decelerators/parachutes would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Even though the number of decelerators/parachutes would increase during testing activities, the locations are similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of decelerators/parachutes on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential for the same reasons presented above for wires and cables.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of decelerators/parachutes during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.5.2.3 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Entanglement stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer entanglement stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from entanglement stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.5.3 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer

Biodegradable polymers were not proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and for this Supplemental would be used only during proposed testing activities, not during training activities. For a discussion of where biodegradable polymers are used and how many activities would occur under each alternative, see Section 3.0.3.5.3 (Biodegradable Polymer). The biodegradable polymers that the Navy uses are designed to temporarily interact with the propeller(s) of a target craft rendering it ineffective. A biodegradable polymer is a high molecular weight polymer that degrades to smaller compounds as a result of microorganisms and enzymes. The rate of biodegradation could vary from hours to years and the type of small molecules formed during degradation can range from complex to simple products, depending on whether the polymers are natural or synthetic (Karlsson & Albertsson, 1998). Based on the constituents of the biodegradable polymer the Navy proposes to use, it is anticipated that the material will break down into small pieces within a few days to weeks. This will break down further and dissolve into the water column within weeks to a few months. The final products which are all environmentally benign will be dispersed quickly to undetectable concentrations. Unlike other entanglement stressors, biodegradable polymers only retain their strength for a relatively short period of time, therefore the potential for entanglement by a marine invertebrate would be limited. Furthermore, the longer the biodegradable polymer remains in the water, the weaker it becomes making it more brittle and likely to break. A marine invertebrate would have to encounter the biodegradable polymer immediately after it was expended for it to be a potential entanglement risk. If a marine invertebrate were to encounter the polymer a few hours after it was expended, it is very likely that it would break easily and would no longer be an entanglement stressor.

#### 3.8.2.5.3.1 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

No biodegradable polymers are proposed to be used for training activities under Alternative 1.

#### Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-21, four testing activities involving the use of biodegradable polymers are proposed to only be conducted in the Inland Waters under Alternative 1. As detailed above and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, marine invertebrates are not particularly susceptible to entanglement stressors, including biodegradable polymers and would likely only be temporarily disturbed. It is conceivable that relatively large pelagic invertebrates such as jellyfish would be temporarily entangled, although the probability is low due to the polymer design. The most likely effect would be temporary displacement as the material floats past an animal. Impacts on benthic species would not be expected. Activities involving biodegradable polymer would not yield any behavioral changes or lasting effects on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at individual or population levels.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of biodegradable polymer during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.5.3.2 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

No biodegradable polymers are proposed to be used for training activities under Alternative 2.

#### Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-21, four testing activities involving the use of biodegradable polymers are proposed to be conducted in the Inland Waters under Alternative 2, the same number as Alternative 1. As detailed above and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, marine invertebrates are not particularly susceptible to entanglement stressors, including biodegradable polymers and would likely only be temporarily disturbed. It is conceivable that relatively large pelagic invertebrates such as jellyfish would be temporarily entangled, although the probability is low due to the polymer design. The most likely effect would be temporary displacement as the material floats past an animal. Impacts on benthic species would not be expected. Therefore, as described above for Alternative 1, activities involving biodegradable polymer would not yield any behavioral changes or lasting effects on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of invertebrate species at individual or population levels.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of biodegradable polymer during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.5.3.3 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Entanglement stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer entanglement stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from entanglement stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.6 Ingestion Stressors

The ingestions stressors that may impact marine invertebrates include military expended materials from munitions (non-explosive practice munitions and fragments from high-explosives) and military expended materials other than munitions (fragments from targets, chaff and flare components, and biodegradable polymers). Biodegradable polymer is a new source for existing entanglement and ingestion stressors not previously analyzed, but the other stressors remain the same as analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 3.8.2.6.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions

Ingestion of intact military expended materials – munitions is not likely for most types of expended items because they are too large to be ingested by most marine invertebrates. Though ingestion of intact munitions or large fragments is conceivable in some circumstances (e.g., a relatively large invertebrate such as an octopus or lobster ingesting a small-caliber projectile), such a scenario is unlikely due to the animal's ability to discriminate between food and non-food items. Indiscriminate depositand detritus-feeding invertebrates, such as some marine worms, could potentially ingest munitions fragments that have degraded to sediment size. In addition, metal particles in the water column may be taken up by suspension feeders (e.g., copepods, mussels) (Chiarelli & Roccheri, 2014; Griscom & Fisher, 2004). Although most metals do not technically dissolve in water, many react with water to form a soluble compound, and researchers often refer to these compounds as dissolved metals. Investigations of silver ingestion by marine invertebrates found that the metal is less toxic when dissolved in water (Brix et al., 2012), and an investigation of metals in a nearshore area heavily influenced by industrial activities found that concentrations were substantially greater in the sediment than in the water column (Bazzi, 2014). The results of these studies suggest that suspension-feeding invertebrates could be less susceptible to impacts than invertebrates that might consume metal particles directly from the sediment.

#### 3.8.2.6.1.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military expended materials – munitions that would be used during training activities (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from munitions are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 decreases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of military expended materials – munitions on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because most military expended materials and fragments of military expended materials are too large to be ingested by marine invertebrates. The potential for marine invertebrates to encounter fragments of ingestible size increases as the military expended materials degrade into smaller fragments. The fractions of military expended materials of ingestible size, or that become ingestible after degradation, may impact individual marine invertebrates, but are unlikely to impact populations.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials – munitions of ingestible size associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military expended materials – munitions that would be used during testing activities (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from munitions are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 increases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of military expended materials – munitions on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because most military expended materials and fragments of military expended materials are too large to be ingested by marine invertebrates. The potential for marine invertebrates to encounter fragments of ingestible size increases as the military expended materials degrade into smaller fragments. The fractions of military expended materials of ingestible size, or that become ingestible after degradation, may impact individual marine invertebrates, but are unlikely to impact populations.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials – munitions of ingestible size associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.6.1.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military expended materials – munitions that would be used during training activities (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from munitions

are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases compared to both Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) and ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and above under Alternative 1, the impact of military expended materials – munitions on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because most military expended materials and fragments of military expended materials are too large to be ingested by marine invertebrates. The potential for marine invertebrates to encounter fragments of ingestible size increases as the military expended materials degrade into smaller fragments. The fractions of military expended materials of ingestible size, or that become ingestible after degradation, may impact individual marine invertebrates, but are unlikely to impact populations.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials – munitions of ingestible size associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military expended materials – munitions that would be used during testing activities (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from munitions are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases compared to both Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) and ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and above under Alternative 1, the impact of military expended materials – munitions on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because most military expended materials and fragments of military expended materials are too large to be ingested by marine invertebrates. The potential for marine invertebrates to encounter fragments of ingestible size increases as the military expended materials degrade into smaller fragments. The fractions of military expended materials of ingestible size, or that become ingestible after degradation, may impact individual marine invertebrates, but are unlikely to impact populations.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials – munitions of ingestible size associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.6.1.3 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Ingestion stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer ingestion stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore,

discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from ingestion stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.6.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions

#### 3.8.2.6.2.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military expended materials other than munitions that would be used during training activities (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials other than munitions (fragments from targets, chaff and flare components, and biodegradable polymers) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) increases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of military expended materials – other than munitions on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because most military expended materials and fragments of military expended materials are too large to be ingested by marine invertebrates. The potential for marine invertebrates to encounter fragments of ingestible size increases as the military expended materials degrade into smaller fragments. The fractions of military expended materials degrade into smaller fragments. The fractions of military expended materials of ingestible size, or that become ingestible after degradation, may impact individual marine invertebrates, but are unlikely to impact populations.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials – other than munitions of ingestible size associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military expended materials other than munitions that would be used during testing activities decreases (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) compared to the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Other than the addition of biodegradable polymer, which would occur four times annually in the Inland Waters, the activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Based on the constituents of the biodegradable polymer the Navy proposes to use, it is anticipated that the material will breakdown into small pieces within a few days to weeks, eventually dissolving into the water column as environmentally benign products. Being benign, if ingested, the remnants of the biodegradable polymer would pose limited risk to marine invertebrates. Even though there would be a substantial increase in the number of military expended material - other than munitions and as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because most military expended materials and fragments of military expended materials are too large to be ingested by marine invertebrates. The potential for marine invertebrates to encounter fragments of ingestible size increases as the military expended materials degrade into smaller fragments. The fractions of military expended materials of ingestible size, or that become ingestible after degradation, may impact individual marine invertebrates, but are unlikely to impact populations.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials – other than munitions of ingestible size associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.6.2.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military expended materials other than munitions that would be used during training activities (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials other than munitions (fragments from targets, chaff and flare components, and biodegradable polymers) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases slightly compared to Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) and increases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts to marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of military expended materials – other than munitions on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential because most military expended materials and fragments of military expended materials are too large to be ingested by marine invertebrates. The potential for marine invertebrates to encounter fragments of ingestible size increases as the military expended materials degrade into smaller fragments. The fractions of military expended materials of ingestible size, or that become ingestible after degradation, may impact individual marine invertebrates, but are unlikely to impact populations.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials – other than munitions of ingestible size associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military expended materials other than munitions that would be used during testing activities increases (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) compared to the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 and decreases slightly from ongoing activities. Other than the addition of biodegradable polymer, which would occur four times annually in the Inland Waters, the activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Based on the constituents of the biodegradable polymer the Navy proposes to use, it is anticipated that the material will breakdown into small pieces within a few days to weeks, eventually dissolving into the water column as environmentally benign products. Being benign, if ingested, the remnants of the biodegradable polymer would pose limited risk to marine invertebrates. Even though there would be a substantial increase in the number of military expended material – other than munitions and as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact on marine invertebrates to encounter fragments of ingestible size increases as the military expended materials of ingestible size increases as the military expended materials degrade into smaller fragments. The fractions of military expended materials of ingestible size,

or that become ingestible after degradation, may impact individual marine invertebrates, but are unlikely to impact populations.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials – other than munitions of ingestible size associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no adverse effect on sedentary invertebrate beds or reefs that constitute EFH or HAPCs within the Study Area.

#### 3.8.2.6.2.3 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Ingestion stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer ingestion stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts from ingestion stressors on individual invertebrates, but would not measurably improve the status of invertebrate populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.8.2.7 Secondary Stressors

Potential impacts on marine invertebrates exposed to stressors could occur indirectly through sediments and water quality. Stressors from Navy training and testing activities could pose secondary or indirect impacts on marine invertebrates via habitat, sediment, or water quality. Components of these stressors that could pose indirect impacts include (1) explosives and explosives byproducts; (2) metals; (3) chemicals; and (4) other materials such as targets, chaff, and plastics.

While the number of training and testing activities would change under this supplement, the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.8.3.6 (Secondary Stressors) remains valid.

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, indirect impacts of explosives and unexploded ordnance on marine invertebrates via water are likely to be inconsequential and not detectable for two reasons. First, most explosives and explosive degradation products have very low solubility in sea water. This means that dissolution occurs extremely slowly, and harmful concentrations of explosives and degradation are not likely to accumulate except within confined spaces. Second, a low concentrations. Filter feeders slowly delivered into the water column, is readily diluted to non-harmful concentrations. Filter feeders in the immediate vicinity of degrading explosives may be more susceptible to bioaccumulation of chemical byproducts. While marine invertebrates may be adversely impacted by the indirect effects of degrading explosives via water (Rosen & Lotufo, 2007; 2010), this is extremely unlikely in realistic scenarios.

Impacts on marine invertebrates, including zooplankton, eggs, and larvae, are likely only within a very small radius of the ordnance (1–6 feet [0.3–1.8 m]). These impacts may continue as the ordnance degrades over months to decades. Because most ordnance is deployed as projectiles, multiple unexploded or low-order detonations would accumulate on spatial scales of 1–6 feet (0.3–1.8 m); therefore, potential impacts are likely to remain local and widely separated. Given these conditions, the possibility of population-level impacts on marine invertebrates is inconsequential. However, if the sites

of the depositions are the same over time, this could alter the benthic composition, affect bioaccumulation, and impact local invertebrate communities.

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, concentrations of metals in water are extremely unlikely to be high enough to cause injury or mortality to marine invertebrates; therefore, indirect impacts of metals via water are likely to be inconsequential and not detectable. Given these conditions, the possibility of population-level impacts on marine invertebrates is likely to be inconsequential and not detectable. In addition, concentrations of chemicals in sediment and water are not likely to cause injury or mortality to marine invertebrates; therefore, indirect impacts of chemicals via sediment and water are not likely to cause injury or mortality to be inconsequential and not detectable. Population-level impacts on marine invertebrates would be inconsequential and not detectable.

In addition, as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the only material that could impact marine invertebrates via sediment is plastics. Harmful chemicals in plastics interfere with metabolic and endocrine processes in many plants and animals (Derraik, 2002). Potentially harmful chemicals in plastics are not readily adsorbed to marine sediments; instead, marine invertebrates are most at risk via ingestion or bioaccumulation. Because plastics retain many of their chemical properties as they are physically degraded into microplastic particles (Singh & Sharma, 2008), the exposure risks to marine invertebrates are dispersed over time. Marine invertebrates could be indirectly impacted by chemicals from plastics but, absent bioaccumulation, these impacts would be limited to direct contact with the material. Because of these conditions, population-level impacts on marine invertebrates attributable to Navy-expended materials are likely to be inconsequential and not detectable.

### **REFERENCES**

- Appeltans, W., P. Bouchet, G. A. Boxshall, K. Fauchald, D. P. Gordon, B. W. Hoeksema, G. C. B. Poore, R.
  W. M. van Soest, S. Stöhr, T. C. Walter, and M. J. Costello. (2010). *World Register of Marine Species*. Retrieved from http://www.marinespecies.org/index.php.
- Arifin, L., A. Bakti, A. Virgota, L. P. A. Damayanti, T. H. U. Radiman, A. Retnowulan, Hernawati, A. Sabil, and D. Robbe. (2012). Biorock Reef Restoration in Gili Trawangan, North Lombok, Indonesia. In T. J. Goreau & R. K. T. Trench (Eds.), *Innovative Methods of Marine Ecosystem Restoration* (pp. 59–80). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Bazzi, A. O. (2014). Heavy metals in seawater, sediments and marine organisms in the Gulf of Chabahar, Oman Sea. *Journal of Oceanography and Marine Science*, *5*(3), 20–29.
- Bisby, F. A., Y. R. Roskov, T. M. Orrell, D. Nicolson, L. E. Paglinawan, N. Bailly, P. M. Kirk, T. Bourgoin, and G. E. Baillargeon. (2010). Species 2000 & ITIS Catalogue of Life: 2010 Annual Checklist. Retrieved from http://www.catalogueoflife.org/annual-checklist/2010.
- Brix, K., P. Gillette, A. Pourmand, T. Capo, and M. Grosell. (2012). The effects of dietary silver on larval growth in the echinoderm, *Lytechinus variegatus*. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, *63*(1), 95–100.
- Chiarelli, R., and M. C. Roccheri. (2014). Marine Invertebrates as Bioindicators of Heavy Metal Pollution. *Open Journal of Metal, 4*, 93–106.
- Derraik, J. G. B. (2002). The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: A review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 44,* 842–852.
- Edmonds, N. J., C. J. Firmin, D. Goldsmith, R. C. Faulkner, and D. T. Wood. (2016). A review of crustacean sensitivity to high amplitude underwater noise: Data needs for effective risk assessment in relation to UK commercial species. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 108*, 5–11.
- Fossette, S., A. C. Gleiss, J. Chalumeau, T. Bastian, C. D. Armstrong, S. Vandenabeele, M. Karpytchev, and G. C. Hays. (2015). Current-oriented swimming by jellyfish and its role in bloom maintenance. *Current Biology*, 25, 342–347.
- Goreau, T. J. (2014). Electrical stimulation greatly increases settlement, growth, survival, and stress resistance of marine organisms. *Natural Resources*, *5*, 527–537.
- Griscom, S. B., and N. S. Fisher. (2004). Bioavailability of Sediment-bound Metals to Marine Bivalve Molluscs: An Overview. *Estuaries*, 27(5), 826–838.
- Jompa, J., Suharto, E. M. Anpusyahnur, P. N. Dwjja, J. Subagio, I. Alimin, R. Anwar, S. Syamsuddin, T.
   Heni, U. Radiman, H. Triyono, R. A. Sue, and N. Soeyasa. (2012). Electrically Stimulated Corals in Indonesia Reef Restoration Projects Show Greatly Accelerated Growth Rates. In T. J. Goreau & R.
   K. T. Trench (Eds.), *Innovative Methods of Marine Ecosystem Restoration* (pp. 47–58). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Karlsson, S., and A. C. Albertsson. (1998). Biodegradable polymers and environmental interaction. *Polymer Engineering and Science, 38*(8), 1251–1253.
- Lohmann, K. J., N. D. Pentcheff, G. A. Nevitt, G. D. Stetten, R. K. Zimmer-Faust, H. E. Jarrard, and L. C. Boles. (1995). Magnetic orientation of spiny lobsters in the ocean: Experiments with undersea coil systems. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 198(10), 2041–2048.

- Lohmann, K. J., and C. M. F. Lohmann. (2006). Sea turtles, lobsters, and oceanic magnetic maps. *Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology*, *39*(1), 49–64.
- Love, M. S., M. M. Nishimoto, S. Clark, and A. S. Bull. (2016). *Renewable Energy in situ Power Cable Observation*. (OCS Study 2016-008). Camarillo, CA: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Pacific OCS Region.
- McLaskey, A. K., J. E. Keister, P. McElhany, M. B. Olson, D. S. Busch, M. Maher, and A. K. Winans. (2016). Development of *Euphausia pacifica* (krill) larvae is impaired under pCO<sub>2</sub> levels currently observed in the Northeast Pacific. *Marine Ecological Progress Series*, 555, 65–78.
- Normandeau, E., T. Tricas, and A. Gill. (2011). *Effects of EMFs from Undersea Power Cables on Elasmobranchs and Other Marine Species*. Camarillo, CA: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation, and Enforcement, Pacific Outer Continental Shelf Region.
- Ravera, S., C. Falugi, D. Calzia, I. M. Pepe, I. Panfoli, and A. Morelli. (2006). First cell cycles of sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus are dramatically impaired by exposure to extremely low-frequency electromagnetic field. *Biology of Reproduction*, *75*(6), 948–953.
- Roberts, L., S. Cheesman, M. Elliott, and T. Breithaupt. (2016). Sensitivity of *Pagurus bernhardus* (L.) to substrate-borne vibration and anthropogenic noise. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *474*, 185–194.
- Rosen, G., and G. Lotufo. (2007). Toxicity of explosive compounds to the marine mussel, *Mytilus* galloprovincialis, in aqueous exposures. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 68*(2), 228–236.
- Rosen, G., and G. R. Lotufo. (2010). Fate and effects of composition B in multispecies marine exposures. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 9999(12), 1–8.
- Shckorbatov, Y., I. Rudneva, V. Pasiuga, V. Grabina, N. Kolchigin, D. Ivanchenko, O. Kazanskiy, V. Shayda, and O. Dumin. (2010). Electromagnetic field effects on *Artemia* hatching and chromatin state. *Central European Journal of Biology*, 5(6), 785–790.
- Shorr, J., J. Cervino, C. Lin, R. Weeks, and T. J. Goreau. (2012). Electrical Stimulation Increases Oyster Growth and Survival in Restoration Projects. In T. J. Goreau & R. K. Trench (Eds.), *Innovative Methods of Marine Ecosystem Restoration* (pp. 151–160). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Siddon, C., Q. Smith, K. McNeel, D. Oxman, and K. Goldman. (2017). Protocol for Estimating Age of Weathervane Scallops Patinopecten caurinus in Alaska (Special Publication No. 17-07). Anchorage, AK: Alaska Department of Fish and Game.
- Singh, B., and N. Sharma. (2008). Mechanistic implications of plastic degradation. *Polymer Degradation* and Stability, 93(3), 561–584.
- Woodruff, D. L., V. I. Cullinan, A. E. Copping, and K. E. Marshall. (2013). *Effects of Electromagnetic Fields on Fish and Invertebrates* (Task 2.1.3: Effects of Aquatic Organisms, Fiscal Year 2012 Progress Report). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Energy.

## Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

### **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

### Northwest Training and Testing

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.9	Fishes			3.9-1
	3.9.1	Introduc	ction and Methods	3.9-1
	3.9.2	Affected	d Environment	3.9-1
		3.9.2.1	Hearing and Vocalization	3.9-1
		3.9.2.2	General Threats	3.9-4
		3.9.2.3	Taxonomic Group Descriptions and Distribution	3.9-5
		3.9.2.4	Endangered Species Act-Listed Species	3.9-8
		3.9.2.5	Federally Managed Fisheries	.3.9-24
	3.9.3	Environ	mental Consequences	.3.9-25
		3.9.3.1	Acoustic Stressors	.3.9-26
		3.9.3.2	Explosive Stressors	.3.9-56
		3.9.3.3	Energy Stressors	.3.9-72
		3.9.3.4	Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors	.3.9-76
		3.9.3.5	Entanglement Stressors	.3.9-85
		3.9.3.6	Ingestion Stressors	.3.9-94
		3.9.3.7	Secondary Stressors	8.9-101

### **List of Figures**

-igure 3.9-1: Marine Critical Habitat for the Puget Sound Chinook Salmon Evolutionarily Significant Units						
Figure 3.9-2: Marine Critical Habitat for the Bull Trout Distinct Population Segment						
Figure 3.9-3: Critical Habitat for the Bocaccio and Yelloweye Rockfish Distinct Population Segments						
Figure 3.9-4: Critical Habitat for the Southern Distinct Population Segment of North American Green						
Sturgeon						
Figure 3.9-5: Fish Hearing Group and Navy Sonar Bin Frequency Ranges						

## List of Tables

Table 3.9-1: Taxonomic Groups of Fishes Within the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area3.9-6
Table 3.9-2: Status and Presence of Endangered Species Act (ESA)-Listed Fish Species and their
Designated Critical Habitat, Candidate Species, and Species of Concern Found in the
Northwest Training and Testing Study Area
Table 3.9-3: Sound Exposure Criteria for TTS from Sonar         3.9-44
Table 3.9-4: Ranges to Temporary Threshold Shift from Four Representative Sonar Bins         3.9-45
Table 3.9-5: Range to 10% Mortality from In-Water Explosions for Fishes with a Swim Bladder3.9-59
Table 3.9-6: Sound Exposure Criteria for Mortality and Injury from Explosives         3.9-64
Table 3.9-7: Sound Exposure Criteria for Hearing Loss from Explosives         3.9-65
Table 3.9-8: Range to Mortality and Injury for All Fishes from Explosives         3.9-66
Table 3.9-9: Range to TTS for Fishes with a Swim Bladder from Explosives

#### 3.9 Fishes

#### 3.9.1 Introduction and Methods

This section analyzes the potential impacts of the Proposed Action on fishes found in the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Study Area (Study Area). Section 3.9 (Fishes) provides a synopsis of the United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy's (Navy's) determinations of the impacts of the Proposed Action on fishes. Section 3.9.2 (Affected Environment) introduces the species and taxonomic groups known to occur in the Study Area and discusses the baseline affected environment. The complete analysis of environmental consequences is in Section 3.9.3 (Environmental Consequences).

For this Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (OEIS) (Supplemental), marine and anadromous fishes are evaluated as groups of species characterized by distribution, body type, or behavior relevant to the stressor being evaluated. Activities are evaluated for their potential impact on all fishes in general, by taxonomic groupings, and the 35 fish in the Study Area listed under the Endangered Species Act (ESA).

Major taxonomic groups in the Study Area are described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and remain valid as written. Fish species listed under the ESA are updated in this document. Marine fish species that are regulated under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act are discussed in Section 3.9.2.5 (Federally Managed Fisheries). Additional general information on the biology, life history, distribution, and conservation of marine and anadromous fishes can be found on the websites of the following agencies and organizations, as well as many others:

- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), Office of Protected Resources (including ESA-listed species distribution maps)
- Regional Fishery Management Councils
- International Union for Conservation of Nature
- Essential Fish Habitat Text Descriptions

Fishes are not distributed uniformly throughout the Study Area but are closely associated with a variety of habitats. Some species, such as large sharks, tuna, and billfishes, range across thousands of square miles (thousands of square kilometers), while others have small home ranges and restricted distributions (Helfman et al., 2009a). The movements of some open-ocean species may never overlap with coastal species that spend their lives within several hundred feet (a few hundred meters) of the shore. Even within species, the distribution and specific habitats in which individuals occur may be influenced by age, developmental stage, size, sex, reproductive condition, health, and other factors.

#### 3.9.2 Affected Environment

For purposes of this Supplemental, the region of influence for fishes remains the same as that identified in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS provided a general overview of fish hearing and vocalizations and general threats. New information since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS is included below to better understand potential stressors and impacts on fishes resulting from training and testing activities.

#### 3.9.2.1 Hearing and Vocalization

A summary of fish hearing and vocalizations is described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Due to the availability of new literature, including revised sound exposure criteria, the information provided below will supplement the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS for fishes.

All fishes have two sensory systems that can detect sound in the water: the inner ear, which functions similarly to the inner ear in other vertebrates, and the lateral line, which consists of a series of receptors along the body of a fish (Popper & Schilt, 2008). The lateral line system is sensitive to external particle motion arising from sources within a few body lengths of the animal. The lateral line detects particle motion at low frequencies from below 1 hertz (Hz) up to at least 400 Hz (Coombs & Montgomery, 1999; Hastings & Popper, 2005; Higgs & Radford, 2013; Webb et al., 2008). Generally, the inner ears of fish contain three dense otoliths (i.e., small calcareous bodies) that sit atop many delicate mechanoelectric hair cells within the inner ear of fishes, similar to the hair cells found in the mammalian ear. Sound waves in water tend to pass through the fish's body, which has a composition similar to water, and vibrate the otoliths. This causes a relative motion between the dense otoliths and the surrounding tissues, causing a deflection of the hair cells, which is sensed by the nervous system.

Although a propagating sound wave contains pressure and particle motion components, particle motion is most significant at low frequencies (up to at least 400 Hz) and is most detectible at high sound pressures or very close to a sound source. The inner ears of fishes are directly sensitive to acoustic particle motion rather than acoustic pressure (acoustic particle motion and acoustic pressure are discussed in Appendix D, Acoustic and Explosive Concepts). Historically, studies that have investigated hearing in, and effects to, fishes have been carried out with sound pressure metrics. Although particle motion may be the more relevant exposure metric for many fish species, there is little data available that actually measures it due to a lack of standard measurement methodology and experience with particle motion detectors (Hawkins et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2016). In these instances, particle motion can be estimated from pressure measurements (Nedelec et al., 2016a).

Some fishes possess additional morphological adaptations or specializations that can enhance their sensitivity to sound pressure, such as a gas-filled swim bladder (Astrup, 1999; Popper & Fay, 2010). The swim bladder can enhance sound detection by converting acoustic pressure into localized particle motion, which may then be detected by the inner ear (Radford et al., 2012). Fishes with a swim bladder generally have better sensitivity and can detect higher frequencies than fishes without a swim bladder (Popper & Fay, 2010; Popper et al., 2014). In addition, structures such as gas-filled bubbles near the ear or swim bladder, or even connections between the swim bladder and the inner ear, also increase sensitivity and allow for high-frequency hearing capabilities and better sound pressure detection.

Although many researchers have investigated hearing and vocalizations in fish species (Ladich & Fay, 2013; Popper et al., 2014), hearing capability data only exist for just over 100 of the currently known 34,000 marine and freshwater fish species (Eschmeyer & Fong, 2016). Therefore, fish hearing groups are defined by species that possess a similar continuum of anatomical features, which result in varying degrees of hearing sensitivity (Popper & Hastings, 2009b; Popper & Fay, 2010). Categories and descriptions of hearing sensitivities are further defined in this document (modified from Popper et al., 2014) as the following:

- Fishes without a swim bladder—hearing capabilities are limited to particle motion detection at frequencies well below 1 kilohertz (kHz).
- Fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing—species lack notable anatomical specializations, and primarily detect particle motion at frequencies below 1 kHz.
- Fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing—species can detect frequencies below 1 kHz and possess anatomical specializations to enhance hearing and are capable of sound pressure detection up to a few kHz.

• Fishes with a swim bladder and high-frequency hearing—species can detect frequencies below 1 kHz and possess anatomical specializations and are capable of sound pressure detection at frequencies up to 10 kHz to over 100 kHz.

Data suggest that most species of marine fish either lack a swim bladder (e.g., sharks and flatfishes) or have a swim bladder not involved in hearing and can only detect sounds below 1 kHz. Some marine fishes (clupeiforms) with a swim bladder involved in hearing are able to detect sounds to about 4 kHz (Colleye et al., 2016; Mann et al., 2001; Mann et al., 1997). One subfamily of clupeids (i.e., Alosinae) can detect high- and very high-frequency sounds (i.e., frequencies from 10 to 100 kHz, and frequencies above 100 kHz, respectively), although auditory thresholds at these higher frequencies are elevated and the range of best hearing is still in the low-frequency range (below 1 kHz) similar to other fishes. Mann et al. (1997, 1998) theorize that this subfamily may have evolved the ability to hear relatively high sound levels at these higher frequencies in order to detect echolocations of nearby foraging dolphins. For fishes that have not had their hearing tested, such as deep sea fishes, the suspected hearing capabilities are based on the structure of the ear, the relationship between the ear and the swim bladder, and other potential adaptations such as the presence of highly developed areas of the brain related to inner ear and lateral line functions (Buran et al., 2005; Deng et al., 2011, 2013). It is believed that most fishes have their best hearing sensitivity from 100 to 400 Hz (Popper, 2003).

Species listed under the ESA within the Study Area include several salmonid and rockfish species, as well as Pacific eulachon and green sturgeon. There are no available data on the hearing capabilities of these specific ESA-listed species. Instead, each species is considered to be part of a hearing groups described above based on data from similar, or surrogate, species, and knowledge of that species physiology. As discussed above, most marine fishes investigated to date lack hearing capabilities greater than 1,000 Hz. This notably includes sturgeon and salmonid species, fishes that have a swim bladder that is not involved in hearing. Although it is assumed that sturgeon and salmon species can detect frequencies up to 1,000 Hz, available hearing data has only tested these species up to about 600 Hz (Hawkins & Johnstone, 1978; Kane et al., 2010; Lovell et al., 2005; Meyer et al., 2010). Rockfish also have a swim bladder that is not involved in hearing similar to Salmoniformes (Hastings & Popper, 2005) and therefore likely have similar hearing capabilities. Eulachon do not have a swim bladder (Gauthier & Horne, 2004). Available data suggest species without a swim bladder can detect sounds from 20 to 1,000 Hz, with best sensitivity at lower ranges (Casper et al., 2003; Casper & Mann, 2006; Casper & Mann, 2009; Myrberg, 2001). This data is largely derived from studies conducted using cartilaginous fishes, such as sharks and rays. There are no ESA-listed species that occur in the Study Area that have a swim bladder that is involved in hearing, or that have high frequency hearing (the two most sensitive hearing groups).

Some fishes are known to produce sound. Bony fishes can produce sounds in a number of ways and use them for a number of behavioral functions (Ladich, 2008, 2014). Over 30 families of fishes are known to use vocalizations in aggressive interactions, and over 20 families are known to use vocalizations in mating (Ladich, 2008). Sounds generated by fishes as a means of communication are generally below 500 Hz (Slabbekoorn et al., 2010). The air in the swim bladder is vibrated by the sound producing structures (often muscles that are integral to the swim bladder wall) and radiates sound into the water (Zelick et al., 1999). Sprague and Luczkovich (2004) calculated that silver perch, of the family Sciaenidae, can produce drumming sounds ranging from 128 to 135 decibels referenced to 1 micropascal (dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa). Female midshipman fish apparently detect and locate the "hums" (approximately 90 to 400 Hz) of vocalizing males during the breeding season (McIver et al., 2014; Sisneros & Bass, 2003). Sciaenids produce a variety of sounds, including calls produced by males on breeding grounds (Ramcharitar et al.,

2001), and a "drumming" call produced during chorusing that suggests a seasonal pattern to reproductive-related function (McCauley & Cato, 2000). Other sounds produced by chorusing reef fishes include "popping," "banging," and "trumpet" sounds; altogether, these choruses produce sound levels 35 dB above background levels, at peak frequencies between 250 and 1,200 Hz, and source levels between 144 and 157 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa (McCauley & Cato, 2000).

Additional research using visual surveys (such as baited underwater video) and passive acoustic monitoring continue to reveal new sounds produced by fishes, both in the marine and freshwater environments, and allow for specific behaviors to be paired with those sounds (Radford et al., 2018; Rountree et al., 2018; Rowell et al., 2018).

#### 3.9.2.2 General Threats

A summary of the major threats to fish species within the Study Area are described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Overfishing and associated factors, such as bycatch, fisheries-induced evolution, and intrinsic vulnerability to overfishing were described. Three species present in the Study Area, coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) stocks in Hood Canal, Washington, along with Pacific ocean perch (*Sebastes alutus*) and yelloweye rockfish (*Sebastes ruberrimus*), were listed as overfished in a 2016 NOAA Fisheries report to Congress (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016).

Pollution, including the effect of oceanic circulation patterns scattering coastal pollution throughout the open ocean, was described. The effects of organic and inorganic pollutants to marine fishes, including bioaccumulation of pollutants, behavioral and physiological changes, or genetic damage, were described, as well as entanglement in abandoned commercial and recreational fishing gear.

Other human-caused stressors on marine fishes described were the introduction of non-native species, climate change shifting fish distribution from lower to higher latitudes, aquaculture, energy production, vessel movement, and underwater noise.

Additional climate change related threats impacting marine fish and fisheries in addition to those described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS have been documented. In addition to affecting species ranges, increasing temperature has been shown to alter the sex-ratio in fish species that have temperature-dependent sex determination mechanisms (Ospina-Alvarez & Piferrer, 2008). It appears that diadromous and benthic fish species are most vulnerable to climate change impacts on abundance or productivity (Hare et al., 2016).

Ocean acidification, a climate change related process where increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations are reducing ocean pH and carbonate ion concentrations, may have serious impacts on fish development and behavior (Raven et al., 2005). Physiological development of fishes can be affected by increases in pH that can increase the size, density, and mass of fish otoliths (e.g., fish ear stones), which would affect sensory functions (Bignami et al., 2013). Ocean acidification may affect fish larvae behavior and could impact fish populations (Munday et al., 2009). A range of behavioral traits critical to survival of newly settled fish larvae are affected by ocean acidification. Settlement-stage larval marine fishes exposed to elevated carbon dioxide were less responsive to threats than controls (Munday et al., 2009). This decrease in sensitivity to risk might be directly related to impaired olfactory ability (Munday et al., 2009). Ocean acidification may cause a shift in phytoplankton community composition and biochemical composition that can impact the transfer of essential compounds to planktivorous organisms (Bermudez et al., 2016) and can cause shifts in community composition up the food chain.

Another effect of climate change is ocean deoxygenation. Netburn and Koslow (2015) found that the depth of the lower boundary of the deep scattering layer (so-called because the sonic pulses of a sonar can reflect off the millions of fish swim bladders) is most strongly correlated with dissolved oxygen concentration. Cao et al. (2014) modeled different sensitivities of ocean temperature, carbonate chemistry, and oxygen, in terms of both the sign and magnitude, and correlated them to the amount of climate change. Model simulations in a study by Cao et al. (2014) found that, by the year 2500, every degree increase of climate sensitivity will warm the ocean by 0.8°Celsius and will reduce ocean-mean dissolved oxygen concentration by 5.0 percent. Conversely, every degree increase of climate sensitivity buffers CO<sub>2</sub>-induced reduction in ocean-mean carbonate ion concentration and pH by 3.4 percent and 0.02 units, respectively. These results have great implications for understanding the response of ocean biota to climate change. Keller et al. (2015) suggested that within the California Current System, shoaling of the oxygen minimum zone is expected to produce complex changes and onshore movement of the oxygen minimum zone that could lead to habitat compression for species with higher oxygen requirements while allowing expansion of species tolerant of low bottom dissolved oxygen.

With the exception of new information about overfishing and climate change, the extent of the effects of general threats has not changed since they were last described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Therefore, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

#### 3.9.2.3 Taxonomic Group Descriptions and Distribution

Seventeen taxonomic groups of fishes and their distribution in the Study Area (Offshore Area and Inshore Waters and the Western Behm Canal portion of the Study Area) were described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and summarized in Table 3.9-1. Neither the taxonomic groups nor their distribution within the Study Area has changed since it was last described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Therefore, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

# Table 3.9-1: Taxonomic Groups of Fishes Within the Northwest Training and TestingStudy Area

Taxonom	Taxonomic Groups <sup>1</sup>		Distribution Within Study Area		
Taxonomic Grouping	Description	Offshore Area	Inland Waters	Western Behm Alaska	
Hagfish and lamprey (orders Myxiniformes and Petromyzontiformes)	Primitive and jawless with an eel-like body shape that prey on fishes, feed on dead fishes, or are parasitic	Water column, seafloor	Seafloor	Seafloor	
Sharks, rays, and chimaeras (class Chondrichthyes)	Cartilaginous (non-bony) fishes, some of which are open ocean predators	Surface, water column, seafloor	Surface, water column, seafloor	Surface, water column, seafloor	
Eels and spiny eels (order Anguilliformes, order Elopiformes)	Undergo a unique larval stage with a small head and elongated body; very different from other fishes	Surface, water column, seafloor	Surface, water column, seafloor	Surface, water column, seafloor	
Sturgeons (order Acipenseriformes)	Cartilaginous skeleton, anadromous, and long lived	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	
Herring, Eulachon, and Salmonids (orders Clupeiformes, Osmeriformes, Esociformes, and Salmoniformes)	Some are anadromous while others are migratory between the ocean, bays, estuaries, and rivers	Surface	Surface, water column	Surface, water column	
Lanternfishes (order Myctophiformes)	Largest group of deepwater fishes, most possess adaptations for low-light conditions	Water column	Water column, seafloor	Not Present	
Lizardfishes and lancetfishes (order Aulopiformes)	Predatory fish typically found in deep waters	Seafloor	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	
Cods, Hakes and Brotulas (orders Gadiformes and Ophidiiformes)	Important commercial fishery resources, associated with bottom habitats	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	Water column, seafloor	
Toadfishes (order Batrachoidiformes)	Temperate and tropical a lie-in-wait predator	Seafloor	Seafloor	Seafloor	

# Table 3.9-1: Taxonomic Groups of Fishes Within the Northwest Training and TestingStudy Area (continued)

Taxonom	ic Groups <sup>1</sup>	Distribution Within Study Area			
Taxonomic Grouping	Description	Offshore Area	Inland Waters	Western Behm Alaska	
Pacific saury and Silversides and Pacific saury (orders Atheriniformes and Beloniformes)	Small-sized nearshore/coastal fishes, primarily feed on organic debris; also includes the surface-oriented flyingfishes	Surface	Surface, water column	Surface, water column	
Opahs and Ribbonfishes, (order Lampridiformes)	Primarily open ocean or deepwater fishes	Surface, water column	Surface, water column	Surface, water column	
Pipefish (order Gasterosteiformes)	Small mouth with tubular snout and armor like scales; shows a high level of parental care	None	Surface	Surface	
Rockfishes (order Scorpaeniformes)	Larval and juvenile stages pelagic; depending on species, adults bottom oriented or pelagic	Surface, water column, seafloor	Surface, water column, seafloor	Surface, water column, seafloor	
Gobies (order Perciformes: family Gobiidae)	Gobies are the largest and most diverse family of marine fishes, mostly found in bottom habitats of coastal areas	None	Bottom Habitat	Surface	
Jacks, tunas, and Mackerels, (order Perciformes: families Carangidae, Scombridae)	Highly migratory predators found near the surface; they make up a major component of fisheries	Surface	Surface, water column	Surface, water column	
Flounders (order Pleuronectiformes)	Occur in bottom habitats throughout the world where they are well camouflaged	Seafloor Seafloor		Seafloor	
Ocean sunfish ( <i>Mola mola</i> ) (order Tetraodontiformes)	Unique body shapes and characteristics to avoid predators	Surface, water column	Surface, water column	Surface, water column	

<sup>1</sup> Taxonomic groups are based on the following commonly accepted references: Hart (1973); Helfman et al. (2009b); Moyle & Cech (2004); Nelson et al. (2016).

3.9-7

#### 3.9.2.4 Endangered Species Act-Listed Species

There are 33 fish species occurring in the Study Area that are listed as either threatened or endangered under the ESA (Table 3.9-2). NMFS has listed 28 species of salmon and steelhead, two rockfish species, Pacific eulachon, and green sturgeon on the west coast, all of which occur within the Study Area. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) has listed bull trout throughout its range, which overlaps with the Study Area. In addition, nine species of concern occur within the Study Area. Candidate species are any species that are undergoing a status review that NMFS has announced through a Federal Register (FR) notice (71 FR 61022). Species of Concern are identified by NMFS when there is concern regarding species status, but for which insufficient information is available to indicate a need to list the species (69 FR 19975). Candidate species and Species of concern do not carry any procedural or substantive protections under the ESA (71 FR 61022). The emphasis on species-specific information in the following profiles will be on the ESA protected species because any threats or potential impacts on those species are subject to consultation with regulatory agencies.

Critical habitat and the associated Primary Constituent Elements (PCEs), if applicable, within the Study Area are identified and described. Potential impacts on critical habitat were assessed by determining the effects of the project on the PCEs of the critical habitat. Critical habitat is defined as (1) specific areas within the geographical area occupied by the species at the time of listing, if those areas contain physical or biological features essential to conservation, and those features may require special management considerations or protection; and (2) specific areas outside the geographical area occupied by the species if the agency determines that the area itself is essential for conservation. PCEs are defined as sites or habitat components that support one or more life stages deemed essential to the conservation of the species. Critical habitat maps were provided only for species in which the critical habitat extended into the Study Area.

Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, critical habitat has been designated for two threatened species: Puget Sound Steelhead Distinct Population Segment (DPS) and Lower Columbia River Coho Salmon Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) (81 FR 9251). Critical habitat designated for Puget Sound steelhead and Lower Columbia River coho salmon is entirely freshwater and marine habitat has not been designated. As a result, there is no critical habitat for these two species in the Study Area. The Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of canary rockfish has been delisted and its designated critical habitat removed (82 FR 7711). Also, bigeye thresher shark, common thresher shark, and smooth hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna zygaena*) have been removed from candidate status after status reviews determined that listing was not warranted (81 FR 18979; 81 FR 41934). Table 3.9-2 contains a summary of the status and presence of all ESA-listed fish species potentially found in the Study Area. The five-year status reviews for all Pacific salmon and steelhead were published in 2016 with no changes in listing status warranted (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016). In addition, several salmonid hatchery programs have been either added or removed from their respective species' ESUs/DPSs (Jones 2015). With the exception of these recent changes in species status or the inclusion/exclusion of hatchery populations in ESUs/DPSs, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

## Table 3.9-2: Status and Presence of Endangered Species Act (ESA)-Listed Fish Species and their Designated Critical Habitat,Candidate Species, and Species of Concern Found in the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area

Species and Regulatory Status					Presence in Study Area		
Common Name (Scientific Name)	Distinct Population Segment (DPS) <sup>1</sup> / Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) <sup>2</sup>	Federal Status	Critical Habitat Designation	Offshore Area	Inland Waters	Western Behm Canal	
Salmonid Species				•			
	Puget Sound ESU	Т	Designated (Inland Waters)	*	4	~	
	Upper Columbia River Spring-Run ESU	Е	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	~	
	Lower Columbia River ESU	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	~	
	Upper Willamette River ESU	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	1	n/a	~	
Chinook Salmon (Oncorhynchus	Snake River Spring-Summer ESU	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	~	
tshawytscha)	Snake River Fall-Run ESU	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	*	n/a	~	
	California Coastal ESU	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a	
	Central Valley, Fall and Late-Fall Run ESU	SOC <sup>3</sup>	Not Designated	~	n/a	n/a	
	Central Valley Spring-Run ESU	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a	
	Sacramento River Winter-Run	E	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a	

Species and Regulatory Status				Presence in Study Area				
Common Name (Scientific Name)	Distinct Population Segment (DPS) <sup>1</sup> / Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) <sup>2</sup>	Federal Status	Critical Habitat Designation	Offshore Area	Inland Waters	Western Behm Canal		
Salmonid Species (continued)								
	Lower Columbia ESU	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	✓		
Coho Salmon	Oregon Coast ESU	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	√		
(Oncorhynchus kisutch)	Southern Oregon/Northern California Coast ESU	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a		
	Puget Sound/Strait of Georgia ESU	SOC³	Not Designated	✓	✓	✓		
	Central California Coast	E	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a		
Chum Salmon	Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU	т	Designated (Inland Waters)	~	~	n/a		
(Oncorhynchus keta)	Columbia River ESU	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a		
Sockeye Salmon	Ozette Lake ESU	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a		
(Oncorhynchus nerka)	Snake River ESU	E	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a ✓ n/a n/a ✓ ✓ n/a n/a ✓ n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a		

Species and Regulatory Status			Presence in Study Area			
Common Name (Scientific Name)	Distinct Population Segment (DPS) <sup>1</sup> / Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) <sup>2</sup>	Federal Status	Critical Habitat Designation	Offshore Area	Inland Waters	Western Behm Canal
Salmonid Species (con	tinued)			-		
	Puget Sound DPS	т	Designated (Not in Study Area <sup>4</sup> )	~	~	n/a
	Upper Columbia River DPS	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a
	Middle Columbia River DPS	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a
	Lower Columbia River DPS	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a
	Upper Willamette River DPS	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a
Steelhead (Oncorhynchus	Snake River Basin DPS	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a
mykiss)	Northern California Coast DPS	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a
	Oregon Coast DPS	SOC <sup>3</sup>	Not Designated	✓	n/a	n/a
	California Central Valley DPS	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a
	Central California Coast DPS	т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a
	South-Central California Coast DPS	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area)	✓	n/a	n/a
	Southern California DPS	E	Designated (Not in Study Area)	~	n/a	n/a

Species and Regulatory Status					Presence in Study Area			
Common Name (Scientific Name)	Distinct Population Segment (DPS) <sup>1</sup> / Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) <sup>2</sup>	Federal Status	Critical Habitat Designation	Offshore Area	Inland Waters	Western Behm Canal		
Salmonid Species (continued)								
Bull Trout (Salvelinus confluentus)	Coastal-Puget Sound DPS	т	Designated (Inland Waters)	n/a	~	n/a		
Rockfish Species	Rockfish Species							
Bocaccio Rockfish	Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS	E	Designated (Inland Waters)	n/a	~	n/a		
(Sebustes puucispinis)	Southern DPS (Northern California to Mexico)	SOC <sup>3</sup>	Not Designated	✓	n/a	n/a		
Cowcod Rockfish (Sebastes levis)	Central Oregon to central Baja California and Guadalupe Island, Mexico	SOC <sup>3</sup>	Not Designated	~	n/a	n/a		
Yelloweye Rockfish (Sebastes ruberrimus)	Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS	Т	Designated (Inland Waters)	n/a	1	n/a		

Species Name and Regulatory Status					Presence in Study Area				
Common Name (Scientific Name)	Distinct Population Segment (DPS) <sup>1</sup> / Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) <sup>2</sup>	Federal Status	Critical Habitat Designation	Offshore Area	Inland Waters	Western Behm Canal			
Other Marine Fish Specie	Other Marine Fish Species								
Basking Shark (Cetorhinus maximus)	Eastern North Pacific DPS	SOC <sup>3</sup>	Not Designated	~	n/a	n/a			
Green Sturgeon (Acinenser medirostris)	Southern DPS	Т	Designated (Offshore and Inland Waters)	~	✓	n/a			
	Northern DPS	SOC <sup>3</sup>	Not Designated	~	~	n/a			
Pacific Cod (Gadus macrocephalus)	Salish Sea	SOC <sup>3</sup>	Not Designated	n/a	1	n/a			
Pacific Eulachon (Thaleichthys pacificus)	Southern DPS	Т	Designated (Not in Study Area⁴)	~	~	n/a			
Pacific Hake ( <i>Merluccius productus</i> )	Georgia Basin (Canada to Washington State) DPS	SOC <sup>3</sup>	Not Designated	n/a	~	n/a			

<sup>1</sup> A species with more than one DPS can have more than one ESA listing status, as individual DPSs can be either not listed under the ESA or can be listed as an endangered, threatened, or candidate species.

<sup>2</sup> ESU is a population of organisms that is considered distinct for purposes of conservation.

<sup>3</sup> Species of Concern status does not carry any procedural or substantive protections under the ESA, but these species are included in this table for informational purposes.

<sup>4</sup> Critical habitat does not overlap with any of the activities because it is a freshwater designation.

Notes: Federal Status: E = Endangered, T = Threatened, SOC = Species of Concern, n/a= not applicable

#### 3.9.2.4.1 Salmonid Species

Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, critical habitat for two species listed as threatened, the Lower Columbia River Coho Salmon ESU and Puget Sound Steelhead DPS, was designated (81 FR 9251). Since then, the 2016 five-year status reviews for all Pacific salmon and steelhead were published with no changes in listing status warranted for any of the listed salmon and steelhead (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016). In addition, the listing status under the ESA of hatchery programs associated with 28 salmon ESUs and steelhead DPSs was reviewed in Jones (2015). The origin of each hatchery population and its divergence level from the source population was evaluated in determining removal from or addition to an ESU/DPS. Coded wire tagging (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2003; Weitkamp, 2010) and genetic analysis (Beacham et al., 2016; Tucker et al., 2012) has identified six Chinook salmon (Puget Sound, Upper Columbia River Spring, Lower Columbia River, Upper Willamette River, Snake River Spring-Summer, and Snake River Fall-Run) and three coho salmon (Puget Sound, Lower Columbia River, and Oregon Coast) ESUs with a potential of occurring in the vicinity of the Western Behm Canal. Recent literature has also documented toxic stormwater runoff as a species-specific threat to coho salmon in urbanized areas (Feist et al., 2017; McIntyre et al., 2018). With the exception of these recent changes in designated critical habitat, salmonid presence in Western Behm Canal, species-specific threats to coho salmon, or the inclusion/exclusion of hatchery populations in ESUs/DPSs, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

#### 3.9.2.4.1.1 Chinook Salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha)

A map of critical habitat designated for Puget Sound Chinook salmon in the Study Area was provided in Figure 3.9-1 of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

The Sikes Act Improvement Act of 1997 (16 U.S.C. 670a) (Sikes Act) requires each military installation that includes land and water suitable for the conservation and management of natural resources to complete an integrated natural resources management plan (INRMP). NMFS and USFWS shall not designate (exempt) as critical habitat any lands or other geographical areas owned or controlled by the Department of Defense (DoD), or designated for its use, that are subject to an INRMP if the Secretary of the Service determines in writing that such plan provides a benefit to the species for which critical habitat is proposed for designation. Under section 4(b)(2) of the ESA, the Services consider where a national security impact might exist where the benefits of exclusion outweigh the benefits of inclusion. An updated Figure 3.9-1, displaying Chinook salmon critical habitat and DoD areas excluded or exempted for designation, is provided below.


# Figure 3.9-1: Marine Critical Habitat for the Puget Sound Chinook Salmon Evolutionarily Significant Units

Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the following changes have occurred in the number of hatchery programs included in five of the nine listed Chinook salmon ESUs (Jones, 2015): Upper Columbia River (decrease from 6 to 5), Lower Columbia River (decrease from 17 to 14), Upper Willamette River (decrease from 7 to 6), Snake River Spring/Summer Run (decrease from 15 to 11), and California Coastal (decrease from 6 to 0). Coded wire tag information indicates that adult Puget Sound, Lower Columbia River, Upper Willamette River, and Snake River Fall-Run Chinook salmon are likely to be seasonally present in the vicinity of the Western Behm Canal (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2003; Weitkamp, 2010). Genetic analysis of juvenile Chinook salmon sampled in the vicinity of the Western Behm Canal indicates the seasonal presence of juvenile Upper Columbia River Spring, Upper Willamette River, and Snake River Spring, Upper Willamette River, and Snake River Spring. Upper Willamette River, and Snake River Spring. Summer Chinook salmon (Tucker et al., 2012). With the exception of the changes in hatchery programs included in the five ESUs and species presence in the Western Behm Canal and the addition of the U.S. Navy lands and Navy security zones exempted or excluded from critical habitat, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

# 3.9.2.4.1.2 Coho Salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*)

Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, critical habitat for the Lower Columbia River Coho ESU, listed as threatened, was designated (81 FR 9251). However, the critical habitat designation only includes the Lower Columbia River system and does not include the Study Area. The following changes have occurred in the number of hatchery programs included in two of the four listed coho salmon ESUs (Jones, 2015): Lower Columbia River (decrease from 25 to 21) and Central California Coast (decrease from 4 to 2). Genetic analysis of juvenile coho salmon sampled in the vicinity of the Western Behm Canal indicates the seasonal presence of juvenile Lower Columbia River, Oregon Coast, and Puget Sound coho salmon (Beacham et al., 2016). New information has documented a species-specific threat to coho salmon in the form of toxic stormwater runoff in urbanized regions creating recurrent prespawn die-offs of adult coho spawners (Feist et al., 2017; McIntyre et al., 2018). With the exception of the designation of critical habitat for the Lower Columbia River Coho ESU, the changes in hatchery programs included in the two ESUs, species presence in the Western Behm Canal, and the new species-specific threat, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

# 3.9.2.4.1.3 Chum Salmon (*Oncorhynchus keta*)

Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the following changes have occurred in the number of hatchery programs included in the two listed chum salmon ESUs (Jones, 2015): Hood Canal Summer-Run (decrease from 8 to 4) and Columbia River (decrease from 3 to 2).

Exempted or excluded U.S. Navy lands and Navy security zones were not included on Figure 3.9-2 (Critical Habitat for the Hood Canal Summer-run chum ESU in the Study Area) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The sites below mean lower low water exempted or excluded from the Puget Sound Chinook salmon critical habitat in Section 3.9.2.4.1.1 [Chinook Salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*)] of this document are also excluded from Hood Canal Summer-run chum critical habitat.

With the exception of the changes in hatchery programs included in the two ESUs and the exempted/excluded Hood Canal Summer-run chum salmon critical habitat, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

# 3.9.2.4.1.4 Sockeye Salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*)

Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the number of hatchery programs included in the Lake Ozette sockeye salmon ESU decreased from 2 to 1 (Jones, 2015). With the exception of the

reduction in hatchery programs included in the Lake Ozette ESU, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

#### 3.9.2.4.1.5 Steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss)

Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, critical habitat for the Puget Sound Steelhead DPS, listed as threatened, was designated (81 FR 9251). The following changes have occurred in the number of hatchery programs included in 8 of the 11 listed steelhead salmon DPSs (Jones 2015): Puget Sound (increase from 2 to 6), Upper Columbia River (decrease from 6 to 5), Lower Columbia River (decrease from 10 to 7), Upper Willamette River (increase from 0 to 1), Snake River Basin (increase from 6 to 7), Northern California (decrease from 2 to 1), California Central Valley (increase from 0 to 2), and Central California Coast (increase from 0 to 2). With the exception of the designation of critical habitat for the Puget Sound Steelhead DPS and the changes in hatchery programs included/excluded in the eight DPSs, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

#### **3.9.2.4.1.6** Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*)

A map of critical habitat designated for bull trout in the Study Area is provided in Figure 3.9-2.

The Sikes Act requires that the USFWS shall not designate (exempt) as critical habitat any lands or other geographical areas owned or controlled by the DoD, or designated for its use, that are subject to an INRMP if the Secretary of the Service determines in writing that such plan provides a benefit to the species for which critical habitat is proposed for designation. Critical habitat is excluded on land held in trust by the United States for any tribe. Critical habitat on land subject to Habitat Conservation Plans (HCPs) is excluded under section 10(a)(1)(b) of the ESA. Under section 4(b)(2) of the ESA, the USFWS must consider where a national security impact might exist where the benefits of exclusion outweigh the benefits of inclusion. Figure 3.9-2 displays designated marine bull trout critical habitat, including areas excluded or exempted for the DoD, HCPs, or tribes.

Bull trout are managed as a single DPS, and the former Coastal-Puget Sound Bull Trout DPS has been incorporated into part of the Coastal Recovery Unit (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 2015). A literature review indicates that individual bull trout have been documented to switch between fluvial and anadromous life histories in alternate years (Goetz, 2016). Acoustic tagged bull trout in Puget Sound are usually detected less than 0.4 kilometers (km) from the shoreline in water less than 4 m deep (Goetz, 2016; Hayes et al., 2011). Bull trout primarily enter marine waters to prey on surf smelt, sand lance, juvenile herring, shiner perch, three-spine stickleback, and juvenile salmonids at depths of less than 10 m (Goetz et al., 2004; Goetz, 2016). Bull trout occasionally enter water up to 25 m in depth (Goetz et al., 2004); to transit to the shoreline of Whidbey Island, they must cross Skagit Bay in waters 7–84 m in depth (Goetz, 2016). On a few rare occasions, bull trout have been tracked crossing water up to 250 m deep for as far as 6.9 km (Goetz, 2016), but do not maintain position in deep water (Hayes et al., 2011). Crossing water depths of over 10 m is unusual behavior.



Figure 3.9-2: Marine Critical Habitat for the Bull Trout Distinct Population Segment

Bull trout in marine waters are shoreline-oriented (Goetz, 2016) and enter marine water for the primary purpose of foraging on smaller fish in the intertidal and subtidal zones of the photic zone, primarily in water less than 10 m in depth. Although bull trout in marine water will occasionally use areas deeper than 10 m, they do not maintain position and soon return to shallower water. Puget Sound anadromous bull trout enter marine waters in early spring, with residence time in salt water averaging two months, with a maximum of four months (Goetz, 2016). Anadromous bull trout on the Olympic coast of Washington State enter their natal streams at about the same time as Puget Sound bull trout (late spring and early summer), but overwinter in the Pacific Ocean or migrate through marine water to non-natal rain-fed streams, optimizing winter refugia and forage opportunities (Brenkman & Corbett, 2005; Goetz, 2016). Radio tags used during studies of Pacific coastal populations do not allow tracking in the ocean, and the only reports of captured bull trout along the Washington coast are from recreational anglers targeting surf perch in the surf zone (Brenkman, 2017).

The information on bull trout in the Study Area confirms the strong shoreline orientation of bull trout but has not substantially changed the conclusions of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. With the exception of the addition of DoD land exempted from critical habitat and Navy security zones, land subject to HCPs, and tribal land excluded from critical habitat, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

### 3.9.2.4.1.7 Dolly Varden (*Salvelinus malma*)

A literature review indicates that Washington State populations of Dolly Varden have not been documented to exhibit an anadromous life history and are not found in marine waters within the Study Area. The only Washington State population of Dolly Varden not isolated above a barrier is a population in a small headwater tributary of the upper Quinault River with a resident life history (Goetz et al., 2004). The information on Dolly Varden in the Study Area has not substantially changed the conclusions of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Dolly Varden are not listed as threatened in Washington State and are not present in marine waters in the Study Area. With the exception that Dolly Varden do not occur in the Study Area, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid; however, the inclusion of a species absent from the Study Area was in error.

#### 3.9.2.4.2 Rockfish Species

A map of critical habitat designated for the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPSs of the bocaccio, and yelloweye rockfish in the Study Area is provided below in Figure 3.9-3. Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin canary rockfish DPS has been delisted and designated critical habitat removed (82 FR 7711).

The Sikes Act requires the NMFS shall not designate (exempt) as critical habitat any lands or other geographical critical habitat designated for its use that are subject to an INRMP if the Secretary of the Service determines in writing that such plan provides a benefit to the species for which critical habitat is proposed for designation. Under section 4(b)(2) of the ESA, the NMFS must consider where a national security impact might exist where the benefits of exclusion outweigh the benefits of inclusion. An updated Figure 3.9-3, displaying designated bocaccio and yelloweye rockfish critical habitat, including areas excluded or exempted for the DoD, HCPs, or tribes, is provided below.



# Figure 3.9-3: Critical Habitat for the Bocaccio and Yelloweye Rockfish Distinct Population Segments

A literature review found that the information on bocaccio and yelloweye rockfish in the Study Area has not substantially changed from what is included in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. With the exception of the addition of the U.S. Navy lands and Navy security zones exempted or excluded from critical habitat, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

#### 3.9.2.4.2.1 Bocaccio (Sebastes paucispinis)

A literature review found that the information on the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin and Southern DPSs of the bocaccio rockfish in the Study Area has not substantially changed from what is included in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Additional information was added for U.S. Navy security zones not included as critical habitat on Figure 3.9-3. Therefore, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

#### 3.9.2.4.2.2 Canary Rockfish (Sebastes pinniger)

Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT final EIS/OEIS, the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of the canary rockfish has been delisted and designated critical habitat removed (82 FR 7711). These actions were based on newly obtained samples and genetic analysis that demonstrated that the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin canary rockfish population does not meet the DPS criteria and therefore does not qualify for listing under the ESA. Therefore, the ESA status and designated critical habitat information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS is no longer valid. Since the canary rockfish is no longer listed as federally threatened in the Study Area, it is not further addressed as an ESA listed species in this Supplemental.

#### 3.9.2.4.2.3 Yelloweye Rockfish (Sebastes ruberrimus)

A literature review found that the information on the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of the yelloweye rockfish in the Study Area has not substantially changed from what is included in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Additional information was added for U.S. Navy security zones not included as critical habitat on Figure 3.9-3. Therefore, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

#### 3.9.2.4.3 Other Species

A literature review found that the information on other fish species in the Study Area has not substantially changed from what is included in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

Since the publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, a status review (81 FR 18980) of the bigeye thresher shark (*Alopias supercilious*) and common thresher shark (*Alopias vulpinus*) and a status review (81 FR 41934) of the smooth hammerhead shark determined that listing of these candidate species was unwarranted. Therefore, the candidate status information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS is no longer valid and bigeye and common thresher sharks and the smooth hammerhead shark are not addressed as ESA candidate species further in this Supplemental.

#### 3.9.2.4.3.1 Pacific Eulachon (*Thaleichthys pacificus*)

A literature review found that the information on the Southern DPS of Pacific eulachon in the Study Area has not substantially changed from what is included in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Therefore, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

#### 3.9.2.4.3.2 Green Sturgeon (Acipenser medirostris)

A map of critical habitat designated for green sturgeon in the Study Area was provided in Figure 3.9-3 of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

The Sikes Act Improvement Act of 1997 (16 U.S.C. 670a) (Sikes Act) requires each military installation that includes land and water suitable for the conservation and management of natural resources to complete an INRMP. NMFS and USFWS shall not designate (exempt) as critical habitat any lands or other geographical areas owned or controlled by the DoD, or designated for its use, that are subject to an INRMP if the Secretary of the Service determines in writing that such plan provides a benefit to the species for which critical habitat is proposed for designation. Under section 4(b)(2) of the ESA, the Services consider where a national security impact might exist where the benefits of exclusion outweigh the benefits of inclusion. An updated Figure 3.9-4, displaying green sturgeon critical habitat and DoD areas excluded or exempted for designation, is provided below.

NMFS (2009) determined that the Strait of Juan de Fuca and Whidbey Island Naval Restricted Area, Strait of Juan de Fuca Naval Air-to-Surface Weapon Range Restricted Area, Admiralty Inlet Naval Restricted Area, and Navy 3 Operating area are excluded from designated green sturgeon critical habitat. NMFS (2009) also determined that six Naval facilities with INRMPs overlap with the specific areas under consideration for critical habitat designation (all located in Puget Sound, WA). These installations include Bremerton Naval Hospital, Naval Air Station Everett, Naval Magazine Indian Island, Naval Fuel Depot Manchester, Naval Undersea Warfare Center Keyport, and Naval Air Station, Whidbey Island. The INRMPs from these facilities provide measures that would benefit green sturgeon and are therefore not eligible for designation as critical habitat.

A literature review found that the information on the Southern DPS of the North American green sturgeon in the Study Area has not substantially changed from what is included in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Therefore, the information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.



# Figure 3.9-4: Critical Habitat for the Southern Distinct Population Segment of North American Green Sturgeon

#### 3.9.2.5 Federally Managed Fisheries

Descriptions of Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) were presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. This Supplemental addresses the same activities within the Study Area that were addressed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The Pacific Fishery Management Council (Council) has four Fishery Management Plans (FMPs) in effect for the Groundfish, Coastal Pelagic, Highly Migratory, and Salmon Fishery Species in the Study Area. Although a few updates have occurred to the FMPs since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, none has changed or affected the previous information or analyses. As such, the general description of the EFH within the Study Area in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS has not changed; thus, the information presented remains valid.

#### 3.9.2.5.1 Groundfish Fishery Management Plan

As presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Pacific Fishery Management Plan has a Groundfish FMP. A recent review of the FMP and associated documents indicated that in June 2016, the Council adopted Amendment 27 to the plan, which reclassified big skate from an Ecosystem Component (EC) species to "in the fishery," listed deacon rockfish in Table 3-1, and revised Chapter 5.5 to describe a new in-season process in California, which would occur outside of a Council meeting and allow NMFS to take action based upon attainment or projected attainment of Federal harvest limits of black rockfish, canary rockfish, and yelloweye rockfish. Additionally, updates to the FMP were made to clarify matters from Amendment 23 and acknowledge the successful rebuilding of canary rockfish and petrale sole. Since these amendments were included to help facilitate a sustainable groundfish fishery by reducing overall catch and did not impose new environmental baseline restrictions, the information in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. Therefore, no additional update to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS is required.

#### 3.9.2.5.2 Coastal Pelagic Fishery Management Plan

As presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Pacific Fishery Management Plan has a Coastal Pelagic FMP. A recent review of the FMP and associated documents indicated that no additional amendments to the plan have been adopted. Since additional amendments to the plan have not been adopted, the information in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. Therefore, no additional update to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS is required.

#### 3.9.2.5.3 Highly Migratory Fishery Management Plan

As presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Pacific Fishery Management Plan has a Highly Migratory FMP. A recent review of the FMP and associated documents indicated that the Council has adopted or proposed three amendments to the plan. Amendment 3, adopted in 2015, added a suite of lower trophic level species to the FMP's list of EC species. Consistent with the objectives of the Council's FMPs and its Fishery Ecosystem Plan, Amendment 3 prohibits future development of directed commercial fisheries for the suite of EC species shared between all four FMPs ("Shared EC Species") until and unless the Council has had an adequate opportunity to both assess the scientific information relating to any proposed directed fishery and consider potential impacts on existing fisheries, fishing communities, and the greater marine ecosystem. In March 2017, the Council was presented with proposed amendments, but did not finalize changes to the Highly Migratory Species FMP that would revise dated and inaccurate text as Amendment 4. Also in March 2017, the Council took final action to adopt Amendment 5 to the Fishery Management Plan for West U.S. Coast Fisheries for Highly Migratory Species. This amendment would create a Federal limited entry permit for the California large mesh drift gillnet fishery. Since these amendments did not impose new environmental baseline restrictions, the information in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. Therefore, no additional update to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS is required.

#### 3.9.2.5.4 Salmon Fishery Management Plan

As presented in Section 3.9.2.5.5 of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Pacific Fishery Management Council has a Pacific Coast Salmon FMP that manages chinook, coho, and pink (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*) salmon. A recent review of the FMP and associated documents indicated that one additional amendments to the plan was adopted in 2016 (Pacific Fishery Management Council, 2016). The new amendment added a suite of lower trophic level species to the FMP's list of Ecosystem Component species. The amendment also prohibits future development of commercial fisheries for those Ecosystem Component species that are shared between all four FMPs (e.g., round herring, Pacific sand lance, smelts, Pelagic squids) until the Council has had an adequate opportunity to assess both the scientific information relating to any proposed directed fishery and potential impacts on existing fisheries, fishing communities, and the greater marine ecosystem. Even though an additional amendment to the plan was adopted, the information in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. Therefore, no additional update to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS is required.

#### 3.9.3 Environmental Consequences

In the Proposed Action for this Supplemental, some modifications have been made to the quantity and type of acoustic stressors under the two action alternatives. Because of new activities being proposed, two new stressors would be introduced that could potentially affect marine species; high-energy lasers (as an Energy stressor), as detailed in Section 3.0.3.3.2.2 (High-Energy Lasers), and biodegradable polymer (as an Entanglement stressor), as detailed in Section 3.0.3.5.3 (Biodegradable Polymer).

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS considered training and testing activities proposed to occur in the Study Area that may have the potential to impact marine fishes. The stressors applicable to marine fishes in the Study Area include the two new stressors as well as the same stressors considered in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS:

- Acoustic (sonar and other transducers, vessel noise, aircraft noise, weapon noise)
- Explosives (in-air explosions, in-water explosions)
- Energy (in-water electromagnetic devices, high-energy lasers)
- Physical disturbance and strike (vessels and in-water devices, military expended materials, seafloor devices)
- Entanglement (wires and cables, decelerators/parachutes, biodegradable polymer)
- Ingestion (military expended materials munitions and military expended materials other than munitions)
- Secondary (impacts on habitat and impacts on prey availability)

This section evaluates how and to what degree potential impacts on marine fishes from stressors described in Section 3.0.1 (Overall Approach to Analysis) may have changed since the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS was completed. Tables 2.5-1, 2.5-2, and 2.5-3 in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) list the proposed training and testing activities and include the number of times each activity would be conducted annually and the locations within the Study Area where the activity would typically occur under each alternative. The tables also present the same

information for activities described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS so that the proposed levels of training and testing under this Supplemental can be easily compared.

The Navy conducted a review of federal and state regulations and standards relevant to marine fishes and reviewed scientific literature published since 2015 for new information on marine fishes that could update the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The analysis presented in this section also considers standard operating procedures (see Section 2.3.3, Standard Operating Procedures) and mitigation measures that the Navy would implement to avoid potential impacts on marine fishes from stressors associated with the proposed training and testing activities (see Appendix K, Geographic Mitigation Assessment, for more details). Mitigation for marine fishes will be coordinated with NMFS through the ESA consultation process.

#### 3.9.3.1 Acoustic Stressors

The analysis of effects to fishes follows the concepts outlined in Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities). This section begins with a summary of relevant data regarding acoustic impacts on fishes in Section 3.9.3.1.1 (Background). This is followed by an analysis of estimated impacts on fishes due to specific Navy acoustic stressors (sonar and other transducers, vessel noise, aircraft noise, and weapon noise). Additional explanations of the acoustic terms and sound energy concepts used in this section are found in Appendix D (Acoustic and Explosive Concepts).

The Navy will rely on the previous 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS analysis for the analysis of vessel noise, and weapon noise, as there has been no substantive or otherwise meaningful change in the action, although new applicable and emergent science in regard to these sub-stressors is presented in the sections that follow. Due to available new literature, adjusted sound exposure criteria, and new acoustic effects modeling, the analysis provided in Section 3.9.3.1.2 (Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers) and Section 3.9.3.1.4 (Impacts from Aircraft Noise) of this Supplemental supplants the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS for fishes, and changes estimated impacts for some species since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

# 3.9.3.1.1 Background

Effects of human-generated sound on fishes have been examined in numerous publications (Hastings & Popper, 2005; Hawkins et al., 2015; Ladich & Popper, 2004; Lindseth & Lobel, 2018; Mann, 2016; National Research Council, 1994, 2003; Neenan et al., 2016; Popper, 2003, 2008; Popper & Hastings, 2009b; Popper et al., 2014; Popper et al., 2016; Popper & Hawkins, 2018). The potential impacts from Navy activities are based on the analysis of available literature related to each type of effect. In addition, a Working Group organized under the American National Standards Institute-Accredited Standards Committee S3, Subcommittee 1, Animal Bioacoustics, developed sound exposure guidelines for fish and sea turtles (Popper et al., 2014), hereafter referred to as the *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical report. Where applicable, thresholds and relative risk factors presented in the *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical

There are limited studies of fish responses to aircraft and weapon noise. Based on the general characteristics of these sound types, for stressors where data is lacking (such as aircraft noise), studies of the effects of similar non-impulsive/continuous noise sources (such as sonar or vessel noise) are used to inform the analysis of fish responses. Similarly, studies of the effects from impulsive sources (such as air guns or pile driving) are used to inform fish responses to other impulsive sources (such as weapon noise). Where data from sonar and vessel noise exposures are also limited, other non-impulsive sources

such as white noise may be presented as a proxy source to better understand potential reactions from fish. Additional information on the acoustic characteristics of these sources can be found in Appendix D (Acoustic and Explosive Concepts).

#### 3.9.3.1.1.1 Injury

Injury refers to the direct effects on the tissues or organs of a fish. Moderate- to low-level noise from vessels, aircraft, and weapons use are described in Section 3.0.3.1 (Acoustic Stressors) and lacks the amplitude and energy to cause any direct injury. Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities) provides additional information on injury and the framework used to analyze this potential impact.

#### Injury due to Impulsive Sound Sources

Impulsive sounds, such as those produced by seismic air guns and impact pile driving, may cause injury or mortality in fishes. Mortality and potential damage to the cells of the lateral line have been observed in fish larvae, fry, and embryos after exposure to single shots from a seismic air gun within close proximity to the sound source (0.1 to 6 meters [m]) (Booman et al., 1996; Cox et al., 2012). However, exposure of adult fish to a single shot from an air gun array (four air guns) within similar ranges (6 m), has not resulted in any signs of mortality within seven days after exposure (Popper et al., 2016). Although injuries occurred in adult fishes, they were similar to injuries seen in control subjects (i.e., fishes that were not exposed to the air gun) so there is little evidence that the air gun exposure solely contributed to the observed effects.

Injuries, such as ruptured swim bladders, hematomas, and hemorrhaging of other gas-filled organs, have been reported in fish exposed to a large number of simulated impact pile driving strikes with cumulative sound exposure levels up to 219 decibels referenced to 1 micropascal squared seconds (dB re 1 µPa<sup>2</sup>-s) under highly controlled settings where fish were unable to avoid the source (Casper et al., 2012b; Casper et al., 2013a; Casper et al., 2013b; Halvorsen et al., 2011; Halvorsen et al., 2012a; Halvorsen et al., 2012b). However, it is important to note that these studies exposed fish to 900 or more strikes as the studies goal was largely to evaluate the equal energy hypothesis, which suggests that the effects of a large single pulse of energy is equivalent to the effects of energy received from many smaller pulses (as discussed in Smith & Gilley, 2008). Halvorsen et al. (2011) and Casper et al. (2017) found that the equal energy hypothesis does not apply to effects of pile driving; rather, metrics relevant to injury could include, but not be limited to, cumulative sound exposure level, single strike sound exposure level, and number of strikes (Halvorsen et al., 2011). Furthermore, Casper et al. (2017) found the amount of energy in each pile strike and the number of strikes determines the severity of the exposure and the injuries that may be observed. For example, hybrid striped bass (white bass Morone chrysops x striped bass Morone saxatilis) exposed to fewer strikes with higher single strike sound exposure values resulted in a higher number of, and more severe, injuries than bass exposed to an equivalent cumulative sound exposure level that contained more strikes with lower single strike sound exposure values. This is important to consider when comparing data from pile driving studies to potential effects from an explosion. Although single strike peak sound pressure levels were measured during these experiments (at average levels of 207 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa), the injuries were only observed during exposures to multiple strikes, therefore, it is anticipated that a peak value much higher than the measured values would be required to lead to injury in fishes exposed to a single strike, or, for comparison, to a single explosion.

These studies included species both with and without swim bladders. The majority of fish that exhibited injuries were those with swim bladders. Lake sturgeon (*Acipenser fulyescens*), a physostomous fish, was found to be less susceptible to injury from impulsive sources than Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) or

hybrid striped bass, physoclistous fishes (Casper et al., 2017; Halvorsen et al., 2012a). As reported by Halvorsen et al. (2012a), the difference in results is likely due to the type of swim bladder in each fish. Physostomous fishes have an open duct connecting the swim bladder to their esophagus and may be able to quickly adjust the amount of gas in their body by gulping or releasing air. Physoclistous fishes do not have this duct; instead, gas pressure in the swim bladder is regulated by special tissues or glands. There were no mortalities reported during these experiments, and in the studies where recovery was observed, the majority of exposure related injuries healed within a few days in a laboratory setting. In many of these controlled studies, neutral buoyancy was determined in the fishes prior to exposure to the simulated pile driving. However, fishes with similar physiology to those described in these studies that are exposed to actual pile driving activities may show varying levels of injury depending on their state of buoyancy.

Debusschere et al. (2014) largely confirmed the results discussed in the paragraph above with caged juvenile European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) exposed to actual pile driving operations. No differences in mortality were found between control and experimental groups at similar levels tested in the experiments described in the paragraph above (sound exposure levels up to 215–222 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s), and many of the same types of injuries occurred. Fishes with injuries from impulsive sources such as these may not survive in the wild due to harsher conditions and risk of predation.

Other potential effects from exposure to impulsive sound sources include potential bubble formation and neurotrauma. It is speculated that high sound pressure levels may also cause bubbles to form from micronuclei in the blood stream or other tissues of animals, possibly causing embolism damage (Hastings & Popper, 2005). Fishes have small capillaries where these bubbles could be caught and lead to the rupturing of the capillaries and internal bleeding. It has also been speculated that this phenomena could take place in the eyes of fish due to potentially high gas saturation within the eye tissues (Popper & Hastings, 2009b). Additional research is necessary to verify if these speculations apply to exposures to non-impulsive sources such as sonars. These phenomena have not been well studied in fishes and are difficult to recreate under real-world conditions.

As summarized in the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014), exposure to high intensity and long duration impact pile driving or air gun shots did not cause mortality, and fishes typically recovered from injuries in controlled laboratory settings. Species tested to date can be used as viable surrogates for investigating injury in other species exposed to similar sources (Popper et al., 2014).

#### Injury due to Sonar and Other Transducers

Non-impulsive sound sources (e.g., sonar, acoustic modems, and sonobuoys) have not been known to cause direct injury or mortality to fish under conditions that would be found in the wild (Halvorsen et al., 2012a; Kane et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2007). Potential direct injuries (e.g., barotrauma, hemorrhage or rupture of organs or tissue) from non-impulsive sound sources, such as sonar, are unlikely because of slow rise times,<sup>1</sup> lack of a strong shock wave such as that associated with an explosive, and relatively low

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Rise time: the amount of time for a signal to change from static pressure (the ambient pressure without the added sound) to high pressure. Rise times for non-impulsive sound typically have relatively gradual increases in pressure where impulsive sound has near-instantaneous rise to a high peak pressure. For more detail, see Appendix D (Acoustic and Explosive Concepts).

peak pressures. General categories and characteristics of Navy sonar systems are described in Section 3.0.3.1.1 (Sonar and Other Transducers).

The effects of mid-frequency sonar-like signals (1.5–6.5 kHz) on larval and juvenile Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*), Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhura*), saithe (*Pollachius virens*), and spotted wolffish (*Anarhichas minor*) were examined by Jørgensen et al. (2005). Researchers investigated potential effects on survival, development, and behavior in this study. Among fish kept in tanks and observed for one to four weeks after sound exposure, no significant differences in mortality or growth-related parameters between exposed and unexposed groups were observed. Examination of organs and tissues from selected herring experiments did not reveal obvious differences between unexposed and exposed groups. However, two (out of 42) of the herring groups exposed to sound pressure levels of 189 dB re 1 µPa and 179 dB re 1 µPa had a post-exposure mortality of 19 and 30 percent, respectively. It is not clear if this increased mortality was due to the received level or to other unknown factors, such as exposure to the resonance frequency of the swim bladder. Jørgensen et al. (2005) estimated a resonant frequency of 1.8 kHz for herring and saithe ranging in size from 6.3 to 7.0 centimeters, respectively, which lies within the range of frequencies used during sound exposures and therefore may explain some of the noted mortalities.

Individual juvenile fish with a swim bladder resonance in the frequency range of the operational sonars may be more susceptible to injury or mortality. Past research has demonstrated that fish species, size and depth influences resonant frequency (Løvik & Hovem, 1979; McCartney & Stubbs, 1971). At resonance, the swim bladder, which can amplify vibrations that reach the fishes hearing organs, may absorb much of the acoustic energy in the impinging sound wave. It is suspected that the resulting oscillations may cause mortality, harm the auditory organs or the swim bladder (Jørgensen et al., 2005; Kvadsheim & Sevaldsen, 2005). However, damage to the swim bladder and to tissues surrounding the swim bladder was not observed in fishes exposed to sonar at their presumed swim bladder resonant frequency (Jørgensen et al., 2005). The physiological effect of sonars on adult fish is expected to be less than for juvenile fish because adult fish are in a more robust stage of development, the swim bladder resonant frequencies would be lower than that of mid-frequency active sonar, and adult fish have more ability to move from an unpleasant stimulus (Kvadsheim & Sevaldsen, 2005). Lower frequencies (i.e., generally below 1 kHz) are expected to produce swim bladder resonance in adult fishes from about 10 to 100 centimeters (McCartney & Stubbs, 1971). Fish, especially larval and small juveniles, are more susceptible to injury from swim bladder resonance when exposed to continuous signals within the resonant frequency range.

Hastings (1995) found "acoustic stunning" (loss of consciousness) in blue gouramis (*Trichogaster trichopterus*), a freshwater species, following an eight-minute continuous exposure to a 150 Hz pure tone with a sound pressure level of 198 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa. This species of fish has an air bubble in the mouth cavity directly adjacent to the animal's braincase that may have caused this injury. Hastings (1991; 1995) also found that goldfish (*Carassius auratus*), also a freshwater species, exposed to a 250 Hz continuous wave sound with peak pressures of 204 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa for two hours, and blue gourami exposed to a 150 Hz continuous wave sound at a sound pressure level of 198 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa for 0.5 hour did not survive. These studies are examples of the highest known levels tested on fish and for relatively long durations. Stunning and mortality due to exposure to non-impulsive sound exposure has not been observed in other studies.

Three freshwater species of fish, the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*), and the hybrid sunfish (*Lepomis* sp.), were exposed to both low- and mid-frequency sonar

(Kane et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2007). Low-frequency exposures with received sound pressure levels of 193 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa occurred for either 324 or 648 seconds. Mid-frequency exposures with received sound pressure levels of 210 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa occurred for 15 seconds. No fish mortality resulted from either experiment, and during necropsy after test exposures, both studies found that none of the subjects showed signs of tissue damage related to exposure (Kane et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2007).

As summarized in the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014), although fish have been injured and killed due to intense, long-duration non-impulsive sound exposures, fish exposed under more realistic conditions have shown no signs of injury. Those species tested to date can be used as viable surrogates for estimating injury in other species exposed to similar sources.

#### 3.9.3.1.1.2 Hearing Loss

Researchers have examined the effects on hearing in fishes from sonar-like signals, tones, and different non-impulsive noise sources. Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities) provides additional information on hearing loss and the framework used to analyze this potential impact.

Exposure to high-intensity sound can cause hearing loss, also known as a noise-induced threshold shift, or simply a threshold shift (Miller, 1974). A temporary threshold shift (TTS) is a temporary, recoverable loss of hearing sensitivity. A TTS may last several minutes to several weeks, and the duration may be related to the intensity of the sound source and the duration of the sound (including multiple exposures). A permanent threshold shift (PTS) is non-recoverable, results from the destruction of tissues within the auditory system, permanent loss of hair cells, or damage to auditory nerve fibers (Liberman, 2016), and can occur over a small range of frequencies related to the sound exposure. However, the sensory hair cells of the inner ear in fishes are regularly replaced over time when they are damaged, unlike in mammals where sensory hair cells loss is permanent (Lombarte et al., 1993; Popper et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2006). Consequently, PTS has not been known to occur in fishes, and any hearing loss in fish may be as temporary as the timeframe required to repair or replace the sensory cells that were damaged or destroyed (Popper et al., 2005; Popper et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2006). Although available data for some terrestrial mammals have shown signs of nerve damage after severe threshold shifts (e.g., Kujawa & Liberman, 2009; Lin et al., 2011) it is not known if damage to auditory nerve fibers could also occur in fishes, and if so, whether fibers would recover during this process. As with TTS, the animal does not become deaf but requires a louder sound stimulus, relative to the amount of PTS, to detect a sound within the affected frequencies.

#### Hearing Loss due to Impulsive Sound Sources

Popper et al. (2005) examined the effects of a seismic air gun array on a fish with a swim bladder that is involved in hearing, the lake chub (*Couesius plumbeus*), and two species that have a swim bladder that is not involved in hearing, the northern pike (*Esox lucius*) and the broad whitefish (*Coregonus nasus*), a salmonid. In this study, the lowest received cumulative sound exposure level (5 shots with a mean sound pressure level of 177 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa) at which effects were noted was 186 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s. The results showed temporary hearing loss for both lake chub and northern pike to both 5 and 20 air gun shots, but not for the broad whitefish. Hearing loss was approximately 20 to 25 dB at some frequencies for both species, and full recovery of hearing took place within 18 hours after sound exposure. Examination of the sensory surfaces of the ears after allotted recovery times (one hour for five shot exposures, and up to 18 hours for 20 shot exposures) showed no damage to sensory hair cells in any of the fish from these exposures (Song et al., 2008).

McCauley et al. (2003) and McCauley and Kent (2012) showed loss of a small percent of sensory hair cells in the inner ear of caged fish exposed to a towed air gun array simulating a passing seismic vessel. Pink snapper (Pargus auratus), a species that has a swim bladder that is not involved in hearing, were exposed to multiple air gun shots for up to 1.5 hours (McCauley et al., 2003) where the maximum received sound exposure levels exceeded 180 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s. The loss of sensory hair cells continued to increase for up to at least 58 days post exposure to 2.7 percent of the total cells. Gold band snapper (Pristipomoides multidens) and sea perch (Lutjanus kasmira), both fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing, were also exposed to a towed air gun array simulating a passing seismic vessel (McCauley & Kent, 2012). Although received levels for these exposures have not been published, hair cell damage increased as the range of the exposure (i.e., range to the source) decreased. Again, the amount of damage was considered small in each case (McCauley & Kent, 2012). It is not known if this hair cell loss would result in hearing loss since fish have tens or even hundreds of thousands of sensory hair cells in the inner ear and only a small portion were affected by the sound (Lombarte & Popper, 1994; Popper & Hoxter, 1984). The question remains as to why McCauley and Kent (2012) found damage to sensory hair cells while Popper et al. (2005) did not; however, there are many differences between the studies, including species and the precise sound source characteristics.

Hastings et al. (2008) exposed a fish with a swim bladder that is involved in hearing, the pinecone soldierfish (*Myripristis murdjan*), and three species that have a swim bladder that is not involved in hearing, the blue green damselfish (*Chromis viridis*), the saber squirrelfish (*Sargocentron spiniferum*), and the bluestripe seaperch (*Lutjanus kasmira*), to an air gun array. Fish in cages were exposed to multiple air gun shots with a cumulative sound exposure level of 190 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s. The authors found no hearing loss in any fish examined up to 12 hours after the exposures.

In an investigation of another impulsive source, Casper et al. (2013b) found that some fishes may actually be more susceptible to barotrauma (e.g., swim bladder ruptures, herniations, and hematomas) than hearing effects when exposed to simulated impact pile driving. Hybrid striped bass (white bass [Morone chrysops] x striped bass [Morone saxatilis]) and Mozambique tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus), two species with a swim bladder not involved in hearing, were exposed to sound exposure levels between 213 and 216 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s. The subjects exhibited barotrauma, and although researchers began to observe signs of inner ear hair cell loss, these effects were small compared to the other non-auditory injuries incurred. Researchers speculated that injury might occur prior to signs of hearing loss or TTS. These sound exposure levels may present the lowest threshold at which hearing effects may begin to occur. Overall, PTS has not been known to occur in fishes tested to date. Any hearing loss in fish may be as temporary as the timeframe required to repair or replace the sensory cells that were damaged or destroyed (Popper et al., 2005; Popper et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2006). The lowest sound exposure level at which TTS has been observed in fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing is 186 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s. As reviewed in the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014), fishes without a swim bladder, or fishes with a swim bladder that is not involved in hearing, would be less susceptible to hearing loss (i.e., TTS) than fishes with swim bladders involved in hearing, even at higher levels and longer durations.

#### Hearing Loss due to Sonar and Other Transducers

Several studies have examined the effects of the sound exposures from low-frequency sonar on fish hearing (i.e., Halvorsen et al., 2013; Kane et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2007). Hearing was measured both immediately post exposure and for up to several days thereafter (Halvorsen et al., 2013; Kane et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2007). Maximum received sound pressure levels were 193 dB re 1 µPa for 324 or

648 seconds (a cumulative sound exposure level of 218 or 220 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s, respectively) at frequencies ranging from 170 to 320 Hz (Kane et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2007) and 195 dB re 1 µPa for 324 seconds (a cumulative sound exposure level of 215 dB re 1 µPa<sup>2</sup>-s) in a follow-on study (Halvorsen et al., 2013). Two species with a swim bladder not involved in hearing, the largemouth bass (Micropterus salmoides) and yellow perch (Perca flavescens), showed no loss in hearing sensitivity from sound exposure immediately after the test or 24 hours later. Channel catfish, a fish with a swim bladder involved in hearing, and some specimens of rainbow trout, a fish with a swim bladder not involved in hearing, showed a threshold shift (up to 10 to 20 dB of hearing loss) immediately after exposure to the low-frequency sonar when compared to baseline and control animals. Small thresholds shifts were detected for up to 24 hours after the experiment in some channel catfish. Although some rainbow trout showed signs of hearing loss, another group showed no hearing loss. The different results between rainbow trout test groups are difficult to understand, but may be due to development or genetic differences in the various groups of fish. Catfish hearing returned to, or close to, normal within about 24 hours after exposure to low-frequency sonar. Examination of the inner ears of the fish during necropsy revealed no differences from the control groups in ciliary bundles or other features indicative of hearing loss. The maximum time fish were held post exposure before sacrifice was 96 hours (Kane et al., 2010).

The same investigators examined the potential effects of mid-frequency active sonar on fish hearing and the inner ear (Halvorsen et al., 2012c; Kane et al., 2010). The maximum received sound pressure level was 210 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa at a frequency of 2.8 to 3.8 kHz for a total duration of 15 seconds (cumulative sound exposure level of 220 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s). Out of the species tested (rainbow trout and channel catfish), only one test group of channel catfish showed any hearing loss after exposure to mid-frequency active sonar. The investigators tested catfish during two different seasons and found that the group tested in October experienced TTS, which recovered within 24 hours, but fish tested in December showed no effect. It was speculated that the difference in hearing loss between catfish groups might have been due to the difference in water temperature during the testing period or due to differences between the two stocks of fish (Halvorsen et al., 2012c). Any effects on hearing in channel catfish due to sound exposure appeared to be short-term and non-permanent (Halvorsen et al., 2012c; Kane et al., 2010).

Some studies have suggested that there may be some loss of sensory hair cells due to high intensity sources, indicating a loss in hearing sensitivity; however, none of those studies concurrently investigated the subjects' actual hearing range after exposure to these sources. Enger (1981) found loss of ciliary bundles of the sensory cells in the inner ears of Atlantic cod following one to five hours of exposure to pure tone sounds between 50 and 400 Hz with a sound pressure level of 180 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa. Hastings (1995) found auditory hair-cell damage in goldfish, a freshwater species with a swim bladder that is involved in hearing. Goldfish were exposed to 250 Hz and 500 Hz continuous tones with maximum peak sound pressure levels of 204 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa and 197 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa, respectively, for about two hours. Similarly, Hastings et al. (1996) demonstrated damage to some sensory hair cells in oscars (*Astronotus ocellatus*) observed one to four days following a one-hour exposure to a pure tone at 300 Hz with a sound pressure level of 180 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa, but no damage to the lateral line was observed. Both studies found a relatively small percentage of total hair cell loss from hearing organs despite long duration exposures. Effects from long-duration noise exposure studies are generally informative; however, they are not necessarily a direct comparison to intermittent short-duration sounds generated during Navy activities involving sonar and other transducers.

As noted in the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014), some fish species with a swim bladder that is involved in hearing may be more susceptible to TTS from high-intensity non-impulsive sound sources, such as sonar and other transducers, depending on the duration and frequency content of the exposure. Fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing and fishes with high-frequency hearing may exhibit TTS from exposure to low- and mid-frequency sonar, specifically at cumulative sound exposure levels above 215 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s. Fishes without a swim bladder and fishes with a swim bladder that is not involved in hearing would be unlikely to detect mid- or other high-frequency sonars and would likely require a much higher sound exposure level to exhibit the same effect from exposure to low-frequency active sonar.

#### Hearing Loss due to Vessel Noise

Little data exist on the effects of vessel noise on hearing in fishes. However, TTS has been observed in fishes exposed to elevated background noise and other non-impulsive sources (e.g., white noise). Caged studies on pressure sensitive fishes (i.e., fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing and those with high-frequency hearing) show some hearing loss after several days or weeks of exposure to increased background sounds, although the hearing loss seems to recover (e.g., Scholik & Yan, 2002a; Smith et al., 2004b; Smith et al., 2006). Smith et al. (2004b; 2006) exposed goldfish, to noise with a sound pressure level of 170 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa and found a clear relationship between the amount of hearing loss and the duration of exposure until maximum hearing loss occurred at about 24 hours of exposure. A 10-minute exposure resulted in 5 dB of TTS, whereas a three-week exposure resulted in a 28 dB TTS that took over two weeks to return to pre-exposure baseline levels (Smith et al., 2004b). Recovery times were not measured by investigators for shorter exposure durations. It is important to note that these exposures were continuous and subjects were unable to avoid the sound source for the duration of the experiment.

Scholik and Yan (2001) demonstrated TTS in fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*), another pressure sensitive species with similar hearing capabilities as the goldfish, after a 24-hour continuous exposure to white noise (0.3 to 2.0 kHz) at 142 dB re 1 µPa, that did not recover 14 days post-exposure. This is the longest threshold shift documented to have occurred in a fish species, with the actual duration of the threshold shift being unknown, but exceeding 14 days. However, the same authors found that the bluegill sunfish (Lepomis macrochirus), a species that primarily detects particle motion and lacks specializations for hearing, did not show statistically significant elevations in auditory thresholds when exposed to the same stimulus (Scholik & Yan, 2002b). This demonstrates that fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing and those with high frequency hearing may be more sensitive to hearing loss than fishes without a swim bladder or those with a swim bladder not involved in hearing. Studies such as these should be treated with caution in comparison to exposures in a natural environment, largely due to the confined nature of the controlled setting where fishes are unable to avoid the sound source (e.g., fishes are held stationary in a tub), and due to the long, continuous durations of the exposures themselves (sometimes days to weeks). Fishes exposed to vessel noise in their natural environment, even in areas with higher levels of vessel movement, would only be exposed for a short duration (seconds or minutes) as vessels are transient and pass by.

As summarized in the *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical report (Popper et al., 2014), some fish species with a swim bladder that is involved in hearing may be more susceptible to TTS from long

duration continuous noise, such as broadband<sup>2</sup> white noise, depending on the duration of the exposure (thresholds are proposed based on continuous exposure of 12 hours). However, it is not likely that TTS would occur in fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing or in fishes without a swim bladder.

#### 3.9.3.1.1.3 Masking

Masking refers to the presence of a noise that interferes with a fish's ability to hear biologically important sounds including those produced by prey, predators, or other fishes. Masking occurs in all vertebrate groups and can effectively limit the distance over which an animal can communicate and detect biologically relevant sounds. Human-generated continuous sounds (e.g., some sonar, vessel or aircraft noise, and vibratory pile driving) have the potential to mask sounds that are biologically important to fishes. Researchers have studied masking in fishes using continuous masking noise, but masking due to intermittent, short-duty cycle sounds has not been studied. Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities) provides additional information on masking and the framework used to analyze this potential impact.

Masking is likely to occur in most fishes due to varying levels of ambient or natural noise in the environment such as wave action, precipitation, or other animal vocalizations (Popper et al., 2014). Ambient noise during higher sea states in the ocean has resulted in elevated thresholds in several fish species (Chapman & Hawkins, 1973; Ramcharitar & Popper, 2004). Although the overall intensity or loudness of ambient or human-generated noise may result in masking effects in fishes, masking may be most problematic when human-generated signals or ambient noise levels overlap the frequencies of biologically important signals (Buerkle, 1968, 1969; Popper et al., 2014; Tavolga, 1974).

Wysocki and Ladich (2005) investigated the influence of continuous white noise exposure on the auditory sensitivity of two freshwater fish with notable hearing specializations for sound pressure detection, the goldfish and the lined Raphael catfish (*Platydoras costatus*), and a freshwater fish without notable specializations, the pumpkinseed sunfish (*Lepomis gibbosus*). For the goldfish and catfish, baseline thresholds were lower than masked thresholds. Continuous white noise with a sound pressure level of approximately 130 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa at 1 m resulted in an elevated threshold of 23 to 44 dB within the subjects' region of best sensitivity between 500 and 1000 Hz. There was less evidence of masking in the sunfish during the same exposures with only a shift of 11 dB. Wysocki and Ladich (2005) suggest that ambient sound regimes may limit acoustic communication and orientation, especially in animals with notable hearing specializations for sound pressure detection.

Masking could lead to potential fitness costs depending on the severity of the reaction (Radford et al., 2014; Slabbekoorn et al., 2010). For example, masking could result in changes in predator-prey relationships potentially inhibiting a fish's ability to detect predators and therefore increase its risk of predation (Astrup, 1999; Mann et al., 1998; Simpson et al., 2015; Simpson et al., 2016). Masking may also limit the distance over which fish can communicate or detect important signals (Alves et al., 2016; Codarin et al., 2009; Ramcharitar et al., 2001; Ramcharitar et al., 2006; Stanley et al., 2017), including sounds emitted from a reef for navigating larvae (Higgs, 2005; Neenan et al., 2016). If the masking signal is brief (a few seconds or less), biologically important signals may still be detected, resulting in little effect to the individual. If the signal is longer in duration (minutes or hours) or overlaps with important

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A sound or signal that contains energy across multiple frequencies.

frequencies for a particular species, more severe consequences may occur such as the inability to attract a mate and reproduce. Holt and Johnston (2014) were the first to demonstrate the Lombard effect in one species of fish, a potentially compensatory behavior where an animal increases the source level of its vocalizations in response to elevated noise levels. The Lombard effect is currently understood to be a reflex that may be unnoticeable to the animal, or it could lead to increased energy expenditure during communication.

The ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014) highlights a lack of data that exists for masking by sonar but suggests that the narrow bandwidth and intermittent nature of most sonar signals would result in only a limited probability of any masking effects. In addition, most sonars (mid-, high-, and very high-frequency) are above the hearing range of most marine fish species, eliminating the possibility of masking for these species. In most cases, the probability of masking would further decrease with increasing distance from the sound source.

In addition, no data are available on masking by impulsive signals (e.g., impact pile driving and air guns) (Popper et al., 2014). Impulsive sounds are typically brief, lasting only fractions of a second, where masking could occur only during that brief duration of sound. Biological sounds can typically be detected between pulses within close distances to the source unless those biological sounds are similar to the masking noise, such as impulsive or drumming vocalizations made by some fishes (e.g., cod or haddock). Masking could also indirectly occur because of repetitive impulsive signals where the repetitive sounds and reverberations over distance may create a more continuous noise exposure.

Although there is evidence of masking as a result of exposure to vessel noise, the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014) does not present numeric thresholds for this effect. Instead, relative risk factors are considered and it is assumed the probability of masking occurring is higher at near to moderate distances from the source (up to hundreds of meters) but decrease with increasing distance (Popper et al., 2014).

#### 3.9.3.1.1.4 Physiological Stress

Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities) provides additional information on physiological stress and the framework used to analyze this potential impact. A fish must first be able to detect a sound above its hearing threshold and above the ambient noise level before a physiological stress reaction can occur. The initial response to a stimulus is a rapid release of stress hormones into the circulatory system, which may cause other responses such as elevated heart rate and blood chemistry changes. Although an increase in background sound has been shown to cause stress in humans and animals, only a limited number of studies have measured biochemical responses by fishes to acoustic stress (e.g., Goetz et al., 2015; Madaro et al., 2015; Remage-Healey et al., 2006; Smith et al., 2004a; Wysocki et al., 2006; Wysocki et al., 2007) and the results have varied. Researchers have studied physiological stress in fishes using predator vocalizations, non-impulsive or continuous, and impulsive noise exposures.

A stress response that has been observed in fishes includes the production of cortisol (a stress hormone) when exposed to sounds such as boat noise, tones, or predator vocalizations. Nichols et al. (2015) found that giant kelpfish (*Heterostichus rostratus*) had increased levels of cortisol with increased sound level and intermittency of boat noise playbacks. Cod exposed to a short-duration upsweep (a tone that sweeps upward across multiple frequencies) across 100 to 1,000 Hz had increases in cortisol levels, which returned to normal within one hour post-exposure (Sierra-Flores et al., 2015). Remage-Healey et al. (2006) found elevated cortisol levels in Gulf toadfish (*Opsanus beta*) exposed to low-frequency

bottlenose dolphin sounds. The researchers observed none of these effects in toadfish exposed to low-frequency snapping shrimp "pops."

A sudden increase in sound pressure level (i.e., presentation of a sound source) or an increase in overall background noise levels can increase hormone levels and alter other metabolic rates indicative of a stress response, such as increased ventilation and oxygen consumption (Pickering, 1981; Popper & Hastings, 2009a; Radford et al., 2016; Simpson et al., 2015; Simpson et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2004a, 2004b; Spiga et al., 2017). Similarly, reef fish embryos exposed to boat noise have shown increases in heart rate, another indication of a physiological stress response (Jain-Schlaepfer et al., 2018). Although results have varied, it has been shown that chronic or long-term (days or weeks) exposures of continuous man-made sounds can lead to a reduction in embryo viability (Sierra-Flores et al., 2015) and slowed growth rates (Nedelec et al., 2015).

However, not all species tested to date show these reactions. Smith et al. (2004a) found no increase in corticosteroid, a class of stress hormones, in goldfish exposed to a continuous, band-limited noise (0.1– 10 kHz) with a sound pressure level of 170 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa for one month. Wysocki et al. (2007) exposed rainbow trout to continuous band-limited noise with a sound pressure level of about 150 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa for nine months with no observed stress effects. Growth rates and effects on the trout's immune systems were not significantly different from control animals held at a sound pressure level of 110 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa.

Fishes may have physiological stress reactions to sounds that they can hear. Generally, stress responses are more likely to occur in the presence of potentially threatening sound sources, such as predator vocalizations, or during the sudden onset of impulsive signals rather than from non-impulsive or continuous sources such as vessel noise or sonar. Stress responses are typically brief (a few seconds to minutes) if the exposure is short or if fishes habituate or learn to tolerate the noise that is being presented. Exposure to chronic noise sources can lead to more severe impacts such as reduced growth rates, which may lead to reduced survivability for an individual. It is assumed that any physiological response (e.g., hearing loss or injury) or significant behavioral response is also associated with a stress response.

#### 3.9.3.1.1.5 Behavioral Reactions

Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities) provides additional information on behavioral reactions and the framework used to analyze this potential impact. Behavioral reactions in fishes have been observed due to a number of different types of sound sources. The majority of research has been performed using air guns (including large-scale seismic surveys), sonar, and vessel noise. Fewer observations have been made on behavioral reactions to impact pile driving noise; although fish are likely to show similar behavioral reactions to any impulsive noise within or outside the zone for hearing loss and injury.

As with masking, a fish must first be able to detect a sound above its hearing threshold and above the ambient noise level before a behavioral reaction can potentially occur. Most fishes can only detect low-frequency sounds with the exception of a few species that can detect some mid and high frequencies (above 1 kHz).

Studies of fishes have identified the following basic behavioral reactions to sound: alteration of natural behaviors (e.g., startle or alarm), and avoidance (LGL Ltd Environmental Research Associates et al., 2008; McCauley et al., 2000; Pearson et al., 1992). In the context of this Supplemental, and to remain consistent with available behavioral reaction literature, the terms "startle" and "alarm" and "response" or "reactions" will be used synonymously.

In addition, observed behavioral effects to fish could include disruption to or alteration of natural activities such as swimming, schooling, feeding, breeding, and migrating. Sudden changes in sound level can cause fish to dive, rise, or change swimming direction. However, there is evidence that some fish may habituate to repeated exposures or learn to tolerate noise that is not seemingly unthreatening (e.g., Bruintjes et al., 2016; Nedelec et al., 2016b; Radford et al., 2016).

Behavioral reactions often vary depending on the type of exposure or the sound source present. Changes in sound intensity may be more important to a fishes' behavior than the maximum sound level. Sounds that fluctuate in level or have intermittent pulse rates tend to elicit stronger responses from fish than even stronger sounds with a continuous level (Neo et al., 2014; Schwarz & Greer, 1984). Interpreting behavioral responses can be difficult due to species-specific behavioral tendencies, motivational state (e.g., feeding or mating), an individual's previous experience, and whether or not the fish are able to avoid the source (e.g., caged versus free-swimming subjects). Results from caged studies may not provide a clear understanding of how free-swimming fishes may react to the same or similar sound exposures (Hawkins et al., 2015).

#### Behavioral Reactions due to Impulsive Sound Sources

It is assumed that most species would react similarly to impulsive sources (i.e., air guns and impact pile driving). These reactions include startle or alarm responses and increased swim speeds at the onset of impulsive sounds (Fewtrell & McCauley, 2012; Pearson et al., 1992; Roberts et al., 2016a; Spiga et al., 2017). Data on behavioral reactions in fishes exposed to impulsive sound sources is mostly limited to studies using caged fishes and the use of seismic air guns (Løkkeborg et al., 2012). Several species of rockfish (Sebastes species) in a caged environment exhibited startle or alarm reactions to seismic air gun pulses between peak-to-peak sound pressure levels of 180 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa and 205 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa (Pearson et al., 1992). More subtle behavioral changes were noted at lower sound pressure levels, including decreased swim speeds. At the presentation of the sound, some species of rockfish settled to the bottom of the experimental enclosure and reduced swim speed. Trevally (Pseudocaranx dentex) and pink snapper (Pagrus auratus) also exhibited alert responses as well as changes in swim depth, speed, and schooling behaviors when exposed to air gun noise (Fewtrell & McCauley, 2012). Both trevally and pink snapper swam faster and closer to the bottom of the cage at the onset of the exposure. However, trevally swam in tightly cohesive groups at the bottom of the test cages while pink snapper exhibited much looser group cohesion. These behavioral responses were seen during sound exposure levels as low as 147 up to 161 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s but habituation occurred in all cases, either within a few minutes or within 30 minutes after the final air gun shot (Fewtrell & McCauley, 2012; Pearson et al., 1992).

Some studies have shown a lack of behavioral reactions to air gun noise. Herring exposed to an approaching air gun survey (from 27 to 2 km over six hours), resulting in single pulse sound exposure levels of 125 to 155 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s, did not react by changing direction or swim speed (Pena et al., 2013). Although these levels are similar to those tested in other studies which exhibited responses (Fewtrell & McCauley, 2012), the distance of the exposure to the test enclosure, the slow onset of the sound source, and a strong motivation for feeding may have affected the observed response (Pena et al., 2013). In another study, Wardle et al. (2001) observed marine fish on an inshore reef before, during, and after an air gun survey at varying distances. The air guns were calibrated at a peak level of 210 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa at 16 m and 195 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa at 109 m from the source. Other than observed startle responses and small changes in the position of pollack, when the air gun was located within close proximity to the test site (within 10 m), they found no substantial or permanent changes in the behavior of the fish on the reef throughout the course of the study. Behavioral responses to impulsive sources are more likely to occur

within near and intermediate (tens to hundreds of meters) distances from the source as opposed to far distances (thousands of meters) (Popper et al., 2014).

Unlike the previous studies, Slotte et al. (2004) used fishing sonar (38 kHz echo sounder) to monitor behavior and depth of blue whiting (*Micromesistius poutassou*) and Norwegian spring herring (*Clupea harengus L.*) spawning schools exposed to air gun signals. They reported that fishes in the area of the air guns appeared to go to greater depths after the air gun exposure compared to their vertical position prior to the air gun usage. Moreover, the abundance of animals 30–50 km away from the air guns increased during seismic activity, suggesting that migrating fish left the zone of seismic activity and did not re-enter the area until the activity ceased. It is unlikely that either species was able to detect the fishing sonar, however, it should be noted that these behavior patterns may have also been influenced by other factors such as motivation for feeding, migration, or other environmental factors (e.g., temperature, salinity, etc.) (Slotte et al., 2004).

Alterations in natural behavior patterns due to exposure to pile driving noise have not been studied as thoroughly, but reactions noted thus far are similar to those seen in response to seismic surveys. These changes in behavior include startle responses, changes in depth (in both caged and free-swimming subjects), increased swim speeds, changes in ventilation rates, changes in attention and anti-predator behaviors, and directional avoidance (e.g., Hawkins et al., 2014; Mueller-Blenkle et al., 2010; Neo et al., 2015; Roberts et al., 2016a; Spiga et al., 2017). The severity of response varied greatly by species and received sound pressure level of the exposure. For example, some minor behavioral reactions such as startle responses were observed during caged studies with a sound pressure level as low as 140 dB re 1 µPa (Neo et al., 2014). However, only some free-swimming fishes avoided pile driving noise at even higher sound pressure levels between 152 and 157 dB re 1 µPa (lafrate et al., 2016). In addition, Roberts et al. (2016a) observed that although multiple species of free swimming fish responded to simulated pile driving recordings, not all responded consistently and in some cases, only one fish would respond while the others continued feeding from a baited remote underwater video, and others responded to different strikes. The repetition rate of pulses during an exposure may also have an effect on what behaviors were noted and how quickly these behaviors recovered as opposed to the overall sound pressure or exposure level (Neo et al., 2014). Neo et al. (2014) observed slower recovery times in fishes exposed to intermittent sounds (similar to pile driving) compared to continuous exposures.

As summarized in the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014), species may react differently to the same sound source depending on a number of variables, such as the animal's life stage or behavioral state (e.g., feeding, mating). Without specific data, it is assumed that fishes react similarly to all impulsive sounds outside the zone for hearing loss and injury. Observations of fish reactions to large-scale air gun surveys are informative, but not necessarily directly applicable to analyzing impacts from the short-term, intermittent use of all impulsive sources. It is assumed that fish have a high probability of reacting to an impulsive sound source within near and intermediate distances (tens to hundreds of meters), and a decreasing probability of reaction at increasing distances (Popper et al., 2014).

#### Behavioral Reactions due to Sonar and Other Transducers

Behavioral reactions to sonar have been studied both in caged and free-swimming fish although results can often-times be difficult to interpret depending on the species tested and the study environment. Jørgensen et al. (2005) showed that caged cod and spotted wolf fish (*Anarhichas minor*) lacked any response to simulated sonar between 1 and 8 kHz. However, within the same study, reactions were seen in juvenile herring. It is likely that the sonar signals were inaudible to the cod and wolf fish (species that

lack notable hearing specializations), but audible to herring which do possess hearing capabilities in the frequency ranges tested.

Doksæter et al. (2009; 2012) and Sivle et al. (2012; 2014) studied the reactions of both wild and captive Atlantic herring to the Royal Netherlands Navy's experimental mid-frequency active sonar ranging from 1 to 7 kHz. The behavior of the fish was monitored in each study either using upward looking echosounders (for wild herring) or audio and video monitoring systems (for captive herring). The source levels used within each study varied across all studies and exposures with a maximum received sound pressure level of 181 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa and maximum cumulative sound exposure level of 184 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>·s. No avoidance or escape reactions were observed when herring were exposed to any sonar sources. Instead, significant reactions were noted at lower received sound levels of different non-sonar sound types. For example, dive responses (i.e., escape reactions) were observed when herring were exposed to killer whale feeding sounds at received sound pressure levels of approximately 150 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa (Sivle et al., 2012). Startle responses were seen when the cages for captive herring were hit with a wooden stick and with the ignition of an outboard boat engine at a distance of one meter from the test pen (Doksaeter et al., 2012). It is possible that the herring were not disturbed by the sonar, were more motivated to continue other behaviors such as feeding, or did not associate the sound as a threatening stimulus. Based on these results (Doksaeter et al., 2009; Doksaeter et al., 2012; Sivle et al., 2012), Sivle et al. (2014) created a model in order to report on the possible population-level effects on Atlantic herring from active naval sonar. The authors concluded that the use of naval sonar poses little risk to populations of herring regardless of season, even when the herring populations are aggregated and directly exposed to sonar.

There is evidence that elasmobranchs (cartilaginous fish including sharks and rays) also respond to human-generated sounds. Myrberg and colleagues did experiments in which they played back sounds (e.g., pulsed tones below 1 kHz) and attracted a number of different shark species to the sound source (e.g., Casper et al., 2012a; Myrberg et al., 1976; Myrberg et al., 1969; Myrberg et al., 1972; Nelson & Johnson, 1972). The results of these studies showed that sharks were attracted to irregularly pulsed low-frequency sounds (below several hundred Hz), in the same frequency range of sounds that might be produced by struggling prey. However, sharks are not known to be attracted to continuous signals or higher frequencies that they presumably cannot hear (Casper & Mann, 2006; Casper & Mann, 2009).

Only a few species of marine fishes can detect sonars above 1 kHz (see Section 3.9.2.1, Hearing and Vocalization), meaning that most fishes would not detect most mid-, high-, or very high-frequency Navy sonars. The few marine species that can detect above 1 kHz and have some hearing specializations may be able to better detect the sound and would therefore be more likely to react. However, researchers have found little reaction by adult fish in the wild to sonars within the animals' hearing range (Doksaeter et al., 2009; Doksaeter et al., 2012; Sivle et al., 2012). The *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical report (Popper et al., 2014) suggests that fish able to hear sonars would have a low probability of reacting to the source within near or intermediate distances (within tens to hundreds of meters) and a decreasing probability of reacting at increasing distances.

#### **Behavioral Reactions due to Vessel Noise**

Vessel traffic also contributes to the amount of noise in the ocean and has the potential to affect fishes. Several studies have demonstrated and reviewed avoidance responses by fishes (e.g., herring and cod) to the low-frequency sounds of vessels (De Robertis & Handegard, 2013; Engås et al., 1995; Handegard et al., 2003). Misund (1997) found fish ahead of a ship that showed avoidance reactions did so at ranges of 50 to 150 m. When the vessel passed over them, some species of fish responded with sudden escape responses that included lateral avoidance or downward compression of the school.

As mentioned in Section 3.9.3.1.1.5 (Behavioral Reactions), behavioral reactions are quite variable depending on a number of factors such as (but not limited to) the type of fish, its life history stage, behavior, time of day, location, the type of vessel, and the sound propagation characteristics of the water column (Popper et al., 2014; Schwarz & Greer, 1984). Reactions to playbacks of continuous noise or passing vessels generally include basic startle and avoidance responses, as well as evidence of distraction and increased decision-making errors. Other specific examples of observed responses include increased group cohesion, increased distractions or evidence of modified attention, changes in vertical distribution in the water column, changes in swim speeds, and changes in feeding efficacy such as reduced foraging attempts and increased mistakes (i.e., lowered discrimination between food and non-food items) (e.g., Bracciali et al., 2012; De Robertis & Handegard, 2013; Handegard et al., 2015; Nedelec et al., 2017a; Neo et al., 2015; Payne et al., 2015; Purser & Radford, 2011; Sabet et al., 2016; Simpson et al., 2015; Simpson et al., 2016; Voellmy et al., 2014a; Voellmy et al., 2014b).

Behavioral responses may also be dependent on the type of vessel that fish are exposed to. For example, juvenile damselfish (*Pomacentrus wardi*) exposed to sound from a two-stroke engine resulted in startle responses, reduction in boldness (increased time spent hiding, less time exhibiting exploratory behaviors) and space use (maximum distance ventured from shelter), as well as more conservative reactions to visual stimuli analogous to a potential predator. However, damselfish exposed to sound from a four-stroke engine generally displayed similar responses as control fish exposed to ambient noise (e.g., little or no change in boldness) (McCormick et al., 2018).

Vessel noise has also led to changes in anti-predator response, but these responses vary by species. During exposures to vessel noise, juvenile Ambon damselfish (*Pomacentrus amboinensis*) and European eels showed slower reaction times and lacked startle responses to predatory attacks, and subsequently showed signs of distraction and increased their risk of predation during both simulated and actual predation experiments (Simpson et al., 2015; Simpson et al., 2016). Spiny chromis (*Acanthochromis polyacanthus*) exposed to chronic boat noise playbacks for up to 12 consecutive days spent less time feeding and interacting with offspring, and displayed increased defensive acts. In addition, offspring survival rates were also lower at nests exposed to chronic boat noise playbacks versus those exposed to ambient playbacks (Nedelec et al., 2017b). This suggests that chronic or long-term exposures could have more severe consequences than brief exposures.

In contrast, larval Atlantic cod showed a stronger anti-predator response and were more difficult to capture during simulated predator attacks (Nedelec et al., 2015). There are also observations of a general lack of response to shipping and pile driving playback noise by grey mullet (*Chelon labrosus*) and two-spotted gobys (*Gobiusculus flavescens*) (Roberts et al., 2016b). Mensinger et al. (2018) found that Australian snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) located in a protected area showed no change in feeding behavior or avoidance during boat passes, whereas snapper in areas where fishing occurs startled and ceased feeding behaviors during boat presence. This supports that location and past experience also have an influence on whether fishes react.

Although behavioral responses such as those listed above were often noted during the onset of most sound presentations, most behaviors did not last long and animals quickly returned to baseline behavior patterns. In fact, in one study, when given the chance to move from a noisy tank (with sound pressure

levels reaching 120–140 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa) to a quieter tank (sound pressure levels of 110 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa), there was no evidence of avoidance. The fish did not seem to prefer the quieter environment and continued to swim between the two tanks comparable to control sessions (Neo et al., 2015). However, many of these reactions are difficult to extrapolate to real-world conditions due to the captive environment in which testing occurred. Most fish species should be able to detect vessel noise due to its low-frequency content and their hearing capabilities (see Section 3.9.2.1, Hearing and Vocalization). The *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical report (Popper et al., 2014) suggests that fishes have a high to moderate probability of reacting to nearby vessel noise (i.e., within tens of meters) with decreasing probability of reactions with increasing distance from the source (hundreds or more meters).

#### 3.9.3.1.1.6 Long-Term Consequences

Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities) provides additional information on potential pathways for long-term consequences. Mortality removes an individual fish from the population and injury reduces the fitness of an individual. Few studies have been conducted on any long-term consequences from repeated hearing loss, stress, or behavioral reactions in fishes due to exposure to loud sounds (Hawkins et al., 2015; Popper & Hastings, 2009a; Popper et al., 2014). Repeated exposures of an individual to multiple sound-producing activities over a season, year, or life stage could cause reactions with costs that can accumulate over time to cause long-term consequences for the individual. These long-term consequences may affect the survivability of the individual, or if impacting enough individuals may have population-level effects, including alteration from migration paths, avoidance of important habitat, or even cessation of foraging or reproductive behavior (Hawkins et al., 2015). Conversely, some animals habituate to or become tolerant of repeated exposures over time, learning to ignore a stimulus that in the past has not accompanied any overt threat. In fact, Sivle et al. (2016) predicted that exposures to sonar at the maximum levels tested would only result in short-term disturbance and would not likely affect the overall population in sensitive fishes such as herring.

#### 3.9.3.1.2 Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers

The overall use of sonar and other transducers for training and testing would be similar to what was analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS for some activities and would increase for other activities (see Tables 2.5-1, 2.5-2, and 3.0-2 for details). Although individual activities may vary some from those previously analyzed, and some new systems using new technologies will be tested under Alternative 1 and 2, the overall determinations presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remain valid.

Sonar and other transducers proposed for use are transient in most locations because activities that involve sonar and other transducers take place at different locations and many platforms are generally moving throughout the Study Area. Sonar and other transducers emit sound waves into the water to detect objects, safely navigate, and communicate. General categories and characteristics of these systems and the number of hours these sonars will be operated are described in Section 3.0.3.1.1 (Sonar and Other Transducers). The activities that use sonar and other transducers are described in Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions).

As described under Section 3.9.3.1.1.1 (Injury – Injury due to Sonar and Other Transducers), direct injury from sonar and other transducers is highly unlikely because injury has not been documented in fish exposed to sonar (Halvorsen et al., 2012c; Halvorsen et al., 2013; Popper et al., 2007) and therefore is not considered further in this analysis.

Fishes are not equally sensitive to noise at all frequencies. Fishes must first be able to hear a sound in order to be affected by it. As discussed in Section 3.9.2.1 (Hearing and Vocalization), many marine fish species tested to date hear primarily below 1 kHz. For the purposes of this analysis, fish species were grouped into one of four fish hearing groups based on either their known hearing ranges (i.e., audiograms) or physiological features that may be linked to overall hearing capabilities (i.e., swim bladder with connection to, or in close proximity to, the inner ear). Figure 3.9-5 provides a general summary of hearing threshold data from available literature (e.g., Casper & Mann, 2006; Deng et al., 2013; Kéver et al., 2014; Mann et al., 2001; Ramcharitar et al., 2006) to demonstrate the potential overall range of frequency detection for each hearing group.

Due to data limitations, these estimated hearing ranges may be overly conservative in that they may extend beyond what some species within a given fish hearing group may actually detect. For example, although most sharks are most sensitive to lower frequencies, well below 1 kHz, the bull shark has been tested and can detect frequencies up to 1.5 kHz (Kritzler & Wood, 1961; Myrberg, 2001) and therefore represents the uppermost known limit of frequency detection for this hearing group. These upper bounds of each fish hearing groups' frequency range are outside of the range of best sensitivity for the majority of fishes within that group. As a result, fishes within each group would only be able to detect those upper frequencies at close distances to the source, and from sources with relatively high source levels. Figure 3.9-5 is not a composite audiogram but rather displays the basic overlap in potential frequency content for each hearing group with Navy defined sonar classes (i.e., low-, mid-, high- and very high-frequency) as discussed under Section 3.0.3.1.1 (Sonar and Other Transducers – Classification of Sonar and Other Transducers).

Systems within the low-frequency sonar class present the greatest potential for overlap with fish hearing. Some mid-frequency sonars and other transducers may also overlap some species' hearing ranges, but to a lesser extent than low-frequency sonars. For example, the only hearing groups that have the potential to detect mid-frequency sources within bins MF1, MF4 and MF5 are fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing and with high-frequency hearing. It is anticipated that most marine fishes would not hear, or be affected by, mid-frequency Navy sonars or other transducers with operating frequencies greater than about 1–4 kHz. Only a few fish species (i.e., fish with a swim bladder and high-frequency hearing specializations) can detect, and therefore be potentially affected by, high- and very high-frequency sonars and other transducers.

The most probable impacts from exposure to sonar and other transducers are TTS (for more detail see Section 3.9.3.1.1.2, Hearing Loss), masking (for more detail see Section 3.9.3.1.1.3, Masking), physiological stress (for more detail see Section 3.9.3.1.1.4, Physiological Stress), and behavioral reactions (for more detail see Section 3.9.3.1.1.5, Behavioral Reactions). Analysis of these effects are provided below.



Notes: Thin blue lines represent the estimated minimum and maximum range of frequency detection for each group. All hearing groups are assumed to hear down to 0.01 kHz regardless of available data. Thicker portions of each blue line represent the estimated the minimum and maximum range of best sensitivity for that group. Currently, no data are available to estimate the range of best sensitivity for fishes without a swim bladder. Although each sonar class is represented graphically by the horizontal black, grey and brown bars, not all sources within each class would operate at all the displayed frequencies. Example mid-frequency classes are provided to further demonstrate this. kHz = kilohertz, MF1 = 3.5 kHz, MF4 = 4 kHz, MF5 = 8 kHz.

#### Figure 3.9-5: Fish Hearing Group and Navy Sonar Bin Frequency Ranges

#### 3.9.3.1.2.1 Methods for Analyzing Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers

The Navy performed a quantitative analysis to estimate the range to TTS for fishes exposed to sonar and other transducers used during Navy training and testing activities. Inputs to the quantitative analysis included sound propagation modeling in the Navy Acoustic Effects Model to the sound exposure criteria and thresholds presented below. Although ranges to effect are predicted, density data for fish species within the Study Area are not available; therefore, it is not possible to estimate the total number of individuals that may be affected by sound produced by sonar and other transducers.

Criteria and thresholds to estimate impacts from sonar and other transducers are presented below in Table 3.9-3. Thresholds for hearing loss are typically reported in cumulative sound exposure level so as to account for the duration of the exposure. Therefore, thresholds reported in the *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical report (Popper et al., 2014) that were presented in other metrics were converted to sound exposure level based on the signal duration reported in the original studies (see Halvorsen et al., 2012c; Halvorsen et al., 2013; Kane et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2007). General research findings from these studies can be reviewed in Section 3.9.3.1.1.2 (Hearing Loss).

Fish Hearing Group	TTS from Low-Frequency Sonar (SEL <sub>cum</sub> )	TTS from Mid-Frequency Sonar (SEL <sub>cum</sub> )
Fishes without a swim bladder	NC	NC
Fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing	> 210	NC
Fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing	210	220
Fishes with a swim bladder and high-frequency hearing	210	220

Table	3.9-3:	Sound	Exposu	re Criteria	for T	TS from	Sonar

Notes: TTS = Temporary Threshold Shift,  $SEL_{cum}$  = Cumulative sound exposure level (decibel referenced to 1 micropascal squared seconds [dB re 1 µPa<sup>2</sup>-s]), NC = effects from exposure to sonar is considered to be unlikely, therefore no criteria are reported, > indicates that the given effect would occur above the reported threshold.

For mid-frequency sonars, fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing have shown signs of hearing loss because of mid-frequency sonar exposure at a maximum received sound pressure level of 210 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa for a total duration of 15 seconds. To account for the total duration of the exposure, the threshold for TTS is a cumulative sound exposure level of 220 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s (Halvorsen et al., 2012c; Kane et al., 2010). The same threshold is used for fishes with a swim bladder and high frequency hearing as a conservative measure although fishes in this hearing group have not been tested for the same impact. TTS has not been observed in fishes with a swim bladder that is not involved in hearing exposed to mid-frequency sonar. Fishes within this hearing group do not sense pressure well and typically cannot hear at frequencies above 1 kHz (Halvorsen et al., 2012c; Popper et al., 2014). Therefore, no criteria were proposed for fishes with a swim bladder that is not involved in hearing from exposure to mid-frequency sonars as it is considered unlikely for TTS to occur. Fishes without a swim bladder are even less susceptible to noise exposure; therefore, TTS is unlikely to occur, and no criteria are proposed for this group either.

For low-frequency sonar, as described in Section 3.9.3.1.1.2 (Hearing Loss), exposure of fishes with a swim bladder has resulted in TTS (Halvorsen et al., 2013; Kane et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2007). Specifically, fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing showed signs of hearing loss after exposure to a maximum received sound pressure level of 193 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa for 324 and 648 seconds (cumulative sound exposure level of 218 and 220 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s, respectively) (Kane et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2007). In addition, exposure of fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing to low-frequency sonar at a sound pressure level of 195 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa for 324 seconds (cumulative sound exposure level of 195 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa for 324 seconds (cumulative sound exposure level of 215 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s) resulted in TTS (Halvorsen et al., 2013). Although the results were variable, it can be assumed that TTS may occur in fishes within the same hearing groups at similar exposure levels. As a conservative measure, the threshold for TTS from exposure to low-frequency sonar for all fish hearing

groups with a swim bladder was rounded down to a cumulative sound exposure level of 210 dB re 1  $\mu Pa^2$ -s.

Criteria for high- and very-high-frequency sonar were not available in the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014); however, only species with a swim bladder involved in hearing and with high-frequency specializations, such as shad, could potentially be affected. The majority of fish species within the Study Area are unlikely to be able to detect these sounds. There is little data available on hearing loss from exposure of fishes to these high-frequency sonars. Due to the lack of available data, and as a conservative measure, effects to these hearing groups from high-frequency sonars would utilize the lowest threshold available for other hearing groups (a cumulative sound exposure level of 210 dB re  $1 \mu Pa^2$ -s), but effects would largely be analyzed qualitatively.

#### 3.9.3.1.2.2 Impact Ranges for Sonar and Other Transducers

The following section provides ranges to specific effects from sonar and other transducers. Ranges are calculated using criteria from Table 3.9-4 and the Navy Acoustic Effects Model. Only ranges to TTS were predicted based on available data. Sonar durations of 1, 30, 60 and 120 seconds were used to calculate the ranges below. However, despite the variation in exposure duration, ranges were almost identical across these durations and therefore were combined and summarized by bin in the table below. General source levels, durations, and other characteristics of these systems are described in Section 3.0.3.1.1 (Sonar and Other Transducers).

	Range to Effects (meters)					
Fish Hearing Group	Sonar Bin LF4 Low-frequency	Sonar Bin MF1 Hull-mounted surface ship sonars (e.g., AN/SQS-53C and AN/SQS-61)	Sonar Bin MF4 Helicopter- deployed dipping sonars (e.g., AN/AQS-22)	Sonar Bin MF5 Active acoustic sonobuoys (e.g., DICASS)		
Fishes without a swim bladder	NR	NR	NR	NR		
Fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing	0	NR	NR	NR		
Fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing	0	6 (0 - 11)	0	0		
Fishes with a swim bladder and high frequency hearing	0	6 (0 - 11)	0	0		

# Table 3.9-4: Ranges to Temporary Threshold Shift from Four Representative Sonar Bins

Notes: Ranges to TTS represent modeled predictions in different areas and seasons within the Study Area. The average range to TTS is provided as well as the minimum to the maximum range to TTS in parenthesis. Where only one number is provided the average, minimum, and maximum ranges to TTS are the same.

LF = low-frequency, MF = mid-frequency, NR = no criteria are available and therefore no range to effects are estimated.

# 3.9.3.1.2.3Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Sonar and other transducers emit sound waves into the water to detect objects, safely navigate, and communicate. Use of sonar and other transducers would typically be transient and temporary. General categories and characteristics of sonar systems and the number of hours these sonars would be operated during training under Alternative 1 are described in Section 3.0.3.1.1 (Sonar and Other Transducers). Activities using sonars and other transducers would be conducted as described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions). Overall use of sonar and other transducers in this Supplement EIS/OEIS compared with the totals analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are described in Tables 3.0-2 and 3.0-3.

Only a few species of shad within the Clupeidae family, subfamily Alosinae, are known to be able to detect high-frequency sonar and other transducers (greater than 10 kHz) and are considered a part of the fish hearing group for species with a swim bladder that have high-frequency hearing. However, these species are not present in the NWTT Study Area. Other marine fishes would probably not detect these high-frequency sounds and therefore would not experience masking, physiological stress, or behavioral disturbance.

Under Alternative 1, training activities would fluctuate each year to account for the natural variation of training cycles and deployment schedules. Some unit-level anti-submarine warfare training requirements would be conducted using synthetic means (e.g., simulators) or would be completed through other training exercises. However, training activities using low- and some mid-frequency sonars within most marine and anadromous fishes hearing range (< 2kHz) would not fluctuate between years. Overall, use of sources in this frequency range are less common during training activities than testing activities, and occur less often than sources with higher frequency content. Although training activities using sonar and other transducers could occur throughout the Study Area, low-and some mid-frequency sonars within the hearing range of most fish only occur in the NWTT Offshore area.

As discussed above, most marine fish species are not expected to detect sounds in the mid-frequency range (above a few kHz) of most operational sonars. The fish species that are known to detect mid-frequencies (i.e., those with swim bladders, including some sciaenids [drum], most clupeids [herring, shad], and potentially deep-water fish such as myctophids [lanternfish]) do not have their best sensitivities in the range of the operational sonars. Thus, fishes may only detect the most powerful systems, such as hull-mounted sonar, within a few kilometers; and most other, less powerful mid-frequency sonar systems, for a kilometer or less. Fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing and with high-frequency hearing are more susceptible to hearing loss due to exposure to mid-frequency sonars. However, the maximum estimated range to TTS for these fish hearing groups is equal to or less than 10 m for only the most powerful sonar bins. Fishes within these hearing groups would have to be very close to the source and the source levels would have to be relatively high in order to experience this effect.

Most mid-frequency active sonars used in the Study Area would not have the potential to substantially mask key environmental sounds or produce sustained physiological stress or behavioral reactions due to the limited time of exposure resulting from the moving sound sources and variable duty cycles. However, it is important to note that some mid-frequency sonars have a high duty cycle or are operated continuously. This may increase the risk of masking, but only for important biological sounds that overlap with the frequency of the sonar being operated. Furthermore, although some species may be able to produce sound at higher frequencies (greater than 1 kHz), vocal marine fishes, such as sciaenids, largely communicate below the range of mid-frequency levels used by most sonars. Any such effects would be temporary and infrequent as a vessel operating mid-frequency sonar transits an area. As such, mid-frequency sonar use is unlikely to impact individuals. Long-term consequences for fish populations due to exposure to mid-frequency sonar and other transducers are not expected.

All marine fish species can likely detect low-frequency sonars and other transducers. However, low-frequency active sonar use is rare during training activities and most low-frequency active operations are conducted in deeper waters, usually beyond the continental shelf break. The majority of fish species, including those that are the most highly vocal, exist on the continental shelf and within nearshore, estuarine areas. However, some species may still be present where low-frequency sonar and other transducers are used. Most low-frequency sonar sources do not have a high enough source level to cause TTS. Although highly unlikely, if TTS did occur, it may reduce the detection of biologically significant sounds but would likely recover within a few minutes to days.

The majority of fish species exposed to sonar and other transducers within near (tens of meters) to far (thousands of meters) distances of the source would be more likely to experience; mild physiological stress; brief periods of masking; behavioral reactions such as startle or avoidance responses, although risk would be low even close to the source; or no reaction. However, based on the information provided in the *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical report (Popper et al., 2014), the relative risk of these effects at any distance are expected to be low. Due to the transient nature of most sonar operations, overall effects would be localized and infrequent, only lasting a few seconds or minutes. Based on the low level and short duration of potential exposure to low-frequency sonar and other transducers, long-term consequences for fish populations are not expected.

As discussed previously in Section 3.9.2.1 (Hearing and Vocalization) and as shown in Figure 3.9-5, all ESA-listed fish species that occur in the Study Area are capable of detecting sound produced by low- and some mid-frequency (< 2kHz) sonars and other transducers. Pacific eulachon do not have a swim bladder and cannot detect frequencies above 1 kHz. ESA-listed salmon species, rockfish, and green sturgeon have a swim bladder not involved in hearing and may be able to detect some mid-frequency sources below 2 kHz, but they are not particularly sensitive to these frequencies. Therefore, impacts from mid-, high- or very high-frequency sonar and other transducers are not expected for any ESA-listed and proposed species.

All ESA-listed salmon species are present in the NWTT Offshore Area throughout the year. In addition, the ESA-listed Puget Sound ESU of Chinook salmon, Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU of chum salmon, Puget Sound DPS of Steelhead, and Coastal-Puget Sound DPS of bull trout also occur in the NWTT Inland Waters. Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of rockfish and yelloweye rockfish only occur in the NWTT Inland Waters. Training activities that use sonar and other transducers with frequency content at or below 2 kHz are not operated in the NWTT Inland Waters, therefore fishes that occur in the NWTT Inland Waters would not be exposure to these sources. Green sturgeon and Pacific eulachon occur throughout the Study Area and could be exposed to low-frequency sonar in the NWTT Offshore Area. There are no low- or mid-frequency (< 2kHz) sources operated in Western Behm Canal during training activities, therefore ESA-listed species that occur there would not be impacted.

Impacts on ESA-listed fishes, if they occur, would be similar to impacts on fishes in general. However, due to the short-term, infrequent and localized nature of these activities, ESA-listed fishes are unlikely to be exposed multiple times within a short period. In addition, physiological and behavioral reactions

would be expected to be brief (seconds to minutes) and infrequent based on the low probability of cooccurrence between training activities and these species. Although individuals may be impacted, longterm consequences for populations would not be expected.

Designated critical habitat for the Puget Sound ESU of Chinook salmon, Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU of chum salmon, the Coastal-Puget Sound DPS of bull trout, the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of bocaccio and yelloweye rockfish, and the Southern DPS of green sturgeon overlap the Study Area in the NWTT Inland Waters. In addition, designated critical habitat for bull trout and green sturgeon occur in the nearshore coastal areas of the Study Area. However, most of the physical and biological features for the anadromous ESA-listed species are generally not applicable to the Study Area (e.g., features associated with freshwater riverine habitat). While activities could occur in close proximity to designated critical habitat, no adverse effects to any physical or biological features (e.g., water quality, habitat structure, prey availability, or unobstructed passageways) are anticipated from exposure to sonar and other transducers.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of sonar and other transducers during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, and sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. The use of sonar and other transducers may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS as required by Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of sonar and other transducers associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

General categories and characteristics of sonar systems and the number of hours these sonars would be operated during testing under Alternative 1 are described in Section 3.0.3.1.1 (Sonar and Other Transducers). Activities using sonars and other transducers would be conducted as described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions). Overall use of sonar and other transducers in this Supplemental compared with the totals analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are described in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2.

Testing activities using sonar and other transducers would occur throughout the Study Area, with the majority of use occurring in the NWTT Inland Waters. Low-frequency sources are operated more frequently under testing activities than under training activities, including low- and some mid-frequency sonars (< 2kHz) that operate within most fish hearing ranges. In addition, some new systems using new technologies will be tested under Alternative 1 compared to systems analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Although the general impacts from sonar and other transducers under testing would be similar to those described under training, there would be more impacts under testing activities as all marine fishes can detect low frequency sources.

Hearing loss in fishes from exposure to sonar and other transducers is unlikely. Although unlikely, if TTS did occur, it would occur within tens of meters of the source and only in select hearing groups. The

majority of fish species exposed to sonar and other transducers within near (tens of meters) to far (thousands of meters) distances of the source would be more likely to experience; mild physiological stress; brief periods of masking; behavioral reactions such as startle or avoidance responses, although risk would be low even close to the source; or no reaction. However, based on the information provided in the *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical report (Popper et al., 2014), the relative risk of these effects at any distance are expected to be low. Long-term consequences for individual fish are unlikely in most cases because acoustic exposures are intermittent, transient and unlikely to repeat over short periods. Since long-term consequences for most individuals are unlikely, long-term consequences for populations are not expected.

As discussed previously in Section 3.9.2.1 (Hearing and Vocalization) and as shown in Figure 3.9-5, all ESA-listed fish species that occur in the Study Area are capable of detecting sound produced by low- and some mid-frequency (< 2kHz) sonars and other transducers. Pacific eulachon do not have a swim bladder and cannot detect frequencies above 1 kHz. ESA-listed salmon species, rockfish, and green sturgeon have a swim bladder not involved in hearing and may be able to detect some mid-frequency sources below 2 kHz, but they are not particularly sensitive to these frequencies. Therefore, impacts from mid-, high- or very high-frequency sonar and other transducers are not expected for any ESA-listed and proposed species.

All ESA-listed salmon species are present in the NWTT Offshore Area throughout the year. In addition, the ESA-listed Puget Sound ESU of Chinook salmon, Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU of chum salmon, Puget Sound DPS of Steelhead, and Coastal-Puget Sound DPS of bull trout also occur in the NWTT Inland Waters. The only species that are present in Western Behm Canal include the Puget Sound ESU, Upper Columbia River Spring-Run ESU, Lower Columbia River ESU, Upper Willamette River ESU, Snake River Spring-Summer ESU, and Snake River Fall-Run ESU of Chinook salmon, as well as the Lower Columbia ESU and the Oregon Coast ESU of Coho salmon. Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of bocaccio rockfish and yelloweye rockfish only occur in the NWTT Inland Waters and would only be exposed to sources in this portion of the Study Area. Green sturgeon and Pacific eulachon occur throughout the Study Area.

Impacts on ESA-listed fishes, if they occur, would be similar to impacts on fishes in general. However, due to the short-term, infrequent and localized nature of these activities, ESA-listed fishes are unlikely to be exposed multiple times within a short period. In addition, physiological and behavioral reactions would be expected to be brief (seconds to minutes) and infrequent based on the low probability of co-occurrence between training activities and these species. Although individuals may be impacted, long-term consequences for populations would not be expected.

Designated critical habitat for the Puget Sound ESU of Chinook salmon, Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU of chum salmon, the Coastal-Puget Sound DPS of bull trout, the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of bocaccio and yelloweye rockfish, and the Southern DPS of green sturgeon overlap the Study Area in the NWTT Inland Waters. In addition, designated critical habitat for bull trout and green sturgeon occur in the nearshore coastal areas of the Study Area. However, most of the physical and biological features for the anadromous ESA-listed species are generally not applicable to the Study Area (e.g., features associated with freshwater riverine habitat). While activities could occur in close proximity to designated critical habitat, no adverse effects to any physical or biological features (e.g., water quality, habitat structure, prey availability, or unobstructed passageways) are anticipated from exposure to sonar and other transducers.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of sonar and other transducers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, and sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. The use of sonar and other transducers may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS as required by Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of sonar and other transducers associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# 3.9.3.1.2.4 Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

As described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), Section 3.0.3.1.1 (Sonar and Other Transducers), and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions), training activities under Alternative 2 reflects the maximum number of activities that could occur within a given year. This would result in an increase in sonar use compared to Alternative 1, however the use of sonars and other transducers equal to or less than 2 kHz would remain the same between Alternative 1 and 2. The locations, types, and severity of predicted impacts would be similar to those described above in Section 3.9.3.1.2.3 (Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1 – Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities). The hours of use of sonars and other transducers in this Supplemental compared with the totals analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are described in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of sonar and other transducers during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, and sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. The use of sonar and other transducers may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of sonar and other transducers associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

As described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), Section 3.0.3.1.1 (Sonar and Other Transducers), and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions), testing activities under Alternative 2 reflects the maximum number of activities that could occur within a given year. This would result in an increase in sonar use compared to Alternative 1, including sonars and other transducers equal to or less than 2 kHz. However, the locations, types, and severity of predicted impacts would be similar to those described above in Section 3.9.3.1.2.3 (Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1 – Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Alternative 1 for Testing
Activities). The hours of use of sonars and other transducers in this Supplemental compared with the totals analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are described in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of sonar and other transducers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, and sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. The use of sonar and other transducers may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of sonar and other transducers associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.1.2.5 Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Acoustic stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer acoustic stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for acoustic impacts on individual fishes, but would not measurably improve the overall distribution or abundance of fishes.

#### 3.9.3.1.3 Impacts from Vessel Noise

Fishes may be exposed to noise from vessel movement. A detailed description of the acoustic characteristics and typical sound levels of vessel noise are in Section 3.0.3.1.2 (Vessel Noise). Vessel movements involve transits to and from ports to various locations within the Study Area, including commercial ship traffic as well as recreational vessels in addition to U.S. Navy vessels. Many ongoing and proposed training and testing activities within the Study Area involve maneuvers by various types of surface ships, boats, and submarines (collectively referred to as vessels). Activities may vary slightly from those previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, but the overall determinations presented remain valid. Increases and decreases shown in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2 for proposed activities under Alternative 1 and 2 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Acoustic stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer vessel-associated acoustic stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative

would lessen the potential for acoustic impacts on individual fishes, but would not measurably improve the overall distribution or abundance of fishes.

Pursuant to the ESA, vessel noise produced during training and testing activities, as described under Alternative 1 and Alternative 2, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, and sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. Vessel noise produced during training and testing activities may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS as required by Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA in that regard under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, vessel noise produced during training and testing activities, as described under Alternative 1 and Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.1.4 Impacts from Aircraft Noise

Fishes that occur near or at the waters' surface may be exposed to aircraft noise, although this is considered to be unlikely. Fixed, rotary-wing, and tilt-rotor aircraft are used during a variety of training and testing activities throughout the Study Area. Tilt-rotor impacts would be similar to fixed-wing or helicopter impacts depending which mode the aircraft is in. Most of these sounds would be concentrated around airbases and fixed ranges within the range complex. Aircraft noise could also occur in the waters immediately surrounding aircraft carriers at sea during takeoff and landing. Aircraft produce extensive airborne noise from either turbofan or turbojet engines. An infrequent type of aircraft noise is the sonic boom, produced when the aircraft exceeds the speed of sound. Rotary-wing aircraft (helicopters) produce low-frequency sound and vibration (Pepper et al., 2003). A detailed description of aircraft noise as a stressor is in Section 3.0.3.1.3 (Aircraft Noise).

Activities may vary slightly from those previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The analysis of impacts from aircraft noise in this Supplemental will supplant the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS for fishes, and may result in changes to estimated impacts for some species since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

# 3.9.3.1.4.1 Methods for Analyzing Impacts from Aircraft Noise

The amount of sound entering the ocean from aircraft would be very limited in duration, sound level, and affected area. Due to the low level of sound that could enter the water from aircraft, hearing loss is not further considered as a potential effect. Potential impacts considered are masking of other biologically relevant sounds, physiological stress, and changes in behavior. Reactions by fishes to these specific stressors have not been recorded however, fishes would be expected to react to aircraft noise as they would react to other transient sounds (e.g., vessel noise).

For this analysis, the Navy assumes that some fish at or near the water surface may exhibit startle reactions to certain aircraft noise if aircraft altitude is low. This could mean a hovering helicopter, for which the sight of the aircraft and water turbulence could also cause a response, or a low-flying or super-sonic aircraft generating enough noise to be briefly detectable underwater or at the air-water interface. Because any fixed-wing aircraft noise would be brief, the risk of masking any sounds relevant to fishes is very low. The *ANSI Sound Exposure Guidelines* for fishes did not consider this acoustic stressor (Popper et al., 2014).

# 3.9.3.1.4.2 Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 1

## Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Fishes may be exposed to aircraft-generated noise throughout the Study Area. Characteristics of aircraft noise are described in Section 3.0.3.1.3 (Aircraft Noise). Activities with aircraft would be conducted as described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions). Aircraft training activities would usually occur adjacent to Navy airfields, installations, and in Special Use Airspace within the Study Area.

Under Alternative 1, activities may vary slightly from those previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Increases and decreases are shown in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2 for proposed activities under Alternative 1 and 2.

In most cases, exposure of fishes to fixed-wing aircraft presence and noise would be brief as the aircraft quickly passes overhead. Fishes would have to be at or near the surface at the time of an overflight to be exposed to appreciable sound levels. Due to the low sound levels in water, it is unlikely that fishes would respond to most fixed-wing aircraft or transiting helicopters. Because most overflight exposure would be brief and aircraft noise would be at low received levels, only startle reactions, if any, are expected in response to low altitude flights. Similarly, the brief duration of most overflight exposures would limit any potential for masking of relevant sounds.

Daytime and nighttime activities involving helicopters may occur for extended periods of time, up to a couple of hours in some areas. During these activities, helicopters would typically transit throughout an area but could also hover over the water. Longer event durations and periods of time where helicopters hover may increase the potential for behavioral reactions, startle reactions, masking, and physiological stress. Low-altitude flights of helicopters during some activities, which often occur under 100 ft. altitude, may elicit a stronger startle response due to the proximity of a helicopter to the water; the slower airspeed and longer exposure duration; and the downdraft created by a helicopter's rotor.

If fish were to respond to aircraft noise, only short-term behavioral or physiological reactions (e.g., avoidance and increased heart rate) would be expected. Therefore, long-term consequences for individuals would be unlikely and long-term consequences for populations are not expected.

As discussed previously in Section 3.9.2.1 (Hearing and Vocalization), all ESA-listed fish species that occur in the Study Area are capable of detecting aircraft noise and could be exposed throughout the Study Area. However, due to the small area within which sound could potentially enter the water and the extremely brief window the sound could be present, exposures of fishes to aircraft noise would be extremely rare and in the event that they did occur, would be very brief (seconds).

Designated critical habitat for the Puget Sound ESU of Chinook salmon, Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU of chum salmon, the Coastal-Puget Sound DPS of bull trout, the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of bocaccio and yelloweye rockfish, and the Southern DPS of green sturgeon overlap the Study Area in the NWTT Inland Waters. In addition, designated critical habitat for bull trout and green sturgeon occur in the nearshore coastal areas of the Study Area. However, most of the physical and biological features for the anadromous ESA-listed species are generally not applicable to the Study Area (e.g., features associated with freshwater riverine habitat). While activities could occur in close proximity to designated critical habitat, no adverse effects to any physical or biological features (e.g., water quality, habitat structure, prey availability, or unobstructed passageways) are anticipated from exposure to aircraft noise.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, aircraft noise produced during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, and sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. Aircraft noise produced during training activities may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS as required by Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, aircraft noise produced during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Characteristics of aircraft noise are described in Section 3.0.3.1.3 (Aircraft Noise). Activities with aircraft would be conducted as described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions). Aircraft testing activities would usually occur adjacent to Navy airfields, installations, and in special use airspace within the Study Area. Under Alternative 2, activities may vary slightly from those previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Increases and decreases are shown in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2 for proposed activities under Alternative 1 and 2.

Proposed testing activities under Alternative 1 that involve aircraft differ in number and location from training activities under Alternative 1; however, the types and severity of impacts would not be discernible from those described above in Section 3.9.3.1.4.2 (Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 1 – Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities).

Pursuant to the ESA, aircraft noise produced during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, and sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. Aircraft noise produced during testing activities may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS as required by Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, aircraft noise produced during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# 3.9.3.1.4.3 Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

As discussed in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), and Section 3.0.3.1.3 (Aircraft Noise), training activities under Alternative 2 include a minor increase in the number of events that involve aircraft as compared to Alternative 1; however, the training locations, types of aircraft, and severity of predicted impacts would not be discernible from those described above in Section 3.9.3.1.4.2 (Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 1 – Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities).

Pursuant to the ESA, aircraft noise produced during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. Aircraft noise produced during training activities may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, aircraft noise produced during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

As discussed in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), and Section 3.0.3.1.3 (Aircraft Noise), testing activities under Alternative 2 include a minor increase in the number of events that involve aircraft as compared to Alternative 1; however, the training locations, types of aircraft, and severity of predicted impacts would not be discernible from those described above in Section 3.9.3.1.4.2 (Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under Alternative 1 – Impacts from Aircraft Noise under Alternative 1 for Training Activities).

Pursuant to the ESA, aircraft noise produced during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, and sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. Aircraft noise produced during testing activities may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, aircraft noise produced during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.1.4.4 Impacts from Aircraft Noise Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Acoustic stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer acoustic stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for acoustic impacts on individual fishes, but would not measurably improve the overall distribution or abundance of fishes.

#### 3.9.3.1.5 Impacts from Weapon Noise

Fishes may be exposed to sounds caused by the firing of weapons, objects in flight, and impact of non-explosive munitions on the water's surface, which are described in Section 3.0.3.1.4 (Weapons Noise). In general, these are impulsive sounds (such as those discussed under Section 3.0.3.2, Explosive Stressors) generated in close vicinity to or at the water surface, with the exception of items that are

launched underwater. The firing of a weapon may have several components of associated noise. Firing of guns could include sound generated in air by firing a gun (muzzle blast) and a crack sound due to a low amplitude shock wave generated by a supersonic projectile flying through the air. Most in-air sound would be reflected at the air-water interface. Underwater sounds would be strongest just below the surface and directly under the firing point. Any sound that enters the water only does so within a narrow cone below the firing point or path of the projectile. Vibration from the blast propagating through a ship's hull, the sound generated by the impact of an object with the water surface, and the sound generated by launching an object underwater are other sources of impulsive sound in the water. Sound due to missile and target launches is typically at a maximum at initiation of the booster rocket and rapidly fades as the missile or target travels downrange. Due to the transient nature of most activities that produce weapon noise, overall effects would be localized and infrequent, only lasting a few seconds or minutes. Reactions by fishes to these specific stressors have not been recorded however, fishes would be expected to react to weapon noise as they would react to other transient impulsive sounds.

Activities may vary slightly from those previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, but the overall determinations presented remain valid. Increases and decreases shown in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2 for activities proposed under Alternative 1 and 2 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Acoustic stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer acoustic stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for acoustic impacts on individual fishes, but would not measurably improve the overall distribution or abundance of fishes.

Pursuant to the ESA, weapon noise produced during training and testing activities, as described under Alternative 1 and Alternative 2, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS); bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS); green sturgeon; Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), steelhead, coho, and sockeye salmon; or Pacific eulachon. Weapon noise produced during training and testing activities may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, rockfish species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS as required by Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, weapon noise produced during training and testing activities, as described under Alternative 1 and Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# 3.9.3.2 Explosive Stressors

Explosions in the water or near the water surface can introduce loud, impulsive, broadband sounds into the marine environment. But, unlike other acoustic stressors, explosives release energy at a high rate producing a shock wave that can be injurious and even deadly. Therefore, explosive impacts on fishes

are discussed separately from other acoustic stressors, even though the analysis of explosive impacts will in part rely on data for fish impacts due to impulsive sound exposure where appropriate.

Explosives are usually described by their net explosive weight, which accounts for the weight and type of explosive material. Additional explanation of the acoustic and explosive terms and sound energy concepts used in this section is found in Appendix D (Acoustic and Explosive Concepts).

This section begins with a summary of relevant data regarding explosive impacts on fishes in Section 3.9.3.2.1 (Background). The ways in which an explosive exposure could result in immediate effects or lead to long-term consequences for an animal are explained in Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities), and this section follows that framework.

Due to the availability of new literature, adjusted sound exposure criteria, and new acoustic effects modeling, the analysis provided in Section 3.9.3.2.2 (Impacts from Explosives) of this Supplemental will supplant the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS for fishes.

#### 3.9.3.2.1 Background

The effects of explosions on fishes have been studied and reviewed by numerous authors (Keevin & Hempen, 1997; O'Keeffe, 1984; O'Keeffe & Young, 1984; Popper et al., 2014). A summary of the literature related to each type of effect forms the basis for analyzing the potential effects from Navy activities. The sections below include a survey and synthesis of best-available-science published in peer-reviewed journals, technical reports, and other scientific sources pertinent to impacts on fishes potentially resulting from Navy training and testing activities. Fishes could be exposed to a range of impacts depending on the explosive source and context of the exposure. In addition to acoustic impacts including temporary or permanent hearing loss, auditory masking, physiological stress, or changes in behavior, potential impacts from an explosive exposure can include non-lethal injury and mortality.

# 3.9.3.2.1.1 Injury

Injury refers to the direct effects on the tissues or organs of a fish. The blast wave from an in-water explosion is lethal to fishes at close range, causing massive organ and tissue damage (Keevin & Hempen, 1997). At greater distance from the detonation point, the extent of mortality or injury depends on a number of factors including fish size, body shape, depth, physical condition of the fish, and perhaps most importantly, the presence of a swim bladder (Keevin & Hempen, 1997; Wright, 1982; Yelverton et al., 1975; Yelverton & Richmond, 1981). At the same distance from the source, larger fishes are generally less susceptible to death or injury, elongated forms that are round in cross-section are less at risk than deep-bodied forms, and fishes oriented sideways to the blast suffer the greatest impact (Edds-Walton & Finneran, 2006; O'Keeffe, 1984; O'Keeffe & Young, 1984; Wiley et al., 1981; Yelverton et al., 1975). Species with a swim bladder are much more susceptible to blast injury from explosives than fishes without them (Gaspin, 1975; Gaspin et al., 1976; Goertner et al., 1994).

If a fish is close to an explosive detonation, the exposure to rapidly changing high pressure levels can cause barotrauma. Barotrauma is injury due to a sudden difference in pressure between an air space inside the body and the surrounding water and tissues. Rapid compression followed by rapid expansion of airspaces, such as the swim bladder, can damage surrounding tissues and result in the rupture of the airspace itself. The swim bladder is the primary site of damage from explosives (Wright, 1982; Yelverton et al., 1975). Gas-filled swim bladders resonate at different frequencies than surrounding tissue and can be torn by rapid oscillation between high- and low-pressure waves (Goertner, 1978). Swim bladders are a characteristic of most bony fishes with the notable exception of flatfishes (e.g., halibut). Sharks and

rays are examples of fishes without a swim bladder. Small airspaces, such as micro-bubbles that may be present in gill structures, could also be susceptible to oscillation when exposed to the rapid pressure increases caused by an explosion. This may have caused the bleeding observed on gill structures of some fish exposed to explosions (Goertner et al., 1994). Sudden very high pressures can also cause damage at tissue interfaces due to the way pressure waves travel differently through tissues with different densities. Rapidly oscillating pressure waves might rupture the kidney, liver, spleen, and sinus and cause venous hemorrhaging (Keevin & Hempen, 1997).

Several studies have exposed fish to explosives and examined various metrics in relation to injury susceptibility. Sverdrup (1994) exposed Atlantic salmon (1 to 1.5 kg [2 to 3 lb.]) in a laboratory setting to repeated shock pressures of around 2 MPa (300 psi) without any immediate or delayed mortality after a week. Hubbs and Rechnitzer (1952) showed that fish with swim bladders exposed to explosive shock fronts (the near-instantaneous rise to peak pressure) were more susceptible to injury when several feet below the water surface than near the bottom. When near the surface, the fish began to exhibit injuries around peak pressure exposures of 40 to 70 psi. However, near the bottom (all water depths were less than 100 feet [ft.]) fish exposed to pressures over twice as high exhibited no sign of injury. Yelverton et al. (1975) similarly found that peak pressure was not correlated to injury susceptibility; instead, injury susceptibility of swim bladder fish at shallow depths (10 ft. or less) was correlated to the metric of positive impulse (Pa-s), which takes into account both the positive peak pressure, the duration of the positive pressure exposure, and the fish mass, with smaller fish being more susceptible.

Gaspin et al. (1976) exposed multiple species of fish with a swim bladder, placed at varying depths, to explosive blasts of varying size and depth. Goertner (1978) and Wiley (1981) developed a swim bladder oscillation model, which showed that the severity of injury observed in those tests could be correlated to the extent of swim bladder expansion and contraction predicted to have been induced by exposure to the explosive blasts. Per this model, the degree of swim bladder oscillation is affected by ambient pressure (i.e., depth of fish), peak pressure of the explosive, duration of the pressure exposure, and exposure to surface rarefaction (negative pressure) waves. The maximum potential for injury is predicted to occur where the surface reflected rarefaction (negative) pressure wave arrives coincident with the moment of maximum compression of the swim bladder caused by exposure to the direct positive blast pressure wave, resulting in a subsequent maximum expansion of the swim bladder. Goertner (1978) and Wiley et al. (1981) found that their swim bladder oscillation model explained the injury data in the Yelverton et al. (1975) exposure study and their impulse parameter was applicable only to fishes at shallow enough depths to experience less than one swim bladder oscillation before being exposed to the following surface rarefaction wave.

O'Keeffe (1984) provides calculations and contour plots that allow estimation of the range to potential effects of in-water explosions on fish possessing swim bladders using the damage prediction model developed by Goertner (1978). O'Keeffe's (1984) parameters include the charge weight, depth of burst, and the size and depth of the fish, but the estimated ranges do not take into account unique propagation environments that could reduce or increase the range to effect. The 10 percent mortality range shown below in Table 3.9-5 is the maximum horizontal range predicted by O'Keeffe (1984) for 10 percent of fish suffering injuries that are expected to not be survivable (e.g., damaged swim bladder or severe hemorrhaging). Fish at greater depths and near the surface are predicted to be less likely to be injured because geometries of the exposures would limit the amplitude of swim bladder oscillations.

Table 3.9-5: Range to	10% Mortality from	<b>In-Water Explosions</b>	for Fishes with a Swim Bladder
-----------------------	--------------------	----------------------------	--------------------------------

Weight of Pentolite (lb.)	Depth of Explosion (ft.)	10% Morta	lity Maximum [m]	Range (ft.)
[NEW, lb.] <sup>1</sup>	[m]	1 oz. Fish	1 lb. Fish	30 lb. Fish
10 [13]	10 [3]	530 [162]	315 [96]	165 [50]
	50 [15]	705 [214]	425 [130]	260 [79]
	200 [61]	905 [276]	505 [154]	290 [88]
	10	985	600	330
	[3]	[300]	[183]	[101]
100	50	1,235	865	590
[130]	[15]	[376]	[264]	[180]
	200	1,340	1,225	725
	[61]	[408]	[373]	[221]
	10	1,465	1,130	630
	[3]	[447]	[344]	[192]
1,000	50	2,255	1,655	1,130
[1,300]	[15]	[687]	[504]	[344]
	200	2,870	2,390	1,555
	[61]	[875]	[728]	[474]
	10	2,490	1 <i>,</i> 920	1,155
	[3]	[759]	[585]	[352]
10,000	50	4,090	2,885	2,350
[13,000]	[15]	[1,247]	[879]	[716]
	200	5,555	4,153	3,090
	[61]	[1,693]	[1,266]	[942]

<sup>1</sup> Explosive weights of pentolite converted to net explosive weight using the peak pressure parameters in Swisdak (1978). lb. = pounds, NEW = net explosive weight, oz. = ounce.

Data from O'Keeffe (1984)

In contrast to fish with swim bladders, fishes without swim bladders have been shown to be more resilient to explosives (Gaspin, 1975; Gaspin et al., 1976; Goertner et al., 1994). For example, some small (average 116 mm length; approximately 1 oz.) hogchokers (*Trinectes maculatus*) exposed less than 5 ft. from a 10 lb. pentolite charge immediately survived the exposure with slight to moderate injuries, and only a small number of fish were immediately killed; however, most of the fish at this close range did

suffer moderate to severe injuries, typically of the gills or around the otolithic structures (Goertner et al., 1994).

Studies that have documented caged fishes killed during planned underwater explosions indicate that most fish that die do so within one to four hours, and almost all die within a day (Yelverton et al., 1975). Mortality in free-swimming (uncaged) fishes may be higher due to increased susceptibility to predation. Fitch and Young (1948) found that the type of free-swimming fish killed changed when blasting was repeated at the same location within 24 hours of previous blasting. They observed that most fish killed on the second day were scavengers, presumably attracted by the victims of the previous day's blasts.

Fitch and Young (1948) also investigated whether a significant portion of fish killed would have sunk and not been observed at the surface. Comparisons of the numbers of fish observed dead at the surface and at the bottom in the same affected area after an explosion showed that fish found dead on the bottom comprised less than 10 percent of the total observed mortality. Gitschlag et al. (2000) conducted a more detailed study of both floating fishes and those that were sinking or lying on the bottom after explosive removal of nine oil platforms in the northern Gulf of Mexico. Results were highly variable. They found that 3 to 87 percent (46 percent average) of the red snapper killed during a blast might float to the surface. Currents, winds, and predation by seabirds or other fishes may be some of the reasons that the magnitude of fish mortality may not have been accurately captured.

There have been few studies of the impact of underwater explosives on early life stages of fish (eggs, larvae, juveniles). Fitch and Young (1948) reported mortality of larval anchovies exposed to underwater blasts off California. Nix and Chapman (1985) found that anchovy and smelt larvae died following the detonation of buried charges. Similar to adult fishes, the presence of a swim bladder contributes to shock wave-induced internal damage in larval and juvenile fish (Settle et al., 2002). Explosive shock wave injury to internal organs of larval pinfish and spot exposed at shallow depths was documented by Settle et al. (2002) and Govoni et al. (2003; 2008) at impulse levels similar to those predicted by Yelverton et al. (1975) for very small fish. Settle et al. (2002) provide the lowest measured received level that injuries have been observed in larval fish. Researchers (Faulkner et al., 2006; Faulkner et al., 2008; Jensen, 2003) have suggested that egg mortality may be correlated with peak particle velocity exposure (i.e., the localized movement or shaking of water particles, as opposed to the velocity of the blast wave), although sufficient data from direct explosive exposures is not available.

Rapid pressure changes could cause mechanical damage to sensitive ear structures due to differential movements of the otolithic structures. Bleeding near otolithic structures was the most commonly observed injury in non-swim bladder fish exposed to a close explosive charge (Goertner et al., 1994).

As summarized by the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014), exposure to explosive energy poses the greatest potential threat for injury and mortality in marine fishes. Fishes with a swim bladder are more susceptible to injury than fishes without a swim bladder. The susceptibility also probably varies with size and depth of both the detonation and the fish. Fish larvae or juvenile fish may be more susceptible to injury from exposure to explosives.

# 3.9.3.2.1.2 Hearing Loss

There are no direct measurements of hearing loss in fishes due to exposure to explosive sources. The sound resulting from an explosive detonation is considered an impulsive sound and shares important qualities (i.e., short duration and fast rise time) with other impulsive sounds such as those produced by air guns. PTS in fish has not been known to occur in species tested to date and any hearing loss in fish

may be as temporary as the timeframe required to repair or replace the sensory cells that were damaged or destroyed (Popper et al., 2005; Popper et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2006).

As reviewed in Popper et al. (2014), fishes without a swim bladder, or fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing, would be less susceptible to hearing loss (i.e., TTS), even at higher level exposures. Fish with a swim bladder involved in hearing may be susceptible to TTS within very close ranges to an explosive. General research findings regarding TTS in fishes as well as findings specific to exposure to other impulsive sound sources are discussed in Section 3.9.3.1.1.2 (Hearing Loss).

# 3.9.3.2.1.3 Masking

Masking refers to the presence of a noise that interferes with a fish's ability to hear biologically important sounds including those produced by prey, predators, or other fish in the same species (Myrberg, 1980; Popper et al., 2003). This can take place whenever the noise level heard by a fish exceeds the level of a biologically relevant sound. As discussed in Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities) masking only occurs in the presence of the masking noise and does not persist after the cessation of the noise. Masking may lead to a change in vocalizations or a change in behavior (e.g., cessation of foraging, leaving an area).

There are no direct observations of masking in fishes due to exposure to explosives. The ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (2014) highlights a lack of data that exist for masking by explosives but suggests that the intermittent nature of explosions would result in very limited probability of any masking effects and if masking were to occur it would only occur during the duration of the sound. General research findings regarding masking in fishes due to exposure to sound are discussed in detail in Section 3.9.3.1.1.3 (Masking). Potential masking from explosives is likely to be similar to masking studied for other impulsive sounds such as air guns.

#### 3.9.3.2.1.4 Physiological Stress

Fishes naturally experience stress within their environment and as part of their life histories. The stress response is a suite of physiological changes that are meant to help an organism mitigate the impact of a stressor. However, if the magnitude and duration of the stress response is too great or too long, then it can have negative consequences to the organism (e.g., decreased immune function, decreased reproduction). Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities) provides additional information on physiological stress and the framework used to analyze this potential impact.

Research on physiological stress in fishes due to exposure to explosive sources is limited. Sverdrup et al. (1994) studied levels of stress hormones in Atlantic salmon after exposure to multiple detonations in a laboratory setting. Increases in cortisol and adrenaline were observed following the exposure, with adrenaline values returning to within normal range within 24 hours. General research findings regarding physiological stress in fishes due to exposure to acoustic sources are discussed in detail in Section 3.9.3.1.1.4 (Physiological Stress). Generally, stress responses are more likely to occur in the presence of potentially threatening sound sources such as predator vocalizations or the sudden onset of impulsive signals. Stress responses may be brief (a few seconds to minutes) if the exposure is short or if fishes habituate or learn to tolerate the noise. It is assumed that any physiological response (e.g., hearing loss or injury) or significant behavioral response is also associated with a stress response.

#### 3.9.3.2.1.5 Behavioral Reactions

As discussed in Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities), any stimuli in the environment can cause a behavioral response in fishes, including sound and energy produced by explosions. Alterations in natural behavior patterns due to exposure to explosions have not been studied as thoroughly, but reactions are likely to be similar to reactions studied for other impulsive sounds such as those produced by air guns (e.g., startle response, changes in swim speed and depth). Impulsive signals, particularly at close range, have a rapid rise time and higher instantaneous peak pressure than other signal types, making them more likely to cause startle or avoidance responses. General research findings regarding behavioral reactions from fishes due to exposure to impulsive sounds, such as those associated with explosions, are discussed in detail in Section 3.9.3.1.1.5 (Behavioral Reactions).

As summarized by the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014), species may react differently to the same sound source depending on a number of variables, such as the animal's life stage or behavioral state (e.g., feeding, mating). Without data that are more specific it is assumed that fishes with similar hearing capabilities react similarly to all impulsive sounds outside or within the zone for hearing loss and injury. Observations of fish reactions to large-scale air gun surveys are informative, but not necessarily directly applicable to analyzing impacts from the short-term, intermittent use of all impulsive sources. Fish have a higher probability of reacting when closer to an impulsive sound source (within tens of meters), and a decreasing probability of reaction at increasing distances (Popper et al., 2014).

# 3.9.3.2.1.6 Long-Term Consequences

Long-term consequences to a population are determined by examining changes in the population growth rate. For additional information on the determination of long-term consequences, see Section 3.0.3.7 (Conceptual Framework for Assessing Effects from Acoustic and Explosive Activities). Physical effects from explosive sources that could lead to a reduction in the population growth rate include mortality or injury, which could remove animals from the reproductive pool, and permanent hearing impairment or chronic masking, which could affect navigation, foraging, predator avoidance, or communication. The long-term consequences due to individual behavioral reactions, masking and shortterm instances of physiological stress are especially difficult to predict because individual experience over time can create complex contingencies, especially for fish species that live for multiple seasons or years. For example, a lost reproductive opportunity could be a measurable cost to the individual; however, short-term costs may be recouped during the life of an otherwise healthy individual. These factors are taken into consideration when assessing risk of long-term consequences.

#### 3.9.3.2.2 Impacts from Explosives

This section analyzes the impacts on fishes due to in-water and in-air explosives that would be used during Navy training and testing activities, synthesizing the background information presented above.

As discussed above, sound and energy from underwater explosions are capable of causing mortality, injury, hearing loss, masking, physiological stress, or a behavioral response, depending on the level and duration of exposure. The death of an animal would eliminate future reproductive potential, which is considered in the analysis of potential long-term consequences to the population. Exposures that result in non-auditory injuries may limit an animal's ability to find food, communicate with other animals, or interpret the surrounding environment. Impairment of these abilities can decrease an individual's

chance of survival or affect its ability to reproduce. Temporary threshold shift can also impair an animal's abilities, although the individual may recover quickly with little significant effect.

The overall use of explosives for training and testing activities would be similar to what is currently conducted and several new testing activities would occur (see Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2 for details). Although activities may vary from those previously analyzed, the overall determinations presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remain valid, but have been improved upon under this current Draft Supplemental.

# 3.9.3.2.2.1 Methods for Analyzing Impacts from Explosives

The Navy performed a quantitative analysis to estimate ranges to effect for fishes exposed to underwater explosives during Navy training and testing activities. Inputs to the quantitative analysis included sound propagation modeling in the Navy's Acoustic Effects Model to the sound exposure criteria and thresholds presented below. Density data for fish species within the Study Area are not currently available; therefore, it is not possible to estimate the total number of individuals that may be affected by explosive activities.

#### Criteria and Thresholds used to Estimate Impacts on Fishes from Explosives

# Mortality and Injury from Explosives

Criteria and thresholds to estimate impacts from sound and energy produced by explosive activities are presented below in Table 3.9-6. In order to estimate the longest range at which a fish may be killed or mortally injured, the Navy based the threshold for mortal injury on the lowest pressure that caused mortalities in the study by Hubbs and Rechnitzer (1952), consistent with the recommendation in the *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical report (Popper et al., 2014). As described in Section 3.9.3.2.1.1 (Injury), this threshold likely over-estimates the potential for mortal injury. The potential for mortal injury has been shown to be correlated to fish size, depth, and geometry of exposure, which are not accounted for by using a peak pressure threshold. However, until fish mortality models are developed that can reasonably consider these factors across multiple environments, use of the peak pressure threshold allows for a conservative estimate of maximum impact ranges.

Due to the lack of detailed data for onset of injury in fishes exposed to explosives, thresholds from impact pile driving exposures (Halvorsen et al., 2011; Halvorsen et al., 2012a; Halvorsen et al., 2012b) were used as a proxy for the analysis in the AFTT DEIS. Upon re-evaluation, it was decided that pile driving thresholds are too conservative and not appropriate to use in the analysis of explosive effects on fishes. Therefore, injury criteria have been revised as follows.

Thresholds for the onset of injury from exposure to an explosion are not currently available and recommendations in the *ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline* technical report (Popper et al., 2014) only provide qualitative criteria for consideration. Therefore, available data from existing explosive studies were reviewed to provide a conservative estimate for a threshold to the onset of injury (Gaspin, 1975; Gaspin et al., 1976; Hubbs & Rechnitzer, 1952; Settle et al., 2002; Yelverton et al., 1975).

Fish Hearing Group	Onset of Mortality	Onset of Injury
	<b>SPL</b> <sub>peak</sub>	<b>SPL</b> <sub>peak</sub>
Fishes without a swim bladder	229	220
Fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing	229	220
Fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing	229	220
Fishes with a swim bladder and high-frequency hearing	229	220

## Table 3.9-6: Sound Exposure Criteria for Mortality and Injury from Explosives

Note: SPL<sub>peak</sub> = Peak sound pressure level.

It is important to note that some of the available literature is not peer-reviewed and may have some caveats to consider when reviewing the data (e.g., issues with controls, limited details on injuries observed, etc.) but this information may still provide a better understanding of where injurious effects would begin to occur specific to explosive activities. The lowest threshold at which injuries were observed in each study were recorded and compared for consideration in selecting criteria. As a conservative measure, the absolute lowest peak sound pressure level recorded that resulted in injury, observed in exposures of larval fishes to explosions (Settle et al., 2002), was selected to represent the threshold to injury.

The injury threshold is consistent across all fish regardless of hearing groups due to the lack of rigorous data for multiple species. It is important to note that these thresholds may be overly conservative, as there is evidence that fishes exposed to higher thresholds than the those in Table 3.9-6 have shown no signs of injury (depending on variables such as the weight of the fish, size of the explosion, and depth of the cage). It is likely that adult fishes and fishes without a swim bladder would be less susceptible to injury than more sensitive hearing groups and larval species.

The number of fish killed by an in-water explosion would depend on the population density near the blast, as well as factors discussed throughout Section 3.9.3.2.1.1 (Injury) such as net explosive weight, depth of the explosion, and fish size. For example, if an explosion occurred in the middle of a dense school of fish, a large number of fish could be killed. However, the probability of this occurring is low based on the patchy distribution of dense schooling fish. Stunning from pressure waves could also temporarily immobilize fish, making them more susceptible to predation.

Fragments produced by exploding munitions at or near the surface may present a high-speed strike hazard for an animal at or near the surface. In water, however, fragmentation velocities decrease rapidly due to drag (Swisdak & Montanaro, 1992). Because blast waves propagate efficiently through water, the range to injury from the blast wave would likely extend beyond the range of fragmentation risk.

# Hearing Loss from Explosives

Criteria and thresholds to estimate TTS from sound produced by explosive activities are presented below in Table 3.9-7. Direct (measured) TTS data from explosives are not available. Criteria used to define TTS from explosives is derived from data on fishes exposed to seismic air gun signals (Popper et al., 2005) as summarized in the ANSI Sound Exposure Guideline technical report (Popper et al., 2014). TTS has not been documented in fishes without a swim bladder from exposure to other impulsive sources (pile driving and air guns). Although it is possible that fishes without a swim bladder could receive TTS from exposure to explosives, fishes without a swim bladder are typically less susceptible to hearing impairment than fishes with a swim bladder. If TTS occurs in fishes without a swim bladder, it would likely occur within the range of injury; therefore, no thresholds for TTS are proposed. General research findings regarding hearing loss in fishes as well as findings specific to exposure to other impulsive sound sources are discussed in Section 3.9.3.1.1.2 (Hearing Loss).

Fish Hearing Group	TTS (SELcum)
Fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing	> 186
Fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing	186
Fishes with a swim bladder and high-frequency hearing	186

# Table 3.9-7: Sound Exposure Criteria for Hearing Loss from Explosives

Notes: TTS = Temporary Threshold Shift, SEL<sub>cum</sub> = Cumulative sound exposure level (decibel referenced to 1 micropascal squared seconds [dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s]), > indicates that the given effect would occur above the reported threshold.

As discussed in Section 3.9.3.1.1.2 (Hearing Loss), exposure to sound produced from seismic air guns at a cumulative sound exposure level of 186 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s has resulted in TTS in fishes with a swim bladder involved in hearing (Popper et al., 2005). TTS has not occurred in fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing and would likely occur above the given threshold in Table 3.9-7.

# 3.9.3.2.2.2 Impact Ranges for Explosives

The following section provides estimated range to effects for fishes exposed to sound and energy produced by explosives. Ranges are calculated using criteria from Table 3.9-8 and Table 3.9-9 and the Navy Acoustic Effects Model. Fishes within these ranges would be predicted to receive the associated effect. Ranges may vary greatly depending on factors such as the cluster size, location, depth, and season of the event.

Table 3.9-8 provides range to mortality and injury for all fishes. Only one table (Table 3.9-9) is provided for range to TTS for all fishes with a swim bladder. However, ranges to TTS for fishes with a swim bladder not involved in hearing would be shorter than those reported because this effect has not been observed in fishes without a swim bladder exposed to the described TTS threshold.

	Range to Effects (meters)		
Bin	Onset of Mortality	Onset of Injury	
	229 SPL <sub>peak</sub>	220 SPL <sub>peak</sub>	
E1 (0.25 lb NEW)	50	124	
	(45–50)	(120–140)	
E2 (0.5 lb. NEW)	64	163	
	(60–65)	(150–170)	
E3 (2.5 lb. NEW)	114	328	
	(110–260)	(160–1,525)	
E4 (5 lb. NEW)	150	466	
	(140–370)	(350–1,025)	
E5 (10 lb. NEW)	177	447	
	(170–180)	(430–460)	
E7 (60 lb. NEW)	424	1,142	
	(320–1,025)	(775–2,275)	
E8 (100 lb. NEW)	644	1,708	
	(380–1,275)	(950–3,275)	
E10 (500 lb. NEW)	644	1,478	
	(625–650)	(1,275–1,525)	
E11 (650 lb. NEW)	1,287	3,913	
	(725–3,025)	(2,025–7,275)	

# Table 3.9-8: Range to Mortality and Injury for All Fishes from Explosives

Notes: SPL<sub>peak</sub> = Peak sound pressure level. Range to effects represent modeled predictions in different areas and seasons within the Study Area. Each cell contains the estimated average, minimum and maximum range to the specified effect.

		Range to Effects (meters)	
Bin	Cluster Size	TTS <sup>1</sup>	
		SEL <sub>cum</sub>	
	1	< 53 (45–55)	
E1 (0.25 lb. NEW)	18	< 207 (160–280)	
	1	< 58 (55–60)	
E2 (0.5 lb. NEW)	5	< 118 (110–120)	
E3 (2.5 lb. NEW)	1	< 161 (140–600)	
	19	< 709 (160–2,525)	
E4 (5 lb. NEW)	1	< 225 (180–480)	
	1	< 158 (150–200)	
E5 (10 lb. NEW)	20	< 574 (550–600)	
E7 (60 lb. NEW)	1	< 974 (675–1,775)	
E8 (100 lb. NEW)	1	< 1,110 (725–1,775)	
E10 (500 lb. NEW)	1	< 570 (550–650)	
E11 (650 lb. NEW)	1	< 2,693 (1,525–5,025)	

Notes: SEL<sub>cum</sub> = Cumulative sound exposure level, TTS = Temporary Threshold Shift, "<" indicates that the given effect would occur at distances less than the reported range(s).

Range to effects represent modeled predictions in different areas and seasons within the Study Area. Each cell contains the estimated average, minimum and maximum range to the specified effect.

# 3.9.3.2.2.3 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Activities using explosives would be conducted as described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions). General characteristics, quantities, and net explosive weights of in-water explosives used during training activities under Alternative 1 are provided in Section 3.0.3.2 (Explosive Stressors). The number of explosive sources in this Supplemental compared with the totals analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are described in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2.

Under Alternative 1, there could be fluctuation in the amount of explosions that would occur annually, although potential impacts would be similar from year to year. Training activities involving explosives would be concentrated in the NWTT Offshore Area. Generally, explosives occur at distances greater than 50 NM from shore. In addition, a very small amount of mine neutralization training activities would occur in the Inland Areas of the Study Area. There are no training activities that involve the use of explosives in the Western Behm Canal, therefore there would be no impacts on fishes that occur in these areas. In addition, the Navy will implement mitigation to avoid impacts from explosives on seafloor resources in mitigation areas throughout the Study Area (see Appendix K, Geographic Mitigation Assessment, for more details), which will consequently also help avoid potential impacts on fishes that shelter and feed on live hard bottom, artificial reefs, and shipwrecks. The Navy will also implement mitigation measures for Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities Involving Navy divers specifically to avoid impacts on ESA-listed bull trout and salmonids (see Chapter 5, Mitigation, for more details).

Sound and energy from explosions could result in mortality and injury, on average, for hundreds to even thousands of meters from some of the largest explosions. Exposure to explosions could also result in hearing loss in nearby fishes. The estimated range to each of these effects based on explosive bin size is provided in Table 3.9-8 and Table 3.9-9. Generally, explosives that belong to larger bins (with large net explosive weights) produce longer ranges within each effect category. However, some ranges vary depending upon a number of other factors (e.g., number of explosions in a single event, depth of the charge, etc.). Fishes without a swim bladder, adult fishes, and larger species would generally be less susceptible to injury and mortality from sound and energy associated with explosive activities than small, juvenile or larval fishes. Fishes that experience hearing loss could miss opportunities to detect predators or prey, or show a reduction in interspecific communication.

If an individual fish were repeatedly exposed to sound and energy from underwater explosions that caused alterations in natural behavioral patterns or physiological stress, these impacts could lead to long-term consequences for the individual such as reduced survival, growth, or reproductive capacity. If detonations occurred close together (within a few seconds), there could be the potential for masking to occur but this would likely happen at farther distances from the source where individual detonations might sound more continuous. Training activities involving explosions are generally dispersed in space and time. Consequently, repeated exposure of individual fishes to sound and energy from in-water explosions over the course of a day or multiple days is not likely and most behavioral effects are expected to be short-term (seconds or minutes) and localized. Exposure to multiple detonations over the course of a day would most likely lead to an alteration of natural behavior or the avoidance of that specific area.

As discussed previously in Section 3.9.2.1 (Hearing and Vocalization), all ESA-listed fish species that occur in the Study Area are capable of detecting sound produced by explosives. All ESA-listed salmon

species are present in the NWTT Offshore Area throughout the year. In addition, the ESA-listed Puget Sound ESU of Chinook salmon, Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU of chum salmon, Puget Sound DPS of Steelhead, and Coastal-Puget Sound DPS of bull trout also occur in the NWTT Inland Waters. Salmon of all sizes and age classes could be exposed to explosives in these described areas throughout the year depending on specific seasonal migrations. Bocaccio rockfish and yelloweye rockfish only occur in the NWTT Inland Waters. Due to their preference for rocky habitats and the extremely low level of training activities that involve the use of explosives that occur in the NWTT Inland Waters, the likelihood of exposure to explosions would be rare. Green sturgeon and Pacific eulachon occur throughout the Study Area. As discussed above, there are no explosive activities in Western Behm Canal, therefore ESA-listed species that occur there would not be impacted.

Impacts on ESA-listed fishes, if they occur, would be similar to impacts on fishes in general. However, due to the short-term, infrequent and localized nature of these activities, ESA-listed fishes are unlikely to be exposed multiple times within a short period. In addition, physiological and behavioral reactions would be expected to be brief (seconds to minutes) and infrequent based on the low probability of co-occurrence between training activities and these species. Although individuals may be impacted, long-term consequences for populations would not be expected.

Designated critical habitat for the Puget Sound ESU of Chinook salmon, Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU of chum salmon, the Coastal-Puget Sound DPS of bull trout, the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of bocaccio and yelloweye rockfish, and Southern DPS of green sturgeon overlap the Study Area in the NWTT Inland Waters. In addition, designated critical habitat for bull trout and green sturgeon occur in the nearshore coastal areas of the Study Area. However, it is unlikely that training activities involving explosives would occur in portions of the Inland Waters designated as critical habitat, nor would they occur close to shore as explosives are typically detonated 50 NM from shore. In addition, most of the physical and biological features for the anadromous ESA-listed species are generally not applicable to the Study Area (e.g., features associated with freshwater riverine habitat). While activities could occur in close proximity to designated critical habitat, no adverse effects to any physical or biological features (e.g., water quality, habitat structure, prey availability, or unobstructed passageways) are anticipated from exposure to explosives.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of explosives during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), green sturgeon, Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), and chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS as required by Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of explosives associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Activities using explosives would be conducted as described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions). General characteristics,

quantities, and net explosive weights of in-water explosives used during testing activities under Alternative 1 are provided in Section 3.0.3.2 (Explosive Stressors). The number of explosive sources in this Supplemental compared with the totals analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are described in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2.

Under Alternative 1, there could be fluctuation in the amount of explosions that would occur annually, although potential impacts would be similar from year to year. Testing activities involving explosives would occur only in the NWTT Offshore Area. Therefore, there would be no impacts on fishes that occur in the Inland Waters or Western Behm Canal. Generally, explosives occur at distances greater than 50 NM from shore and would occur in the same general locations and in a similar manner as previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, with one exception. A new mine countermeasure and neutralization testing activity would occur closer to shore than other activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that involved the use of in-water explosives. However, this activity would occur approximately three times per year and in water depths greater than 100 ft. (see Chapter 2, Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives).

Explosives are used less frequently under testing activities than under training activities. Some testing activities may occur closer to shore than training activities but these activities would only occur a few times in any given year. Overall, the general impacts from explosives under testing would be similar to those described above in Section 3.9.3.2.2.3 (Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 – Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 – Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities). In addition, the Navy will implement mitigation to avoid impacts from explosives on seafloor resources in mitigation areas throughout the Study Area (see Appendix K, Geographic Mitigation Assessment, for more details), which will consequently also help avoid potential impacts on fishes that shelter and feed on live hard bottom, artificial reefs, and shipwrecks.

As discussed previously in Section 3.9.2.1 (Hearing and Vocalization), all ESA-listed fish species that occur in the Study Area are capable of detecting sound produced by explosives. All ESA-listed salmon species are present in the NWTT Offshore Area throughout the year. Salmon of all sizes and age classes could be exposed to explosives in these described areas throughout the year depending on specific seasonal migrations. Bocaccio rockfish and yelloweye rockfish only occur in the NWTT Inland Waters, and thus would not be affected by explosives testing. Green sturgeon and Pacific eulachon occur throughout the Study Area. As discussed above, there are no explosive testing activities in Inland Waters or the Western Behm Canal, therefore ESA-listed species that occur there would not be impacted.

Impacts on ESA-listed fishes, if they occur, would be similar to impacts on fishes in general. However, due to the short-term, infrequent and localized nature of these activities, ESA-listed fishes are unlikely to be exposed multiple times within a short period. In addition, physiological and behavioral reactions would be expected to be brief (seconds to minutes) and infrequent based on the low probability of co-occurrence between testing activities and these species. Although individuals may be impacted, long-term consequences for populations would not be expected.

Designated critical habitat for the Puget Sound ESU of Chinook salmon, Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU of chum salmon, the Coastal-Puget Sound DPS of Bull trout, the Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS of bocaccio and yelloweye rockfish, and Southern DPS of green sturgeon overlap the Study Area in the NWTT Inland Waters. In addition, designated critical habitat for bull trout and green sturgeon occur in the nearshore coastal areas of the Study Area. Since explosives testing does not take place in Inland Waters, these critical habitats would not be affected. In addition, most of the physical and biological

features for the anadromous ESA-listed species are generally not applicable to the Study Area (e.g., features associated with freshwater riverine habitat). While activities could occur in close proximity to designated critical habitat, no adverse effects to any physical or biological features (e.g., water quality, habitat structure, prey availability, or unobstructed passageways) are anticipated from exposure to explosives.

Although green sturgeon critical habitat largely occurs in the nearshore coastal areas of the Study Area and most testing activities would occur beyond 50 NM from shore, some mine countermeasure testing activities would occur closer to shore and would therefore overlap a portion green sturgeon critical habitat. Most of the defined physical and biological features would not be affected by explosives (e.g., water flow and water quality). However, the use of explosives within the critical habitat may affect a small number of prey items.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of explosives during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and no effect on bocaccio rockfish and yelloweye rockfish. The use of explosives during testing activities may affect designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), green sturgeon, Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), and chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS as required by Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of explosives associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# 3.9.3.2.2.4Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

As described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), Section 3.0.3.2 (Explosive Stressors), and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions), training activities under Alternative 2 reflects the maximum number of training activities that could occur within a given year. This would result in an increase of explosive use compared to Alternative 1. The locations, types, and severity of predicted impacts would be similar to those described above in Section 3.9.3.2.2.3 (Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities). The number of explosive sources in this Supplemental compared with the totals analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are described in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of explosives during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), green sturgeon, Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), and chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU). The use of explosives during training activities may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of explosives associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

As described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), Section 3.0.3.2 (Explosive Stressors), and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions), testing activities under Alternative 2 reflects the maximum number of testing activities that could occur within a given year. This would result in the same amount of explosive use compared to Alternative 1 for testing activities. The locations, types, and severity of predicted impacts would be similar to those described above in Section 3.9.3.2.2.3 (Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 – Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities). The number of explosive sources in this Supplemental compared with the totals analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are described in Tables 2.5-1 and 2.5-2.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon are not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of explosives during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, will have no effect on designated critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and will have no effect on bocaccio rockfish and yelloweye rockfish. The use of explosives during testing activities may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and designated critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of explosives associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.2.2.5 Impacts from Explosives Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Explosive stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer explosive stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for explosive impacts on individual fishes, but would not measurably improve the overall distribution or abundance of fishes.

#### 3.9.3.3 Energy Stressors

The energy stressors that may impact fishes include in-water electromagnetic devices and high-energy lasers. Only one new energy stressor (high-energy lasers) used in testing activities differs from the energy stressors that were previously analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Use of low-energy lasers was analyzed and dismissed as an energy stressor in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS in Section 3.0.5.3.2.2 (Lasers). However, at that time high-energy laser weapons were not part of the proposed action for the Study Area.

As discussed in Section 3.0.3.3.2.2 (High-Energy Lasers), high-energy laser weapons are designed to disable surface targets, rendering them immobile. Fish could be exposed to a laser only if the beam missed the target. Should the laser strike the sea surface, individual fish at or near the surface could be exposed. The potential for exposure to a high-energy laser beam decreases as the water depth increases. Most fish are unlikely to be exposed to laser activities because they primarily occur more than a few meters below the sea surface.

## 3.9.3.3.1 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices

# 3.9.3.3.1.1 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 1 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed training activities involving the use of in-water electromagnetic devices would remain the same (Table 3.0-9) as those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of in-water electromagnetic devices on fishes would be inconsequential because (1) the range of impact (i.e., greater than earth's magnetic field) is small (i.e., 13 ft. [3.9 m] from the source), (2) the electromagnetic components of these activities are limited to simulating the electromagnetic signature of a vessel as it passes through the water, and (3) the electromagnetic signal is temporally variable and would cover only a small spatial range during each activity in the Study Area.

Some fishes could have a detectable response to electromagnetic exposure, but any impacts would be temporary and would not impact an individual's growth, survival, annual reproductive success, or lifetime reproductive success (i.e., fitness). Fitness refers to changes in an individual's growth, survival, annual reproductive success, or lifetime reproductive success. Electromagnetic exposure of eggs and larvae of sensitive bony fishes would be low relative to their total ichthyoplankton biomass (Able and Fahay 1998). Therefore, potential impacts on recruitment are not be expected.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of in-water electromagnetic devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of in-water electromagnetic devices may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of in-water electromagnetic devices associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

No in-water electromagnetic devices are proposed for testing activities under Alternative 1.

# 3.9.3.3.1.2 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 2 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed training activities involving the use of in-water electromagnetic devices would remain the same as Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-9) and those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be the same as those described above for Alternative 1 and presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As described above for Alternative 1, marine fishes may be exposed to in-water electromagnetic devices during training activities. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, in-water electromagnetic devices would not cause any potential risk to fishes because (1) the range of impact (i.e., greater than earth's magnetic field) is small (i.e., 13 ft. [3.9 m] from the source), (2) the electromagnetic components of these activities are limited to simulating the electromagnetic signature of a vessel as it passes through the water, and (3) the electromagnetic signal is temporally variable and would cover only a small spatial range during each activity in the Study Area.

Some fishes could have a detectable response to electromagnetic exposure, but any impacts would be temporary and would not impact an individual's growth, survival, annual reproductive success, or lifetime reproductive success (i.e., fitness). Fitness refers to changes in an individual's growth, survival, annual reproductive success, or lifetime reproductive success. Electromagnetic exposure of eggs and larvae of sensitive bony fishes would be low relative to their total ichthyoplankton biomass (Able and Fahay 1998). Therefore, potential impacts on recruitment are not be expected.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of in-water electromagnetic devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of in-water electromagnetic devices may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of in-water electromagnetic devices associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

No in-water electromagnetic devices are proposed for testing activities under Alternative 2.

#### 3.9.3.3.1.3 Impacts from In-Water Electromagnetic Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Energy stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. In-water electromagnetic devices as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer energy stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for energy impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.9.3.3.2 Impacts from High-Energy Lasers

High-Energy Lasers were not proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

As discussed in Section 3.0.3.3.2.2 (High-Energy Lasers), high-energy laser weapons testing activities involve evaluating the effectiveness of a high-energy laser deployed from a surface ship or helicopter to create small but critical failures in potential targets from short ranges.

This section analyzes the potential impacts of high-energy lasers on marine fishes. The primary concern for high-energy weapons testing is the potential for a fish to be struck by a high-energy laser beam at or near the water's surface, which could result in injury or death, resulting from traumatic burns from the beam. Fish could be exposed to a laser only if the beam missed the target. Should the laser strike the sea surface, individual fish at or near the surface could be exposed. The potential for exposure to a high-energy laser beam decreases as the water depth increases. Most fish are unlikely to be exposed to laser activities because they primarily occur more than a few meters below the sea surface.

#### 3.9.3.3.2.1 Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

No high-energy lasers are proposed for training activities under Alternative 1.

#### Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-10, a total of 54 testing activities involving the use of high-energy lasers are proposed to be conducted in the Offshore Area under Alternative 1. Fish species may be exposed to high-energy lasers. Fishes are unlikely to be exposed to high-energy lasers based on (1) the relatively low number of events (54 per year throughout the entire Study Area), (2) the very localized potential impact area of the laser beam, (3) the temporary duration of potential impact (seconds), (4) the low probability of fish at or near the surface at the exact time and place a laser misses its target, and (5) the low probability of a laser missing its target.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of high-energy lasers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS). The use of high-energy lasers may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of high-energy lasers associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# 3.9.3.3.2.2 Impacts from High-Energy Lasers under Alternative 2

#### Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

No high-energy lasers are proposed for training activities under Alternative 2.

#### Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-10, a total 54 testing activities involving the use of high-energy lasers are proposed to be conducted in the Offshore Area under Alternative 2, the same as under Alternative 1 and as stated above represents a new activity not covered in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Therefore, the impacts would be the same as described under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of high-energy lasers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2 would have no effect on critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS). The use of high-energy lasers may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of high-energy lasers associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.3.2.3 Impacts from High-Energy Lasers Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Energy stressors, as listed above, would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would remain unchanged after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer energy stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for energy impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.9.3.4 Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors

The physical disturbance and strike stressors that may impact marine fishes include (1) vessels and inwater devices, (2) military expended materials, and (3) seafloor devices. These stressors remain the same as analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 3.9.3.4.1 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, with few exceptions, activities involving vessels and in-water devices are not intended to contact the seafloor. There is minimal potential strike impact other than bottom-crawling unmanned underwater vehicles. Physical disturbance and strike stressors from vessels and in-water devices, military expended materials, and seafloor devices have the potential to affect all marine fish groups found within the Study Area, although some fish groups may be more susceptible to strike potential than others. In addition, the potential responses to physical strikes are varied, but include behavioral changes such as avoidance, altered swimming speed and direction, physiological stress, and physical injury or mortality.

# 3.9.3.4.1.1Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the combined number of proposed training activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices would increase (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) compared to those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would decrease slightly in the Offshore Area (from 1,156 to 1,144 annual activities) and in the Inland Waters (from 368 to 327), so there would still be a net decrease in the Study Area. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. There is an overall increase in the use of in-water devices (Table 3.0-13), all of which are associated with small, slow-moving unmanned underwater vehicles. Because the increases are to activities in which the in-water devices are small and slow moving, the impacts on fishes would be similar. The proposed increase of approximately 100 in-water devices would not change that conclusion. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the risk of a strike from vessels and in-water devices used in training and testing activities on an individual fish would be extremely low because (1) most fish can detect and avoid vessel and in-water device movements, and (2) the types of fish that are likely to be exposed to vessel and in-water device strike are limited and occur in low concentrations where vessels and in-water devices are used. Potential impacts of exposure to vessels and in-water devices are not expected to result in substantial changes to an individual's behavior, fitness, or species recruitment, and are not expected to result in population-level impacts. Therefore, impacts on fish or fish populations would be negligible.

Similar to most other fish species described above, ESA-listed fish species would be able to sense pressure changes in the water column and swim quickly, and are likely to escape collision with vessels and in-water devices.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of vessels and in-water devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of vessels and in-water devices may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the combined number of proposed testing activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) would increase compared to those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would increase in the Offshore Area (from 181 to 283 annual activities), and increases slightly in the Inland Waters (from 916 to 918) and Western Behm Canal (60 to 63).

There is also an overall increase in the use of in-water devices during testing activities in the Study Area (Table 3.0-13), all of which are associated with small, slow-moving, and unmanned underwater vehicles.

The number of testing activities increases in the Offshore Areas (156 to 215), Inland Waters (576 to 664), and in the western Behm Canal (8 to 19). The proposed increase of in-water devices would not change the conclusion presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. In spite of these increases, and as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, these vessel and in-water device activities remain unlikely to result in a strike to any marine fish. The proposed increase of vessel and in-water device activities would not change that conclusion. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the risk of a strike from vessels and in-water devices used in training and testing activities on an individual fish would be extremely low because (1) most fish can detect and avoid vessel and in-water device movements, and (2) the types of fish that are likely to be exposed to vessel and in-water device strike are limited and occur in low concentrations where vessels and in-water devices are used. Potential impacts of exposure to vessels and in-water devices are not expected to result in substantial changes to an individual's behavior, fitness, or species recruitment, and are not expected to result in population-level impacts. Therefore, impacts on fish or fish populations would be negligible.

Similar to most other fish species described above, ESA-listed fish species would be able to sense pressure changes in the water column and swim quickly, and are likely to escape collision with vessels and in-water devices.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon are not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of vessels and in-water devices during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of vessels and in-water devices may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# 3.9.3.4.1.2 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the combined number of proposed training activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices would be slightly greater than Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) and greater than those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would increase in the Study Area compared to Alternative 1 (1,471 for Alternative 1 compared to 1,658 for Alternative 2), and increases (1,524 to 1,658) compared to levels presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Table 3.0-12).

There would also be a slight total increase in the use of in-water devices compared to Alternative 1 (600 for Alternative 1 compared to 620) and an increase from levels presented in the 2015 NWTT final EIS/OEIS (496 to 620) (Table 3.0-13). All of the increased in-water device activities are associated with small, slow-moving unmanned underwater vehicles. Because the increases are to activities in which the in-water devices are unlikely to have an impact on marine fishes (small, slow-moving in-water devices),

the impacts on fishes would be similar. The proposed increase of in-water devices would not change that conclusion. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Under Alternative 2, the risk of a strike from vessels and in-water devices used in training and testing activities on an individual fish would be extremely low because (1) most fish can detect and avoid vessel and in-water device movements, and (2) the types of fish that are likely to be exposed to vessel and in-water device strike are limited and occur in low concentrations where vessels and in-water devices are used. Potential impacts of exposure to vessels and in-water devices are not expected to result in substantial changes to an individual's behavior, fitness, or species recruitment, and are not expected to result in population-level impacts. Therefore, impacts on fish or fish populations would be negligible.

Similar to most other fish species described above, ESA-listed fish species would be able to sense pressure changes in the water column and swim quickly, and are likely to escape collision with vessels and in-water devices.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of vessels and in-water devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of vessels and in-water devices may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the combined number of proposed testing activities involving the movement of vessels and the use of in-water devices would increase compared to Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13) and those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Vessel movement would increase slightly in the Offshore Area compared to Alternative 1 (from 283 to 295) and would increase compared to numbers presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 181 to 295). Vessel movements would increase in the Inland Waters compared to Alternative 1 (from 918 to 1,028) and would increase compared to numbers presented in the 2015 NWTT final EIS/OEIS (from 916 to 1,028). Similarly, vessel movement would increase in the Western Behm Canal (from 63 to 77) compared to Alternative 1 and would increase from 60 to 77 compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, resulting in a net increase in the Study Area.

There would also be a slight increase in the use of in-water devices compared to Alternative 1 (898 for Alternative 1 compared to 932) and an increase from levels presented in the 2015 NWTT final EIS/OEIS (740 to 932) (Table 3.0-13). The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. In spite of these increases, and as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, these vessel and in-water device activities remain unlikely to result in a strike to any marine fish. The proposed increase of vessel and in-water device activities would not change that conclusion. As stated in

the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and above under Alternative 1, the impact of vessels and in-water devices on marine fishes would remain inconsequential because (1) most fish can detect and avoid vessel and inwater device movements, and (2) the types of fish that are likely to be exposed to vessel and in-water device strike are limited and occur in low concentrations where vessels and in-water devices are used. Potential impacts of exposure to vessels and in-water devices are not expected to result in substantial changes to an individual's behavior, fitness, or species recruitment, and are not expected to result in population-level impacts.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of vessels and in-water devices during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of vessels and in-water devices may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of vessels and in-water devices associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.4.1.3 Impacts from Vessels and In-Water Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for physical disturbance and strike impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.9.3.4.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials

Military expended materials include non-explosive practice munitions (Table 3.0-14), other military materials (Table 3.0-15), high explosives that may result in fragments (Table 3.0-16), and targets (Table 3.0-17).

# 3.9.3.4.2.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1

# Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from (Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-16) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 decreases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as

were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from (Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-16) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 increases slightly compared to ongoing activities. Although there are a few new activities such as mine countermeasure and neutralization testing and kinetic energy weapon testing that would generate military expended materials, impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same as those described above and would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use military expended materials during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# 3.9.3.4.2.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from Table 3.0-14, Table 3.0-15, and Table 3.0-16 are combined,

the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases compared to both Alternative 1 and ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of military expended materials on marine fishes would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-16 are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases compared to Alternative 1 and ongoing activities. Although there are a few new activities such as mine countermeasure and neutralization testing and kinetic energy weapon testing that would generate military expended materials, impacts on marine invertebrates would be expected to be the same as those described above and would be inconsequential for the same reasons described above for vessels and in-water devices.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.4.2.3 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for physical disturbance and strike impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.9.3.4.3 Impacts from Seafloor Devices

# 3.9.3.4.3.1 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1

# Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of training activities that include the use of seafloor devices would increase from 10 to 40 compared to ongoing activities, all of which would occur in the Inland Waters (Table 3.0-18) as part of the Precision Anchoring exercise. The activity is comprised of a vessel navigating to a precise, pre-determined location and releasing the ship's anchor to the bottom. The anchor is later recovered and the activity is complete. As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, it would be highly unlikely that a seafloor device strikes an individual fish because they are able to detect and avoid falling objects through the water column. It is possible, although extremely unlikely, that a fish on the seafloor could be struck by a falling object such as an anchor. Under Alternative 1, training activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of fish species at the population level.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of seafloor devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of seafloor devices may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the total number of testing activities that include the use of seafloor devices (Table 3.0-18) would increase compared to ongoing activities (from 809 to 878). The majority of the activities involve the temporary placement of mine shapes in Inland Waters. As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, it would be highly unlikely that a seafloor device strikes an individual fish because they are

able to detect and avoid falling objects through the water column. It is possible, although extremely unlikely, that a fish on the seafloor could be struck by a falling object such as an anchor. Under Alternative 1, testing activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of fish species at the population level.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of seafloor devices during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

# 3.9.3.4.3.2 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of training activities that include the use of seafloor devices would be the same as under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-18) and would increase compared to ongoing activities (from 10 to 40). As described above under Alternative 1, it would be highly unlikely that a seafloor device strikes an individual fish because they are able to detect and avoid falling objects through the water column. It is possible, although extremely unlikely, that a fish on the seafloor could be struck by a falling object such as an anchor. Under Alternative 2, training activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of fish species at the population level.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of seafloor devices during training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of seafloor devices may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of seafloor devices associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of testing activities that include the use of seafloor devices would increase compared to both Alternative 1 (878 to 953) (Table 3.0-18) and ongoing activities (809 to 953). As described above under Alternative 1, it would be highly unlikely that a seafloor device strikes an individual fish because they are able to detect and avoid falling objects through the water column. It is possible, although extremely unlikely, that a fish on the seafloor could be struck by a falling object such as an anchor. Under Alternative 2, testing activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to yield any behavioral changes or lasting impacts on the survival, growth, recruitment, or reproduction of fish species at the population level.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of seafloor devices during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.4.3.3 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for physical disturbance and strike impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

# 3.9.3.5 Entanglement Stressors

Entanglement stressors that may impact fishes include (1) fiber optic cables and guidance wires, and (2) decelerators/parachutes. Biodegradable polymer is a new stressor not previously analyzed, but the other two stressors remain the same as analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

# 3.9.3.5.1 Impacts from Wires and Cables

Wires and cables include fiber optic cables, guidance wires, and sonobuoy wires (Table 3.0-19).

# 3.9.3.5.1.1 Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of wires and cables that would be expended during training activities (Table 3.0-19) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. No fiber optic cables are used in the Study Area under training, either in the previous analysis or this Supplemental. Two guidance wires are proposed to be expended in the Offshore Area under Alternative 1, compared to none proposed in the previous analysis. No guidance wires would be expended in Inland Waters. As shown in Table 3.0-19, the expenditure of sonobuoy wires in the Offshore Area is proposed to increase slightly (from 8,928 to 9,338), and no sonobuoys are proposed to be used in the Inland Waters, where none were proposed previously. The activities that expend wires and cables would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Because the number and locations of these wires and cables is similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same.

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, while individual fish susceptible to entanglement would encounter wires and cables, including guidance wires, fiber optic cables, and sonobuoy wires during training and testing activities, the long-term consequences of entanglement are unlikely for either individuals or populations because (1) the encounter rate for wires and cables is low, (2) the types of fishes that are susceptible to these items is limited, (3) there is restricted overlap with susceptible fishes, and (4) the physical characteristics of the wires and cables reduce entanglement risk to fishes compared to monofilament used for fishing gear. Potential impacts from exposure to fiber optic cables and guidance wires are not expected to result in substantial changes to an individual's behavior, fitness, or species recruitment, and are not expected to result in population-level impacts.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of wires and cables during with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and would have no effect on bocaccio rockfish and yelloweye rockfish. The use of wires and cables may affect critical habitat for green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of wires and cables associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the total number of wires and cables that would be expended during testing activities (Table 3.0-19) is increased compared to the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Fiber optic cables used in the Offshore Area would increase (20 to 36), guidance wires used in both the Offshore Area and the Inland Waters would increase (from 92 to 152 in Offshore Areas and 155 to 230 in Inland Waters), and sonobuoy wires expended would also increase (1,000 to 4,049 in Offshore Areas and 6 to 48 in Inland Waters). Even though the number of cable and wires would increase during testing activities, the locations are similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same.
As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, while individual fish susceptible to entanglement would encounter wires and cables, including guidance wires, fiber optic cables, and sonobuoy wires during training and testing activities, the long-term consequences of entanglement are unlikely for either individuals or populations because (1) the encounter rate for wires and cables is low, (2) the types of fishes that are susceptible to these items is limited, (3) there is restricted overlap with susceptible fishes, and (4) the physical characteristics of the wires and cables reduce entanglement risk to fishes compared to monofilament used for fishing gear. Potential impacts from exposure to fiber optic cables and guidance wires are not expected to result in substantial changes to an individual's behavior, fitness, or species recruitment, and are not expected to result in population-level impacts.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of wires and cables during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of wires and cables may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of wires and cables associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

## 3.9.3.5.1.2 Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of wires and cables that would be expended during training activities (9,380) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (9,340) (Table 3.0-19) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (8,928). No fiber optic cables are used in the Study Area under training, either in the previous analysis or this Supplemental. Two guidance wires are proposed to be expended in the Offshore Area under Alternative 2, none were proposed in the previous analysis. As shown in Table 3.0-19, the expenditure of sonobuoy wires in the Offshore Area is proposed to increase slightly (from 9,338 to 9,380), and no sonobuoys are proposed to be used in the Inland Waters, where none were proposed previously. The activities that expend wires and cables would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Because the number and locations of these wires and cables is similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of wires and cables on fishes would be inconsequential for the same reasons discussed above under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of wires and cables during with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and would have no effect on bocaccio rockfish and yelloweye rockfish. The use of wires and cables may affect critical habitat for green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, and Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of wires and cables associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

### Impacts from Wires and Cables Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of wires and cables that would be expended during testing activities increases compared to the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (from 4,712 to 6,958) (Table 3.0-19) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (1,395 to 6,958). Fiber optic cables used in the Offshore Area and Inland Waters would be the same as Alternative 1 and increase compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Guidance wires used in the Offshore Area would increase compared to Alternative 1 (from 152 to 192) and those proposed in the previous analysis (from 92 to 192). Guidance wires in Inland Waters would be the same as Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-19), but increase (from 155 to 230) compared to those proposed in the previous analysis. Sonobuoy wires expended in Offshore Areas would increase compared to Alternative 1 (from 4,049 to 6,255) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 1,000 to 6,255). Sonobuoy wires expended in Inland Waters would be the same as Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-19) and would increase compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 6 to 48). The activities that expend wires and cables would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of wires and cables on fishes would be inconsequential for the same reasons discussed above under Alternative 1.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon are not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of wires and cables during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, Pacific eulachon, bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of wires and cables may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species, and may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS). The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of wires and cables associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.5.1.3 Impacts from Wires and Cables Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Entanglement stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental

conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer entanglement stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for entanglement impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

### 3.9.3.5.2 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes

Decelerators/parachutes include small, medium, large, and extra-large decelerator parachutes (Table 3.0-20).

### 3.9.3.5.2.1 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the total number of decelerators/parachutes that would be expended during training activities increases (9,097 to 9,456) compared to the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As shown in Table 3.0-20, the expenditure of small size decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area is proposed to increase (8,928 to 9,354), and no small decelerators/parachutes are proposed to be used in the Inland Waters, where none were proposed previously. The number of medium decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area decreases from 24 to 4, and the number of large decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area decreases from 145 to 98 (Table 3.0-20). The activities that expend decelerators/parachutes would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Because the number and locations of these decelerators/parachutes is similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same.

As described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, it would be very unlikely that fishes would encounter and become entangled in any decelerators/parachutes or sonobuoy accessories. This is mainly due to the size of the range complexes and the resulting widely scattered decelerators/parachutes. If a few individual fish were to encounter and become entangled in a decelerator/parachute, the growth, survival, annual reproductive success, or lifetime reproductive success of the population as a whole would not be impacted directly or indirectly.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of decelerators/parachutes during with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and would have no effect on bocaccio rockfish and yelloweye rockfish. The use of decelerators/parachutes may affect critical habitat for green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of decelerators/parachutes associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the total number of decelerators/parachutes that would be expended during testing activities increases (1,181 to 1,983) compared to the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As shown in Table 3.0-20, the expenditure of small size decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area increases (1,068 to 1,759), and increases from 113 to 224 in the Inland Waters. No other sizes of decelerators/parachutes are proposed during testing activities. The activities that expend decelerators/parachutes would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Even though the number of decelerators/parachutes would increase during testing activities, the locations are similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of decelerators/parachutes on fishes would be inconsequential for the same reasons presented above for wires and cables.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of decelerators/parachutes during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of decelerators/parachutes may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of decelerators/parachutes associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

## 3.9.3.5.2.2 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of decelerators/parachutes that would be expended during training activities increases compared to the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (from 9,456 to 9,563) (Table 3.0-20) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (9,097 to 9,563). As shown in Table 3.0-20, the expenditure of small size decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area is proposed to increase (9,354 to 9,394), and no small decelerators/parachutes are proposed to be used in the Inland Waters, where none were proposed previously. The number of medium decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area increases from 4 to 24 compared to Alternative 1 and is the same as the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The number of large decelerators/parachutes in the Offshore Area increases from 98 to 145 (Table 3.0-20) compared to Alternative 1 and is the same as the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities that expend decelerators/parachutes would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Because the number and locations of these decelerators/parachutes is similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of decelerators/parachutes on fishes would be inconsequential for the same reasons detailed above under Alternative 1.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of decelerators/parachutes during with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and would have no effect on bocaccio rockfish and yelloweye rockfish. The use of decelerators/parachutes may affect critical habitat for green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of decelerators/parachutes associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

### Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the total number of decelerators/parachutes that would be expended during testing activities increases compared to the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (from 1,983 to 1,991) (Table 3.0-20) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (1,181 to 1,991). As shown in Table 3.0-20, the expenditure of small decelerators/parachutes would be the same in the Offshore Area compared to Alternative 1 and increase compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (from 1,068 to 1,759). The expenditure of small decelerators/parachutes in Inland Waters would increase compared to both Alternative 1 (224 to 232) and the previous analysis (113 to 232). The activities that expend decelerators/parachutes would generally occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Even though the number of decelerators/parachutes would increase during testing activities, the locations are similar to those analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of decelerators/parachutes on fishes would be inconsequential for the same reasons presented above for wires and cables.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of decelerators/parachutes during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of decelerators/parachutes may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of decelerators/parachutes associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.5.2.3 Impacts from Decelerators/Parachutes Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Entanglement stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer entanglement stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for entanglement impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.9.3.5.3 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer

Biodegradable polymers were not proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and for this Supplemental would be used only during proposed testing activities, not during training activities. For a discussion of where biodegradable polymers are used and how many activities would occur under each alternative, see Section 3.0.3.5.3 (Biodegradable Polymer). The biodegradable polymers that the Navy uses are designed to temporarily interact with the propeller(s) of a target craft, rendering it ineffective. A biodegradable polymer is a high molecular weight polymer that degrades to smaller compounds as a result of microorganisms and enzymes. The rate of biodegradation could vary from hours to years and the type of small molecules formed during degradation can range from complex to simple products, depending on whether the polymers are natural or synthetic (Karlsson & Albertsson, 1998). Based on the constituents of the biodegradable polymer the Navy proposes to use, it is anticipated that the material will break down into small pieces within a few days to weeks. This will break down further and dissolve into the water column within weeks to a few months. The final products which are all environmentally benign will be dispersed quickly to undetectable concentrations. Unlike other entanglement stressors, biodegradable polymers only retain their strength for a relatively short period of time, therefore the potential for entanglement by a fish would be limited. Furthermore, the longer the biodegradable polymer remains in the water, the weaker it becomes making it more brittle and likely to break. A fish would have to encounter the biodegradable polymer immediately after it was expended for it to be a potential entanglement risk. If a fish were to encounter the polymer a few hours after it was expended, it is very likely that it would break easily and would no longer be an entanglement stressor.

#### 3.9.3.5.3.1 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 1

### Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

No biodegradable polymers are proposed to be used for training activities under Alternative 1.

#### Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-21, four testing activities involving the use of biodegradable polymers are proposed to only be conducted in the Inland Waters under Alternative 1. The impact of biodegradable polymers on fish would be inconsequential because biodegradable polymers only retain their strength for a relatively short period of time and a fish would have to encounter the biodegradable polymer immediately after it was expended for it to be a potential entanglement risk.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of biodegradable polymers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of biodegradable polymers may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of biodegradable polymers associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

## 3.9.3.5.3.2 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

No biodegradable polymers are proposed to be used for training activities under Alternative 2.

### Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

As shown in Table 3.0-21, four testing activities involving the use of biodegradable polymers are proposed to be conducted in the Inland Waters under Alternative 2, the same as Alternative 1. The impact of biodegradable polymers on fishes would be inconsequential because biodegradable polymers only retain their strength for a relatively short period of time and a fish would have to encounter the biodegradable polymer immediately after it was expended for it to be a potential entanglement risk. As detailed above and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, fish are not particularly susceptible to entanglement stressors, including biodegradable polymers and would likely only be temporarily disturbed.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of biodegradable polymers during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of biodegradable polymers may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of biodegradable polymers associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.5.3.3 Impacts from Biodegradable Polymer Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Entanglement stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would remain unchanged after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer entanglement stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore,

discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for entanglement impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.9.3.6 Ingestion Stressors

The ingestions stressors that may impact fishes include military expended materials from munitions (non-explosive practice munitions and fragments from high-explosives) and military expended materials other than munitions (fragments from targets, chaff and flare components, decelerators/parachutes, and biodegradable polymers). Biodegradable polymer is a new stressor not previously analyzed, but the other stressors remain the same as analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 3.9.3.6.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions

The military expends materials during training and testing in the Study Area that could become ingestion stressors, including non-explosive practice munitions (small- and medium-caliber), fragments from explosives, fragments from targets, chaff, flare casings (including plastic end caps and pistons), and small decelerators/parachutes. Metal items eaten by marine fish are generally small (such as fishhooks, bottle caps, and metal springs), suggesting that small- and medium-caliber projectiles, pistons, or end caps (from chaff canisters or flares) are more likely to be ingested. Both physical and toxicological impacts could occur as a result of consuming metal or plastic materials (Dantas et al., 2012; Davison & Asch, 2011; Possatto et al., 2011). Ingestion of plastics has been shown to increase hazardous chemicals in fish leading to liver toxicity of fishes (Rochman et al., 2013). Items of concern are those of ingestible size that either drift at or just below the surface (or in the water column) for a time or sink immediately to the seafloor. The likelihood that expended items would cause a potential impact on a given fish species depends on the size and feeding habits of the fish and the rate at which the fish encounters the item and the composition of the item. In this analysis only small- and medium-caliber munitions (or small fragments from larger munitions), chaff, small decelerators/parachutes, and end caps and pistons from flares and chaff cartridges are considered to be of ingestible size for a fish.

## 3.9.3.6.1.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military expended materials – munitions that would be used during training activities (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from munitions are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 decreases from ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, ingestion of military expended materials could result in sublethal or lethal effects to a small number of individuals, but the likelihood of a fish encountering an expended item is dependent on where that species feeds and the amount of material expended. Furthermore, as described in Section 3.1.4.1 (Explosives and Explosive Byproducts) and Table 3.1-7 in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the majority of explosives byproducts from commonly used explosives materials that may be consumed (by fishes) are naturally occurring compounds in the marine environment. For example, 98 percent (by weight) of the explosives byproducts of royal demolition explosive (RDX) consistent of nitrogen, carbon dioxide, water, carbon monoxide, ammonia, and hydrogen. An encounter may not lead to ingestion, as a fish might "taste" an item and then expel it, in the same manner that a fish would take a lure into its mouth then spit it out, and would not consume

toxic materials. Therefore, the number of fishes potentially impacted by ingestion of military expended materials such as munitions would be low and population-level effects are not expected.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size during with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

### Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military expended materials – munitions that would be used during testing activities (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from munitions (non-explosive practice munitions and fragments from high explosives) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 increases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, ingestion of military expended materials could result in sublethal or lethal effects to a small number of individuals, but the likelihood of a fish encountering an expended item is dependent on where that species feeds and the amount of material expended. Furthermore, an encounter may not lead to ingestion, as a fish might "taste" an item and then expel it, in the same manner that a fish would take a lure into its mouth then spit it out. Therefore, the number of fishes potentially impacted by ingestion of military expended materials such as munitions would be low and population-level effects are not expected.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

### 3.9.3.6.1.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military expended materials – munitions that would be used during training activities (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from munitions are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases compared to both Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) and ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, ingestion of military expended materials could result in sublethal or lethal effects to a small number of individuals, but the likelihood of a fish encountering an expended item is dependent on where that species feeds and the amount of material expended. Furthermore, an encounter may not lead to ingestion, as a fish might "taste" an item and then expel it, in the same manner that a fish would take a lure into its mouth then spit it out. Therefore, the number of fishes potentially impacted by ingestion of military expended materials such as munitions would be low and population-level effects are not expected.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size during with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military expended materials – munitions that would be used during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-14 and Table 3.0-16) and greater than the numbers presented in in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from munitions are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 decreases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, ingestion of military expended materials could result in sublethal or lethal effects to a small number of individuals, but the likelihood of a fish encountering an expended item is dependent on where that species feeds and the amount of material expended. Furthermore, an encounter may not lead to ingestion, as a fish might "taste" an item and then expel it, in the same manner that a fish would take a lure into its mouth then spit it out. Therefore, the number of fishes potentially impacted by ingestion of military expended materials such as munitions would be low and population-level effects are not expected.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials- munitions of ingestible size associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.6.1.3 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Munitions Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Ingestion stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer ingestion stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for ingestion impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

#### 3.9.3.6.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions

## 3.9.3.6.2.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military expended materials other than munitions that would be used during training activities (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials other than munitions (fragments from targets, chaff and flare components, and biodegradable polymers) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 increases from ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, ingestion of military expended materials other than munitions could result in sublethal or lethal effects to a small number of individuals, but the likelihood of a fish encountering an expended item is dependent on where that species feeds and the amount of material expended. Furthermore, an encounter may not lead to ingestion, as a fish might "taste" an item and then expel it, in the same manner that a fish would take a lure into its mouth then spit it out. Therefore, the number of fishes potentially impacted by ingestion of military expended materials such as munitions would be low and population-level effects are not expected.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size during with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military expended materials other than munitions that would be used during testing activities (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) decreases compared to the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Other than the addition of biodegradable polymer, which would occur four times annually in the Inland Waters, the activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Based on the constituents of the biodegradable polymer the Navy proposes to use, it is anticipated that the material will breakdown into small pieces within a few days to weeks, eventually dissolving into the water column as environmentally benign products. Being benign, if ingested, the remnants of the biodegradable polymer would pose limited risk to fishes. Even though there would be a substantial increase in the number of military expended material – other than munitions and as stated

in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, ingestion of military expended materials other than munitions could result in sublethal or lethal effects to a small number of individuals, but the likelihood of a fish encountering an expended item is dependent on where that species feeds and the amount of material expended. Furthermore, an encounter may not lead to ingestion, as a fish might "taste" an item and then expel it, in the same manner that a fish would take a lure into its mouth then spit it out. Therefore, the number of fishes potentially impacted by ingestion of military expended materials such as munitions would be low and population-level effects are not expected.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size during testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 1, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

### 3.9.3.6.2.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military expended materials other than munitions that would be used during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials other than munitions (fragments from targets, chaff and flare components, and biodegradable polymers) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 increases slightly compared to Alternative 1 and increases compared to ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on fishes would be expected to be the same. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and above under Alternative 1, ingestion of military expended materials other than munitions could result in sublethal or lethal effects to a small number of individuals, but the likelihood of a fish encountering an expended item is dependent on where that species feeds and the amount of material expended. Furthermore, an encounter may not lead to ingestion, as a fish might "taste" an item and then expel it, in the same manner that a fish would take a lure into its mouth then spit it out. Therefore, the number of fishes potentially impacted by ingestion of military expended materials such as munitions would be low and population-level effects are not expected.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size during with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS), and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size associated with training activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military expended materials other than munitions that would be used during testing activities is increased compared to the number proposed for use under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-17, Table 3.0-20, Table 3.0-21, and Table 3.0-22) and decreases slightly from ongoing activities. Other than the addition of biodegradable polymer, which would occur four times annually in the Inland Waters, the activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Based on the constituents of the biodegradable polymer the Navy proposes to use, it is anticipated that the material will breakdown into small pieces within a few days to weeks, eventually dissolving into the water column as environmentally benign products. Being benign, if ingested, the remnants of the biodegradable polymer would pose limited risk to fishes. Even though there would be a substantial increase in the number of military expended material – other than munitions and as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and above under Alternative 1, ingestion of military expended materials other than munitions could result in sublethal or lethal effects to a small number of individuals, but the likelihood of a fish encountering an expended item is dependent on where that species feeds and the amount of material expended. Furthermore, an encounter may not lead to ingestion, as a fish might "taste" an item and then expel it, in the same manner that a fish would take a lure into its mouth then spit it out. Therefore, the number of fishes potentially impacted by ingestion of military expended materials such as munitions would be low and population-level effects are not expected.

Designated critical habitat for steelhead, coho, sockeye, and Pacific eulachon is not present in the Study Area and would not be impacted.

Pursuant to the ESA, the use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size during testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, would have no effect on critical habitat for bocaccio rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS) and yelloweye rockfish (Puget Sound/Georgia Basin DPS). The use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size may affect critical habitat for Chinook (Puget Sound ESU), chum salmon (Hood Canal Summer-Run ESU), bull trout (Coastal Puget Sound DPS), and green sturgeon (Southern DPS), and may affect ESA-listed salmonid species, green sturgeon, Pacific eulachon, and rockfish species. The Navy will consult with NMFS and USFWS, as required by section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.

Pursuant to the EFH requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act and implementing regulations, the use of military expended materials other than munitions of ingestible size associated with testing activities, as described under Alternative 2, may affect EFH species within the Study Area.

#### 3.9.3.6.2.3 Impacts from Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Ingestion stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer ingestion stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for ingestion impacts on individual fish, but would not measurably improve the status of fish populations or subpopulations.

### 3.9.3.7 Secondary Stressors

Stressors from training and testing activities could pose secondary or indirect impacts on fishes via habitat, sediment, and water quality. These include (1) explosives and byproducts; (2) metals; (3) chemicals; (4) other materials such as targets, chaff, and plastics; and (5) impacts on fish habitat.

While the number of training and testing activities would change under this supplement, the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.9.3.6 (Secondary Stressors) remains valid. The changes in training and testing activities are not substantial and would not result in an overall change to existing environmental conditions or an increase in the level or intensity of secondary stressors within the Study Area.

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, indirect impacts of explosives and unexploded ordnance on marine fishes via water could not only cause physical impacts, but prey might also have behavioral reactions to underwater sound. For example, the sound from underwater explosions might induce startle reactions and temporary dispersal of schooling fishes if they are within close proximity. The abundances of fish and invertebrate prey species near the detonation point could be diminished for a short period of time before being repopulated by animals from adjacent waters. Secondary impacts from underwater explosions would be temporary, and no lasting impact on prey availability or the pelagic food web would be expected. Indirect impacts of underwater detonations and explosive ordnance use under the proposed action would not result in a decrease in the quantity or quality of fish populations or fish habitats in the Study Area.

Indirect impacts of explosives and unexploded ordnance to fishes via sediment is possible in the immediate vicinity of the ordnance. Degradation of explosives proceeds via several pathways is discussed in Section 3.1 (Sediments and Water Quality). Degradation products of Royal Demolition Explosive are not toxic to marine organisms at realistic exposure levels (Rosen & Lotufo, 2010). TNT and its degradation products impact developmental processes in fishes and are acutely toxic to adults at concentrations similar to real-world exposures (Halpern et al., 2008; Rosen & Lotufo, 2010). It is likely that various lifestages of fishes could be impacted by the indirect impacts of degrading explosives within

a very small radius of the explosive (1–6 ft.), but these impacts are expected to be short term and localized.

Certain metals are harmful to fishes at concentrations above background levels (e.g., cadmium, chromium, lead, mercury, zinc, copper, manganese, and many others) (Wang & Rainbow, 2008). Metals are introduced into seawater and sediments as a result of Navy training and testing activities involving vessel hulks, targets, ordnance, munitions, and other military expended materials. Indirect impacts of metals to fishes via water involve concentrations that are several orders of magnitude lower than concentrations achieved via bioaccumulation in the sediments. Fishes may be exposed by contact with the metal, contact with contaminants in the sediment or water, and ingestion of contaminated sediments. Concentrations of metals in seawater are orders of magnitude lower than concentrations in marine sediments. It is extremely unlikely that fishes would be indirectly impacted by toxic metals via the water.

Several military training and testing activities introduce potentially harmful chemicals into the marine environment; principally, flares and propellants for rockets, missiles, and torpedoes. The greatest risk to fishes from flares, missile, and rocket propellants is perchlorate, which is highly soluble in water, persistent, and impacts metabolic processes in many plants and animals. Fishes may be exposed by contact with contaminated water or ingestion of contaminated sediments. Since perchlorate is highly soluble, it does not readily absorb to sediments. Therefore, missile and rocket fuel poses no risk of indirect impact on fishes via sediment. In contrast, propylene glycol dinitrate and nitrodiphenylamine, the principal toxic components of torpedo fuel (OTTO Fuel II), adsorb to sediments, have relatively low toxicity, and are readily degraded by biological processes (Sun et al., 1996; U.S. Department of the Navy, 1996a, 1996b; Walker & Kaplan, 1992). It is conceivable that various lifestages of fishes could be indirectly impacted by propellants via sediment in the immediate vicinity of the object (e.g., within a few inches), but these potential impacts would diminish rapidly as the propellant degrades.

As described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, some military expended materials (e.g., decelerators/parachutes) could become remobilized after their initial contact with the sea floor (e.g., by waves or currents) and could be reintroduced as an entanglement or ingestion hazard for fishes. In some bottom types (without strong currents, hard-packed sediments, and low biological productivity), items such as projectiles might remain intact for some time before becoming degraded or broken down by natural processes. While these items remain intact sitting on the bottom, they could potentially remain ingestion hazards. These potential impacts may cease only (1) when the military expended materials are too massive to be mobilized by typical oceanographic processes, (2) if the military expended materials become encrusted by natural processes and incorporated into the seafloor, or (3) when the military expended materials become permanently buried. In this scenario, a parachute could initially sink to the seafloor, but then be transported laterally through the water column or along the seafloor, increasing the opportunity for entanglement. In the unlikely event that a fish would become entangled, injury or mortality could result. The entanglement stressor would eventually cease to pose an entanglement risk as it becomes encrusted or buried, or degrades.

Secondary stressors can also involve impacts on habitat (sediment or water quality) or prey (i.e., impacting the availability or quality of prey) that have the potential to affect fish species. Secondary stressors that may affect ESA-listed species only include those related to the use of explosives. Secondary effects on prey and habitat from the release of metals, chemicals, and other materials into the marine environment during training and testing activities are not anticipated. In addition to directly impacting ESA-listed species, underwater explosives could impact other species in the food web,

including those that these species prey upon. The impacts of explosions would differ depending upon the type of prey species in the area of the blast. In addition to physical effects of an underwater blast, prey might have behavioral reactions to underwater sound. For instance, prey species might exhibit a strong startle reaction to explosions that might include swimming to the surface or scattering away from the source. This startle and flight response is the most common secondary defense among animals. The abundances of prey species near the detonation point could be diminished for a short period of time, affecting prey availability for ESA-listed species feeding in the vicinity. Any effects to prey, other than those located within the impact zone when the explosive detonates, would be temporary. Direct impacts on fishes by affecting the availability or quality of prey is low and would not be expected.

## **REFERENCES**

- Alves, D., M. C. P. Amorim, and P. J. Fonseca. (2016). Boat noise reduces acoustic active space in the lusitanian toadfish Halobatrachus didactylus. *Proceedings of Meetings on Acoustics*, 010033.
- Astrup, J. (1999). Ultrasound detection in fish—A parallel to the sonar-mediated detection of bats by ultrasound-sensitive insects? *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A, 124*, 19–27.
- Beacham, T. D., R. J. Beamish, C. M. Neville, J. R. Candy, C. Wallace, S. Tucker, and M. Trudel. (2016).
  Stock-Specific Size and Migration of Juvenile Coho Salmon in British Columbia and Southeast
  Alaska Waters. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries*, *8*, 292–314.
- Bermudez, J. R., U. Riebesell, A. Larsen, and M. Winder. (2016). Ocean acidification reduces transfer of essential biomolecules in a natural plankton community. *Scientific Reports, 6*, 1–8.
- Bignami, S., I. C. Enochs, D. P. Manzello, S. Sponaugle, and R. K. Cowen. (2013). Ocean acidification alters the otoliths of a pantropical fish species with implications for sensory function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(18), 7366–7370.
- Booman, C., H. Dalen, H. Heivestad, A. Levesen, T. van der Meeren, and K. Toklum. (1996). (Seismic-fish) Effekter av luftkanonskyting pa egg, larver og ynell. *Havforskningsinstituttet, 3*, 1–88.
- Bracciali, C., D. Campobello, C. Giacoma, and G. Sara. (2012). Effects of nautical traffic and noise on foraging patterns of Mediterranean damselfish (*Chromis chromis*). *PLoS ONE*, 7(7), e40582.
- Brenkman, S. (2017). [Personal Communication on November 9, 2017, from Samuel Brenkman to Robert Nielson Regarding the Offshore Distance of Migrating/Foraging Bull Trout].
- Brenkman, S. J., and S. C. Corbett. (2005). Extent of Anadromy in Bull Trout and Implications for Conservation of a Threatened Species. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 25*, 1073–1081.
- Bruintjes, R., J. Purser, K. A. Everley, S. Mangan, S. D. Simpson, and A. N. Radford. (2016). Rapid recovery following short–term acoustic disturbance in two fish species. *Royal Society Open Science*, 3(1), 150686.
- Buerkle, U. (1968). Relation of pure tone thresholds to background noise level in the Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 25, 1155–1160.
- Buerkle, U. (1969). Auditory masking and the critical band in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 26, 1113–1119.
- Buran, B. N., X. Deng, and A. N. Popper. (2005). Structural variation in the inner ears of four deep-sea elopomorph fishes. *Journal of Morphology*, *265*, 215–225.
- Cao, L., S. Wang, M. Zheng, and H. Zhang. (2014). Sensitivity of ocean acidification and oxygen to the uncertainty in climate change. *Environmental Research Letters*, 9(2014), 1–10.
- Casper, B., P. Lobel, and H. Yan. (2003). The hearing sensitivity of the little skate, *Raja erinacea*: A comparison of two methods. *Environmental Biology of Fishes, 68*, 371–379.
- Casper, B., and D. Mann. (2006). Evoked potential audiograms of the nurse shark (*Ginglymostoma cirratum*) and the yellow stingray (*Urabatis jamaicensis*). *Environmental Biology of Fishes, 76*(1), 101–108.
- Casper, B. M., and D. A. Mann. (2009). Field hearing measurements of the Atlantic sharpnose shark, *Rhizoprionodon terraenovae. Journal of Fish Biology*, 75(10), 2768–2776.

- Casper, B. M., M. B. Halvorsen, and A. N. Popper. (2012a). Are Sharks Even Bothered by a Noisy Environment? In A. N. Popper & A. D. Hawkins (Eds.), *The Effects of Noise on Aquatic Life II* (Vol. 730). New York, NY: Springer.
- Casper, B. M., A. N. Popper, F. Matthews, T. J. Carlson, and M. B. Halvorsen. (2012b). Recovery of barotrauma injuries in Chinook salmon, *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha* from exposure to pile driving sound. *PLoS ONE*, 7(6), e39593.
- Casper, B. M., M. B. Halvorsen, F. Matthews, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. (2013a). Recovery of barotrauma injuries resulting from exposure to pile driving sound in two sizes of hybrid striped bass. *PLoS ONE*, 8(9), e73844.
- Casper, B. M., M. E. Smith, M. B. Halvorsen, H. Sun, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. (2013b). Effects of exposure to pile driving sounds on fish inner ear tissues. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A*, 166(2), 352–360.
- Casper, B. M., M. B. Halvorsen, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. (2017). Onset of barotrauma injuries related to number of pile driving strike exposures in hybrid striped bass. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 141(6), 4380.
- Chapman, C. J., and A. D. Hawkins. (1973). Field study of hearing in cod, *Gadus morhua* L. *Journal of Comparative Physiology*, *85*(2), 147–167.
- Codarin, A., L. E. Wysocki, F. Ladich, and M. Picciulin. (2009). Effects of ambient and boat noise on hearing and communication in three fish species living in a marine protected area (Miramare, Italy). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *58*(12), 1880–1887.
- Colleye, O., L. Kever, D. Lecchini, L. Berten, and E. Parmentier. (2016). Auditory evoked potential audiograms in post-settlement stage individuals of coral reef fishes. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 483*, 1–9.
- Coombs, S., and J. C. Montgomery. (1999). The Enigmatic Lateral Line System. In R. R. Fay & A. N. Popper (Eds.), *Comparative Hearing: Fish and Amphibians* (pp. 319–362). New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Cox, B. S., A. M. Dux, M. C. Quist, and C. S. Guy. (2012). Use of a seismic air gun to reduce survival of nonnative lake trout embryos: A tool for conservation? *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 32(2), 292–298.
- Dantas, D. V., M. Barletta, and M. F. da Costa. (2012). The seasonal and spatial patterns of ingestion of polyfilament nylon fragments by estuarine drums (Sciaenidae). *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, *19*(2), 600–606.
- Davison, P., and R. G. Asch. (2011). Plastic ingestion by mesopelagic fishes in the North Pacific Subtropical Gyre. *Marine Ecological Progress Series*, *432*, 173–180.
- De Robertis, A., and N. O. Handegard. (2013). Fish avoidance of research vessels and the efficacy of noise-reduced vessels: A review. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, *70*(1), 34–45.
- Debusschere, E., B. De Coensel, A. Bajek, D. Botteldooren, K. Hostens, J. Vanaverbeke, S. Vandendriessche, K. Van Ginderdeuren, M. Vincx, and S. Degraer. (2014). *In situ* mortality experiments with juvenile sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) in relation to impulsive sound levels caused by pile driving of windmill foundations. *PLoS ONE*, 9(10), e109280.
- Deng, X., H. J. Wagner, and A. N. Popper. (2011). The inner ear and its coupling to the swim bladder in the deep-sea fish *Antimora rostrata* (Teleostei: Moridae). *Deep Sea Research Part 1, Oceanographic Research Papers, 58*(1), 27–37.

- Deng, X., H. J. Wagner, and A. N. Popper. (2013). Interspecific variations of inner ear structure in the deep-sea fish family Melamphaidae. *The Anatomical Record*, *296*(7), 1064–1082.
- Doksaeter, L., O. R. Godo, N. O. Handegard, P. H. Kvadsheim, F. P. A. Lam, C. Donovan, and P. J. O. Miller. (2009). Behavioral responses of herring (*Clupea harengus*) to 1–2 and 6–7 kHz sonar signals and killer whale feeding sounds. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 125(1), 554–564.
- Doksaeter, L., N. O. Handegard, O. R. Godo, P. H. Kvadsheim, and N. Nordlund. (2012). Behavior of captive herring exposed to naval sonar transmissions (1.0–1.6 kHz) throughout a yearly cycle. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 131(2), 1632–1642.
- Edds-Walton, P. L., and J. J. Finneran. (2006). *Evaluation of Evidence for Altered Behavior and Auditory Deficits in Fishes Due to Human-Generated Noise Sources*. (Technical Report 1939). San Diego, CA: SPAWAR Systems Center.
- Engås, A., O. A. Misund, A. V. Soldal, B. Horvei, and A. Solstad. (1995). Reactions of penned herring and cod to playback of original, frequency-filtered and time-smoothed vessel sound. *Fisheries Research*, *22*(3), 243–254.
- Enger, P. S. (1981). *Frequency Discrimination in Teleosts–Central or Peripheral?* New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Eschmeyer, W. N., and J. D. Fong. (2016). *Species by Family/Subfamily in the Catalog of Fishes*. San Francisco, CA: California Academy of Sciences.
- Faulkner, S. G., W. M. Tonn, M. Welz, and D. R. Schmitt. (2006). Effects of explosives on incubating lake trout eggs in the Canadian Arctic. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 26(4), 833– 842.
- Faulkner, S. G., M. Welz, W. M. Tonn, and D. R. Schmitt. (2008). Effects of simulated blasting on mortality of rainbow trout eggs. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 137(1), 1–12.
- Feist, B. E., E. R. Buhle, D. H. Baldwin, J. A. Spromberg, S. E. Damm, J. W. Davis, and N. L. Scholz. (2017). Roads to ruin: Conservation threats to a sentinel species across an urban gradient. *Ecological Applications*, 27(8), 2382–2396.
- Fewtrell, J. L., and R. D. McCauley. (2012). Impact of air gun noise on the behaviour of marine fish and squid. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *64*(5), 984–993.
- Fitch, J. E., and P. H. Young. (1948). *Use and Effect of Explosives in California Coastal Waters*. Sacramento, CA: California Division Fish and Game.
- Gaspin, J. B. (1975). Experimental Investigations of the Effects of Underwater Explosions on Swimbladder Fish, I: 1973 Chesapeake Bay Tests. Silver Spring, MD: Naval Surface Weapons Center, White Oak Laboratory.
- Gaspin, J. B., G. B. Peters, and M. L. Wisely. (1976). *Experimental Investigations of the Effects of Underwater Explosions on Swimbladder Fish*. Silver Spring, MD: Naval Ordnance Lab.
- Gauthier, S., and J. K. Horne. (2004). Acoustic characteristics of forage fish species in the Gulf of Alaska and Bering Sea based on Kirchhoff-approximation models. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science, 61*, 1839–1850.
- Gitschlag, G. R., M. J. Schirripa, and J. E. Powers. (2000). *Estimation of Fisheries Impacts Due to Underwater Explosives Used to Sever and Salvage Oil and Gas Platforms in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico: Final Report*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of the Interior.

- Goertner, J. F. (1978). *Dynamical Model for Explosion Injury to Fish*. Dalgren, VA: U.S. Department of the Navy, Naval Surface Weapons Center.
- Goertner, J. F., M. L. Wiley, G. A. Young, and W. W. McDonald. (1994). *Effects of Underwater Explosions* on Fish Without Swimbladders. Silver Spring, MD: Naval Surface Warfare Center.
- Goetz, F. A., E. Jeanes, and E. Beamer. (2004). Bull Trout in the Nearshore (Preliminary Draft). Seattle, WA: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, R2 Resource Consultants Inc., Skagit River System Cooperative Research Program, Seattle City Light, King County Department of Natural Resources and Parks.
- Goetz, F. A. (2016). *Migration and Residence Patterns of Salmonids in Puget Sounds, Washington.* (Philosophy Dissertation for Philosophy). University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- Goetz, S., M. B. Santos, J. Vingada, D. C. Costas, A. G. Villanueva, and G. J. Pierce. (2015). Do pingers cause stress in fish? An experimental tank study with European sardine, *Sardina pilchardus* (Walbaum, 1792) (Actinopterygii, Clupeidae), exposed to a 70 kHz dolphin pinger. *Hydrobiologia*, 749(1), 83–96.
- Govoni, J. J., L. R. Settle, and M. A. West. (2003). Trauma to juvenile pinfish and spot inflicted by submarine detonations. *Journal of Aquatic Animal Health*, *15*, 111–119.
- Govoni, J. J., M. A. West, L. R. Settle, R. T. Lynch, and M. D. Greene. (2008). Effects of Underwater Explosions on Larval Fish: Implications for a Coastal Engineering Project. *Journal of Coastal Research*, *2*, 228–233.
- Halpern, B. S., K. L. McLeod, A. A. Rosenberg, and L. B. Crowder. (2008). Managing for cumulative impacts in ecosystem-based management through ocean zoning. *Ocean & Coastal Management, 51*(3), 203–211.
- Halvorsen, M. B., B. M. Casper, C. M. Woodley, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. (2011). *Hydroacoustic Impacts on Fish from Pile Installation* (Research Results Digest). Washington, DC: National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Transportation Research Board, National Academy of Sciences.
- Halvorsen, M. B., B. M. Casper, F. Matthews, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. (2012a). Effects of exposure to pile-driving sounds on the lake sturgeon, Nile tilapia and hogchoker. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 279*(1748), 4705–4714.
- Halvorsen, M. B., B. M. Casper, C. M. Woodley, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. (2012b). Threshold for onset of injury in Chinook salmon from exposure to impulsive pile driving sounds. *PLoS ONE*, 7(6), e38968.
- Halvorsen, M. B., D. G. Zeddies, W. T. Ellison, D. R. Chicoine, and A. N. Popper. (2012c). Effects of midfrequency active sonar on hearing in fish. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 131(1), 599–607.
- Halvorsen, M. B., D. G. Zeddies, D. Chicoine, and A. N. Popper. (2013). Effects of low-frequency naval sonar exposure on three species of fish. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 134(2), EL205–210.
- Handegard, N. O., K. Michalsen, and D. Tjøstheim. (2003). Avoidance behaviour in cod (*Gadus morhua*) to a bottom-trawling vessel. *Aquatic Living Resources*, *16*(3), 265–270.

- Handegard, N. O., A. D. Robertis, G. Rieucau, K. Boswell, G. J. Macaulay, and J. M. Jech. (2015). The reaction of a captive herring school to playbacks of a noise-reduced and a conventional research vessel. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 72(4), 491–499.
- Hare, J. A., W. E. Morrison, M. W. Nelson, M. M. Stachura, E. J. Teeters, R. B. Griffis, M. A. Alexander, J. D. Scott, L. Alade, R. J. Bell, A. S. Chute, K. L. Curti, T. H. Curtis, D. Kircheis, J. F. Kocik, S. M. Lucey, C. T. McCandless, L. M. Milke, D. E. Richardson, E. Robillard, H. J. Walsh, M. C. McManus, K. E. Marancik, and C. A. Griswold. (2016). A vulnerability assessment of fish and invertebrates to climate change on the Northeast U.S. Continental Shelf. *PLoS ONE, 11*(2), 1–30.
- Hart, J. L. (1973). *Pacific Fishes of Canada*. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Government Publishing Centre.
- Hastings, M., A. Popper, J. Finneran, and P. Lanford. (1996). Effects of low-frequency underwater sound on hair cells of the inner ear and lateral line of the teleost fish *Astronotus ocellatus*. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *99*(3), 1759–1766.
- Hastings, M. C. (1991). *Effects of underwater sound on bony fishes*. Paper presented at the 122nd Meeting of the Acoustical Society of America. Houston, TX.
- Hastings, M. C. (1995). *Physical effects of noise on fishes*. Paper presented at the 1995 International Congress on Noise Control Engineering. Newport Beach, CA.
- Hastings, M. C., and A. N. Popper. (2005). *Effects of Sound on Fish* (Final Report #CA05-0537). Sacramento, CA: California Department of Transportation.
- Hawkins, A. D., and A. D. F. Johnstone. (1978). The hearing of the Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. *Journal* of Fish Biology, 13, 655–673.
- Hawkins, A. D., L. Roberts, and S. Cheesman. (2014). Responses of free-living coastal pelagic fish to impulsive sounds. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 135(5), 3101–3116.
- Hawkins, A. D., A. E. Pembroke, and A. N. Popper. (2015). Information gaps in understanding the effects of noise on fishes and invertebrates. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, 25*, 39–64.
- Hayes, M. C., S. P. Rubin, R. R. Reisenbichler, F. A. Goetz, E. Jeanes, and A. McBride. (2011). Marine Habitat Use by Anadromous Bull Trout from Skagit River, Washington. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries: Dynamics, Managment, and Ecosystem Science, 3*, 394–410.
- Helfman, G. S., B. B. Collette, D. E. Facey, and B. W. Bowen. (2009a). The Diversity of Fishes (Second ed.).
- Helfman, G. S., B. B. Collette, D. E. Facey, and B. W. Bowen. (2009b). *The Diversity of Fishes: Biology, Evolution, and Ecology* (2nd ed.). Malden, MA: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Higgs, D. M. (2005). Auditory cues as ecological signals for marine fishes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series,* 287, 278–281.
- Higgs, D. M., and C. A. Radford. (2013). The contribution of the lateral line to 'hearing' in fish. *The Journal of Experimental Biology, 216*(Pt 8), 1484–1490.
- Holt, D. E., and C. E. Johnston. (2014). Evidence of the Lombard effect in fishes. *Behavioral Ecology*, 25(4), 819–826.
- Hubbs, C., and A. Rechnitzer. (1952). Report on experiments designed to determine effects of underwater explosions on fish life. *California Fish and Game, 38*, 333–366.
- lafrate, J. D., S. L. Watwood, E. A. Reyier, D. M. Scheidt, G. A. Dossot, and S. E. Crocker. (2016). Effects of pile driving on the residency and movement of tagged reef fish. *PLoS ONE, 11*(11), e0163638.

- Jain-Schlaepfer, S., E. Fakan, J. L. Rummer, S. D. Simpson, and M. I. McCormick. (2018). Impact of motorboats on fish embryos depends on engine type. *Conservation Physiology*, 6(1), coy014.
- Jensen, J. O. T. (2003). *New Mechanical Shock Sensitivity Units in Support of Criteria for Protection of Salmonid Eggs from Blasting or Seismic Disturbance*. Nanaimo, Canada: Fisheries and Oceans Canada Science Branch Pacific Region, Pacific Biological Station.
- Jones, R. (2015). 2015 5-Year Review Listing Status under the Endangered Species Act for Hatchery Programs Associated with 28 Salmon Evolutionarily Significant Units and Steelhead Distinct Population Segments. Portland, OR: National Marine Fisheries Service, West Coast Region.
- Jørgensen, R., K. K. Olsen, I. B. Falk-Petersen, and P. Kanapthippilai. (2005). *Investigations of Potential Effects of Low Frequency Sonar Signals on Survival, Development and Behaviour of Fish Larvae and Juveniles*. Tromsø, Norway: University of Tromsø, The Norwegian College of Fishery Science.
- Kane, A. S., J. Song, M. B. Halvorsen, D. L. Miller, J. D. Salierno, L. E. Wysocki, D. Zeddies, and A. N. Popper. (2010). Exposure of fish to high intensity sonar does not induce acute pathology. *Journal* of Fish Biology, 76(7), 1825–1840.
- Karlsson, S., and A. C. Albertsson. (1998). Biodegradable polymers and environmental interaction. *Polymer Engineering and Science, 38*(8), 1251–1253.
- Keevin, T. M., and G. L. Hempen. (1997). *The Environmental Effects of Underwater Explosions with Methods to Mitigate Impacts*. St. Louis, MO: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.
- Keller, A. A., L. Ciannelli, W. W. Wakefield, V. Simon, J. A. Barth, and S. D. Pierce. (2015). Occurrence of demersal fishes in relation to near-bottom oxygen levels within the California Current large marine ecosystem. *Fisheries Oceanography*, 24(2), 162–176.
- Kéver, L., O. Colleye, A. Herrel, P. Romans, and E. Parmentier. (2014). Hearing capacities and otolith size in two ophidiiform species (*Ophidion rochei* and *Carapus acus*). *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 217(Pt 14), 2517–2525.
- Kritzler, H., and L. Wood. (1961). Provisional audiogram for the shark, *Carcharhinus leucas*. *Science*, *133*(3463), 1480–1482.
- Kujawa, S. G., and M. C. Liberman. (2009). Adding insult to injury: Cochlear nerve degeneration after "temporary" noise-induced hearing loss. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(45), 14077–14085.
- Kvadsheim, P. H., and E. M. Sevaldsen. (2005). *The Potential Impact of 1-8 kHz Active Sonar on Stocks of Juvenile Fish During Sonar Exercises*. Kjeller, Norway: Norwegian Defence Research Establishment.
- Ladich, F., and A. N. Popper. (2004). Parallel Evolution in Fish Hearing Organs. In G. A. Manley, A. N. Popper, & R. R. Fay (Eds.), *Evolution of the Vertebrate Auditory System, Springer Handbook of Auditory Research* (pp. 95–127). New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Ladich, F. (2008). Sound communication in fishes and the influence of ambient and anthropogenic noise. *Bioacoustics*, 17, 35–37.
- Ladich, F., and R. R. Fay. (2013). Auditory evoked potential audiometry in fish. *Reviews in Fish Biology* and Fisheries, 23(3), 317–364.
- Ladich, F. (2014). Fish bioacoustics. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 28*, 121–127.

- LGL Ltd Environmental Research Associates, Lamont Doherty Earth Observatory, and National Science Foundation. (2008). *Environmental Assessment of a Marine Geophysical Survey by the R/V Melville in the Santa Barbara Channel*. King City, Ontario: La Jolla, CA, Scripps Institution of Oceanography and Arlington, VA, National Science Foundation: Division of Ocean Sciences.
- Liberman, M. C. (2016). Noise-induced hearing loss: Permanent versus temporary threshold shifts and the effects of hair cell versus neuronal degeneration. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *875*, 1–7.
- Lin, H. W., A. C. Furman, S. G. Kujawa, and M. C. Liberman. (2011). Primary neural degeneration in the guinea pig cochlea after reversible noise-induced threshold shift. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, *12*(5), 605–616.
- Lindseth, A., and P. Lobel. (2018). Underwater Soundscape Monitoring and Fish Bioacoustics: A Review. *Fishes, 3*(3), 36.
- Løkkeborg, S., E. Ona, A. Vold, and A. Salthaug. (2012). Effects of sounds from seismic air guns on fish behavior and catch rates. In A. N. Popper & A. Hawkins (Eds.), *The Effects of Noise on Aquatic Life* (Vol. 730, pp. 415–419). New York, NY: Springer.
- Lombarte, A., H. Y. Yan, A. N. Popper, J. C. Chang, and C. Platt. (1993). Damage and regeneration of hair cell ciliary bundles in a fish ear following treatment with gentamicin. *Hearing Research, 66*, 166–174.
- Lombarte, A., and A. N. Popper. (1994). Quantitative analyses of postembryonic hair cell addition in the otolithic endorgans of the inner ear of the European hake, *Merluccius merluccius* (Gadiformes, Teleostei). *The Journal of Comparative Neurology, 345*, 419–428.
- Lovell, J. M., M. M. Findlay, R. M. Moate, J. R. Nedwell, and M. A. Pegg. (2005). The inner ear morphology and hearing abilities of the paddlefish (*Polyodon spathula*) and the lake sturgeon (*Acipenser fulvescens*). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A*, 142, 286–296.
- Løvik, A., and J. M. Hovem. (1979). An experimental investigation of swimbladder resonance in fishes. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 66*(3), 850–854.
- MacDonald, J., and C. Mendez. (2005). *Unexploded ordnance cleanup costs: Implications of alternative protocols*. Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation.
- Madaro, A., R. E. Olsen, T. S. Kristiansen, L. O. Ebbesson, T. O. Nilsen, G. Flik, and M. Gorissen. (2015).
  Stress in Atlantic salmon: Response to unpredictable chronic stress. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 218(16), 2538–2550.
- Mann, D., D. Higgs, W. Tavolga, M. Souza, and A. Popper. (2001). Ultrasound detection by clupeiform fishes. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 3048–3054.
- Mann, D. A., Z. Lu, and A. N. Popper. (1997). A clupeid fish can detect ultrasound. *Nature, 389*, 341.
- Mann, D. A., Z. Lu, M. C. Hastings, and A. N. Popper. (1998). Detection of ultrasonic tones and simulated dolphin echolocation clicks by a teleost fish, the American shad (*Alosa sapidissima*). *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 104(1), 562–568.
- Mann, D. A. (2016). Acoustic Communications in Fishes and Potential Effects of Noise. In A. N. Popper & A. D. Hawkins (Eds.), *The Effects of Noise on Aquatic Life II* (pp. 673–678). New York, NY: Springer.

- Martin, B., D. G. Zeddies, B. Gaudet, and J. Richard. (2016). Evaluation of three sensor types for particle motion measurement. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *875*, 679–686.
- McCartney, B. S., and A. R. Stubbs. (1971). Measurements of the acoustic target strengths of fish in dorsal aspect, including swimbladder resonance. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 15(3), 397–420.
- McCauley, R. D., and D. H. Cato. (2000). Patterns of fish calling in a nearshore environment in the Great Barrier Reef. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences, 355*(1401), 1289–1293.
- McCauley, R. D., J. Fewtrell, A. J. Duncan, C. Jenner, M.-N. Jenner, J. D. Penrose, R. I. T. Prince, A. Adhitya, J. Murdoch, and K. A. McCabe. (2000). *Marine Seismic Surveys: Analysis and Propagation of Air-gun Signals; and Effects of Air-gun Exposure on Humpback Whales, Sea Turtles, Fishes and Squid*. Bentley, Australia: Centre for Marine Science and Technology.
- McCauley, R. D., J. Fewtrell, and A. N. Popper. (2003). High intensity anthropogenic sound damages fish ears. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *113*(1), 638–642.
- McCauley, R. D., and C. S. Kent. (2012). A lack of correlation between air gun signal pressure waveforms and fish hearing damage. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 730*, 245–250.
- McCormick, M. I., B. J. M. Allan, H. Harding, and S. D. Simpson. (2018). Boat noise impacts risk assessment in a coral reef fish but effects depend on engine type. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 3847.
- McIntyre, J. K., J. I. Lundin, J. R. Cameron, M. I. Chow, J. W. Davis, J. P. Incardona, and N. L. Scholz.
  (2018). Interspecies variation in the susceptibility of adult Pacific salmon to toxic urban stormwater runoff. *Environmental Pollution*, 238, 196–203.
- McIver, E. L., M. A. Marchaterre, A. N. Rice, and A. H. Bass. (2014). Novel underwater soundscape: Acoustic repertoire of plainfin midshipman fish. *The Journal of Experimental Biology, 217*(Pt 13), 2377–2389.
- Mensinger, A. F., R. L. Putland, and C. A. Radford. (2018). The effect of motorboat sound on Australian snapper *Pagrus auratus* inside and outside a marine reserve. *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(13), 6438–6448.
- Meyer, M., R. R. Fay, and A. N. Popper. (2010). Frequency tuning and intensity coding of sound in the auditory periphery of the lake sturgeon, *Acipenser fulvescens*. *The Journal of Experimental Biology, 213,* 1567–1578.
- Miller, J. D. (1974). Effects of noise on people. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *56*(3), 729–764.
- Misund, O. A. (1997). Underwater acoustics in marine fisheries and fisheries research. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, 7,* 1–34.
- Moyle, P. B., and J. J. Cech, Jr. (2004). *Fishes: An Introduction to Ichthyology* (5th ed.). London, United Kingdom: Pearson Educational, Inc.
- Mueller-Blenkle, C., P. K. McGregor, A. B. Gill, M. H. Andersson, J. Metcalfe, V. Bendall, P. Sigray, D. Wood, and F. Thomsen. (2010). *Effects of Pile-Driving Noise on the Behaviour of Marine Fish*. London, United Kingdom: COWRIE Ltd.

- Munday, P. L., D. L. Dixson, J. M. Donelson, G. P. Jones, M. S. Pratchett, G. V. Devitsina, and K. B. Doving. (2009). Ocean acidification impairs olfactory discrimination and homing ability of a marine fish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(6), 1848– 1852.
- Myrberg, A. A., C. R. Gordon, and A. P. Klimley. (1976). Attraction of free ranging sharks by low frequency sound, with comments on its biological significance. In A. Schuijf & A. D. Hawkins (Eds.), *Sound Reception in Fish*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier.
- Myrberg, A. A. (1980). Ocean noise and the behavior of marine animals: Relationships and implications. In F. P. Diemer, F. J. Vernberg, & D. Z. Mirkes (Eds.), *Advanced Concepts in Ocean Measurements for Marine Biology* (pp. 461–491). Columbia, SC: University of South Carolina Press.
- Myrberg, A. A., Jr., A. Banner, and J. D. Richard. (1969). Shark attraction using a video-acoustic system. *Marine Biology*, 2(3), 264–276.
- Myrberg, A. A., Jr., S. J. Ha, S. Walewski, and J. C. Banbury. (1972). Effectiveness of acoustic signals in attracting epipelagic sharks to an underwater sound source. *Bulletin of Marine Science, 22*, 926–949.
- Myrberg, A. A., Jr. (2001). The acoustical biology of elasmobranchs. *Environmental Biology of Fishes, 60*, 31–45.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2003). *Final Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement for Pacific Salmon Fisheries Management off the Coasts of Southeast Alaska, Washington, Oregon, and California, and in the Columbia River Basin.* Seattle, WA: National Marine Fisheries Service, Northwest Region.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2016). *Salmon & Steelhead 2016 Status Reviews*. Retrieved from http://www.westcoast.fisheries.noaa.gov/publications/status\_reviews/salmon\_steelhead/2016 \_status\_review.html.
- National Research Council. (1994). *Low-Frequency Sound and Marine Mammals: Current Knowledge and Research Needs*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- National Research Council. (2003). Ocean Noise and Marine Mammals. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Nedelec, S. L., S. D. Simpson, E. L. Morley, B. Nedelec, and A. N. Radford. (2015). Impacts of regular and random noise on the behaviour, growth and development of larval Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 282*(1817), 1–7.
- Nedelec, S. L., J. Campbell, A. N. Radford, S. D. Simpson, and N. D. Merchant. (2016a). Particle motion: The missing link in underwater acoustic ecology. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(7), 836– 842.
- Nedelec, S. L., S. C. Mills, D. Lecchini, B. Nedelec, S. D. Simpson, and A. N. Radford. (2016b). Repeated exposure to noise increases tolerance in a coral reef fish. *Environmental Pollution, 216*, 428–236.
- Nedelec, S. L., S. C. Mills, A. N. Radford, R. Beldade, S. D. Simpson, B. Nedelec, and I. M. Cote. (2017a). Motorboat noise disrupts co-operative interspecific interactions. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 6987.
- Nedelec, S. L., A. N. Radford, L. Pearl, B. Nedelec, M. I. McCormick, M. G. Meekan, and S. D. Simpson.
  (2017b). Motorboat noise impacts parental behaviour and offspring survival in a reef fish.
  Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences, 284(1856).

- Neenan, S. T. V., R. Piper, P. R. White, P. Kemp, T. G. Leighton, and P. J. Shaw. (2016). Does Masking Matter? Shipping Noise and Fish Vocalizations. In A. N. Popper & A. D. Hawkins (Eds.), *The Effects of Noise on Aquatic Life II* (pp. 747–754). New York, NY: Springer.
- Nelson, D. R., and R. H. Johnson. (1972). Acoustic attraction of Pacific reef sharks: Effect of pulse intermittency and variability. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A*, 42, 85–95.
- Nelson, J. S., T. C. Grande, and M. V. H. Wilson. (2016). *Fishes of the World* (5th ed.). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Neo, Y. Y., J. Seitz, R. A. Kastelein, H. V. Winter, C. Ten Cate, and H. Slabbekoorn. (2014). Temporal structure of sound affects behavioural recovery from noise impact in European seabass. *Biological Conservation*, *178*, 65–73.
- Neo, Y. Y., E. Ufkes, R. A. Kastelein, H. V. Winter, C. Ten Cate, and H. Slabbekoorn. (2015). Impulsive sounds change European seabass swimming patterns: Influence of pulse repetition interval. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 97(1–2), 111–117.
- Netburn, A. N., and J. A. Koslow. (2015). Dissolved oxygen as a constraint on daytime deep scattering layer depth in the Southern California current ecosystem. *Deep-Sea Research I, 104,* 149–158.
- Nichols, T. A., T. W. Anderson, and A. Širović. (2015). Intermittent noise induces physiological stress in a coastal marine fish. *PLoS ONE, 10*(9), e0139157.
- Nix, P., and P. Chapman. (1985). *Monitoring of underwater blasting operations in False Creek, British Columbia.* Paper presented at the Proceedings of the Workshop on Effects of Explosive Use in the Marine Environment. Ottawa, Canada.
- O'Keeffe, D. J. (1984). *Guidelines for Predicting the Effects of Underwater Explosions on Swimbladder Fish*. Dahlgren, VA: Naval Surface Weapons Center.
- O'Keeffe, D. J., and G. A. Young. (1984). *Handbook on the Environmental Effects of Underwater Explosions*. Silver Spring, MD: U.S. Navy, Naval Surface Weapons Center (Code R14).
- Ospina-Alvarez, N., and F. Piferrer. (2008). Temperature-dependent sex determination in fish revisited: prevalence, a single sex ratio response pattern, and possible effects of climate change. *PLoS ONE*, *3*(7), 1–11.
- Pacific Fishery Management Council. (2016). *Pacific Coast Salmon Fishery Management Plan*. Portland, OR: Pacific Fishery Management Council.
- Payne, N. L., D. E. van der Meulen, I. M. Suthers, C. A. Gray, and M. D. Taylor. (2015). Foraging intensity of wild mulloway *Argyrosomus japonicus* decreases with increasing anthropogenic disturbance. *Journal of Marine Biology*, *162*(3), 539–546.
- Pearson, W. H., J. R. Skalski, and C. I. Malme. (1992). Effects of sounds from a geophysical survey device on behavior of captive rockfish (*Sebastes* spp.). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 49*, 1343–1356.
- Pena, H., N. O. Handegard, and E. Ona. (2013). Feeding herring schools do not react to seismic air gun surveys. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, *70*(6), 1174–1180.
- Pepper, C. B., M. A. Nascarella, and R. J. Kendall. (2003). A review of the effects of aircraft noise on wildlife and humans, current control mechanisms, and the need for further study. *Environmental Management*, 32(4), 418–432.
- Pickering, A. D. (1981). Stress and Fish. New York, NY: Academic Press.

- Popper, A. N., and B. Hoxter. (1984). Growth of a fish ear: 1. Quantitative analysis of sensory hair cell and ganglion cell proliferation. *Hearing Research*, *15*, 133–142.
- Popper, A. N. (2003). Effects of anthropogenic sounds on fishes. *Fisheries, 28*(10), 24–31.
- Popper, A. N., R. R. Fay, C. Platt, and O. Sand. (2003). Sound detection mechanisms and capabilities of teleost fishes. In S. P. Collin & N. J. Marshall (Eds.), *Sensory Processing in Aquatic Environment*. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Popper, A. N., M. E. Smith, P. A. Cott, B. W. Hanna, A. O. MacGillivray, M. E. Austin, and D. A. Mann.
  (2005). Effects of exposure to seismic airgun use on hearing of three fish species. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *117*(6), 3958–3971.
- Popper, A. N., M. B. Halvorsen, A. Kane, D. L. Miller, M. E. Smith, J. Song, P. Stein, and L. E. Wysocki.
  (2007). The effects of high-intensity, low-frequency active sonar on rainbow trout. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *122*(1), 623–635.
- Popper, A. N. (2008). *Effects of Mid- and High-Frequency Sonars on Fish*. Newport, RI: Naval Undersea Warfare Center Division.
- Popper, A. N., and C. R. Schilt. (2008). Hearing and acoustic behavior (basic and applied considerations). In J. F. Webb, R. R. Fay, & A. N. Popper (Eds.), *Fish Bioacoustics*. New York, NY: Springer Science + Business Media, LLC.
- Popper, A. N., and M. C. Hastings. (2009a). The effects of anthropogenic sources of sound on fishes. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 75(3), 455–489.
- Popper, A. N., and M. C. Hastings. (2009b). The effects of human-generated sound on fish. *Integrative Zoology*, *4*, 43–52.
- Popper, A. N., and R. R. Fay. (2010). Rethinking sound detection by fishes. *Hearing Research*, 273(1–2), 25–36.
- Popper, A. N., A. D. Hawkins, R. R. Fay, D. A. Mann, S. M. Bartol, T. J. Carlson, S. Coombs, W. T. Ellison, R. L. Gentry, M. B. Halvorsen, S. Løkkeborg, P. H. Rogers, B. L. Southall, D. G. Zeddies, and W. N. Tavolga. (2014). ASA S3/SC1.4 TR-2014 Sound Exposure Guidelines for Fishes and Sea Turtles: A Technical Report prepared by ANSI-Accredited Standards Committee S3/SC1 and registered with ANSI. New York, NY and London, United Kingdom: Acoustical Society of America Press and Springer Briefs in Oceanography.
- Popper, A. N., J. A. Gross, T. J. Carlson, J. Skalski, J. V. Young, A. D. Hawkins, and D. G. Zeddies. (2016). Effects of exposure to the sound from seismic airguns on pallid sturgeon and paddlefish. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(8), e0159486.
- Popper, A. N., and A. D. Hawkins. (2018). The importance of particle motion to fishes and invertebrates. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 143(1), 470.
- Possatto, F. E., M. Barletta, M. F. Costa, J. A. I. do Sul, and D. V. Dantas. (2011). Plastic debris ingestion by marine catfish: An unexpected fisheries impact. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(5), 1098–1102.
- Purser, J., and A. N. Radford. (2011). Acoustic noise induces attention shifts and reduces foraging performance in three-spined sticklebacks (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*). *PLoS ONE*, 6(2), e17478.
- Radford, A. N., E. Kerridge, and S. D. Simpson. (2014). Acoustic communication in a noisy world: Can fish compete with anthropogenic noise? *Behavioral Ecology*, *25*(5), 1022–1030.

- Radford, A. N., L. Lebre, G. Lecaillon, S. L. Nedelec, and S. D. Simpson. (2016). Repeated exposure reduces the response to impulsive noise in European seabass. *Global Change Biology*, 22(10), 3349–3360.
- Radford, C. A., J. C. Montgomery, P. Caiger, and D. M. Higgs. (2012). Pressure and particle motion detection thresholds in fish: A re-examination of salient auditory cues in teleosts. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215(Pt 19), 3429–3435.
- Radford, C. A., R. L. Putland, and A. F. Mensinger. (2018). Barking mad: The vocalisation of the John Dory, Zeus faber. *PLoS ONE, 13*(10), e0204647.
- Ramcharitar, J., D. M. Higgs, and A. N. Popper. (2001). Sciaenid inner ears: A study in diversity. *Brain, Behavior and Evolution, 58*, 152–162.
- Ramcharitar, J., and A. N. Popper. (2004). Masked auditory thresholds in sciaenid fishes: A comparative study. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *116*(3), 1687–1691.
- Ramcharitar, J., D. Higgs, and A. Popper. (2006). Audition in sciaenid fishes with different swim bladderinner ear configurations. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *119*(1), 439–443.
- Raven, J., K. Caldeira, H. Elderfield, O. Hoegh-Guldberg, P. Liss, U. Riebesell, J. Sheperd, C. Turley, A. Watson, R. Heap, R. Banes, and R. Quinn. (2005). *Ocean acidification due to increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide*. London, United Kingdom: The Royal Society.
- Remage-Healey, L., D. P. Nowacek, and A. H. Bass. (2006). Dolphin foraging sounds suppress calling and elevate stress hormone levels in a prey species, the Gulf toadfish. *The Journal of Experimental Biology, 209*(Pt 22), 4444–4451.
- Roberts, L., S. Cheesman, and A. D. Hawkins. (2016a). Effects of Sounds on the Behavior of Wild, Unrestrained Fish Schools. In A. N. Popper & A. D. Hawkins (Eds.), *The Effects of Noise on Aquatic Life II* (pp. 917–924). New York, NY: Springer.
- Roberts, L., R. Perez-Dominguez, and M. Elliott. (2016b). Use of baited remote underwater video (BRUV) and motion analysis for studying the impacts of underwater noise upon free ranging fish and implications for marine energy management. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 112(1–2), 75–85.
- Rochman, C. M., E. Hoh, T. Kurobe, and S. J. Teh. (2013). Ingested plastic transfers hazardous chemicals to fish and induces hepatic stress. *Scientific Reports*, *3*, 3263.
- Rosen, G., and G. R. Lotufo. (2010). Fate and effects of composition B in multispecies marine exposures. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 29(6), 1330–1337.
- Rountree, R. A., F. Juanes, and M. Bolgan. (2018). Air movement sound production by alewife, white sucker, and four salmonid fishes suggests the phenomenon is widespread among freshwater fishes. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(9), e0204247.
- Rowell, T. J., M. T. Schärer, and R. S. Appeldoorn. (2018). Description of a New Sound Produced by Nassau Grouper at Spawning Aggregation Sites. *Gulf and Caribbean Research, 29*, GCFI22-GCFI26.
- Sabet, S. S., K. Wesdorp, J. Campbell, P. Snelderwaard, and H. Slabbekoorn. (2016). Behavioural responses to sound exposure in captivity by two fish species with different hearing ability. *Animal Behaviour, 116*, 1–11.
- Scholik, A. R., and H. Y. Yan. (2001). Effects of underwater noise on auditory sensitivity of a cyprinid fish. *Hearing Research*, 152(1–2), 17–24.

- Scholik, A. R., and H. Y. Yan. (2002a). Effects of boat engine noise on the auditory sensitivity of the fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas*. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 63, 203–209.
- Scholik, A. R., and H. Y. Yan. (2002b). The effects of noise on the auditory sensitivity of the bluegill sunfish, *Lepomis macrochirus*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 133(1), 43–52.
- Schwarz, A. B., and G. L. Greer. (1984). Responses of Pacific herring, *Clupea harengus pallasi*, to some underwater sounds. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science*, *41*, 1183–1192.
- Settle, L. R., J. J. Govoni, M. D. Greene, M. A. West, R. T. Lynch, and G. Revy. (2002). *Investigation of Impacts of Underwater Explosions on Larval and Early Juvenile Fishes*. Beaufort, NC: Center for Coastal Fisheries and Habitat Research.
- Shah, A. A., F. Hasan, A. Hameed, and S. Ahmed. (2008). Biological degradation of plastics: A comprehensive review. *Biotechnology Advances, 26*(3), 246–265.
- Sierra-Flores, R., T. Atack, H. Migaud, and A. Davie. (2015). Stress response to anthropogenic noise in Atlantic cod *Gadus morhua* L. *Aquacultural Engineering*, *67*, 67–76.
- Simpson, S. D., J. Purser, and A. N. Radford. (2015). Anthropogenic noise compromises antipredator behaviour in European eels. *Global Change Biology*, *21*(2), 586–593.
- Simpson, S. D., A. N. Radford, S. L. Nedelec, M. C. Ferrari, D. P. Chivers, M. I. McCormick, and M. G. Meekan. (2016). Anthropogenic noise increases fish mortality by predation. *Nature Communications*, 7, 10544.
- Sisneros, J. A., and A. H. Bass. (2003). Seasonal plasticity of peripheral auditory frequency sensitivity. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(3), 1049–1058.
- Sivle, L. D., P. H. Kvadsheim, M. A. Ainslie, A. Solow, N. O. Handegard, N. Nordlund, and F. P. A. Lam. (2012). Impact of naval sonar signals on Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) during summer feeding. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 69(6), 1078–1085.
- Sivle, L. D., P. H. Kvadsheim, and M. A. Ainslie. (2014). Potential for population-level disturbance by active sonar in herring. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, *72*(2), 558–567.
- Sivle, L. D., P. H. Kvadsheim, and M. Ainslie. (2016). Potential population consequences of active sonar disturbance in Atlantic herring: Estimating the maximum risk. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 875, 217–222.
- Slabbekoorn, H., N. Bouton, I. van Opzeeland, A. Coers, C. ten Cate, and A. N. Popper. (2010). A noisy spring: The impact of globally rising underwater sound levels on fish. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 25(7), 419–427.
- Slotte, A., K. Hansen, J. Dalen, and E. Ona. (2004). Acoustic mapping of pelagic fish distribution and abundance in relation to seismic shooting area off the Norwegian west coast. *Fisheries Research*, 67, 143–150.
- Smith, M. E., A. S. Kane, and A. N. Popper. (2004a). Noise-induced stress response and hearing loss in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 207(3), 427–435.
- Smith, M. E., A. S. Kane, and A. N. Popper. (2004b). Acoustical stress and hearing sensitivity in fishes: Does the linear threshold shift hypothesis hold water? *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 207, 3591–3602.

- Smith, M. E., A. B. Coffin, D. L. Miller, and A. N. Popper. (2006). Anatomical and functional recovery of the goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) ear following noise exposure. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 209(21), 4193–4202.
- Smith, M. E., and R. R. Gilley. (2008). Testing the equal energy hypothesis in noise-exposed fishes. *Bioacoustics*, 17(1–3), 343–345.
- Song, J., D. A. Mann, P. A. Cott, B. W. Hanna, and A. N. Popper. (2008). The inner ears of northern Canadian freshwater fishes following exposure to seismic air gun sounds. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 124(2), 1360–1366.
- Spiga, I., N. Aldred, and G. S. Caldwell. (2017). Anthropogenic noise compromises the anti-predator behaviour of the European seabass, Dicentrarchus labrax (L.). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 122(1-2), 297-305.
- Sprague, M. W., and J. J. Luczkovich. (2004). Measurement of an individual silver perch, *Bairdiella chrysoura*, sound pressure level in a field recording. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *116*(5), 3186–3191.
- Stanley, J. A., S. M. Van Parijs, and L. T. Hatch. (2017). Underwater sound from vessel traffic reduces the effective communication range in Atlantic cod and haddock. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 14633.
- Sun, W.-Q., M. Meng, G. Kumar, L. A. Geelhaar, G. F. Payne, M. K. Speedie, and J. R. Stacy. (1996). Biological denitration of propylene glycol dinitrate by *Bacillus* sp. ATCC 51912. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 45, 525–529.
- Sverdrup, A., E. Kjellsby, P. G. Krüger, R. Fløysand, F. R. Knudsen, P. S. Enger, G. Serck-Hanssen, and K. B. Helle. (1994). Effects of experimental seismic shock on vasoactivity of arteries, integrity of the vascular endothelium and on primary stress hormones of the Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 45(6), 973–995.
- Swisdak, M. M., Jr. (1978). *Explosion Effects and Properties Part II–Explosion Effects in Water*. (NSWC/WOL/TR-76-116). Dahlgren, VA and Silver Spring, MD: Naval Surface Weapons Center.
- Swisdak, M. M., Jr., and P. E. Montanaro. (1992). *Airblast and Fragmentation Hazards Produced by Underwater Explosions*. Silver Spring, MD: Naval Surface Warfare Center.
- Tavolga, W. N. (1974). Signal/noise ratio and the critical band in fishes. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 55(6), 1323–1333.
- Tucker, S., M. Trudel, D. W. Welch, J. R. Candy, J. F. T. Morris, M. E. Thiess, C. Wallace, and T. D. Beacham. (2012). Annual coastal migration of juvenile Chinook salmon: Static stock-specific patterns in a highly dynamic ocean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 449*, 245–262.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (1996a). Environmental Assessment of the Use of Selected Navy Test Sites for Development Tests and Fleet Training Exercises of the MK 48 Torpedoes. Pearl Harbor, HI: United States Command Pacific Fleet.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (1996b). Environmental Assessment of the Use of Selected Navy Test Sites for Development Tests and Fleet Training Exercises of the MK-46 and MK-50 Torpedoes. Pearl Harbor, HI: United States Command Pacific Fleet.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. (2015). *Coastal Recovery Unit Implementation Plan for Bull Trout (Salvelinus confluentus)*. Lacey, WA: Washington Fish and Wildlife Office.

- Voellmy, I. K., J. Purser, D. Flynn, P. Kennedy, S. D. Simpson, and A. N. Radford. (2014a). Acoustic noise reduces foraging success in two sympatric fish species via different mechanisms. *Animal Behaviour*, 89, 191–198.
- Voellmy, I. K., J. Purser, S. D. Simpson, and A. N. Radford. (2014b). Increased noise levels have different impacts on the anti-predator behaviour of two sympatric fish species. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(7), e102946.
- Walker, J. E., and D. L. Kaplan. (1992). Biological degradation of explosives and chemical agents. *Biodegradation*, *3*, 369–385.
- Wang, W. X., and P. S. Rainbow. (2008). Comparative approaches to understand metal bioaccumulation in aquatic animals. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part C, 148*(4), 315–323.
- Wardle, C. S., T. J. Carter, G. G. Urquhart, A. D. F. Johnstone, A. M. Ziolkowski, G. Hampson, and D. Mackie. (2001). Effects of seismic air guns on marine fish. *Continental Shelf Research*, 21, 1005– 1027.
- Webb, J. F., J. C. Montgomery, and J. Mogdans. (2008). Bioacoustics and the Lateral Line of Fishes. In J. F. Webb, R. R. Fay, & A. N. Popper (Eds.), *Fish Bioacoustics* (pp. 145–182). New York, NY: Springer.
- Weitkamp, L. A. (2010). Marine distributions of chinook salmon from the West Coast of North America determined by coded wire tag recoveries. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, 139*, 147–170.
- Wiley, M. L., J. B. Gaspin, and J. F. Goertner. (1981). Effects of underwater explosions on fish with a dynamical model to predict fishkill. *Ocean Science and Engineering*, 6(2), 223–284.
- Wright, D. G. (1982). A Discussion Paper on the Effects of Explosives on Fish and Marine Mammals in the Waters of the Northwest Territories (Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences). Winnipeg, Canada: Western Region Department of Fisheries and Oceans.
- Wysocki, L. E., J. P. Dittami, and F. Ladich. (2006). Ship noise and cortisol secretion in European freshwater fishes. *Biological Conservation*, *128*, 501–508.
- Wysocki, L. E., J. W. Davidson, III, M. E. Smith, A. S. Frankel, W. T. Ellison, P. M. Mazik, A. N. Popper, and J. Bebak. (2007). Effects of aquaculture production noise on hearing, growth, and disease resistance of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Aquaculture*, *272*, 687–697.
- Yelverton, J. T., D. R. Richmond, W. Hicks, K. Saunders, and E. R. Fletcher. (1975). *The Relationship between Fish Size and Their Response to Underwater Blast*. Albuquerque, NM: Defense Nuclear Agency.
- Yelverton, J. T., and D. R. Richmond. (1981). *Underwater Explosion Damage Risk Criteria for Fish, Birds, and Mammals.* Paper presented at the 102nd Meeting of the Acoustical Society of America. Miami Beach, FL.
- Zelick, R., D. A. Mann, and A. N. Popper. (1999). Acoustic communication in fishes and frogs. In R. R. Fay & A. N. Popper (Eds.), *Comparative Hearing: Fish and Amphibians* (pp. 363–411). New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.

3.10 Cultural Resources

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

## **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

# Northwest Training and Testing

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

3.10	Cultural Resources		3.10-1
	3.10.1 Affected	3.10.1 Affected Environment	
	3.10.1.1	Archaeological	3.10-2
	3.10.1.2	Architectural	3.10-3
	3.10.1.3	Traditional Cultural Resources	3.10-11
	3.10.1.4	Current Requirements and Practices	3.10-12
3.10.2 Environmental Consequences			3.10-12
	3.10.2.1	Explosive Stressors	3.10-13
	3.10.2.2	Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors	3.10-15
	3.10.2.3	Acoustic	3.10-19
	3.10.2.4	Limiting Access/Temporary Change of Use	3.10-20
	3.10.2.5	Visual and Atmospheric	3.10-20

# **List of Figures**

Figure 3.10-1: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Offshore Area	.3.10-5
Figure 3.10-2: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Northern Part of the Inland Waters	.3.10-7
Figure 3.10-3: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Central Part of the Inland Waters	.3.10-8
Figure 3.10-4: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Southern Part of the Inland Waters	.3.10-9
Figure 3.10-5: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Western Behm Canal, Alaska	3.10-10

# **List of Tables**

There are no tables in this section.

This page intentionally left blank.
# 3.10 Cultural Resources

### 3.10.1 Affected Environment

The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) requires consideration of impacts on the "human environment" consisting of natural, built, and social environments and the relationship of people to them through culture. Compliance requirements for cultural resources are established by federal statutes (out to 12 nautical miles [NM] from shore), state law in specific circumstances, regulations, and executive orders that are presented in detail in the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas EIS (OEIS) (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2015).

Sociocultural elements, such as traditions, lifeways, religious practices, community values, and social institutions may be considered by some groups to be types of cultural resources, especially within tribal communities whose traditional interaction with the natural world is integral to their culture. Considering the social consequences of a proposed action is challenging and arguably better addressed within the framework of a separate and holistic social impact assessment. This supplement, however, is organized using the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, which sought to consider cultural and historic elements of the human environment within and between the three following sections: Section 3.10 (Cultural Resources), Section 3.11 (American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources), and Section 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources). Combined, these sections seek to provide a full analysis of the potential impacts from the Proposed Action on sociocultural elements of American Indian/Alaska Native communities and American history. For the purposes of this section, discussions of impacts to cultural resources will primarily focus on physical cultural resources such as those defined in the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA), the Archaeological Resources Protection Act, and other types described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Other resources considered to be of cultural significance include air, water, and other wildlife. Impacts to these resources are discussed in Section 3.1 (Sediments and Water Quality), Section 3.2 (Air Quality), Section 3.3 (Marine Habitats), Section 3.4 (Marine Mammals), Section 3.5 (Sea Turtles), Section 3.6 (Birds), Section 3.7 (Marine Vegetation), Section 3.8 (Marine Invertebrates), and Section 3.9 (Fishes).

The Supplemental EIS/OEIS (Supplemental) must be read in conjunction with the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and Record of Decision, which provide more detailed and in-depth information.

In this section cultural resources are divided into three major categories:

- Archaeological
- Architectural
- Traditional

For the purposes of this analysis, the Study Area is largely confined to the water and air, with potential impacts on land under Military Operations Areas on the Olympic Peninsula. Therefore, the archaeological discussion of this section focuses on pre-contact inundated sites, and shipwrecks and submerged aircraft that have archaeological value but have lost structural integrity to a sufficient degree they are no longer able to convey their history to divers and other members of the public. Architectural resources include standing buildings, structures, landscapes, and other built-environment resources of historic or aesthetic significance, but for this analysis primarily consist of structurally integral shipwrecks and submerged aircraft. Traditional cultural resources may include archaeological sites, structures, neighborhoods, prominent topographic features, habitats, plants, animals, and minerals that American Indians or other groups consider essential for the preservation of traditional culture.

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Study Area, as defined in the NHPA, reflected the fact that there were no activities with the potential to directly impact cultural resources or impact historic properties on land. For this Supplemental, the Navy conducted a Noise Study (see Appendix J, Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) for aircraft training activities conducted within Special Use Airspace (SUA) comprising the Olympic Military Operations Areas (MOAs), the Warning Areas W-237A and W-237B, and transit routes of flight to the MOAs and back, which is a typical event. On-land cultural resources are discussed in this section, but the focus remains on the in-water events as there are no activities with the potential to directly impact cultural resources on land. Reflecting this marine focus, the Navy will continue to assess direct stressors on submerged prehistoric sites, shipwrecks and submerged aircraft (resources that fit in either the archaeological or architectural categories, depending on their structural integrity), and will consider indirect auditory (noise), visual, and atmospheric stressors on traditional cultural resources in this Supplemental. Traditional cultural resources associated with beliefs or cultural practices of a living culture, subculture, or community. These beliefs and practices must be rooted in the group's history and must be important in maintaining the cultural identity of the group. Prehistoric archaeological sites and artifacts, historic and contemporary locations of traditional events, sacred places, landscapes, and resource collection areas, including fishing, hunting, and gathering areas, may be traditional cultural resources. The Affected Environment discussion is organized by area (i.e., the Offshore Area, Inland Waters, Western Behm Canal).

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the United States (U.S.) is a party to The Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage. Accordingly, the Department of Defense's cultural resources policy and environmental regulations require compliance with the terms of the Convention. The addendum (addendum section 402) to the National Historic Preservation Act (recodified at 54 United States Code part 307101[e], *Consideration of Undertaking on Property, International Federal Activities Affecting Historic Properties*) requires an assessment by federal agencies of project impacts on historic properties located outside U.S. territorial waters that are identified on the World Heritage List or on the applicable country's equivalent of the NRHP. The Olympic National Park in Washington is the only World Heritage site in the Study Area.

## 3.10.1.1 Archaeological

In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, as discussed in Section 3.10.2.1 (Marine Archaeological Sites), potential marine archaeological sites and features included prehistoric sites associated with early maritime migrations inundated during deglaciation and located on the continental shelf, and prehistoric and historic sites that were intentionally placed in or under water such as canoe runs; petroglyphs and pictographs; fish weirs and traps; reef net anchors; trash dumps; piers, wharves, docks, and bridges; dams; and marine railways (Stilson et al., 2003). In this Supplemental, information is presented for precontact archaeology underwater within the Study Area.

Coastal (i.e., from the low tide line to the high tide line) archaeological sites within the Study Area have largely been recognized in two settings: shell middens in littoral areas and sites located in riverine areas. In general, shell middens occur just above the mean high tide line. The oldest dated coastal shell midden site in Washington is approximately 4,000 years old, but the majority are less than 3,000 years old as that is around the time when the current sea level stabilized. Shell middens may indicate sites such as villages, camp sites, or shellfish processing areas that contain organically rich dark soil with shell fragments or shells, artifacts, and fire-cracked rocks near saltwater shorelines (Stilson et al., 2003). Precontact marine archaeological sites recognized by Stilson in Washington include canoe runs; petroglyphs and pictographs; fish weirs and traps; reef net anchors; and shell middens (Stilson et al., 2003).

### 3.10.1.1.1 Offshore Area

The Offshore Area only comes into contact with the shore at the Quinault Range Site, and there are no known terrestrial or inundated sites at this location. Based on the predictive model used in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (ICF International et al., 2013), the Offshore Area has an increased probability for inundated prehistoric sites in the large embayments of Gray's Harbor and Willapa Bay, which were produced as rising sea level drowned large incised river valleys of the paleolandscape. No subsurface sampling of marine deposits has been conducted, and no inundated prehistoric sites have been identified. Based on data sources reviewed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.10.1.3.2, Data Sources), no pre-contact archaeological features in or under water have been identified in the Offshore Area since the review of data sources from 2015.

## Olympic Peninsula

The Olympic MOAs and other restricted or warning area airspace are situated over areas of the Olympic Peninsula. Though the MOAs overlay federal, tribal, state, municipal, and private lands, the cultural resources found within the Olympic National Park provide a representation of those found on the Olympic Peninsula. Interwoven throughout the Olympic National Park's diverse landscape is an array of cultural and historic sites that tell the human story of the park. More than 650 archeological sites document 12,000 years of human occupation of Olympic National Park lands. Historic sites reveal clues about the 200-year history of exploration, homesteading, and community development in the Pacific Northwest (U.S. Department of the Interior, 2016). There are two sites listed in the NRHP located within the Olympic National Park: the Ozette Indian Village Archeological Site (74000916) and the Wedding Rock Petroglyphs (76000951).

## 3.10.1.1.2 Inland Waters

Based on the predictive model used in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (ICF International et al., 2013), the Inland Waters have a lower probability for inundated prehistoric sites because of the lack of paleolandscape features (e.g., estuaries and streams) associated with concentrated resource availability. No subsurface sampling of marine deposits has been conducted, and no inundated prehistoric sites have been identified. Based on data sources reviewed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.10.1.3.2, Data Sources), no prehistoric or historic sites that were intentionally placed in or under water have been identified in the Study Area.

## 3.10.1.1.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, a predictive model developed by Monteleone (2013) did not identify specific paleolandscape settings of inundated prehistoric sites associated with early maritime migrations. Although underwater surveys were conducted to test the model, no areas in the Western Behm Canal were surveyed (Monteleone, 2013). No inundated prehistoric sites have been previously identified in the Western Behm Canal. The Western Behm Canal portion of the Study Area meets the shore in many places; however, pre-contact archaeological resources are not located within the Study Area. Therefore, this category is not discussed further for the Western Behm Canal.

## 3.10.1.2 Architectural

As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.10.2.2 (Known Wrecks, Obstructions, Occurrences, or Unknowns), submerged resources in the region may include shipwrecks, airplanes, or pieces of ship components, such as cannons or guns. After review of the National Register Information System, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Automated Wreck and Obstruction

Information System, and Bureau of Ocean Energy Management's Alaskan shipwreck inventory data regarding submerged cultural resources in the region of influence (Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, 2011; National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2017; National Park Service, 2017), the information from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS has been updated in the sections that follow and is depicted in red-orange dots as new shipwrecks or obstructions in Figure 3.10-1, Figure 3.10-2, Figure 3.10-3, Figure 3.10-4, and Figure 3.10-5. Additional discoveries are made as survey methods become more sophisticated and new areas explored.

## 3.10.1.2.1 Offshore Area

As presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the eastern boundary of the Offshore Area at Washington abuts the coastline and includes a 1-mile-wide surf zone of Quinault Range Site. The Offshore portion of the Study Area contains several Navy shipwrecks and submerged naval aircraft (Grant et al., 1996). Besides the Quinault Range Site, the Offshore Area contains wrecks such as *Prince Arthur* in 1903, the *P.J. Pirrie* in 1920, nine ships wrecked between Quillayute Rocks and Cape Alava, five at Destruction Island, and four near Hoh Head (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 1993). The documented submerged cultural resources in and near the Study Area are primarily associated with maritime trade, transport, and military activities, and include many shipwrecks. In particular, the Olympic coast of Washington is a ship graveyard as a result of the isolated, rocky shores; heavy ship traffic; and ferocious weather and wave action. As shown in Figure 3.10-1, more than a dozen wrecks have been documented in and near the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary (Galasso, 2017).

In Oregon and Northern California, the Study Area boundary is 12 NM off the coastline (Chief of Naval Operations Instruction M-5090.1). Cultural resources discovered in the international waters of the Offshore Area would not be listed in either the state registers or the NRHP. However, it is Navy policy to treat shipwrecks and other unclassified, potentially cultural, obstructions as though they are eligible for the NRHP within U.S. territorial waters. Known shipwrecks and obstructions off the coast of Oregon and Northern California are shown in Figure 3.10-1.



Figure 3.10-1: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Offshore Area

#### 3.10.1.2.1.1 Olympic Peninsula

The MOAs over the Olympic Peninsula are part of the Study Area and there are 31 sites listed in the NRHP located within the Olympic National Park, including historic districts, stations, and other architectural resources. Under the Olympic MOAs on the Olympic Peninsula, seven sites are listed or eligible for listing in the NRHP. These sites are the Beaver School, Fifteen Mile Shelter, Pelton Creek Shelter, Kestner Homestead, Destruction Island Light Station, Lake Quinault Lodge, and Ole Mickelson Cabin.

These sites are also listed in the Washington Heritage Register. Under the MOAs there are three sites (Huelsdonk Homestead, Adam House Copeland, and Smith-Mansfield House) listed in the Washington Heritage Register and three other sites (Wesseler Barn, Barn and the Fletcher, Fred Barn) listed in the Washington Heritage Barn Register.

#### 3.10.1.2.2 Inland Waters

As presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Inland Waters contain an extensive collection of wrecks and submerged aircraft as shown in Figure 3.10-2, Figure 3.10-3, and Figure 3.10-4. Updated data or newly discovered shipwrecks and obstructions since the publishing of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are shown in red on the figures. Six known shipwrecks lie within 2 miles of the shoreline boundary of Naval Base Kitsap Bangor (Figure 3.10-4). More than 10 shipwrecks are within or near the Naval Undersea Warfare Center Division, Keyport Range Complex, including the *Laurel*, the *Elk*, the *A.R. Robinson*, the *R.M. Hasty*, the *Orion*, the *B.C. Company No. 4*, the *Union*, the *Curlew*, the *Nokomis*, and an unnamed vessel, as shown in Figure 3.10-4 (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2010, 2015).

#### 3.10.1.2.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

As presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Western Behm Canal contains shipwrecks such as steamers, a skiff, a ferry, a salmon troller, and numerous gas screws; these shipwrecks may be eligible for the NRHP. The databases that were queried have been updated since publication of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and results of the search indicate that there are no new shipwrecks or obstructions within or on the border of the Study Area (Figure 3.10-5). New or newly found shipwrecks and obstructions occur outside of the Southeast Alaska Acoustic Measurement Facility. Islands shown on Figure 3.10-5 are depicted differently than they were in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The figure shown in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS was incorrect in its depiction of these islands; that depiction has been corrected in this Supplemental.

This figure shows the known shipwrecks or obstructions in the Northern Part of the Inland Waters that were in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and have been updated since that time.



Figure 3.10-2: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Northern Part of the Inland Waters



Figure 3.10-3: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Central Part of the Inland Waters



Figure 3.10-4: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Southern Part of the Inland Waters



Figure 3.10-5: Known Shipwrecks and Obstructions in the Western Behm Canal, Alaska

#### 3.10.1.3 Traditional Cultural Resources

Traditional cultural resources were defined, described, and identified within the Study Area in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Traditional cultural resources can make up or be components of traditional cultural properties; properties of traditional, religious, and cultural importance; sacred sites; and traditional cultural landscapes. Some terms are specifically defined, while others have varied and evolving definitions. These types of resources and their definitions are often intrinsically tied to the unique cultural history and experience of a Tribe, Alaska Native, or other community in a specific area or place. Federal and state agencies have not identified a standardized way in the planning process to account and consider traditional cultural resources as they relate to living communities. The Navy is currently consulting to fulfill its statutory responsibilities with regards to traditional cultural resources that may be impacted by activities. The Navy intends to conduct a good faith effort to identify, assess, and, when possible, avoid or minimize impacts on them (see Section 3.11, American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources, for detail on some of these natural resources with cultural value).

#### 3.10.1.3.1 Offshore Area

To date, federally recognized tribes have expressed concerns regarding the adequacy of the Navy's consideration of the Tribe's natural, cultural, and social resources and potential impacts on those resources by Navy activities. Additionally, in comments provided by the Hoh Tribe during the scoping period for the NWTT Supplemental, the Tribe specifically requested that the Navy take further steps to address and consider its impacts on the Tribe's Traditional Cultural Landscape to "inform both the NEPA and NHPA processes and associated Navy responsibilities to identify impacts on the broad human-environment relationship resulting from project activities."

Ongoing consultations continue to further define traditional cultural properties in the Offshore Area. Therefore, traditional cultural resources are not discussed further for the Offshore Area.

#### 3.10.1.3.1.1 Olympic Peninsula

Local communities are closely and directly linked to the Olympic Peninsula in culture, heritage, and tradition. They also provide important historical information and give meaning to the Peninsula's landscape. Six federally recognized Tribes of the Olympic Peninsula—the Hoh, Makah, Quinault, Quileute, Lower Elwha Klallam, and Jamestown S'Klallam—have lived in this area since time immemorial and continue to maintain strong relationships to the lands and waters. Within the Olympic Peninsula, the Olympic National Park's outstanding attributes have also led to international recognition. In 1976 the park was designated as an International Biosphere Reserve in the Man and the Biosphere Program by United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization. International recognition came again in 1981 when the park was declared a World Heritage Site by the World Heritage Convention, joining it to a system of natural and cultural properties that are considered irreplaceable treasures of outstanding universal value (U.S. Department of the Interior, 2016).

## 3.10.1.3.2 Inland Waters

The Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribe has indicated that the marine waters used by tribal fishermen are composed of a network of sites (including submerged, near shore, intertidal, and marine) within the context of a traditional cultural landscape; the tribe believes that this network of sites is likely to be considered eligible for the NRHP as a traditional cultural property. In March 2018, the Lummi Nation resolved the Salish Sea is eligible for listing in the NRHP as a National Historic Landmark and inclusion in the World Heritage List "for its association with the culture, traditions, and history of the Lummi

people." Consultations will result in further identification of traditional cultural properties and inform the Navy as it assesses potential impacts to them.

#### 3.10.1.3.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

After literary and academic research into this area, the Navy found that there were no cultural resources eligible for or listed in the NRHP or as traditional cultural properties identified in the Western Behm Canal. Additionally, no cultural resources eligible for or listed in the Alaska State Register have been identified in the Western Behm Canal.

#### 3.10.1.4 Current Requirements and Practices

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Navy has established mitigation measures to reduce potential impacts on cultural resources from training and testing activities. Mitigation measures include using inert ordnance; avoiding known shipwreck sites; not conducting precision anchoring; explosive mine countermeasure and neutralization activities; or, explosive mine neutralization activities involving Navy divers within a certain distance of shipwrecks. See Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment) of this Supplemental for mitigation measures.

#### 3.10.1.4.1 Avoidance of Obstructions

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions, including submerged cultural resources (Appendix K, Geographic Mitigation Assessment), such as historic shipwrecks. Known obstructions are avoided to prevent damage to sensitive equipment and vessels, and to ensure the accuracy of training and testing activities.

#### 3.10.2 Environmental Consequences

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS considered training and testing activities that were proposed to occur in the Study Area which may have the potential to impact cultural resources. The stressors applicable to cultural resources in the Study Area are similar to stressors in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and include

- **explosive** (in-water explosives)
- **physical disturbance, strike, visual intrusions** (anchors, deposition of military expended materials)
- acoustic (aircraft noise)
- **cultural** (limiting access/temporary change of use)
- visual and atmospheric

This section evaluates how and to what degree potential impacts on cultural resources from stressors described in Section 3.0 (Introduction) may have changed since the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS was completed. Table 2.5-1, Table 2.5-2, and Table 2.5-3 in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) list the proposed training and testing activities and include the number of times each activity would be conducted annually and the locations within the Study Area where the activity would typically occur under each alternative. The tables also present the same information for activities presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS so that the proposed levels of training and testing under this Supplemental can be easily compared.

The Navy conducted a review of federal regulations and standards relevant to the treatment of cultural resources and reviewed literature published since 2015 for new information on cultural resources that could adjust the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The analysis presented in this

section also considers standard operating procedures discussed in Section 2.3.3 (Standard Operating Procedures) and mitigation measures that are presented in Chapter 5 (Mitigation) and Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment). The Navy would implement these measures to avoid potential impacts on cultural resources from stressors associated with the proposed training and testing activities. Mitigation measures and procedures for cultural resources will be developed with the Washington Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation (the Washington State Historic Preservation Office) and the Alaska Department of Natural Resources, Division of Parks & Outdoor Recreation, Office of History and Archaeology and in consultation with consulting and interested parties.

#### 3.10.2.1 Explosive Stressors

#### 3.10.2.1.1 Impacts from Explosives

Explosive stressors that have the potential to impact cultural resources are shock (pressure) waves and vibrations from explosions (such as explosive torpedoes, missiles, bombs, and projectiles) and cratering created by underwater explosions. While the number of training and testing activities would change under this supplement, the locations of activities presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.10.3.1.1 (Impacts from Explosive Shock [Pressure] Waves from Underwater Explosions) remain the same.

No training activities with underwater detonations on or near the ocean bottom are proposed in the Offshore Area or Western Behm Canal under any alternative, and no testing activities with underwater detonations on or near the ocean bottom are proposed in the Western Behm Canal portion of the Study Area under any alternative; therefore, only training activities in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area and testing activities in the Offshore Area and Inland Waters will be analyzed for impacts from underwater explosives shock (pressure) waves and cratering.

# 3.10.2.1.1.1 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, there is no change to the level, type of training, or locations for training using explosives (see Table 3.0-7) in the Inland Waters; therefore, the analysis in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains applicable. Training activities with an explosive stressor remain the same, the number and location of cultural resources has not changed significantly within the Study Area, and the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions, which includes submerged historic resources as discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.10.3.1.1 (Impacts from Explosive Shock [Pressure] Waves from Underwater Explosions). These events would occur in designated and well-established Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) Training Ranges where no cultural resources have been identified. It is unlikely that these resources could be disturbed by the use of seafloor devices. Therefore, it is unlikely that cultural resources could be disturbed from shock waves or cratering created by underwater explosions during training activities that use explosives. As stated in the 2015 analysis, no impacts on cultural resources from shock waves created by underwater detonations are expected.

In summary, given that the training activities would be conducted in the same areas as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the amount of shock (pressure) waves, vibrations, or cratering from explosives would not appreciably change the conclusions. Therefore, the conclusion from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, that no impacts on cultural resources from shock waves created by underwater detonations at depth are expected, remains valid. Explosive stressors resulting from underwater explosions creating shock (pressure) waves, vibrations, and cratering of the seafloor would not impact

submerged cultural resources within the Study Area under Alternative 1 because known submerged cultural resources would be avoided during training exercises.

#### Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, mine countermeasure and neutralization testing and torpedo explosive testing activities are proposed in the Offshore Area. This is a new activity as compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-2). Although mine countermeasure and neutralization testing could occur on the sea floor, explosives would only be used in the water column at least 75 feet above the bottom. Torpedo explosive testing would also occur in the water column, as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-2); although tempo would increase, the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions, which includes submerged cultural resources as discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.10.3.1.1 (Impacts from Explosive Shock [Pressure] Waves from Underwater Explosions). Therefore, it is unlikely that cultural resources could be disturbed or destroyed from shock waves or cratering created by underwater explosions during testing activities. Therefore, no impacts on cultural resources from shock waves created by underwater detonations are expected.

# 3.10.2.1.1.2 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed training activities that would involve the use of underwater explosives in the Inland Waters would stay the same compared to the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-1) and would be the same compared to Alternative 1. These events would occur in designated and well-established EOD Training Ranges where no cultural resources have been identified. It is unlikely that these resources could be disturbed by the use of seafloor devices.

In summary, given that the training activities would be conducted in the same areas as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the amount of shock (pressure) waves, vibrations, or cratering from explosives would not appreciably change the conclusions. Therefore, the conclusion from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, that no impacts on cultural resources from shock waves created by underwater detonations at depth are expected, would remain valid. Therefore, the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.10.3.1.1 (Impacts from Explosive Shock [Pressure] Waves from Underwater Explosions) and Section 3.10.3.1.2 (Impacts from Explosives – Cratering) remains valid. Explosive stressors resulting from underwater explosions creating shock (pressure) waves, vibrations, and cratering of the seafloor would not impact submerged cultural resources are avoided during training exercises.

#### Impacts from Explosives Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed testing activities that would involve the use of underwater explosives in the Offshore Area would stay the same compared to the number of activities proposed in under Alternative 1. Therefore, underwater explosions under Alternative 2 would not impact cultural resources as described under Alternative 1.

#### **3.10.2.1.1.3** Impacts from Explosives Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Explosive stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing

environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer explosive stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts on submerged cultural resources.

#### 3.10.2.2 Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors

#### 3.10.2.2.1 Impacts from In-Water Devices

The physical disturbance and strike stressors that may impact cultural resources include military expended materials and seafloor devices.

# 3.10.2.2.1.1 Impacts from In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, there is an overall increase in the use of in-water devices (Table 3.0-13), all of which are associated with small, slow-moving unmanned underwater vehicles. The proposed increase of over 100 in-water devices between both the Offshore Area and the Inland Waters would not change the conclusion presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of physical disturbance and strike stressors on cultural resources would be insignificant for in-water devices because (1) the types of activities associated with towed systems are conducted in areas where the sea floor is deeper than the length of the tow lines; and (2) devices are designed and operated within the water column and do not contact the seafloor. Activities involving towed and other in-water devices are not expected to impact submerged cultural resources. In-water crawlers would not disturb the bottom enough to disturb buried or imbedded archaeological resources. Similarly, anchors placed by divers on the seafloor or deployed in a controlled manner by vessels would not dig or plow along the bottom and disturb cultural resources. Therefore, as stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, training activities using in-water devices would be unlikely to impact cultural resources.

#### Impacts from In-Water Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed testing activities involving the use of in-water devices would increase compared to those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Table 3.0-13). As described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the testing activities in the Offshore Area would include activities where in-water devices would contact bottom substrates, such as with certain types of unmanned underwater vehicles in the Quinault Range Site at Pacific Beach in the tidal zone. This portion of the Study Area is a high-energy environment with sandy bottom/beach where intact cultural resources are unlikely to exist, and known cultural resources would be avoided. Testing activities in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area would also include activities using in-water devices that contact bottom substrates. For the same reasons as listed for training activities, impacts from in-water devices are not anticipated.

Testing activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. In spite of these increases, and as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, these in-water device activities remain unlikely to impact cultural resources. For the same reasons as listed under the analysis for training activities, testing activities using in-water devices, in the Study Area would not impact cultural resources.

# 3.10.2.2.1.2 Impacts from In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2

#### Impacts from In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, training activities with in-water devices would not increase significantly in the Offshore Area or Inland Waters compared to Alternative 1. Therefore, the analysis for Alternative 2 would be the same as under Alternative 1.

#### Impacts from In-Water Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Testing activities under Alternative 2 that include in-water devices in the Study Area would not increase significantly in the Offshore Area or Inland Waters compared to Alternative 1. Therefore, impacts on cultural resources from testing activities under Alternative 2 would be the same as described under Alternative 1.

#### 3.10.2.2.1.3 Impacts from In-Water Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors from in-water devices associated with the Proposed Action would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts on submerged cultural resources.

#### 3.10.2.2.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials

Military expended materials that could impact cultural resources include heavy inert practice munitions (Table 3.0-14), other military materials (Table 3.0-15), explosive munitions that may result in fragments (Table 3.0-16), and targets (Table 3.0-17) that could strike or settle on shipwrecks, submerged aircraft, or other pre-historic or historic structures standing on the seafloor.

# 3.10.2.2.2.1 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. The majority of military training items would be expended in the open ocean, where the deposition of military expended materials would occur and where shipwrecks and other cultural resources would less commonly be found. Areas in the Inland Waters where military expended materials would settle to the seafloor are the same areas where they have settled in the past.

There would be no impact of military expended materials on cultural resources under Alternative 1 because: (1) most anticipated expended munitions would be small objects and fragments that would slowly drift to the seafloor after striking the ocean surface, (2) expended materials would not alter the archaeological or cultural characteristics of the submerged cultural resource if they should sink on the resource itself or in the vicinity, and (3) it is unlikely these materials would come into contact with or remain on submerged cultural resource. Therefore, activities involving military expended materials are not expected to impact submerged cultural resources.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. As described under training activities for military expended materials, the majority would be expended in open oceans where shipwrecks and other cultural resources are less commonly found and where the likelihood these materials permanently come to rest on or near these resources is low. For the same reasons as stated in the analysis for military expended materials and impacts on cultural resources under training activities, there would be no impact on submerged cultural resources as a result of Alternative 1.

# 3.10.2.2.2.2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on cultural resources would be the same as described under training activities for Alternative 1, and activities involving military expended materials would have no impact on submerged cultural resources.

#### Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Compared to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS numbers, the single category of stationary sub-surface targets is proposed to increase from 5,422 to 7,317 in the Inland Waters and from 7 to 3,335 in the Offshore Area (Table 3.0-17). These targets are typically recovered and, while they are appropriately included in the military expended materials category, pose limited risk of physical disturbance and strike to cultural resources, as known cultural resources are avoided during testing activities. There is an increase in all of the other military expended materials except for mine shapes (non-explosive and recovered) in the Inland Waters, which decrease from 12,982 to 5,266. Therefore, activities involving military expended materials are not expected to impact submerged cultural resources.

#### 3.10.2.2.2.3 Impacts from Military Expended Materials Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed testing and training activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors from military expended materials associated with the Proposed Action would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts on submerged cultural resources.

#### 3.10.2.2.3 Impacts from Seafloor Devices

Several training and testing activities include the use of seafloor devices—items that may contact the ocean bottom temporarily. The activities and the specific seafloor devices are (1) precision anchoring training, where ship anchors are lowered to the seafloor and recovered; (2) EOD mine countermeasures training exercises, where some mine targets may be moored to the seafloor; and (3) various testing activities where anchors are placed on the seafloor to hold instrumentation in place.

# 3.10.2.2.3.1 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

No training activities with seafloor devices are proposed in the Offshore Area under Alternative 1 (see Table 3.0-18), therefore having no impact on cultural resources in the Offshore Area. Under Alternative 1, the number of training activities that include the use of ship anchors (as seafloor devices) would increase from 10 to 40, in the Inland Waters as part of the Precision Anchoring exercise. The activity consists of a vessel navigating to a precise, pre-determined location and releasing the ship's anchor to the bottom (see Figure 3.10-2). The ship anchor is later recovered and the activity is complete. These training events would not impact cultural resources because the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions, especially when anchoring ships. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of seafloor devices such as heavy ship anchors on cultural resources could be damaging; however, impacts are unlikely because seafloor devices are stationary or move slowly across the bottom (in the case of crawlers), and have a selection criterion for precision anchoring to purposefully avoid shipwrecks, obstructions, and other cultural resources. Mine Neutralization EOD Training activities would remain at the same location and event amount (13) under Alternative 1 as discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. These events would occur in designated and wellestablished EOD Training Ranges where no cultural resources have been identified. It is unlikely that these resources could be disturbed by the use of seafloor devices. Therefore, activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to impact submerged cultural resources.

#### Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of testing activities that include the use of seafloor devices would decrease by approximately 20 percent in the Offshore Area for anchors to secure mine shapes, and increase in the Inland Waters from 433 to 512 for anchors (as shown in Table 3.0-18). The majority of the activities involve the temporary placement of anchors on the seafloor. When the test is completed, the anchors are recovered, again at a slow speed. The testing activities in the Western Behm Canal would include activities where seafloor devices would contact bottom substrates. Heavy ship anchors could still damage resources, however, these testing events would not impact cultural resources because the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions, especially when anchoring ships. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the impact of seafloor devices on cultural resources would be unlikely because (1) seafloor devices are either stationary or move slowly along the bottom, causing little or no disturbance of seafloor sediments which may have the potential to contain cultural resources; and (2) the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions, which include submerged historic resources. Mine shapes would not impact cultural resources for the same reasons as discussed under training: that the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions, and that mine activities would only occur in designated and well-established EOD Training Ranges where no cultural resources have been identified. Therefore, it is unlikely that these resources could be disturbed by the use of seafloor devices. Activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to impact submerged cultural resources.

# 3.10.2.2.3.2 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of training activities that include the use of seafloor devices would be the same as described under Alternative 1 for Precision Anchoring in the Inland Waters. However, mine shape use would increase from 13 to 21 under Alternative 2. For the same reasons as stated under training activities under Alternative 1 for seafloor devices, activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to impact submerged cultural resources because (1) seafloor devices are either stationary or move very slowly along the bottom, causing little or no disturbance of seafloor sediments which may have the potential to contain cultural resources; and (2) the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions which include submerged cultural resources. Mine shapes would not impact cultural resources for the same reasons as discussed under training: that the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions, and that mine activities would only occur in designated and well-established EOD Training Ranges where no cultural resources have been identified. Therefore, it is unlikely that these resources could be disturbed by the use of seafloor devices. For these reasons, training activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to impact submerged cultural resources.

#### Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of testing activities that include the use of seafloor devices would be greater than the number described under Alternative 1. Anchoring would be at 536 activities compared to 512 in the Inland Waters, and 71 rather than 70 in the Offshore Area under Alternative 2. Mine use would increase from 54 to 55 activities in the Offshore Area, from 454 to 478 activities in the Inland Waters, and remain the same in the Western Behm Canal. The majority of the activities involve the temporary placement of anchors on the seafloor. These anchors travel through the water column before encountering the seafloor. Although these anchors could be traveling slowly, reducing risk to cultural resources, heavy anchors could still damage resources. Mine shapes would not impact cultural resources for the same reasons as discussed under training: that the military routinely avoids locations of known obstructions, and that mine activities would only occur in designated and well-established EOD Training Ranges where no cultural resources have been identified. Due to the nature of the testing activities and for the reasons stated in the training activities analysis for seafloor device impacts on cultural resources, testing activities involving seafloor devices are not expected to impact submerged cultural resources.

#### 3.10.2.2.3.3 Impacts from Seafloor Devices Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors from seafloor devices associated with the Proposed Action would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts on submerged cultural resources.

#### 3.10.2.3 Acoustic

The Noise Study (see Appendix J, Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) concluded that the noise exposure within the Olympic MOAs and W-237 is within the Department of Defense's (DoD's) Noise Zone 1, with Day Night Average Sound Levels below 65 A-weighted decibels

(dBA) for the entire area studied. A flyover event at 14,000–15,000 ft. Mean Sea Level (MSL) would be detectable at about 69 dBA at the highest peaks and ridgelines along the flight transit routes between NAS Whidbey Island and the Olympic MOAs (ground elevations of about 4,500–8,000 feet) (see Table 4-7 of Appendix J, Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas). Flyover event noise levels would be lower at locations below the highest peaks and ridgelines. At ground level (ground elevations of about 300 ft. to 3,500 ft.) MSL the flyover noise levels along transit routes would be about 57 dBA. Small portions of the land area underlying the Olympic MOAs, at elevations above 4,000 ft. MSL (less than 1 percent of the total area), could be exposed to maximum noise levels of 101 dBA if an EA-18G flies directly overhead at their lowest operating altitude. This exposure level would be incredibly brief as the aircraft would be traveling at high speeds. However, this maximum noise level is unlikely to occur since the highest altitudes in the MOAs occur within and near the boundary offset, and most of these noise-generating training activities occur within the interior of the MOAs and W-237, not at the boundaries. These training activities generally occur in the interior of the MOAs and W-237 to reduce the likelihood of exceeding the limits of these designated airspaces and to avoid spilling out of the airspace boundaries. Since the noise exposure within the Olympic MOAs and W-237 is within the DoD's Noise Zone 1, on-land historic properties are not analyzed further, and there would be no significant impact on cultural resources from noise in the Olympic MOAs.

## 3.10.2.4 Limiting Access/Temporary Change of Use

Limits to access and temporary changes of use in the Study Area are discussed in Section 3.11 (American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources); please see Section 3.11.2 (Environmental Consequences) for the analysis and conclusions.

#### 3.10.2.5 Visual and Atmospheric

Visual and atmospheric stressors would result from observation of aircraft, their lights, and condensation trails (aka contrails), which are a visual representation of atmospheric changes. Continuing aircraft flights within the altitude restrictions of established air space, however, may result in minimal and temporary changes to a visual setting on the ground but unlikely to result in more-than-de-minimis visual intrusions or unwanted aesthetic impacts. This limits the extent to which a visual impact from the observation of aircraft would be experienced at a cultural resource location. Contrails may readily evaporate but do mark the temporary presence of aircraft, albeit nonintrusive due to altitude and distance, especially when the presence of contrails from private and commercial aircraft are taken into consideration. Due to the altitude of the aircraft, only minimal and temporary impacts would occur as a result of visual and atmospheric stressors to cultural resources.

# **REFERENCES**

- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. (2011). *Shipwrecks off Alaska's Coast*. Retrieved from https://www.boem.gov/About-BOEM/BOEM-Regions/Alaska-Region/Ships/Index.aspx.
- Galasso, G. (2017). *Shipwrecks. Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary.* Retrieved from https://olympiccoast.noaa.gov/living/historyandculture/shipwrecks/shipwrecks.html.
- Grant, D., C. Denfeld, and R. Schalk. (1996). U.S. Navy Shipwrecks and Submerged Naval Aircraft in Washington: An Overview. Olympia, WA: Office of Archaeology and Historic Preservation.
- ICF International, Davis Geoarchaeological Research, and Southeastern Archaeological Research. (2013). Inventory and Analysis of Coastal and Submerged Archaeological Site Occurrence on the Pacific Outer Continental Shelf. Camarillo, CA: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Pacific OCS Region.
- Monteleone, K. (2013). *Lost Worlds: Locating Submerged Archaeological Sites in Southeast Alaska.* (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). The University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM. Retrieved from https://repository.unm.edu/handle/1928/23141.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. (1993). *Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Final Environmental Impact Statement/Management Plan*. Washington, DC: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Sanctuaries and Reserves Division.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. (2017). *National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Automated Wreck and Obstruction Information System*. Retrieved from https://www.nauticalcharts.noaa.gov/hsd/wrecks\_and\_obstructions.html.
- National Park Service. (2017). Search the NR 2013 2016 Weekly Lists. National Register of Historic Places Program. Retrieved from https://www.nps.gov/nr/feature/places/weeklylistsearch.html?Property\_Name=&MPS\_Name= &refnum=&Areas\_of\_Significance=Puget+Sound&address=&Town=&County=&State=-1&zoom\_query=&zoom\_sort=0.
- Stilson, M. L., D. Meatte, and R. G. Whitlam. (2003). A Field Guide to Washington Archaeology. Olympia, WA: Washington State Department of Transportation, Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission, Office of Archaeology and Historic Preservation and Dalles, OR: Columbia Gorge Discovery Center and Goldendale, WA: MaryHill Museum of Art and Bainbridge Island, WA: Western Shore Heritage Services.
- U.S. Department of the Interior. (2016). *Olympic National Park, Washington; History and Culture*. Retrieved from https://www.nps.gov/olym/learn/historyculture/index.htm.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2010). Naval Sea Systems Command Naval Undersea Warfare Center Keyport Range Complex Extension Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement. Silverdale, WA: U.S. Department of the Navy.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2015). *Northwest Training and Testing Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement, Final*. Pearl Harbor, HI: U.S. Pacific Fleet.

This page intentionally left blank.

# 3.11 American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

# **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

# Northwest Training and Testing

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

3.11	American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources		
	3.11.1 Affected Environment		
	3.11.1.1	Government-to-Government Consultation	
	3.11.1.2	American Indian and Alaska Native Tribes	
	3.11.1.3	Tribal Fishing Areas and Use3.11-9	
	3.11.2 Environmental Consequences		
3.11.2.1 Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Tra		Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas	
	3.11.2.2	Changes in the Availability of Marine Resources or Habitat	
	3.11.2.3	Loss of Fishing Gear	

# **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this section.

# **List of Tables**

Table 3.11-1: Offshore Area – Updates for American Indian Tribes and Traditional Resources........3.11-3

This page intentionally left blank.

# 3.11 American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources

### 3.11.1 Affected Environment

For purposes of this Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (OEIS) (Supplemental), the Study Area for American Indian and Alaska Native traditional resources remains the same as that identified in the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final EIS/OEIS. As presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, there are 56 federally recognized Tribes and Nations (hereinafter referred to as Tribes) with traditional resources (e.g., plants, animals, usual and accustomed [U&A] fishing grounds) in the Study Area. The Study Area is divided into three distinct regions for American Indian and Alaska Native traditional resources evaluation: the Offshore Area; the Inland Waters; and Western Behm Canal, Alaska. Several types of traditional resources are present in the Study Area, including various plants and animals as well as Tribal marine resource gathering areas (e.g., traditional fishing areas; whaling areas; and seaweed-, mussel-, abalone-, and clam-gathering grounds). These traditional resources include off-reservation treaty U&A fishing grounds, some of which extend beyond 12 nautical miles (NM).

Protected tribal resources, as defined in Department of Defense Instruction 4710.02, *DoD Interactions with Federally Recognized Tribes* (U.S. Department of Defense, 2018), are "those natural resources and properties of traditional or customary religious or cultural importance, either on or off Indian lands, retained by or reserved by or for Indian tribes through treaties, statutes, judicial decisions, or E.O.s [Executive Orders], including Tribal trust resources." Tribal trust resources are Indian lands or treaty rights to certain resources. These resources include plants, animals, and locations associated with hunting, fishing, and gathering activities for subsistence or ceremonial use. For the purposes of this section, the term "traditional resources" will be used to encompass protected tribal resources.

The connection between native peoples and tribal resources varies between individuals, cultures, and the unique interactions they have with the plants, animals, waters, and earth they encounter during their life journey. This connection holds another layer of complexity when considering what information and stories are passed down from previous generations of tribal members. A Statement from the Hopland Band of Pomo Indians, California was shared as part of the 'Intertribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council et al v. National Marine Fisheries Service et al.' case filed January 26, 2012 (Intertribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council, 2012). The statement describes cultural traditions that are vital to the traditions, physical health, and spiritual health shared by many Tribes along the Pacific coastline.

American Indian and Alaska Native historic properties (i.e., cultural resources eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under the National Historic Preservation Act) are discussed in Section 3.10 (Cultural Resources).

#### 3.11.1.1 Government-to-Government Consultation

The United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy (Navy) will continue government-to-government communications with several tribes in Washington, California, and Alaska in accordance with Executive Order 13175, *Consultation and Coordination with Indian Tribal Governments*, and Navy consultation policies as needed. It is Navy policy to establish permanent government-to-government working relationships with tribal governments that are built upon respect, trust, and openness. Under these policies, the Navy is required to consider tribal comments and concerns prior to making a final decision on a proposed action. However, reaching formal agreement with a tribe or obtaining tribal approval prior to a final decision is not required.

During the preparation of the 2015 NWTT Draft EIS/OEIS, the Navy consulted with federally recognized Tribes. On February 7, 2018, the Navy invited 56 federally recognized Tribes to consider initiating government-to-government consultation for the Proposed Action in this Supplemental (see Section 3.11.1.1, Government-to-Government Consultation). Tribes and their concerns regarding the Navy's training and testing activities are summarized below.

Certain Tribes in the Puget Sound region have expressed concerns regarding the potential of Navy training and testing activities to impede access to adjudicated treaty U&A fishing grounds and stations as well as concerns regarding the potential for Maritime Security Operations to damage tribal fishing gear. The Navy continues to communicate with the Jamestown S'Klallam Tribe, Lower Elwha Tribal Community, Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribe, Skokomish Indian Tribe, Upper Skagit, and Suquamish Indian Tribe of the Port Madison Reservation regarding these concerns and improving on-water vessel coordination in order to eliminate or minimize potential impacts to tribal fishing in these co-use marine waterways. Also, the Navy continues to communicate with potentially affected tribes for activities conducted in Crescent Harbor.

Since 2015, the Navy has engaged in government-to-government consultation with the Intertribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council, representing the Cahto Tribe of Laytonville Rancheria; Coyote Valley Band of Pomo Indians of California; Hopland Band of Pomo Indians; Pinoleville Pomo Nation, California; Potter Valley Tribe, California; Redwood Valley Little River Band of Pomo Indians; Round Valley Indian Tribes, Round Valley Reservation, California; Scotts Valley Band of Pomo Indians of California; and Sherwood Valley Rancheria of Pomo Indians of California regarding potential impacts to traditional resources in the marine environment to address the Tribes' resistance to Navy training and testing activities within the Study Area.

Based on Navy policies for tribal consultation, the Navy protects culturally sensitive information identified by Tribes, as well as government-to-government consultation information, from public disclosure; consultation documents are maintained in the Navy's administrative record and are not included as an attachment to this document. However, comments submitted by Tribes and Tribal organizations during the public comment period and Navy's response to comments, which are separate and distinct from government-to-government consultations, will be provided in Chapter 8 (Public Involvement and Distribution).

#### 3.11.1.2 American Indian and Alaska Native Tribes

#### 3.11.1.2.1 Offshore Area

As discussed in Section 3.11.1.4 (Federal Trust Responsibility and Federally Secured Off-Reservation Fishing Rights) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, 18 federally recognized Tribes are currently or historically associated with the Offshore Area. The Navy has received updated information from 10 of these Tribes and the InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council as shown in Table 3.11-1 and has considered this information in this analysis. Each of the 10 Tribes is a member of the InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council that is comprised of 10 federally recognized North Coast Tribes in California. The Council is a non-profit land conservation consortium that owns and manages 4,000 acres of redwood forestland (InterTribal Wilderness land) along the Lost Coast north of Fort Bragg, California. Please see profile regarding InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council.

# Table 3.11-1: Offshore Area – Updates for American Indian Tribes and Traditional Resources

Resource Type	Tribe	Brief Profile*
Traditional Resources	Cahto Tribe of the Laytonville Rancheria	The name Cahto (Kato) means loosely "People of the Lake" or "Lake People," and refers to an ancient lakeshore where the Cahto people once lived, although we, the inhabitants of the six villages of the Long Valley, called ourselves the Tlokyáhan or "Grass People." Our homeland is comprised of mountains and hills covered with fir, pine, oak and redwoods and is veined with streams. A nearby 4,213-foot-high mountain summit is named Cahto peak in our honor. Besides gathering the plentiful nuts, seeds, berries, roots, bulbs, and tubers, we hunted for deer, rabbits, quail, and fish to provide additional food for our people. We traveled within our traditional homeland to where the food was plentiful, and to the Mendocino coast to harvest seaweed and fish. Today, once a year the Cahto retrace their migrations to the coast using sacred trails in remembrance of the ancient tradition.
Traditional Resources	Coyote Valley Band of Pomo Indians of California	The Coyote Valley Band of Pomo Indians live on the Coyote Valley Reservation located in Redwood Valley, California. Traditionally, subsistence is based on acorns, nuts, seeds, root plants, deer, elk, antelope, seal, sea lion, and lake, stream, and sea-going fish (Bean & Theodoratus, 1978; McLendon & Lowy, 1978). The Tribe still practices their traditional songs, dances and spiritual ways. Currently, the economy is based on gaming, hotel, convenience store, and gas station (Tiller, 2005).
Traditional Resources	Hopland Band of Pomo Indians, California	The Hopland Band of the Pomo Indians resides in northwestern California south of Ukiah. Traditional territory includes Humboldt County to San Pablo Bay; fishing and gathering trips to the Pacific Ocean were seasonally based. Traditionally, subsistence was based on acorns, nuts, seeds, root plants, deer, elk, antelope, seal, sea lion, and lake, stream, and ocean fish (Bean & Theodoratus, 1978; McLendon & Lowy, 1978). Currently, the economy is based on agriculture, commercial development, and gaming (Tiller, 2005).
Traditional Resources	Pinoleville Pomo Nation, California	The Pinoleville Pomo Nation resides in northern California in Mendocino and Lake Counties (Tiller, 2005). Traditionally, subsistence was based on acorns, nuts, seeds, root plants, deer, elk, antelope. seal, sea lion, and lake, stream, and sea-going fish (Bean & Theodoratus, 1978; McLendon & Lowy, 1978). Currently, the economy is based on agriculture.

# Table 3.11-1: Offshore Area – Updates for American Indian Tribes and Traditional Resources (continued)

Resource Type	Tribe	Brief Profile*
Traditional Resources	Potter Valley Tribe, California	The Potter Valley Tribe resides in northern California northeast of Ukiah and Tribal members are of the Little Lake Pomo Band (Tiller, 2005). Traditionally, subsistence was based on acorns, nuts, seeds, root plants, deer, elk, antelope, seal, sea lion, and lake, stream, and ocean fish (Bean & Theodoratus, 1978; McLendon & Oswalt, 1978). Currently, the economy is based on commercial development.
Traditional Resources	Redwood Valley Little River Band of Pomo Indians	The Redwood Valley Little River Band of Pomo Indians resides northeast of Redwood Valley in Mendocino County along the northeastern side of the Russian River valley. Members of the Redwood Valley Little River Band of Pomo Indians belong to the Northern Pomo (Tiller, 2005). Traditionally, subsistence was based on acorns, nuts, seeds, root plants, deer, elk, antelope, seal, sea lion, and lake, stream, and ocean fish (Bean & Theodoratus, 1978; McLendon & Oswalt, 1978).
Traditional Resources	Robinson Rancheria of Pomo Indians	The Robinson Rancheria of Pomo Indians is located northwest of Sacramento, California. Traditionally, subsistence was based on acorns, nuts, seeds, root plants, waterfowl, and lake and stream fish such as suckers, pike, and carp (McLendon & Lowy, 1978; McLendon & Oswalt, 1978). Currently, the economy is based on commercial development, gaming and tourism (Tiller, 2005).
Traditional Resources	Round Valley Indian Tribes Round Valley Reservation	The Round Valley Indian Tribes reside on the Round Valley Reservation located in the northeastern portion of Mendocino County, California. The greater area was the aboriginal traditional territory of the Yuki Tribe, until 1858 when the Round Valley Reservation was established with the establishment of the Nome Cult Farm. Now the reservation is home to the Yuki, Concow, Pomo, Nomlacki, Wailacki, and Pit River Indians. The tribal territory reached from the mountains around the valley to the coast. Traditionally foods as well as medicinal and personal needs remained to be gathered from this vast area. Subsistence came from gathering from trees, roots, grasses, brush and most other plant life (Seeds, berries, nuts, leaves, stems, and roots were utilized); large and small game; vertebrates and invertebrates (i.e., deer, elk, birds, surf fish, shellfish, eel, salmon, steelhead, otter, etc.) were harvested from the waterways in and around the tribal territory.

# Table 3.11-1: Offshore Area – Updates for American Indian Tribes and Traditional Resources (continued)

Resource Type	Tribe	Brief Profile*
Traditional Resources	Scotts Valley Band of Pomo Indians of California	The Scotts Valley Band of Pomo Indians resides on the Sugar Bowl Rancheria in northern California (Tiller, 2005). Traditionally, subsistence was based on acorns, nuts, seeds, root plants, deer, elk, antelope, seal, sea lion, and lake, stream, and sea-going fish (Bean & Theodoratus, 1978; McLendon & Oswalt, 1978).
Traditional Resources	Sherwood Valley Rancheria of Pomo Indians of California	Sherwood Valley Rancheria is located within aboriginal homelands we have used and occupied since time immemorial. Our homeland extends from approximately the Highway 101 corridor, through the Redwood Forests on to the Coast. As the original stewards of this land we retain original usufructuary rights to protect the land, air, water, and food sources upon our homeland. We have freely gathered coastal resources since time immemorial, and protection of the aboriginal food sources and traditional gathering places is a fundamental human right. Sherwood Valley Rancheria was established under Secretarial Order in 1909. Sherwood Valley is the successor in interest to ownership of the Mendocino Indian Reservation, established by Act of Congress on March 3, 1853. Sherwood Valley Rancheria is governed under a Constitution and Bylaws duly adopted and approved by the Secretary of the Interior on July 25, 1974. The Sherwood Valley Rancheria Tribal Council, as representatives of individual tribal members, strives to promote and perpetuate the protection of natural resources for future generations.

# Table 3.11-1: Offshore Area – Updates for American Indian Tribes and Traditional Resources (continued)

Resource Type	Tribe	Brief Profile*
Traditional Resources	InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council is a consortium comprised of the following federally recognized Tribes: - Cahto Tribe of Laytonville Rancheria - Coyote Valley Band of Pomo Indians - Hopland Band of Pomo Indians - Redwood Valley Little River Band of Pomo Indians - Pinoleville Pomo Nation - Potter Valley Tribe - Robinson Rancheria of Pomo Indians - Round Valley Indian Tribes - Scotts Valley Band of Pomo Indians - Sherwood Valley Rancheria of Pomo	The InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council is a non-profit consortium of 10 sovereign Tribal Nations whose duty is to protect culturally important traditional lands and waters of its member Tribes. Established in 1986, the Sinkyone Council is charged with safeguarding the coastal rainforest and ocean ecosystems on which its member Tribes depend for their cultural ways of life, traditional foods, wellbeing, and identity. It owns and manages 4,000 acres of redwood rainforest in northwestern Mendocino County, California that includes portions of nine coastal watersheds. InterTribal Sinkyone lands are situated within California's Coastal Zone. The Study Area encompasses marine waters situated within the traditional territories of several west coast Tribal Nations. The Sinkyone Council's 10 member Tribes each retain important cultural, ancestral, historic, and contemporary ties to ocean and coastal areas within the Navy's Study Area, specifically the portion of traditional Sinkyone Tribal territorial marine waters, (and adjacent) estuarine waters and coastal environments that are situated between the Mendocino-Humboldt county line and the mouth of the Mattole River. An abundance of extant oral and written evidence substantiates the Tribes' assertions of historical, current and ongoing coastal and maritime cultural uses and ways of life including traditional gathering, fishing, harvesting, ceremonial and other practices within and adjacent to marine waters situated within the Study Area. These areas have been a part of the Tribes' traditional territories for millennia. This area of the Study Area is located within the documented and acknowledged geographical boundaries of traditional Sinkyone Cribel territory held and controlled by the original Sinkyone coastal peoples from which enrolled members of the Council's member Tribes are directly descended.
	<ul> <li>Hopland Band of Pomo Indians</li> <li>Redwood Valley Little River Band of Pomo Indians</li> <li>Pinoleville Pomo Nation</li> <li>Potter Valley Tribe</li> <li>Robinson Rancheria of Pomo Indians</li> <li>Round Valley Indian Tribes</li> <li>Scotts Valley Band of Pomo Indians</li> <li>Sherwood Valley Rancheria of Pomo Indians</li> </ul>	specifically the portion of traditional Sinkyone Tribal territorial marine wa (and adjacent) estuarine waters and coastal environments that are situate between the Mendocino-Humboldt county line and the mouth of the Mat River. An abundance of extant oral and written evidence substantiates the Tribe assertions of historical, current and ongoing coastal and maritime cultural uses and ways of life including traditional gathering, fishing, harvesting, ceremonial and other practices within and adjacent to marine waters situ within the Study Area. These areas have been a part of the Tribes' tradition territories for millennia. This area of the Study Area is located within the documented and acknowledged geographical boundaries of traditional Sinkyone Tribal territory held and controlled by the original Sinkyone coas peoples from which enrolled members of the Council's member Tribes are directly descended.

\*The Navy met with the InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council and received these updates in 2018 and 2019. These profiles are direct quotes from the tables received by the Navy (InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council, 2018) and (InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council, 2019). Each of the 10 Tribes is a member of the InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council that is comprised of 10 federally recognized North Coast Tribes in California. The Council is a non-profit land conservation consortium that owns and manages 4,000 acres of redwood forestland (InterTribal Wilderness land) along the Lost Coast north of Fort Bragg, California. Four Tribes, listed below, have off-reservation Treaty U&A fishing grounds in co-use navigable water areas in Washington where the Navy conducts training and testing in the Offshore Area:

- Hoh Indian Tribe
- Makah Indian Tribe of the Makah Reservation
- Quileute Tribe of the Quileute Reservation
- Quinault Indian Nation

The following 14 Washington, Oregon, and California federally recognized Tribes have traditional resources (e.g., migratory fish species, specifically salmon, that migrate upstream into the inland waters) in co-use navigable water areas where the Navy conducts training and testing activities in the Offshore Area:

- Big Lagoon Rancheria, California
- Cher-Ae Heights Indian Community of the Trinidad Rancheria, California
- Confederated Tribes of Coos, Lower Umpqua and Siuslaw Indians, Oregon
- Confederated Tribes of Grand Ronde Community of Oregon, Oregon
- Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians of Oregon, Oregon
- Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation, Washington
- Coquille Indian Tribe, Oregon
- Cowlitz Indian Tribe, Washington
- Elk Valley Rancheria, California
- Resighini Rancheria, California
- Shoalwater Bay Indian Tribe of the Shoalwater Bay Indian Reservation, Washington
- Tolowa Dee-ni' Nation, California (listed as Smith River Rancheria in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS)
- Wiyot Tribe (formerly the Table Bluff Rancheria), California
- Yurok Tribe of the Yurok Reservation, California

Also, 15 federally recognized Tribes with traditional use areas inland of the Oregon and California coast may have traditional resource habitat in the Offshore Area; these migratory marine resources (e.g., salmon, steelhead, lamprey eel, and sturgeon) travel the rivers upstream into the Tribes' traditional territories and are part of the local subsistence and ceremonial activities of the Tribes:

- Cahto Tribe of the Laytonville Rancheria, California
- Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation, Oregon
- Cow Creek Band of Umpqua Tribe of Indians, Oregon
- Coyote Valley Band of Pomo Indians of California, California
- Hoopa Valley Tribe, California
- Hopland Band of Pomo Indians, California
- Karuk Tribe, California
- Klamath Tribes, California
- Pinoleville Pomo Nation, California
- Potter Valley Tribe, California
- Redwood Valley Little River Band of Pomo Indians
- Robinson Rancheria, California
- Round Valley Indian Tribes, Round Valley Reservation, California

- Scotts Valley Band of Pomo Indians of California
- Sherwood Valley Rancheria of Pomo Indians of California

The traditional use areas and resources for these Tribes as discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS have not changed.

#### 3.11.1.2.2 Inland Waters

Twenty federally recognized Tribes are currently or were historically associated with the Inland Waters. In Washington, these 20 Tribes have federally secured off-reservation Treaty U&A fishing rights in co-use navigable waters where the Navy conducts training and testing in the Inland Waters:

- Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Nation
- Jamestown S'Klallam Tribe
- Lower Elwha Tribal Community
- Lummi Tribe of the Lummi Reservation
- Makah Indian Tribe of the Makah Reservation
- Muckleshoot Indian Tribe
- Nisqually Indian Tribe
- Nooksack Indian Tribe
- Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribe
- Puyallup Tribe of the Puyallup Reservation
- Samish Indian Nation
- Sauk-Suiattle Indian Tribe
- Skokomish Indian Tribe
- Snoqualmie Indian Tribe
- Squaxin Island Tribe of the Squaxin Island Reservation
- Stillaguamish Tribe of Indians of Washington
- Suquamish Indian Tribe of the Port Madison Reservation
- Swinomish Indian Tribal Community
- Tulalip Tribes of Washington
- Upper Skagit Indian Tribe

There is no new or updated information, since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, regarding the traditional use areas and resources for these Tribes as discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 3.11.1.2.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

Four federally recognized Alaska Native Tribes are currently or historically associated with the Western Behm Canal in co-use navigable waters where the Navy conducts testing:

- Central Council of the Tlingit and Haida Indian Tribes
- Ketchikan Indian Corporation
- Metlakatla Indian Community, Annette Island Reserve
- Organized Village of Saxman

The traditional use areas and resources for these Tribes as discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS have not changed.

#### 3.11.1.3 Tribal Fishing Areas and Use

As presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, many of the marine species found within the Study Area are culturally significant to the Tribes of coastal Washington, Oregon, California, and Alaska. Tribes harvest traditional resources for ceremonial and subsistence uses as well as for commercial enterprises (i.e., Tribal fisheries). Tribal fisheries are place-oriented and, in some cases, limited to the adjudicated U&A fishing grounds. For this reason, the availability and health of marine resources and supporting habitats is a concern for Tribes in the Study Area.

### 3.11.1.3.1 Offshore Area

The U&A fishing grounds for the Hoh Indian Tribe, Makah Indian Tribe of the Makah Reservation, Quileute Tribe of the Quileute Reservation, and the Quinault Indian Nation include Olympic Peninsula Rivers and watersheds, and offshore areas. These Tribes utilize the Northwest Indian Fisheries Commission (NWIFC), which provides technical support to Western Washington member tribes for intertribal fisheries management and harvest policy. Tribal U&A fishing grounds were established in offshore areas beyond U.S. territorial waters (greater than 12 NM), including within Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

In addition to tribes that have off-reservation Treaty U&A fishing grounds in co-use navigable waters, there are 14 Washington, Oregon, and California federally recognized Tribes that have traditional resources (e.g., migratory fish species, specifically salmon that migrate upstream into the inland waters) in co-use navigable waters (as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.11.2.1.1, Offshore Area). Also, there are 15 federally recognized Tribes with traditional use areas inland to the Oregon and California coast that may have traditional resource habitat in Offshore Areas associated with migratory marine resources (e.g. salmon, steelhead, lamprey eel, and sturgeon) (as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 3.11.2.1.1, Offshore Area).

#### 3.11.1.3.1.1 Salmon Fisheries

Commercial, ceremonial, and subsistence fishing for salmon in the Offshore Area as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS has not changed except as for variable changes in salmon population health.

#### 3.11.1.3.1.2 Groundfish Fisheries

Treaty rights to fish for groundfish in the Offshore Area are the same now as they were described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 3.11.1.3.1.3 Pacific Halibut Fisheries

Commercial, ceremonial, and subsistence fishing for Pacific halibut in the Offshore Area as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS has not changed.

#### 3.11.1.3.1.4 Shellfish Harvests

Along the Pacific coastal sandy beaches from the Columbia River to Kalaloch, federal management plans are signed each year between Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife and Tribal governments with razor clam harvest rights and substantial treaty harvest of Dungeness crab. Razor clam harvests are set and monitored within each of the five management beaches: Twin Harbors from Willapa Bay north to the south jetty at the mouth of Grays Harbor, Copalis Beach from the north jetty at the mouth of Grays Harbor to the Copalis River, Mocrocks from the Copalis River to the Moclips River (south boundary of the Quinault Indian Reservation), and Kalaloch from the South Beach campground to Olympic National Park Beach Trail 3 (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2006).

#### 3.11.1.3.2 Inland Waters

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, 20 American Indian Tribes have U&A fishing grounds (including the Strait of Juan de Fuca, Puget Sound, and inland rivers in the Inland Waters of the Study Area). These tribes include:

- Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Nation
- Jamestown S'Klallam Tribe
- Lower Elwha Tribal Community
- Lummi Tribe of the Lummi Reservation
- Makah Indian Tribe of the Makah Reservation
- Muckleshoot Indian Tribe
- Nisqually Indian Tribe
- Nooksack Indian Tribe
- Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribe
- Puyallup Tribe of the Puyallup Reservation
- Samish Indian Nation
- Sauk-Suiattle Indian Tribe
- Skokomish Indian Tribe
- Snoqualmie Indian Tribe
- Squaxin Island Tribe of the Squaxin Island Reservation
- Stillaguamish Tribe of Indians of Washington
- Suquamish Indian Tribe of the Port Madison Reservation
- Swinomish Indian Tribal Community
- Tulalip Tribes of Washington
- Upper Skagit Indian Tribe

The Western Washington Treaty Tribes created the NWIFC to coordinate fisheries management of these Tribes for implementation of orders arising from the 1974 *United States v. Washington* decision. As stated previously, this commission provides technical support to American Indian Tribes assisting in intertribal coordination on harvest policy. The Columbia River Treaty Tribes created the Columbia River Intertribal Fish Commission (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2015).

Since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Makah Tribal Council issued its "Makah Ocean Policy" (2017) to assist the Makah Tribal Government in asserting its sovereign authority to protect the Makah Tribe's culture and the continued exercise of its treaty-reserved rights. This policy includes, among other things, guiding principles, historical ocean use, and consultation procedures.

#### 3.11.1.3.2.1 Salmon Fisheries

As presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, each Tribe regulates its own fisheries, including allowable gear and locations individually within its U&A fishing grounds. Salmon fisheries are co-managed between the NWIFC, referenced above, and the State Department of Fish and Wildlife to establish harvest limits and timing of fisheries. A coordinated management approach is applied if these areas overlap the U&A fishing grounds of other Tribes. Commercial, ceremonial, and subsistence fishing for salmon in the Inland Waters has not changed from its description in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.
#### 3.11.1.3.2.2 Pacific Halibut Fisheries

Commercial, ceremonial, and subsistence fishing for Pacific halibut in the Inland Waters as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS has not changed.

#### 3.11.1.3.2.3 Shellfish Harvest

Commercial, ceremonial, and subsistence harvesting of shellfish in the Inland Waters as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS has not changed.

#### 3.11.1.3.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Western Behm Canal is within the Ketchikan Nonsubsistence Use Area, which precludes subsistence uses of resources in Western Behm Canal by both Alaska Native Tribes and non-native fishermen (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2015).

#### 3.11.2 Environmental Consequences

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS considered training and testing activities that were projected to occur between 2015 and 2020 in the Study Area and analyzed how associated stressors might impact Tribal traditional resources. Stressors applicable to Tribal traditional resources in the Study Area are the same stressors analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS:

- Impeding access to Tribal U&A fishing grounds or other traditional fishing areas in co-use navigable waters
- Changes to the availability of marine resources or habitat
- Loss or damage to Tribal fishing gear

This section evaluates how and to what degree potential impacts on Tribal traditional resources from stressors described in Section 3.0 (Introduction) may have changed since the analysis was completed for the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Proposed training and testing activities, the number of times each activity would be conducted annually, and the locations within the Study Area where the activity would typically occur under each alternative are presented in Table 2.5-1, Table 2.5-2, and Table 2.5-3 in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives). The tables also present the same information for activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS so that the proposed levels of training and testing under this supplement can be easily compared.

The analysis presented in this section also considers standard operating procedures described in Section 2.3.3 (Standard Operating Procedures), and mitigation measures described in Chapter 5 (Mitigation). The Navy would implement these measures to avoid potential impacts on Tribal traditional resources from stressors associated with the proposed training and testing activities.

The specific analysis of the training and testing activities presented in this section considers relevant components and associated data with the geographic location of the activity and Tribal traditional resources and incorporates analysis from applicable sections such as Section 3.9 (Fishes), Section 3.10 (Cultural Resources), and Section 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources). Training activities are not proposed in the Western Behm Canal; therefore, only the Offshore Area and the Inland Waters are analyzed under training activities.

#### 3.11.2.1 Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas

#### 3.11.2.1.1 Impacts from Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas

As stated in the Affected Environment section, the U&A fishing grounds in co-use navigable waters and the NWTT Study Area have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. U&A fishing grounds are located in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area and in portions of the Offshore Area located off the coast of Washington. No U&A fishing grounds exist in Western Behm Canal or portions of the Offshore Area located off the coasts of Oregon or California. Because traditional resources in the Western Behm Canal are not available for subsistence uses by Alaska Native Tribes, no impact on Alaska Native accessibility of traditional fishing areas would occur as a result of testing activities. Traditionally, some Oregon and California Tribes procured marine resources directly from coastal and nearshore areas (less than 12 NM). These traditional fishing and harvesting areas are outside the Study Area, and access to these areas would not be affected by the Proposed Action. This was the conclusion reached in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS; as the underlying facts have not changed, the Navy's conclusion remains valid for this SEIS/OEIS.

#### 3.11.2.1.1.1 Impacts from Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas Under Alternative 1

#### Impacts from Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed training activities in the Offshore Area and Inland Waters would change from the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-1). Given that the activities would be conducted in the same areas as described in the 2015 analysis, and that the number of training activities would not change significantly, the analysis and impact conclusions from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. Therefore, Navy training activities in the Offshore Area under Alternative 1 are not likely to impede access to U&A fishing grounds except in rare instances where a vessel attempts to enter an established safety zone during ongoing activities or if it approaches too close to a Navy vessel (33 CFR 165).

The exclusion zone for Explosive Ordnance Disposal training could temporarily impede Tribal access to portions of their U&A fishing grounds in the Inland Waters. However, the exclusion zones would be temporary (up to four hours per event) and infrequent (six times per year), and would affect a relatively small area in Hood Canal and Crescent Harbor. Navy training activities in Inland Waters under Alternative 1 could also temporarily impede Tribal access to portions of their U&A fishing grounds because of Maritime Security Operations, such as Transit Protection System training events. The Navy would communicate with potentially affected Tribes in advance to de-conflict schedules where possible. In addition, the U.S. Coast Guard (USCG) Maritime Force Protection Unit would provide notification of Transit Protection System events to Tribal Fisheries Enforcement Officers. Coastal Riverine Group One also provides notifications to Tribal Fisheries Enforcement Officers when they escort high-value units from NAVSTA Everett and Bremerton.

#### Impacts from Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed testing activities in the Offshore Area, Inland Waters, and Western Behm Canal would change from the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-2 and Table 2.5-3). Given that the activities would be conducted in the same areas as described in the 2015 analysis, and that the number of training activities would not change

significantly, the analysis and impact conclusions from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Navy normally has the ability to obtain a clear range for testing activities in the Offshore Area without asking other vessels to leave the area. Navy testing activities would not prevent the use of an area by fishing or other vessels, absent unusual circumstances. Navy testing activities in the Offshore Area under Alternative 1 are not likely to impede access to U&A fishing grounds except in rare instances where a vessel attempts to enter an established safety zone during ongoing activities or if it approaches too close to a Navy vessel.

Alternative 1 would include testing of explosive torpedoes. However, this activity would be conducted greater than 50 NM off the coast of Washington, outside of U&A fishing grounds. Testing events using aircraft in the Offshore Area under Alternative 1 would not affect access to U&A fishing grounds. As part of the consultation effort during preparation of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Navy engaged in consultation with Tribes that have U&A fishing grounds that overlap the Quinault Range Site to exchange range and fishing schedule information to de-conflict schedules where possible. This exchange of schedule information continues to occur.

Under Alternative 1, some new activities would occur in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area such as at-sea sonar testing with non-explosive torpedoes, non-explosive torpedo testing, mine countermeasure and neutralization, undersea warfare testing, and vessel signature evaluation (see Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3). When required to accomplish a test safely and efficiently, the Navy may restrict marine traffic and request the USCG to issue notices to mariners (NTMs). Restrictions placed on marine traffic during testing activities in Inland Waters under the Alternative 1 could temporarily impede Tribal access to portions of their U&A fishing grounds. Although these restrictions would temporarily impact U&A fishing grounds, information exchange between the Tribes and Navy currently helps to ensure schedules are de-conflicted where possible, and they will continue to coordinate to de-conflict schedules where possible.

The Western Behm Canal is within the Ketchikan Nonsubsistence Use Area (Alaska Department of Fish and Game, 2011), which precludes subsistence uses of resources in the Western Behm Canal by both Alaska Native and non-Native fishermen. Because traditional resources in the Western Behm Canal are not available for subsistence uses by Alaska Native Tribes, no impact on Alaska Native accessibility of traditional fishing areas would occur as a result of testing activities.

#### 3.11.2.1.1.2 Impacts from Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas Under Alternative 2

#### Impacts from Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed training activities in the Offshore Area and Inland Waters would change from the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-1), and in some cases vary slightly from the number of activities proposed under Alternative 1. Given that the activities would be conducted in the same areas as described in the 2015 analysis, and that the number of training activities would not change significantly, the analysis and impact conclusions from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. Therefore, Navy training activities in the Offshore Area under Alternative 2 are not likely to impede access to U&A fishing grounds except in rare instances where a vessel attempts to enter an established safety zone during ongoing activities or if it approaches too close to a Navy vessel (33 CFR 165).

Impacts on U&A access in the Inland Waters as a result of the training activities under Alternative 2 would be the same as described under Alternative 1.

### Impacts from Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed testing activities in the Offshore Area, Inland Waters, and Western Behm Canal would change from the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-2 and Table 2.5-3), but would not change from the number of activities proposed under Alternative 1. Given that the activities would be conducted in the same areas as described in the 2015 analysis, and that the number of training activities would not change significantly, the analysis and impact conclusions from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid.

Impacts on U&A access in the Offshore Area, Inland Waters, and Western Behm Canal as a result of testing activities under Alternative 2 would be the same as described under Alternative 1.

# 3.11.2.1.1.3 Impacts from Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the Navy would not conduct proposed at-sea training and testing activities in the Study Area. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Impeding access to U&A fishing grounds or traditional fishing areas by Navy training and testing activities would not occur in the Offshore Area, Inland Waters, or Western Behm Canal. Therefore, existing U&A fishing grounds or traditional fishing area access would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing at-sea training and testing activities.

# 3.11.2.2 Changes in the Availability of Marine Resources or Habitat

#### 3.11.2.2.1 Impacts from Changes in the Availability of Marine Resources or Habitat

As described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the availability and health of marine resources is a concern for Tribes with U&A fishing grounds in the Study Area, as well as those with U&A fishing grounds in inland areas outside the Study Area. In many cases, the main traditional resources harvested in these inland U&A fishing grounds are species such as shellfish, salmon, steelhead, or sturgeon that complete a portion of their life-cycle in marine environments. The availability of harvested traditional resource species could be affected if training and testing activities resulted in the following issues:

- A measurable reduction in a population or stock caused by direct impacts such as mortality or indirect impacts on water quality and habitat.
- Bioaccumulation of contaminates to levels where fish or shellfish would be unhealthy to consume.
- Mobile species avoiding U&A fishing grounds or altering their migratory patterns in response to disturbances.

When resource population levels dip, it becomes more likely that the Tribal and state co-managers will close a fishery to harvest, reduce the duration of open seasons, or reduce the catch quota. Furthermore, when there are less fish, more effort and time must be expended to catch the same number of fish. Where fish populations are low, greater effort means more commercial fishermen may give up fishing as their main source of income.

# Impacts from Changes in the Availability of Marine Resources or Habitat Under Alternative 1, Alternative 2, and the No Action Alternative for Training and Testing

In this SEIS/OEIS, the Navy has analyzed potential impacts of Alternative 1, Alternative 2, and the No Action Alternative on resources harvested by Tribes and associated habitat in the following sections of this EIS/OEIS: 3.1 (Sediments and Water Quality), 3.3 (Marine Habitats), 3.7 (Marine Vegetation), 3.8 (Marine Invertebrates), and 3.9 (Fishes). Based on the analyses in these sections, the Proposed Action could directly affect individuals of some species harvested by Tribes, including mortality in a relatively small number of individuals. However, there would be no population- or stock-level impacts and there would be no measurable change in availability. Impacts on water quality and habitat would be localized and negligible, and would not be expected to affect availability of resources for harvest by Tribes. The Proposed Action is not expected to contribute to bioaccumulation in fish and shellfish species harvested by the Tribes based on the types and quantities of potential contaminates released and their fate and transport in the environment. Disturbances associated with the Proposed Action would be intermittent, of short duration, and widely dispersed, and are not expected to cause harvested species to avoid U&A fishing grounds or alter their migratory patterns.

Chapter 5 (Mitigation) describes protective measures the Navy implements within the Study Area. Although some of the measures specifically address species listed under the Endangered Species Act, many of them would also benefit species harvested by Tribes.

The Proposed Action is not expected to have a measurable effect on the availability of marine resources for harvest by Tribes.

#### 3.11.2.3 Loss of Fishing Gear

### 3.11.2.3.1 Impacts from Loss of Fishing Gear

As discussed in Section 3.11.2.1 (Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas) Tribal fishing activities and Navy training and testing activities occur in co-use areas in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area and in portions of the Offshore Area located off the coast of Washington. Consequently, the potential exists for interactions between naval vessels and equipment and Tribal fishing gear. Loss or damage to gear is a concern for Tribal fishermen because it can result in lost fishing opportunities and increase the cost of fishing, which could ultimately reduce harvest and income.

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS describes the types of fishing gear used in the Study Area, and states that any gear that is designed to be fished unattended, either in the water column or on the bottom (e.g., gillnets, longlines, pots), would be most susceptible to snagging by a vessel or mobile in-water device. However, Tribal fishermen mark their gear in accordance with fishing regulations and the Navy uses standard navigational practices to avoid potential interactions with fixed gear. In addition, the Navy would coordinate with the USCG to issue NTMs that advise Tribal Fisheries Enforcement Officers on locations of planned training and testing activities when the activity will involve a potential hazard to navigation. Activities based from a range craft with full maneuverability would not require a NTM. Interactions between mobile fishing gear such as a trawl (i.e., a net towed by a vessel along the bottom or in the water column) and naval vessels is unlikely because the vessels involved would avoid each other. Interactions between mobile gear and a fixed in-water device such as testing equipment would also be unlikely because fixed devices would be clearly marked on the surface with a buoy. These practices have not changed; therefore, the conclusions from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remain valid.

As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, mobile fish gear located on or near the bottom could encounter military expended materials that the Navy would be unable to recover. These items are

typically small, constructed of soft materials (such as target cardboard boxes or tethered target balloons), or intentionally designed to sink to the bottom after serving their purpose (e.g., sonobuoys), so they would not represent an entanglement risk to fishing gear. Military expended materials used in the Study Area have not changed; therefore, the conclusions from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS analysis remain valid.

As discussed in Section 3.11.1.1 (Government-to-Government Consultation) of this SEIS/OEIS, the Navy and several Tribes with U&A fishing grounds in the Study Area are engaged in ongoing government-to-government consultation. The potential for interactions between Tribal fishing gear and naval vessels and equipment is a topic of mutual interest addressed through the consultation process. As discussed in Section 3.11.2.1 (Impeding Access to U&A Fishing Grounds or Traditional Fishing Areas), several Tribes and the Navy have implemented or are continuing formal communication procedures to de-conflict schedules where possible. These communications, in addition to standard NTMs issued by USCG, help to avoid and minimize the potential for lost or damaged Tribal fishing gear associated with Navy training and testing activities. Any claims for loss or damage to fishing gear related to Navy activities are addressed through the Navy's claims adjudication process. Information on admiralty claims can be found at the Navy Judge Advocate General's Corps website: http://www.jag.navy.mil/organization/code \_11.htm.

# 3.11.2.3.1.1 Impacts from Loss of Fishing Gear Under Alternative 1 Impacts from Loss of Fishing Gear Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

The Navy normally has the ability to avoid areas that are actively being used by other vessels, which reduces the potential to encounter and damage fishing gear in the Offshore Area. The amount of some military expended material items would increase and some would decrease under Alternative 1, although not by a significant amount, and not with materials that are large enough to cause a loss of fishing gear (see Table 2.5-1). Therefore, as discussed and concluded in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Tribal fishermen using bottom trawls may encounter these materials, but the probability would remain low. Damage to fishing gear from Navy training activities in the Offshore Area would be rare under Alternative 1.

In the Inland Waters, loss or damage to Tribal fishing gear could reduce fishing opportunities while the gear is being replaced or repaired, and could increase the amount of effort and resources required to catch the same amount of fish. The USCG Maritime Force Protection Unit would continue to provide notification of locations of planned training activities to Tribal Fisheries Enforcement Officers. Information exchange between the Tribes and the Navy helps ensure schedules are de-conflicted when possible.

# Impacts from Loss of Fishing Gear Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

As discussed under training activities, the Navy normally has the ability to avoid areas that are actively being used by other vessels, which reduces the potential to encounter and damage fishing gear in the Offshore Area. The number of some military expended material would increase under Alternative 1, however in some cases military expended materials from testing activities would decrease. Therefore, as discussed and concluded in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Tribal fishermen using bottom trawls may encounter these materials, but the probability would remain low. Damage to fishing gear from Navy testing activities in the Offshore Area would be rare under Alternative 1.

Under Alternative 1, the Navy is retaining the Carr Inlet Operating Area (OPAREA) and infrequent operational and acoustic research studies could be conducted in the area under Alternative 1. As

discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the nature of activity and the in-water infrastructure at Carr Inlet OPAREA has changed since the dis-establishment of the shore lab in 2009. Fixed buoys and hydrophones are no longer in place. Use of this area under Alternative 1 may include temporary placement of underwater testing devices. Appropriate safety procedures and temporary marine traffic restrictions would be used to avoid interactions with fishing gear. The public would continue to be notified via published announcement in local newspapers and in the local USCG NTM if the Navy plans testing activities in the Carr Inlet OPAREA. The Navy would coordinate with the USCG to issue NTMs that advise Tribal Fisheries Enforcement Officers on locations of planned testing activities when the activity would involve a potential hazard to navigation. Activities based from a range craft with full maneuverability would not require a NTM. Information exchange between the Tribes and the Navy helps ensure schedules are de-conflicted when possible.

Pierside sonar and acoustic testing would be performed under Alternative 1 at Naval Base Kitsap Bremerton in Sinclair Inlet, Naval Base Kitsap Bangor Waterfront in Hood Canal, and Naval Station Everett. Existing security restrictions prevent public access at Navy pierside locations; therefore, fishing gear would not be affected by these activities.

As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, most of the materials and items used during testing are recovered after use in the Inland Waters. Military expended materials could present a risk to fishing gear located on the bottom, but the probability of encountering these items would be low. Standard procedures used to ensure safety, security, and testing data integrity; and procedures for communicating with Tribes that have U&A fishing grounds in testing areas would continue to be implemented under Alternative 1 and would minimize the risk of fishing gear damage. Implementing these procedures would make damage to fishing gear from Navy testing activities in Inland Waters rare under Alternative 1.

The Western Behm Canal is within the Ketchikan Nonsubsistence Use Area (Alaska Department of Fish and Game, 2011), which precludes subsistence uses of resources in the Western Behm Canal by both Alaska Native and non-Native fishermen. Because the Western Behm Canal is a Nonsubsistence Use Area, loss or damage to Alaska Native fishing equipment would not occur as a result of testing activities resulting in vessel or in-water device strikes. No testing activities resulting in the deposition of military expended materials occur in the Western Behm Canal.

# 3.11.2.3.1.2 Impacts from Loss of Fishing Gear Under Alternative 2 Impacts from Loss of Fishing Gear Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed training activities in the Offshore Area and Inland Waters would change from the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-1), and in some cases vary slightly from the number of activities proposed under Alternative 1. Given that the activities would be conducted in the same areas as described in the 2015 analysis, and that the number of training activities would not change significantly, the analysis and impact conclusions from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remains valid. Therefore, the analysis presented for training activities in the Offshore Area under Alternative 1 also applies to Alternative 2. Damage to fishing gear from Navy training activities in the Offshore Area would be rare under Alternative 2.

Training activities under Alternative 2 would be the same for the Inland Waters as described in the Offshore Area (see Table 2.5-1). Therefore, the analysis presented for training activities in Inland Water under Alternative 1 also applies to Alternative 2. The USCG Maritime Force Protection Unit would provide notification of the location of planned training events to Tribal Fisheries Enforcement Officers.

Information exchange between the Tribes and the Navy helps ensure schedules are de-conflicted when possible.

#### Impacts from Loss of Fishing Gear Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed testing activities in the Offshore Area, Inland Waters, and Western Behm Canal would change from the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3), and in some cases vary slightly from the number of activities proposed under Alternative 1. In the Offshore Area, as discussed for Alternative 1, the change in testing activity is not expected to increase damage to fishing gear and the testing of explosive torpedoes would be conducted greater than 50 NM off the coast of Washington, outside of U&A fishing grounds. The Navy normally has the ability to avoid areas that are actively being used by other vessels, which reduces the potential to encounter and damage fishing gear in the Offshore Area. Under Alternative 2, the number of military expended material items, including sonobuoys, chaff, and flares, would not change significantly from Alternative 1. Therefore, as discussed and concluded in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Tribal fishermen using bottom trawls may encounter these materials, but the probability would remain low. Damage to fishing gear from Navy testing activities in the Offshore Area would be rare under Alternative 2.

In the Inland Waters, use of the Carr Inlet OPAREA may include temporary placement of underwater testing devices. Appropriate safety procedures and temporary marine traffic restrictions would be used to avoid interactions with fishing gear. Existing security restrictions prevent public access at Navy pierside locations; therefore, fishing gear would not be affected by these activities. Military expended materials could present a risk to gear used to fish on the bottom due to snagging of fishing line, snagging of nets, or tangling of other bottom traps. The probability of encountering military expended materials that would impact fishing gear would be low. Standard procedures used to ensure safety, security, and testing data integrity; and procedures for communicating with Tribes that have U&A fishing grounds in testing areas would continue to be implemented under Alternative 2 and would minimize the risk of fishing gear damage. Damage to fishing gear from Navy testing activities in Inland Waters is expected to be rare under Alternative 2.

Testing activities under Alternative 2 would remain the same as discussed under Alternative 1 in the Western Behm Canal and therefore would have no impact on loss of fishing gear in the area under Alternative 2.

#### 3.11.2.3.1.3 Impacts from Loss of Fishing Gear Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the Navy would not conduct proposed at-sea training and testing activities in the Study Area. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Loss of fishing gear due to Navy activities would not occur in the Offshore Area, Inland Waters, or Western Behm Canal. Military expended materials may still remain in the water column or on the bottom of the seafloor in the Offshore Area, Inland Waters, or Western Behm Canal after cessation of training and testing at-sea activities, but cessation would not measurably improve the condition of the environment throughout the Study Area because the impacts are so minimal under Alternatives 1 or 2. Therefore, American Indian fishing gear retention rates would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing at-sea training and testing activities.

# **REFERENCES**

- Alaska Department of Fish and Game. (2011). *Ketchikan nonsubsistence use area*. Retrieved from http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=subsistence.nonsub\_detail&area=Ketchikan.
- Bean, L. J., and D. Theodoratus. (1978). Western Pomo and Northeastern Pomo. In R. Heizer (Ed.), Handbook of North American Indians (Vol. 8, pp. 289–305). Washington, DC: Smithsonian Institution.
- Intertribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council. (2012). Statement from the Hopland Band of Pomo Indians. Part of the 'Intertribal Sinkone Wilderness Council et al v. National Marine Fisheries Service et al.' case filed January 26, 2012. Eureka, CA: U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California.
- InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council. (2018). Tribal Profile Updates. U.S. Department of the Navy and InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council Meeting, 14 December 2018. Whidbey Island, WA: U.S. Department of the Navy.
- InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council. (2019). Tribal Profile Updates; Supplement. U.S. Department of the Navy and InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council Meeting, 14 December 2018. Whidbey Island, WA: U.S. Department of the Navy.
- McLendon, S., and M. J. Lowy. (1978). Eastern Pomo and Southeastern Pomo. In R. Heizer (Ed.), Handbook of North American Indians (Vol. 8, pp. 306–323). Washington, DC: Smithsonian Institution.
- McLendon, S., and R. L. Oswalt. (1978). Pomo: Introduction. In R. Heizer (Ed.), *Handbook of North American Indians* (Vol. 8, pp. 274–288). Washington, DC: Smithsonian Institution.
- Tiller, V. E. V. (2005). *Tiller's Guide to Indian Country: Economic Profiles of American Indian Reservations*. Albuquerque, NM: BowArrow Publishing Company.
- U.S. Department of Defense. (2018). *DoD Instruction 4710.02: DoD Interactions with Federally Recognized Tribes*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Defense.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2006). *Marine Resources Assessment for the Pacific Northwest Operating Area*. Plano, TX: Geo-Marine, Inc. Retrieved from http://www.navfac.navy.mil/content/dam/navfac/Environmental/PDFs/MRA/PACNW\_MRA\_Se pt2006.pdf.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2015). *Northwest Training and Testing Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement, Final*. Silverdale, WA: Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest.

This page intentionally left blank.

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

# **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

# Northwest Training and Testing

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

3.12	Socioeconomic F		
	3.12.1 Introduct		
	3.12.2 Affected		
	3.12.2.1	Commercial Transportation and Shipping	
	3.12.2.2	Commercial and Recreational Fishing	3.12-12
	3.12.2.3	Tourism and Recreation	3.12-18
	3.12.3 Environmental Consequences		
	3.12.3.1	Accessibility (to the Ocean and the Airspace)	
	3.12.3.2	Airborne Acoustics	
	3.12.3.3	Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors	3.12-35
	3.12.3.4	Secondary Impacts	3.12-39

# **List of Figures**

Figure 3.12-1: Total Waterborne Foreign Trade at the Ports of Seattle and Tacoma from 2010 to 2015 
Figure 3.12-2: Relative Density of Vessel Traffic Along Shipping Routes in the Offshore Area3.12-5
Figure 3.12-3: Relative Density of Vessel Traffic Along Shipping Routes in the Inland Waters Portion of the Study Area
Figure 3.12-4: Airspace and Air Traffic Airways in the Northwest United States
Figure 3.12-5: Airspace and Air Traffic Airways in Inland Waters Area
Figure 3.12-6: Volume of Commercial Landings by Species Group in Washington State Waters in 2015 
Figure 3.12-7: Value of Commercial Landings by Species Group in Washington State Waters in 2015
Figure 3.12-8: Volume of Commercial Landings by Species Group in Oregon Waters in 20153.12-15
Figure 3.12-9: Value of Commercial Landings by Species Group in Oregon Waters in 2015
Figure 3.12-10: Recreational Areas in the Inland Waters Portion of the Study Area

# List of Tables

Table 3.12-1: Smaller Ports in the Inland Waters Portion of the Study Area Ranked by Ca	argo Volume in			
2015	3.12-4			
Table 3.12-2: Commercial Landings at Ports in the Inland Waters Portion of the Study Area in 2015				
	3.12-17			

# **3.12** Socioeconomic Resources

### 3.12.1 Introduction and Methods

The purpose of this section is to supplement the analysis of impacts on socioeconomic resources presented in the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas EIS (OEIS) with new information relevant to proposed changes in training and testing activities conducted at sea. Information presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that remains valid is noted as such and referenced to the appropriate sections. Any new or updated information describing the affected environment and analysis of impacts on socioeconomic resources associated with the Proposed Action is provided in this section.

# 3.12.2 Affected Environment

The socioeconomic resources analyzed in this Supplemental EIS/OEIS (Supplemental) are the same as the resources identified and analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The training and testing activities described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) of this Supplemental are generally consistent with the training and testing activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and are representative of activities that the Department of Defense has been conducting in the NWTT Study Area for decades.

The concerns over socioeconomic resources and how they may be impacted by the proposed training and testing activities are similar to those as previously described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The United States (U.S.) Navy's operating procedures to prevent or lessen impacts on local socioeconomic resources, as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, remain applicable and will continue to be implemented.

As described in detail in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the socioeconomic analysis evaluated how elements of the human environment might be affected by ongoing and proposed training and testing activities in the Study Area. The Navy identified three broad socioeconomic elements, based on their association with human activities and livelihoods in the Study Area:

- commercial transportation and shipping (Section 3.12.2.1)
- commercial and recreational fishing (Section 3.12.2.2)
  - Usual and accustomed fishing by Pacific Northwest American Indian tribes and nations and Alaska Natives is analyzed in Section 3.11 (American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources)
- tourism and recreation (Section 3.12.2.3)

Each of these resources is an aspect of the human environment that involves economics (e.g., employment, income, or revenue) and social conditions (e.g., enjoyment and quality of life) in the Study Area. These three elements were chosen as the focus of the analysis in this section because of their importance to the local economy and the way of life in the region, and the potential for these elements to be impacted by the proposed training and testing activities.

Data and information from government technical documents and reports, scientific journals, and the Navy's marine resources database of publications were reviewed to assess any changes in the socioeconomic environment from conditions described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Based on this review, socioeconomic resources in the marine environment have not changed appreciably since 2015.

A complete description of the extent of the Study Area, including special use airspace, sea space, and pierside and inland facilities, is provided in Section 2.1 (Description of the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area). Briefly, training and testing activities proposed in this Supplemental would occur in one or more of these three Study Area subdivisions:

- Offshore Area (Pacific Northwest Operations Area, including the surf zone at Pacific Beach and the Olympic Military Operations Areas [MOAs])
- Inland Waters (Washington State inland waters)
- Western Behm Canal (Southeast Alaska Acoustic Measurement Facility [SEAFAC])

There are over 192,000 Sailors, Marines, civil servants, military retirees, and their family members who live and work in the Pacific Northwest. Washington State's second-largest employment sector is defense, with \$12.7 billion in spending each year. The immediate and surrounding communities in which Navy personnel live and work benefit from over \$7.6 billion being added to the economy each year, along with the Navy's life-saving mutual aid for emergency response and search and rescue capabilities.

Navy leadership and the regional environmental team are actively involved in community partnerships in the Pacific Northwest and Alaska in a number of ways. For example, Navy personnel provide support for search and rescue operations, fire protection and response services, medical transportation, and humanitarian assistance and disaster relief. Strategic engagement efforts within communities allow the Navy to strengthen relationships with federal, state, and local agencies; tribes; and non-governmental organizations.

#### 3.12.2.1 Commercial Transportation and Shipping

The Navy conducts training and testing activities in areas where commercial transportation and shipping also occurs. Notifications of potentially hazardous operations are communicated to all vessels and operators by use of Notices to Mariners (NTMs), issued by the United States Coast Guard (USCG), and Notices to Airmen (NOTAMs), issued by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA).

Following a review of recent literature, including government technical documents, reports, and scientific journals, the information presented on ocean traffic in the Study Area, as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, has not appreciably changed.

#### 3.12.2.1.1 Ocean Traffic

Commercial shipping is a significant component of the regional economy. Commercial goods are transported through the Offshore Area to the major international ports of Seattle, WA; Tacoma, WA; and Portland, OR, as well to smaller domestic ports in Washington's inland waters. The maritime Port of Seattle-Tacoma was the nation's sixth-highest ranked port (out of 150) by value of shipments for international waterborne trade (imports + exports) in 2015. Over \$83 billion of goods passed through the two ports (American Association of Port Authorities, 2016). While the two ports specialize in international trade, domestic trade is also a major function of both ports. Tacoma and Seattle were ranked 28th and 29th, respectively, for total trade (foreign and domestic) by volume (tons) in 2015. The volume of international trade at the ports of Seattle and Tacoma peaked in 2012 at nearly 20.5 million metric tons, declining to just under 19 million metric tons in 2015 (Figure 3.12-1). While recent trends show a decline, the volume of goods in 2015 is approximately equivalent to pre-recession totals (U.S. Maritime Administration, 2015). Farther to the south, the Port of Portland was ranked 34th in total trade (foreign and domestic) by volume (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 2016).

Together, the ports of Tacoma and Seattle had the sixth-highest number of port calls of container vessels in the United States in 2015 (U.S. Maritime Administration, 2016). The active commercial shipping industry at these three major U.S. international ports has a direct economic impact on numerous businesses and jobs that support the shipping industry, from dock workers to trucking companies, and, indirectly, smaller businesses in the food and retail sector. The Port of Seattle supported over 43,000 jobs (direct and indirect) in 2013 and generated over \$3 billion in business revenue and \$322 million in state and local taxes in 2013 (Port of Seattle, 2014).



Figure 3.12-1: Total Waterborne Foreign Trade at the Ports of Seattle and Tacoma from 2010 to 2015

A port call is equivalent to two vessel transits (one inbound and one outbound), which is a more relevant metric for assessing potential interactions between commercial shipping and the proposed training and testing activities. More than 1,700 vessels called at the ports of Tacoma and Seattle combined, and 500 called at the Port of Portland, Oregon in 2015 (U.S. Maritime Administration, 2016). Considering only these three major ports, over 4,400 vessel transits occurred in 2015, transporting over 113 million tons of cargo (U.S. Maritime Administration, 2016). Different ports are equipped to handle different types of cargo, and each specialization creates a need for particular types of businesses and industries to support port operations. Sixty percent of all port calls at the ports of Tacoma and Seattle combined were from container vessels, and 55 percent of vessels transiting up the Columbia River to the Port of Portland carried dry bulk goods (e.g., ore, wood, limestone, cement, and sugar). Offloading, rail, and trucking companies at each port specialize in the transport of container units and dry bulk goods to regional distribution centers.

Refer to Section 3.12.2.1.1 (Commercial Shipping) in the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS for additional details.

### 3.12.2.1.1.1 Offshore Area

Most vessels entering or leaving ports in Washington, Oregon, and northern California travel northwest, southwest, or south through the Study Area without incident or delay. Shipping to and from the south typically follows the coastline. Smaller vessels may travel within 3 or 12 nautical miles (NM) from shore and remain shoreward of the Study Area, but larger commercial shipping vessels typically remain farther from shore. Ships traveling overseas between ports in the Study Area, Hawaii, and the Far East typically travel via the most direct route or the great circle route (Figure 3.12-2).

### 3.12.2.1.1.2 Inland Waters

There are six smaller ports in Inland Waters portion of the Study Area, four of which are ranked by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers annually to be in the top 150 U.S. ports by cargo volume (Table 3.12-1). The Port of Vancouver is not in the Study Area and is not a U.S. port, but data on the port are included to show that the majority of vessel transits through the Strait of Juan de Fuca transit north to Vancouver. In addition to transferring cargo, these smaller ports are used by other commercial vessels, such as ferries that transport people and vehicles across Puget Sound and whale-watching vessels that take passengers on excursions into Puget Sound and surrounding waters. These activities have been co-occurring with military activities with minimal interactions for years.

# Table 3.12-1: Smaller Ports in the Inland Waters Portion of the Study Area Ranked by CargoVolume in 2015

Port	Pank	Cargo Volume	Voccol Transite
FOIL	Nalik	(tons)	vesser mansits
Anacortes	54	9,519,828	410
Grays Harbor	106	2,202,538	168
Everett	124	1,599,169	236
Olympia	136	1,137,908	Not Available
Port Angeles	NR	-	488
Cherry Point	NR	-	518
Vancouver, Canada <sup>1</sup>	NR	138,082,585	6,252

<sup>1</sup>If ranked as a U.S. port, Vancouver, Canada would have ranked third in total trade.

Source: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (2016); U.S. Maritime Administration (2016); Vancouver Fraser Port Authority (2017); NR = Not Ranked



Figure 3.12-2: Relative Density of Vessel Traffic Along Shipping Routes in the Offshore Area

Over 1,300 port calls at smaller ports in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area occurred in 2015 (U.S. Maritime Administration, 2016). Assuming each port call is equivalent to two vessel transits, over 2,600 vessel transits were handled by those ports in 2015 (Table 3.12-1). Vessels accessing the ports of Seattle and Tacoma also transit through the Inland Waters portion of the Study area. As noted in Section 3.12.2.1.1 (Ocean Traffic), over 3,400 vessel transits to and from these two major ports occurred in 2015. Combined with totals from the smaller ports, approximately 6,000 vessel transits through the Inland Waters portion of the Study of vessels in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area took place in 2015. The relative density of vessels in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area is shown in (Figure 3.12-3).

The Port of Vancouver, Canada, is a major commercial port, handling over 138 million tons of cargo and receiving 3,126 foreign vessels in 2015 (Vancouver Fraser Port Authority, 2017) (Table 3.12-1). Vessels accessing the port transit through the Strait of Juan de Fuca then head north navigating through the Haro Strait between Vancouver Island and the San Juan Islands. Victoria, located on the southern tip of Vancouver Island, is a popular cruise ship and tourist destination for both international and U.S. travelers. In 2015, 227 cruise ships carrying over 533,000 passengers visited Victoria (Greater Victoria Harbour Authority, 2017). The port also handles daily ferry traffic from Port Angeles and Seattle. With the exception of ferry transits from Seattle, vessel traffic associated with Canadian ports mainly occurs in the Strait of Juan de Fuca.

The Keyport Range site, Dabob Bay Range Complex, Carr Inlet Operations Area, Navy 3 and Navy 7 OPAREAs, and several pierside facilities are all located within the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area (see Figure 2.2-3). The Navy limits or restricts access to certain areas (e.g., Crescent Harbor) to maintain the safety of the public and military personnel when potentially dangerous activities are being conducted (e.g., mine warfare training). Access to pierside locations is restricted at all times.

Navigational obstructions may occur in a small portion of Keyport Range Site tests; in these cases (as for current activities), an NTM is issued. In addition, the USCG has published a final rule establishing protection zones extending 500 yards (yd.) around all Navy vessels in navigable waters of the United States and within the boundaries of the Coast Guard Pacific Area (32 Code of Federal Regulations [CFR] Part 761). All vessels must proceed at a no-wake speed when within a protection zone. Non-military vessels are not permitted to enter within 100 yd. of a U.S. naval vessel, whether underway or moored, unless authorized by an official patrol.

Dabob Bay Range Complex and Hood Canal military operating areas are charted on navigational charts. When activities are occurring in Dabob Bay, the Navy will activate yellow, white, and red warning lights positioned at Sylopash Point, Pulali Point, Whitney Point, Zelatched Point, and the southeast end of Bolton Peninsula to notify non-military vessels of the status of the range. Yellow or alternating white and yellow lights indicate the following concerns:

- Non-military vessels should proceed with caution;
- Range activities are in progress, but no noise-sensitive acoustic measurement tests are in progress; or
- Vessels should be prepared to shut down engines when lights change to red.

Red or alternating white and red lights indicate the following concerns:

• Range activities involving critical measurements are in progress;

- Engines should be stopped until red beacons have been shut off, indicating the test is completed; and
- Advice of Navy personnel on guard boats should be followed when in or near the range site. Typically, boat passage is permitted between tests when the yellow beacons are operating.

Pierside sonar maintenance testing within the Study Area is conducted within the Puget Sound at Naval Base Kitsap Bremerton, Naval Base Kitsap Bangor Waterfront, and Naval Station Everett. Activities at these pierside locations are conducted in the established waterfront restricted areas for those installations. Additional information about restricted areas associated with these facilities, including access by the public, is provided in 33 CFR 334.1240 (Sinclair Inlet), 33 CFR 334.1220 (Hood Canal, Bangor), and 33 CFR 334.1215 (Port Gardner, Everett Naval Base).

# 3.12.2.1.1.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

The Port of Ketchikan is located approximately 10 miles south of Western Behm Canal and SEAFAC. Ketchikan is a commercial port and was ranked 145th out of 150 ports in total trade by cargo volume (tons) in 2015 (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 2016). The port transferred almost 1 million tons of cargo, over 90 percent in domestic trade, in 2015, indicating its importance to southeast Alaska. Major commodities included oil and fuel, building products (e.g., wood and concrete), and groceries (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 2016). While salmon fishing remains an important industry in Ketchikan's economy, tourism and the passenger cruise industry are now the primary economic drivers. More than 800,000 passengers visit Ketchikan annually. In 2014, the port reported nearly 500 port calls by cruise vessels, all between April and September (Ketchikan Visitors Bureau, 2015). Western Behm Canal is not part of the route used by large vessels, including cruise ships, but small craft tourism traffic (e.g., sightseeing and charter fishing) in the Canal is directly influenced by cruise ship port calls in Ketchikan. In addition, recreational and commercial fishing boats, as well as private transportation craft, use Western Behm Canal regularly.

Western Behm Canal includes five restricted areas (see Figure 2.2-4); the largest, Area 5, spans the width of the Canal and encompasses Areas 1, 2, and 3. During operations, the Navy can close the restricted areas to all vessel traffic. Typically, such closures do not exceed 20 minutes. Notices to Mariners announcing restricted access are issued on average 10 times per year; about 8-12 events occur annually that require restrictions on vessel traffic to ensure that the participant vessel (usually a submarine, which is out of the visual observation of small boat operators) has a clear sea space to navigate safely. Notices to Mariners usually extend for a period of four or five days, but limitations on vessel traffic typically last for 20 minutes and occur up to twice per hour. During these times, small vessels (30 feet [ft.] or less) transiting through Western Behm Canal are required to stay within 1,000 yds. of the shoreline, maintain a maximum speed of 5 knots, and be in radio contact with SEAFAC. The Navy uses the radio contact to ensure that all vessels comply with the navigation rules during these critical periods. On occasion, the engine of a transiting vessel may create noise that interferes with data collection during a test. When this occurs, SEAFAC may request that the vessel operator voluntarily turn off the engine during the period of data collection. Alternatively, SEAFAC may delay data collection until the vessel has cleared the area. When testing is not being conducted, vessel traffic is not restricted, but permanent restrictions on anchors, nets, towing, and dumping remain in force. Additional information on transiting the restricted areas in Western Behm Canal are provided in 33 CFR 334.1275 (West Arm Behm Canal, Ketchikan, Alaska, restricted areas) and summarized in Section 3.13 (Public Health and Safety).



# Figure 3.12-3: Relative Density of Vessel Traffic Along Shipping Routes in the Inland Waters Portion of the Study Area

The Navy conducts tests in the Western Behm Canal throughout the year. However, during the peak tourism and fishing season of May 1 through September 15, the Navy conducts acoustic measurement tests that require only transitory restrictions in Area 5 (see Figure 2.2-4) for a total of no more than 15 days. This timeframe is within the popular cruise ship season when visitation and recreational use of Western Behm Canal is highest. This is also the time when vessel traffic associated with commercial fishing is highest.

Public notification (e.g., NTMs) that the Navy will conduct operations in Western Behm Canal is given at least 72 hours in advance to the following Ketchikan contacts: USCG, Ketchikan Gateway Borough Planning Department, Harbor Master, Alaska Department of Fish and Game, KRBD radio, KTKN radio, and the Ketchikan Daily News.

# 3.12.2.1.2 Air Traffic

Air traffic refers to movements of aircraft through airspace. Safety and security factors dictate that use of airspace and control of air traffic be closely regulated. Accordingly, regulations applicable to all aircraft are promulgated by the FAA to define permissible uses of designated airspace and to control that use. These regulations are intended to accommodate the various categories of aviation, whether military, commercial, or general. Common airways over the Study Area are depicted in Figure 3.12-4.

A detailed description of special use airspace (military operating areas, restricted airspace, and warning areas) used by the military is provided in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives).

# 3.12.2.1.2.1 Offshore Area

Air routes and airways in the Study Area are primarily managed by the Seattle Air Route Traffic Control Center located near the Seattle-Tacoma International Airport, the largest commercial airport in the region. The Seattle Terminal Radar Approach Control coordinates approach services for the Seattle-Tacoma International Airport and has over 450,000 operations per year for southern and central Puget Sound. Based on the available information, air traffic in the Offshore Area, as described in the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS, has not appreciably changed.

# 3.12.2.1.2.2 Inland Waters

The special use airspace in the Puget Sound portion of the Study Area consists of Restricted Area 6701 (R-6701) and Chinook MOAs (Figure 3.12-5). Naval Air Station Whidbey Approach Control, an FAA-certified control facility, not only provides service to military aircraft operating out of Naval Air Station Whidbey Island, it also provides approach control service for 18 outlying civilian and USCG airfields and 12 locations for the ambulance service Airlift Northwest. Prior to potentially hazardous training and testing activities involving aircraft, air traffic access restrictions are released to the aviation community through a NOTAM and broadcast on their Automated Terminal Information System. Based on the available information, air traffic in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area (Figure 3.12-5), as described in the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS, has not appreciably changed.

# 3.12.2.1.2.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

Controlled airspace (Figure 3.12-4) similar to a temporary flight restriction exists over the SEAFAC area in Western Behm Canal during acoustic tests. SEAFAC currently issues an informal request to aircraft flying below 3,000 ft. above mean sea level to divert around Restricted Area 5 during testing events. At this time, SEAFAC is not using a formal NOTAM to alert aircraft of upcoming testing events. The temporary flight restriction extends up to 3,000 ft. and has a radius of 1 NM. It is intended to keep floatplanes with tourists or fishermen at a distance when SEAFAC is conducting acoustic tests.



Figure 3.12-4: Airspace and Air Traffic Airways in the Northwest United States



Figure 3.12-5: Airspace and Air Traffic Airways in Inland Waters Area

#### 3.12.2.1.3 Vehicle Traffic

#### 3.12.2.1.3.1 Inland Waters

The only portion of the Study Area with vehicular traffic that could be impacted by military activities is in the Inland Waters area, specifically that portion of State Route 104 in northern Kitsap County and eastern Jefferson County around the Hood Canal Floating Bridge. The route extends across the Hood Canal Floating Bridge, a drawbridge with two 300-ft. spans that can open to allow marine traffic to pass. During openings, vehicle traffic on State Route 104 queues and back-ups occur. In 2016, an average of 18,000 vehicles crossed the bridge each day, and there were 394 bridge openings (in 2015) (Hughes, 2017).

Commercial or recreational vessels intending to pass through will contact the bridge crew at least one hour before the opening (Washington State Department of Transportation, 2011). The Washington Department of Transportation uses a variety of electronic notification systems, including highway signage, web site notices, and subscriber alerts, to notify the public of upcoming openings. Vehicle traffic is held at the traffic control gates located on the bridge during openings for commercial or recreational vessels. These openings last for 10–45 minutes, though clearance of the traffic queue will take longer, particularly in summer months when tourism traffic is at its peak (Washington Department of Transportation, 2017).

Bridge openings to accommodate Navy vessels (e.g., submarines) may take longer, lasting for up to 60 minutes, because multiple large vessels must often pass the bridge in close formation, requiring that both spans are retracted to their maximum extent. Traffic can queue for up to 4 miles on either side, depending on the time of day and season. These longer bridge openings also receive advance notice via notification boards on approaching highways; however, the lead-time can be less than the state mandated minimum of one hour for national security reasons (non-military openings require a minimum lead time of one hour).

# 3.12.2.2 Commercial and Recreational Fishing

Commercial fishing takes place throughout the Offshore Area, from nearshore waters adjacent to the mainland to the offshore fishing grounds. For the entire United States, approximately 35 percent of commercial fisheries landings (by volume) are caught between 0 and 3 NM from shore, and 60 percent are caught between 3 and 200 NM from shore. The remaining 5 percent are caught on the high seas (beyond 200 NM from shore) or in foreign waters (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016a).

#### 3.12.2.2.1 Offshore Area

The Pacific Fishery Management Council is one of eight regional fishery management councils established by the Magnuson Fishery Conservation and Management Act of 1976 and is responsible for managing fishery resources along the coasts of California, Oregon, and Washington. The council has defined five main fisheries for the region: groundfish (e.g., flounder, sole), highly migratory species (e.g., tuna), coastal pelagic species (e.g., anchovy, mackerel, herring, sardines), Pacific halibut, and salmon (Pacific Fishery Management Council, 2017).

The NMFS maintains a database of commercial fisheries landings by state and species or species group. In 2015, commercial landings for Washington State totaled 154,568,143 pounds and were valued at nearly \$300 million (fifth-highest in the nation) (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016b). Shrimp landings, specifically brine, penaeid, spot, and ocean shrimp were the highest by volume in 2015 at over 42 million pounds. Landings of groundfish species and salmon species were the second- and third-largest species groups by volume, respectively (Figure 3.12-6). The value of commercial landings by species or group did not coincide with the volume.



# Figure 3.12-6: Volume of Commercial Landings by Species Group in Washington State Waters in 2015

Clams (over \$75 million) and crabs (over \$72 million) made up nearly half of the value of all landings in 2015, whereas shrimp (\$33 million) were the fourth-most valued species group and salmon (\$27 million) the fifth (Figure 3.12-7). As reported in the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS, in 2011, the total value of commercial landings was approximately \$290 million. By 2015, the value of commercial landings increased by approximately 3 percent.

Recent trends in commercial fisheries landings are mixed. The overall value of commercial fisheries landings in the State of Washington declined from 2013 through 2016, and the volume (pounds) of commercial landings declined between 2013 and 2015 but increased by approximately 10 percent between 2015 and 2016 (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016b). The data suggest that the volume and potentially the value, which historically follows a similar trend, of fisheries landings in the State of Washington may begin trending upwards.



# Figure 3.12-7: Value of Commercial Landings by Species Group in Washington State Waters in 2015

Commercial landings in Oregon were 194,575,317 pounds with a value of just under \$114 million (11th-highest value in the nation) (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016b). Over 86 percent of landings by volume (pounds) were from groundfish species and shrimp (Figure 3.12-8). While not at the same proportion as the volume, the two species groups with the highest value in 2015 were also shrimp and groundfish species, which made up over 66 percent of the total value of all landings (Figure 3.12-9).

Commercial landings in Oregon followed a trend similar to landings in the State of Washington from 2013 through 2016. However, in Oregon both the volume and value of commercial landings increased from 2015 to 2016 (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016b). The data suggest that the volume and the value of fisheries landings in Oregon may begin trending upwards.



# Figure 3.12-8: Volume of Commercial Landings by Species Group in Oregon Waters in 2015

Commercial fishing is important to the economies of several communities that fish in the Offshore Area, as described in Section 3.12.2.2.1 (Offshore Area) of the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS and identified in Pacific Fishery Management Council (2015). The communities include Astoria, Oregon; Bellingham, Washington; Brookings, Oregon; Coos Bay, Oregon; Newport, Oregon; and Port Orford, Oregon. These communities tend to have small populations, are geographically isolated, and are heavily dependent on commercial and recreational fishing and on tourism. Changes in the regional and national economy since NMFS's 2006 community assessment have certainly affected many if not all of these communities to some degree; however, the dependency of these communities on commercial and recreational fishing is unlikely to have changed appreciably. These communities continue to be dependent on income from fisheries and would be vulnerable to substantial changes in their ability to access fishery resources and to fluctuations in the value of commercial landings.

Recreational fishing in the Offshore Area is concentrated in nearshore areas due to the smaller size and limited capabilities of typical recreational fishing vessels and the time required to complete a trip farther offshore if the vessel plans to return to port the same day. However, some recreational fishers travel up to 100 miles from shore seeking pelagic species like albacore tuna (Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, 2018). Consequently, only approximately 10 percent of recreational fishing trips nationwide are in federal waters (beyond 3 NM from shore). Nationally, most of the recreational catch in 2015 came from inland waters (55 percent in numbers of fish), with 33 percent from state waters (0–3 NM from shore for all Pacific states) and almost 10 percent from beyond 3 NM. The majority of trips in the Pacific region fished primarily in inland waters (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016a).



# Figure 3.12-9: Value of Commercial Landings by Species Group in Oregon Waters in 2015

The economies of some small coastal communities are dependent on income from recreational fishing in the Offshore Area. The Oregon ports of Newport, Garibaldi, Brookings, and Charleston are the most heavily engaged Northwest ports in chartered recreational fishing, and these communities (as well as others) would be affected by substantial changes to the abundance or accessibility of species targeted by recreational fishers (Pacific Fishery Management Council & National Marine Fisheries Service, 2015).

#### 3.12.2.2.2 Inland Waters

Washington's commercial fishing industry was the third-largest producer of edible seafood in the United States in 2015 behind Alaska and Louisiana (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016b). However, it is noteworthy that over 90 percent of seafood consumed in the United States is imported (although a significant portion is caught by American fishers and processed overseas), and despite being the third-largest producer, Washington fishers accounted for just 6 percent of edible seafood landings (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016a).

Washington State is one of the largest producers of farmed shellfish in the nation and is a leading producer of naturally grown shellfish, most of which come from Puget Sound. Wild salmon species support a variety of fisheries in the Puget Sound region, including sport, commercial, and tribal fisheries (Pacific Fishery Management Council, 2016). Puget Sound also supports a growing salmon aquaculture industry, which is controversial because of the potential impacts the farmed Atlantic salmon could have on native species (e.g., introduce parasites, compete for food should the farmed salmon escape). A "spill" of approximately 250,000 farmed Atlantic salmon into Puget Sound in August 2017 brought the controversy to the forefront (Mapes, 2017). While a preliminary investigation indicated that the escaped

salmon were not able to feed and died from starvation, subsequent findings contradicted that assertion and reported that Atlantic salmon continued to be caught by tribal fishermen through December 2017 (Cauvel, 2017; Mapes, 2018). The results of an investigation conducted by the State concluded that negligence by the owner was the cause of the release (Mapes, 2018). In February 2018, it was reported that 19 captured Atlantic salmon all tested positive for piscine orthoreovirus, a highly contagious and debilitating virus that could affect native salmon species (Wild Fish Conservancy, 2018). The incident and its consequences for native salmon led Governor Jay Inslee to sign a bill banning the farming of Atlantic salmon in Washington State waters (Ryan, 2018).

The Penn Cove Mussel Farm in Coupeville Washington exports large quantities of its highly renowned Penn Cove Mussels annually(Penn Cove Shellfish, 2017). Commercial and tribal traditional fisheries are conducted with purse seine or gill nets, primarily in the open waterways of Puget Sound and Hood Canal (Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, 2012). American Indian and Alaska Native tribal and subsistence fishing is analyzed in Section 3.11 (American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources). Commercial landings at ports serving fisheries in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area for 2015 are shown in Table 3.12-2.

Washington Inland	Volume	Value
Waters Port	(Millions of Pounds)	(Millions of Dollars)
Anacortes	5.9	20.6
Bellingham	13.3	25.4
Blaine	2.3	8.5
Neah Bay	5.6	8.9
Everett	1.6	1.8
Olympia	2.5	17.2
Port Townsend	1.5	4.7*
Seattle	6.4	24.5
Shelton	9.6	34.2
Tacoma	1.9	5.9

# Table 3.12-2: Commercial Landings at Ports in the Inland Waters Portion of the Study Areain 2015

\*2014 landings

Source: National Marine Fisheries Service (2016c)

In 2015, marine recreational anglers took 4 million trips and caught a total of over 14 million fish in Washington, Oregon, and California waters. Almost 92 percent of the trips were made in California, 5 percent were in Oregon waters, and approximately 3 percent (135,000) were in Washington State waters (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016a). As noted in Section 3.12.2.2.1 (Offshore Area), most trips in the Pacific region fished primarily inland waters (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016a), suggesting that most of the 135,000 trips in Washington State occurred in inland waters. Recreational fishing, crabbing, and clamming typically occurs throughout the inlets of Puget Sound and Hood Canal. Recreational sportfishing in public waterways in Washington State, which consists largely of waters in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area, contributed an estimated \$805 million in 2014 to the regional economy and recorded over 19.5 million participant days (Briceno & Schundler, 2015). Motorized boating and sailing expenditures contributed an additional \$1.6 billion to the economy, and expenditures on non-motorized paddle sports totaled over \$578 million and recoded 7.7 million participant days. Daily expenditures on motorized and non-motorized boating and related activities ranged from \$75 to \$88 per person (Briceno & Schundler, 2015). These and other recreational activities that rely on access to inland waters make a valuable contribution to the Washington State economy.

#### 3.12.2.2.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

Commercial landings at the port of Ketchikan in 2015 totaled 84 million pounds and had a value of nearly \$40 million (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016b). Salmon in the state waters near Ketchikan represents a large portion of the harvest for Ketchikan residents and visitors. As of September 22, 2017, the Alaska Department of Fish and Game reported that 21 trollers fishing in the Western Behm Canal and Neets Bay area had caught approximately 236,000 chum salmon and made 1,142 landings in 2017. Trolling effort typically declines through September as the days become shorter (Alaska Department of Fish and Game, 2017). Other important commercial fisheries in the area include sea cucumber, sea urchin, herring spawn, and shrimp.

Commercial fishing and seafood processing at the port of Ketchikan is a vital part of the local economy. Income by Ketchikan based fishers in 2012 was estimated to be \$26.6 million. These earnings contributed to the local economy through property and sales taxes, purchases of homes, rentals, hotels, entertainment, fuel, vehicles, food, repair and maintenance parts, transportation, medical, and other services. Virtually every business in Ketchikan benefits financially from commercial fishing and the related industries of seafood processing and transportation (United Fishermen of Alaska, 2013).

Several open water areas near SEAFAC are considered as heavy or moderate recreational fishing areas. These waters include portions of Western Behm Canal around Betton and Back Islands, Clover Passage, Clover Pass, Smuggler's Cove, and Helm Bay (Ketchikan Gateway Borough, 2007).

#### 3.12.2.3 Tourism and Recreation

Coastal tourism and recreation can be defined as the full range of tourism, leisure, and recreation activities that take place in the coastal zone and the offshore coastal waters. These activities include coastal tourism development (e.g., hotels, resorts, restaurants, food industry, vacation homes, second homes) and the infrastructure supporting coastal development (e.g., retail businesses, marinas, fishing tackle stores, dive shops, fishing piers, recreational boating harbors, beaches, recreational fishing facilities). Also included is ecotourism (e.g., whale watching) and recreational activities such as boating, cruises, swimming, fishing, surfing, snorkeling, and self-contained underwater breathing apparatus (SCUBA) diving. Both tourists and locals also enjoy visiting the Olympic National Park and Olympic National Forest and other areas on the Olympic Peninsula to participate in activities such as hiking, camping, observing nature (e.g., bird watching), photography, and simply being outdoors.

Water sports are popular among residents of and visitors to Washington. Many communities and individual residences have piers or private docks located adjacent to the Inland Waters area and along the coastline and participate in a variety of recreational activities, including recreational fishing, which is discussed in Section 3.12.2.2 (Commercial and Recreational Fishing). Other popular water sports include motorized and non-motorized boating, kayaking, swimming, and SCUBA diving. In 2014, Washington State recorded over 28 million participant days of motorized and non-motorized boating activities and over 40 million participant days for swimming, SCUBA diving, and related activities (Briceno & Schundler, 2015). Swimming and related activities like tubing are the most popular water sports, but are not likely to occur in the Study Area, because the vast majority of swimmers remain close to shore and far from areas used for at-sea training and testing, which in many cases occur more than 12 NM from shore. Expenditures on motorized and non-motorized boating activities, which could occur in the same locations as some training and testing activities, totaled over \$2.3 billion in 2014, averaging between

\$75 and \$88 per person per day. The per-person, per-day expenditures on boating activities were exceeded only by SCUBA diving, for which individuals spent an average of \$119 per day and total expenditures were over \$130 million. In comparison, per-person, per-day expenditures on swimming averaged just \$20 and on tubing were \$44 (Briceno & Schundler, 2015).

Other than swimming, the most popular water sport activity in 2014 was fishing, which recorded 19.5 million participant days with average expenditures of \$41 per person per day (Briceno & Schundler, 2015). Recreational fishing is discussed in Section 3.12.2.2 (Commercial and Recreational Fishing).

#### 3.12.2.3.1 Offshore Area

Tourism and recreation within the Study Area occurs primarily within Puget Sound; however, a variety of tourism and recreational activities also occur in the Offshore Area. These activities include whale watching, which occurs March through November with peak tourism activity in the summer, and charter boat fishing. Whale watching by boat primarily occurs along the Oregon coast (Newport and Depoe Bay) and Northern California (Fort Bragg). Gray whales are the most commonly observed species, found about 5 miles off the coast during their southward migration in December and January and as close as one-half mile during their northward migration, which extends from March through June (Oregon Coast Visitors Association, 2018). Whale watching off the Washington coast occurs from boat- and land-based operations (O'Connor et al., 2009).

As noted above, portions of the Olympic National Park and Olympic National Forest underlie airspace that is part of the Study Area, and both of these natural areas attract tourists and locals into the state. Visitation at the park has increased each year since 2013 and totaled almost 3.4 million people in 2016 (National Park Service, 2017). Summer is the most popular time to visit the park, and in nearly every year since 1979, August has had the highest number of recreation visitors to the park with over 764,000 in 2017. Since 1979, visitation has been lowest in winter and early spring. On average, between 85,000 and 113,000 people visited the park during November through March between the years 1979 and 2017 (National Park Service, 2018).

The Olympic MOAs partially overlap the Olympic National Park, Olympic National Forest, Colonel Bob Wilderness Area, and Pacific Beach as well as other sites popular with locals and tourists (Figure 3.12-10). Approximately 24 percent of the Olympic National Park and 27 percent of the Olympic National Forest lies beneath the Olympic MOAs. All of the Colonel Bob Wilderness Area and Pacific Beach State Park underlie the Olympic MOAs as do several other points of interest and recreation areas located on the peninsula. As part of the Proposed Action, the Navy would continue to use the Olympic MOAs in the same manner proposed in the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS. The Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary, located offshore of the Olympic Peninsula, also attracts tourists and is analyzed in Chapter 6 (Additional Regulatory Considerations). A substantial number of tourists accessing locations on the Olympic Peninsula come by car across the Hood Canal Bridge, which is located in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area and discussed in in Section 3.12.2.1.3 (Vehicle Traffic).

Data reported by the National Ocean Economics Program show that the tourism and recreation industry in Washington coastal counties increased steadily from 2010 to 2014 (National Ocean Economics Program, 2017c). The number of businesses specializing in ocean-related activities increased by 2 percent from 5,017 in 2010 to 5,125 in 2014. Even though the increase in the number of establishments was modest, the number of jobs in the industry rose by 12 percent over the five-year time span. Wages paid out in the industry increased by 25 percent, and the industry contribution to Gross Domestic Product grew by 23 percent (National Ocean Economics Program, 2017c). Data available through 2016

for the broader leisure and hospitality industry in coastal and inland counties in Washington State indicate that the tourism and recreation industry has continued to grow beyond 2014 (National Ocean Economics Program, 2017b).

Coastal counties in Oregon (i.e., Clatsop, Coos, Curry, Douglas, Lane, Lincoln, and Tillamook) showed similar economic growth from 2010 through 2014 despite a 3.4 percent decline in the number of businesses specializing in ocean-related activities (National Ocean Economics Program, 2017a). Employment in the ocean tourism and recreation industry increased by 6 percent, wages were up by 24 percent, and the contribution to Gross Domestic Product rose by 26 percent between 2010 and 2014.

### 3.12.2.3.2 Inland Waters

The Inland Waters portion of the Study Area, including Puget Sound and Hood Canal, offer a wide variety of recreational activities for tourists and residents both on the water and along the shoreline. Recreational boating and other ocean-related activities contribute millions of dollars to the regional economy. In 2014, there were approximately 9.3 million participant days recorded by visitors accessing Washington State public waterways, which consists largely of waterways of the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area. Visitors participated in numerous recreational activities, including fishing, motorized boating and sailing, and non-motorized paddle sports (Briceno & Schundler, 2015). Expenditures in 2014 were highest for recreational activities. Water recreation includes a number of activities with high trip and equipment expenditures, especially activities involving motorized boating (Briceno & Schundler, 2015). Visitors who participated in recreational activities spent over \$692 million in 2014 and contributed to multiple economic sectors in the region (e.g., hotels, food and beverage, retail) in addition to supporting businesses that cater directly to fishing and other water-based activities, such as SCUBA diving (Briceno & Schundler, 2015).

Popular outdoor activities in the Inland Waters area include boating, canoeing, swimming, diving, wildlife viewing, fishing, backpacking, bird watching, camping, hunting, kayaking, mountain biking, and hiking (Go Northwest!, 2017). Tourism is especially important to the economies in the towns of Coupeville and Langley, both waterfront towns on Whidbey Island that cater to tourists.

Vendors along the shoreline of Dabob Bay in Hood Canal offer a wide variety of boats to rent for recreational activities; services include recreational tours and group events. State parks on the shores of Hood Canal include Belfair, Twanoh, Potlatch, Triton Cove, Scenic Beach, Dosewallips, Kitsap Memorial, and Shine Tidelands (Figure 3.12-10). There are also a number of public marinas located along Hood Canal.

Puget Sound's good underwater visibility, rich sea life, and largely pristine diving conditions make it a popular destination for divers visiting the northwest. Charter dive trips to specific sites (Figure 3.12-10) are often published and booked as many as six months in advance. Diving occurs year round, though the number of trips to popular dive sites peaks during the summer, and most dive charters are scheduled for weekends. The tourism industry is linked to multiple sectors of the Washington State economy and relies on access to public waterways, including Puget Sound, to continue attracting visitors and tourism related businesses to the state (Briceno & Schundler, 2015).



Figure 3.12-10: Recreational Areas in the Inland Waters Portion of the Study Area

#### 3.12.2.3.3 Western Behm Canal, Alaska

There are no protected recreational areas within the Western Behm Canal portion of the Study Area, but Behm Canal is near the Misty Fjords National Monument and approximately 10 miles south of the major cruise ship stopover in Ketchikan, Alaska. Over 800,000 passengers visit Ketchikan annually. In 2014, the port reported nearly 500 port calls by cruise vessels, which only visit Ketchikan between April and September (Ketchikan Visitors Bureau, 2015). Visitors to Ketchikan can charter a fishing vessel or a float plane to access more remote marine areas.

Areas of Western Behm Canal near the SEAFAC are used for water-based recreation, and at least some of those participants are likely to be tourists. As noted above, several open-water areas near the SEAFAC are considered to be heavy or moderate recreational boating and fishing areas. Clover Pass, which is immediately west of the SEAFAC, is one of the area's main boating and sport fishing areas and is highly regarded for its scenic value.

With its three marinas and three resorts, the area is also very popular with sport fishers for nearshore and open water fishing, as well as for diving (Ketchikan Gateway Borough, 2007). Some of the popular recreational areas in the immediate vicinity of the SEAFAC include

- Betton Island State Marine Park: Uses include kayaking, boating, beachcombing, SCUBA diving, camping, fishing, hunting, wildlife viewing, and commercial guide activity (Ketchikan Gateway Borough, 2007).
- Grant and Joe Islands State Marine Park: The park is well known as a kayak resting area and for picnicking and camping. This park is accessible by boat and float plane only, which makes it less accessible to visitors (Ketchikan Gateway Borough, 2007).

# 3.12.3 Environmental Consequences

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS analyzed training and testing activities currently occurring in the Study Area and considered all potential stressors related to socioeconomic resources. Stressors applicable to socioeconomic resources in the Study Area are the same stressors analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS:

- Accessibility (to the ocean and the airspace)
- Airborne acoustics
- **Physical disturbance and strike** (aircraft, vessels and in-water devices, military expended materials)
- Secondary (availability of resources)

This section evaluates how and to what degree potential impacts on socioeconomic resources from stressors described in Section 3.0.1 (General Approach to Analysis) may have changed since the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS was completed. Tables 2.5-1 through 2.5-3 list the proposed training and testing activities and include the number of times each activity would be conducted annually and the locations within the Study Area where the activity would typically occur under each alternative. The tables also present the same information for activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS so that the incremental changes in the proposed levels of training and testing can be easily identified. The annual number and location of activities that include various types of stressors that could impact socioeconomic resources are shown in Tables 3.0-9 through 3.0-22. Activities involving vessel movements (Table 3.0-12), for example, have the potential to impact accessibility.

#### 3.12.3.1 Accessibility (to the Ocean and the Airspace)

Navy training and testing activities have the potential to temporarily limit access to areas of the ocean and airspace for a variety of human activities associated with transportation and shipping, commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and other recreational activities in the Study Area. Access is most often affected when the Navy establishes a temporary, localized, safety zone or buffer zone around certain activities and actively restricts non-military activities within the zone. Training and testing activities involving the use of vessels and other in-water devices and aircraft have the greatest potential to impact accessibility to areas of the ocean or airspace.

The Navy searched for and reviewed publically available resources, including government documents and reports, scientific journals, and on-line databases for new socioeconomic data and information on activities occurring in the Study Area and published since 2015. New information on commercial fisheries and tourism was added to Section 3.12.2.2 (Commercial and Recreational Fishing) and Section 3.12.2.3 (Tourism and Recreation). Limiting access to areas that are popular for fishing and other activities conducted by the public is a factor potentially impacting recreational fishing, and tourism and related recreational activities. The data and supporting information presented in Section 3.12.2.2 (Commercial and Recreational Fishing) and Section 3.12.2.3 (Tourism and Recreation) describing economic indicators for ocean-related recreation and tourism show that trends for the industry have been positive in recent years and are likely to continue to show growth.

#### 3.12.3.1.1 Impacts on Accessibility Under Alternative 1

#### 3.12.3.1.1.1 Impacts on Accessibility Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed training events involving the movement of vessels or the use of in-water devices would remain generally consistent with those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13). While the number of events involving vessel movements in the Offshore Area would decrease from about 1,100 to under 600 annually, events with vessel movements in the Inland Waters would increase from about 370 to nearly 700 annually. Overall, this results in about a 17 percent decrease in events involving vessel movements in the Study Area. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously.

There is an overall increase in the use of in-water devices (Table 3.0-13), all of which are associated with unmanned underwater vehicle use. The proposed increase of approximately 120 events using in-water devices in the Study Area would not substantially increase potential impacts on accessibility. While the vast majority of activities using in-water devices occur in the Offshore Area, 65 of these activities would occur in the Inland Waters area compared with just 1 proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

The number of annual events with aircraft movements in the Offshore Area (Table 3.0-11) would increase by 12 percent (from 6,311 to 7,047) and would increase from 100 to 143 events in the Inland Waters area. Training activities using aircraft are primarily conducted in offshore warning areas and in the Olympic MOAs. The offshore warning areas do not overlap with commercial airways; however, the Olympic MOAs overlap with several high-altitude commercial airways: J105, J54, and T257 (Figure 3.12-4). Relatively few events involving aircraft movements would occur in the Inland Waters area, consistent with the ongoing level of activity. Impacts on accessibility, if any were to occur, would likely temporarily affect general aviation and other small aircraft flying over the Inland Waters and Olympic Peninsula (Figure 3.12-5).

No impacts on commercial transportation and shipping are anticipated, because major shipping routes and airways are well defined, and training activities would avoid those areas. Potential impacts on

commercial and recreational fishing and tourism and recreation are reduced by alerting the public of upcoming activities. When training activities are scheduled that require specific areas to be free of non-participating vessels and aircraft, the military requests that the USCG issues NTMs and the FAA issues NOTAM to allow the public to plan accordingly and ultimately to ensure the safety of military personnel and the public. When necessary, ocean areas and airspace used by the military are restricted for short periods of time (typically on the order of hours) to allow a training activity to be conducted with minimal potential for interruptions and risks to public safety. Once the activity is complete, the ocean or airspace is available for use by the public, except for areas where a permanent danger zone or restricted area has previously been designated (e.g., Dabob Bay restricted area; see 33 CFR 334.1260)

Furthermore, the military follows standard operating procedures to visually scan an area to ensure that non-participants (i.e., civilian vessels and aircraft) are not present. If non-participants are present, the military delays, moves, or postpones the activity. Refer to Section 2.3.3 (Standard Operating Procedures) for additional information on standard operating procedures. Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions) lists standard operating procedures that are implemented for each activity.

There has been no appreciable change to the existing environmental conditions as presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the results of the analysis of impacts from limitations on accessibility to the ocean and airspace on transportation and shipping, commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation, as summarized in this section, remain the same.

# 3.12.3.1.1.2 Impacts on Accessibility Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed testing activities involving the movement of vessels or the use of in-water devices would increase compared to those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13). While activities with vessel movements would increase substantially in the Offshore Area (from 138 to 308 annually), activities with vessel movements decrease in the Inland Waters (from 944 to 817 annually). There would also be an overall increase of approximately 60 percent in the use of in-water devices (from about 740 to 1,200) (Table 3.0-13). The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously.

Testing activities using aircraft are primarily conducted in offshore warning areas, which do not overlap with commercial airways (Figure 3.12-4). Testing activities involving aircraft movements in the Offshore Area would increase from 113 to 258, decrease in the Inland Waters from 456 to 61, and would remain at 4 annual events in Western Behm Canal (Table 3.0-11). Aircraft movements in the Offshore Area are primarily conducted in warning areas, which do not overlap with commercial or general aviation airways, and in the Olympic MOAs, which overlap with several high-altitude commercial airways: J105, J54, and T257 (Figure 3.12-4). The majority of aircraft movements over the Inland Waters area are from aircraft transiting to the Offshore Area and inland airfields (see Tables 2.5-1, 2.5-2, and 2.5-3). The reduction in aircraft movements in the Inland Waters area would reduce the potential impacts on general aviation and other small aircraft flying over the Inland Waters and Olympic Peninsula (Figure 3.12-5). Overall, the changes in the use of vessels, in-water devices, and aircraft as described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS would not substantially change potential impacts on accessibility.

In Western Behm Canal, the Navy limits vessel traffic only when essential to the success of test events. Historically, the Navy has ensured that 89 percent of the peak tourism and fishing season is unaffected by restrictions, and the remaining 11 percent is only affected by requirements that transiting vessels reduce speed when testing is occurring, resulting in only brief delays. Navy activities that have the
potential to conflict with other uses of Western Behm Canal, including commercial and recreational fishing, are minimized through specific provisions in 33 CFR Section 334, including short-duration closures and advanced public notification through NTMs. Navy activities have occurred in Western Behm Canal for approximately 20 years while minimizing impacts on other users.

No impacts on commercial transportation and shipping are anticipated, because major shipping routes and airways are well defined, and testing activities would avoid those areas. Potential impacts on commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation are reduced by alerting the public of upcoming activities. When testing activities are scheduled that require specific areas to be free of non-participating vessels and aircraft, the military requests that the USCG issues NTMs and the FAA issues NOTAM to allow the public to plan accordingly and ultimately to ensure the safety of military personnel and the public. When necessary, ocean areas and airspace used by the military are restricted for short periods of time (typically on the order of hours) to allow a testing activity to be conducted with minimal potential for interruptions and risks to public safety. Once the activity is complete, the ocean or airspace is available for use by the public, except for areas where a permanent danger zone or restricted area has previously been designated (e.g., Dabob Bay restricted area; see 33 CFR 334.1260).

Furthermore, the military follows standard operating procedures to visually scan an area to ensure that non-participants (i.e., civilian vessels and aircraft) are not present. If non-participants are present, the military delays, moves, or postpones the activity. Refer to Section 2.3.3 (Standard Operating Procedures) for additional information on standard operating procedures. Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions) lists standard operating procedures that are implemented for each activity.

There has been no appreciable change to the existing environmental conditions as presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the results of the analysis of impacts from limitations on accessibility to the ocean and airspace on transportation and shipping, commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation, as summarized in this section, remain the same.

## 3.12.3.1.2 Impacts on Accessibility Under Alternative 2

## 3.12.3.1.2.1 Impacts on Accessibility Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed training events involving the movement of vessels or the use of in-water devices would remain generally consistent with those proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (about 2,100 events per year) and would be about 11 percent greater than under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13). Activities with vessel movements would decrease in the Offshore Area from about 1,200 to 600 events annually compared with ongoing activities and would increase by 35 events per year compared with Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-12). Under Alternative 2, activities with in-water device movements would increase from about 500 ongoing events per year to about 650 events, similar to under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-13).

Activities with aircraft movements in the Offshore Area would increase by 13 percent (from about 6,300 to 7,100 annually) under Alternative 2 compared with the number of events proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Table 3.0-11). Activities with aircraft movements would increase by about 100 events annually compared with the number of events under Alternative 1. Training activities using aircraft are primarily conducted in offshore warning areas, which do not overlap with commercial airways (Figure 3.12-4), with the exception of aircraft activities occurring in the Olympic MOAs, which do overlap with several high-altitude commercial airways: J105, J54, and T257. Activities with aircraft movements in the Inland Waters area would increase to 165 compared with 100 ongoing events and 143 events under

Alternative 1. Relatively few events involving aircraft movements would occur in the Inland Waters area, consistent with the ongoing level of activity. Impacts on accessibility, if any were to occur, would likely temporarily affect general aviation and other small aircraft flying over the Inland Waters and Olympic Peninsula (Figure 3.12-5). Given the limited increase, potential impacts on general aviation and other small aircraft flying over the Inland Waters and Olympic Peninsula would be consistent with the analysis and conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The slight increases in training events including vessel movements, aircraft movements, and in-water devices would have the same or similar impacts on socioeconomic resources described in Section 3.12.3.1.1.1 for Alternative 1.

No impacts on commercial transportation and shipping are anticipated, because major shipping routes and airways are well defined, and training activities would avoid those areas. Potential impacts on commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation are reduced by alerting the public of upcoming activities, as described in Section 3.12.3.1.1.1 for Alternative 1. The results of the analysis of impacts from limitations on accessibility to the ocean and airspace on transportation and shipping, commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation are the same as described in Section 3.12.3.1.1 for Alternative 1.

## 3.12.3.1.2.2 Impacts on Accessibility Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed testing activities involving the movement of vessels or the use of in-water devices would remain generally consistent with those proposed under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-12 and Table 3.0-13). While activities with vessel movements would increase substantially in the Offshore Area (from 138 to 317 annually), activities with vessel movements would decrease in the Inland Waters area from 944 to 831 annually. There would also be an overall increase of approximately 64 percent in the use of in-water devices (from about 740 to 1,200) in the Study Area, with increases proposed in both the Offshore area (128 to 303) and in the Inland Waters area (604 to 905) (Table 3.0-13). A decrease from 60 to 40 events with in-water devices is proposed for Western Behm Canal. The total number of events with vessel movements or in-water device movements would be less than 3 percent greater than under Alternative 1. The activities would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as analyzed previously.

Testing activities using aircraft are primarily conducted in offshore warning areas, which do not overlap with commercial airways (Figure 3.12-4). Testing activities involving aircraft movements in the Offshore Area would increase from 113 to 260 compared with the number of events proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and would be essentially the same as under Alternative 1. Testing activities with aircraft would decrease in the Inland Waters from 456 ongoing events to 61 events under Alternative 2, and would continue to be 4 annual events in Western Behm Canal (Table 3.0-11). Potential impacts on general aviation and other small aircraft flying over the Inland Waters area and Olympic Peninsula would be consistent with analysis and conclusions under Alternative 1 and less likely to occur than during ongoing activities. The slight increases in testing activities including vessel movements, aircraft movements, and in-water devices would have the same impacts on socioeconomic resources described in Section 3.12.3.1.1.2 for Alternative 1.

No impacts on commercial transportation and shipping are anticipated, because major shipping routes and airways are well defined, and testing activities would avoid those areas. Potential impacts on commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation are reduced by alerting the public of upcoming activities, as described in Section 3.12.3.1.1.2 for Alternative 1. The results of the analysis of impacts from limitations on accessibility to the ocean and airspace on transportation and shipping, commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation are the same as described in Section 3.12.3.1.1.2 for Alternative 1.

#### 3.12.3.1.3 Impacts on Accessibility Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Limits on accessibility to the ocean and airspace as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing training and testing activities would result in fewer limits on accessibility within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for limiting accessibility by the public, but would not measurably improve accessibility to the ocean and airspace in the Study Area.

The same limitations on accessing portions of the Study Area designated as danger zones, restricted areas, and warning areas as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and in the CFR would still apply. Refer to 33 CFR (Navigation and Navigable Waters) Part 334 (Danger Zone and Restricted Area Regulations), 33 CFR 165.1401 (Safety Zones), 14 CFR 73.1 (Special Use Airspace) for specific regulations regarding these ocean areas and airspace.

Not conducting the proposed at-sea training and testing activities may have negative impacts on the socioeconomic resources of coastal areas in Washington State, Oregon, and northern California. Communities located along inland waters in Washington State and southeast Alaska may also be impacted. The number of jobs and types of jobs, particularly in coastal communities, that depend on the support of Navy personnel residing or transiting through those communities may be impacted. The Navy and Navy personnel are an important and often stabilizing contributor to the local and regional economies, and a reduced Navy presence could negatively impact certain businesses. For example, vessels and associated equipment used specifically for training and testing activities would no longer be needed if all training and testing ceased. Consequently, the civilian and Navy personnel supporting those activities may be relocated, reassigned, or have to find other employment. The secondary effects from reducing the number of personnel who support at-sea training and testing activities could include a decline in revenue for local businesses frequented by Navy personnel and their families, such as businesses in the food services, retail, and housing sectors. While more complex studies at the local level would need to be conducted to quantify potential socioeconomic impacts from ceasing training and testing activities, it is likely that many coastal communities with a Navy presence would be impacted.

## 3.12.3.2 Airborne Acoustics

Loud noises generated from military training and testing activities such as weapons firing, in-air explosions, and transiting aircraft have the potential to disrupt recreational activities such as wildlife viewing, boating, fishing, and scuba diving. In addition to local residents, tourists participate in these activities in the Study Area. Encountering loud noises, particularly those that occur suddenly and nearby, could interfere with the enjoyment of several types of recreational activities. Disturbance from continuous albeit less intense noises could also affect the enjoyment of an activity.

Airborne acoustics from military activities would occur on a temporary basis and only when weapons firing and in-air explosions occur or as aircraft transit through an area. Military training and testing activities involving weapons firing and in-air explosions would only occur when the military can confirm the area is clear of non-participants (e.g., a recreational vessel). This procedure further reduces the likelihood that noise from these activities, which are taking place far from non-participants, would disturb residents or tourists engaged in recreational activities on the water. Activities involving weapons firing and explosives are not conducted in the Olympic MOAs. Furthermore, with the exception of Air Combat Maneuver and Electronic Warfare Training – Aircraft activities occurring in the Olympic MOAs, most naval training and testing activities involving aircraft occur more the 12 NM from shore and those that occur closer to shore are typically at least 3 NM offshore. Recreational activities are largely conducted within a few miles of shore, which would minimize any overlap and disturbance from noises generated far offshore. Refer to Tables 2.5-1, 2.5-2, and 2.5-3 for information on the locations of Navy activities that use aircraft or munitions. Detailed information on each training and testing activity, including location and the types of stressors associated with the activity (e.g., airborne acoustics), is presented in Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions).

The analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS concluded that training and testing activities could have moderate, intermittent impacts from airborne noise (referred to as airborne acoustics in this Supplemental) on socioeconomic resources, depending on the proximity of the Navy activity to the resource participant. Explosive munitions and large-caliber, non-explosive munitions are the primary sources of weapons-related noise. All training activities using explosive munitions are conducted at least 50 NM from shore, and testing activities using explosives would be conducted at least 12 NM from shore. Training and testing activities using large-caliber, non-explosive munitions would take place at least 20 NM from shore. Since the most intense concentration of offshore socioeconomic activities is within 3 NM of the coast, airborne acoustics from training and testing activities using large-caliber weapons and explosive munitions would not have a significant potential to impact socioeconomic resources. Refer to Section 3.0.3.1.4 (Weapons Noise) for a detailed discussion of the types of airborne acoustics generated by weapons use.

Airborne acoustics generated by aircraft overflights are the type of acoustic disturbance most likely to be encountered by those participating in activities related to socioeconomic resources, because military aircraft transiting to airspace offshore often need to fly over populated areas, including the Olympic Peninsula, or need to conduct activities in the Olympic MOAs. In general, airborne acoustics from aircraft overflights only generate an acoustic disturbance at the moment it is heard, and noise from an overflight disturbance would only accumulate for the duration of a specific event. For example, as described in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas), multiple aircraft flying above the Olympic Peninsula would generate, on average, low level (37 dBA) noise, because more than 95 percent of overflights would occur above 10,000 ft. Mean Sea Level (MSL), placing the source of the noise, an aircraft, and the receptor, a person on the ground, thousands of feet apart. In a worst case scenario with an individual located at an elevation of 4,000-4,500 ft. (approximately 0.09 percent of the land area under the Olympic MOAs) and an EA-18G (one of the loudest fixed-wing aircraft) flying directly over that individual at an altitude of 6,000 MSL, the analysis shows that the maximum noise level would be 100.6 dBA, and noise at this level would last for an average of 0.12 second per flight. Most of the terrain beneath the Olympic MOAs (more than 77 percent) is at an elevation of 1,000 ft. or less, thereby creating a buffer of at least 5,000 ft. between an individual on the ground and an aircraft at the lowest permissible altitude (6,000 ft. MSL). For more than 77 percent of the area, the maximum noise level would be 84.4 dBA. Aircraft flying at higher

altitudes or not directly over an individual on the ground would generate less intense sound at ground level (i.e., the distance between the aircraft and the individual would be greater allowing for greater dissipation or spreading of sound). Aircraft entering or exiting the Olympic MOAs do so at specific points (see Table J-2 in Appendix J) and at a minimum altitude of 10,000 ft. MSL. At a ground elevation of 4,500 ft. MSL, the maximum noise level at the entry and exit points for any aircraft would be 58.2 dBA. At sea level (i.e., 0 ft. MSL) the maximum noise level would be 51.1 dBA. See Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) for more details.

The disturbance from a single aircraft transiting over land or nearshore areas to conduct a training or testing activity in the Offshore Area would be brief (seconds) and have no lasting impact on socioeconomic resources (e.g., commercial transportation and shipping, air traffic, commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and recreation). Aircraft movements that occur more than 3 NM from the coast are less likely to impact socioeconomic resources, and aircraft that fly at higher altitudes while over land and nearshore areas are also less likely to cause a significant impact on socioeconomic resources. Section 3.0.3.1.3 (Aircraft Noise) in this Supplemental provides a detailed discussion of the types of airborne acoustics generated by military aircraft.

In addition to the broader socioeconomic resources listed in the paragraph above, the less quantifiable social resource described generally as the enjoyment of a natural setting, like the Olympic National Park, may also be impacted by airborne acoustics. While noise levels can be measured and noise sources can be compared to each other using well-established metrics, the perception of a noise by individuals and their reaction to the same noise heard simultaneously may vary widely. While some visitors to a natural setting like the Olympic National Park may be disturbed by an aircraft overflight, others may not even register the event.

In 2010, the National Park Service conducted an acoustic monitoring study within the Olympic National Park, measuring both natural sounds and noise generate by human activities (National Park Service, 2016). Noise sampling took place at five sites, with three of those sites (Hoh River Trail, Third Beach Trail, and Lake Ozette) beneath the Olympic MOAs. The purpose of the noise monitoring effort was to characterize existing sound levels in the park and to use the data to estimate a natural ambient acoustic baseline in the park from sounds collected at the five sites, as well as identify the sources of recorded sounds. The study reported the percentage of time that measured noise levels exceeded four noise thresholds indicative of disturbance at each of the measurement locations for the winter season. The fourth and highest level, 60 dBA, provided a basis for estimating impacts on normal voice communications at 3 ft., which is the most relevant threshold for hikers and visitors to the park. Noise levels at Hoh River Trail and Third Beach Trail exceeded 60 dBA less than 1 percent of the time during daytime and nighttime monitoring. Noise levels at Lake Ozette exceeded 60 dBA just 1.2 percent of the time in daytime measurements and 1.4 percent of the time in nighttime measurements (National Park Service, 2016).

The data also show that natural sounds dominated between 7 a.m. and 7 p.m. at each of the three sites beneath the Olympic MOAs. At the Hoh River Trail site, natural sounds were audible 83 percent of the time. Sounds from aircraft, including fixed-wing aircraft and helicopters, were audible 12 percent of the time, and other human sounds were audible 5 percent of the time. At Third Beach Trail, natural sounds were audible 91 percent of the time, and sounds from aircraft and other human activities were audible 5 percent and 4 percent of the time, respectively. At Lake Ozette, the most remote site, natural sounds were recorded 93 percent of the time. Aircraft sounds were audible 7 percent of the time and other human sounds less than 1 percent of the time.

Lake Crescent, which is located approximately 20 km east of the eastern edge of Olympic MOA B, was the site most affected by human sounds (primarily vehicle noise from the highway). Human-generated sounds dominated the sound spectrum 58 percent of the time. Noise from high-altitude jets were audible 7.2 percent of the time, and lower-altitude fixed-wing aircraft and helicopters were audible 0.3 percent of the time. Naturally occurring sounds were louder than human-generated sounds 35 percent of the time. (National Park Service, 2016). The data for the National Park Service study were collected in 2010 but are considered relevant to the Proposed Action, because the tempo of Navy training and testing activities involving aircraft is generally consistent with the baseline data, as presented in Section 3 of Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas).

As described in the examples above, in general, noise intensity or loudness decreases with distance from the sound source. In the case of aircraft overflights, noise levels perceived on the ground are expected to be higher at higher elevations. This correlation is supported by the results presented in the noise study in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas). A scenario similar to the examples described above but taken from the study illustrates how noise may be perceived by a visitor to the park. Suppose a hiker is beneath the Olympic MOAs at a terrain height of 300 ft. (a likely situation given that 45 percent of the Olympic MOA overlays terrain between 0 and 500 ft.). In a worst-case scenario, if an EA-18G flew directly over the hiker at full power and at the lowest permissible altitude (6,000 ft. MSL), the hiker would be exposed to noise at 82.9 dBA. That is similar to the sound level the hiker might experience 5 meters from a busy roadway. However, as noted above, the sound of the jet would be at this intensity for only an instant as the jet flies directly over the hiker (a more likely occurrence), then the highest noise experienced by the hiker would be less than 82.9 dBA, dissipating with increasing distance between the jet and the hiker.

While higher elevations in the Olympic National Park would receive higher noise levels, the areas with the highest elevations are located in the eastern half of the park; the MOAs only overlay the western portion of the park, and in total, only approximately 27 percent of the entire park. Based on the data and analysis presented in the National Park Service noise study, aircraft overflight noise is only a very small portion of the sounds detectable in the Olympic National Park. An individual visitor may still be disturbed by an aircraft overflight; however, for the vast majority of the time, visitors are exposed to naturally occurring sounds, and to a lesser extent, noise from other human sources not associated with the Proposed Action, including noise from commercial and general aviation aircraft.

Refer to Section 3.12.3.3 (Aircraft and Vessel Noise) in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS for more information on the potential impacts of airborne acoustics (airborne noise) in the Study Area. Refer to Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) for more information on noise levels that visitors to the Olympic National Park and other areas beneath the Navy's Olympic MOAs could experience.

## 3.12.3.2.1 Impacts on Airborne Acoustics Under Alternative 1

## 3.12.3.2.1.1 Impacts on Airborne Acoustics Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of annual events with aircraft movements in the Offshore Area (Table 3.0-11) would increase by 12 percent (from 6,311 to 7,047) and in the Inland Waters area would increase from 100 to 143 events. Airborne acoustics are not expected to impact commercial transportation and shipping, because these types of activities are generally not sensitive to occasional noise from aircraft overflights, and shipping vessels would not be delayed by airborne acoustics. A slight

increase in the number of activities with aircraft movements in the Inland Waters would increase potential impacts on commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation occurring inland and on adjacent land areas. However, these changes would not appreciably change the existing environmental conditions as presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the results of the analysis of impacts from airborne acoustics on commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation remain valid.

Aircraft overflights from Air Combat Maneuver training activities and Electronic Warfare Training – Aircraft activities occurring in the Olympic MOAs have the potential to disturb land-based recreational and tourism activities (e.g., hiking) in the Olympic National Park and other areas on the Olympic Peninsula. While airborne acoustics from aircraft overflights are likely to be heard and may disturb some visitors to the national park, economic indicators representing tourism and recreational activities in the region, including in the national park, have been trending upwards in recent years and are projected to continue to increase (see Section 3.12.2.3.1, Offshore Area). The Navy has been conducting aircraft activities in the Olympic MOAs for decades, and those same economic indicators have been steadily increasing over much of that time (National Ocean Economics Program, 2018a, 2018b).

From 2015 through 2017, the average annual number of Navy EA-18G aircraft transits to and from the Olympic MOAs was 2,224. Under Alternative 1, EA-18G transits to and from the Olympic MOAs are proposed to increase by 300 per year. This proposed increase equates to, on average, less than one additional transit per day over a calendar year.

As described in detail in the Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas (Appendix J), visitors to the national park, national forests, and wilderness areas on the Olympic Peninsula would potentially be affected by and respond to individual flyover events by aircraft transiting to and from NAS Whidbey Island. The highest elevations along the flight transit routes between NAS Whidbey Island and the Olympic MOAs range from approximately 4,500 to 8,000 ft. MSL. An EA-18G flying at an altitude of 10,000 ft. MSL directly over an 8,000 ft. peak could produce maximum noise levels of up to 97 dBA at ground level (i.e., at a distance of 2,000 ft.) (see Table J-7 of Appendix J, Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Area). Maximum noise levels would be lower at elevations below the highest peaks and ridgelines and where the aircraft is not directly overhead. The noise level also depends on the engine power used by the aircraft at the time of overflight. At ground level elevations near sea level (i.e., 0 ft. MSL), where the distance between the aircraft at an altitude of 10,000 ft. MSL and a receptor is approximately 10,000 ft., the maximum noise level would be 73 dBA (see Table J-7 of Appendix J, Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Area). Although noise from overflights during transit could be higher than average background noise levels in the national park, national forest, and wilderness areas, on average they would not be substantially above the range of commonly heard natural sounds in the national park or nearby areas (National Park Service, 2016). At the Hurricane Ridge site, which is the closest site to the YETII reporting point, the daytime median ambient noise level was 24.4 dBA. After removing noise from all aircraft overflights, the median ambient noise level was reduced to 23.4 dBA, and noise from only natural sounds was measured at 23.1 dBA.

Visitors to the national park, national forests, and wilderness areas on weekends or at night will rarely hear an EA-18G aircraft, because EA-18G training flights typically occur Monday through Friday and during daylight hours.

For a more detailed analysis of airborne acoustics on the Olympic Peninsula, refer to Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas), which concludes that noise exposure within the Olympic MOAs and W-237, including noise from aircraft transiting from NAS Whidbey, is within the Department of Defense Noise Zone 1, with Day Night Average Sound Levels below 65 dBA for the entire area studied. Small portions of the land area underlying the Olympic MOAs, at elevations above 4,000 ft. MSL (less than 1 percent of the total area), could be exposed to greater noise levels for periods of 1 second or less per aircraft sortie. It is unlikely that many visitors to the national park would be at locations above 4,000 ft. MSL when aircraft are present and be exposed to the higher noise levels.

As concluded in Section 3.12.3.3 (Aircraft and Vessel Noise) in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and summarized above in Section 3.12.3.2 (Airborne Acoustics), airborne acoustics (airborne noise) generated by training activities would be temporary, of short duration, localized, and generally far enough from areas popular with tourists and residents (i.e., more than 3 NM from shore) to have a negligible impact on socioeconomic resources. Some visitors to areas underlying the Olympic MOAs (e.g., Olympic National Park) may occasionally experience aircraft overflight noise. While this may impact the enjoyment of the park or other outdoor areas for some people, analysis summarized above and described in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) indicates that the disturbance would be transient, lasting only a few seconds per overflight, and exceed 60 dBA less than 2 percent of the time during daytime and nighttime hours. For the majority of the daytime and nighttime, natural sounds are more prevalent than anthropogenic sounds in the areas of the National Park beneath the Olympic MOAs. Considering that trends in economic indicators have historically increased and are projected to continue to increase, disturbances from airborne acoustics on the Olympic Peninsula are expected to have a negligible impact on socioeconomic resources in the Study Area.

## 3.12.3.2.1.2 Impacts on Airborne Acoustics Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, testing activities involving aircraft movements in the Offshore Area would increase from 113 to 258 events, decrease in the Inland Waters from 456 to 61 events, and would remain at 4 annual events in Western Behm Canal (Table 3.0-11). Airborne acoustics are not expected to impact commercial transportation and shipping, because these types of activities are generally not sensitive to occasional noise from aircraft overflights, and commercial shipping vessels would not be delayed by airborne acoustics. Aircraft movements in the Offshore Area, with the exception of the Olympic MOAs, are primarily conducted in offshore warning areas far enough from people and areas popular with tourists (e.g., more than 3 NM from shore) to have a negligible impact on most recreation and tourismrelated activities. The majority of aircraft overflights in the Inland Waters area are from aircraft transiting to the Offshore Area and activities occurring in the Olympic MOAs (see Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3). In spite of increases in some aircraft movements, airborne acoustics from aircraft overflights would not substantially increase potential impacts on commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation, because these changes would not appreciably change the existing environmental conditions as presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As summarized in Section 3.12.3.2 (Airborne Acoustics) and in Section 3.12.3.3 (Aircraft and Vessel Noise) in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, airborne acoustics (noise) generated by testing activities would be temporary, of short duration, and localized.

Some visitors to areas underlying the Olympic MOAs (e.g., Olympic National Park) may occasionally experience aircraft overflight noise. While this may impact the enjoyment of the park or other outdoor

areas for some people, analysis summarized above and described in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) indicates that the disturbance would be transient, lasting only a few seconds per overflight, and exceed 52 dBA less than 0.3 percent of the time. For the majority of the daytime and nighttime, natural sounds are more prevalent than anthropogenic sounds in the areas of the National Park beneath the Olympic MOAs. Considering that trends in economic indicators have historically increased and are projected to continue to increase, disturbances from airborne acoustics on the Olympic Peninsula are expected to have a negligible impact on socioeconomic resources in the Study Area.

## 3.12.3.2.2 Impacts on Airborne Acoustics Under Alternative 2

## 3.12.3.2.2.1 Impacts on Airborne Acoustics Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, activities with aircraft movements in the Offshore Area would increase by 13 percent (from about 6,311 to 7,047 annually) compared with the number of events proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Table 3.0-11). Activities with aircraft movements would increase by about 100 events annually compared with the number of events under Alternative 1. Training activities using aircraft are primarily conducted in offshore warning areas, which do not overlap with commercial airways (Figure 3.12-4); however, the Olympic MOAs overlap with several high-altitude commercial airways: J105, J54, and T257. Activities with aircraft movements in the Inland Waters area would increase to 165 compared with 100 ongoing events and 143 events under Alternative 1.

Aircraft overflights from Air Combat Maneuver training activities and Electronic Warfare Training – Aircraft activities occurring in the Olympic MOAs have the potential to disturb land-based recreational and tourism activities (e.g., hiking) in the Olympic National Park. Relatively few events involving aircraft movements would occur in the Inland Waters area, consistent with the ongoing level of activity. Impacts from airborne acoustics would be temporary and dependent on the perceptions and sensitivity to noise of individuals primarily on the Olympic Peninsula. While airborne acoustics from aircraft overflights are likely to be heard and may disturb some visitors to the Olympic National Park, economic indicators representing tourism and recreational activities in the region, including in the national park, have been trending upwards in recent years and are projected to continue to increase (see Section 3.12.2.3.1, Offshore Area). The Navy has been conducting aircraft activities in the Olympic MOAs for decades, and those same economic indicators have been steadily increasing over much of that time (National Ocean Economics Program, 2018a, 2018b).

For a more detailed analysis of airborne acoustics on the Olympic Peninsula, refer to Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas), which concludes that noise exposure within the Olympic MOAs and W-237, including noise from aircraft transiting from NAS Whidbey is within the Department of Defense Noise Zone 1, with Day-Night Average Sound Levels below 65 dBA for the entire area studied. Small portions of the land area underlying the Olympic MOAs, at elevations above 4,000 ft. MSL (less than 1 percent of the total area), could be exposed to greater noise levels for periods of 1 second or less per aircraft sortie. It is unlikely that many visitors to the national park would be at locations above 4,000 ft. when aircraft are present and be exposed to higher noise levels. Some visitors to areas underlying the Olympic MOAs (e.g., Olympic National Park) may occasionally experience aircraft overflight noise. While this may impact the enjoyment of the park or other outdoor areas for some people, analysis summarized above and described in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) indicates that the disturbance would be transient, lasting only a few seconds per overflight, and exceed 60 dBA less than 2 percent of the time during daytime and nighttime hours. For the majority of the daytime and nighttime, natural sounds are

more prevalent than anthropogenic sounds in the areas of the National Park beneath the Olympic MOAs (National Park Service, 2016). Considering that trends in economic indicators have historically increased and are projected to continue to increase, disturbances from airborne acoustics on the Olympic Peninsula are expected to have a negligible impact on socioeconomic resources in the Study Area.

As concluded in Section 3.12.3.3 (Aircraft and Vessel Noise) in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and summarized above in Section 3.12.3.2 (Airborne Acoustics), airborne acoustics (airborne noise) generated by at-sea training activities would be temporary, of short duration, localized, and generally far enough from areas popular with tourists and residents (i.e., more than 3 NM from shore) to have a negligible impact on socioeconomic resources. Airborne acoustics are not expected to impact commercial transportation and shipping, because these types of activities are generally not sensitive to occasional noise from aircraft overflights, and shipping vessels would not be delayed by airborne acoustics. The slight increases in training activities with aircraft movements would have the same impacts on commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation described in Section 3.12.3.2.1.1 for Alternative 1.

## 3.12.3.2.2.2 Impacts on Airborne Acoustics Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Testing activities using aircraft are primarily conducted in offshore warning areas, which do not overlap with commercial airways (Figure 3.12-4). Testing activities involving aircraft movements in the Offshore Area would increase from 113 to 260 compared with the number of events proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and would be essentially the same as under Alternative 1. Testing activities with aircraft would decrease in the Inland Waters from 456 ongoing events to 61, and would continue to be 4 annual events in Western Behm Canal (Table 3.0-11).

As summarized above in Section 3.12.3.2 (Airborne Acoustics), airborne acoustics generated by testing activities would be temporary, of short duration, localized, and generally far enough from people and areas popular with tourists (e.g., more than 3 NM from shore) to have a negligible impact. Some visitors to areas underlying the Olympic MOAs (e.g., Olympic National Park) may occasionally experience aircraft overflight noise. While this may impact the enjoyment of the park or other outdoor areas for some people, analysis summarized above and described in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) indicates that the disturbance would be transient, lasting only a few seconds per overflight, and exceed 60 dBA less than 2 percent of the time during daytime and nighttime hours. For the majority of the daytime and nighttime, natural sounds are more prevalent than anthropogenic sounds in the areas of the National Park beneath the Olympic MOAs (National Park Service, 2016).

For a more detailed analysis of airborne acoustics on the Olympic Peninsula, refer to Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas), which concludes that noise exposure within the Olympic MOAs and W-237, including noise from aircraft transiting from NAS Whidbey is within the Department of Defense Noise Zone 1, with Day Night Average Sound Levels below 65 A-weighted decibels (dBA) for the entire area studied. Considering that trends in economic indicators have historically increased and are projected to continue to increase, disturbances from airborne acoustics on the Olympic Peninsula are expected to have a negligible impact on socioeconomic resources in the Study Area.

## 3.12.3.2.3 Impacts on Airborne Acoustics Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Disturbances from airborne acoustic stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment.

Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing training and testing activities would result in fewer disturbances from airborne acoustics within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for disturbances from airborne acoustics, but would not measurably change the frequency or severity of disturbances from airborne acoustics experienced by the public in the Study Area.

Not conducting the proposed at-sea training and testing activities may have negative impacts on the socioeconomic resources of coastal areas in Washington State, Oregon, and northern California. Communities located along inland waters in Washington State and southeast Alaska may also be impacted. The number of jobs and types of jobs, particularly in coastal communities, that depend on the support of Navy personnel residing or transiting through those communities may be impacted. The Navy and Navy personnel are an important and often stabilizing contributor to the local and regional economies, and a reduced Navy presence could negatively impact certain businesses. For example, vessels and associated equipment used specifically for training and testing activities would no longer be needed if all training and testing ceased. Consequently, the civilian and Navy personnel supporting those activities may be relocated, reassigned, or have to find other employment. The secondary effects from reducing the number of personnel who support at-sea training and testing activities could include a decline in revenue for local businesses frequented by Navy personnel and their families, such as businesses in the food services, retail, and housing sectors. While more complex studies at the local level would need to be conducted to quantify potential socioeconomic impacts from ceasing training and testing activities, it is likely that many coastal communities with a Navy presence would be impacted.

## 3.12.3.3 Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors

The evaluation of impacts on socioeconomic resources from physical disturbance and strike stressors focuses on direct physical encounters or collisions with objects moving through the water or air (e.g., vessels, aircraft, unmanned devices, and towed devices), dropped or fired into the water (e.g., explosive and non-explosive munitions, other military expended materials, and ocean bottom deployed devices), or resting on the ocean floor (e.g., anchors, mines, targets) that may damage or encounter civilian equipment. These stressors remain the same as analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

Physical encounters that damage equipment and infrastructure could disrupt the collection (e.g., of fisheries resources) and transport of products, which could impact industry revenue or operating costs. Socioeconomic resources potentially impacted by encounters with military vessels, devices, and objects include commercial transportation and shipping, commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism and related forms of recreation.

As discussed above in Section 3.12.3.1 (Accessibility [to the Ocean and the Airspace]), the majority of recreational fishing and tourism and related forms of recreation in the Study Area takes place in nearshore waters (within 3 NM from shore), and the military conducts the training and testing activities involving munitions or other expended materials farther offshore, beyond 12 NM for activities using munitions. Therefore, most recreational fishing and tourism activities would not occur in close proximity to physical disturbance and strike stressors.

Larger commercial fishing vessels are more likely to go beyond 3 NM and approach areas where the military trains and tests and may be in close proximity to physical disturbance and strike stressors. To avoid conflicts with civilian vessels, the military follows standard operating procedures to visually scan an area to ensure that non-participants (i.e., civilian vessels and aircraft) are not present. If non-participants are present, the military delays, moves, or postpones the activity. Refer to Section 2.3.3 (Standard Operating Procedures) for additional information on standard operating procedures. Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions) lists standard operating procedures that are implemented for each activity to ensure the safety of civilians and military personnel.

Commercial shipping vessels transport goods internationally and would be expected to transit through offshore waters en route to domestic and foreign ports. Shipping vessels follow established routes which are avoided by the military during training and testing activities, and both military and civilian vessels in proximity to each other are expected to communicate their positions. In addition, the military provides advance notification of training and testing activities to the public through NTMs and other means of communication as described in Section 3.12.3.1 (Accessibility [to the Ocean and the Airspace]) and in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. For these reasons, a direct strike or collision with a shipping vessel is unlikely.

Additional information of physical disturbance and strike stressors and the potential for interactions with commercial fishing vessels and gear is described in Section 3.12.3.2 (Physical Disturbance and Interactions) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

## 3.12.3.3.1 Impacts from Physical Disturbance and Strike Under Alternative 1

#### 3.12.3.3.1.1 Impacts from Physical Disturbance and Strike Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, physical disturbance and strike stressors that may impact socioeconomic resources include (1) vessels and in-water devices, (2) aircraft, and (3) military expended materials. These three categories represent the same stressors analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

As discussed in Section 3.12.3.1 (Accessibility [to the Ocean and the Airspace]), the slight increases in training activities including vessel movements, aircraft movements, and in-water devices would not appreciably change from the existing environmental conditions as presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-22 are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 is approximately 7 percent less than ongoing activities. The largest changes are in the number of explosive and non-explosive large-caliber projectiles and medium-caliber projectiles used under Alternative 1 (Table 3.0-14 and 3.0-16). The number of non-explosive large-caliber projectiles increases by about 6,000, and the number of medium-caliber projectiles decreases by about 16,000 (Table 3.0-14). The number of explosive large-caliber projectiles and explosive medium-caliber projectiles both decrease under Alternative 1 (390 to 172 annually for large caliber and 6,368 to 550 annually for medium caliber) (Table 3.0-16). The activities that expend military materials, including munitions, would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on socioeconomic resources from physical disturbance and strike by military expended materials would be expected to be the same or slightly reduced.

Therefore, the conclusions presented in Section 3.12.3.2 (Physical Disturbance and Interactions) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remain valid. Specifically, due to implementation of the Navy's standard

operating procedures and the unlikely occurrence of physical interactions between military vessels, aircraft, and expended materials with civilian vessels and aircraft, the potential for impacts on socioeconomic resources from physical disturbance and strike interactions is negligible.

#### 3.12.3.3.1.2 Impacts from Physical Disturbance and Strike Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, physical disturbance and strike stressors that may impact socioeconomic resources include (1) vessels and in-water devices, (2) aircraft, and (3) military expended materials. These three categories represent the same stressors analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

As discussed in Section 3.12.3.1 (Accessibility [to the Ocean and the Airspace]), the increases in testing activities including vessel movements, aircraft movements, and in-water devices would not appreciably change from the existing environmental conditions as presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Under Alternative 1, the number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. When the amount of military expended materials from (Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-22) are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 1 is approximately 12 percent less than ongoing activities. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on socioeconomic resources from physical disturbance and strike by military expended materials would be expected to be the same or slightly reduced.

Therefore, the conclusions presented in Section 3.12.3.2 (Physical Disturbance and Interactions) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remain valid. Specifically, due to implementation of the Navy's standard operating procedures and the unlikely occurrence of physical interactions between military vessels, aircraft, and expended materials with civilian vessels and aircraft, the potential for impacts on socioeconomic resources from physical disturbance and strike interactions is negligible.

#### 3.12.3.3.2 Impacts from Physical Disturbance and Strike Under Alternative 2

#### 3.12.3.3.2.1 Impacts from Physical Disturbance and Strike Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, physical disturbance and strike stressors that may impact socioeconomic resources include (1) vessels and in-water devices, (2) aircraft, and (3) military expended materials. These three categories represent the same stressors analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

As discussed in Section 3.12.3.1 (Accessibility [to the Ocean and the Airspace]), training activities including vessel movements, aircraft movements, and in-water devices would remain generally consistent with those proposed under Alternative 1. The number of military materials that would be expended during training activities is generally equivalent to the number proposed for use under Alternative 1. When the amount of military expended materials from Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-22 is combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 is approximately 13 percent more than under Alternative 1 (and approximately 5 percent greater than in ongoing activities). As under Alternative 1, the largest changes are in the number of explosive and non-explosive medium-caliber projectiles (Tables 3.0-14 and 3.0-16). The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on socioeconomic resources from physical disturbance and strike by military expended materials would be expected to be the same or slightly greater.

Therefore, the conclusions presented in Section 3.12.3.2 (Physical Disturbance and Interactions) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remain valid. Specifically, due to implementation of the Navy's standard

operating procedures and the unlikely occurrence of physical interactions between military vessels, aircraft, and expended materials with civilian vessels and aircraft, the potential for impacts on socioeconomic resources from physical disturbance and strike interactions is negligible.

#### 3.12.3.3.2.2 Impacts from Physical Disturbance and Strike Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, physical disturbance and strike stressors that may impact socioeconomic resources include (1) vessels and in-water devices, (2) aircraft, and (3) military expended materials. These three categories represent the same stressors analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

As discussed in Section 3.12.3.1 (Accessibility [to the Ocean and the Airspace]), the increases in testing activities including vessel movements, aircraft movements, and of in-water devices would remain generally consistent with those proposed under Alternative 1. The number of military materials that would be expended during testing activities is generally consistent with the number proposed for use under Alternative 1. When the amount of military expended materials from Tables 3.0-14 through 3.0-22 are combined, the number of items proposed to be expended under Alternative 2 is approximately 16 percent more than under Alternative 1. The activities that expend military materials would occur in the same locations and in a similar manner as were analyzed previously. Therefore, the impacts on socioeconomic resources from physical disturbance and strike by military expended materials would be expected to be the same or slightly greater.

Therefore, the conclusions presented in Section 3.12.3.2 (Physical Disturbance and Interactions) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS remain valid. Specifically, due to implementation of the Navy's standard operating procedures and the unlikely occurrence of physical interactions between military vessels, aircraft, and expended materials with civilian vessels and aircraft, the potential for impacts on socioeconomic resources from physical disturbance and strike interactions is negligible.

#### 3.12.3.3.3 Impacts from Physical Disturbance and Strike Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical disturbance and strike stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing training and testing activities would result in fewer physical disturbance and strike stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for physical disturbances and strikes, but would not measurably change the number of times the public is exposed to physical disturbance and strike stressors in the Study Area.

Not conducting the proposed at-sea training and testing activities may have negative impacts on the socioeconomic resources of coastal areas in Washington State, Oregon, and northern California. Communities located along inland waters in Washington State and southeast Alaska may also be impacted. The number of jobs and types of jobs, particularly in coastal communities, that depend on the support of Navy personnel residing or transiting through those communities may be impacted. The Navy and Navy personnel are an important and often stabilizing contributor to the local and regional economies, and a reduced Navy presence could negatively impact certain businesses. For example, vessels and associated equipment used specifically for training and testing activities would no longer be needed if all training and testing ceased. Consequently, the civilian and Navy personnel supporting those

activities may be relocated, reassigned, or have to find other employment. The secondary effects from reducing the number of personnel who support at-sea training and testing activities could include a decline in revenue for local businesses frequented by Navy personnel and their families, such as businesses in the food services, retail, and housing sectors. While more complex studies at the local level would need to be conducted to quantify potential socioeconomic impacts from ceasing training and testing activities, it is likely that many coastal communities with a Navy presence would be impacted.

## 3.12.3.4 Secondary Impacts

Secondary stressors resulting in indirect impacts on socioeconomic resources are discussed in Section 3.12.3.4 (Secondary Impacts) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. A secondary stressor, as defined in this section, is a stressor that has the potential to affect a socioeconomic resource as a result of a direct effect on another non-socioeconomic resource. For example, if a training activity has the potential to affect certain types of fish, and those same fish are part of an economically important fishery, then the effect of the stressor on those fish species could have an indirect, or secondary, effect on the socioeconomic resource of commercial fishing.

The secondary stressor of resource availability pertains to the potential for loss of fisheries resources, including some invertebrates, within the Study Area, which is relevant to commercial, recreational, and traditional fishing practices as well as tourism. Additionally, impacts on marine mammal populations would have the potential to impact revenue for whale watching businesses if a substantial number of whales were to leave the area. Analysis in Sections 3.4 (Marine Mammals), 3.8 (Marine Invertebrates), and 3.9 (Fishes) determined, however, that no population-level impacts on marine species are anticipated from the proposed training and testing activities. For these reasons, there would be no secondary impacts on commercial and recreational fishing and tourism in the Study Area.

As discussed in Section 3.12.2.1.3 (Vehicle Traffic), openings of the Hood Canal Bridge can result in long delays and back-ups at the bridge, particularly during the summer tourism season when traffic is heaviest. The delays could result in a secondary impact on recreational activities and tourism on the Olympic Peninsula if visitors are unable to reach their destinations in a timely manner and choose to cancel their activity. While a training or testing activity may require a bridge opening to allow a Navy vessel to pass through the canal, occasional openings to accommodate Navy vessels are not likely to delay a significant portion of visitors to the Olympic Peninsula. Although delayed, many people would continue with their plans anyway. Also, tourists and local visitors planning recreational activities on the Olympic Peninsula are more likely to do so on weekends and holidays when openings to allow the passage of Navy vessels are less likely. Therefore, secondary impacts on recreational activities and tourism would be negligible.

## 3.12.3.4.1 Secondary Impacts Under Alternative 1 and Alternative 2

Analyses in Sections 3.4 (Marine Mammals), 3.8 (Marine Invertebrates), and 3.9 (Fishes) concluded that population level impacts on marine species from training and testing activities under Alternative 1 and Alternative 2 are not anticipated. Based on these conclusions, secondary impacts on transportation or shipping, commercial or recreational fishing, or tourism are not anticipated.

There has been no appreciable change to the existing environmental conditions as presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the results of the analysis of impacts from secondary stressors on transportation and shipping, commercial and recreational fishing, and tourism remain the same.

## 3.12.3.4.2 Secondary Impacts Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. Secondary stressors impacting resource availability as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing training and testing activities would result in fewer secondary stressors from the availability of resources within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing training and testing activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for secondary stressors, but would not measurably improve the availability of resources associated with secondary impacts on socioeconomic resources in the Study Area.

Not conducting the proposed at-sea training and testing activities may have negative impacts on the socioeconomic resources of coastal areas in Washington State, Oregon, and northern California. Communities located along inland waters in Washington State and southeast Alaska may also be impacted. The number of jobs and types of jobs, particularly in coastal communities, that depend on the support of Navy personnel residing or transiting through those communities may be impacted. The Navy and Navy personnel are an important and often stabilizing contributor to the local and regional economies, and a reduced Navy presence could negatively impact certain businesses. For example, vessels and associated equipment used specifically for training and testing activities would no longer be needed if all training and testing ceased. Consequently, the civilian and Navy personnel supporting those activities may be relocated, reassigned, or have to find other employment. The secondary effects from reducing the number of personnel who support at-sea training and testing activities could include a decline in revenue for local businesses frequented by Navy personnel and their families, such as businesses in the food services, retail, and housing sectors. While more complex studies at the local level would need to be conducted to quantify potential socioeconomic impacts from ceasing training and testing activities, it is likely that many coastal communities with a Navy presence would be impacted.

## **REFERENCES**

- Alaska Department of Fish and Game. (2017). Salmon Fishery Update: Southeast Alaska & Yakutat Commercial Fisheries. Retrieved from http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=commercialbyareasoutheast.salmonfishery\_updat es.
- American Association of Port Authorities. (2016). U.S. Waterborne Foreign Trade 2015: Ranking of U.S. Customs Districts by Value of Cargo (Dataset). Suitland, MD: U.S. Census Bureau.
- Briceno, T., and G. Schundler. (2015). *Economic Analysis of Outdoor Recreation in Washington State*. Tacoma, WA: Earth Economics.
- Cauvel, K. (2017). *Three Months After the Fish Farm Collapse, Guess Where Atlantic Salmon Are Being Found*. Retrieved from http://www.bellinghamherald.com/news/local/article189182914.html.
- Go Northwest! (2017). *Puget Sound Washington, Activities*. Retrieved from http://www.gonorthwest.com/Washington/puget/Activities/Activities.htm.
- Greater Victoria Harbour Authority. (2017). *Cruise*. Retrieved from http://www.gvha.ca/ogden-point-terminal/cruise.
- Hughes, B. (2017). [*Hood Canal Bridge Data*. Personal communication between Hughes, B. and Zickel, M.J., Niemi, T., Marchelle, L].
- Ketchikan Gateway Borough. (2007). *Ketchikan Coastal Management Program. Volume 2: Resource Inventory and Analysis*. Ketchikan, AK: Department of Planning & Community Development.
- Ketchikan Visitors Bureau. (2015). *Visitor Statistics*. Retrieved from http://www.visitketchikan.com/en/Membership/Visitor-Statistics.
- Mapes, L. V. (2017). Escaped Atlantic salmon have disappeared from Puget Sound, but legal fight begins. *Seattle Times*. Retrieved from https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/environment/suit-filed-over-atlantic-salmon-farm-escape/.
- Mapes, L. V. (2018). Fish Farm Caused Atlantic Salmon Spill Near San Juans, Then Tried to Hide How Bad It Was, State Says. Retrieved from https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/fish-farmcaused-atlantic-salmon-spill-state-says-then-tried-to-hide-how-bad-it-was/.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2016a). *Fisheries of the United States*. Silver Spring, MD: Fisheries Statistics Division.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2016b). *Commercial Landings in 2015 (Dataset)*. Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2016c). *Commercial Fishery Statistics*. Retrieved from http://www.st.nmfs.noaa.gov/commercial-fisheries/commercial-landings/other-specializedprograms/total-commercial-fishery-landings-at-an-individual-u-s-port-for-all-years-after-1980/index.
- National Ocean Economics Program. (2017a). *Oregon Tourism & Recreation Economic Data 2010–2014*. Economics: National Ocean Watch.
- National Ocean Economics Program. (2017b). *Washington Employment and Wage Dataset 2012–2016* (Economics: National Ocean Watch). Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.

- National Ocean Economics Program. (2017c). *Washington Tourism & Recreation Economic Dataset* 2010–2014 (Economics: National Ocean Watch). Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.
- National Ocean Economics Program. (2018a). *Washington Employment and Wage Dataset 1990–2004* (Economics: National Ocean Watch). Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.
- National Ocean Economics Program. (2018b). *Washington Employment and Wage Dataset 2004–2015* (Economics: National Ocean Watch). Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.
- National Park Service. (2016). *Olympic National Park Acoustic Monitoring Winter 2010* (Natural Resource Report NPS/NRSS/NSNSD/NRR—2016/1310). Cambridge, MA: Environmental Measurement and Modeling Division.
- National Park Service. (2017). *Olympic National Park*. Retrieved from https://irma.nps.gov/Stats/SSRSReports/Park%20Specific%20Reports/Annual%20Park%20Recre ation%20Visitation%20(1904%20-%20Last%20Calendar%20Year).
- National Park Service. (2018). *Olympic National Park Recreation Visits*. Washington, DC: National Park Service. Retrieved from https://irma.nps.gov/Stats/SSRSReports/Park%20Specific%20Reports/Visitation%20by%20Mont h.
- O'Connor, S., R. Campbell, H. Cortez, and T. Knowles. (2009). Whale Watching Worldwide: Tourism Numbers, Expenditures and Expanding Economic Benefits, a Special Report from the International Fund for Animal Welfare. Yarmouth, MA: Economists at Large.
- Oregon Coast Visitors Association. (2018). *What to do on the people's coast: Whale watching*. Retrieved from http://visittheoregoncoast.com/whale-watching/.
- Pacific Fishery Management Council, and National Marine Fisheries Service. (2015). *Harvest* Specifications and Management Measures for 2015–2016 and Biennial Periods Thereafter. Final Environmental Impact Statement. Portland, OR: Pacific Fishery Management Council.
- Pacific Fishery Management Council. (2016). *Coastal Pelagic Species Fishery Management Plan, as amended through Amendment 15*. Portland, OR: Pacific Fishery Management Council.
- Pacific Fishery Management Council. (2017). *Who We Are and What We Do*. Retrieved from http://www.pcouncil.org/.
- Penn Cove Shellfish, LLC. (2017). *Our Beginning*. Retrieved from http://www.penncoveshellfish.com/beginnings/.
- Port of Seattle. (2014). The 2013 Economic Impact of the Port of Seattle. Seattle, WA: Martin Associates.
- Ryan, J. (2018). Atlantic salmon farms banned, 7 months after great fish escape. Retrieved from http://kuow.org/post/atlantic-salmon-farms-banned-7-months-after-great-fish-escape.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. (2016). U.S. Port Rankings by Cargo Tonnage in 2014. Retrieved from http://www.navigationdatacenter.us/data/datappor.htm.
- U.S. Maritime Administration. (2015). U.S. Waterborne Foreign Container Trade by U.S. Customs Ports (2000–2015). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation.

- U.S. Maritime Administration. (2016). 2015 Vessel Calls in U.S. Ports, Selected Terminals and Lightering Areas. Retrieved from http://www.marad.dot.gov/resources/data-statistics/#Reports.
- United Fishermen of Alaska. (2013). *Alaska Commercial Fishing and Seafood Processing Community Fact Sheets—2013 Edition.* Juneau, AK: United Fishermen of Alaska.
- Vancouver Fraser Port Authority. (2017). *Port of Vancouver Statistics Overview 2016*. Vancouver, BC: Decision Support Services.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. (2012). *Fisheries for Puget Sound chum salmon*. Retrieved from http://wdfw.wa.gov/fishing/salmon/chum/pugetsound/fishery.htm.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. (2018). *Albacore Tuna Recreational Fishing Information*. Retrieved from https://wdfw.wa.gov/fishing/tuna/recreational.html.
- Washington Department of Transportation. (2017). *Hood Canal Bridge Common Questions*. Retrieved from https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/Bridge/HoodCanal/questions.htm.
- Washington State Department of Transportation. (2011). *Port Townsend Dolphin Timber Pile Removal Vibratory Pile Monitoring Technical Memorandum*. Olympia, WA: Washington State Department of Transportation.
- Wild Fish Conservancy. (2018). Contrary to Agency Claims, Escaped Atlantic Salmon Were Infected With a Highly Contagious and Harmful Virus. Duvall, WA: Wild Fish Conservancy.

This page intentionally left blank.

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

## **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

## Northwest Training and Testing

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

3.13	Public Health and Safety	
	3.13.1 Affected Environment3	
	3.13.1.1	Overview
	3.13.1.2	Safety and Inspection Procedures
	3.13.1.3	Aviation Safety
	3.13.1.4	Submarine Navigation Safety
	3.13.1.5	Surface Vessel Navigational Safety
	3.13.1.6	Sonar Safety3.13-2
	3.13.1.7	Explosive Ordnance Detonation Safety
	3.13.1.8	Weapons Firing and Ordnance Expenditure Safety
	3.13.1.9	Laser Safety
	3.13.2 Environmental Consequences	
	3.13.2.1	Underwater Energy
	3.13.2.2	In-Air Energy
	3.13.2.3	Physical Interactions
	3.13.2.4	Secondary Stressors

## List of Figures

Figure 3.13-1: A-Weighted Sound Levels from	Typical Sources	3.13-8

# **List of Tables**

There are no tables in this section.

This page intentionally left blank.

## 3.13 Public Health and Safety

## 3.13.1 Affected Environment

For purposes of this Supplemental, the region of influence for public health and safety remains the same as was identified in Section 2.1 (Description of the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area) of the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final EIS/OEIS (the NWTT Study Area). This includes the Puget Sound; the Strait of Juan de Fuca; the Southeast Alaska Acoustic Measurement Facility; and waters off the coasts of Washington, Oregon, and northern California (see Figure 1.1-1). However, each stressor may only affect portions of the total region of influence. For this reason, each stressor will specify the portions of the Study Area that are relevant to the analysis.

## 3.13.1.1 Overview

## 3.13.1.1.1 Sea Space

Sea space accessibility within the Study Area is the same as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Only select areas have activity restrictions or prohibitions on access to reserve capacity for training and testing activities performed by the United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy (Navy) in accordance with Title 33 Code of Federal Regulations Part 334 (Danger Zone and Restricted Area Regulations). Danger Zones and Restricted Areas within the Study Area include the Southeast Alaska Acoustic Measurement Facility and select portions of the Puget Sound, which can be viewed on nautical charts provided by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.

The Navy continues to request the U.S. Coast Guard to publish upcoming training and testing activities in their three channels for disseminating information to the public: the Notice to Mariners (NTM) (a weekly publication that notifies mariners of changes or deficiencies in navigational aids, new maps, channel depths, naval operations, and regattas), the Local NTM (a weekly publication that is more focused on particular areas, and the Marine Broadcast NTM (a radio broadcast that provides important information from the weekly NTM publications). These notices are posted prior to performing any activities that would require activating restrictions or establishing safety zones on the water as specified in Title 33 Code of Federal Regulations Subpart 72.01, and detailed in Section 3.13.2.1.1 (Sea Space) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

## 3.13.1.1.2 Airspace

General information on airspace within the Study Area is still the same as the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, is still relevant, and can be viewed in Section 3.13.2.1.2 (Airspace) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Topics that were discussed in the previous EIS/OEIS included how weather conditions may determine whether pilots fly under visual flight rules or instrument flight rules, and how notices to airmen are published by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and provide information on when and if special use airspace would be active. It is the responsibility of any licensed pilots to be knowledgeable and compliant with all types of airspace and of any notices to airmen that are in effect.

## 3.13.1.2 Safety and Inspection Procedures

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Navy complies with all applicable regulations and uses best practices, including standard operating procedures, to ensure public health and safety. This may be accomplished by utilizing communication and notification channels provided by the U.S. Coast Guard and the FAA as described above, considering the location when planning activities, and ensuring that training and testing areas are clear of nonparticipants before commencing.

## 3.13.1.3 Aviation Safety

Navy requirements outlined in OPNAVINST 3500.39C, *Operational Risk Management*, provide a process to maintain readiness in peacetime and achieve success in combat while safeguarding people and resources. The FAA is responsible for ensuring safe and efficient use of U.S. airspace by military and civilian aircraft and for supporting national defense requirements. In order to fulfill these requirements, the FAA has established safety regulations, airspace management guidelines, a civil-military common system, and cooperative activities with the U.S. Department of Defense. The primary safety concern with regard to military training flights is the potential for aircraft mishaps to occur, which could be caused by mid-air collisions with other aircraft or objects, weather difficulties, mechanical failures, pilot error, or bird/wildlife air strike hazards.

There is no generally recognized threshold of air safety that defines acceptable or unacceptable conditions. Instead, the focus of airspace managers is to reduce risks through a number of measures. These include, but are not limited to, providing and disseminating information to airspace users, requiring appropriate levels of training for those using the airspace, setting appropriate standards for equipment performance and maintenance, defining rules governing the use of airspace, and assigning appropriate and well-defined responsibilities to the users and managers of the airspace. When these safety measures are implemented, risks are minimized, even though they can never be eliminated.

## 3.13.1.4 Submarine Navigation Safety

Methods for preserving submarine navigation safety are discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.2.4, Submarine Navigation Safety) and remain applicable and valid.

## 3.13.1.5 Surface Vessel Navigational Safety

The Navy's methods for ensuring navigational safety for surface vessels are discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.2.5, Surface Vessel Navigational Safety) and involve practicing the fundamentals of safe navigation, posting lookouts to scan for navigational hazards, or utilizing support boats, radar, and other auxiliary equipment to determine that all safety criteria are met. These safety methods remain applicable and valid.

## 3.13.1.6 Sonar Safety

Surface vessel and submarine sonar use is described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.2.6, Sound Navigation and Ranging [Sonar] Safety). When applicable, the Navy adheres to Naval Sea Systems Command Instruction 3150.2, Appendix 1A, which provides guidance for protecting divers during active sonar use, including the use of buffer zones. Guidance for protecting divers remains applicable and valid.

## 3.13.1.7 Explosive Ordnance Detonation Safety

Methods for ensuring explosive detonations associated with training and testing activities are described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.2.7, Explosive Ordnance Detonation Safety) and remain applicable and valid. Procedures for safety planning related to underwater detonations include

- ensuring impact areas and targets are clear;
- coordinating with submarine operational authorities on the use of underwater ordnance;
- receiving permission from range safety officers or test safety officers before commencing firing;
- ensuring units and targets remain in their assigned areas and units fire in accordance with current safety instructions; and

• conducting detonation activities only during daylight hours.

As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, some training and testing activities use ordnance as shown in Table 2.4-1 and Table 2.4-2. The type of ordnance that would be used for the Proposed Action would be the same as identified in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. As such, the procedures for handling and storing of ordnance remain applicable and valid.

## 3.13.1.8 Weapons Firing and Ordnance Expenditure Safety

Safety procedures that are described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.2.8, Weapons Firing and Ordnance Expenditure Safety) are still applicable and valid. Safety continues to be a primary consideration for all training and testing activities. Before commencing any firing, the Navy uses standard procedures and best practices to ensure that hazard areas and buffer zones are clear of all nonparticipants.

## 3.13.1.9 Laser Safety

High-energy lasers were not analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS; however, the Proposed Action in this Supplemental adds new testing activities for the development of high-energy laser weapon systems, identified in Table 2.9 and Section A.2.6.7 (Radar and Other System Testing) of Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions). High-energy lasers would be used during testing activities that involve system and component tests. Low-energy lasers, analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, are used for precision range finding, as target designation/illumination devices for engagement with laser-guided weapons, and for mine detection and mine countermeasures, as well as for non-lethal deterrent. The Office of the Chief of Naval Operations Instruction 5100.27B/Marine Corps Order 5104.1C, Navy Laser Hazards Control Program, prescribes Navy and Marine Corps policy and guidance in the identification and control of laser hazards to prevent damaging a person's eyes with low-energy lasers or physically harming a person with high-energy lasers. The Navy observes strict precautions and has written instructions in place for laser users to ensure that non-participants are not exposed to intense light energy. Laser safety procedures for aircraft require an initial pass over the target before laser activation to ensure that target areas are clear. During actual laser use, aircraft run-in headings are also restricted to avoid unintentional contact with personnel or non-participants. Personnel participating in laser training activities are required to complete appropriate laser safety courses that are approved by the Navy's Administrative Lead Agent and the Lead Navy Technical Laboratory (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2008).

## 3.13.2 Environmental Consequences

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS analyzed training and testing activities currently occurring in the Study Area and considered all potential stressors related to public health and safety. Stressors applicable to public health and safety in the Study Area are the same stressors analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS with the exception of explosive stressors (see Table 3.0-1). In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, explosives were addressed under acoustic stressors; however, for purposes of this analysis, explosives will be analyzed as a separate stressor. The following are stressors analyzed for public health and safety and include stressor description updates from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS:

- Underwater Energy (sonar and underwater explosives)
- In-Air Energy (radar and lasers)
- Physical Interactions (aircraft, vessels, in-water devices/targets, munitions, seafloor devices)

• **Secondary** (impacts on water quality from explosives and explosives byproducts, metals, chemicals other than explosives, and other materials)

This section evaluates how and to what degree potential impacts on public health and safety from stressors described in Section 3.0 (Introduction) may have changed since the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS was completed. Table 2.5-1, Table 2.5-2, and Table 2.5-3 in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) list the proposed training and testing activities and includes the number of times each activity would be conducted annually and the locations within the Study Area where the activity would typically occur under each alternative. In addition to the tables in Chapter 2, Table 3.0-2 through Table 3.0-22 show the amounts and locations that specific activities, such as lasers or sonar, would be utilized during training and testing activities. The tables also present the same information for activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS so that the proposed levels of training and testing can be easily compared. The Navy conducted a review of federal and state regulations and standards relevant to public health and safety and reviewed literature published since 2015 for new information that could inform the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The review concluded that there are no new regulations or standards regarding public health and safety and no new information that would alter the impact conclusions for the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

The analysis presented in this section also considers standard operating procedures, which can be found in Chapter 5 (Mitigation) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS with updated and additional standard operating procedures being presented in Section 2.3.3 (Standard Operating Procedures) of this Supplemental, and mitigation measures that are presented in Chapter 5 (Mitigation). The Navy would implement these measures to avoid potential impacts on public health and safety from stressors associated with the proposed training and testing activities.

## 3.13.2.1 Underwater Energy

Sources of underwater energy can be found in training and testing activity descriptions in Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions), and are generally the same as those discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.3.1, Underwater Energy). In-water electromagnetic devices, active sonar, underwater explosions, vessel movements, aircraft overflights, mine warfare training devices, and unmanned underwater vehicles encompass the various sources of underwater energy that would be used. Only recreational swimmers and self-contained underwater breathing apparatus (SCUBA) divers who are underwater and within an unsafe distance (600–3,000 yards) of training and testing activities, as prescribed in the *U.S. Dive Manual* (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2011a), would potentially be exposed to the underwater energy produced by these stressors.

The effect of active sonar on humans varies with the sonar frequency. Generally, mid- to low-frequencies have the greatest effect since they fall within the range of human hearing (20 hertz to 20 kilohertz). In addition to acoustic stressors, underwater explosions produce pressure waves that can cause physical injury depending on the size, type, and depth of the explosive charge and the distance between the person and the explosive. Electromagnetic energy sources and their potential impacts on public health and safety are discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.3.1, Underwater Safety) and remain applicable in this discussion. In addition, standard safety buffers that are specified in Department of Defense Instruction 6055.11, *Protecting Personnel from Electromagnetic Fields* (U.S. Department of Defense, 2009a), and Military Standard 464A, *Electromagnetic Environmental Effects: Requirements for Systems* (U.S. Department of Defense, 2002), would continue to be implemented to ensure public safety.

## 3.13.2.1.1 Impacts from Underwater Energy Under Alternative 1

## Impacts from Underwater Energy Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed training activities that would generate underwater energy would generally increase from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Chapter 2, Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives, Table 2.5-1). Standard operating procedures, which are described in Section 2.3.3 and include clearing ranges prior to training activities, are in place to ensure that military activities do not overlap with non-military activities (e.g., boating, swimming, scuba diving, and fishing). Since the only potential receptors of underwater energy stressors are recreational swimmers and divers, training activities that could affect public health and safety are often held far from popular swimming and dive areas, reducing the potential for exposure. In addition, the NTMs posted by the U.S. Coast Guard alert the public of scheduled events so that they can avoid being in the same areas. The military's safety procedures would ensure that the potential for training activities to impact public health and safety under Alternative 1 would be unlikely. Therefore, increases shown in Tables 2.5-1, 2.5-2, and 2.5-3 for training activities proposed under Alternative 1 do not change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### Impacts from Underwater Energy Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed testing activities that would generate underwater energy would generally increase from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Chapter 2, Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives, Tables 2.5-2, and 2.5-3). Standard operating procedures, which are described in Section 2.3.3 and include clearing ranges prior to testing activities, are in place to ensure that military activities do not overlap with non-military activities (e.g., boating, swimming, and fishing). Since the only potential receptors of underwater energy stressors are recreational swimmers and divers, testing activities that could affect public health and safety are often held far from popular swimming and dive areas, reducing the potential for exposure. In addition, the NTMs posted by the U.S. Coast Guard alert the public of scheduled events so that they can avoid being in the same areas. The military's safety procedures would ensure that the potential for testing activities to impact public health and safety under Alternative 1 would be unlikely. Therefore, increases shown in Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3 for testing activities proposed under Alternative 1 do not change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

## 3.13.2.1.2 Impacts from Underwater Energy Under Alternative 2

## Impacts from Underwater Energy Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of some proposed training activities that would produce underwater energy would increase as compared to Alternative 1. Increases shown in Tables 2.5-1 for training activities proposed under Alternative 2 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. In general, sources of underwater energy stressors would become more frequent with the implementation of Alternative 2; however, standard operating procedures, which are described in Section 2.3.3, are in place to ensure that military activities do not overlap with recreational or commercial activities. Since the only potential receptors of underwater energy stressors are recreational swimmers and divers, training activities that could affect public health and safety are often held far from popular swim and dive areas, reducing the potential for exposure. The military's safety procedures would ensure that the potential for training activities to impact public health and safety under Alternative 2 would be unlikely.

## Impacts from Underwater Energy Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of some proposed testing activities that would produce underwater energy would increase as compared to Alternative 1. Increases shown in Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3 for testing activities proposed under Alternative 2 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. In general, sources of underwater energy stressors would become more frequent with the implementation of Alternative 2; however, standard operating procedures, which are described in Section 2.3.3, are in place to ensure that military activities do not overlap with recreational or commercial activities. Since the only potential receptors of underwater energy stressors are recreational swimmers and divers, testing activities that could affect public health and safety are often held far from popular swim and dive areas, reducing the potential for exposure. The military's safety procedures would ensure that the potential for testing activities to impact public health and safety under Alternative 2 would be unlikely.

## 3.13.2.1.3 Impacts from Underwater Energy Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities no associated with the Proposed Action would continue to occur. Underwater energy stressors as described above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in less underwater energy within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing at-sea training activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts on public health and safety from underwater energy stressors, but would not measurably improve the condition of public health and safety throughout the Study Area.

## 3.13.2.2 In-Air Energy

In-air energy stressors include sources of electromagnetic energy, such as radar, navigational aids, high-energy lasers, and electronic warfare systems, aircraft noise, surface explosions, and lasers. Current practices for protecting military personnel and the public are described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.3.2, Affected Environment) and remain applicable to this analysis. Important practices include abiding by minimum flight elevations, communicating to the public through notification channels when training and testing activities are scheduled, enforcing restriction areas and danger zones, and ensuring non-participants are clear of an area before using hazardous equipment. In addition, procedures for laser safety are described above in Section 3.13.1.9 (Laser Safety), as well as in Section 2.3.3.1 (High-Energy Laser Safety). Training and testing activities that involve electromagnetic energy and lasers are described in Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions). While there would be slight changes in the number of activities from what was described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and high-energy lasers would be added to the action, the activities associated with the Proposed Action would generally be the same was what was analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

High-energy lasers are used as weapons to disable surface targets; however, high-energy lasers would only be used during testing activities to test auxiliary systems. The Navy would operate high-energy laser equipment in accordance with procedures defined in the Office of the Chief of Naval Operations Instruction 5100.23G, Navy Safety and Occupational Health Program Manual (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2011b). The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) has detailed the biological effects that laser beams may have on humans (Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 2018). Risks include damage to the eyes or skin after immediate exposure. The level of damage is dependent on the strength of the beam. A comprehensive safety program exists for the use of lasers. Current Navy safety procedures protect individuals from the hazard of injuries caused by laser energy. Laser safety requirements for aircraft and vessels mandate verification that target areas are clear before commencing training. In the case of aircraft, during actual laser use, the aircraft run-in headings are restricted to preclude inadvertent lasing of areas where the public may be present.

As a stressor, loud noises and vibrations generated from Navy training and testing activities such as aircraft overflights and vessel activities have the potential to disrupt or potentially injure (i.e., hearing loss, even ruptured ear drums, etc.) people in the Study Area. The training and testing activities that introduce the most noise into the environment are those that involve aircraft flights. A detailed description of current noise conditions and noise levels that would result from the Proposed Action is available in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas). Long, repeated exposure to noises exceeding 85 dB has been found to result in noise-induced hearing loss (National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders, 2017). The louder the noise, the shorter the time necessary for the noise to result in noise-induced hearing loss. OSHA has established duration thresholds for various noise levels to protect people in the workplace from experiencing noiseinduced hearing loss. According to OSHA, people can be exposed to 90 dB for eight hours a day without experiencing noise-induced hearing loss (Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 2008). OSHA has also determined that noises above 140 dB are not safe for any duration of time (Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 2008). Although OSHA standards are technically applicable to the workplace environment, they are useful as a measure of comparison to determine if noise will result in health impacts in other settings. Loud noise below the OSHA standards does not directly impact human health, but a possible secondary impact from loud noises and vibrations is elevated levels of stress, which can occasionally impact a person's health by causing annoyance, impairing sleep, and impacting cognitive performance (Schomer, 2005; Stansfeld & Matheson, 2003; U.S. Department of Defense, 2009b).

## 3.13.2.2.1 Impacts from In-Air Energy Under Alternative 1

## Impacts from In-Air Energy Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed training activities that would produce in-air energy would generally increase as compared to the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-1). There are multiple ways to quantify noise. This analysis looks at the Day Night Average Sound Level (DNL) (an average noise level over an eight-hour period) and the instantaneous noise level (the noise level at a given instant in time). According to the noise analysis performed in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas), the maximum DNL that would be generated at the highest elevations underneath the Olympic Military Operations Areas (MOAs) under Alternative 1 is 37 decibels (dB). For reference, Figure 3.13-1 shows A-weighted noise levels from typical sources (Cowan, 1994). A-weighted scales place less weight on low and high frequency noises since the human ear is less sensitive to sound in these ranges. According to the figure, an average noise level of 40 dB would mean that the average noise level at the highest elevations would be similar to a quiet urban area during the day. This is only a minor increase from the baseline DNL of 36 dB. DNLs of less than 65 dB are considered to be compatible with most land uses because although training would be audible at times, it would not be disruptive or cause human health problems. However, Alternative 1 would generate noises that are above the 90 dB level established by OSHA. This analysis looks at the duration and volume of those noises to determine if they would result in noise-induced hearing loss. The maximum instantaneous noise level (not DNL) of 101 dB would not increase between the baseline and

Alternative 1. Instead, there would only be an increase in the frequency of the maximum instantaneous noise level. In baseline conditions the maximum instantaneous noise level would be experienced approximately four minutes over the course of a year, while the maximum instantaneous noise level would be experienced for approximately five minutes in Alternative 1. This means that the highest elevations would sound like a noisy textile mill for approximately five minutes a year, while the rest of the year it sounds like a quiet urban area. The five minutes a year is also not from a single event that would last five minutes, but rather numerous events, which are spread throughout the year, that result in this noise level for a duration of approximately 0.12 second. While this is a 25 percent increase from baseline conditions, the OSHA standard for exposure durations to noise levels of 102 dB is 1.5 hours per day before permanently affecting ones hearing, which is significantly longer than 0.12 second or even five minutes. In addition, the areas that these volumes would occur at are some of the most remote areas with the least human presence within the Olympic Mountains. It would be unlikely for anybody to be in the area at the time of these maximum levels. The maximum instantaneous noise level that would be experienced in the majority of the area (75 percent) underneath the MOAs is 85 dB. Figure 3.13-1 indicates that 85 dB is similar to hearing a garbage disposal run or a large truck driving 50 feet away. In general, the noise analysis presented in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) indicates that instantaneous noise levels would exceed 90 dB for approximately 202 hours out of the year. This translates to roughly 45 minutes a day if weekends are excluded. However, OSHA has determined that noise levels of 90 dB would have to be experienced for approximately eight hours a day before resulting in noise-induced hearing loss. These noise levels are also only experienced in the higher elevation areas of the Olympic Mountains, which make up approximately 4.25 percent of the region. Not only is this a five-minute increase per day from baseline conditions, which would be basically unnoticeable to hikers, but exposure to these volumes would never be long enough to result in noise-induced hearing loss according to OSHA standards (Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 2008). Increases in noise levels from the baseline would therefore not have a noticeable impact on public health and safety. In addition, standard operating procedures are in place to ensure that in-air energy stressors from training activities would not impact public health and safety. Therefore, the increases shown in Table 2.5-1 for training activities proposed under Alternative 1 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.



Figure 3.13-1: A-Weighted Sound Levels from Typical Sources

## Impacts from In-Air Energy Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed testing activities that would produce in-air energy would generally increase as compared to the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3). In addition, high-energy lasers, which were not previously analyzed, would be used during testing activities. It is unlikely that the public would be exposed to high-energy lasers from testing activities because high-energy laser tests would occur either at sea, far from potential receptors, or in docked testing facilities that have restricted access and standard operating procedures for laser use that would further prevent participants and non-participants from coming into contact with a laser. Standard operating procedures described above would also prevent other in-air energy stressors from affecting public health and safety. Therefore, the general increase in the frequency of in-air energy stressors under Alternative 1 would not significantly change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 MITT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.3.2, In-Air Energy) and would not increase potential for testing activities to impact public health and safety.

## 3.13.2.2.2 Alternative 2

## Impacts from In-Air Energy Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed training activities that would produce in-air energy would increase as compared to Alternative 1 (see Table 2.5-1). Although there would be a minor increase in aircraft training activities within the MOAs, the noise levels generated under Alternative 1 and Alternative 2 are roughly equivalent. Therefore, the impacts that noise would have on public health and safety would be similar to the impacts of Alternative 1. In addition, standard operating procedures are in place to ensure that in-air energy stressors from training activities would not impact public health and safety. Therefore, the increases shown in Table 2.5-1 for training activities proposed under Alternative 2 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

## Impacts from In-Air Energy Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed testing activities that would produce in-air energy would increase as compared to the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3). In addition, high-energy lasers, which is new in this Supplemental, would be used during testing activities. It is unlikely that the public would be exposed to high-energy lasers from testing activities because high-energy laser tests would occur either at sea, far from potential receptors, or in docked testing facilities that have restricted access and standard operating procedures for laser use that would further prevent participants and non-participants from coming into contact with a laser. Standard operating procedures described above would also prevent other in-air energy stressors from affecting public health and safety. Therefore, the general increase in the frequency of in-air energy stressors, standard operating procedures for electromagnetic energy and lasers would prevent personnel and non-participants from being exposed to these stressors. The military's safety procedures would ensure that the potential for training and testing activities to impact public health and safety under Alternative 2 would be unlikely.

## 3.13.2.2.3 Impacts from In-Air Energy Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with this Proposed Action would continue to occur. In-air energy stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in less in-air energy within the Study Area where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing at-sea training activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts on public health and safety from in-air energy stressors, but would not measurably improve the condition of public health and safety throughout the Study Area.

## 3.13.2.3 Physical Interactions

As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.3.3, Physical Interactions), military aircraft, vessels, targets, munitions, towed devices, seafloor devices, and other training and testing expended materials have the potential to directly encounter recreational, commercial, institutional, and governmental aircraft, vessels, and users such as swimmers, divers, and anglers. Instances of physical interactions that could pose the most risk to the safety of both civilians and Navy personnel include vessel collisions, aircraft collisions, munition discharge, and encountering unexploded ordnance. Methods for providing notice to non-participants of Navy training and testing activities, procedures for minimizing encounters with military expended materials, and a discussion of unexploded ordnance are all outlined in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.3.3, Physical Interactions) as well as in Sections 3.13.1.1.1 (Sea Space), 3.13.1.1.2 (Airspace), and 3.13.1.2 (Safety and Inspection Procedures) of this Supplemental.

## 3.13.2.3.1 Alternative 1

## Impacts from Physical Interactions Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed training activities that could lead to physical interactions between the Navy and non-participants would generally decrease as compared to the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-1). In addition, the standard operating procedures that are in place ensure that training activities would not lead to interactions between Navy vessels, aircraft, munitions, or other objects and non-participants. In addition, the communication channels that the Navy uses to inform the public of upcoming training events would alert non-participants of where and when training events would occur so that they may avoid these areas. While there is potential for unexploded ordnance, ordnance would end up on the ocean bottom, and would therefore be highly unlikely to be stumbled upon by anybody. Therefore, the increases shown in Table 2.5-1 for training activities proposed under Alternative 1 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

## Impacts from Physical Interactions Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, the number of proposed testing activities that could lead to physical interactions between the Navy and non-participants would generally increase as compared to the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3). However, the standard operating procedures that are in place ensure that testing activities would not lead to interactions between Navy vessels, aircraft, munitions, or other objects and non-participants. In addition, the communication channels that the Navy uses to inform the public of upcoming testing events would alert non-participants of where and when testing events would occur so that they may avoid these areas. While there is potential for unexploded ordnance, ordnance would either end up on closed off ranges or on the ocean bottom, and would therefore be highly unlikely to be stumbled upon by anybody. Therefore, the increases shown in Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3 for testing activities proposed under Alternative 1 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 3.13.2.3.2 Alternative 2

## Impacts from Physical Interactions Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed training activities that could lead to physical interactions between the Navy and non-participants would generally increase as compared to Alternative 1 (see Table 2.5-1). However, the standard operating procedures that are in place ensure that training activities would not lead to interactions between Navy vessels, aircraft, munitions, or other objects and non-participants. In addition, the communication channels that the Navy uses to inform the public of upcoming training events would alert non-participants of where and when training events would occur so that they may avoid these areas. While there is potential for unexploded ordnance, ordnance would end up on the ocean bottom, and would therefore be highly unlikely to be stumbled upon by anybody. Therefore, the increases shown in Table 2.5-1 for training activities proposed under Alternative 2 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

## Impacts from Physical Interactions Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, the number of proposed testing activities that could lead to physical interactions between the Navy and non-participants would generally increase as compared to Alternative 1 (see Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3). However, the standard operating procedures that are in place ensure that testing activities would not lead to interactions between Navy vessels, aircraft, munitions, or other objects and non-participants. In addition, the communication channels that the Navy uses to inform the public of upcoming testing events would alert non-participants of where and when testing events would occur so that they may avoid these areas. While there is potential for unexploded ordnance, ordnance would either end up on closed off ranges or on the ocean bottom, and would therefore be highly unlikely to be stumbled upon by anybody. Therefore, the increases shown in Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3 for testing activities proposed under Alternative 2 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.

## 3.13.2.3.3 Impacts from Physical Interactions Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with the Proposed Action would continue to occur. Physical interaction stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in fewer physical interaction stressors within the marine environment where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing at-sea training activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts on public health and safety from physical interaction stressors, but would not measurably improve the condition of public health and safety throughout the Study Area.

## 3.13.2.4 Secondary Stressors

As discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (Section 3.13.3.4, Secondary Impacts), public health and safety has the potential to be impacted if sediment or water quality were degraded. Section 3.1 (Sediments and Water Quality) considered the impacts on marine sediments and water quality of explosives and explosives byproducts, metals, chemicals other than explosives, and other materials (marine markers, flares, chaff, targets, and miscellaneous components of other materials). In addition, public health and safety could be impacted by a contaminated food supply, which can include fish

located within the Study Area. Sections 3.9 (Fishes) and 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources) discuss the impacts that the Proposed Action would have on fish and fisheries in the Study Area.

#### 3.13.2.4.1 Impacts from Secondary Stressors Under Alternative 1

## Impacts from Secondary Stressors Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 1, there would be a general increase in the number of proposed training activities that could release secondary stressors into the environment as compared to the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Table 2.5-1). According to the discussions presented in Sections 3.1 (Sediments and Water Quality), 3.9 (Fishes), and 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources) increases shown in Table 2.5-1 for training activities proposed under Alternative 1 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Although a general increase in some activities and military expended materials would occur, the implementation of Alternative 1 would not significantly degrade sediment or water quality or contaminate the food supply.

#### Impacts from Secondary Stressors Under Alternative 1 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 1, there would be a general increase in the number of proposed testing activities that could release secondary stressors into the environment as compared to the number of activities proposed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3). According to the discussions presented in Sections 3.1 (Sediments and Water Quality), 3.9 (Fishes), and 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources) increases shown in Table 2.5-1 for testing activities proposed under Alternative 1 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Although a general increase in some activities and military expended materials would occur, the implementation of Alternative 1 would not significantly degrade sediment or water quality or contaminate the food supply.

## 3.13.2.4.2 Impacts from Secondary Stressors Under Alternative 2

## Impacts from Secondary Stressors Under Alternative 2 for Training Activities

Under Alternative 2, there would be a general increase in the number of proposed training activities that could release secondary stressors into the environment as compared Alternative 1 (see Table 2.5-1). According to the discussions presented in Sections 3.1 (Sediments and Water Quality), 3.9 (Fishes), and 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources) increases shown in Table 2.5-1 for training activities proposed under Alternative 2 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Although a general increase in some activities and military expended materials would occur, the implementation of Alternative 1 would not significantly degrade sediment or water quality or contaminate the food supply.

## Impacts from Secondary Stressors Under Alternative 2 for Testing Activities

Under Alternative 2, there would be a general increase in the number of proposed testing activities that could release secondary stressors into the environment as compared to Alternative 1 (see Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3). According to the discussions presented in Sections 3.1 (Sediments and Water Quality), 3.9 (Fishes), and 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources) increases shown in Tables 2.5-2 and 2.5-3 for testing activities proposed under Alternative 1 do not appreciably change the impact conclusions presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Although a general increase in some activities and military expended materials would occur, the implementation of Alternative 1 would not significantly degrade sediment or water quality or contaminate the food supply.

## 3.13.2.4.3 Impacts from Secondary Stressors Under the No Action Alternative

Under the No Action Alternative, the proposed training and testing activities would not occur. Other military activities not associated with the Proposed Action would continue to occur. Secondary stressors as listed above would not be introduced into the marine environment. Therefore, existing environmental conditions would either remain unchanged or would improve slightly after cessation of ongoing training and testing activities.

Discontinuing the training and testing activities would result in less secondary stressors within the Study Area where training and testing activities have historically been conducted. Therefore, discontinuing at-sea training activities under the No Action Alternative would lessen the potential for impacts on public health and safety from secondary stressors, but would not measurably improve the condition of public health and safety throughout the Study Area. This page intentionally left blank.
### **REFERENCES**

- Cowan, J. P. (1994). Handbook of Environmental Acoustics. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders. (2017). *Noise-Induced Hearing Loss*. Retrieved from https://www.nidcd.nih.gov/health/noise-induced-hearing-loss.
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2008). *Standard Number 1910.95 Occupational noise exposure*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Labor. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov/laws-regs/regulations/standardnumber/1910/1910.95.
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2018). *Laser Hazards*. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov/dts/osta/otm/otm\_iii/otm\_iii\_6.html#3.
- Schomer, P. D. (2005). Criteria for assessment of noise annoyance. *Noise Control Engineering Journal,* 53(4), 132–144.
- Stansfeld, S. A., and M. P. Matheson. (2003). Noise pollution: Non-auditory effects on health. *British Medical Bulletin, 68*, 243–257.
- U.S. Department of Defense. (2002). *Electromagnetic Environmental Effects: Requirements for Systems*. (MIL-STD-464A). Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, OH: U.S. Air Force/Aeronautical Systems Center.
- U.S. Department of Defense. (2009a). *Protecting Personnel from Electromagnetic Fields*. (DoD Instruction 6055.11). Washington, DC: Under Secretary of Defense for Acquisition, Technology, and Logistics.
- U.S. Department of Defense. (2009b). *Improving Aviation Noise Planning, Analysis and Public Communication with Supplemental Metrics - Guide to Using Supplemental Metrics*. Washington, DC: Noise Working Group.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2008). Navy Laser Hazards Control Program OPNAVINST 5100.27B/Marine Corps Order 5104.1C. Washington, DC: Office of the Chief of Naval Operations and Headquarters United States Marine Corps.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2011a). U.S. Navy Dive Manual. Washington, DC: Commander, Naval Sea Systems Command.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2011b). *Navy Safety and Occupational Health Program Manual*. (OPNAVINST 5100.23G CH-1). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of the Navy.

This page intentionally left blank.

4 Cumulative Impacts

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

## **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

## Northwest Training and Testing

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

4		CUMULATIVE IMPACTS4-1
	4.1	Definition of Cumulative Impacts4-1
	4.2	Scope of Cumulative Analysis4-1
	4.3	Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions4-2
	4.4	Resource-Specific Cumulative Impacts4-41
		4.4.1 Sediments and Water Quality4-41
		4.4.2 Air Quality
		4.4.3 Marine Habitats
		4.4.4 Marine Mammals4-42
		4.4.5 Sea Turtles
		4.4.6 Birds
		4.4.7 Marine Vegetation
		4.4.8 Marine Invertebrates
		4.4.9 Fishes
		4.4.9.1 Impacts of the Proposed Action that May Contribute to Cumulative Impacts
		4.4.9.2 Impacts of Other Actions4-46
		4.4.9.3 Cumulative Impacts on Fish4-48
		4.4.10 Cultural Resources
		4.4.10.1 Impacts of the Proposed Action That May Contribute to Cumulative
		Impacts4-49
		4.4.10.2 Impacts of Other Actions
		4.4.10.3 Cumulative Impacts on Cultural Resources4-50
		4.4.11 Native American and Alaska Native Traditional Resources
		4.4.11.1 Impacts of the Proposed Action that May Contribute to Cumulative
		Impacts4-51
		4.4.11.2 Impacts of Other Actions
		4.4.11.3 Cumulative Impacts on Native American and Alaska Native Traditional Resources4-52
		4.4.12 Socioeconomic Resources

	4.4.12.1	Resource Trends4-53	
	4.4.12.2	Impacts of Other Actions4-53	
	4.4.12.3	Cumulative Impacts on Socioeconomic Resources4-54	
4.4.13 Public Health and Safety			
4.5	Summary of Cun	nulative Impacts	

## **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this chapter.

## List of Tables

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions
--

### 4 Cumulative Impacts

This chapter (1) defines cumulative impacts, (2) describes past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions relevant to cumulative impacts, (3) analyzes the incremental interaction the Proposed Action may have with other actions with coincidental effects, and (4) evaluates cumulative impacts potentially resulting from these interactions of the coincidental effects on the same environmental resource. For this Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (OEIS) (Supplemental), the approach to analysis of cumulative impacts has not changed significantly since the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final EIS/OEIS.

#### 4.1 Definition of Cumulative Impacts

The approach taken in the analysis of cumulative impacts follows the objectives of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) Regulations, and CEQ Guidance. Cumulative impacts are defined in 40 Code of Federal Regulations, Section 1508.7.

A cumulative impact is the impact on the environment which results from the incremental impact of the action when added to the other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions regardless of what agency (federal or non-federal) or person undertakes such other actions. Cumulative impacts can result from individually minor but collectively significant actions taking place over a period of time (40 Code of Federal Regulations [CFR] section 1508.7). This analysis does not incorporate by reference the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, but rather builds upon it for an updated look at cumulative impact potential.

#### 4.2 Scope of Cumulative Analysis

The scope of the cumulative impacts analysis involves both the geographic extent of the effects and the temporal (relating to time) extent in which the coincidental effects could be expected to occur. For this Supplemental, the Study Area defines the geographic extent of the cumulative impacts analysis. In general, the Study Area includes those areas previously identified in Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences) for the respective resource areas, and is the same Study Area as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The time frame for cumulative impacts centers on the timing of the Proposed Action (see Chapter 2, Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives).

Another factor influencing the scope of cumulative impacts analysis involves identifying other actions to consider. In addition to identifying the geographic scope and time frame for the previously completed and currently ongoing actions, the analysis also includes the identification of "reasonably foreseeable" actions (i.e., anticipated future actions). For the purposes of this analysis, public documents prepared by federal, state, and local government agencies form the primary sources of information regarding reasonably foreseeable actions. Documents used to identify other actions include notices of intent for EISs and Environmental Assessments (EAs), management plans, land use plans, and other planning related studies. Additionally, Naval Air Station Whidbey Island (NASWI) staff provided information on local and regional actions, as well as previously completed, currently ongoing, and reasonably foreseeable future actions at Ault Field and Outlying Landing Field Coupeville. Finally, local websites for local news outlets were searched for articles pertaining to ongoing and future actions that would need to be included in this analysis.

Multiple Navy actions are ongoing within the Pacific Northwest Region; however, each NEPA document addresses a specific Proposed Action, separated from other actions by its purpose and need, independent utility, timing, and geographic location. Some NEPA documents are stand-alone

documents; others tier off of and/or expand the analyses of other existing NEPA documents. NEPA documents for at-sea training (e.g., the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS) focus on training and testing activities occurring within a range complex and/or Military Operating Area and involve different types of aircraft, ships, and range complex enhancements. However, NEPA documents that analyze a specific type of aircraft operation at a military airfield (in this case, the Growler) are focused in and around that airfield and its facility needs. While the Navy has analyzed, and is currently analyzing, various other projects in the area, those projects are not preconditions for Growler operations at the NASWI complex. Growler operations at the NASWI complex are not a precondition for larger military readiness activities on range complexes in the Pacific Northwest. Even in the absence of these Growler operations, military training in the Pacific Northwest would continue independently from this Proposed Action, as analyzed in the documents referenced in Section 1.6 (The Environmental Planning Process). Each of the document was prepared; thus, the combined impacts of all of these activities are being captured in multiple documents.

#### 4.3 Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions

This section focuses on past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future projects at and near the Study Area. In determining which projects to include in the cumulative impacts analysis, a preliminary determination was made regarding the past, present, or reasonably foreseeable action. Specifically, using the first fundamental question included in Section 4.1 (Definition of Cumulative Impacts), it was determined whether a relationship exists such that the affected resource areas of the Proposed Action (included in this Supplemental) might interact with the affected resource area of a past, present, or reasonably foreseeable action. If no such potential relationship exists, the project was not carried forward into the cumulative impacts analysis. In accordance with CEQ guidance (Council on Environmental Quality, 2005), these actions considered but excluded from further cumulative effects analysis are not catalogued here because the intent is to focus the analysis on the meaningful actions relevant to inform decision making. Projects included in this cumulative impacts analysis are listed and briefly described in Table 4.3-1.

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Projec C = Co O = O X = Ot	t Timefram nstruction peration ther	10
				Past	Present	Future
Military Mission,	Testing, and Train	ing Activities				
Airfield	Naval Air	Conduct long-term vegetation management			ľ	0
Vegetation	Station	(both on and off-Base) to control visual			ľ	
Management	Whidbey Island	obstructions and pests affecting airfield			ľ	
		operations. This project, when considered			ľ	
		with the Proposed Action, would not			ľ	
		cumulatively impact resources.				
Bangor Transit	Naval Base	This project consists of a new floating pier			С	C/O
Protection	(NAVBASE)	with finger piers, connected to the shore by			ľ	
Program Pier	Kitsap Bangor	a trestle and ramp. Total overwater area is			ľ	
and Support		approximately 1.6 acres. On-land facilities			ľ	
Facilities		would include a new operations and			ľ	
		headquarters building with a footprint of			ľ	
		9,000 ft. <sup>2</sup> , and parking lots totaling			ľ	
		22,000 ft. <sup>2</sup> This project, when considered			ľ	
		with the Proposed Action, could add to the			ľ	
		cumulative impacts on air quality,			ľ	
		sediments and water quality, marine			ľ	
		habitats, marine vegetation, marine			ľ	
		invertebrates, fishes, birds, and marine			ľ	
		mammals.				
CVN 65 Reactor	Port of Benton,	Develop/Upgrade dry dock infrastructure to			ľ	
Disposal/ Facility	Washington	support existing and future workload. This				
work at Port of		project, when considered with the				
Benton (P-458)		Proposed Action, could add to the				
		cumulative impacts on biological, cultural,				
		and socioeconomic resources.			1	

Table 4.3-1: Past	, Present,	and Reasonably	<b>Foreseeable Actions</b>
-------------------	------------	----------------	----------------------------

Project	Location	ion Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	Present	Future	
EA-18G Growler Airfield Operations	NASWI Complex	The Navy proposes to home base up to 36 additional EA-18G (Growler) aircraft at NASWI to support an expanded Department of Defense (DoD) electronic attack mission. Due to the increase in aircraft and pilots, the Navy will need to conduct more Growler operations at the NASWI Complex, which includes Field Carrier Landing Practice that occurs at Ault Field and Outlying Landing Field Coupeville. The Navy announced the preparation of an EIS in September 2013. In October 2014, the Navy revised the scope of the EIS and invited the public to comment. The Draft EIS was available for public review November 2016 to February 2017. The Navy held public meetings on December 5–9, 2016. The Final EIS is expected to be released in Fall 2018. These proposed operations, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on air quality, birds, noise, socioeconomic resources, cultural resources, and American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional resources.	Minimization measures, such as Navy occupational noise exposure prevention procedures (e.g., hearing protection and monitoring), would continue to be required at the NASWI complex in compliance with all applicable Occupational Safety and Health Administration and Navy occupational noise exposure regulations. The Navy is also considering other noise-reduction measures, such as constructing and operating a noise-suppression facility for engine maintenance (also known as a "hush house") at NASWI. As well as actively researching engine design solutions to reduce overall sound emissions from the engines of the FA-18E/F "Super Hornet" and Growler. Along with other measures that may reduce the number of FCLPs required in the future. Measures developed by the Navy to avoid, minimize, or mitigate impacts on cultural resources were identified as part of evaluating environmental consequences.			0	
Electromagnetic	NAVBASE	The Navy constructed and operates an				C/O	
Measurement	Kitsap Bangor	Electromagnetic Measurement Ranging System					
Ranging System	Hood Canal	located on NAVBASE Kitsap Bangor lands and					

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Location Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		adjacent waters in Hood Canal (Hood Canal Military Operating Area North) Bangor, Washington. This system, when considered with the Proposed Action, may cumulatively impact biological resources in the Study Area. Currently, the project is on hold. No NEPA has been completed, and no construction has occurred.				
Environmental Assessment (EA) for Electronic Warfare Range	Airspace of the Olympic Peninsula	The Navy published the Pacific Northwest Electronic Warfare Final EA in August 2014. The EA analyzed impacts of the Navy using a fixed transmitter site and up to three mobile transmitter trucks in U.S. Forest Service (USFS) lands. The Navy issued a Finding of No Significant Impact on August 28, 2014, and the USFS issued a Decision Notice on July 31, 2017, that approved the Navy's permit to drive and operate the mobile transmitter trucks on existing USFS roads for a 5-year period.		0	0	0
Establishment and Modification of Oregon Military Training Airspace	Offshore Area	The U.S. Air Force has completed NEPA process for the proposed establishment and modification of Oregon Military Training Airspace EIS. The additional airspace is over the Pacific Northwest surf/sub-surf operating area and includes new areas such as W-570 B, C, D, and W-570 A. Other changes to airspace are only in name. The Oregon Air National Guard is the primary user of W-93 and W-570 special use airspace in the Offshore Area. Oregon Air National Guard flights in W-93 and W-570 are primarily air combat		0	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	t Timefram Instruction Deration C/O	Future
		maneuver training flights. These flights occur throughout the year and include the use of chaff and flares in W-570.				
Establishment and Modification of Oregon Military Training Airspace (continued)	Offshore Area	On rare occasions, self-defense flares may be used during training. This airspace, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on air quality, birds, and cultural resources. As of December 7, 2017, the updated airspace was established.		0	0	0
Explosives Handling Wharf Maintenance (EHW-1)	NAVBASE Kitsap Bangor	The Navy is continuing a construction project to conduct necessary repairs and maintenance on the EHW-1 facility. This multiyear project involves removal and replacement of deteriorated steel or concrete piles. NMFS has issued an incidental Harassment Authorization (IHA) to the Navy to incidentally harass, by Level B harassment, five species of marine mammals incidental to pile driving and removal associated with the project. This is the third such incidental harassment authorization for similar work on the same structure. Phased repair of this structure is expected to continue until 2024. This project, when considering the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on sediments and water quality, air quality, marine habitats, marine mammals, sea turtles, marine vegetation, marine invertebrates, fishes, birds, and cultural resources.	Mitigation measures for this action include marine mammal zones of influence or mitigation zones to prevent Level A harassment, visual monitoring, sound attenuation devices, acoustic measurements, timing restrictions (to avoid migratory ESA-listed species), the soft-start procedure (a warning or innate noise before beginning pile driving), and daylight construction. There are also mitigation measures to protect fish and the marbled murrelet.	C/O	c/0	c/0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>		Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future	
Explosives Handling Wharf Maintenance (EHW-2)	NAVBASE Kitsap Bangor	The Navy completed a construction project for necessary repairs and maintenance on the EHW- 2 facility. This multiyear project involved removal and replacement of deteriorated steel or concrete piles. NMFS issued an incidental harassment authorization to the Navy for Level B harassment of five species of marine mammals incidental to pile driving and removal associated with the project. Additionally, the project included replacement of structural elements such as decking and pile caps, installation of cathodic protection, repair of a concrete wetwell, and recoating of the tops of fender piles and steel mooring fittings (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2012a). This project was completed in 2015 and would not contribute to impacts when considered with the Proposed Action.		C	0	0	
Fender Pile Removal and Replacement, Pier 4	NAVBASE Kitsap Bremerton	The Navy wrote an EA on Fender Pile Removal and Replacement at Pier 4. The base serves as homeport for a nuclear aircraft carrier and other Navy vessels, and contains a shipyard that is capable of overhauling and repairing all types and sizes of ships by alteration, construction, deactivation, and dry-docking. Pier 4 was completed in 1922 and needed substantial maintenance to support ship repair and other activities to maintain Navy vessels. The Navy removed approximately 80 deteriorating timber fender piles and replaced them with steel fender	Minimization measures were implemented and included an Incidental Harassment Authorization from the NMFS; the issuance criteria required that the unintentional taking of marine mammals authorized by an IHA would have a negligible impact on the species or stock and, where relevant, would not have an unmitigable adverse impact on the availability of the species or stock for subsistence uses.	С			

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	ocation Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>		Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future	
		piles. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on any of the resources discussed in this Supplemental as the impacts to water resources, noise, and biological resources would be temporary and not significant.					
Hawaii and Southern California Training and Testing (HSTT) EIS/OEIS	Hawaii and Southern California	The Navy has prepared two iterations of this EIS/OEIS and is preparing the third to assess the potential environmental impacts associated with two categories of military readiness activities: training and testing. The water-based training covered in the HSTT EIS/OEIS is considered at-sea training and does not include land-based components. In the EIS/OEIS, the Navy assesses military readiness activities that could potentially impact human and natural resources, especially marine mammals, sea turtles, and other marine resources. The range of alternatives includes a No Action Alternative and other reasonable courses of action. The Draft HSTT EIS/OEIS third iteration was released in October 2017. Resource areas include air quality, biology (marine species), and public health and safety. The emission of criteria pollutants resulting from activities in the Study Area would not cause a violation or contribute to an ongoing violation of the National Ambient Air Quality Standards. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on marine mammals, sea turtles, fishes, and birds.	Procedural mitigation is mitigation that the Navy will implement whenever and wherever an applicable training or testing activity takes place within the Study Area. Procedural mitigation generally involves (1) the use of one or more trained Lookouts to diligently observe for specific biological resources within a mitigation zone, (2) requirements for Lookouts to immediately communicate sightings of specific biological resources to the appropriate watch station for information dissemination, and (3) requirements for the watch station to implement mitigation until certain recommencement conditions have been met. Mitigation areas are geographic locations within the Study Area where the Navy will implement additional measures to (1) avoid or reduce impacts on biological or cultural resources that are not	0		0	

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	ocation Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	oject Timefram = Construction = Operation = Other (st Present X	Future	
			observable by Lookouts from the water's surface (i.e., resources for which procedural mitigation cannot be implemented); and (2) in combination with procedural mitigation, to effect the least practicable adverse impact on marine mammal species or stocks and their habitat. The Navy completed an extensive assessment of the Study Area to develop its mitigation areas. For Phase III, this included reanalyzing existing Phase II mitigation areas; assessing additional habitat areas suggested by the public, NMFS, other governmental agencies, and non- governmental organizations; and considering other habitats identified internally by the Navy.				
Hood Canal Bedlands Encroachment Protection Easement	Hood Canal	The Navy and Washington Department of Natural Resources signed a restrictive easement on July 7, 2014. The Navy paid \$720,000 for the easement, which precludes construction in the easement area. The easement covers 4,804 acres (ac.) of aquatic land, from -18 feet (ft.) mean lower low water down to 70 ft. mean lower low water. The restrictive easement will prevent construction and development in the footprint of the easement. It will not affect public access, privately owned lands, recreational uses,		x	x	x	

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		aquaculture, or geoduck harvest. All 4,804 ac. overlays designated critical habitat for ESA-listed salmonid species. The restrictive easement area also protects large tracts of wild stock geoduck and extensive eelgrass habitat. The easement will protect the area for 55 years. The Department of Natural Resources will continue to manage the land under its aquatic lands program. Other reasonably foreseeable future actions include a series of easements on the east side of the Hood Canal. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources and cultural resources in a positive manner through restricting construction and protecting various biological resources.				
Integrated Natural Resource Management Plan (INRMP)	Commander, Navy Region Northwest (CNRNW) Installations: NBK (Bangor, Bremerton, Keyport, and Zelatched Point); NASWI.	INRMPs were revised for multiple CNRNW INRMPs between fiscal year 2012 and 2018. The Sikes Act, U.S. Department of the Navy Policy, and DoD instruction require that annual and 5- year reviews for operation and effect of INRMPs occur with federal and state partners. The Navy, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), and state wildlife agencies participate in these reviews. NMFS is also invited to participate.	Minimization and mitigation measures pertaining to natural resource management are described in the INRMPs.	0	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location Pro	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
Integrated	NAVSTA	The INRMP is generally updated every 5 years,		0	0	0
Natural Resource	Everett;	and management actions prescribed in it are				
Management	Pacific Beach	implemented to contribute to the conservation				
Plan (INRMP)	Annex;	and rehabilitation of installation natural				
(continued)	NAVMAG	resources. These projects, when considered with				
	Indian Island;	the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative				
	and SEAFAC	impacts on biological resources in a positive				
		manner through the conservation and				
		rehabilitation efforts.				
Land-Water	Naval Base	Construct an extension of the Service Pier. This				C/O
Interface	Kitsap	project, when considered with the Proposed				
(P-983)/Service	Bangor,	Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on				
Pier Extension	Silverdale,	biological resources, cultural resources, and				
(P-834)	WA	socioeconomic resources.				
Supplemental						
SEAWOLF Class						
Service Pier						
Extension						
Manchester Fuel	Naval Base	Construct aboveground fuel storage tanks and				C/O
Tank	Kitsap	replace current system of underground storage				
Replacement		tanks. This project, when considered with the				
(P-856)		Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative				
		impacts on biological resources and				
		socioeconomic resources.				

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
Marine Structure Maintenance and Pile Replacement Activities	NAVBASE Kitsap Bangor, Bremerton, Keyport, Manchester, Zelatched Point and Naval Station Everett	Navy proposes to conduct maintenance and repair activities of marine waterfront structures at six Navy locations within Navy Region Northwest. The Navy released the Draft EA for public review and comment in August 2017, and NMFS released the Navy's MMPA permit application for public review in July 2017. The repairs, maintenance, and replacement of piles will continue through 2022. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources (specifically marine mammals), cultural resources, air quality, and noise.	General best management practices, mitigation, and minimization measures may be implemented for all in-water repair and replacement activities. Additional minimization measures have been added to protect marine mammals, ESA-listed species, and designated critical habitats. These measures include vibratory installation of piles where possible, noise attenuation and performance measures for impact pile driving, and marine mammal monitoring.			C/O
Naval Health Clinic Oak Harbor, Whidbey Island, Washington	Oak Harbor, Washington	Construct new facility to serve as medical clinic, dental clinic, and birthing center. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, does not have the potential to cumulatively impact resources.				С

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
Naval Special Operations Training	Puget Sound and Coastal Southwestern Washington	The Navy proposes to conduct small unit, intermediate and advanced land and cold-water maritime training for Navy Special Operations personnel. The training would occur in selected nearshore lands and in the inland waters of Puget Sound, including Hood Canal, as well as the southwestern Washington coast, with the permission of willing property owners. Training would comply with federal and state laws and be consistent with existing non-military use. The project and proposed areas are under development, and public outreach meetings were held in May 2017 for the development of an EA. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources, cultural resources, and socioeconomic resources.				0
P-188 Replace Fuel Pipeline	NASWI	In 2014 the Navy replaced an existing 55-year- old, 5-mile-long cross-island pipeline and pumping system that transfers fuel from the Seaplane Base to Ault Field at NASWI. The pipeline finished under budget and ahead of schedule in 2014 and would not cumulatively impact resources, when considered with the Proposed Action.		С	0	0
P-8A Multi- Mission Aircraft	NASWI	Homebasing of 12 P-8A Multi-Mission Maritime Aircraft (MMA) squadrons and one Fleet Replacement Squadron is proposed to occur to replace the current maritime patrol aircraft, the		0	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	tion Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		P-3C Orion, at existing maritime patrol				
		homebases. The action will result in the				
		homebasing of six fleet squadrons (42 aircraft) at				
		NASWI, Washington. Informal consultation with				
		the USFWS in accordance with section 7(a)(2) of				
		the ESA for the Proposed Action concluded with				
		a letter of concurrence from the USFWS on May				
		13, 2013. The Record of Decision (ROD) was				
		signed in June 2014, and the transition to the P-				
		8A aircraft is currently underway. Most recently				
		Boeing installed a new P-8A Poseidon training				
		center at NASWI that contains simulators to help				
		transition the aircrews effectively and efficiently				
		prior to operating the P-8A MMA. The first P-8A				
		MMA arrived on the base in October 2016. Based				
		on the ROD, there will be an overall increase of				
		18 aircraft at the base by 2020. This project,				
		when considered with the Proposed Action,				
		could add to the cumulative impacts on air				
		quality, birds, socioeconomic resources, noise,				
		American Indian, and cultural resources.				

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably	Foreseeable Actions	(continued)
--	---------------------	-------------

Project	Location	cation Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
P-993 Pier and Support Facilities for Transit Protection System at U.S. Coast Guard Air Station/Sector Field Office	USCG Air Station/ Sector Field Office Port Angeles	This project consisted of the construction of a 22,303 square foot pier and 8,300 square foot building for an Alert Forces Facility (single-story sleeping and administration building); a Ready Service Armory (an ammunition and weapons storage facility); diesel fuel, marine storage tank, and distribution system; and site improvements including utilities, parking, lighting, security improvements, and landscaping at the USCG AIRSTA/SFO Port Angeles to support the USCG Maritime Force Protection Unit mission. The Transit Protection System (TPS) pier is designed to provide full hotel services (electricity, potable water, sewer, Internet, phone, fire protection, pier lighting, and fueling lines) and dedicated mooring for up to seven TPS vessels. Construction of the project started in the summer of 2016 was completed in 2018. The new pier and support facilities would has a design life of 50 years (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2015b). This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources, noise, cultural resources.	The construction included mitigation measures to protect marine mammals and habitat in the project area.	C	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	Present	Future	
Port Security Barrier (PSB)	NAVBASE Kitsap Bremerton	This project would extend the existing floating fence approximately 1,000 feet to the shoreline, enclosing approximately 6.5 acres of water. The PSB is presently connected to the end of Pier 7, and extension of the PSB will reduce the safety risk to individuals that may otherwise enter the highly industrialized and very active naval shipyard. Extension of the PSB is pending issuance of a permit by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on sediments and water quality, air quality, marine habitats, marine mammals, sea turtles, birds, marine vegetation, marine invertebrates. fishes, and cultural resources.				C	
Readiness and Environmental Protection Integration Program/ Encroachment Protection Partnering Agreement Transactions	Hood Canal	Under the Readiness and Environmental Protection Integration Program, the Navy has established a multi-year agreement with The Trust for Public Lands, Washington Department of Natural Resources, and Jefferson Land Trust. To date, the Navy and its partners have purchased protective easements on 5,149 ac. of upland and shoreline properties around Hood Canal, including protection of approximately 2 miles of the riparian corridor along the Dosewallips River. The Navy purchased a restrictive easement to maintain 3,607 ac. of working forest as a buffer and permanently protect these lands from development. These areas provide protection for designated critical		x	x	x	

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	Present	Future
		habitat for ESA-listed salmonid species. Additional Readiness and Environmental Protection Initiative transactions are underway within the agreement area around Hood Canal. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, beneficially and cumulatively impacts biological resources, and American Indian and				
Seismic Retrofit of Building 431	NAVBASE Kitsap Bremerton	commercial fishing. The Navy performed repair and construction for seismic upgrades and renovation of a ship maintenance machine shop facility, which is within the coastal zone. The project included seismic retrofit renovation of all architectural, mechanical, and electrical systems, demolishing portions of the building interior and hazardous material remediation. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, would not cumulatively impact resources.		С	C	
Ship Maintenance and Waterfront Operations	Naval Station Everett (NSE) (P-173)	Construct new Ship Maintenance and Waterfront Operations Facility, demolish and consolidate substandard and inadequate temporary facilities, and relocate ship support operations to waterfront. This project, could add to the cumulative impacts on biological, cultural, and socioeconomic resources.				C/O
SPECWAR NW Training	Western Washington	Naval Special Warfare in-water and on-land training in western Washington State. Due to the nature of this training, being no-trace left behind, and the lack of weapon involvement, this project			0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Projec C = Co O = Oj X = Ot	t Timefram nstruction peration her	ne
				Past	Present	Future
		alone would have no significant impacts on				
		resources considered in this analysis. Therefore,				
		this project, when considered with the Proposed				
		Action, would not cumulatively impact resources.				
Surveillance	Pacific Ocean,	The Navy utilizes Surveillance Towed Array		0	0	0
Towed Array	Atlantic	Sensor System Low Frequency Active Sonar				
Sensor System	Ocean, Indian	systems onboard several T-AGOS class vessels in				
Low Frequency	Ocean, and	the western and central North Pacific Ocean, not				
Active Sonar	the	including polar waters, and the southwestern				
	Mediterranean	Indian Ocean. The Navy is currently conducting				
	Sea	covered SURTASS LFA sonar activities pursuant to				
		a National Defense Exemption (under the Marine				
		Mammal Protection Act). This exemption expires				
		in August of 2019 and Navy is in the process of				
		updating its relevant environmental planning and				
		compliance documents. The underwater sound				
		produced by this activity may contribute to the				
		cumulative impacts on marine mammals and sea				
		turtles in the Study Area (U.S. Department of the				
		Navy, 2012b).				

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other	ne	
				Past	Present	Future
Transit Protection Program (TPP) Pier and Support Facilities USCG Training	Naval Base Kitsap Bangor (P-907/P-932) California, Oregon, and Washington	Build fixed-pile or floating pontoon main pier and finger piers at K/B Spit. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on biological, cultural, American Indian, and socioeconomic resources. The USCG conducts training throughout the Study Area. In California, District 11 conducts search and rescue, homeland security, law enforcement, marine safety, and aids to navigation missions in over 3.3 million square miles (mi. <sup>2</sup> ) of water. The District 13 Coast Guard unit is located in the Pacific Northwest along the coasts of Oregon and Washington. District 13 conducts the same operational duties as the units in District 11 and covers more than 460,000 mi. <sup>2</sup> of the Pacific Ocean. These activities, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on sediments and water quality, air quality, marine habitats, marine mammals, sea turtles, birds, marine vegetation, marine invertebrates, fishes, and cultural resources.	<ul> <li>USCG activities that were part of the Proposed Action in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and continue to be analyzed in this Supplemental under the Proposed Action include Maritime Security Operations, where USCG personnel participate.</li> <li>The following USCG activities are not part of the Proposed Action for this Supplemental and are analyzed only for their cumulative impact:</li> <li>Small- and medium-caliber weapons firing from ships, similar to that of the Navy's Gunnery Exercises (Surface-to-Surface)</li> <li>Flight training in W-237. This flight training includes low- altitude helicopter flights but does not include expenditure of</li> </ul>	0	0	C/O O
			munitions or any other materials			

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
VAQ Electronic Attack Squadron Expeditionary Wing	NASWI	The Navy prepared an EA to analyze the transition of the Expeditionary Electronic Attack squadrons (VAQ) at NASWI from the aging EA-6B Prowler to the newer EA-18G Growler in the 2012–2014 timeframe. The 2012 EA analyzed retaining three expeditionary VAQ squadrons that operated Prowlers and their transition to Growler, in addition to relocating a reserve squadron to NASWI, and resulted in a finding of no significant impact. Training for these Growler aircrew was included as part of the Proposed Action in the NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (2015a). This transition, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on air quality, birds, and cultural resources.	<ul> <li>Shipboard aircraft operations, such as deck landing qualification training</li> <li>Shipboard maneuvering and engineering training (e.g., abandon ship, anchoring, full power trials, man overboard, and flooding)</li> <li>Search and rescue training</li> </ul>	0	0	0
		Action in the NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (2015a). This transition, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on air quality, birds, and cultural resources.				

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	cation Project Description c	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
Waterfront Improvements	NAVBASE Kitsap Bremerton	This proposed action would consist of two main projects: (1) development of a new Multi-Mission Dry Dock (M2D2) and (2) Reconstruction of existing Dry Dock 6. This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on sediments and water quality, air quality, marine habitats, marine mammals, sea turtles, birds, marine vegetation, marine invertebrates, fishes, and cultural resources.				C/O
Waterfront Service Craft Piers	Naval Station Everett (P-65)	Construct new pier(s) to replace Piers D and E (small craft berthing piers). This project, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on sediments and water quality, air quality, marine habitats, marine mammals, sea turtles, birds, marine vegetation, marine invertebrates, fishes, American Indian, and cultural resources.				C/O
Whidbey Island Extend Shoreline Erosion Protection System South	Whidbey Island	The Navy is constructing an extended shoreline erosion protection system on Whidbey Island near Ault field off of Saratoga Street and Lexington Street. These activities, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on sediments and water quality, air quality, marine habitats, and birds.			C	C
Wind Energy Project	NRS(T) Jim Creek	Installation of 10 wind turbines on Wheeler Mountain and Blue Mountain. Turbine utility would be privately operated under 30-year lease.				C/O

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	Present	Future	
		This project is currently on hold; however, if implemented in the future, these activities, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on sediments and water quality, air quality, marine habitats, marine mammals, and birds.					
Non-Military Acti	ons		-	-	-	-	
Aquaculture	Oceans worldwide	<ul> <li>Globally, 29 percent of stocks are fished at biologically unsustainable levels, and aquaculture helps meet demand and offsets stress to wild populations (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2015). Aquaculture production reached an all-time high of 97 million metric tons in 2013 and is the fastest growing form of food production, at 6 percent per year globally.</li> <li>Forty-seven percent of aquaculture operations occur in the Pacific Ocean. Salmon and shellfish aquaculture have existed since the 1970s in the Puget Sound. In April of 2018, Washington passed HB 2957, to phase out non-native fish farming in Washington State by 2022; which will eliminate threats from Atlantic salmon net pen farming and protect native salmon populations. Aquaculture introduces excess fecal matter, fish pellets, and introduced chemicals into the environment which harms the marine ecosystem (Audubon Washington, 2018).</li> <li>The threats of aquaculture operations on wild fish populations include reduced water quality,</li> </ul>		C/O	C/O	C/O	

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		competition for food, predation by escaped or released farmed fishes, the spread of disease and parasites, and reduced genetic diversity (Kappel, 2005). These threats become apparent when farmed fish escape and enter the natural ecosystem (Hansen & Windsor, 2006; Ormerod, 2003). The Marine Aquaculture Policy provides direction to enable the development of sustainable marine aquaculture (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2015).				
Commercial and General Aviation Activities		Commercial and general aviation are retained for analysis and discussion due to associated emissions from aviation activities and effects on greenhouse gas on air quality and climate change. These activities, when considered with the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on air quality, birds, cultural, Native American, and socioeconomic resources.		0	0	0
Commercial Fishing (Section 3.12.2.2, Commercial and Recreational Fishing)	Pacific Ocean	Commercial and recreational fishing constitutes an important and widespread use of the ocean resources throughout the Study Area. Fishing can adversely affect fish populations, other species, and habitats. Potential impacts of fishing include overfishing of targeted species, bycatch, entanglement, and habitat destruction, all of which negatively affect fish stocks and other marine resources. Bycatch is the capture of fish, marine mammals, sea turtles, seabirds, and other nontargeted species that occur incidentally to	Various bycatch mitigation technologies, quotas, and seasonal restrictions required per the fishery-specific permit process. Operational regulations, seasonal restrictions, licensing, and quotas are used to mitigate negative effects of recreational fishing.	0	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Project TinSummary of Impact Minimizationand Mitigation Measures1 $X = Other$		t Timefram nstruction peration her	ie
				Past	Present	Future
		normal fishing operations. Use of mobile fishing gear such as bottom trawls disturbs the seafloor and reduces habitat structural complexity. Indirect impacts of trawls include increased turbidity, alteration of surface sediment, removal of prey (leading to declines in predator abundance), removal of predators, ghost fishing (i.e., lost fishing gear continuing to ensnare fish and other marine animals), habitat destruction, and the generation of marine debris.				
		foul and disrupt bottom habitats and have the potential to entangle or be ingested by marine animals (i.e., microplastic ingestion by birds and fishes).				
		Fishing can also have a profound influence on individual targeted species populations. In a study of retrospective data, Jackson et al. (2001) analyzed paleoecological records of marine sediments from 125,000 years ago to present, archaeological records from 10,000 years before the present, historical documents, and ecological records from scientific literature sources over the past century. Examining this longer-term data and information, they concluded that ecological extinction caused by overfishing precedes all other pervasive human disturbance of coastal				

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		<ul> <li>ecosystems, including pollution and anthropogenic climatic change.</li> <li>Fisheries bycatch has been identified as a primary driver of population declines in several marine species, including sharks, mammals, seabirds, and sea turtles (Wallace et al., 2010).</li> <li>For example, entanglement in nets from the Pacific Northwest coastal salmon fisheries has been shown to increase mortality in seabirds (Hamel et al., 2009). Habitat destruction caused by bottom trawling and other fishing methods also contributes to the negative effects of commercial and recreation fishing on multiple species, such as the North American groundfish (Melnychuk et al., 2013).</li> </ul>				
continued operational activities of the network of moored buoys and coastal stations	Actic Ocean and Coastal Areas of the United States	Ine National Data Buoy Center (NDBC) has prepared a Programmatic EA to analyze the continued operation of the NDBC program. The NDBC network of buoys includes Coastal Weather Buoys, land based Coastal-Marine Automated Network stations, Tropical Atmosphere Ocean Array, and Deep-ocean Assessment and Reporting of Tsunamis. The NDBC proposes to continue the use of these buoys and stations in order to provide quality in- situ marine observations in a safe and sustainable manner to understand and predict		0	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Rea	sonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)
-------------------------------------	---

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	Present	Future	
		changes in weather, climate, oceans, and coasts (National Data Buoy Center, 2017).					
Hood Canal In- Lieu Fee Mitigation Program	Hood Canal	The Hood Canal In-Lieu Fee Mitigation Program is a voluntary program sponsored by the Hood Canal Coordinating Council. Entities pursuing development on aquatic resources such as wetlands or shoreline habitats can purchase mitigation credits to offset unavoidable adverse impacts to these resources within the Hood Canal watershed. The primary goal of the program is to increase aquatic resource functions in the Hood Canal watershed. The program is intended to ensure no net loss through the preservation, enhancement, establishment, and restoration of ecological functions within target watersheds. This will be accomplished through the establishment and management of mitigation sites. The service area for the Hood Canal Coordinating Council In-Lieu Fee Program encompasses Hood Canal and those portions of Water Resource Inventory Areas 14, 15, 16, and 17 draining to Hood Canal, defined by a line extending from Foul Weather Bluff to Tala Point, south through the Great Bend to its terminus near the town of Belfair, Washington. The service area is divided into two components for the In- Lieu Fee Program. The first is the Freshwater Environment, which generally includes areas landward of the marine riparian zone, including freshwater and estuarine		x	X	X	

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	Present	Future	
		wetlands and streams up to and excluding any National Park or National Forest Lands. The second is the Marine/Nearshore Environment, which extends from the marine riparian area at the top of the coastal bluffs to the adjacent aquatic intertidal and subtidal zones. The mitigation strategy selected for each permitted impact will be based on an assessment of type and degree of disturbance to the landscape or					
Marine Spatial Plan for Washington's Pacific Coast	Washington's Pacific Coast	The Washington Department of Ecology created a Marine Spatial Plan, adopted in June 2018, which provided: a consistent way of evaluating future ocean use proposals; a new base of scientific information on coastal uses and resources; a framework to coordinate decisions for new ocean uses; and protections for sensitive ecological areas and fishing. This plan is a tool to assist state agencies and others in evaluating and engaging in proposals or new ocean uses and guide potential applicants as they develop those proposals (Washington Department of Ecology, 2017).		X	x	x	
Maritime Traffic (Commercial Transportation and Shipping)	Pacific Ocean	Portions of the Study Area are heavily traveled by commercial, recreational, and government marine vessels, with several commercial ports occurring in or near the Study Area. Section 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources) provides additional information for marine vessel traffic in the Study Area. Primary concerns for the cumulative		0	0	0	

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	Present	Future	
		impacts analysis include vessels striking marine mammals and sea turtles, introduction of non- native species through ballast water, and underwater sound from ships and other vessels. Therefore, maritime traffic could add to the cumulative impacts on marine mammals and sea turtles in the Study Area.					
Marine Tourism/Whale Watching	Puget Sound	In April of 2018, the Pacific Whale Watch Association adopted new guidelines for marine tourism in the Puget Sound. These guidelines are meant to keep endangered whales, such as the Southern Resident Killer Whale population and humpback whales, safe around commercial and private boats. These guidelines include implementing a "slow zone" of 7 knots within 1 kilometer of whales; staying 200 yards from Southern Resident killer whales; limiting viewing time to 1 hour in the vicinity of a group of whales, or limiting viewing time to 30 minutes if there are 10 or more vessels within 1 kilometer of the whales.(Donaldson, 2018).	Regulations under the ESA and MMPA prohibit vessels from approaching killer whales within 200 yards and from parking in the path of whales when in the Inland Waters of Washington State. Certain vessels are exempt from the prohibitions (76 Federal Register 20870).	0	0	0	
Pacific Marine Energy Center South Energy Test Site	6 NM southwest of Newport, OR	The Oregon State University proposes to build a grid-connected offshore wave energy test site. It would be about 33 miles in area and is in the planning and permitting stages of development. The project is still undergoing geophysical surveys, finalizing locations of terrestrial project infrastructure, conducting cultural surveys, and completing draft license applications, as well as proposing future research. If successful they will				C/O	

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	Present	Future	
		finalize, design, receive permits for, and construct and commission the test site (Batten, 2017). This project could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources, transportation, American Indian, and cultural resources.					
Pleasant Harbor Master Planned Resort	Black Point Peninsula	In November 2007, a programmatic Final EIS was issued in association with an Amendment to re- designate the 256 acres from rural residential to Master Planned Resort. The proposed Master Planned Resort is located south of Brinnon, Washington, on the Black Point Peninsula, on the western shore of the Hood Canal. Under Alternative 1, an 18-hole golf course, 890 residential units, 49,772 ft. <sup>2</sup> of commercial space, and resort-related amenities on a 231 ac. site (with 33 ac. of natural area preserved and 2.2 million cubic yards of earthwork required for golf course grading) would be built. Alternative 2 consists of the golf course, 890 residential units, 52,650 ft. of commercial space with resort- related amenities, and 80 ac. of natural area preserved with 1 million cubic yards of earthwork for golf course grading. Finally, under the No Action Alternative, the Master Planned Resort would not be constructed. The Final Supplemental EIS was released in December 2015 (Jefferson County, 2015). Jefferson County government held meetings in 2016 with tribes in				C	

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		the area to understand their concerns with the proposed development.				
		A Staff Report on the application for a Development Agreement and Development Regulations was received on January 4, 2016; the Planning Commission Public Hearing occurred on January 6, 2016; and on August 14, 2017 the Board of County Commissioners meeting watched a presentation on the Pleasant Harbor Master Planned Resort (Jefferson County, 2017). With respect to the Proposed Action, could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources, water quality, transportation, Native American, and socioeconomic resource.				
Seismic Surveys	Global	Seismic surveys are typically accomplished by towing a sound source such as an airgun array that emits acoustic energy in timed intervals behind a research vessel. The transmitted acoustic energy is reflected and received by an array of hydrophones. This acoustic information is processed to provide information about geological structure below the seafloor. The oil and gas industry uses seismic surveys to search for new hydrocarbon deposits. In addition, academic geologists use them to study plate tectonics and other topics. In Washington and the Pacific Northwest, seismic surveys are mostly used for collecting marine seismic reflection data		0	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)
Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		to investigate the earthquake hazard in the region.				
		The underwater sound produced by these surveys could add to the cumulative impacts on marine life, including marine mammals.				
		For example, the potential exists to expose some animals to sound levels exceeding 180 decibels (dB) referenced to (re) 1 micropascal (µPa) root mean square, which would in turn potentially result in temporary or permanent loss of hearing				
		(Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, 2011). All seismic surveys conducted by U.S. vessels are subject to the MMPA authorization process administered by the NMFS, as well as the NEPA process associated with issuing MMPA				
		authorizations. Seismic surveys could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources, including marine mammals, fishes, sea turtles, and invertebrates.				

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other			
				Past	Present	Future	
Tesoro Anacortes Refinery Clean Products Upgrade Project (CPUP) Vessel Traffic Assessment Technical Report	Fidalgo Bay, Skagit County, Washington	The Clean Products Upgrade Project, located approximately 70 miles north of Seattle, would include construction of an Aromatics Recovery Unit, installation of a new Marine Vapor Emission Control System, and on-shore facility upgrades and expansions. The Vessel Traffic Assessment Technical Report demonstrates vessel traffic levels in the study area and shows the current shipping plan and impacts to vessel traffic in the Salish Sea, impacts to vessel traffic days, and comprehensive vessel traffic management systems (CH2m, 2016). With respect to the Proposed Action, the project could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources, sediments and water quality, transportation and noise, water resources, air quality, Native American, and cultural resources.	Existing passive and active mitigation measures were found to be adequate for the anticipated volume of vessel traffic associated with the proposed action and other anticipated development in the Study Area.	С	0	0	
The Seattle Multimodal Ferry Terminal at Colman Dock Project	Seattle	This project began with an environmental process and preliminary design from 2012 to 2015, with the final design and permitting process occurring from 2015 to 2017. Construction began in 2017 and is expected to continue through 2023. The terminal will remain open throughout construction. The project is expected to ensure the Colman Dock facility can continue to provide safe and reliable ferry service between Seattle and communities in Kitsap County and the Olympic Peninsula; improve safety by meeting current seismic standards; reduce conflicts between vehicles, bicycles, and		C	C	C/O	

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Location Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
Undersea Communication Cables	Oceans worldwide	<ul> <li>pedestrians; improve pedestrian circulation and accessibility; remove 7,400 tons of creosote-treated timber piles from Elliott Bay; open an area of shoreline and near-shore habitat; provide stormwater treatment for all new and replaced areas of the trestle; and provide opportunities for remediation of contaminated sediments (Washington Department of Transportation, 2017). With respect to the Proposed Action, the project could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources, sediments and water quality, transportation and noise, with temporary impacts on water resources, air quality, and cultural resources.</li> <li>Submarine cables provide the primary means of voice, data, and Internet connectivity between the mainland United States and the rest of the world (Federal Communications Commission, 2017). The Federal Communications Commission grants licenses authorizing cable applicants to install, own, and operate submarine cables and associated landing stations in the United States. Cables are installed by specialized boats across flat ocean surfaces and dug into the seabed in shallow areas. Over 550,000 mi. of cables currently exist in the world's oceans. Potential impacts of installation and maintenance activities would include noise and vessel strike from boat traffic, and increased seafloor disturbance and sedimentation in</li> </ul>		C/O	С/О	C/O

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Location Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		localized areas where the cable is installed. Likewise, electromagnetic fields are generated by some cables that may be sensed by and affect the migration behavior of some fish, sharks, rays, and eels (Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, 2016). With respect to the Proposed Action, this project could add to the cumulative impacts on noise and biological resources, including both marine species and marine habitats.				
Washington State's Marine Spatial Plan and EIS	Pacific Ocean adjacent to Washington State coastline	The Marine Spatial Plan Study Area consists of marine waters of the Pacific Ocean adjacent to Washington's coastline from the intertidal zone out to the continental slope. The plan provides information and guidance intended for use throughout the development of new ocean use proposal along the coast. It assists agencies, tribal governments, and others in evaluating and engaging in proposals for new ocean uses and guides potential applicants as they develop those proposals. The proposals for new ocean uses, if implemented, could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources (marine species, heabitt, and water availing	Proposed mitigation would depend on the project chosen.		C/O	C/O

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
Research and Cor	servation					
Academic	Global	Wide-scale academic research is conducted in		0	0	0
Research		the Study Area by federal entities, such as the				
		Navy and National Oceanic and Atmospheric				
		Administration/NMFS, as well as state and				
		private entities and other partnerships.				
		Although academic research aims to capture data				
		without disturbing the ambient conditions of the				
		ocean environment, vessels contribute to traffic,				
		noise, and strike hazard; seismic activity				
		contributes noise; and various other collection				
		methods, such as trawling, could be disruptive to				
		the ecosystems under observation. Impacts from				
		academic research operations can be similar to				
		the impacts expected from oil and gas airgun				
		survey activities, which can cause death in				
		microscopic animals due to powerful sound wave				
		creation. These sound waves can also kill or				
		injure fishes and invertebrates. With respect to				
		the Proposed Action, academic research could				
		add to the cumulative impacts on noise and				
		biological resources, including both marine				
		species and marine habitats.				

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Location Project Description a	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
Ocean Pollution a	nd Ecosystem Al	teration				
Climate Change (Section 3.2, Air Quality)	Global	Predictions of long-term negative environmental impacts due to climate change include sea level rise; changes in ocean surface temperature; changes in weather patterns with increases in the severity of storms and droughts; changes to local and regional ecosystems; ocean acidification; shrinking glaciers and sea ice; thawing permafrost; a longer growing season; and shifts in plant and animal ranges. Anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions have changed the physical and chemical properties of the oceans, including a 1-degree Celsius temperature rise, increased carbon dioxide absorption, decreased pH, and alteration of carbonate chemistry (Poloczanska et al., 2016). Observations of species responses that have been linked to anthropogenic climate change are widespread, and trends include shifts in species distribution to higher latitudes and deeper locations, earlier onset of spring and later arrival of fall, and declines in calcification.		x	X	X
		Climate change is likely to impact the Study Area negatively and will contribute added stressors to all resources in the Study Area.				
Hypoxic Zones	Global	Hypoxia, or low oxygen, is an environmental phenomenon where the concentration of dissolved oxygen in the water column decreases		0	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past	. Present	and Reasonably	<b>Foreseeable</b>	Actions	(continued)
	,				(continued)

Project	Location	Location Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		to a level that can no longer support living aquatic organisms. Hypoxia occurs from the rapid growth and decay of algal blooms in response to excess nutrient loading (primarily nitrogen and phosphorus from agriculture runoff, sewage treatment plants, bilge water, and atmospheric deposition). Animals that encounter the Dead Zones flee, experience physiological stress, or suffocate (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2016; Texas A&M University, 2011, 2014). Hypoxic zones can be natural phenomena but are occurring in increasing size and frequency due to human-induced nonpoint source water pollution (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2016, 2017). In the northern part of the California Current System in the Offshore Area of the Study Area, a seasonal decline in oxygen concentrations and increasing hypoxia (dead zones) occurring over the summer upwelling season has increased over the past few years. With respect to the Proposed Action, hypoxia could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources, water quality, and socioeconomic resource.				
Marine Debris (Section 3.1.3.2, Marine Debris, Military	Global	Marine debris is any anthropogenic object intentionally or unintentionally discarded, disposed of, or abandoned that enters the marine environment (National Marine Fisheries		0	0	0
Expended Materials, and		Service, 2006). Common types of marine debris include various forms of plastic and abandoned				

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Location Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
Marine Sediments)		fishing gear. Marine debris degrades marine habitat quality and poses ingestion and entanglement risks to marine life and birds (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2006). Plastic debris is a major concern because it degrades slowly and many plastics float. The floating debris is transported by currents throughout the oceans and has been discovered accumulating in oceanic gyres (Law et al., 2010). Additionally, plastic waste in the ocean chemically attracts hydrocarbon pollutants such as polychlorinated biphenyl and dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane, which accumulate up to one million times more in plastic than in ocean water (Mato et al., 2001). Fish, marine animals, and birds can mistakenly consume these wastes containing elevated levels of toxins instead of their prey. In the North Pacific Subtropical Gyre it is estimated that the fishes in this area are ingesting 12,000–24,000 U.S. tons of plastic debris a year (Davison & Asch, 2011). Marine Debris is likely to impact the Study Area negatively and will contribute added stressors to all resources in the Study Area. With respect to the Proposed Action, marine debris could add to the cumulative impacts on biological resources, water quality, and socioeconomic resource.				
Noise	Global	Vessel noise from commercial shipping and general vessel traffic, oceanographic research, oil and gas exploration, underwater construction,		0	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Location Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
		ranging are most likely to contribute to increases in ocean noise. Any potential for cumulative impact should be put into the context of recent changes to ambient sound levels in the world's oceans as a result of anthropogenic activities. Appendix D (Acoustic and Explosive Concepts) provides additional information about sources of anthropogenic sound in the ocean and other background information about underwater noise. This section describes the different types of effects that are possible and the potential relationships between sound stimuli and				
		long-term consequences for individual animals and populations. A variety of impacts may result from exposure to sound-producing activities. The severity of these impacts can vary greatly between minor impacts that have no real cost to the animal, to more severe impacts that may have lasting consequences. The major categories of potential impacts are behavioral reactions, physiological stress, auditory fatigue, auditory masking, and direct trauma. With respect to the Proposed Action, noise can cumulatively add to the impacts on marine mammals, and sea turtles in the Study Area.				
Pollution (Section 3.1, Sediments and	Global	Common ocean pollutants are derived from land- based activities and include toxic compounds such as metals, pesticides, and other organic		0	0	0

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

Project	Location	Project Description	Summary of Impact Minimization and Mitigation Measures <sup>1</sup>	Project Timeframe C = Construction O = Operation X = Other		
				Past	Present	Future
Water Quality)		chemicals; excess nutrients from fertilizers and				
		sewage; detergents; oil; plastics; and other				
		solids. Pollutants enter oceans from non-point				
		sources (stormwater runoff from watersheds),				
		point sources (wastewater treatment plant				
		discharges), other land-based sources				
		(windblown debris), spills, dumping, vessels, and				
		atmospheric deposition.				
		Bilgewater is a mix of water, oily fluids,				
		lubricants, and grease, cleaning fluids, and other				
		wastes that are pumped out periodically from				
		vessel holding tanks, either to a reception facility				
		onshore or treated with a bilge oil-separator and				
		discharged at sea. Discharging sewage within 3				
		NM of the coast is largely prohibited under the				
		Clean Water Act. The main risk of oil or other				
		petroleum product spills is from ships, whether				
		carrying petroleum to and from ports or in fuel				
		tanks and from pipelines and onshore facilities				
		that transport and store oil and gas. With respect				
		to the Proposed Action, pollution could add to				
		the cumulative impacts on sediments and water				
		quality, biological resources, air quality,				
		socioeconomic resource, and public health and				
		safety.				

Table 4.3-1: Past, Present, and Reasonably Foreseeable Actions (continued)

<sup>1</sup>Some projects/activities did not list specific impacts minimization measures (such as avoidance techniques, standard operating procedures, or industry best management practices) or mitigation requirements; either official documentation of project descriptions could not be obtained or did not specify these actions. In most cases, site-specific actions are to be developed as specific projects are developed.

Notes: EA = Environmental Assessment, EIS = Environmental Impact Statement, ESA = Endangered Species Act, MMPA = Marine Mammal Protection Act, NMFS = National Marine Fisheries Service, OEIS = Overseas Environmental Impact Statement, U.S. = United States, USFWS = U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

#### 4.4 Resource-Specific Cumulative Impacts

In accordance with CEQ Guidance (Council on Environmental Quality, 1997), the following cumulative impacts analysis focuses on impacts that are "truly meaningful." The level of analysis for each resource is commensurate with the intensity of the impacts identified in Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences) and the level to which impacts from the Proposed Action are expected to mingle with similar impacts from existing activities. A full analysis of potential cumulative impacts is provided for marine mammals, sea turtles, marine invertebrates, and fish. The rationale is also provided for an abbreviated analysis of the following resources: sediments and water quality, air quality, marine habitats, birds, marine vegetation, fishes, cultural resources, Native American and Alaska Native Traditional Resources, socioeconomic resources, and public health and safety.

#### 4.4.1 Sediments and Water Quality

Based on the analysis in Section 3.1 (Sediments and Water Quality), which supplements the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, sediments and water quality would still be below applicable standards and guidelines that are established to protect sediments and water quality. Furthermore, the Proposed Action would not result in long-term and widespread changes in environmental conditions, such as nutrient loading, turbidity, salinity, or pH (a measure of the degree to which a solution is either acidic [pH less than 7.0] or basic [pH greater than 7.0]). Therefore, the incremental contribution of the Proposed Action to cumulative impacts on sediments and water quality would be low, and further analysis of cumulative impacts is not warranted.

#### 4.4.2 Air Quality

The incremental contribution of the Proposed Action to cumulative impacts would be low and would still be below applicable state, federal, and USEPA standards and guidelines based on the analysis presented in Section 3.2 (Air Quality) of this Supplemental and the reasons summarized below:

- All of the air emissions sources proposed in this Supplemental are mobile sources and do not impact the current attainment status.
- Few stationary offshore air pollutant emission sources exist within the Study Area and few are expected in the foreseeable future.
- International regulations by the International Maritime Organization required commercial shipping vessels to switch to lower-sulfur fuel near U.S. and international coasts beginning in 2012 (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2011). In addition, the International Maritime Organization is set to impose a new 0.5 percent sulfur cap on marine fuel emissions (International Maritime Organization, 2017). The DoD has released the *Operational Energy Strategy: Implementation Plan*, which will reduce demand, diversify energy sources, and integrate energy consideration into planning (U.S. Department of Defense, 2012). Since then, the Navy has released the 2016 Operational Energy Strategy, which builds on the successes of the 2011 Operational Energy Strategy (U.S. Department of Defense, 2016).

Under this Supplemental, the contribution of proposed increases in training and testing under the Proposed Action would still be negligible based on the reasons presented above. Construction-related activities associated with the additional projects could generate increased air emissions; however, air quality in the region would remain below *de minimis* levels due to the quick dispersive nature of emissions. Therefore, further analysis of cumulative impacts on air quality is not warranted.

#### 4.4.3 Marine Habitats

The incremental contribution of the Proposed Action to cumulative impacts would be negligible based on the analysis presented in Section 3.3 (Marine Habitats) of this Supplemental, and the reasons summarized below:

- Most of the proposed activities that might affect marine habitats would occur in areas where hard bottom does not occur.
- Impacts on soft-bottom habitats would be confined to a limited area, and recovery would occur quickly.

Therefore, further analysis of cumulative impacts on marine habitats is not warranted.

#### 4.4.4 Marine Mammals

The analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 3.4 (Marine Mammals) detailed the potential for impacts on marine mammals from the various stressors related to Navy training and testing activities. As discussed in Section 3.4.2 (Environmental Consequences) of this Supplemental, in general there have been no substantial changes to the activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that would change the conclusions reached regarding populations of marine mammals in the Study Area. Analysis of cumulative impacts on marine mammals was specifically addressed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 4.4.6 (Marine Mammals).

In association with the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) determined that within the Study Area only acoustic stressors and explosive stressors could potentially result in harassment and/or the incidental taking of marine mammals from Navy training and testing activities (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2015) and that none of the other stressors would result in significant adverse impacts or jeopardize the continued existence of any Endangered Species Act (ESA) listed marine mammals (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2014). In addition, NMFS determined that the vast majority of impacts expected from sonar exposure and underwater detonations are behavioral in nature, temporary and comparatively short in duration, relatively infrequent, and specifically not of the type or severity that would be expected to be additive for the small portion of the stocks and species likely to be exposed, and they therefore would not contribute to cumulative impacts.

NMFS specifically incorporated the impacts from other past and ongoing anthropogenic activities into their negligible impact analyses pursuant to Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) and ESA (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2014; National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2015). The NMFS Biological Opinion included an explanation of how the results of NMFS' baseline and effects analyses in Biological Opinions relate to those contained in the cumulative impact section of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. NMFS found that Navy training and testing activities are not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of threatened or endangered species in the NWTT Study Area during any single year or as a result of the cumulative impacts of the 5-year authorization under the MMPA (ending in 2020). There has been no emergent science that would necessitate changes to conclusions reached by Navy or NMFS (as a cooperating agency) in association with the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS with regard to marine mammals. It has long been understood that the cumulative effects of stressors on marine organisms in general and marine mammal populations in particular is extremely difficult to predict (National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine, 2017). Recognizing the difficulties with measuring trends in marine mammal populations, the focus has been on indicators for adverse impacts, including health and other population metrics (National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine, 2017).

This recommended use of population indicators is the approach Navy has presented in the previous environmental analyses of Navy training and testing activities; see in particular the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 3.4.4.1 (Summary of Monitoring and Observations During Navy Activities) and the update to that information in this Supplemental (Section 3.4.3.4, Summary of Monitoring and Observations During Navy Activities Since 2015). Since the 2015 analyses, neither the present nor the reasonably foreseeable actions detailed in Table 4.3-1 change the previous assessment that the Navy's contribution to any cumulative impacts on marine mammal populations would be negligible.

Based on the analysis presented in Section 3.4 (Marine Mammals) of this Supplemental, and the reasons summarized above relating to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the incremental contribution of the Proposed Action to cumulative impacts would be negligible. Therefore, further analysis of cumulative impacts on marine mammals is not warranted.

#### 4.4.5 Sea Turtles

The analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 3.5 (Sea Turtles) detailed the potential for impacts on sea turtles from the various stressors related to Navy training and testing activities. As discussed in Section 3.5.2 (Environmental Consequences) of this Supplemental, in general there have been no substantial changes to the activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that would change the conclusions reached regarding populations of sea turtles in the Study Area. Analysis of cumulative impacts on sea turtles was specifically addressed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 4.4.7 (Sea Turtles).

Use of acoustic stressors (sonar and other active acoustic sources) and use of explosives have occurred since the 2015 completion of the NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Record of Decision and the 2015 NMFS Biological Opinion. There have been no known adverse effects to sea turtles, impacts on leatherback sea turtle prey items, or population impacts that were not otherwise previously analyzed or accounted for in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS or the NMFS Biological Opinion pursuant to the ESA (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2015) with regard to acoustic or explosive stressors. Therefore, because there have been no known adverse effects to sea turtles, use of acoustic stressors and explosives would not contribute to cumulative impacts.

There has been no emergent science that would necessitate changes to conclusions reached by Navy or NMFS (as a cooperating agency) in association with the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Since the 2015 analyses, neither the present nor the reasonably foreseeable actions detailed in Table 4.3-1 change the previous assessment that the Navy's contribution to any cumulative impacts on sea turtles would be negligible.

Based on the analysis presented in Section 3.5 (Sea Turtles) of this Supplemental, and the reasons summarized above relating to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the incremental contribution of the Proposed Action to cumulative impacts would be negligible. Therefore, further analysis of cumulative impacts on sea turtles is not warranted.

#### 4.4.6 Birds

The analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 3.6 (Birds) detailed the potential for impacts on birds from the various stressors related to Navy training and testing activities. As discussed in Section 3.6.2 (Environmental Consequences) of this Supplemental, in general there have been no substantial changes to the activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that would change the

conclusions reached regarding populations of birds in the Study Area. Analysis of cumulative impacts on birds was specifically addressed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 4.4.8 (Birds).

Marine birds, including ESA-listed species (marbled murrelets and short-tailed albatrosses) in the Offshore Area are threatened by continued overfishing, pollution, shipping, and oil and gas development (Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, 2017; Melnychuk et al., 2013; Wisniewska et al., 2018). Many of these actions are currently present, but are expected to increase in the future (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 2016). Approximately 90 percent of the world's fisheries are already overfished threatening the ocean life and habitat. The shipping industry is expected to increase as global trade grows, particularly trans-Pacific container ship trade. Increasing the size of ships carrying containers and cargo goods increase oil spills, dumping of trash, ballast water, and oily waste. Therefore, the aggregate impacts of past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions may have a significant effect on birds. The Proposed Action could also result in injury and mortality to individual birds from underwater explosions, sonar, and strikes. Injury and mortality that might occur under the Proposed Action would be additive to injury and mortality associated with other actions. In the USFWS 2016 Biological Opinion on activities described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service determined that the relative contribution of military training activities to overall injury and mortality of marbled murrelets and short-tailed albatrosses would be low compared to other major threats to marine birds, such as pervasive plastic debris deposition in the marine environment, bycatch, point and non-point source pollution from land, and other sources of pollution from non-military activities (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 2016).

It is likely that distant shipping and aircraft noise (which is more pervasive and continuous) and sound associated with underwater explosions and sonar would overlap in time and space. However, there is no evidence indicating that the combined noise of shipping activities and aircraft noise, and sounds associated with underwater explosions and sonar use, would result in harmful additive impacts on birds.

The potential also exists for the impacts of ocean pollution and acoustic stressors associated with the Proposed Action to be additive or synergistic. It is possible that the response of a previously stressed animal would be more severe than the response of an unstressed animal. However, there are no data indicating that a seabird affected by ocean pollution would be more susceptible to stressors associated with the Proposed Action.

The analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 3.6 (Birds) detailed the potential for impacts on birds from the various stressors related to Navy training and testing activities. As discussed in this Supplemental (Section 3.6.2, Environmental Consequences), in general there have been no substantial changes to the activities analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS that would change the conclusions reached regarding populations of birds in the Study Area. Analysis of cumulative impacts on birds was specifically addressed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Section 4.4.8 (Birds).

In summary, based upon the analysis in Section 3.6 (Birds), and the reasons summarized above, the incremental contribution of the Proposed Action to cumulative impacts on bird populations would be low. Therefore, further analysis of cumulative impacts on birds is not warranted.

#### 4.4.7 Marine Vegetation

The incremental contribution of the Proposed Action to cumulative impacts would be negligible based on the analysis presented in Section 3.7 (Marine Vegetation) and the reasons summarized below:

- Most of the proposed activities would occur in areas where seagrasses and other attached marine vegetation do not grow.
- Impacts would be localized, recovery would occur quickly, and no population level impacts would be expected.
- The Proposed Action would not result in impacts that have been historically significant to marine vegetation. For example, the Proposed Action would not increase nutrient loading, which can cause algal blooms, decrease light penetration, and impact photosynthesis of seagrasses. Furthermore, the Proposed Action would not result in long-term or widespread changes in environmental conditions, such as turbidity, salinity, pH, or water temperature that could impact marine vegetation.
- The Proposed Action would have no effect on ESA-listed species of marine vegetation and would not result in the destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.

Under this Supplemental, the contribution of proposed increases in training and testing under the Proposed Action would be low, based on the reasons presented above. Impacts on marine vegetation from projects such as pollution, and climate change could result in long-term or widespread changes in secondary stressors to the environment that would change environmental conditions such as turbidity, salinity, pH, or water temperature that would impact marine vegetation. However, these impacts are expected to be localized, recovery would occur quickly, and no population-level impacts would be expected. Therefore, further analysis of cumulative impacts on marine vegetation is not warranted.

#### 4.4.8 Marine Invertebrates

Based upon the analysis in Section 3.8 (Marine Invertebrates), the invertebrate mortality impacts of the Proposed Action under this Supplemental would be cumulative with other actions that cause mortality (e.g., commercial fishing). Under this Supplemental, stressors from the Proposed Action would have no effect or would not significantly impact marine invertebrates. However, the incremental contribution of the Proposed Action to cumulative impacts would be negligible. Therefore, further analysis of cumulative impacts on marine invertebrates is not warranted.

#### 4.4.9 Fishes

#### 4.4.9.1 Impacts of the Proposed Action that May Contribute to Cumulative Impacts

Based on the analysis presented in Section 3.9 (Fishes) under this Supplemental and the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 3.9 (Fish), it is anticipated that the Proposed Action would affect fish species within the Study Area, including ESA-listed fish species. Fishes could be affected by acoustic stressors (sonar and other transducers, air guns, pile driving, vessel noise, and weapons noise), explosives, energy stressors, physical disturbance or strikes (vessels and in-water devices, military expended materials, seafloor devices, pile driving), entanglement (wires and cables, decelerators/parachutes), and ingestion of military expended materials. The majority of potential impacts include short-term behavioral and physiological responses. For example, fish species that are exposed to sonar and other transducers within their hearing range or that are within close proximity to vessel or weapons noise may experience brief periods of masking or behavioral reactions, such as startle or avoidance responses, or no reaction at all. Other stressors (such as explosives) could also result in injury or mortality to a relatively small number of individuals. As described in Section 3.9.3 (Environmental Consequences), long-term consequences for most individual fishes or populations are

unlikely because exposures from the majority of stressors are intermittent, transient, and unlikely to repeat over short periods.

The general region of influence for fishes extends beyond the Study Area boundaries for some species because the Study Area represents only a portion of the available habitat during its lifecycle, such as anadromous species that spend part of their lifecycle in freshwater. Fishes are usually not distributed uniformly throughout the Study Area, but are typically associated with a specific habitat type (e.g., soft bottom, reef, or open water) or can utilize a variety of habitats at different life stages. The distribution and specific habitats in which an individual of a single fish species occurs may also be influenced by its size, sex, reproductive condition, and other factors such as water temperature and depth. The highest number and diversity of fishes typically occur where the habitat is most diverse; thus, coastal ecosystems tend to support a greater diversity of species than oceanic and deep-sea habitats (Moyle & Cech, 2004).

#### 4.4.9.2 Impacts of Other Actions

The potential impacts of other actions that are relevant to the cumulative impact analysis for fish include the following:

- Mortality associated with vessel strikes, commercial fisheries, bycatch, and entanglement in fishing and other gear
- Injury associated with vessel strikes, bycatch, entanglement, and underwater sound
- Disturbance, behavioral modifications, and reduced animal fitness associated with underwater noise
- Reduced animal fitness associated with water pollution

Most of the other actions and considerations retained for analysis would include operation of marine vessels. Exceptions include the actions listed under environmental regulations and permitting. Stressors associated with marine vessel operations that are of primary concern for the cumulative impacts analysis includes vessel strikes and underwater noise. Many of the actions would also result in underwater noise from sources other than vessels, seismic surveys, and construction activities. Rather than discussing these stressors for individual actions, their aggregate impacts are considered below as "other environmental considerations" in the maritime traffic and ocean noise subsections. Similarly, many of the actions would result in water pollution. The aggregate impacts of water pollution are addressed in the ocean pollution section (Section 4.5.9.1.4). Commercial fishing and overfishing is the primary cause of stress and entanglement. Therefore, these stressors are discussed in the commercial and recreational fishing section (see Section 4.5.9.1.6).

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and in Section 3.9 (Fish) in this Supplemental, with few exceptions, activities involving vessels and in-water devices are not intended to contact the seafloor. Except for bottom-crawling unmanned underwater vehicles, there is minimal potential strike impact. Physical disturbance and strike stressors from vessels and in-water devices, military expended materials, and seafloor devices have the potential to affect all marine fish groups found within the Study Area, although some fish groups may be more susceptible to strike potential than others. In addition, the potential responses to physical strikes are varied, but include behavioral changes such as avoidance, altered swimming speed and direction, physiological stress, and physical injury or mortality.

Underwater noise can be a threat to marine fishes. Anthropogenic noise is generated from a variety of sources including commercial shipping, oil and gas exploration and production activities, commercial

and recreational fishing (including fish-finding sonar, fathometers, and acoustic deterrent devices), recreational boating, whale watching activities and other marine transportation vessels such as ferries, marine and coastal development (i.e., construction of bridges, ferry terminals, windfarms, etc.), and research (including sound from air guns, sonar, and telemetry). Vessel noise in particular is a major contributor to anthropogenic noise in the ocean and is intensively produced in inland waters. Commercial shipping's contribution to ambient noise in the ocean increased by as much as 12 dB between approximately the 1960s and 2005 (Hildebrand, 2009; McDonald et al., 2008). Frisk (2012) confirmed the trend and reported that between 1950 and 2007 ocean noise in the 25 to 50 Hz frequency range increased 3.3 dB per decade, resulting in a cumulative increase of approximately 19 dB over a baseline of 52 dB (decibels re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>/Hz). The increase in noise is associated with an increase in commercial shipping, which correlates with global economic growth (Frisk, 2012). Miksis-Olds and Nichols (2015) found low-frequency ocean sound levels have decreased in the South Atlantic and Equatorial Pacific Oceans, similar to a trend of slightly decreasing low-frequency noise levels in the Northeast Pacific. In addition to vessels, other sources of underwater noise include pile-driving activity (Carlson et al., 2007; Casper et al., 2012; Casper et al., 2013a; Casper et al., 2013b; Dahl et al., 2015; Debusschere et al., 2014; Feist et al., 1992; Halvorsen et al., 2012; Popper et al., 2006; Ruggerone et al., 2008; Stadler & Woodbury, 2009), sonar (California Department of Transportation, 2001; Carlson et al., 2007; Mueller-Blenkle et al., 2010; Popper et al., 2006), seismic activity (Popper & Hastings, 2009), and offshore construction projects (Foderaro, 2015).

Noise can cause permanent injury in some marine animals (Popper et al., 2005). Physiological responses to noise have shown a variety of results. For example, the giant kelpfish (*Heterostichus rostratus*) exhibited acute stress response when exposed to intermittent recorded boat engine noise (Nichols et al., 2015). In another study, Holles et al. (2013) found that local, low-intensity noise from recreational boat engines has the capacity to disrupt settlement in coral reef fish larvae, which may lead to impacts on recruitment to adult populations.

Chemicals and debris are the two most common types of pollutants in the marine environment. Global oceanic circulation patterns result in the accumulation of a considerable amount of pollutants and debris scattered throughout the open ocean and concentrated in gyres and other places (Crain et al., 2009). Pollution initially impacts fishes that occur near the sources of pollution, but may also affect future generations from effects to reproduction and increased mortality across life stages.

Chemical pollutants in the marine environment that may impact marine fishes include organic pollutants (e.g., pesticides, herbicides, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, flame retardants, and oil) and inorganic pollutants (e.g., heavy metals) (Pew Oceans Commission, 2003). High chemical pollutant levels in marine fishes may cause behavioral changes, physiological changes, or genetic damage (Goncalves et al., 2008; Moore, 2008; Pew Oceans Commission, 2003). Bioaccumulation is the net buildup of substances (e.g., chemicals or metals) in an organism from inhabiting a contaminated habitat or from ingesting food or prey containing the contaminated substance (Newman, 1998), or from ingesting the substance directly (Moore, 2008). Bioaccumulation of pollutants (e.g., metals and organic pollutants) is also a concern to human health because people consume top predators with high pollutant loads.

Marine debris is a widespread global pollution problem, and trends suggest that accumulations are increasing as plastic production rises (Rochman et al., 2013). Debris includes plastics, metals, rubber, textiles, derelict fishing gear, vessels, and other lost or discarded items. Derelict fishing gear include abandoned nets and lines that pose a threat to fishes. Due to body shape, habitat use, and feeding strategies, some fishes are more susceptible to marine debris entanglement than others (Musick et al.,

2000; Ocean Conservancy, 2010). Entanglement in abandoned commercial and recreational fishing gear has caused declines for some marine fishes.

Microplastics (i.e., plastics less than 5mm in size) in the marine environment are well documented, and interactions with marine biota, including numerous fish species have been described worldwide (Lusher et al., 2016). Plastic waste in the ocean chemically attracts hydrocarbon pollutants such as polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) and dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane, which accumulate up to one million times more in plastic than in ocean water (Mato et al., 2001). Fishes can mistakenly consume these wastes containing elevated levels of toxins instead of their prey. Rochman et al., (2015) found marine debris in 28 percent of the individual fish examined and in 55 percent of all fish species analyzed.

Coastal development and increased human population activities in coastal areas, such as increased tourism, non-point source pollution and runoff, power plant entrainment, and degradation of nearshore water quality and seagrass beds, will continue to have impacts on fish.

Exploitation from commercial and recreational fishing is the single-biggest cause of changes in fish populations and communities (Moyle & Cech, 2004). Historic and current overfishing largely contributed to the listing of ESA-protected marine species (Crain et al., 2009; Kappel, 2005). Overfishing of a resource results from both legal and illegal fishing (poaching) and bycatch of resources in quantities above a sustainable level. By the end of 2015, 28 managed fish stocks in the U.S. were on the overfishing list and 38 stocks were on the overfished list, while the number of rebuilt fish stocks since 2000 increased to 39 (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016a).

In recent decades, commercial fisheries have targeted the larger, predatory, and sometimes higher-priced fish species. Gradually, the fishing pressure could make the larger species more scarce, and fishing will move towards the smaller species (Pauly & Palomares, 2005). Other factors, such as fisheries-induced evolution and intrinsic vulnerability to overfishing, have been shown to reduce the abundance of some populations (Kauparinen & Merila, 2007). Fisheries-induced evolution is a change in genetic composition of the population that results from intense fishing pressure, such as a reduction in the overall size and growth rates of fishes in a population. Intrinsic vulnerability is when certain life history traits (e.g., large body size, late maturity age, low growth rate, low offspring production) result in a species being more susceptible to overfishing than others (Cheung et al., 2007).

Although these factors are a concern for fisheries worldwide, fisheries off the U.S. West Coast are managed conservatively, in keeping with the requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act. Fish stocks within the Study Area that were historically overfished have recovered or are recovering from their overfished status and contributing to the overall trend of increasing abundance of U.S. marine fish stocks (National Marine Fisheries Service 2013, National Marine Fisheries Service 2014b).

#### 4.4.9.3 Cumulative Impacts on Fish

The Proposed Action could also result in injury and mortality to individual fish from underwater explosions, sonar, and strikes. Injury and mortality that might occur under the Proposed Action would be additive to injury and mortality associated with other actions. However, the relative contribution to the overall injury and mortality would be low compared to other actions, such as bycatch, storm runoff, plastic debris, and other non-military activities (as discussed in Section 4.5.9.1, Impacts of Other Actions).

It is likely that distant shipping and aircraft noise (which is more pervasive and continuous) and sound associated with underwater explosions and sonar would overlap in time and space. However, there is no evidence indicating that the co-occurrence of shipping and aircraft noise, and sounds associated with underwater explosions and sonar use would result in harmful additive impacts on fish.

The potential also exists for the impacts of ocean pollution and acoustic stressors associated with the Proposed Action to be additive or synergistic. It is possible that the response of a previously stressed animal would be more severe than the response of an unstressed animal. However, there are no data indicating that a fish affected by ocean pollution would be more susceptible to stressors associated with the Proposed Action.

In summary, based upon the analysis in Section 3.9 (Fishes), the aggregate impacts of past, present, and other reasonably foreseeable future actions contributing multiple water quality, noise, and physical risks to fishes would likely continue to have significant effects on individual fishes and fish populations. However, Navy training and testing activities are generally isolated from other activities in space and time and the majority of the proposed training and testing activities occur over a small spatial scale relative to the entire Study Area, have few participants, and are of a short duration. Although it is possible that the Proposed Action could contribute incremental stressors to a small number of individuals, which would further compound effects on a given individual already experiencing stress, it is not anticipated that the Proposed Action has the potential to put additional stress on entire populations already in significant decline. Therefore, it is anticipated that the incremental contribution of the Proposed Action, when added to the impacts of all other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions, would not result in measurable additional significant impacts on fishes in the Study Area or beyond.

#### 4.4.10 Cultural Resources

#### 4.4.10.1 Impacts of the Proposed Action That May Contribute to Cumulative Impacts

Based on the analysis presented in Section 3.10 (Cultural Resources) under this Supplemental and the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 3.10 (Cultural Resources), the Proposed Action could result in impacts on submerged prehistoric sites and previously unidentified submerged historic resources if certain training and testing activities are conducted where these resources occur. Stressors that could impact cultural resources include underwater explosions on or near the bottom, use of towed-in-water devices, and use of ocean bottom deployed devices. Because cultural resources are considered nonrenewable resources, these impacts would be considered long-term and permanent.

The Navy avoids locations of known obstructions to prevent damage to sensitive Navy equipment and vessels and to ensure the accuracy of training and testing exercises. Known obstructions include some historic shipwrecks; however, it is unknown if all submerged obstructions, historic shipwrecks, or other cultural resources have yet been discovered in the Study Area.

#### 4.4.10.2 Impacts of Other Actions

With a few exceptions, most of the other actions described in Table 4-1 that are not related to the Proposed Action, but retained for cumulative impacts analysis, would involve some form of disturbance to the ocean bottom. Exceptions include environmental regulations and planning actions, ocean pollution, and most forms of ocean noise. Actions that would disturb the ocean bottom could impact submerged cultural resources. For example, ocean bottom disturbance would occur from construction related activities such as ship anchoring, and installation of wind turbine piers. Any physical disturbance

on the continental shelf and ocean floor could inadvertently damage or destroy submerged prehistoric sites and submerged historic resources.

The other actions that result in ocean bottom disturbance require some form of federal authorization or permitting. Therefore, requirements of the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) apply to actions in territorial waters. Federal agency procedures have been implemented to identify cultural resources, avoid impacts, and mitigate if impacts cannot be avoided. For example, the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and Enforcement has procedures in place to identify the probability for the presence of submerged historic resources and the locations submerged prehistoric sites shoreward from the 148 ft. (45.1 m) isobath, and for project redesign and relocation to avoid identified resources (Minerals Management Service, 2007). Nonetheless, inadvertent impacts could occur if unidentified submerged cultural resources are present.

#### 4.4.10.3 Cumulative Impacts on Cultural Resources

Impacts on submerged cultural resources from other actions would typically be avoided or mitigated through implementing federal agency programs. However, impacts could occur if mitigation measures cannot be implemented as intended or if inadvertent disturbance or destruction of unidentified resources occurs. Disturbance or destruction of a submerged prehistoric site would diminish the overall archaeological record and decrease the potential for meaningful research on Paleomarine traditions (6,500–5,000 Before Present) and early European explorers of the Northwest coast (1700s–1800s). Disturbance or destruction of a submerged historic site, including a shipwreck, could diminish the overall record for these resources and decrease the potential for meaningful research on these resources. Based upon the analysis in Section 3.10 (Cultural Resources), when considered with other actions (see Table 4.3-1), the Proposed Action would not contribute to and increase the cumulative impacts on submerged prehistoric and historic resources. Further analysis of cumulative impacts on cultural resources is not warranted.

The Olympic National Park was accepted as a World Heritage Site in 1981. Because most of the Olympic National Park is designated as wilderness, the natural soundscape is an important element and prevalent in much of the park. The National Park Service regards natural and cultural sounds as part of a web of resources that must be protected. Threats to natural soundscape come from development and other human activities inside and outside the park (National Park Service, 2008). Based on the analysis in the noise study for this Supplemental (Appendix J, Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas), overall noise impacts from the Electronic-warfare aircraft (EA)-18 Growlers while training within the Olympic Military Operating Areas (MOAs) increased by 1 A-weighted decibel (dBA), for a total of 40 dBA estimated under the Proposed Action. Although the flyover event noise levels during transit (less than one minute) would be higher than average background noise levels in the national park and wilderness areas, they are not substantially above the range of noise levels that can occur under natural conditions, as the baseline average is about 35 dBA or below and the proposed aircraft activity average hovers around 36 dBA. In addition, the noise levels experienced within the MOAs would not result in any risks to public health and safety. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration has concluded that noises above 90 dBA have the potential to result in noise-induced hearing loss. However, these levels would have to be experienced for approximately eight hours before having any permanent affect. The Proposed Action would only result in these levels for approximately 45 minutes a day, which means that even if combined with other noises in the area, they would not likely result in adverse effects to peoples' hearing. Therefore, when considered with other actions (see Table 4.3-1), the contribution of the Proposed Action of this Supplemental EIS/OEIS to the Olympic

National Park soundscape would be short term, intermittent, and temporary. Therefore, although the Proposed Action would increase the overall noise under the Olympic MOAs by 1 dBA, impacts on key resources or the value of the Olympic National Park would not be significant.

#### 4.4.11 Native American and Alaska Native Traditional Resources

#### 4.4.11.1 Impacts of the Proposed Action that May Contribute to Cumulative Impacts

Based on the analysis presented in Section 3.11 (American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources) under this Supplemental and the analysis presented in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Section 3.11 (American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources), the Proposed Action could result in impacts on American Indian and Alaska Native protected tribal resources and other traditional resources by impeding, generally for brief duration, access to areas of co-use such as usual and accustomed (U&A) fishing grounds, which may prevent fishing in limited seasons. Stressors that could impact American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional resources include impeding access to U&A fishing grounds or traditional fishing areas, changes in the availability of marine resources or habitat, and loss of fishing gear.

The Navy has established protective measures to reduce potential effects on cultural and natural resources from training and testing exercises. While most of these protective measures focus on protection of the natural environment, they also benefit culturally valued natural resources, such as salmon and shellfish. Some of the protective measures include avoidance of known submerged obstructions, use of inert ordnance and passive tracking and acoustical tools, and avoidance of sensitive habitats to ensure that significant concentrations of sea life are not present.

The Navy strives to maintain safety and accommodate, to the extent possible, access to tribes' usual and accustomed areas in co-use navigable waters. The Navy provides the U.S. Coast Guard (USCG) with information on the locations of potentially hazardous training or testing activities at sea so the USCG can issue Notices to Mariners. In some instances, the Navy has directly notified affected American Indian tribes and nations to ensure that their activities in usual and accustomed fishing areas can avoid any potentially hazardous training or testing locations at sea. Advance communication of intent directly and through notice to mariners (NTMs) issued by the USCG increases the ability of the Tribes and Navy to share use of the Study Area with less conflict, reducing the potential for lost or damaged Tribal fishing gear. Any claims for loss or damage to fishing gear related to Navy activities are addressed through the Navy's claims adjudication process. Information on admiralty claims can be found at the Navy Judge Advocate General's Corps website: http://www.jag.navy.mil/organization/code\_11.htm. Reduced access to human activities in the ocean or inland waterways would be an impact if it directly contributed to loss of income, revenue, or employment, or if cultural knowledge is lost because tribal members cannot teach their children and grandchildren to fish in areas where they were taught by their ancestors.

#### 4.4.11.2 Impacts of Other Actions

Actions that would disturb the ocean bottom could impact submerged American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional resources. For example, ocean bottom disturbance would occur from installing a piling in a former oyster bed of significance to a tribe or nation. Any physical disturbance on the continental shelf and ocean floor (including the Inland Waters and the Western Behm Canal) could inadvertently damage or destroy submerged fishing gear, or areas of traditional or cultural significance. Other actions that could impact American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources include environmental regulations and planning actions, ocean pollution, and most forms of ocean noise.

The construction of the Seattle Multimodal Ferry Terminal at Colman Dock Project, has the potential to impact American Indian Traditional Resources. The other actions that result in ocean bottom disturbance require some form of federal authorization or permitting. Therefore, requirements of the NHPA apply to actions in territorial waters. Federal agency procedures have been implemented to identify American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional resources, avoid impacts, and mitigate if impacts cannot be avoided. For example, traditional resources along with archaeological and architectural resources are protected by various laws and their implementing regulations: the NHPA of 1966 as amended in 2006, the American Indian Religious Freedom Act of 1978, and the Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act of 1990. Within state territorial waters (0–3 NM), the NHPA is the guiding mandate; within U.S. territorial waters (0–12 NM), the NEPA is the primary mandate. Areas beyond 12 NM are beyond the jurisdiction of NEPA, but they are covered by Executive Order 12114. Nonetheless, inadvertent impacts could occur if unidentified submerged tribal or traditional resources are present.

#### 4.4.11.3 Cumulative Impacts on Native American and Alaska Native Traditional Resources

The success of American Indian tribal fisheries has been impacted by long-term changes in the environment that can reduce fish stocks due to impacted water quality, reduced habitat—especially spawning habitat for salmon runs, and increased commercial harvests. The Navy has an active consultation process in place and will continue to consult on a government-to-government basis with potentially affected American Indian tribes and nations regarding Navy activities that may have the potential to impact protected tribal treaty rights and resources. The Navy's other measures to prevent pollution from its own operations and sustain or improve habitat value help to offset some of the cumulative impacts. Pursuant to the Navy's government-to-government consultation with federally-recognized American Indian and Alaska Native tribes and nations, agreements (both formal and informal) regarding protocols or tribal mitigation measures may be developed to reduce or eliminate impacts on protected tribal treaty reserved rights and protected tribal resources.

#### 4.4.12 Socioeconomic Resources

As stated in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Proposed Action could contribute to impacts on accessibility to nearshore areas popular for commercial and recreational fishing and some tourism activities that access the marine environment. However, limits on accessibility to these areas are not expected to significantly impact these resources, because restrictions would be temporary and of short duration (hours). To ensure public safety, access to waters within exclusion areas would be limited during military training and testing activities. The same limitations on accessing portions of the Study Area designated as restricted areas, and warning areas as described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and in the CFR would still apply. Refer to 33 CFR (Navigation and Navigable Waters) Part 334 (Danger Zone and Restricted Area Regulations), 33 CFR 165.1401 (Safety Zones), and 14 CFR 73.1 (Special Use Airspace) for specific regulations regarding these ocean areas and airspace. In addition, the USCG has published a final rule establishing protection zones extending 500 yards (yd.) around all Navy vessels in navigable waters of the United States and within the boundaries of Coast Guard Pacific Area (32 CFR Part 761). All vessels must proceed at a no-wake speed when within a protection zone. Non-military vessels are not permitted to enter within 100 yd. of a U.S. naval vessel, whether underway or moored, unless authorized by an official patrol. Refer to Section 3.12.2.1.1.2 (Inland Waters) for more information on accessibility to areas of the Study Area.

When training or testing activities are scheduled that require specific areas to be free of nonparticipating vessels and aircraft, the military requests that the USCG issues an NTM and that the Federal Aviation Administration issues a notice to airmen (NOTAM), as applicable for the activity. These measures are intended to alert the public of pending training or testing activities and to ensure the safety of the public and military personnel. Providing advance notice of scheduled activities should allow members of the public to avoid unexpected delays or interruptions to their planned activities due to restrictions on accessing areas used for military activities.

#### 4.4.12.1 Resource Trends

The maritime ports of Seattle and Tacoma (combined) were the nation's sixth-highest ranked port (out of 150) by value of shipments for international waterborne trade (imports + exports) in 2015. The port has not ranked as high since 2011, when it was fifth in the nation (American Association of Port Authorities, 2016). The volume of international trade at Seattle-Tacoma peaked in 2012 at nearly 20.5 million metric tons, declining to just under 19 million metric tons in 2015. While recent trends show a decline, the volume of goods in 2015 is approximately equivalent to pre-recession totals (U.S. Maritime Administration, 2015).

Recent trends in commercial fisheries landings are mixed. The value of commercial fisheries landings in the State of Washington declined from 2013 through 2016 (the latest year available), and the volume (measured in pounds) of commercial landings declined between 2013 and 2015 but increased by approximately 10 percent in 2016. Commercial landings in Oregon followed a similar trend from 2013 through 2016; however, both the volume and value of commercial landings in Oregon increased from 2015 to 2016 (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016b). These trends suggest that the volume and value of fisheries landings in the State of Washington and Oregon may begin trending upwards in 2017.

Portions of the Olympic National Park and Olympic National Forest underlie the Olympic MOAs (special use airspace) and are within the Study Area, and draw tourists into the State of Washington. Visitation at the park has increased each year since 2013 and was almost 3.4 million people in 2016 (National Park Service, 2017). Other economic sectors associated with the tourism industry have also been trending upwards. Airborne noise generated by aircraft overflights continues to be a concern for some visitors to the Olympic National Park (Rudzitis, 2018). While visitation to the park does not appear to be impacted, the enjoyment of the park by some visitors could be disturbed by aircraft overflights and may be temporarily interrupted. Tourism continues to be popular in the inland waters area including Puget Sound and Hood Canal (see Section 3.12.2.2.2, Inland Waters, for details). As described in Section 3.12.2.2.3 (Western Behm Canal, Alaska), tourism, primarily via larger cruise ships, continues to be seasonally popular in southeast Alaska waterways, although large cruise ships do not enter Behm Canal.

#### 4.4.12.2 Impacts of Other Actions

Waterways in the Study Area are heavily traveled by commercial, recreational, and other vessels, including military and USCG vessels. Several major commercial ports are located in or near the Study Area, including the ports of Seattle and Tacoma in southern Puget Sound, and the Canadian ports of Vancouver and Victoria. Vessels transiting to and from U.S. and Canadian ports use the Strait of Juan de Fuca. Van Dorp and Merrick (2017) estimate that there are 8,300 transits of deep draft vessels through the Strait of Juan de Fuca annually, with 5,500 accessing Canadian Ports and the other 3,700 transiting through Puget Sound at Admiralty Inlet. Within Washington state waters, the USCG Vessel Traffic Service handles approximately 170,000 ferry transits annually. Commercial vessel traffic has the

potential to limit access by the public to waterways, which would also include access by tourism related activities and businesses (e.g., whale watching vessels).

Several commercial airways traverse the Olympic Peninsula and Olympic National Park, connecting major airports in the region, including the Seattle-Tacoma International Airport, Portland International Airport, and the Olympia Regional Airport (see Figure 3.12-4 and Figure 3.12-5). There are also numerous smaller commercial and general aviation airports in the region, including on the Olympic Peninsula. Airborne noise generated by commercial and private aircraft using airways traversing the Olympic National Park may disturb, or otherwise impact the enjoyment of, individuals visiting the park.

Aquaculture activities using inland waters in Puget Sound have been shown to impact social and economic resources in the Inland Waters portion of the Study Area, as demonstrated by the August 2017 spill of farmed Atlantic salmon off Cypress Island (Mapes, 2018). Initially, it was assumed that the escaped salmon were not able to feed and died from starvation. Subsequent findings contradicted that assertion, and Atlantic salmon continued to be caught by tribal fishermen through December 2017 (Cauvel, 2017; Mapes, 2018). The possibility of future spills of farmed salmon and the risk that they would pose to the survival of native salmon species led Governor Inslee to sign into law a ban on the farming of Atlantic Salmon in Washington State waters (Ryan, 2018). The State's remaining Atlantic salmon farms would cease operations by 2022, once their existing leases with the Washington Department of Natural Resources expire.

#### 4.4.12.3 Cumulative Impacts on Socioeconomic Resources

The analysis in Section 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources) indicates that the impacts of the Proposed Action on socioeconomic resources would be negligible. The Proposed Action is not expected to contribute to cumulative socioeconomic impacts. Cumulative impacts from intermittent and short-term impacts on accessibility to areas within the Study Area, physical disturbances and interactions, airborne acoustics that disturb people on the ground (e.g., in the Olympic National Park), and secondary impacts (e.g., to tourism) resulting from effects on marine species populations are not anticipated. No cumulative impacts on commercial transportation and shipping are anticipated, because major shipping routes and airways are well defined, and training and testing activities would avoid those areas. The Navy would continue to reduce or avoid impacts on commercial and recreational fishing and tourism and recreation by continuing to notify the public of upcoming activities that may limit accessibility to certain areas of the Study Area popular participants in these activities. Broader socioeconomic metrics generally indicate that the region in prospering economically. For example, data reported by the National Ocean Economics Program show that the tourism and recreation industry in Washington coastal counties increased steadily from 2010 to 2014 (National Ocean Economics Program, 2017b). Short duration limits on accessibility, potentially impacting recreational and tourism related activities, are expected to be intermittent and have no long-term, cumulative impacts. Airborne acoustics from aircraft overflights in the Olympic MOAs, potentially impacting recreational and tourism activities on the Olympic Peninsula, are expected to be brief (seconds) and discrete and are not expected to have long-term negative impacts on the enjoyment of the Olympic Peninsula, including Olympic National Park. No cumulative negative impacts on the economies of Northern California, Oregon, Washington, or southeast Alaska are anticipated.

#### 4.4.13 Public Health and Safety

The analysis presented in Section 3.13 (Public Health and Safety) of this Supplemental demonstrates that the Proposed Action would not contribute incrementally to public health and safety. Under this

Supplemental, the Proposed Action is not expected to contribute incrementally to cumulative public health and safety impacts. Therefore, further analysis of cumulative impacts on public health and safety is not warranted.

#### 4.5 Summary of Cumulative Impacts

The analyses presented in this chapter and Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences) indicate that the incremental contribution of the Proposed Action to cumulative impacts on sediments and water quality, air quality, marine habitats, marine vegetation, marine invertebrates, and public health and safety would not rise to a level of significance. Marine mammals, sea turtles, birds, fishes, cultural resources, Native American and Alaska Native Traditional resources, and socioeconomic resources are the primary resources of concern for this cumulative impacts analysis:

- Due to past and present activities, several marine mammal species, all sea turtles, one bird, and multiple fish species occurring in the Study Area are ESA-listed.
- These resources would be impacted by multiple present and reasonably foreseeable future actions.
- Explosive detonations and vessel strikes under the Proposed Action have the potential to disturb, injure, or kill marine mammals, sea turtles, birds, and fish.
- The use of sonar and other non-impulsive sound sources under the Proposed Action has the potential to disturb or injure marine mammals, sea turtles, birds, and fish.
- Impacts on American Indian traditional resources could occur during training and testing activities due to short-term reduced access to tribal usual and accustomed fishing grounds in the Inland Waters. Impacts from training and testing activities would not alter fishes and other marine species population levels or the availability of these resources for tribal use. Loss or damage to American Indian fishing equipment from vessel and in-water device strikes, and inadvertent snagging of military expended materials, could occur in the Offshore Area and in the Inland Waters, reducing fishing opportunities while fishing equipment is being replaced or repaired and increasing the amount of effort and resources required to catch the same amount of fish.

In summary, based on the analysis presented in Section 3.4 (Marine Mammals), 3.5 (Sea Turtles), 3.6 (Birds), 3.9 (Fishes), 3.10 (Cultural Resources), 3.11 (American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources), and 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources), the current aggregate impacts of past, present, and other reasonably foreseeable future actions are not significantly different than the assessment in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. No new information or circumstances are significant enough to warrant further cumulative impact review.

### **REFERENCES**

- American Association of Port Authorities. (2016). U.S. Waterborne Foreign Trade 2015: Ranking of U.S. Customs Districts by Value of Cargo (Dataset). Suitland, MD: U.S. Census Bureau.
- Audubon Washington. (2018). *No More Non-Native Aquaculture in Washington State*. Retrieved from https://www.audubon.org/news/no-more-non-native-aquaculture-washington-state.
- Batten, B. (2017). *Pacific Marine Energy Center South Energy Test Site* (Water Power Technologies Office Peer Review Marine and Hydrokinetics Program). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Energy.
- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. (2011). *Proposed Outer Continental Shelf Oil & Gas Leasing Program 2012–2017*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management.
- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. (2016). *Fact Sheet: Environmental Studies–Electromagnetic Fields*. Sterling, VA: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. Retrieved from www.boem.gov.
- Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. (2017). *Record of Decision and Approval of the 2017–2022 Outer Continental Shelf Oil and Gas Leasing Program*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of the Interior.
- California Department of Transportation. (2001). *Pile Installation Demonstration Project Marine Mammal Impact Assessment* (San Francisco - Oakland Bay Bridge East Span Seismic Safety Project). San Francisco, CA: Strategic Environmental, Inc. and Illingworth & Rodkin, Inc.
- Carlson, T., M. Hastings, and A. N. Popper. (2007). *Memorandum: Update on Recommendations for Revised Interim Sound Exposure Criteria for Fish during Pile Driving Activities* (Arlington Memo Update 12-21-07). Sacramento, CA: California Department of Transportation.
- Casper, B. M., A. N. Popper, F. Matthews, T. J. Carlson, and M. B. Halvorsen. (2012). Recovery of barotrauma injuries in Chinook salmon, *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha* from exposure to pile driving sound. *PLoS ONE*, 7(6), e39593.
- Casper, B. M., M. B. Halvorsen, F. Matthews, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. (2013a). Recovery of barotrauma injuries resulting from exposure to pile driving sound in two sizes of hybrid striped bass. *PLoS ONE*, 8(9), e73844.
- Casper, B. M., M. E. Smith, M. B. Halvorsen, H. Sun, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. (2013b). Effects of exposure to pile driving sounds on fish inner ear tissues. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A*, 166(2), 352–360.
- Cauvel, K. (2017). Three Months After the Fish Farm Collapse, Guess Where Atlantic Salmon Are Being Found. Retrieved from http://www.bellinghamherald.com/news/local/article189182914.html.
- CH2m, R., Inc.,. (2016). *Tesoro Anacortes Refinery Clean Products Upgrade Project Vessel Traffic* Assessment Technical Report. Anacortes, WA: Tesoro Refining & Marketing Company LLC.
- Cheung, W. W. L., R. Watson, T. Morato, T. J. Pitcher, and D. Pauly. (2007). Intrinsic vulnerability in the global fish catch. *Marine Ecology-Progress Series, 333*, 1–12.
- Council on Environmental Quality. (1997). *Considering Cumulative Effects Under the National Environmental Policy Act*. Washington, DC: The Council on Environmental Quality.

- Council on Environmental Quality. (2005). *Guidance on the Consideration of Past Actions in Cumulative Effects Analysis*. Washington, DC: Executive Office of the President.
- Crain, C. M., B. S. Halpern, M. W. Beck, and C. V. Kappel. (2009). Understanding and Managing Human Threats to the Coastal Marine Environment. In R. S. Ostfeld & W. H. Schlesinger (Eds.), *The Year in Ecology and Conservation Biology, 2009* (pp. 39–62). Oxford, United Kingdom: Blackwell Publishing.
- Dahl, P. H., C. A. de Jong, and A. N. Popper. (2015). The underwater sound field from impact pile driving and its potential effects on marine life. *Acoustics Today*, *11*(2), 18–25.
- Davison, P., and R. G. Asch. (2011). Plastic ingestion by mesopelagic fishes in the North Pacific Subtropical Gyre. *Marine Ecological Progress Series, 432,* 173–180.
- Debusschere, E., B. De Coensel, A. Bajek, D. Botteldooren, K. Hostens, J. Vanaverbeke, S. Vandendriessche, K. Van Ginderdeuren, M. Vincx, and S. Degraer. (2014). *In situ* mortality experiments with juvenile sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) in relation to impulsive sound levels caused by pile driving of windmill foundations. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(10), e109280.
- Donaldson, J. (2018, 22 April). They watch whales for a living and now plan to change the rules. *The Bellingham Herald*. Retrieved from https://www.bellinghamherald.com/news/local/article209276414.html.
- Federal Communications Commission. (2017). *Submarine Cables*. Retrieved from https://www.fcc.gov/submarine-cables.
- Feist, B. E., J. J. Anderson, and R. Miyamoto. (1992). Potential Impacts of Pile Driving on Juvenile Pink (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha) and Chum (O. keta) Salmon Behavior and Distribution. Seattle, WA: University of Washington.
- Foderaro, L. W. (2015). Group Petitions to Save a Prehistoric Fish From Modern Construction. *New York Times*. Retrieved from http://www.nytimes.com/2015/07/22/nyregion/group-petitions-to-save-a-prehistoric-fish-from-modern-construction.html?\_r=0.
- Frisk, G. V. (2012). Noiseonomics: The relationship between ambient noise levels in the sea and global economic trends. *Scientific Reports, 2*(437), 1–4.
- Goncalves, R., M. Scholze, A. M. Ferreira, M. Martins, and A. D. Correia. (2008). The joint effect of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on fish behavior. *Environmental Research*, *108*, 204–213.
- Halvorsen, M. B., B. M. Casper, C. M. Woodley, T. J. Carlson, and A. N. Popper. (2012). Threshold for onset of injury in Chinook salmon from exposure to impulsive pile driving sounds. *PLoS ONE*, 7(6), e38968.
- Hamel, N. J., A. E. Burger, K. Charleton, P. Davidson, S. Lee, D. F. Bertram, and J. K. Parrish. (2009).
   Bycatch and Beached Birds: Assessing Mortality Impacts in Coastal Net Fisheries using Marine Bird Strandings. *Marine Ornithology*, *37*, 41–60.
- Hansen, L. P., and M. L. Windsor. (2006). Interactions between aquaculture and wild stocks of Atlantic salmon and other diadromous fish species: Science and management, challenges and solutions. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 63(7), 1159–1161.
- Hildebrand, J. (2009). Anthropogenic and natural sources of ambient noise in the ocean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 395,* 5–20.

- International Maritime Organization. (2017). *Current Awareness Bulletin*. London, United Kingdom: Maritime Knowledge Centre.
- Jackson, J. B. C., M. X. Kirby, W. H. Berger, K. A. Bjorndal, L. W. Botsford, B. J. Bourque, R. H. Bradbury, R. Cooke, J. M. Erlandson, J. A. Estes, T. P. Hughes, S. Kidwell, C. B. Lange, H. S. Lenihan, J. M. Pandolfi, C. H. Peterson, R. S. Steneck, M. J. Tegner, and R. R. Warner. (2001). Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. *Science*, *293*, 629–638.
- Jefferson County. (2015). *Pleasant Harbor Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement*. Retrieved from http://www.co.jefferson.wa.us/DocumentCenter/View/1481.
- Jefferson County. (2017). New Items. Retrieved from http://www.co.jefferson.wa.us/728/New-Items.
- Kappel, C. V. (2005). Losing pieces of the puzzle: Threats to marine, estuarine, and diadromous species. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 3*(5), 275–282.
- Kauparinen, A., and J. Merila. (2007). Detecting and managing fisheries-induced evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 22(12), 652–659.
- Law, K. L., S. Moret-Ferguson, N. A. Maximenko, G. Proskurowski, E. E. Peacock, J. Hafner, and C. M. Reddy. (2010). Plastic accumulation in the North Atlantic Subtropical Gyre. *Sciencexpress*, 329, 1–8.
- Lusher, A. L., C. O'Donnell, R. Officer, and I. O'Connor. (2016). Microplastic interactions with North Atlantic mesopelagic fish. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 73(4), 1214–1225.
- Mapes, L. V. (2018). Fish Farm Caused Atlantic Salmon Spill Near San Juans, Then Tried to Hide How Bad It Was, State Says. Retrieved from https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/fish-farmcaused-atlantic-salmon-spill-state-says-then-tried-to-hide-how-bad-it-was/.
- Mato, Y., T. Isobe, H. Takada, H. Kanehiro, C. Ohtake, and T. Kaminuma. (2001). Plastic resin pellets as a transport medium for toxic chemicals in the marine environment. *Environmental Science Technology*, *35*, 318–324.
- McDonald, M., J. Hildebrand, S. Wiggins, and D. Ross. (2008). A 50 year comparison of ambient ocean noise near San Clemente Island: A bathymetrically complex coastal region off Southern California. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *124*(4), 1985–1992.
- Melnychuk, M. C., J. A. Banobi, and R. Hilborn. (2013). Effects of management tactics on meeting conservation objectives for Western North American groundfish fisheries. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(2), e56684.
- Miksis-Olds, J. L., and S. M. Nichols. (2015). Is low frequency ocean sound increasing globally? *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 139(1), 501–511.
- Minerals Management Service. (2007). Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement for Alternative Energy Development and Production and Alternate Use of Facilities on the Outer Continental Shelf: Final Environmental Impact Statement. New Orleans, LA: Gulf of Mexico OCS Region.
- Moore, C. J. (2008). Synthetic polymers in the marine environment: A rapidly increasing, long-term threat. *Environmental Research*, *108*(2), 131–139.
- Moyle, P. B., and J. J. Cech, Jr. (2004). *Fishes: An Introduction to Ichthyology* (5th ed.). London, United Kingdom: Pearson Educational, Inc.

- Mueller-Blenkle, C., P. K. McGregor, A. B. Gill, M. H. Andersson, J. Metcalfe, V. Bendall, P. Sigray, D. Wood, and F. Thomsen. (2010). *Effects of Pile-Driving Noise on the Behaviour of Marine Fish*. London, United Kingdom: COWRIE Ltd.
- Musick, J. A., M. M. Harbin, S. A. Berkeley, G. H. Burgess, A. M. Eklund, L. Findley, R. G. Gilmore, J. T. Golden, D. S. Ha, G. R. Huntsman, J. C. McGovern, S. J. Parker, S. G. Poss, E. Sala, T. W. Schmidt, G. R. Sedberry, H. Weeks, and S. G. Wright. (2000). Marine, estuarine, and diadromous fish stocks at risk of extinction in North America (exclusive of Pacific salmonids). *Fisheries*, 25(11), 6–30.
- National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine. (2017). *Approaches to Understanding the Cumulative Effects of Stressors on Marine Mammals*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press Series.
- National Data Buoy Center. (2017). Draft Programmatic Environmental Assessment for the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Data Buoy Center. Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Association.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2006). *Marine Debris: Impacts in the Gulf of Mexico*. Lafayette, LA: Southeast Regional Office, Protected Resources Division.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2014). Reinitiated Biological Opinion on Navy Activities on the Northwest Training Range Complex and NMFS's Issuance of an MMPA Letter of Authorization. (FPR-2014-9069). Washington, DC: The United States Navy and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's National Marine Fisheries Service.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2015). *Marine Aquaculture Strategic Plan FY 2016–2020*. Silver Spring, MD: U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2016a). *Status of Stocks 2015* (Annual Report to Congress on the Status of U.S. Fisheries). Silver Spring, MD: National Marine Fisheries Service.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2016b). *Commercial Landings in 2015 (Dataset)*. Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. (2011). *Maritime Limits and Boundaries of United States of America* (ESRI shapefile). Retrieved from https://nauticalcharts.noaa.gov/data/usmaritime-limits-and-boundaries.html.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. (2015). Takes of Marine Mammals Incidental to Specified Activities; U.S. Navy Training and Testing Activities in the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area; Final Rule. *Federal Register*, *80*(226), 73556–73627.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. (2016). Average 'Dead Zone' for Gulf of Mexico Predicted. Silver Spring, MD: U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Retrieved from http://www.noaa.gov/media-release/average-dead-zone-forgulf-of-mexico-predicted.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. (2017). *What are HABs*. Retrieved from https://habsos.noaa.gov/about/.
- National Park Service. (2008). *Final General Management Plan/Environmental Impact Statement Olympic National Park*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of the Interior.

- National Park Service. (2017). *Olympic National Park*. Retrieved from https://irma.nps.gov/Stats/SSRSReports/Park%20Specific%20Reports/Annual%20Park%20Recre ation%20Visitation%20(1904%20-%20Last%20Calendar%20Year).
- Newman, M. C. (1998). Uptake, biotransformation, detoxification, elimination, and accumulation. In M. C. Newman (Ed.), *Fundamentals of Ecotoxicology* (pp. 25). Chelsea, MI: Ann Arbor Press.
- Nichols, T. A., T. W. Anderson, and A. Širović. (2015). Intermittent noise induces physiological stress in a coastal marine fish. *PLoS ONE, 10*(9), e0139157.
- Ocean Conservancy. (2010). *Trash Travels: From Our Hands to the Sea, Around the Globe, and Through Time* (International Coastal Cleanup Report). Washington, DC: Ocean Conservancy.
- Ormerod, S. J. (2003). Current issues with fish and fisheries: Editor's overview and introduction. *Journal* of Applied Ecology, 40(2), 204–213.
- Pauly, D., and M. L. Palomares. (2005). Fishing down marine food web: It is far more pervasive than we thought. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, *76*(2), 197–211.
- Pew Oceans Commission. (2003). *America's Living Oceans: Charting a Course for Sea Change*. Arlington, VA: Pew Oceans Commission.
- Poloczanska, E. S., M. T. Burrows, C. J. Brown, J. G. Molinos, B. S. Halpern, O. Hoegh-Guldberg, C. V.
   Kappel, P. J. Moore, A. J. Richardson, D. S. Schoeman, and W. J. Sydeman. (2016). Responses of marine organisms to climate change across oceans. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 3(62), 1–21.
- Popper, A. N., M. E. Smith, P. A. Cott, B. W. Hanna, A. O. MacGillivray, M. E. Austin, and D. A. Mann.
   (2005). Effects of exposure to seismic airgun use on hearing of three fish species. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 117(6), 3958–3971.
- Popper, A. N., T. J. Carlson, A. D. Hawkins, B. L. Southall, and R. L. Gentry. (2006). *Interim Criteria for Injury of Fish Exposed to Pile Driving Operations: A White Paper*. Olympia, WA: Washington State Department of Transportation.
- Popper, A. N., and M. C. Hastings. (2009). The effects of anthropogenic sources of sound on fishes. Journal of Fish Biology, 75(3), 455–489.
- Rochman, C. M., E. Hoh, T. Kurobe, and S. J. Teh. (2013). Ingested plastic transfers hazardous chemicals to fish and induces hepatic stress. *Scientific Reports*, *3*, 3263.
- Rochman, C. M., A. Tahir, S. L. Williams, D. V. Baxa, R. Lam, J. T. Miller, F. Teh, S. Werorilangi, and S. J.
   Teh. (2015). Anthropogenic debris in seafood: Plastic debris and fibers from textiles in fish and bivalves sold for human consumption. *Nature*, *5*, 14340–14350.
- Rudzitis, G. (2018). Opinion: Military Planes Area Ruining Olympic National Park and Violating the Wilderness Act. High Country News. Retrieved from https://www.adventurejournal.com/2018/08/opinion-military-planes-ruining-olympic-national-park-violatingwilderness-act/.
- Ruggerone, G. T., S. Goodman, and R. Miner. (2008). *Behavioral Response and Survival of Juvenile Coho Salmon Exposed to Pile Driving Sounds*. Seattle, WA: Natural Resources Consultants, Inc., and Robert Miner Dynamic Testing, Inc.
- Ryan, J. (2018). Atlantic salmon farms banned, 7 months after great fish escape. Retrieved from http://kuow.org/post/atlantic-salmon-farms-banned-7-months-after-great-fish-escape.

- Stadler, J. H., and D. P. Woodbury. (2009). Assessing the effects to fishes from pile driving: Application of new hydroacoustic criteria. Paper presented at the Inter-Noise 2009: Innovations in Practical Noise Control. Ottawa, Canada.
- Texas A&M University. (2011). 2011 Gulf of Mexico "Dead Zone" could be biggest ever. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2011/07/110718141618.htm.
- Texas A&M University. (2014). *Gulf Dead Zone this year is smaller*. Retrieved from http://today.tamu.edu/2014/07/15/gulf-dead-zone-this-year-is-smaller/.
- U.S. Department of Defense. (2012). *Operational Energy Strategy: Implementation Plan*. Washington, DC: Assistant Secretary of Defense for Operational Energy Plans & Programs.
- U.S. Department of Defense. (2016). 2016 Operational Energy Strategy. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Defense.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2012a). *Final Environmental Impact Statement, TRIDENT Support Facilities Explosives Handling Wharf at Naval Base Kitsap at Bangor, Kitsap County, WA*. Silverdale, WA: Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2012b). Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Supplemental Oversea Environmental Impact Statement for Surveillance Towed Array Sensor System Low Frequency Active (SURTASS LFA) Sonar. Arlington, VA: Chief of Naval Operations.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2015a). *Northwest Training and Testing Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement, Final*. Silverdale, WA: Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2015b). *Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives Pier and Support Facilities for Transit Protection System at U.S. Coast Guard Air Station/Sector Field Office Port Angeles, Washington* (Environmental Assessment). Port Angeles, WA: U.S. Department of the Navy.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. (2016). *Biological Opinion on the U.S. Navy's Proposed Northwest Training and Testing Program that Occurs in the Offshore Waters of Northern California, Oregon, and Washington, the Inland Waters of Puget Sound, and Portions of the Olympic Peninsula.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of the Interior
- U.S. Maritime Administration. (2015). U.S. Waterborne Foreign Container Trade by U.S. Customs Ports (2000–2015). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Transportation.
- Van Dorp, J. R., and J. Merrick. (2017). VTRA 2015 Final Report Updating the VTRA 2010: A Potential Oil Loss Comparison of Scenario Analyses by Four Spill Size Categories (Ecology Agreement Number: C1600131). Lacey, WA: Washington State Department of Ecology.
- Wallace, B. P., R. L. Lewison, S. L. McDonald, R. K. McDonald, C. Y. Kot, S. Kelez, R. K. Bjorkland, E. M. Finkbeiner, S. Helmbrecht, and L. B. Crowder. (2010). Global patterns of marine turtle bycatch. *Conservation Letters*, 3(3), 131–142.
- Washington Department of Ecology. (2017). Draft Marine Spatial Plan *Publication #17-06-007*. Seattle, WA: Washington Department of Ecology.
- Washington Department of Transportation. (2017). *Seattle Multimodal Terminal at Colman Dock Project*. Retrieved from https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/projects/ferries/colmanmultimodalterminal/.

Wisniewska, D. M., M. Johnson, J. Teilmann, U. Siebert, A. Galatius, R. Dietz, and P. T. Madsen. (2018).
 High rates of vessel noise disrupt foraging in wild harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*).
 Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 285(1872), 10.

# 5 Mitigation

5

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

### **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

## Northwest Training and Testing

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	MITIG	ATION				
5.1	Introd					
	5.1.1	Benefits	of Mitigation			
	5.1.2	Complia	nce Initiatives5-2			
		5.1.2.1	Protective Measures Assessment Protocol5-3			
		5.1.2.2	Monitoring, Research, and Reporting Initiatives5-3			
5.2	Mitiga	ation Dev	elopment Process5-8			
	5.2.1	Procedural Mitigation Development				
		5.2.1.1	Lookouts5-9			
		5.2.1.2	Mitigation Zones5-10			
		5.2.1.3	Procedural Mitigation Implementation5-11			
	5.2.2	Mitigati	on Area Development5-12			
	5.2.3	Practica	lity of Implementation5-13			
		5.2.3.1	Assessment Criteria5-13			
		5.2.3.2	Factors Affecting Practicality5-16			
5.3	Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented5-1					
	5.3.1	Environmental Awareness and Education5-18				
	5.3.2	Acoustic Stressors				
		5.3.2.1	Active Sonar5-19			
		5.3.2.2	Weapons Firing Noise5-24			
	5.3.3	Explosive Stressors5-26				
		5.3.3.1	Explosive Sonobuoys5-26			
		5.3.3.2	Explosive Torpedoes			
		5.3.3.3	Explosive Medium-Caliber and Large-Caliber Projectiles5-31			
		5.3.3.4	Explosive Missiles5-35			
		5.3.3.5	Explosive Bombs5-38			
		5.3.3.6	Explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Activities5-41			
		5.3.3.7	Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities Involving Navy Divers5-44			

	5.3.4	Physical	Disturbance and Strike Stressors	5-48		
		5.3.4.1	Vessel Movement	5-48		
		5.3.4.2	Towed In-Water Devices	5-51		
		5.3.4.3	Small-, Medium-, and Large-Caliber Non-Explosive Pra	actice Munitions 5-52		
		5.3.4.4	Non-Explosive Missiles	5-53		
		5.3.4.5	Non-Explosive Bombs and Mine Shapes	5-55		
5.4	Mitiga	igation Areas to be Implemented5-5				
5.5	Measures Considered but Eliminated					
	5.5.1	Active S	5-57			
	5.5.2	Explosives5-5				
	5.5.3	5.5.3 Active and Passive Acoustic Monitoring Devices				
	5.5.4 Thermal Detection Systems and Unmanned Aerial Vehicles					
	5.5.5	5.5.5 Third-Party Observers5				
	5.5.6	Foreign	Navy Mitigation	5-64		
	5.5.7	Reportir	ng Requirements	5-65		
5.6	Mitiga	ation Sum	imary	5-65		

# List of Figures

There are no figures in this chapter.

# List of Tables

Table 5.3-1: Environmental Awareness and Education	5-18
Table 5.3-2: Procedural Mitigation for Active Sonar	5-20
Table 5.3-3: Procedural Mitigation for Weapons Firing Noise	5-24
Table 5.3-4: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Sonobuoys	5-26
Table 5.3-5: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Torpedoes	5-29
Table 5.3-6: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Medium-Caliber and Large-Caliber	
Projectiles	5-32
Table 5.3-7: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Missiles	5-35
Table 5.3-8: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Bombs	5-39
Table 5.3-9: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization	
Activities	5-42
Table 5.3-10: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities Involving	
Navy Divers	5-44
Table 5.3-11: Procedural Mitigation for Vessel Movement	5-49
Table 5.3-12: Procedural Mitigation for Towed In-Water Devices	5-51
Table 5.3-13: Procedural Mitigation for Small-, Medium-, and Large-Caliber Non-Explosive	
--	------
Practice Munitions	5-53
Table 5.3-14: Procedural Mitigation for Non-Explosive Missiles	5-54
Table 5.3-15: Procedural Mitigation for Non-Explosive Bombs and Mine Shapes	5-55

This page intentionally left blank.

# 5 Mitigation

## 5.1 Introduction

This chapter describes the mitigation measures that the United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy (Navy) will implement to avoid or reduce potential impacts from the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (OEIS) Proposed Action. This chapter has been updated in its entirety since Chapter 5 (Standard Operating Procedures, Mitigation, and Monitoring) of the 2015 NWTT EIS/OEIS (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2015). As a cooperating agency for the Proposed Action, the U.S. Coast Guard will implement applicable mitigation measures developed by the Navy for the Proposed Action.

The Navy will also implement standard operating procedures specific to training and testing activities conducted under the Proposed Action. In many cases, standard operating procedures provide a benefit to environmental and cultural resources, some of which have high socioeconomic value in the Study Area. Standard operating procedures differ from mitigation measures because standard operating procedures are designed to provide for safety and mission success, whereas mitigation measures are designed specifically to avoid or reduce potential environmental impacts. An example of a standard operating procedure is that ships operated by or for the Navy have personnel assigned to stand watch at all times when underway. Watch personnel monitor their assigned sectors for any indication of danger to the ship and the personnel on board, such as a floating or partially submerged object or piece of debris, periscope, surfaced submarine, wisp of smoke, flash of light, or surface disturbance. The Navy also avoids known navigation hazards that appear on navigational charts, such as submerged wrecks and obstructions. As a standard collision avoidance procedure, watch personnel also monitor for marine mammals that have the potential to be in the direct path of the ship. The standard operating procedures to avoid collision hazards are designed for safety of the ship and the personnel on board. This is different from mitigation measures for vessel movement, which require vessels to maneuver to avoid marine mammals by specified distances to avoid or reduce the potential for physical disturbance and strike of marine mammals, as described in Section 5.3.4.1 (Vessel Movement). In this example, the benefit of the mitigation measure for vessel movement is additive to the benefit of the standard operating procedure for vessel safety. Standard operating procedures that apply to the Proposed Action and are generally consistent with those included in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are described in Chapter 5 (Standard Operating Procedures, Mitigation, and Monitoring) of that document. Standard operating procedures that apply to the Proposed Action and were not included in, or require a clarification from, the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are discussed in Section 2.3.3 (Standard Operating Procedures) of this Draft Supplemental.

In addition to the mitigation measures and standard operating procedures specific to the Proposed Action, the Navy has existing routine operating instructions (e.g., training manuals) and local installation instructions (e.g., Integrated Natural Resource Management Plans) that were developed to meet other safety and environmental compliance requirements or initiatives. For example, the Naval Air Training and Operating Procedures Standardization General Flight and Operating Instructions Manual (CNAF M-3710.7) contains naval air training procedures pertaining to safe operations of aircraft, which includes requirements to minimize the disturbance of wildlife. Aviation units are required to avoid noise-sensitive areas, such as breeding farms, resorts, beaches, national parks, national monuments, and national recreational areas. They are also required to avoid disturbing wild fowl in their natural habitats and to avoid firing directly at large fish, whales, or other wildlife. These requirements are in addition to mitigation measures developed for the Proposed Action. The Navy will continue complying with applicable operating instructions and local installation instructions within the Study Area, as appropriate.

### 5.1.1 Benefits of Mitigation

The Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences) environmental analyses indicate that certain acoustic, explosive, and physical disturbance and strike stressors have the potential to impact certain biological or cultural resources. The Navy developed mitigation measures for those stressors and will implement the mitigation for either action alternative. The Navy considered the benefits of mitigation in the environmental analyses for both Alternative 1 and Alternative 2 of the Proposed Action in this Draft Supplemental. In addition to analyzing mitigation measures pursuant to the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), the Navy designed its mitigation measures to achieve one or more benefits, such as the following:

- Effect the least practicable adverse impact on marine mammal species or stocks and their habitat, and have a negligible impact on marine mammal species and stocks (as required under the Marine Mammal Protection Act [MMPA]);
- Ensure that the Proposed Action does not jeopardize the continued existence of endangered or threatened species, or result in destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat (as required under the Endangered Species Act [ESA]);
- Avoid or minimize adverse effects on essential fish habitat (as required under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act); and
- Avoid adversely impacting shipwrecks (as required under the Abandoned Shipwreck Act and National Historic Preservation Act).

The Navy will coordinate its mitigation with the appropriate regulatory agencies, including the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), through the consultation and permitting processes. The Final Supplemental, Navy and NMFS Records of Decision, MMPA Regulations and Letters of Authorization, and ESA Biological Opinion will document all mitigation measures that the Navy will implement under the Proposed Action. The final suite of mitigation measures that will be included in the Final Supplemental will represent the maximum level of mitigation that is practical for the Navy to implement when balanced against impacts to safety, sustainability, and the ability to continue meeting its mission requirements. Should the Navy require a change in how it implements mitigation based on national security concerns, evolving readiness requirements, or other factors (e.g., significant changes in the best available science), the Navy will engage the appropriate agencies and reevaluate its mitigation through adaptive management or the appropriate consultations. The Navy's adaptive management approach is discussed in Section 5.1.2.2.1.1 (Adaptive Management). This approach will be coordinated with NMFS during the consultation and permitting processes and will be included in the MMPA Regulations and Letters of Authorization.

### 5.1.2 Compliance Initiatives

To disseminate its mitigation requirements to the appropriate personnel and meet other compliance requirements for the MMPA and ESA, the Navy will continue using the Protective Measures Assessment Protocol and its ongoing monitoring and reporting initiatives, as described in the sections below.

### 5.1.2.1 Protective Measures Assessment Protocol

To disseminate requirements to the personnel who are required to implement mitigation during training and testing activities, the Navy will continue inputting its mitigation measures into the Protective Measures Assessment Protocol and appropriate governing instructions. The Protective Measures Assessment Protocol is a software tool that serves as the Navy's comprehensive data source for at-sea mitigation. The software tool provides personnel with notification of the required mitigation measures and a visual display of the planned training or testing activity location overlaid with relevant environmental data (e.g., mapped locations of live hard bottom). Navy policy requires applicable personnel to access the Protective Measures Assessment Protocol during the event planning process. This helps ensure that personnel receive mitigation instructions prior to the start of training and testing activities and that mitigation is implemented appropriately.

### 5.1.2.2 Monitoring, Research, and Reporting Initiatives

Many of the Navy's monitoring programs, research programs, and reporting initiatives have been ongoing for more than a decade and will continue as a compliance requirement for the MMPA or ESA, or both. The Navy and NMFS use the information contained within monitoring, research, activity, and incident reports when evaluating the effectiveness and practicality of mitigation and determining if adaptive adjustments to mitigation may be appropriate. These reports also facilitate better understandings of the biological resources that inhabit the Study Area and the potential impacts of the Proposed Action on those resources.

### 5.1.2.2.1 Marine Species Research and Monitoring Programs

Through its marine species research and monitoring programs, the Navy is one of the nation's largest sponsors of scientific research on and monitoring of marine species. Detailed information on these programs is provided in Section 3.0.1.1.1 (Marine Species Monitoring and Research Programs). Navy research programs focus on investments in basic and applied research that increase fundamental knowledge and advance naval technological capabilities. Navy monitoring programs focus on the potential impacts of training and testing activities on biological resources. For example, the Navy Living Marine Resources Program is sponsoring an ongoing study on hearing and estimated acoustic impacts in three species of auk, which will help the Navy refine its assessment of potential impacts from training and testing activities on seabirds, including the marbled murrelet. The Navy has also sponsored several projects on seabird density and distribution to improve baseline knowledge about ESA-listed seabirds in the Study Area.

Other projects, such as those sponsored by the U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program, primarily focus on marine mammals and sea turtles. Monitoring reports are available to the public on the U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring webpage (https://www.navymarinespeciesmonitoring.us/). The Navy will post future reports online as they become available. Specific details regarding the content of the reports will be coordinated with the appropriate agencies through the consultation and permitting processes. Additional information about the U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program, including its adaptive management and strategic planning components, is provided in the sections below.

### 5.1.2.2.1.1 Adaptive Management

Adaptive management is an iterative process of decision-making that accounts for changes in the environment and scientific understanding over time through a system of monitoring and feedback. Within the natural resource management community, adaptive management involves ongoing, real-time learning and knowledge creation, both in a substantive sense and in terms of the adaptive

process itself (Williams et al., 2009). Adaptive management focuses on learning and adapting, through partnerships of natural resource managers, scientists, and other stakeholders. Adaptive management helps managers maintain flexibility in their decisions and provides them the latitude to change direction to improve understanding of ecological systems and achieve management objectives. Taking action to improve progress toward desired outcomes is another function of adaptive management.

The Navy's adaptive management review process and reporting requirements serve as the basis for evaluating performance and compliance. The process involves technical review meetings and ongoing discussions between the Navy, NMFS, the Marine Mammal Commission, and other experts in the scientific community. An example of a revision to the compliance monitoring structure as a result of adaptive management is the development of the Strategic Planning Process, which is a planning tool for the selection and management of monitoring investments (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2013). Through adaptive management, the Strategic Planning Process has been incorporated into the Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program, which is described below.

### 5.1.2.2.1.2 Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program

The Navy developed an Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program to serve as the overarching framework for coordinating its marine species monitoring efforts and as a planning tool to focus its monitoring priorities pursuant to ESA and MMPA requirements (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2010). The purpose of the Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program is to coordinate monitoring efforts across regions and to allocate the most appropriate level and type of monitoring effort for each range complex based on a set of standardized objectives, regional expertise, and resource availability. The Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program does not identify specific field work or individual projects. It is designed to provide a flexible, scalable, and adaptable framework using adaptive management and the Strategic Planning Process to periodically assess progress and reevaluate objectives.

The Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program is evaluated through the adaptive management review process to: (1) assess progress, (2) provide a matrix of goals and objectives, and (3) make recommendations for refinement and analysis of monitoring and mitigation techniques. This process includes conducting an annual adaptive management review meeting where the Navy and NMFS jointly consider the prior year's goals, monitoring results, and related scientific advances to determine if monitoring plan modifications are warranted to address program goals more effectively. Modifications to the Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program that result from annual adaptive management review discussions are incorporated by an addendum or revision to the Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program as needed. The Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program will be routinely updated as the program evolves and progresses.

The Strategic Planning Process serves to guide the investment of resources to most efficiently address Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program objectives and intermediate scientific objectives. Navyfunded monitoring projects relating to the impact of Navy training and testing activities on protected marine species are designed to accomplish one or more of the following top-level goals, as described in the Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program charter:

- Increase the understanding of the likely occurrence of marine mammals and ESA-listed marine species in the vicinity of the action (e.g., presence, abundance, distribution, density).
- Increase the understanding of the nature, scope, or context of the likely exposure of marine mammals and ESA-listed marine species to any of the potential stressors associated with the

action (e.g., acoustics, explosives, physical disturbance and strike of military expended materials) through a better understanding of one or more of the following: (1) the nature of the action and its surrounding environment (e.g., sound-source characterization, propagation, ambient noise levels), (2) the affected species (e.g., life history, dive patterns), (3) the likely co-occurrence of marine mammals and ESA-listed marine species with the action (in whole or part), and (4) the likely biological or behavioral context of exposure to the stressor for the marine mammal and ESA-listed marine species (e.g., age class of exposed animals or known pupping, calving, or feeding areas).

- Increase the understanding of how individual marine mammals or ESA-listed marine species respond behaviorally or physiologically to the specific stressors associated with the action and in what context (e.g., at what distance or received level).
- Increase the understanding of how anticipated individual responses to individual stressors or anticipated combinations of stressors may impact either: (1) the long-term fitness and survival of an individual, or (2) the population, species, or stock (e.g., through impacts on annual rates of recruitment or survival).
- Increase the understanding of the effectiveness of mitigation and monitoring.
- Improve the understanding and record of the manner in which the Navy complies with its Incidental Take Authorizations and Incidental Take Statements.
- Increase the probability of detecting marine mammals through improved technology or methods within the mitigation zones (to improve mitigation effectiveness) and generally (to better achieve monitoring goals).

The Navy established a Scientific Advisory Group in 2011 with the initial task of evaluating current Navy monitoring approaches under the Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Plan and existing MMPA Regulations and Letters of Authorization. The Scientific Advisory Group was also tasked with developing objective scientific recommendations that would form the basis for the Strategic Plan. While recommendations were fairly broad and not specifically prescriptive, the Scientific Advisory Group did provide specific programmatic recommendations that serve as guiding principles for the continued evolution of the Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program. Key recommendations included:

- Working within a conceptual framework of knowledge, from basic information on the occurrence of species within each range complex, to more specific matters of exposure, response, and consequences.
- Facilitating collaboration among researchers in each region, with the intent to develop a coherent and synergistic regional monitoring and research effort.
- Striving to move away from effort-based compliance metrics (e.g., completing a pre-determined amount of survey hours or days), with the intent to design and conduct monitoring projects according to scientific objectives rather than effort expended.
- Approaching the monitoring program holistically and selecting projects that offer the best opportunity to advance understanding of the issues, as opposed to establishing range-specific requirements.

### 5.1.2.2.1.3 Strategic Planning Process

The U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program has evolved and improved as a result of adaptive management review and the Strategic Planning Process through changes that include:

• Recognizing the limitations of effort-based compliance metrics;

- Developing a strategic approach to monitoring based on recommendations from the Scientific Advisory Group;
- Shifting focus to projects based on scientific objectives that facilitate generation of statistically meaningful results upon which natural resources management decisions may be based;
- Focusing on priority species or areas of interest as well as best opportunities to address specific monitoring objectives to maximize return on investment; and
- Increasing transparency of the program and management standards, improving collaboration among participating researchers, and improving accessibility to monitoring data and results.

As a result of the changes outlined above due to the implementation of the Strategic Planning Process, the U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program has undergone a transition. Intermediate scientific objectives now serve as the basis for developing and executing new monitoring projects across Navy training and testing areas in the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans. Implementation of the Strategic Planning Process involves coordination among fleets, system commands, Chief of Naval Operations Energy and Environmental Readiness Division, NMFS, and the Marine Mammal Commission with five primary steps:

- Identify overarching intermediate scientific objectives. Through the adaptive management process, the Navy coordinates with NMFS and the Marine Mammal Commission to review and revise the list of intermediate scientific objectives that guide development of individual monitoring projects. Examples include addressing information gaps in species occurrence and density, evaluating behavioral responses of marine mammals to Navy training and testing activities, and developing tools and techniques for passive acoustic monitoring.
- **Develop individual monitoring project concepts.** This step generally takes the form of soliciting input from the scientific community in terms of potential monitoring projects that address one or more of the intermediate scientific objectives. This can be accomplished through a variety of forums, including professional societies, regional scientific advisory groups, and contractor support.
- Evaluate, prioritize, and select monitoring projects. Navy technical experts and program managers review and evaluate monitoring project concepts and develop a prioritized ranking. The goal of this step is to establish a suite of monitoring projects that address a cross-section of intermediate scientific objectives spread over a variety of range complexes.
- Execute and manage selected monitoring projects. Individual projects are initiated through appropriate funding mechanisms and include clearly defined objectives and deliverables, such as data, reports, or publications.
- **Report and evaluate progress and results.** Progress on individual monitoring projects is updated through the U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program website as well as annual monitoring reports submitted to NMFS. Both internal review and discussions with NMFS through the adaptive management process are used to evaluate progress toward addressing the primary objectives of the Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program and serve to periodically recalibrate the focus of the monitoring program.

These steps serve three primary purposes: (1) to facilitate the Navy in developing specific projects addressing one or more intermediate scientific objectives, (2) to establish a more structured and collaborative framework for developing, evaluating, and selecting monitoring projects across areas where the Navy conducts training and testing activities, and (3) to maximize the opportunity for input and involvement across the research community, academia, and industry. This process is designed to integrate various elements, including:

- Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Program top-level goals,
- Scientific Advisory Group recommendations,
- Integration of regional scientific expert input,
- Ongoing adaptive management review dialog between NMFS and the Navy,
- Lessons learned from past and future monitoring of Navy training and testing, and
- Leveraging of research and lessons learned from other Navy-funded science programs.

The Strategic Planning Process will continue to shape the future of the U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program and serve as the primary decision-making tool for guiding investments. Information on monitoring projects currently underway in the Atlantic and Pacific oceans, as well as results, reports, and publications, can be accessed through the U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program website.

### 5.1.2.2.2 Training and Testing Activity Reports

The Navy developed a classified data repository known as the Sonar Positional Reporting System to maintain an internal record of underwater sound sources (e.g., active sonar) used during training and testing. The Sonar Positional Reporting System facilitates reporting pursuant to the Navy's MMPA Regulations and Letters of Authorization. Using data from the Sonar Positional Reporting System and other relevant sources, the Navy will continue to provide the NMFS Office of Protected Resources with classified or unclassified (depending on the data) annual reports on the training and testing activities that use underwater sound sources. In its annual training and testing activity reports, the Navy will describe the level of training and testing conducted during the reporting period. Unclassified annual training and testing activity reports that have been submitted to NMFS can be found on the NMFS Office of Protected Resources and U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program webpages.

### 5.1.2.2.3 Incident Reports

The Navy's mitigation measures and many of its standard operating procedures are designed to prevent incidents involving biological and cultural resources, such as aircraft strikes, vessel strikes, and impacts on submerged historic properties and seafloor resources. The Navy has been collecting data on such incidents (if they have occurred) for more than a decade and will continue doing so under the Proposed Action. To provide information on incidents involving biological or cultural resources, the Navy will submit reports to the appropriate management authorities as described below:

- **Birds:** As described in Section 5.1.3 (Aircraft Safety) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, bird strikes present an aviation safety risk for aircrews and aircraft. The Navy will report all aircraft strikes of birds per standard operating procedures. In addition to this standard operating procedure, the Navy will notify the appropriate regulatory agency (e.g., USFWS), immediately or as soon as operational security considerations allow, if it observes an injured or dead ESA-listed bird species (that is, or may be, attributable to Navy activities) during post-explosive event monitoring.
- Marine Mammals, Sea Turtles, and ESA-Listed Species: The Navy will notify the appropriate regulatory agency (e.g., NMFS, USFWS) immediately or as soon as operational security considerations allow if it observes the following that is (or may be) attributable to Navy activities: (1) a vessel strike of a marine mammal or sea turtle during training or testing, (2) a stranded, injured, or dead marine mammal or sea turtle during training or testing, or (3) an injured or dead marine mammal, sea turtle, or ESA-listed species during post-explosive event monitoring. The Navy will provide relevant information pertaining to the incident (e.g., vessel speed). Additional details on these incident reporting requirements will be included in the

Notification and Reporting Plan. The Navy will continue to provide the appropriate personnel with training on marine species incidents and their associated reporting requirements to aid the data collection and reporting processes (see Section 5.3.1, Environmental Awareness and Education). Information on marine mammal strandings is included in the *Marine Mammal Strandings Associated with U.S. Navy Sonar Activities* technical report (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2017a).

• **Cultural Resources:** In the event the Navy impacts a historic property (e.g., archaeological resource, shipwreck), it will commence consultation with the appropriate State Historic Preservation Officer in accordance with 36 Code of Federal Regulations section 800.13(b)(3).

### 5.2 Mitigation Development Process

The Navy, in coordination with the appropriate regulatory agencies, developed its initial suite of mitigation measures for Phase I of environmental planning (2010–2015) and subsequently revised those mitigation measures for the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS in Phase II (2015–2020). For this Draft Supplemental (which represents Phase III of environmental planning), the Navy is working collaboratively with the appropriate regulatory agencies to develop and refine its mitigation, which will be finalized through the consultation and permitting processes. The mitigation development process involves reanalyzing existing mitigation measures implemented under the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and analyzing new mitigation recommendations received from Navy and NMFS scientists, other governmental agencies, the public, and non-governmental organizations during the NEPA, consultation, and permitting processes. The Navy conducted a detailed review and assessment of each potential mitigation measure individually and then all potential mitigation measures collectively to determine if, as a whole, mitigation will effectively avoid or reduce potential impacts from the Proposed Action and will be practical to implement. The Navy operational community (i.e., leadership from the aviation, surface, subsurface, and special warfare communities; leadership from the research and acquisition community; and training and testing experts), environmental planners, and scientific experts provided input on the effectiveness and practicality of mitigation implementation. Navy Senior Leadership reviewed and approved the mitigation measures included in this Draft Supplemental.

Mitigation measures that the Navy will implement under the Proposed Action are organized into two categories: procedural mitigation measures and mitigation areas. The sections below provide definitions of mitigation terminology, background information pertinent to the mitigation development process, and information about the mitigation effectiveness and practicality criteria. Additional activity or stressor-specific details, such as the level of effect to which a procedural mitigation measure is expected to mitigate and if a measure has been modified from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS is provided throughout Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented). A draft biological assessment and operational analysis of mitigation areas that the Navy considered for the Study Area is provided in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment) of this Draft Supplemental. The Navy will finalize development of its mitigation areas in Section 5.4 (Mitigation Areas to be Implemented) of the Final Supplemental. Section 5.5 (Measures Considered but Eliminated) contains information on measures that did not meet the appropriate balance between being effective and practical to implement, and therefore will not be implemented under the Proposed Action.

### 5.2.1 Procedural Mitigation Development

Procedural mitigation is mitigation that the Navy will implement whenever and wherever training or testing activities involving applicable acoustic, explosive, and physical disturbance and strike stressors

take place within the Study Area. Procedural mitigation generally involves: (1) the use of one or more trained Lookouts to observe for specific biological resources within a mitigation zone, (2) requirements for Lookouts to immediately communicate sightings of specific biological resources to the appropriate watch station for information dissemination, and (3) requirements for the watch station to implement mitigation until a pre-activity commencement or during-activity recommencement condition has been met.

Procedural mitigation primarily involves Lookouts observing for marine mammals and sea turtles. For some activities, Lookouts may also be required to observe for additional biological resources, such as ESA-listed seabirds, jellyfish aggregations, or floating vegetation. For example, the Navy implements procedural mitigation for several activities that have the potential to overlap the range of ESA-listed marbled murrelets or short-tailed albatross. In this chapter, the term "floating vegetation" refers specifically to floating concentrations of detached kelp paddies and *Sargassum*. Jellyfish aggregations and floating vegetation can be indicators of potential marine mammal or sea turtle presence because marine mammals and sea turtles have been known to seek shelter in, feed on, or feed among them. For example, young sea turtles have been known to hide from predators and eat the algae associated with floating concentrations of *Sargassum*. The Navy observes for additional biological resources prior to the initial start or during the conduct of certain activities to offer an additional layer of protection for marine mammals and sea turtles.

To consider the benefits of procedural mitigation to marine mammals and sea turtles within the MMPA and ESA impact estimates, the Navy conservatively factored mitigation effectiveness into its quantitative analysis process, as described in the technical report titled Quantifying Acoustic Impacts on Marine Mammals and Sea Turtles: Methods and Analytical Approach for Phase III Training and Testing (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2018). The Navy's quantitative analysis assumes that Lookouts will not be 100 percent effective at detecting all individual marine mammals and sea turtles within the mitigation zones for each activity. This is due to the inherent limitations of observing marine species and because the likelihood of sighting individual animals is largely dependent on observation conditions (e.g., time of day, sea state, mitigation zone size, observation platform) and animal behavior (e.g., the amount of time an animal spends at the surface of the water). This is particularly true for sea turtles, small marine mammals, and marine mammals that display cryptic behaviors (e.g., surfacing to breathe with only a small portion of their body visible from the surface). Throughout Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented), discussions about the likelihood that a Lookout would observe a marine mammal or sea turtle pertain specifically to animals that are available to be observed (i.e., on, above, or just below the water's surface). The benefits of procedural mitigation measures for species that were not included in the quantitative analysis process (e.g., birds, fish) are discussed qualitatively.

Data inputs for assessing and developing procedural mitigation included operational data described in Section 5.2.3 (Practicality of Implementation), the best available science discussed in Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences), published literature, data on marine mammal and sea turtle impact ranges obtained through acoustic modeling, data on bird and fish hearing, marine species monitoring and density data, and the most recent guidance from NMFS and the USFWS. Background information on the data that were used to develop the ranges to effect is provided in Section 3.4 (Marine Mammals), Section 3.5 (Sea Turtles), and Section 3.6 (Birds).

### 5.2.1.1 Lookouts

Lookouts perform similar duties as the standard watch personnel described in Section 5.1.2 (Vessel Safety) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, such as personnel on the bridge watch team and personnel

stationed for man-overboard precautions. Lookouts are designated the responsibility of helping meet the Navy's mitigation requirements by visually observing mitigation zones. The number of Lookouts designated for each training or testing activity is dependent upon the number of personnel involved in the activity (i.e., manning restrictions) and the number and type of assets available (i.e., equipment and space restrictions).

Depending on the activity, a Lookout may be positioned on a ship (i.e., surface ships and surfaced submarines), on a small boat (e.g., a rigid-hull inflatable boat), in an aircraft, on a pier, or on shore. Certain platforms, such as aircraft and small boats, have manning or space restrictions; therefore, the Lookout on these platforms is typically an existing member of the aircraft or boat crew who is responsible for other essential tasks (e.g., a pilot who is also responsible for navigation). Some platforms are minimally manned and are therefore either physically unable to accommodate more than one Lookout or divert personnel from mission-essential tasks, including safe and secure operation of propulsion, weapons, and damage control systems that ensure safety of the ship and the personnel on board. The number of Lookouts specified for each activity in Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented) represents the maximum number of Lookouts that can be designated for those activities without requiring additional personnel or reassigning duties. The Navy is unable to position Lookouts on unmanned surface vehicles, unmanned aerial systems, unmanned underwater vehicles, and submerged submarines, or have Lookouts observe during activities that use systems deployed from or towed by unmanned platforms, except in limited circumstances when escort vehicles are already participating in the activity.

When Lookouts are positioned in a fixed-wing aircraft or rotary-wing aircraft (i.e., helicopter), mission requirements determine the flight parameters (altitude, flight path, and speed) for that aircraft. For example, most fixed-wing aircraft sorties occur above 3,000 feet (ft.), while most rotary-wing sorties associated with mine countermeasure activities occur at altitudes as low as 75–100 ft. Similarly, when Lookouts are positioned on a vessel, mission requirements determine the operational parameters (course and speed) for that vessel.

The Navy's passive acoustic devices (e.g., remote acoustic sensors, expendable sonobuoys, passive acoustic sensors on submarines) can complement visual observations for marine mammals when passive acoustic assets are already participating in an activity. The passive acoustic devices can detect vocalizing marine mammals within the frequency bands already being monitored by Navy personnel. Marine mammal detections from passive acoustic devices can alert Lookouts to possible marine mammal presence in the vicinity. Lookouts can use the information from passive acoustic detections to assist their visual observations of the mitigation zone. Based on the number and type of passive acoustic devices that are typically used, passive acoustic detections do not provide range or bearing to a detected animal in order to determine its location or confirm its presence in a mitigation zone. Therefore, it is not practical for the Navy to implement mitigation in response to passive acoustic detections alone (i.e., without a visual sighting of an animal within the mitigation zone). Additional information about passive acoustic devices is provided in Section 5.5.3 (Active and Passive Acoustic Monitoring Devices).

### 5.2.1.2 Mitigation Zones

Mitigation zones are areas at the surface of the water within which applicable training or testing activities will be ceased, powered down, or modified to protect specific biological resources from an auditory injury (permanent threshold shift [PTS]), non-auditory injury (from impulsive sources), or direct strike (e.g., vessel strike) to the maximum extent practicable. Mitigation zones are measured as the

radius from a stressor. Implementation of procedural mitigation is most effective when mitigation zones are appropriately sized to be realistically observed during typical training and testing activity conditions.

The Navy customized its mitigation zone sizes and mitigation requirements for each applicable training and testing activity category or stressor. The Navy developed each mitigation zone to be the largest area that: (1) Lookouts can reasonably be expected to observe during typical activity conditions (i.e., most environmentally protective), and (2) the Navy can commit to implementing mitigation without impacting safety, sustainability, or the ability to meet mission requirements. The Navy designed the mitigation zones for most acoustic and explosive stressors according to its source bins. As described in Section 3.0.3.1.1 (Sonar and Other Transducers), sonars and other transducers are grouped into classes that share an attribute, such as frequency range or purpose of use. Classes are further sorted by bins based on the frequency or bandwidth, source level, and when warranted, the application in which the source would be used. As described in Section 3.0.3.2.1.1 (Explosions in Water), explosives detonated in water are binned by net explosive weight. Mitigation does not pertain to stressors that do not have the potential to impact biological resources (e.g., *de minimis* acoustic and explosive sources that do not have the potential to impact marine mammals).

Discussions throughout Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented) about the level of effect that will likely be mitigated for marine mammals and sea turtles are based on a comparison of the mitigation zone size to the predicted impact ranges for the applicable source bins with the longest average ranges to PTS. These conservative discussions represent the worst-case scenario for each activity category or stressor. The mitigation zones will oftentimes cover all or a larger portion of the predicted average ranges to PTS for other comparatively smaller sources with shorter impact ranges (e.g., sonar sources used at a lower source level, explosives in a smaller bin). The discussions are primarily focused on how the mitigation zone sizes compare to the ranges to PTS; however, depending on the activity category or stressor, the mitigation zones are oftentimes large enough to also mitigate within a portion of the ranges to temporary threshold shift (TTS). TTS is a threshold shift that is recoverable. Background information on PTS, TTS, and marine mammal and sea turtle hearing groups is presented in the U.S. Department of the Navy (2017b) technical report titled *Criteria and Thresholds for U.S. Navy Acoustic and Explosive Effects Analysis (Phase III)*.

### 5.2.1.3 Procedural Mitigation Implementation

The Navy takes several courses of action in response to a sighting of an applicable biological resource in a mitigation zone. First, a Lookout will communicate the sighting to the appropriate watch station. Next, the watch station will implement the prescribed mitigation, such as delaying the initial start of an activity, powering down sonar, ceasing an explosive detonation, or maneuvering a vessel. If floating vegetation is observed in the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of an activity, the activity will either be relocated to an area where floating vegetation is not observed in concentrations, or the initial start of the activity will be delayed until the mitigation zone is clear of floating vegetation concentrations. There are no requirements to cease activities if vegetation floats into the mitigation zone after activities commence. For sightings of marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds within a mitigation zone prior to the initial start of or during applicable activities, the Navy will continue mitigating until one of the five conditions listed below has been met. The conditions are designed to allow a sighted animal to leave the mitigation zone before the initial start of an activity or before an activity resumes.

• The animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone;

- The animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the stressor source;
- The mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for a specific wait period;
- For mobile activities, the stressor source has transited or has been relocated a distance equal to double that of the mitigation zone size beyond the location of the last sighting; or
- For activities using hull-mounted sonar, the ship concludes that dolphins are deliberately closing in on the ship to ride the ship's bow wave and are therefore out of the main transmission axis of the sonar (and there are no other marine mammal sightings within the mitigation zone).

To supplement the implementation of procedural mitigation, the Navy has agreed to undertake reporting initiatives for certain activities or resources based on previous consultations with NMFS and the USFWS, as summarized in Section 5.1.2.2 (Monitoring, Research, and Reporting Initiatives) and detailed where applicable in Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented). For some activities, the Navy also agreed during previous consultations with NMFS or the USFWS to adapt some of its procedural mitigation for particular resources at certain locations and plans to continue these mitigation measures for the Proposed Action. For example, the Navy will continue implementing mitigation for ESA-listed bull trout at the Crescent Harbor and Hood Canal Explosive Ordnance Disposal ranges, as discussed in Section 5.3.3.7 (Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities Involving Navy Divers).

### 5.2.2 Mitigation Area Development

Mitigation areas are geographic locations within the Study Area where the Navy will implement mitigation measures to: (1) avoid or reduce potential impacts on biological or cultural resources that are not observable by Lookouts from the water's surface (i.e., resources for which procedural mitigation cannot be implemented), (2) in combination with procedural mitigation, to effect the least practicable adverse impact on marine mammal species or stocks and their habitat, or (3) in combination with procedural mitigation, ensure that the Proposed Action does not jeopardize the continued existence of endangered or threatened species, or result in destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.

The Navy conducted an extensive assessment of the Study Area to develop the mitigation areas included in this Draft Supplemental. The Navy reanalyzed existing mitigation areas implemented under the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS; assessed additional habitat areas suggested by the public, NMFS, other governmental agencies, and non-governmental organizations; and considered other habitats identified internally by the Navy. Data inputs for mitigation area assessment and development included the operational information described in Section 5.2.3 (Practicality of Implementation), the best available science discussed in Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences), published literature, predicted activity impact footprints, and marine species monitoring and density data.

A draft biological assessment and operational analysis of the mitigation areas that the Navy considered for the Study Area is provided in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment). The appendix includes background information and additional details for each of the areas considered, such as areas identified during the NEPA scoping process. The Navy will finalize development of its mitigation areas during the consultation and permitting processes and will summarize its finalized mitigation areas in Section 5.4 (Mitigation Areas to be Implemented) of the Final Supplemental.

The Navy considers a mitigation area to be effective if it meets the following criteria:

• The mitigation area is a key area of biological or ecological importance or contains cultural resources: The best available science suggests that the mitigation area contains submerged

cultural resources (e.g., shipwrecks) or is particularly important to one or more species or resources for a biologically important life process (e.g., foraging, migration, reproduction) or ecological function (e.g., live hard bottom that provides critical ecosystem functions); and

• The mitigation will result in an avoidance or reduction of impacts: Implementing the mitigation will likely avoid or reduce potential impacts on: (1) species, stocks, or populations of marine mammals based on data regarding their seasonality, density, and behavior; or (2) other biological or cultural resources based on their distribution and physical properties. Furthermore, implementing the mitigation will not shift or transfer adverse effects from one species to another (e.g., to a more vulnerable or sensitive species).

The benefits of mitigation areas are considered qualitatively and have not been factored into the quantitative analysis process or reductions in take for MMPA and ESA impact estimates. Mitigation area benefits are discussed in terms of the context of impact avoidance or reduction.

### 5.2.3 Practicality of Implementation

Mitigation measures are expected to have some degree of impact on the training and testing activities that implement them (e.g., modifying where and when activities occur, ceasing an activity in response to a sighting). The Navy is able to accept a certain level of impact on its military readiness activities because of the benefit that mitigation measures provide for avoiding or reducing impacts on environmental and cultural resources. The Navy's focus during mitigation assessment and development is that mitigation measures must meet the appropriate balance between being effective and practical to implement. To evaluate practicality, the Navy operational community conducted an extensive and comprehensive assessment to determine how and to what degree potential mitigation measures would be compatible with planning, scheduling, and conducting training and testing activities under the Proposed Action in order to meet the Navy's Title 10 requirements.

### 5.2.3.1 Assessment Criteria

The purpose and need of the Proposed Action is to ensure that the Navy meets its mission to maintain, train, and equip combat-ready naval forces capable of winning wars, deterring aggression, and maintaining freedom of the seas. The Navy is statutorily mandated to protect U.S. national security by being ready, at all times, to effectively prosecute war and defend the nation by conducting operations at sea, as outlined in Title 10 section 5062 of the United States Code. The Navy's mission is achieved in part by conducting training and testing within the Study Area in accordance with established military readiness requirements. Training requirements have been developed through many years of iteration and adaptation and are designed to ensure that Sailors achieve the levels of readiness needed to properly respond to the multitude of contingencies they may face during military missions and combat operations. Activities are planned and scheduled in accordance with the Optimized Fleet Response Plan, which details instructions on manning distribution, range scheduling, operational requirements, maintenance and modernization plans, quality of work and life for personnel, achieving training capabilities, and meeting strategic readiness objectives.

To achieve the highest skill proficiency and most accurate testing results possible, the Navy conducts activities in a variety of realistic tactical oceanographic and environmental conditions. Such conditions include variations in bathymetry, topography, surface fronts, and sea surface temperatures. Training activities must be as realistic as possible to provide the experiences and stressors necessary to successfully execute all required military missions and combat operations. Degraded training would result in units being unqualified to conduct the range of military operations required by operational

Commanders. The inability of such Commanders to meet national security objectives would result in not only the increased risk to life, but also the degradation of national security. Testing activities must be as realistic as possible for the Navy to conduct accurate acoustic research to validate acoustic models; conduct accurate engineering tests of acoustic sources, signal processing algorithms, and acoustic interactions; and to effectively test systems and platforms (and components of these systems and platforms) to validate whether they perform as expected and determine whether they are operationally effective, suitable, survivable, and safe for their intended use by the fleet. Testing must be completed before full-scale production or delivery to the fleet to ensure functionality and accuracy in military mission and combat conditions.

As described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), the Navy requires access to sea space and airspace throughout the Study Area within pierside locations, nearshore areas, and largescale open ocean areas of the high seas. Each area plays a critical role in the Navy's ability to plan, schedule, and effectively execute military readiness activities. The locations where training and testing occur must be situated in a way that allows the Navy to complete its activities without physical or logistical obstructions. The Navy requires extensive sea space so that individual training and testing activities can occur at sufficient distances so they do not interfere with one another. Some training and testing activities require continuous access to large and unobstructed areas, consisting potentially of tens or thousands of square miles. This provides personnel the ability to develop competence and confidence in their capabilities across multiple types of weapons and sensors, and the ability to train to communicate and operate in a coordinated fashion as required during military missions and combat operations. For example, some training exercises may require large areas of the littorals, open ocean, and nearshore areas for realistic and safe anti-submarine warfare training. The Navy also requires large areas of sea space because it trains in a manner to avoid observation by potential adversaries. Modern sensing technologies make training on a large scale without observation more difficult. A foreign military's continual observation of U.S. Navy training in predictable geographic areas and timeframes would enable foreign nations to gather intelligence and subsequently develop techniques, tactics, and procedures to potentially and effectively counter U.S. naval operations. Other activities may be conducted on a smaller and more localized scale, with training or testing at discrete locations that are critical to certain aspects of military readiness.

The locations for training and testing activities are selected to maximize efficiency while supporting specific mission and safety requirements, deconflict sea space and airspace, and minimize the time personnel must spend away from home. Training and testing locations are typically selected based on their proximity to homeports, home bases, associated training ranges, testing facilities, air squadrons, and existing infrastructure to reduce travel time and associated costs. Activities involving the use of rotary-wing aircraft typically occur in proximity to shore or refueling stations due to fuel restrictions and safety requirements. Testing events are typically located near systems command support facilities, which provide critical infrastructure support and technical expertise necessary to conduct testing. Logistical support of range testing can only efficiently and effectively occur when the support is colocated with the testing activities. These same principles also apply to pierside and at-sea testing that must occur in proximity to naval harbors. Testing event site locations and associated field activities were originally established to support specific Navy mission testing needs using a selection process that included testing requirements, cost of living, availability of personnel, and low level of crowding from industry and development.

During its assessment to determine how and to what degree the implementation of mitigation would be compatible with meeting the purpose and need of the Proposed Action, the Navy considered a mitigation measure to be practical to implement if it met all criteria discussed below:

- Implementing the mitigation is safe: Mitigation measures must not increase safety risks to Navy personnel and equipment, or to the public. When assessing whether implementing a mitigation measure would be safe, the Navy factored in the potential for increased pilot fatigue; accelerated fatigue-life of aircraft; typical fuel restrictions of participating aircraft; locations of refueling stations; proximity to aircraft emergency landing fields, critical medical facilities, and search and rescue capabilities; space restrictions of the observation platforms; the ability to deconflict platforms and activities to ensure that training and testing activities do not impact each other; and the ability to avoid interaction with non-Navy sea space and airspace uses, such as established commercial air traffic routes, commercial vessel shipping lanes, and areas used for energy exploration or alternative energy development. Other safety considerations included identifying if mitigation measures would reasonably allow Lookouts to safely and effectively maintain situational awareness while observing the mitigation zones during typical activity conditions, or if the mitigation would increase the safety risk for personnel. For example, the safety risk would increase if Lookouts were required to direct their attention away from essential mission requirements.
- Implementing the mitigation is sustainable: One of the primary factors that the Navy incorporates into the planning and scheduling of its training and testing activities is the amount and type of available resources, such as funding, personnel, and equipment. Mitigation measures must be sustainable over the life of the Proposed Action, meaning that they will not require the use of resources in excess of what is available. When assessing whether implementing a mitigation measure would be sustainable, the Navy considered if the measure would require excessive time on station or time away from homeport for Navy personnel, require the use of additional personnel (i.e., manpower) or equipment (e.g., adding a small boat to serve as an additional observation platform), or result in additional operational costs (e.g., increased fuel consumption, equipment maintenance, or acquisition of new equipment).
- Implementing the mitigation allows the Navy to continue meeting its mission requirements: The Navy considered if each individual measure and the iterative and cumulative impact of all potential measures would be within the Navy's legal authority to implement. The Navy also considered if mitigation would modify training or testing activities in a way that would prevent individual activities from meeting their mission objectives and if mitigation would prevent the Navy from meeting its national security requirements or statutorily-mandated Title 10 requirements, such as by:
  - Impacting training and testing realism or preventing ready access to ranges, operating areas, facilities, or range support structures (which would reduce realism and present sea space and airspace conflicts).
  - Impacting the ability for Sailors to train and become proficient in using sensors and weapon systems as would be required in areas analogous to where the military operates or causing an erosion of capabilities or reduction in perishable skills (which would result in a significant risk to personnel or equipment safety during military missions and combat operations).
  - Impacting the ability for units to meet their individual training and certification requirements (which would impact the ability to deploy with the required level of readiness necessary to accomplish any tasking by Combatant Commanders).

- Impacting the ability to certify forces to deploy to meet national security tasking (which would limit the flexibility of Combatant Commanders and warfighters to project power, engage in multi-national operations, and conduct the full range of naval warfighting capabilities in support of national security interests).
- Impacting the ability of researchers, program managers, and weapons system acquisition programs to conduct accurate acoustic research to meet research objectives, effectively test systems and platforms (and components of these systems and platforms) before full-scale production or delivery to the fleet, or complete shipboard maintenance, repairs, or pierside testing prior to at-sea operations (which would not allow the Navy to ensure safety, functionality, and accuracy in military mission and combat conditions per required acquisition milestones or on an as-needed basis to meet operational requirements).
- Requiring the Navy to provide advance notification of specific times and locations of Navy platforms, such as platforms using active sonar (which would present national security concerns).
- Reducing the Navy's ability to be ready, maintain deployment schedules, or respond to national emergencies or emerging national security challenges (which would present national security concerns).

### 5.2.3.2 Factors Affecting Practicality

Two of the factors that influenced whether procedural mitigation measures met the practicality criteria were the number of times mitigation measures would likely be implemented and the duration over which the activity would likely be ceased due to mitigation implementation. The number of times mitigation would likely be implemented is largely dependent on the size of the mitigation zone. As a mitigation zone size increases, the area of observation increases by an order of magnitude. This is because mitigation zones are measured as the radius (r) from a stressor but apply to circular area (A) around that stressor (A =  $\pi * r^2$ , where  $\pi$  is a constant that is approximately equal to 3.14). For example, a 100-yard (yd.) mitigation zone is equivalent to an area of 31,416 square yd. A 200 yd. mitigation zone is equivalent to an area of 31,416 square yd. A 200 yd. mitigation zone is equivalent to an area of 31,416 square yd. A 200 yd. to 200 yd. (i.e., doubling the mitigation zone radius) would quadruple the mitigation zone area (the area over which mitigation must be implemented). Similarly, increasing a mitigation zone from 1,000 yd. to 4,000 yd. (i.e., quadrupling the mitigation zone radius) would increase the mitigation zone area by a factor of 16. Increasing the area over which mitigation must be implemented consequently increases the number of times mitigation would likely be implemented during that activity.

The duration over which mitigation is implemented can differ considerably depending on the mitigation zone size, number of animal sightings, behavioral state of animals sighted (e.g., travelling at a fast pace on course to exit the mitigation zone, milling slowly in the center of the mitigation zone), and which preactivity commencement or during-activity recommencement condition is met before the activity can commence or resume after each sighting. The duration of mitigation implementation typically equates to the amount of time the training or testing activity will be extended. The impact that extending the length of an activity has on safety, sustainability, and the Navy's ability to accomplish the activity's intended objectives varies by activity. This is one reason why the Navy tailors its mitigation zone sizes and mitigation requirements by activity category or stressor and the platforms involved.

As described in Section 5.2.1 (Procedural Mitigation Development), the Navy will mitigate for each applicable sighting and will continue mitigating until one of five conditions has been met. In some instances, such as if an animal dives underwater after a sighting, it may not be possible for a Lookout to

visually verify if the animal has exited the mitigation zone. The Navy cannot delay or cease activities indefinitely for the purpose of mitigation due to impacts on safety, sustainability, and the Navy's ability to continue meeting its mission requirements. To account for this, one of the pre-activity commencement and during-activity recommencement conditions is an established post-sighting wait period of 30 minutes (min.) or 10 min., based on the platforms involved. Wait periods are designed to allow animals the maximum amount of time practical to resurface (i.e., become available to be observed by a Lookout) before activities resume. When developing the length of its wait periods, the Navy factored in the assumption that mitigation may need to be implemented more than once. For example, an activity may need to be delayed or ceased for more than one 30 min. or 10 min. period.

The Navy assigns a 30 min. wait period to activities conducted from vessels and that involve aircraft that are not typically fuel constrained (e.g., maritime patrol aircraft). A 30 min. period covers the average dive times of most marine mammals and a portion of the dive times of sea turtles and deep-diving marine mammals (i.e., sperm whales, dwarf and pygmy sperm whales [Kogia whales], and beaked whales) (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2017c). The Navy determined that a 30 min. wait period is the maximum wait time that is practical to implement during activities involving vessels and aircraft that are not typically fuel constrained to allow the activities to continue meeting their intended objectives. Implementing a longer wait period (such as 45 min. or 60 min. to cover the average dive times of sea turtles and additional marine mammal species) would be impractical to implement. Activities are scheduled to occur at specific locations within specific timeframes based on range scheduling and for sea space deconfliction. Increasing the wait period, and consequently, the amount of time activities would need to be delayed or extended in order to accomplish their intended objectives, would impact activity realism or cause sea space conflicts in a way that could impact the Navy's ability to continue meeting its mission requirements. For example, delaying an explosive activity for multiple wait periods could result in personnel not being able to detonate an explosive before the participating platforms are required to depart the range due to range scheduling; therefore, the activity would not accomplish its intended objectives.

The Navy assigns a 10 min. wait period to activities involving aircraft that are typically fuel constrained (e.g., rotary-wing aircraft, fighter aircraft). A 10 min. period covers a portion, but not the average, dive times of marine mammals and sea turtles (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2017c). The Navy determined that a 10 min. wait period is the maximum wait time that is practical to implement during activities involving aircraft that are typically fuel constrained. Increasing the wait period, and consequently the amount of time the training or testing activity would need to be extended in order to accomplish its intended objective, would require aircraft to depart the activity area to refuel in order to safely complete the event. If the wait period was implemented multiple times, the aircraft would be required to depart the activity area to refuel multiple times. Refueling events would vary in duration, depending on the activity location and proximity to the nearest refueling station. Multiple refueling events would generally be expected to extend the length of the activity by two to five times or more. This would impact activity realism, could cause air space or sea space conflicts in a way that could impact the Navy's ability to continue meeting its mission requirements, would decrease the ability for Lookouts to safely and effectively maintain situational awareness of the activity area, and would increase safety risks due to increased pilot fatigue and accelerated fatigue-life of aircraft. For example, delaying an Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Helicopter activity for multiple wait periods could result in personnel not being able to effectively search for, detect, classify, localize, and track a simulated threat submarine before the rotary-wing aircraft is required to depart the range due to range scheduling; therefore, the activity would not accomplish its intended objectives.

Factors that influenced whether a mitigation area measure met the practicality criteria included the historical use and projected future use of geographic locations for training and testing activities under the Proposed Action, and the relative importance of each location. The frequency that an area is used for training or testing does not necessarily equate to that area's level of importance for meeting an individual activity objective, or collectively, the Navy's mission requirements. While frequently used areas can be essential to one or more types of military readiness activities, some infrequently used areas are critical for a particular training exercise, testing mission, or research project.

### 5.3 Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented

The first procedural mitigation measure (Section 5.3.1, Environmental Awareness and Education) is designed to aid Lookouts and other personnel with observation, environmental compliance, and reporting responsibilities. The remaining procedural mitigation measures are organized by stressor type and training or testing activity category.

### 5.3.1 Environmental Awareness and Education

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to provide environmental awareness and education to the appropriate personnel to aid visual observation, environmental compliance, and reporting responsibilities, as outlined in Table 5.3-1.

### Table 5.3-1: Environmental Awareness and Education

The Navy requires Lookouts and other personnel to complete their assigned environmental compliance responsibilities (e.g., mitigation, reporting requirements) before, during, and after training and testing activities. Marine Species Awareness Training was first developed in 2007 and has since undergone numerous updates to ensure that the content remains current, with the most recent product approved by NMFS and released by the Navy in 2014. In 2014, the Navy developed a series of educational training modules, known as the Afloat Environmental Compliance Training program, to ensure Navywide compliance with environmental requirements. The Afloat Environmental Compliance Training program, including the updated Marine Species Awareness Training, helps Navy personnel from the most junior Sailors to Commanding Officers gain a better understanding of their personal environmental compliance roles and responsibilities. Additional information on the Protective Measures Assessment Protocol is provided in Section 5.1.2.1 (Protective Measures Assessment Protocol), and additional information on training and testing activity and incident reports is provided in Section 5.1.2.2 (Monitoring, Research, and Reporting Initiatives).

From an operational perspective, the interactive web-based format of the U.S. Navy Afloat Environmental Compliance Training Series is ideal for providing engaging and educational content that is cost effective and convenient to access by personnel who oftentimes face rotating job assignments. The U.S. Navy Afloat Environmental Compliance Training Series has resulted in an improvement in the quality and accuracy of training and testing activity reports, incident reports, and Sonar Positional Reporting System reports submitted by Navy operators. Improved reporting quality indicates that the U.S. Navy Afloat Environmental Compliance Training Series is helping to facilitate Navywide environmental compliance as intended.

Lookouts and members of the operational community have demonstrated enhanced knowledge and understanding of the Navy's environmental compliance responsibilities since the development of the U.S. Navy Afloat Environmental Compliance Training Series. For example, it is likely that the implementation of the Marine Species Awareness Training starting in 2007, and the additional U.S. Navy Afloat Environmental Compliance Training Series modules starting in 2014, has contributed to a Navy-wide reduction in vessel strikes of marine mammals in areas where the Navy trains and tests. This indicates that the environmental awareness and education program is helping to improve the effectiveness of mitigation implementation. A more detailed analysis of vessel strikes is presented in Section 3.4.2.4 (Impacts from Physical Disturbance and Strike) of this Draft Supplemental.

## 5.3.2 Acoustic Stressors

The Navy will implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on biological resources from the acoustic stressors or activities discussed in the sections below. In addition to procedural mitigation, the Navy will implement mitigation for acoustic stressors within mitigation areas, such as requirements to prohibit or limit certain activities in certain locations. Mitigation area requirements for acoustic stressors are detailed in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment).

### 5.3.2.1 Active Sonar

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals and sea turtles from active sonar, as outlined in Table 5.3-2. In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the Navy's active sonar mitigation zones were based on associated average ranges to PTS. When developing the mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy analyzed the potential for increasing the sizes of these mitigation zones. The Navy determined that the current mitigation zones

for active sonar are the largest areas within which it is practical to implement mitigation; therefore, it will continue implementing these same mitigation zones under the Proposed Action.

### Table 5.3-2: Procedural Mitigation for Active Sonar

#### Procedural Mitigation Description

#### Stressor or Activity

- Low-frequency active sonar, mid-frequency active sonar, high-frequency active sonar
  - For vessel-based active sonar activities, mitigation applies only to sources that are positively controlled and deployed from manned surface vessels (e.g., sonar sources towed from manned surface platforms).
  - For aircraft-based active sonar activities, mitigation applies only to sources that are positively controlled and deployed from manned aircraft that do not operate at high altitudes (e.g., rotary-wing aircraft). Mitigation does not apply to active sonar sources deployed from unmanned aerial systems or aircraft operating at high altitudes (e.g., maritime patrol aircraft).

#### Resource Protection Focus

Marine mammals

• Sea turtles (only for sources <2 kilohertz [kHz])

#### Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform

- Hull-mounted sources:
  - 1 Lookout: Platforms with space or manning restrictions while underway (at the forward part of a small boat or ship) and platforms using active sonar while moored or at anchor (including pierside)
  - 2 Lookouts: Platforms without space or manning restrictions while underway (at the forward part of the ship)
- Sources that are not hull-mounted:
  - 1 Lookout on the ship or aircraft conducting the activity

#### **Mitigation Requirements**

- Mitigation zones:
  - 1,000 yd. power down, 500 yd. power down, and 200 yd. or 100 yd. shut down for low-frequency active sonar ≥200 decibels (dB) and hull-mounted mid-frequency active sonar
  - 200 yd. or 100 yd. shut down for low-frequency active sonar <200 dB, mid-frequency active sonar sources that are not hull-mounted, and high-frequency active sonar
- Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., when maneuvering on station):
  - Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.
  - Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, relocate or delay the start
    of active sonar transmission.
- During the activity:
  - Low-frequency active sonar ≥200 decibels (dB) and hull-mounted mid-frequency active sonar: Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles (for sources <2 kHz); power down active sonar transmission by 6 dB if a marine mammal or sea turtle is observed within 1,000 yd. of the sonar source; power down an additional 4 dB (10 dB total) if a marine mammal or sea turtle is observed within 500 yd.; cease transmission if a cetacean, sea turtle, or pinniped in the NWTT Offshore Area or Western Behm Canal is observed within 200 yd.; cease transmission if a pinniped in NWTT Inland Waters is observed within 100 yd. (except if hauled out on, or in the water near, man-made structures and vessels).</p>
  - Low-frequency active sonar <200 dB, mid-frequency active sonar sources that are not hull-mounted, and high-frequency active sonar: Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles (for sources <2 kHz); cease transmission if a cetacean, sea turtle, or pinniped in the NWTT Offshore Area or Western Behm Canal is observed within 200 yd. of the sonar source; cease transmission if a pinniped in NWTT Inland Waters is observed within 100 yd. (except if hauled out on, or in the water near, man-made structures and vessels).

## Table 5.3-2: Procedural Mitigation for Active Sonar (continued)

#### Procedural Mitigation Description

- Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal or sea turtle sighting before or during the activity:
  - The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal or sea turtle to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing or powering up active sonar transmission) until one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone; (2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the sonar source; (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for 10 min. for aircraft-deployed sonar sources or 30 min. for vessel-deployed sonar sources; (4) for mobile activities, the active sonar source has transited a distance equal to double that of the mitigation zone size beyond the location of the last sighting; or (5) for activities using hull-mounted sonar, the Lookout concludes that dolphins are deliberately closing in on the ship to ride the ship's bow wave, and are therefore out of the main transmission axis of the sonar (and there are no other marine mammal sightings within the mitigation zone).

The Navy is clarifying in the table that the mitigation zone for low-frequency active sonar sources at or above 200 dB will be the same as the mitigation implemented for hull-mounted mid-frequency active sonar; whereas low-frequency active sonar sources below 200 dB will implement the same mitigation zone as high-frequency active sonar and mid-frequency active sonar sources that are not hull-mounted. The Navy is also clarifying that it will require observation of the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity to ensure the area is clear of applicable biological resources. The Navy has always verified that the mitigation zone is visually clear prior to conducting active sonar activities and is more clearly capturing this current practice in the mitigation measures for this activity. The Navy will follow the incident reporting procedures outlined in Section 5.1.2.2.3 (Incident Reports) if an incident is detected at any time during the event.

The mitigation zone sizes and proximity to the observation platforms will result in a high likelihood that Lookouts will be able to detect marine mammals and sea turtles throughout the mitigation zones. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce potential impacts on these resources within the mitigation zones. Pinnipeds use Navy structures (e.g., submarines, security barriers) as haul-outs at several locations within NWTT Inland Waters, despite these areas being heavily trafficked for the past several decades. Because these animals are present in NWTT Inland Waters consistently throughout the year, the Navy would be unable to avoid them entirely unless they were physically removed from the water or haul-out locations. Efforts to remove or relocate pinnipeds away from Navy activities in NWTT Inland Waters would likely result in higher animal stress levels or behavioral disturbances and would present logistical constraints due to the number of animals that are typically present in these locations at any given time. For this reason, the Navy implements a smaller active sonar shut down mitigation zone for pinnipeds observed in NWTT Inland Waters than for other marine mammals and pinnipeds observed in the NWTT Offshore Area or Western Behm Canal.

Section 3.4.2.1.2 (Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers) of this Draft Supplemental provides a full analysis of the potential impacts of sonar on marine mammals and includes the impact ranges for various source bins. For low-frequency active sonar at 200 dB or more and hull-mounted mid-frequency active sonar, bin MF1 has the longest predicted ranges to PTS. For the highest source level in bin MF1, the 1,000 yd. and 500 yd. power down mitigation zones extend beyond the average ranges to PTS for marine mammals. The 200 yd. shut down mitigation zone extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for low-frequency cetaceans, mid-frequency cetaceans, otariids, and phocids, and into a portion of the

average range to PTS for high-frequency cetaceans. The ranges to PTS for the 200 yd. shut down mitigation zone were calculated based on full power transmissions and do not consider that the impact ranges would be reduced if the 1,000 yd. and 500 yd. power down mitigation measures are implemented in response to a marine mammal sighting in those mitigation zones. If an animal is first sighted in the 1,000 yd. or 500 yd. power down mitigation zone, the source level reduction would shorten the ranges to PTS, and the 200 yd. shut down mitigation would then extend beyond the average ranges to PTS for all marine mammal hearing groups. The 100 yd. shut down mitigation zone applicable only to pinnipeds observed in NWTT Inland Waters extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for otariids and phocids.

For low-frequency active sonar below 200 dB, mid-frequency active sonar sources that are not hullmounted, and high-frequency active sonar, bin HF4 has the longest predicted ranges to PTS. For the highest source level in bin HF4, the 200 yd. shut down mitigation zone extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for marine mammals. The 100 yd. shut down mitigation zone applicable only to pinnipeds observed in NWTT Inland Waters extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for otariids and phocids. In summary, the mitigation zones for active sonar will help avoid or reduce the potential for exposure to PTS for marine mammals.

The active sonar mitigation zones also extend into a portion of the average ranges to TTS for marine mammals; therefore, mitigation will help avoid or reduce the potential for some exposure to higher levels of TTS. Active sonar sources that fall within lower source bins or are used at lower source levels have shorter impact ranges than those discussed above; therefore, the mitigation zones will extend further beyond or into the average ranges to PTS and TTS for these sources. The analysis in Section 3.4.2.1.2 (Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers) of this Draft Supplemental indicates that pygmy and dwarf sperm whales (*Kogia* whales) are the only deep-diving marine mammal species that could potentially experience PTS impacts from active sonar in the Study Area. The 30 min. wait period for vessel-deployed sources will cover the average dive times of marine mammal species that could experience PTS from sonar in the mitigation zone, except for *Kogia* whales. The 10 min. wait period for aircraft-deployed sources will cover a portion, but not the average, dive times of marine mammals.

Section 3.5.2.1.2 (Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers) provides a full analysis of the potential impacts of sonar on sea turtles. Due to sea turtle hearing capabilities, the mitigation only applies to sea turtles during the use of sources below 2 kHz. The range to auditory effects for most active sonar sources in sea turtle hearing range (e.g., LF4) is zero meters. Impact ranges are longer (i.e., up to tens of meters) for active sonars with higher source levels. The mitigation zones for active sonar extend beyond the ranges to PTS and TTS for sea turtles; therefore, mitigation will help avoid or reduce the potential for exposure to these effects for sea turtles.

As described previously, the mitigation zones developed for this Draft Supplemental are based on the largest areas within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation during training and testing within the Study Area. Training and testing with active sonar is essential to national security. Active sonar is the only reliable technology for detecting and tracking potential enemy diesel-electric submarines. For example, small diesel-electric submarines operate quietly and may hide in shallow coastal and littoral waters. The ability to effectively operate active sonar is a highly perishable skill that must be repeatedly practiced during realistic training. Naval forces must train in the same mode and manner in which they conduct military missions and combat operations. Anti-submarine warfare training typically involves the periodic use of active sonar to develop the "tactical picture," or an understanding of the battle space (e.g., area searched or unsearched, identifying false contacts, and

understanding the water conditions). This can take from several hours to multiple days and typically occurs over vast areas with varying physical and oceanographic conditions (e.g., bathymetry, topography, surface fronts, and variations in sea surface temperature). Sonar operators train to avoid or reduce interference and sound-reducing clutter from varying ocean floor topographies and environmental conditions, practice coordinating their efforts with other sonar operators in a strike group, develop skill proficiency in detecting and tracking submarines and other threats, and practice the focused endurance vital to effectively working as a team in shifts around the clock until the conclusion of the event.

Increasing the mitigation zone sizes would result in a larger area over which active sonar would need to be powered down or shut down in response to a sighting, and therefore would likely increase the number of times that these mitigation measures would be implemented. This would extend the length of the activity, significantly diminish event realism, and prevent activities from meeting their intended objectives. It would also create fundamental differences between how active sonar would be used in training and how active sonar should be used during military missions and combat operations. For example, additional active sonar power downs or shut downs would prevent sonar operators from developing and maintaining awareness of the tactical picture during training events. Without realistic training in conditions analogous to military missions and combat operations, sonar operators cannot become proficient in effectively operating active sonar. Sonar operators, vessel crews, and aircrews would be expected to operate active sonar during military missions and combat operations in a manner inconsistent with how they were trained.

During integrated training, multiple vessels and aircraft may participate in an exercise using different warfare components simultaneously. Degrading the value of one training element results in a degradation of the training value of the other training elements. Degrading the value of training would cause a reduction in perishable skills and diminished operational capability, which would significantly impact military readiness. Each of these factors would ultimately impact the ability for units to meet their individual training and certification requirements and the Navy's ability to certify forces to safely deploy to meet national security tasking. Diminishing proficiency or eroding active sonar capabilities would present a significant risk to personnel safety during military missions and combat operations and would impact the ability to deploy with the required level of readiness necessary to accomplish any tasking by Combatant Commanders.

Increasing the number of times that the Navy must power down or shut down active sonar transmissions during testing activities would result in similar consequences to activity realism. For example, at-sea sonar testing activities are required in order to calibrate or document the functionality of sonar and torpedo systems while a ship or submarine is in an open ocean environment. Additional powering down or shutting down active sonar transmissions would prevent this activity from meeting its intended objective, such as verifying if the ship meets design acoustic specifications. These types of impacts would impede the ability of researchers, program managers, and weapons system acquisition programs to meet research objectives and testing requirements per required acquisition milestones or on an as-needed basis to meet operational requirements, and would impede shipboard maintenance, repairs, or pierside testing prior to at-sea operations.

For activities that involve aircraft (e.g., activities involving rotary-wing aircraft that use dipping sonar or sonobuoys to locate submarines or submarine targets), extending the length of the activity would require aircraft to depart the area to refuel. If multiple refueling events were required, the length of the activity would be extended by two to five times or more, which would decrease the ability for Lookouts

to safely and effectively maintain situational awareness of the activity area and increase safety risks due to increased pilot fatigue and accelerated fatigue-life of aircraft. Extending the length of the activity would also result in additional operational costs due to increased fuel consumption. Increasing the mitigation zone sizes would not result in a substantial reduction of injurious impacts because, as described above, the mitigation zones extend beyond the average ranges to PTS for sea turtles and marine mammals.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for active sonar beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-2 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

#### 5.3.2.2 Weapons Firing Noise

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds from weapons firing noise, as outlined in Table 5.3-3.

Table 5.3-3: Procedural Mitigation for Weapons Firing Noise	

Procedural Mitigation Description
Stressor or Activity
<ul> <li>Weapons firing noise associated with large-caliber gunnery activities</li> </ul>
Resource Protection Focus
Marine mammals
Sea turtles
Seabirds (marbled murrelets and short-tailed albatross)
Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform
<ul> <li>1 Lookout positioned on the ship conducting the firing</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Depending on the activity, the Lookout could be the same one described in Section 5.3.3.3 (Explosive</li> </ul>
Medium-Caliber and Large-Caliber Projectiles) or Section 5.3.4.3 (Small-, Medium-, and Large-Caliber Non-
Explosive Practice Munitions)
Mitigation Requirements
Mitigation zone:
– 30° on either side of the firing line out to 70 yd. from the muzzle of the weapon being fired
Prior to the initial start of the activity:
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the</li> </ul>
mitigation zone is clear.
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds; if observed, relocate or delay</li> </ul>
the start of weapons firing.
During the activity:
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds; if observed, cease weapons</li> </ul>
firing.
<ul> <li>Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal, sea turtle, or seabird sighting before an during the activity.</li> </ul>
or during the activity:
<ul> <li>Ine Navy will allow a signted marine mammal, sea turtle, or seabird to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the estivity (hyperbolic start) or during the estivity (hyperbolic start).</li> </ul>
the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing weapons
range (2) the animal is thought to have evited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course
speed and movement relative to the firing shin: (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any
additional sightings for 30 min · or (4) for mobile activities the firing shin has transited a distance equal to
double that of the mitigation zone size beyond the location of the last sighting.

In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the weapons firing noise mitigation zone was based on the associated average ranges to PTS. When developing the mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy analyzed the potential for increasing the size of the mitigation zone. The Navy determined that the current mitigation zone is the largest area within which it is practical to implement mitigation for this activity; therefore, it will continue implementing the same mitigation zone size under the Proposed Action. The Navy is clarifying in the table that it will require observation of the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity to ensure the area is clear of applicable biological resources. The Navy has always verified that the mitigation zone is visually clear prior to conducting weapons firing activities and is more clearly capturing this current practice in the mitigation measures for this activity. The Navy will follow the incident reporting procedures outlined in Section 5.1.2.2.3 (Incident Reports) if an incident is detected at any time during the event.

The small mitigation zone size and proximity to the observation platform will result in a high likelihood that Lookouts will be able to detect marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds throughout the mitigation zone. Section 3.6.2.1.5 (Impacts from Weapons Noise) provides a full analysis of the potential impacts of weapon noise on birds. Due to the difficulty of differentiating bird species, the Navy will implement mitigation for all seabird species for weapon noise during large-caliber weapons firing. Although there is a low likelihood that marbled murrelets and short-tailed albatross will occur in locations where the Navy conducts large-caliber gunnery activities, the mitigation will help the Navy further avoid or reduce potential impacts (e.g., startle response) on these ESA-listed bird species and other seabird species that occur offshore.

Section 3.4.2.1.5 (Impacts from Weapon Noise) and Section 3.5.2.1.5 (Impacts from Weapon Noise) of this Draft Supplemental provide an analysis of the potential impacts of weapon noise on marine mammals and sea turtles, respectively. As described in Section 3.0.5.3.1.3 (Weapons Firing, Launch, and Impact Noise) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, underwater sounds from large-caliber weapons firing activities would be strongest just below the surface and directly under the firing point. Any sound that enters the water only does so within a narrow cone below the firing point or path of the projectile. The mitigation zone extends beyond the distance to which marine mammals and sea turtles would likely experience PTS or TTS from weapons firing noise; therefore, mitigation will help avoid or reduce the potential for exposure to these impacts. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce impacts on these resources within the mitigation zone.

As described previously, the mitigation zone developed for this Draft Supplemental is based on the largest area within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation for this activity. Increasing the mitigation zone would result in a larger area over which weapons firing would need to be ceased in response to a sighting, and therefore would likely increase the number of times weapons firing would be ceased. However, increasing the mitigation zone size would not result in a substantial reduction of injurious impacts because the mitigation zone extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for sea turtles and marine mammals.

Large-caliber gunnery training activities may involve a single ship firing or may be conducted as part of a larger exercise involving multiple ships. Surface ship crews learn to track targets (e.g., with radar), engage targets, practice defensive marksmanship, and coordinate their efforts within the context of larger activities. Increasing the number of times that the Navy must cease weapons firing during training would decrease realism and impact the ability for Navy Sailors to train and become proficient in using large-caliber guns as required during military missions and combat operations. For example, additional ceasing of the activity would reduce the crew's ability to react to changes in the tactical situation or

respond to an incoming threat, which could result in a delay to the ship's training schedule. When training is undertaken in the context of a coordinated exercise involving multiple ships, degrading the value of one of the training element results in a degradation of the training value of the other training elements. These factors would ultimately impact the ability for units to meet their individual training and certification requirements, and the Navy's ability to certify forces to deploy to meet national security tasking.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for weapons firing noise beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-3 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety and mission requirements.

### 5.3.3 Explosive Stressors

The Navy will implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on biological resources from the explosives discussed in the sections below. Section 3.4.2.2 (Explosive Stressors), Section 3.5.2.2 (Explosive Stressors), and Section 3.6.2.2 (Explosive Stressors) provide a full analysis of the potential impacts of explosives on marine mammals, sea turtles, and birds, respectively, including predicted impact ranges. In addition to procedural mitigation, the Navy will implement mitigation for explosives within mitigation areas, such as requirements to prohibit or limit certain activities in certain locations (e.g., within a specified distance from shore). Mitigation area requirements for explosives are detailed in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment).

### 5.3.3.1 Explosive Sonobuoys

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals and sea turtles from explosive sonobuoys, as outlined in Table 5.3-4. In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, explosive sonobuoys had two mitigation zone sizes based on net explosive weight and the associated average ranges to PTS. When developing mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy analyzed the potential for increasing the size of these mitigation zones. The Navy identified an opportunity to increase the mitigation zone size by 250 yd. for sonobuoys using up to 2.5 lb. net explosive weight so that explosive sonobuoys will implement a 600 yd. mitigation zone, regardless of net explosive weight, to enhance protections to the maximum extent practicable. This increase is reflected in Table 5.3-4. The mitigation zone for explosive sonobuoys is now based on the largest area within which it is practical to implement mitigation.

### Table 5.3-4: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Sonobuoys

## Table 5.3-4: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Sonobuoys (continued)

### Procedural Mitigation Description

#### Mitigation Requirements

- Mitigation zone:
  - 600 yd. around an explosive sonobuoy
- Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., during deployment of a sonobuoy field, which typically lasts 20–30 min.):
  - Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.
  - Conduct passive acoustic monitoring for marine mammals; use information from detections to assist visual observations.
  - Visually observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, relocate or delay the start of sonobuoy or source/receiver pair detonations.
- During the activity:
  - Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, cease sonobuoy or source/receiver pair detonations.
- Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal or sea turtle sighting before or during the activity:
  - The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal or sea turtle to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing detonations) until one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone;
    (2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the sonobuoy; or (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for 10 min. when the activity involves aircraft that have fuel constraints, or 30 min. when the activity involves aircraft that are not typically fuel constrained.
- After completion of the activity (e.g., prior to maneuvering off station):
  - When practical (e.g., when platforms are not constrained by fuel restrictions or mission-essential followon commitments), observe the vicinity of where detonations occurred; if any injured or dead marine mammals or ESA-listed species are observed, follow established incident reporting procedures.
  - If additional platforms are supporting this activity (e.g., providing range clearance), these assets will assist in the visual observation of the area where detonations occurred.

The Navy is clarifying in the table that it will require observation of the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity to ensure the area is clear of applicable biological resources. The Navy has always verified that the mitigation zone is visually clear prior to conducting explosive activities and is more clearly capturing this current practice in the mitigation measures for this activity. The Navy developed a new mitigation measure requiring the Lookout to observe the mitigation zone after completion of the activity. In accordance with the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS consultation requirements, the Navy currently conducts post-activity observations for some, but not all explosive activities. When developing mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy determined that it could expand this requirement to other explosive events, when practical. The Navy is adding a requirement that additional platforms already participating in the activity will support observing the mitigation zone before, during, and after the activity while performing their regular duties. There are typically multiple platforms in the vicinity of activities that use explosive sonobuoys (e.g., safety aircraft). When available, having additional personnel support observations of the mitigation zone will help increase the likelihood of detecting biological resources. The Navy will follow the incident reporting procedures outlined in Section 5.1.2.2.3

(Incident Reports) if an incident is detected at any time during the event, including during the postactivity observations.

Some activities that use explosive sonobuoys involve detonations of a single sonobuoy or sonobuoy pair, while other activities involve deployment of a field of sonobuoys that may be dispersed over a large distance. Lookouts will have a better likelihood of detecting marine mammals and sea turtles when observing the mitigation zone around a single sonobuoy, sonobuoy pair, or a smaller sonobuoy field than when observing a sonobuoy field dispersed over a large distance. When observing large sonobuoy fields, Lookouts will be more likely to detect large visual cues (e.g., whale blows or large pods of dolphins) than individual marine mammals, cryptic marine mammal species, and sea turtles. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce potential impacts on these resources within the mitigation zones.

Bin E3 has the longest predicted impact ranges for explosive sonobuoys used in the Study Area (e.g., MK-61 SUS sonobuoys). For the largest explosive in bin E3, the mitigation zone extends beyond the ranges to 50 percent non-auditory injury and 50 percent mortality for sea turtles and marine mammals. The mitigation zone extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for sea turtles, mid-frequency cetaceans, and otariids, into a portion of the average ranges to PTS for high-frequency cetaceans, low-frequency cetaceans, and phocids. The mitigation zone also extends beyond or into a portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and marine mammals. Therefore, depending on the species, mitigation will help avoid or reduce all or a portion of the potential for exposure to mortality, non-auditory injury, PTS, and higher levels of TTS for the largest explosives in bin E3. Smaller explosives in bin E3 and explosives in smaller source bins (E1) have shorter predicted impact ranges; therefore, the mitigation zone will extend further beyond or cover a greater portion of the impact ranges for these explosives.

As described previously, the mitigation zone developed for this Draft Supplemental is based on the largest area within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation. It is not practical to increase the mitigation zone because observations within the margin of increase would be ineffective unless the Navy allocated additional platforms to observe for biological resources. This is particularly true when observations occur from a small boat or during observations of a large field of sonobuoys. The use of additional personnel and equipment (aircraft or small boats) would be unsustainable due to increased operational costs and an exceedance of the available manpower and resources for this activity. Adding aircraft to observe the mitigation zone could result in airspace conflicts with the event participants. This would either require the aircraft conducting the activity to modify their flights plans (which would reduce activity realism) or force the observation effectiveness). Adding vessels to observe the mitigation zone would increase observation effectiveness). Adding vessels to observe the mitigation zone would increase safety risks due to the presence of observation vessels within the vicinity of explosive sonobuoys or an explosive sonobuoy field.

Increasing the mitigation zone size would result in a larger area over which detonations would need to be ceased in response to a sighting, and therefore would likely increase the number of times detonations would be ceased and would extend the length of the activity. These impacts would significantly diminish event realism in a way that would prevent the activity from meeting its intended objectives. For example, during Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Test—Maritime Patrol Aircraft (SUS) events, additional ceasing of the activity would not allow the Navy to effectively test sensors and systems that are used to detect and track submarines and ensure that systems perform to specifications and meet operational requirements. Such testing is required to ensure functionality and accuracy in military mission and combat conditions. Extending the length of the activity would require aircraft to

depart the area to refuel. If multiple refueling events were required, the activity length would extend by two to five times or more, which would decrease the ability for Lookouts to safely and effectively maintain situational awareness of the activity area and increase safety risks due to increased pilot fatigue and accelerated fatigue-life of aircraft. Extending the length of the activity would also result in additional operational costs due to increased fuel consumption.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for explosive sonobuoys beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-4 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

#### 5.3.3.2 Explosive Torpedoes

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals and sea turtles from explosive torpedoes, as outlined in Table 5.3-5.

Procedural Mitigation Description
Stressor or Activity
Explosive torpedoes
Resource Protection Focus
Marine mammals
Sea turtles
Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform
<ul> <li>1 Lookout positioned in an aircraft</li> </ul>
• If additional platforms are participating in the activity, personnel positioned in those assets (e.g., safety
observers, evaluators) will support observing the mitigation zone for applicable biological resources while
performing their regular duties.
Mitigation Requirements
Mitigation zone:
<ul> <li>– 2,100 yd. around the intended impact location</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., during deployment of the target):</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Conduct passive acoustic monitoring for marine mammals; use information from detections to assist visual observations.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Visually observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals, sea turtles, and jellyfish aggregations; if observed, relocate or delay the start of firing.</li> </ul>
During the activity:
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals, sea turtles, and jellyfish aggregations; if observed, cease firing.</li> </ul>
• Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal or sea turtle sighting before or during
the activity:
– The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal or sea turtle to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial
start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing firing) until one of
the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone; (2) the
animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and
movement relative to the intended impact location; or (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any
additional sightings for 10 min. when the activity involves aircraft that have fuel constraints, or 30 min.
when the activity involves aircraft that are not typically fuel constrained.

### Table 5.3-5: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Torpedoes

### Table 5.3-5: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Torpedoes (continued)

#### Procedural Mitigation Description

- After completion of the activity (e.g., prior to maneuvering off station):
  - When practical (e.g., when platforms are not constrained by fuel restrictions or mission-essential followon commitments), observe the vicinity of where detonations occurred; if any injured or dead marine mammals or ESA-listed species are observed, follow established incident reporting procedures.
  - If additional platforms are supporting this activity (e.g., providing range clearance), these assets will assist in the visual observation of the area where detonations occurred.

In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the explosive torpedo mitigation zone was based on net explosive weight and the associated average ranges to PTS. When developing the mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy analyzed the potential for increasing the size of this mitigation zone. The Navy determined that the current mitigation zone is the largest area within which it is practical to implement mitigation for this activity; therefore, it will continue implementing this same mitigation zone under the Proposed Action.

The post-activity observations for explosive torpedoes are a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and will help the Navy determine if any resources were injured during the activity. The Navy will follow the incident reporting procedures outlined in Section 5.1.2.2.3 (Incident Reports) if an incident is detected at any time during the event, including during the post-activity observations. The Navy is clarifying in the table that it will require observation of the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity to ensure the area is clear of applicable biological resources. The Navy has always verified that the mitigation zone is visually clear prior to conducting explosive activities and is more clearly capturing this current practice in the mitigation measures for this activity. The Navy is adding a requirement that additional platforms already participating in the activity will support observing the mitigation zone before, during, and after the activity while performing their regular duties. Typically, when aircraft are firing explosive torpedoes, there are additional observation aircraft, support vessels (e.g., range craft for torpedo retrieval), or other safety aircraft in the vicinity. When available, having additional personnel support observations of the mitigation zone will help increase the likelihood of detecting biological resources.

Explosive torpedo activities involve detonations at a target located down range of the firing platform. Due to the distance between the mitigation zone and the observation platform, Lookouts will have a better likelihood of detecting large visual cues (e.g., whale blows or large pods of dolphins) than individual marine mammals, cryptic marine mammal species, and sea turtles. Some species of sea turtles forage on jellyfish, and some of the locations where explosive torpedo activities could occur support high densities of jellyfish throughout parts of the year. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence (including jellyfish aggregations) will further help avoid or reduce potential impacts on these resources within the mitigation zone. The post-activity observations for marine mammals and sea turtles will help the Navy determine if any resources were injured during the activity.

Bin E11 has the longest predicted impact ranges for explosive torpedoes used in the Study Area. For the largest explosive in bin E11, the mitigation zone extends beyond the ranges to 50 percent non-auditory injury and 50 percent mortality for sea turtles and marine mammals. The mitigation zone extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for sea turtles, mid-frequency cetaceans, and otariids, and into a portion of the average ranges to PTS for low-frequency cetaceans, high-frequency cetaceans, and phocids. The mitigation zone also extends into a portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and portion portion

marine mammals. Therefore, depending on the species, mitigation will help avoid or reduce all or a portion of the potential for exposure to mortality, non-auditory injury, PTS, and higher levels of TTS for the largest explosives in bin E11. Explosive torpedoes in smaller source bins (e.g., E8) have shorter predicted impact ranges; therefore, the mitigation zone will extend further beyond or cover a greater portion of the impact ranges for these explosives.

As described previously, the mitigation zone developed for this Draft Supplemental is based on the largest area within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation. It is not practical to increase this mitigation zone because observations within the margin of increase would be ineffective unless the Navy allocated additional platforms to observe for biological resources. The use of additional personnel and observation platforms would be unsustainable due to increased operational costs and an exceedance of the available manpower and resources for this activity. Adding aircraft to observe the mitigation zone could result in airspace conflicts with the event participants. This would either require the aircraft participating in the activity to modify their flights plans (which would reduce activity realism) or force the observation effectiveness). Adding vessels to observe the mitigation zone would increase safety risks due to the presence of observation vessels within the vicinity of explosive torpedoes.

Increasing the mitigation zone size would result in a larger area over which detonations would need to be ceased in response to a sighting, and therefore would likely increase the number of times detonations would be ceased and would extend the length of the activity. These impacts would significantly diminish event realism in a way that would prevent the activity from meeting its intended objectives. For example, the Navy conducts Torpedo (Explosive) Testing events to test the functionality of torpedoes and torpedo launch systems. These events often involve aircrews locating, approaching, and firing a torpedo on an artificial target. They require focused situational awareness of the activity area and continuous coordination between the participating platforms as required during military missions and combat operations. Extending the length of the activity would require aircraft to depart the area to refuel. If the firing aircraft departed the activity location to refuel, the aircrew would lose the ability to maintain situational awareness and effectively coordinate with other participating platforms. If multiple refueling events were required, the activity length would extend by two to five times or more, which would increase safety risks due to increased pilot fatigue and accelerated fatigue-life of aircraft. Therefore, an increase in mitigation would impede the Navy's ability to meet testing requirements per required acquisition milestones or on an as-needed basis to meet operational requirements. Extending the length of the activity would also result in additional operational costs due to increased fuel consumption.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for explosive torpedoes beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-5 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

### 5.3.3.3 Explosive Medium-Caliber and Large-Caliber Projectiles

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds from explosive gunnery activities, as outlined in Table 5.3-6.

### Table 5.3-6: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Medium-Caliber and Large-Caliber Projectiles

#### Procedural Mitigation Description

#### **Stressor or Activity**

Gunnery activities using explosive medium-caliber and large-caliber projectiles
 Mitigation applies to activities using a surface target

#### **Resource Protection Focus**

- Marine mammals
- Sea turtles

• Seabirds (marbled murrelets and short-tailed albatross)

#### Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform

- 1 Lookout on the vessel conducting the activity
  - For activities using explosive large-caliber projectiles, depending on the activity, the Lookout could be the same as the one described in Section 5.3.2.2 (Weapons Firing Noise)
- If additional platforms are participating in the activity, personnel positioned in those assets (e.g., safety observers, evaluators) will support observing the mitigation zone for applicable biological resources while performing their regular duties.

#### **Mitigation Requirements**

- Mitigation zones:
  - 200 yd. (for seabirds) or 600 yd. (for marine mammals and sea turtles) around the intended impact location for explosive medium-caliber projectiles
  - 1,000 yd. (for marine mammals and sea turtles) around the intended impact location for explosive largecaliber projectiles
- Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., when maneuvering on station):
  - Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.
  - Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds; if observed, relocate or delay the start of firing.
- During the activity:
  - Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds; if observed, cease firing.
- Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal, sea turtle, or seabird sighting before or during the activity:
  - The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal, sea turtle, or seabird to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing firing) until one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone;
    (2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the intended impact location; (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for 30 min. for vessel-based firing; or (4) for activities using mobile targets, the intended impact location has transited a distance equal to double that of the mitigation zone size beyond the location of the last sighting.
- After completion of the activity (e.g., prior to maneuvering off station):
  - When practical (e.g., when platforms are not constrained by fuel restrictions or mission-essential followon commitments), observe the vicinity of where detonations occurred; if any injured or dead marine mammals or ESA-listed species are observed, follow established incident reporting procedures.
  - If additional platforms are supporting this activity (e.g., providing range clearance), these assets will assist in the visual observation of the area where detonations occurred.

In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, explosive gunnery activity mitigation zones were based on guidance from the USFWS for seabirds and net explosive weight and the associate average ranges to PTS for marine mammals and sea turtles. When developing mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy analyzed the potential for increasing the size of these mitigation zones. The Navy identified an

opportunity to increase the marine mammal and sea turtle mitigation zone sizes by 400 yd. to enhance protections to the maximum extent practicable. These increases are reflected in Table 5.3-6. The marine mammal and sea turtle mitigation zones for explosive medium-caliber and large-caliber projectiles are now based on the largest areas within which it is practical to implement mitigation. The seabird mitigation zone remains consistent with USFWS guidance.

The Navy is clarifying in the table that it will require observation of the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity to ensure the area is clear of applicable biological resources. The Navy has always verified that the mitigation zone is visually clear prior to conducting explosive activities and is more clearly capturing this current practice in the mitigation measures for this activity. The Navy developed a new mitigation measure requiring the Lookout to observe the mitigation zone after completion of the activity. In accordance with the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS consultation requirements, the Navy currently conducts post-activity observations for some, but not all explosive activities. When developing the mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy determined that it could expand this requirement to other explosive events, when practical. The Navy is adding a requirement that additional platforms already participating in the activity will support observing the mitigation zone before, during, and after the activity while performing their regular duties. When available, having additional personnel support observations of the mitigation zone will help increase the likelihood of detecting biological resources. The Navy will follow the incident reporting procedures outlined in Section 5.1.2.2.3 (Incident Reports) if an incident is detected at any time during the event, including during the post-activity observations.

Large-caliber gunnery activities involve vessels firing projectiles at targets located up to 6 nautical miles (NM) down range. Medium-caliber gunnery activities in the Study Area involve vessels firing projectiles at targets located up to 4,000 yd. down range, although typically much closer. Lookouts will be more likely to detect large visual cues (e.g., whale blows or large pods of dolphins) than individual marine mammals, cryptic marine mammal species and sea turtles when observing mitigation zones located at the furthest firing distances. The Navy will implement larger mitigation zones for large-caliber gunnery activities than for medium-caliber gunnery activities for marine mammals and sea turtles due to the nature of how the activities are conducted. During large-caliber gunnery activities, Lookouts typically have access to high-powered binoculars mounted on the ship deck. This will enable observation of the distant mitigation zone in combination with hand-held binoculars and naked-eye scanning. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce potential impacts on these resources within the mitigation zones.

Due to the difficulty of differentiating bird species, the Navy will implement mitigation for all seabird species during explosive medium-caliber weapons firing. Although there is a low likelihood that marbled murrelets and short-tailed albatross will occur in locations where the Navy conducts medium-caliber gunnery activities, the mitigation will help the Navy further avoid or reduce potential impacts on these ESA-listed bird species, as well as other seabird species that could occur offshore. The Navy will not implement mitigation for seabirds during explosive large-caliber gunnery events because Lookouts would not be effective at detecting seabirds from the distant firing location, even with the use of high-powered binoculars.

The mitigation applies only to activities using surface targets. Most airborne targets are recoverable aerial drones that are not intended to be hit by ordnance. Given the speed of the projectiles and mobile target, and the long ranges that projectiles typically travel, it is not possible to definitively predict or to effectively observe where the projectile fragments will fall. For gunnery activities using explosive

medium-caliber and large-caliber projectiles, the potential military expended material fall zone can only be predicted within thousands of yards, which can be up to 6 NM from the firing location. These areas are too large to be effectively observed for marine mammals and sea turtles with the number of personnel and platforms available for this activity. The potential risk to marine mammals and sea turtles during events using airborne targets is limited to the animal being directly struck by falling military expended materials. There is no potential for direct impact from the explosives because the detonations occur in air. Based on the extremely low potential for projectile fragments to co-occur in space and time with a marine mammal or sea turtle at or near the surface of the water, the potential for a direct strike is negligible; therefore, mitigation for gunnery activities using airborne targets would not be effective at avoiding or reducing potential impacts.

Bin E5 (e.g., 5-in. projectiles) has the longest predicted impact ranges for explosive projectiles that apply to the 1,000 yd. mitigation zone. Bin E2 (e.g., 40-millimeter [mm] projectiles) has the longest predicted impact ranges for explosive projectiles that apply to the 600 yd. mitigation zone. The 1,000 yd. and 600 yd. mitigation zones extend beyond the respective ranges to 50 percent non-auditory injury and 50 percent mortality for sea turtles and marine mammals. The 1,000 yd. and 600 yd. mitigation zones extend beyond the respective ranges to PTS for sea turtles, low-frequency cetaceans, mid-frequency cetaceans, otariids, and phocids, and into a portion of the average ranges to PTS for high-frequency cetaceans. The mitigation zones also extend beyond or into a portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and marine mammals. Therefore, depending on the species, mitigation will help avoid or reduce all or a portion of the potential for exposure to mortality, non-auditory injury, PTS, and higher levels of TTS for the largest explosives in bin E5 and bin E2. Explosives in smaller source bins (e.g., E1) have shorter predicted impact ranges; therefore, the mitigation zones will extend further beyond or cover a greater portion of the impact ranges for these explosives.

As described previously, the mitigation zones for marine mammals and sea turtles developed for this Draft Supplemental are based on the largest areas within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation. It is not practical to increase these mitigation zones because observations within the margin of increase would be unsafe and ineffective. One of the mission-essential safety protocols for explosive gunnery activities is a requirement for event participants (including the Lookout) to maintain focus on the activity area to ensure safety of Navy personnel and equipment, and the public. The typical activity areas for medium-caliber and large-caliber gunnery activities coincide with the applicable mitigation zones; therefore, the Lookout can safely and effectively observe the mitigation zones for biological resources while simultaneously maintaining focus on the activity area. However, if the mitigation zone sizes increased, the Lookout would need to redirect attention to observe beyond the activity area. This would not meet the safety criteria since personnel would be required to direct attention away from mission requirements. Alternatively, the Navy would need to add personnel to serve as additional Lookouts on the existing observation platforms or allocate additional platforms to the activity to observe for biological resources. These actions would not be safe or sustainable due to an exceedance of manpower, resource, and space restrictions for these activities. Similarly, positioning platforms closer to the intended impact location would increase safety risks related to proximity to the detonation location and path of the explosive projectile.

Increasing the mitigation zone sizes would result in larger areas over which detonations would need to be ceased in response to a sighting, and therefore would likely increase the number of times firing would be ceased and would extend the length of the activity. These impacts would significantly diminish event realism in a way that would prevent activities from meeting their intended objectives. For
example, the Navy must train its gun crews to coordinate with other participating platforms (e.g., small boats launching a target, other firing platforms), locate and engage surface targets (e.g., remote controlled high-speed targets), and practice precise defensive marksmanship to disable threats.

Depending on the type of target being used, additional stopping of the activity could result in the target needing to be recovered and relaunched, which would cause a significant loss of training time. These types of impacts would reduce the number of opportunities that gun crews have to fire on the target and cause significant delays to the training schedule. Therefore, an increase in mitigation would impede the ability for gun crews to train and become proficient in using their weapons as required during military missions and combat operations and would prevent units from meeting their individual training and certification requirements (which would prevent them from deploying with the required level of readiness necessary to accomplish their missions). Extending the length of the activity would also result in additional operational costs due to increased fuel consumption.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for explosive medium-caliber and large-caliber projectiles beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-6 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

#### 5.3.3.4 Explosive Missiles

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals and sea turtles from explosive missiles, as outlined in Table 5.3-7.

Procedural Mitigation Description
Stressor or Activity
<ul> <li>Aircraft-deployed explosive missiles</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Mitigation applies to activities using a surface target</li> </ul>
Resource Protection Focus
Marine mammals
Sea turtles
Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform
<ul> <li>1 Lookout positioned in an aircraft</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>If additional platforms are participating in the activity, personnel positioned in those assets (e.g., safety</li> </ul>
observers, evaluators) will support observing the mitigation zone for applicable biological resources while
performing their regular duties.
Mitigation Requirements
Mitigation zone:
<ul> <li>– 2,000 yd. around the intended impact location</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., during a fly-over of the mitigation zone):</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, relocate or delay the start of firing.</li> </ul>
During the activity:
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, cease firing.</li> </ul>

## Table 5.3-7: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Missiles

## Table 5.3-7: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Missiles (continued)

#### Procedural Mitigation Description

- Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal or sea turtle sighting before or during the activity:
  - The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal or sea turtle to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing firing) until one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone; (2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the intended impact location; or (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for 10 min. when the activity involves aircraft that have fuel constraints, or 30 min. when the activity involves aircraft delayed.
- After completion of the activity (e.g., prior to maneuvering off station):
  - When practical (e.g., when platforms are not constrained by fuel restrictions or mission-essential follow-on commitments), observe the vicinity of where detonations occurred; if any injured or dead marine mammals or ESA-listed species are observed, follow established incident reporting procedures.
  - If additional platforms are supporting this activity (e.g., providing range clearance), these assets will assist in the visual observation of the area where detonations occurred.

In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the explosive missile mitigation zone was based on charge size and associated average ranges to PTS. When developing the mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy analyzed the potential for increasing the size of this mitigation zone. The Navy determined that the current mitigation zone for explosive missiles is the largest area within which it is practical to implement mitigation for this activity; therefore, it will continue implementing this same mitigation zone under the Proposed Action. The Navy is clarifying in the table that it will require observation of the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity to ensure the area is clear of applicable biological resources. The Navy has always verified that the mitigation zone is visually clear prior to conducting explosive activities and is more clearly capturing this current practice in the mitigation measures for this activity. The Navy developed a new mitigation measure requiring the Lookout to observe the mitigation zone after completion of the activity. In accordance with the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS consultation requirements, the Navy currently conducts post-activity observations for some, but not all explosive activities. When developing the mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy determined that it could expand this requirement to other explosive activities for enhanced consistency and to help determine if any resources were injured during explosive events, when practical. The Navy is adding a requirement that additional platforms already participating in the activity will support observing the mitigation zone before, during, and after the activity while performing their regular duties. Typically, when aircraft are firing explosive munitions there are additional observation aircraft, multiple aircraft firing munitions, or other safety aircraft in the vicinity. For example, during typical explosive missile exercises, two aircraft circle the activity location. One aircraft clears the intended impact location while the other fires, and vice versa. A third aircraft is typically present for safety or proficiency inspections. When available, having additional personnel support observations of the mitigation zone will help increase the likelihood of detecting biological resources. The Navy will follow the incident reporting procedures outlined in Section 5.1.2.2.3 (Incident Reports) if an incident is detected at any time during the event, including during the post-activity observations.

Missile exercises conducted under the Proposed Action involve firing munitions at a target typically located up to 15 NM down range, and infrequently up to 75 NM down range. Due to the distance between the mitigation zone and the observation platform, the Lookout will have a better likelihood of

detecting marine mammals and sea turtles during close-range observations and are less likely to detect these resources once positioned at the firing location, particularly individual marine mammals, cryptic marine mammal species, and sea turtles. There is a chance that animals could enter the mitigation zone after the aircraft conducts its close-range mitigation zone observations and before firing begins (once the aircraft has transited to its firing position). Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce potential impacts on these resources within the mitigation zones.

The mitigation applies to aircraft-deployed missiles because aircraft can fly over the intended impact area prior to commencing firing. Mitigation would be ineffective for vessel-deployed missiles because of the inability for a Lookout to detect marine mammals or sea turtles from a vessel from the distant firing position. It would not be effective or practical to have a vessel conduct close-range observations of the mitigation zone prior to firing due to the length of time it would take to complete observations and transit back to the firing position, and the costs associated with increased fuel consumption.

The mitigation applies to activities using surface targets. Most airborne targets are recoverable aerial drones that are not intended to be hit by ordnance. For example, telemetry-configured anti-air missiles used in training are designed to detonate or simulate a detonation near a target, but not as a result of a direct strike on a target. Given the speed of missiles and mobile targets, the high altitudes involved, and the long ranges that missiles typically travel, it is not possible to definitively predict or to effectively observe where the missile fragments will fall. The potential expended material fall zone can only be predicted within tens of miles for long range events, which can be 75 NM from the firing location; and thousands of yards for short range events, which can occur 15 NM from the firing location. These areas are too large to be effectively observed for marine mammals and sea turtles with the number of personnel and platforms available for this activity. The potential risk to marine mammals and sea turtles during events using airborne targets is limited to the animal being directly struck by falling military expended materials. There is no potential for direct impact from explosives because the detonations occur in air. Based on the extremely low potential for military expended materials to co-occur in space and time with a marine mammal or sea turtle at or near the surface of the water, the potential for a direct strike is negligible; therefore, mitigation would not be effective at avoiding or reducing impacts.

Bin E10 (e.g., Harpoon missiles) has the longest predicted impact ranges for explosive missiles used in the Study Area. The 2,000 yd. mitigation zone extends beyond the ranges to 50 percent non-auditory injury and 50 percent mortality for sea turtles and marine mammals. The mitigation zone extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for sea turtles, low-frequency cetaceans, mid-frequency cetaceans, otariids, and phocids, and into a portion of the average range to PTS for high-frequency cetaceans. The mitigation zone also extends beyond or into a portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and marine mammals. Therefore, depending on the species, mitigation will help avoid or reduce all or a portion of the potential for exposure to mortality, non-auditory injury, PTS, and higher levels of TTS for the largest explosives in bin E10.

As described previously, the mitigation zone developed for this Draft Supplemental is based on the largest area within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation. It is not practical to increase the mitigation zone because observations within the margin of increase would be unsafe and ineffective unless the Navy allocated additional platforms to the activity to observe for biological resources. The use of additional personnel and equipment (e.g., aircraft) would be unsustainable due to increased operational costs and an exceedance of the available manpower and resources for this activity. Adding aircraft to observe the mitigation zone could result in airspace conflicts with the event

participants. This would either require the aircraft conducting the activity to modify their flights plans (which would reduce activity realism) or force the observing aircraft to position itself a safe distance away from the activity area (which would decrease observation effectiveness). Similarly, positioning platforms closer to the intended impact location (as would be required if mitigation applied to vesseldeployed missiles) would increase safety risks related to proximity to the detonation location and path of the explosive missile.

Increasing the mitigation zone size would result in larger areas over which firing would need to be ceased in response to a sighting, and therefore would likely increase the number of times detonations would be ceased and would extend the length of the activity. These impacts would significantly diminish event realism in a way that would prevent the activity from meeting its intended objectives. Explosive missile events require focused situational awareness of the activity area and continuous coordination between the participating platforms as required during military missions and combat operations. For activities using missiles in the larger net explosive weight category, the flyover distance between the mitigation zone and the firing location can extend upwards of 75 NM; therefore, even aircraft with larger fuel capacities would need to depart the activity area to refuel if the length of the activity was extended. If the firing aircraft departed the activity location to refuel, the aircrew would lose the ability to maintain situational awareness of the activity area and effectively coordinate with other participating platforms. If multiple refueling events were required, the activity length would extend by two to five times or more, which would increase safety risks due to increased pilot fatigue and accelerated fatiguelife of aircraft. These types of impacts would cause a significant loss of training or testing time, reduce the number of opportunities that aircrews have to fire on the target, and cause a significant delay to the training or testing schedule. Therefore, an increase in mitigation would impede the ability for aircrews to train and become proficient in using their weapons as required during military missions and combat operations, would prevent units from meeting their individual training and certification requirements (which would prevent them from deploying with the required level of readiness necessary to accomplish their missions), and would impede the ability of program managers and weapons system acquisition programs to meet testing requirements per required acquisition milestones or on an as-needed basis to meet operational requirements. Extending the length of the activity would also result in additional operational costs due to increased fuel consumption.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for explosive missiles beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-7 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

#### 5.3.3.5 Explosive Bombs

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals and sea turtles from explosive bombs, as outlined in Table 5.3-8. In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the explosive bombing mitigation zone was based on net explosive weight and the associated average ranges to PTS. When developing the mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy analyzed the potential for increasing the size of this mitigation zone. The Navy determined that the current mitigation zone for explosive bombs is the largest area within which it is practical to implement mitigation for this activity; therefore, it will continue implementing this same mitigation zone under the Proposed Action.

## Table 5.3-8: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Bombs

#### Procedural Mitigation Description

#### Stressor or Activity

Explosive bombs

#### **Resource Protection Focus**

- Marine mammals
- Sea turtles

#### Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform

- 1 Lookout positioned in the aircraft conducting the activity
- If additional platforms are participating in the activity, personnel positioned in those assets (e.g., safety observers, evaluators) will support observing the mitigation zone for applicable biological resources while performing their regular duties.

#### **Mitigation Requirements**

- Mitigation zone:
  - 2,500 yd. around the intended target
- Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., when arriving on station):
  - Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.
  - Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, relocate or delay the start
    of bomb deployment.
- During the activity (e.g., during target approach):
  - Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, cease bomb deployment.
- Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal or sea turtle sighting before or during the activity:
  - The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal or sea turtle to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing bomb deployment) until one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone;
    (2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the intended target; (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for 10 min.; or (4) for activities using mobile targets, the intended target has transited a distance equal to double that of the mitigation zone size beyond the location of the last sighting.
- After completion of the activity (e.g., prior to maneuvering off station):
  - When practical (e.g., when platforms are not constrained by fuel restrictions or mission-essential followon commitments), observe the vicinity of where detonations occurred; if any injured or dead marine mammals or ESA-listed species are observed, follow established incident reporting procedures.
  - If additional platforms are supporting this activity (e.g., providing range clearance), these assets will assist in the visual observation of the area where detonations occurred.

The Navy is clarifying in the table that it will require observation of the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity to ensure the area is clear of applicable biological resources. The Navy has always verified that the mitigation zone is visually clear prior to conducting explosive activities and is more clearly capturing this current practice in the mitigation measures for this activity. The Navy developed a new mitigation measure requiring the Lookout to observe the mitigation zone after completion of this activity. In accordance with the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS consultation requirements, the Navy currently conducts post-activity observations for some, but not all explosive activities. When developing mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy determined that it could expand this requirement to other explosive activities for enhanced consistency and to help determine if any resources were injured during explosive events, when practical. The Navy is adding a requirement that additional platforms already participating in the activity will support observing the mitigation zone before, during, and after

the activity while performing their regular duties. Typically, when aircraft are firing explosive munitions there are additional observation aircraft, multiple aircraft firing munitions, or other safety aircraft in the vicinity. When available, having additional personnel support observations of the mitigation zone will help increase the likelihood of detecting biological resources. The Navy will follow the incident reporting procedures outlined in Section 5.1.2.2.3 (Incident Reports) if an incident is detected at any time during the event, including during the post-activity observations.

Bombing exercises involve an aircraft deploying munitions at a surface target located beneath the firing platform. During target approach, aircraft maintain a relatively steady altitude of approximately 1,500 ft. Lookouts, by necessity for safety and mission success, primarily focus their attention on the water surface surrounding the intended detonation location (i.e., the mitigation zone). Being positioned in an aircraft gives the Lookout a good vantage point for observing marine mammals and sea turtles throughout the mitigation zone. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce potential impacts on these resources within the mitigation zone.

Bin E10 (e.g., 500 lb. bomb) has the longest predicted impact ranges for explosive bombs used in the Study Area. The 2,500 yd. mitigation zone extends beyond the ranges to 50 percent non-auditory injury and 50 percent mortality for sea turtles and marine mammals. The mitigation zone extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for sea turtles, low-frequency cetaceans, mid-frequency cetaceans, otariids, and phocids, and into a portion of the average range to PTS for high-frequency cetaceans. The mitigation zone also extends beyond or into a portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and marine mammals. Therefore, depending on the species, mitigation will help avoid or reduce all or a portion of the potential for exposure to mortality, non-auditory injury, PTS, and higher levels of TTS for the largest bombs in bin E10. Smaller bombs in bin E10 (e.g., 250 lb. bomb) have shorter predicted impact ranges; therefore, the mitigation zone will extend further beyond or cover a greater portion of the impact ranges for these explosives.

As described previously, the mitigation zone developed for this Draft Supplemental is based on the largest area within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation. It is not practical to increase this mitigation zone because observations within the margin of increase would be unsafe and ineffective unless the Navy allocated additional platforms to the activity to observe for biological resources. The use of additional personnel and aircraft would be unsustainable due to increased operational costs and an exceedance of the available manpower and resources for this activity. Adding aircraft to observe the mitigation zone could result in airspace conflicts with the event participants. This would either require the aircraft participating in the activity to modify their flights plans (which would reduce activity area (which would decrease observation effectiveness). Adding vessels to observe the mitigation zone would increase safety risks due to the presence of observation vessels within the vicinity of the intended explosive bomb detonation location.

Increasing the mitigation zone would result in a larger area over which explosive bomb deployment would need to be ceased in response to a sighting, and therefore would likely increase the number of times explosive bombing activities would be ceased and would extend the length of the activity. These impacts would significantly diminish event realism in a way that would prevent the activity from meeting its intended objectives. For example, critical components of a Bombing Exercise Air-to-Surface training activity are the assembly, loading, delivery, and assessment of an explosive bomb. The activity requires focused situational awareness of the activity area and continuous coordination between multiple training components. The training exercise starts with ground personnel, who must practice the building

and loading of explosive munitions. Training includes the safe handling of explosive material, configuring munitions to precise specifications, and loading munitions onto aircraft. Aircrew must then identify a target and safely deliver fused munitions, discern if the bomb was assembled correctly, and determine bomb damage assessments based on how and where the explosive detonated. Extending the length of the activity would require aircraft to depart the area to refuel. If the firing aircraft departed the activity area to refuel, aircrew would lose the ability to maintain situational awareness of the activity area, effectively coordinate with other participating platforms, and complete all training components as required during military missions and combat operations. If multiple refueling events were required, the activity length would be extended by two to five times or more, which would cause a significant loss of training time and would increase safety risks due to increased pilot fatigue and accelerated fatigue-life of aircraft. This would reduce the number of opportunities that aircrews have to approach targets and deploy bombs, which would cause a significant delay to the training schedule. Therefore, an increase in mitigation would impede the ability for aircrews to train and become proficient in using their weapons. This would prevent units from meeting their individual training and certification requirements and deploying with the required level of readiness necessary to accomplish their missions. Extending the length of the activity would also result in additional operational costs due to increased fuel consumption.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for explosive bombs beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-8 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

## 5.3.3.6 Explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Activities

The Navy has developed new procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals and sea turtles from explosive mine countermeasure and neutralization activities, as outlined in Table 5.3-9. The mitigation applies to all explosive mine countermeasure and neutralization activities except those that involve the use of Navy divers, which are discussed in Section 5.3.3.7 (Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities Involving Navy Divers).

The types of charges used in these activities are positively controlled, which means the detonation is controlled by the personnel conducting the activity and is not authorized until the mitigation zone is clear at the time of detonation. When developing the new mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy analyzed a range of potential mitigation zone sizes for the type of explosives used during explosive mine countermeasure and neutralization activities under the Proposed Action. The Navy will adopt mitigation zones that are consistent with the ones used during comparable activities in other at-sea training and testing Study Areas. The mitigation zones for explosive mine countermeasure and neutralization activities conducted under the Proposed Action. When available, having additional personnel support observations of the mitigation zone will help increase the likelihood of detecting biological resources. The post-activity observations will help the Navy determine if any resources were injured during the activity. The Navy will follow the incident reporting procedures outlined in Section 5.1.2.2.3 (Incident Reports) if an incident is detected at any time during the event, including during the post-activity observations.

## Table 5.3-9: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Activities

Procedural Mitigation Description
Stressor or Activity
<ul> <li>Explosive mine countermeasure and neutralization activities</li> </ul>
Resource Protection Focus
Marine mammals
Sea turtles
Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform
• 1 Lookout positioned on a vessel or in an aircraft when implementing the smaller mitigation zone
• 2 Lookouts (one positioned in an aircraft and one on a small boat) when implementing the larger mitigation
zone
• If additional platforms are participating in the activity, personnel positioned in those assets (e.g., safety
observers, evaluators) will support observing the mitigation zone for applicable biological resources while
performing their regular duties.
Mitigation Requirements
Mitigation zones:
$-$ 600 yd. around the detonation site for activities using $\leq$ 5 lb. net explosive weight
<ul> <li>– 2,100 yd. around the detonation site for activities using &gt; 5–60 lb. net explosive weight</li> </ul>
• Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., when maneuvering on station; typically, 10 min. when the activity
involves aircraft that have fuel constraints, or 30 min. when the activity involves aircraft that are not typically
fuel constrained):
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, relocate or delay the start of detonations.</li> </ul>
During the activity:
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, cease detonations.</li> </ul>
• Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal or sea turtle sighting before or during the activity:
<ul> <li>The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal or sea turtle to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial</li> <li>start of the estimation (build begins the start) or during the estimation (build begins determined by until build begins the start).</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone;</li> <li>(2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to detonation site; or (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional</li> </ul>
sightings for 10 min. when the activity involves aircraft that have fuel constraints, or 30 min. when the activity involves aircraft that are not typically fuel constrained.
After completion of the activity (typically 10 min. when the activity involves aircraft that have fuel
constraints, or 30 min. when the activity involves aircraft that are not typically fuel constrained):
- Observe the vicinity of where detonations occurred; if any injured or dead marine mammals or ESA-listed
species are observed, follow established incident reporting procedures.
<ul> <li>If additional platforms are supporting this activity (e.g., providing range clearance), these assets will assist in the visual observation of the area where detonations occurred.</li> </ul>
For the 600 vd mitigation zone, the small observation area and provimity to the observation platform

For the 600 yd. mitigation zone, the small observation area and proximity to the observation platform will result in a high likelihood that the Lookout will be able to detect marine mammals and sea turtles throughout the mitigation zone (regardless of the type of observation platform used). For the 2,100 yd. mitigation zone, the Lookout on a small boat will be more likely to detect large visual cues (e.g., whale blows or large pods of dolphins) or splashes of individual marine mammals than cryptic marine mammal

species and sea turtles near the mitigation zone perimeter, while the Lookout positioned in an aircraft will help increase the chance that marine mammals and sea turtles will be detected throughout the mitigation zone. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce potential impacts on these resources within the mitigation zones.

Bin E7 (e.g., 60 lb. mine) has the longest predicted impact ranges for explosives that apply to the 2,100 yd. mitigation zone. Bin E4 (e.g., 5 lb. net explosive weight charge) has the longest predicted impact ranges for explosives that apply to the 600 yd. mitigation zone. The 2,100 yd. and 600 yd. mitigation zones extend beyond the respective ranges to 50 percent non-auditory injury and 50 percent mortality for sea turtles and marine mammals. The 2,100 yd. mitigation zone extends beyond the respective average ranges to PTS for sea turtles, low-frequency cetaceans, mid-frequency cetaceans, otariids, and phocids, and into a portion of the average ranges to PTS for high-frequency cetaceans. The 600 yd. mitigation zone extends beyond the respective average ranges to PTS for sea turtles, mid-frequency cetaceans, and otariids, and into a portion of the average ranges to PTS for sea turtles, mid-frequency cetaceans, and otariids, and into a portion of the average ranges to PTS for low-frequency cetaceans, high-frequency cetaceans, and phocids. The mitigation zones also extend into a portion of the average ranges to PTS for low-frequency cetaceans, high-frequency cetaceans, and phocids. The mitigation zones also extend into a portion of the average ranges to TTS for sea turtles and marine mammals. Therefore, depending on the species, mitigation will help avoid or reduce all or a portion of the potential for exposure to mortality, non-auditory injury, PTS, and higher levels of TTS for the largest explosives in bin E7 and bin E4. Smaller explosives within bin E7 and bin E4 have shorter predicted impact ranges; therefore, the mitigation zones will cover a greater portion of the impact ranges for these explosives.

As described previously, the mitigation zones developed for this Draft Supplemental are based on the largest areas within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation. It is not practical to increase these mitigation zones because observations within the margin of increase would be unsafe and ineffective unless the Navy allocated additional platforms to the activity to observe for biological resources. The use of additional personnel and equipment (e.g., small boats, aircraft) would be unsustainable due to increased operational costs and an exceedance of available manpower and resources for this activity. Adding aircraft to observe the mitigation zone could result in airspace conflicts with the event participants. This would either require the aircraft conducting the activity to modify their flights plans (which would reduce activity realism) or force the observation effectiveness). Adding vessels to observe the mitigation zone would increase safety risks due to the presence observation vessels within the vicinity of detonations.

Increasing the mitigation zone sizes would result in larger areas over which firing would need to be ceased in response to a sighting, and therefore would likely increase the number of times detonations would be ceased and would extend the length of the activity. These impacts would significantly diminish realism in a way that would prevent the activity from meeting its intended objectives. For example, Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing events require focused situational awareness of the activity area and coordination of tactics between amphibious warfare ships, mine warfare ships, surface combatants, and rotary-wing aircraft crews to ensure systems can effectively neutralize threat mines and mine-like objects. During these events, personnel evaluate the system's ability to detect and destroy mines from an airborne mine countermeasures-capable rotary-wing aircraft in advance of delivery to the fleet for operational use. Extending the length of these activities would require aircraft to depart the activity area to refuel. If multiple refueling events were required, the length of the activity would be extended by two to five times or more. This would decrease the ability for Lookouts to safely

and effectively maintain situational awareness of the activity area and would increase safety risks due to increased pilot fatigue and accelerated fatigue-life of aircraft.

These types of impacts would result in a significant loss of testing time (which would reduce the Navy's ability to validate whether mine neutralization systems perform as expected) and cause a significant delay to the testing schedule. Therefore, an increase in mitigation would impede the ability of program managers and weapons system acquisition programs to meet testing requirements per required acquisition milestones or on an as-needed basis to meet operational requirements. Extending the length of the activities would also result in additional operational costs due to increased fuel consumption.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for explosive mine countermeasure and neutralization activities beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-9 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

#### 5.3.3.7 Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities Involving Navy Divers

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals, seabirds, and fish from explosive mine neutralization activities involving Navy divers as outlined in Table 5.3-10. Navy divers participating in these activities may be explosive ordnance disposal personnel.

## Table 5.3-10: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities Involving Navy Divers

Procedural Mitigation Description			
Stressor or Activity			
Explosive mine neutralization activities involving Navy divers			
Resource Protection Focus			
Marine mammals			
<ul> <li>Seabirds (marbled murrelets)</li> </ul>			
Fish (bull trout and salmonids)			
Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform			
<ul> <li>2 Lookouts on one small boat for activities using &lt; 0.1 lb. net explosive weight, one of which will be a Navy biologist</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>2 Lookouts on two small boats with one Lookout each, one of which will be a Navy biologist, for activities using &gt; 0.5–2.5 lb. net explosive weight</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>All divers placing the charges on mines will support the Lookouts while performing their regular duties and will report applicable sightings to the lead Lookout, the supporting small boat, or the Range Safety Officer.</li> <li>If additional platforms are participating in the activity, personnel positioned in those assets (e.g., safety</li> </ul>			
observers, evaluators) will support observing the mitigation zone for applicable biological resources while performing their regular duties.			
Mitigation Requirements			
Mitigation zones:			
<ul> <li>100 yd. (for seabirds) around the detonation site during activities using &lt; 0.1 lb. net explosive weight</li> </ul>			
<ul> <li>400 yd. (seabirds) or 500 yd. (marine mammals) around the detonation site during activities using &gt; 0.5–</li> <li>2.5 lb. net explosive weight</li> </ul>			
• Prior to the initial start of the activity (starting 30 min. before the first planned detonation):			
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.</li> </ul>			

## Table 5.3-10: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities InvolvingNavy Divers (continued)

#### Procedural Mitigation Description

- Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and seabirds; if observed, relocate or delay the start of detonations.
- Pre-event observations of the mitigation zones for seabirds will include naked eye scanning along transect lines no more than 50 meters (m) wide using vessel speeds between 5 and 10 knots.
- The Navy will ensure the area is clear of marine mammals for 30 min. prior to commencing a detonation.
- A Navy biologist will serve as the lead Lookout and will make the final determination that the mitigation zone is clear of any biological resource sightings prior to the commencement of a detonation. The Navy biologist will maintain radio communication with the unit conducting the event and the other Lookout.
- During the activity:
  - Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and seabirds; if observed, cease detonations.
  - To the maximum extent practicable depending on mission requirements, safety, and environmental conditions, boats will position themselves near the mid-point of the mitigation zone radius (but outside of the detonation plume and human safety zone), will position themselves on opposite sides of the detonation location (when two boats are used), and will travel in a circular pattern around the detonation location with one Lookout observing inward toward the detonation site and the other observing outward toward the perimeter of the mitigation zone.
  - The Navy will use only positively controlled charges (i.e., no time-delay fuses).
  - The Navy will use the smallest practicable charge size for each activity.
  - Activities will be conducted in Beaufort Sea state number 2 conditions or better and will not be conducted in low visibility conditions.
- Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal or seabird sighting before or during the activity:
  - The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal or seabird to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing detonations) until one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone;
    (2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the detonation site; or (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for 30 min.
- After each detonation and the completion of an activity (for 30 min):
  - Observe the vicinity of where detonations occurred and immediately downstream of the detonation location; if any injured or dead marine mammals or ESA-listed species are observed, follow established incident reporting procedures.
  - If additional platforms are supporting this activity (e.g., providing range clearance), these assets will assist in the visual observation of the area where detonations occurred.
  - If any injured or dead seabirds or fish are observed, notify the appropriate Navy Region Environmental Director, Navy Pacific Fleet Environmental Office, and local base wildlife biologist and include information on the number of adults or juveniles and species, if possible.
  - The Navy will submit a mitigation summary report to the USFWS after the completion of each activity.

# Table 5.3-10: Procedural Mitigation for Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities InvolvingNavy Divers (continued)

#### Procedural Mitigation Description

- Additional requirements:
  - At the Hood Canal Explosive Ordnance Disposal Range and Crescent Harbor Explosive Ordnance Disposal Range, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to conducting explosive mine neutralization activities involving the use of Navy divers.
  - At the Hood Canal Explosive Ordnance Disposal Range, during February, March, and April (the juvenile migration period for Hood Canal summer-run chum), the Navy will not use > 0.5–2.5 lb. net explosive weight detonations.
  - At the Hood Canal Explosive Ordnance Disposal Range, during August, September, and October (the adult migration period for Hood Canal summer-run chum and Puget Sound Chinook), the Navy will avoid using > 0.5–2.5 lb. net explosive weight detonations to the maximum extent practicable unless necessitated by mission requirements.
- At the Crescent Harbor Explosive Ordnance Disposal Range, the Navy will conduct explosive activities at least 1,000 m from the closest point of land to avoid or reduce impacts on fish (e.g., bull trout) in nearshore habitat areas.

In the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, the marine mammal mitigation zone for explosive mine neutralization activities involving Navy divers was based on net explosive weight and the associated average ranges to PTS. The seabird mitigation zones were based on guidance from the USFWS. Mitigation does not apply to sea turtles or short-tailed albatross because they are not likely to occur at the locations where the Navy conducts explosive mine neutralization activities involving Navy divers in the Study Area. When developing the mitigation for this Draft Supplemental, the Navy analyzed the potential for increasing the size of the marine mammal mitigation zone. The Navy identified an opportunity to increase the marine mammal mitigation zone by 100 yd. to enhance protections to the maximum extent practicable. This increase is reflected in Table 5.3-10. The marine mammal mitigation zone for explosive mine neutralization activities involving the use of Navy divers is now based on the largest area within which it is practical to implement mitigation for the charge sizes used under the Proposed Action. The seabird mitigation zones remain consistent with USFWS guidance. The post-activity observations are a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and will help the Navy determine if any resources were injured during the activity. The Navy will follow the incident reporting procedures outlined in Section 5.1.2.2.3 (Incident Reports) if an incident is detected at any time during the event, including during the post-activity observations.

The Navy is clarifying in the table that it will require observation of the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity to ensure the area is clear of applicable biological resources. The Navy has always verified that the mitigation zone is visually clear prior to conducting explosive activities and is more clearly capturing this current practice in the mitigation measures for this activity.

The charges used during explosive mine neutralization activities involving Navy divers in the Study Area are all positively controlled, which means that the detonation is controlled by the personnel conducting the activity and is not authorized until the area is clear at the time of detonation. This will allow Lookouts time to continuously observe the mitigation zone for biological resources right up to the point of detonation. By using the smallest practicable positive control charge for each activity (e.g., using 1.5 lb. net explosive weight in place of 2.5 lb. net explosive weight if the training objective can still be met), the Navy will be able to minimize potential impacts while maintaining the ability to accomplish the

required training objectives. The pre-activity observations will typically entail a line transect survey (with each transect being no more than approximately 50 m wide) at speeds ranging between approximately 5–10 knots. The primary Lookouts for this activity will not include the boat drivers; however, the boat drivers will support the Lookouts while performing their regular duties. The small observation area and proximity to observation platforms will result in a high likelihood that Lookouts will be able to detect marine mammals throughout the mitigation zone. Observing for indicators of marine mammal presence will further help avoid or reduce impacts on these resources within the mitigation zone.

Conducting activities in Beaufort sea state number 2 conditions or better (i.e., good visibility conditions) and having the Navy divers, boat drivers, and other personnel (typically four to five people per unit) support the Lookouts while performing their regular duties will increase the likelihood that marine mammals and seabirds will be detected prior to and during the activity. Due to the difficulty of differentiating bird species, the Navy will implement mitigation for all seabird species during this activity. The mitigation for fish will help the Navy avoid or reduce impacts on bull trout year-round at the Crescent Harbor Explosive Ordnance Disposal Range and during seasonal salmonid migrations at the Hood Canal Explosive Ordnance Disposal Range.

Bin E3 has the longest predicted impact ranges for explosives used for these activities in the Study Area. The 500 yd. mitigation zone extends beyond the respective ranges to 50 percent non-auditory injury and 50 percent mortality for marine mammals. The mitigation zone extends beyond the average ranges to PTS for low-frequency cetaceans, mid-frequency cetaceans, and otariids, and into a portion of the average ranges to PTS for high-frequency cetaceans and phocids. The mitigation zone also extends beyond or into a portion of the average ranges to TTS for marine mammals. Therefore, depending on the species, mitigation will help avoid or reduce all or a portion of the potential for exposure to mortality, non-auditory injury, PTS, and higher levels of TTS for the largest explosives in bin E3. Smaller explosives within bin E3 have shorter predicted impact ranges; therefore, the mitigation zones will cover a greater portion of the impact ranges for these explosives.

As described previously, the marine mammal mitigation zone developed for this Draft Supplemental is based on the largest area within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation. It is not practical to increase the mitigation zone because observations within the margin of increase would be unsafe and ineffective unless the Navy allocated additional platforms to the activity to observe for biological resources. Because mine neutralization activities involve training Navy divers in the safe handling of explosive charges, one of the mission-essential safety protocols required of all event participants, including Lookouts, is to maintain focus on the activity area to ensure safety of personnel and equipment. The typical mine neutralization activity area coincides with the marine mammal mitigation zone size developed for this Draft Supplemental; therefore, Lookouts can safely and effectively observe the mitigation zones for biological resources while simultaneously maintaining focus on the activity area. However, if the marine mammal mitigation zone size increased, Lookouts would need to redirect their attention beyond the activity area. This would not meet the safety criteria since personnel would be required to direct their attention away from mission requirements. Alternatively, the Navy would need to add personnel to serve as additional Lookouts on the existing observation platforms or allocate additional platforms to the activity to observe for biological resources. These actions would not be safe or sustainable due to an exceedance of manpower, resource, and space restrictions for these activities.

Increasing the mitigation zone sizes would result in larger areas over which detonations would need to be ceased in response to a sighting, and therefore would likely increase the number of times

detonations would be ceased. This would extend the length of the activities and cause significant safety risks for Navy divers and loss of training time. Ceasing an activity (e.g., fuse initiation) with divers in the water would have safety implications for diver air consumption and bottom time. It would also impede the ability for Navy divers to complete the training exercise with the focused endurance as required during military missions and combat operations. These impacts would significantly diminish event realism in a way that would prevent activities from meeting their intended objectives. For example, the number of opportunities that divers would have to locate and neutralize mines would be reduced. Divers would then not be able to gain skill proficiency in precise identification and evaluation of a threat mine, safe handling of explosive material during charge placement, and effective charge detonation or fuse initiation. Mine neutralization activities involving the use of Navy divers only take place during daylight hours for safety reasons; therefore, extending the length of the activity could delay the activity into the next day or next several days, which would significantly impact training schedules for all participating platforms. Therefore, an increase in mitigation would impede the ability for Navy divers to train and become proficient in mine neutralization and would prevent units from meeting their individual training and certification requirements (which would prevent them from deploying with the required level of readiness necessary to accomplish their missions).

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for explosive mine neutralization activities involving Navy divers beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-10 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

## 5.3.4 Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors

The Navy will implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce potential impacts on biological resources from the physical disturbance and strike stressors or activities discussed in the sections below. Section 3.4.2.4 (Impacts from Physical Disturbance and Strike), Section 3.5.2.4 (Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors), and Section 3.6.2.4 (Physical Disturbance and Strike Stressors) provide a full analysis of the potential impacts of physical disturbance and strikes on marine mammals, sea turtles, and birds, respectively. In addition to procedural mitigation, the Navy will implement mitigation for physical disturbance and strikes to prohibit or limit certain activities in certain locations (e.g., within a specified distance from shore). Mitigation area requirements for physical disturbance and strike stressors are detailed in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment).

## 5.3.4.1 Vessel Movement

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce the potential for vessel strikes of marine mammals and sea turtles, as outlined in Table 5.3-11.

## Table 5.3-11: Procedural Mitigation for Vessel Movement

#### Procedural Mitigation Description

#### Stressor or Activity

- Vessel movement
  - The mitigation will not be applied if: (1) the vessel's safety is threatened, (2) the vessel is restricted in its ability to maneuver (e.g., during launching and recovery of aircraft or landing craft, during towing activities, when mooring, during Transit Protection Program exercises or other events involving escort vessels), (3) the vessel is operated autonomously, or (4) when impractical based on mission requirements (e.g., during test body retrieval by range craft).

#### **Resource Protection Focus**

Marine mammals

Sea turtles

#### Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform

#### • 1 Lookout on the vessel that is underway

## Mitigation Requirements

- Mitigation zones:
   500 yd. (for surface ships) around whales
  - 200 yd. (for surface ships) around other marine mammals (except bow-riding dolphins and pinnipeds hauled out man-made navigational structures, port structures, and vessels)
  - 100 yd. (for small boats, such as range craft) around marine mammals (except bow-riding dolphins and pinnipeds hauled out man-made navigational structures, port structures, and vessels)
  - Within the vicinity of sea turtles
- During the activity:
  - When underway, observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, maneuver to maintain distance.
- Additional requirements:
  - Prior to Small Boat Attack exercises at Naval Station Everett, Naval Base Kitsap Bangor, or Naval Base Kitsap Bremerton, Navy event planners will coordinate with Navy biologists during the event planning process. Navy biologists will work with NMFS to determine the likelihood of marine mammal presence in the planned training location. Navy biologists will notify event planners of the likelihood of species presence as they plan specific details of the event (e.g., timing, location, duration). The Navy will provide additional environmental awareness training to event participants. The training will alert participating ship and aircraft crews to the possible presence of marine mammals in the training location. Lookouts will use the information to assist their visual observation of applicable mitigation zones and to aid in the implementation of procedural mitigation.
  - If a marine mammal or sea turtle vessel strike occurs, the Navy will follow the established incident reporting procedures.

The procedural mitigation measures for vessel movement are a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS based on the largest area within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation and guidance from NMFS for vessel strike avoidance. The Navy is clarifying in the table that the mitigation zones for training activities will be the same as the mitigation zones for testing activities under the Proposed Action. Although the Navy is unable to position Lookouts on unmanned vessels, as a standard operating procedure, some vessels that operate autonomously have embedded sensors that aid in avoidance of large objects. The embedded sensors may help those unmanned vessels avoid vessel strikes of marine mammals.

As discussed in Section 5.3.1 (Environmental Awareness and Education), it is likely that the implementation of the Marine Species Awareness Training starting in 2007, and the additional U.S. Navy Afloat Environmental Compliance Training Series modules starting in 2014, has contributed to a

Navy-wide reduction of vessel strikes of marine mammals across areas where the Navy trains and tests. The Navy is able to detect if a whale is struck due to the diligence of standard watch personnel and Lookouts stationed specifically to observe for marine mammals while a vessel is underway. In the unlikely event that a vessel strike of a marine mammal occurs, the Navy will notify the appropriate regulatory agency immediately or as soon as operational security considerations allow per the established incident reporting procedures described in Section 5.1.2.2.3 (Incident Reports). The Navy's incident reports include relevant information pertaining to the incident, including but not limited to vessel speed.

The mitigation zones for marine mammals is smaller for small boats to account for variations in mission requirements and activity locations (e.g., range craft operating in a narrow channels). Similarly, a mitigation zone size is not specified for sea turtles to allow flexibility based on vessel type and mission requirements. The small mitigation zone sizes and proximity to the observation platform will result in a high likelihood that Lookouts will be able to detect marine mammals throughout the mitigation zones while vessels are underway. Mitigation for Small Boat Attack exercises includes Navy biologists working with NMFS and Navy event planners to consider the likelihood of marine mammal presence as specific details of the event are planned (e.g., timing, location, duration), which will help the Navy further avoid or reduce potential impacts on marine mammals in NWTT Inland Waters.

As described in Section 5.1.2 (Vessel Safety) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, Navy vessels are required to operate in accordance with applicable navigation rules. Applicable rules include the Inland Navigation Rules (33 Code of Federal Regulations 83) and International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea (72 COLREGS), which were formalized in the Convention on the International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, 1972. These rules require that vessels proceed at a safe speed so proper and effective action can be taken to avoid collision and so vessels can be stopped within a distance appropriate to the prevailing circumstances and conditions. In addition to complying with navigation requirements, Navy ships transit at speeds that are optimal for fuel conservation, to maintain ship schedules, and to meet mission requirements. Vessel captains use the totality of the circumstances to ensure the vessel is traveling at appropriate speeds in accordance with navigation rules. Depending on the circumstances, this may involve adjusting speeds during periods of reduced visibility or in certain locations.

Navy vessel operators need to train to proficiently operate vessels as they would during military missions and combat operations, including being able to react to changing tactical situations and evaluate system capabilities. For example, during training activities involving flight operations from an aircraft carrier, the vessel must maintain a certain wind speed over the deck to launch or recover aircraft. Depending on wind conditions, the aircraft carrier itself must travel at a certain speed to generate the wind required to launch or recover aircraft. Implementing vessel speed restrictions would increase safety risks for Navy personnel and equipment and the public during the training event and would reduce skill proficiency in a way that would increase safety risks during military missions and combat operations. Furthermore, vessel speed restrictions would not allow the Navy to continue meeting its training requirements due to diminished realism of training exercises.

The Navy needs to test the full range of its vessel and system capabilities to ensure safety and functionality in conditions analogous to military missions and combat operations. For example, during non-explosive torpedo testing activities, the Navy must operate its vessels using speeds typical of military missions and combat operations to accurately test the functionality of its acoustic countermeasures and torpedo systems during firing. Vessel speed restrictions would not allow the Navy to continue meeting its testing program requirements due to diminished realism of testing events.

Researchers, program managers, and weapons system acquisition programs would be unable to conduct accurate acoustic research to meet research objectives and effectively test vessels and vessel-deployed systems and platforms before full-scale production or delivery to the fleet. Such testing is required to ensure functionality and accuracy in military mission and combat conditions per required acquisition milestones or on an as-needed basis to meet operational requirements.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for vessel movements beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-11 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

#### 5.3.4.2 Towed In-Water Devices

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce the potential for strike of marine mammals and sea turtles from towed in-water devices, as outlined in Table 5.3-12. Vessels involved in towing in-water devices will implement the mitigation described in Section 5.3.4.1 (Vessel Movement), in addition to the mitigation outlined in Table 5.3-12.

### Table 5.3-12: Procedural Mitigation for Towed In-Water Devices

Procedural Mitigation Description
Stressor or Activity
Towed in-water devices
<ul> <li>Mitigation applies to devices towed from a manned surface platform or manned aircraft, or when a</li> </ul>
manned support craft is already participating in an activity involving in-water devices being towed by
unmanned platforms
<ul> <li>The mitigation will not be applied if the safety of the towing platform or in-water device is threatened</li> </ul>
Resource Protection Focus
Marine mammals
Sea turtles
Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform
<ul> <li>1 Lookout positioned on the towing platform or support craft</li> </ul>
Mitigation Requirements
Mitigation zones:
<ul> <li>– 250 yd. (for in-water devices towed by aircraft or surface ships) around marine mammals (except bow-</li> </ul>
riding dolphins and pinnipeds hauled out on man-made navigational structures, port structures, and vessels)
- 100 vd. (for in-water devices towed by small boats, such as range craft) around marine mammals (evcent
how-riding dolphins and ninning hauled out on man-made navigational structures, nort structures, and
vessels).
<ul> <li>Within the vicinity of sea turtles</li> </ul>
• During the activity (i.e., when towing an in-water device)
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, maneuver to maintain distance.</li> </ul>
The mitigation sense for toward in water devices are a continuation from the 2015 NW/TT Final FIG/OFIC
The mitigation zones for towed in-water devices are a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS
based on the largest area within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation. The Navy is

The mitigation zones for towed in-water devices are a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS based on the largest area within which it is practical for the Navy to implement mitigation. The Navy is clarifying in the table that the mitigation zones for training and testing activities will be the same under the Proposed Action. The small mitigation zone sizes and proximity to the observation platform will result in a high likelihood that Lookouts will be able to detect marine mammals throughout the mitigation zone for marine mammals is smaller for in-water devices that are towed by small boats to account for variations in mission requirements and activity locations (e.g., range

craft operating in a narrow channels). Similarly, a mitigation zone size is not specified for sea turtles to allow flexibility based on towing platform type and mission requirements.

Mission and safety requirements determine the operational parameters (e.g., course) for in-water device towing platforms. Towed-in water devices must be towed at certain speeds and water depths for stability, which are controlled in part by the towing platform's speed and directional movements. Because these devices are towed and not self-propelled, they generally have limited maneuverability and are not able to make immediate course corrections. For example, a high degree of pilot skill is required when rotary-wing aircraft are deploying in-water devices, safely towing them at relatively low speeds and altitudes, and recovering them. The aircraft can safely alter course to shift the route of the towed device in response to a sighted marine mammal or sea turtle up to a certain extent (i.e., up to the size of the mitigation zone) while still maintaining the parameters needed for stable towing. However, the aircraft would be unable to further alter its course to more drastically course-correct the towed device without decreasing towing stability, which would have implications for safety of personnel and equipment.

In summary, the operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation for towed in-water devices beyond what is detailed in Table 5.3-12 would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety.

## 5.3.4.3 Small-, Medium-, and Large-Caliber Non-Explosive Practice Munitions

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce the potential for strike of marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds from small-, medium-, and large-caliber non-explosive practice munitions, as outlined in Table 5.3-13.

The mitigation zone is conservatively designed to be several times larger than the impact footprint for large-caliber non-explosive practice munitions, which are the largest projectiles used for these activities. Small-caliber and medium-caliber non-explosive practice munitions have smaller impact footprints than large-caliber non-explosive practice munitions; therefore, the mitigation zone will extend even further beyond the impact footprints for these smaller projectiles.

Large-caliber gunnery activities involve vessels firing projectiles at a target located up to 6 NM down range. Small- and medium-caliber gunnery activities involve vessels or aircraft firing projectiles at targets located up to 4,000 yd. down range, although typically much closer. Lookouts will have a better likelihood of detecting marine mammals and sea turtles when observing mitigation zones around targets located close to the firing platform. When observing activities that use a target located far from the firing platform, Lookouts will be more likely to detect large visual cues (e.g., whale blows or large pods of dolphins) than individual marine mammals, cryptic marine mammal species, and sea turtles. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce impacts on these resources within the mitigation zone. Positioning additional observers closer to the targets would increase safety risks because these platforms would be located in the vicinity of an intended impact location or in the path of a projectile.

## Table 5.3-13: Procedural Mitigation for Small-, Medium-, and Large-Caliber Non-Explosive Practice Munitions

Procedural Mitigation Description
Stressor or Activity
Gunnery activities using small-, medium-, and large-caliber non-explosive practice munitions
<ul> <li>Mitigation applies to activities using a surface target</li> </ul>
Resource Protection Focus
Marine mammals
Sea turtles
<ul> <li>Seabirds (marbled murrelets and short-tailed albatross)</li> </ul>
Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform
<ul> <li>1 Lookout positioned on the platform conducting the activity</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Depending on the activity, the Lookout could be the same as the one described in Section 5.3.2.2 (Weapons Firing Noise)</li> </ul>
Mitigation Requirements
Mitigation zone:
<ul> <li>200 yd. around the intended impact location</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., when maneuvering on station):</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles (small-, medium-, and large-caliber activities) and seabirds (small- and medium-caliber activities); if observed, relocate or delay the start of firing.</li> </ul>
During the activity:
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles (small-, medium-, and large-caliber activities) and seabirds (small- and medium-caliber activities); if observed, cease firing.</li> </ul>
• Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal, sea turtle, or seabird sighting before or during the activity:
<ul> <li>The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal, sea turtle, or seabird to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing firing) until one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone;</li> <li>(2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the intended impact location; (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for 10 min. for aircraft-based firing or 30 min. for vessel-based firing; or (4) for activities using a mobile target, the intended impact location has transited a distance equal to double that of the mitigation zone size beyond the location of the last sighting.</li> </ul>
Due to the difficulty of differentiating bird species, the Navy will implement mitigation for all seabird

Due to the difficulty of differentiating bird species, the Navy will implement mitigation for all seabird species during non-explosive small- and medium-caliber weapons firing. The mitigation will help the Navy further avoid or reduce potential impacts on ESA-listed marbled murrelets and short-tailed albatross and other seabird species that occur offshore. The Navy will not implement mitigation for seabirds during non-explosive large-caliber gunnery events because Lookouts would not be effective at detecting seabirds from the distant firing location, even with the use of high-powered binoculars.

#### 5.3.4.4 Non-Explosive Missiles

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce the potential for strike of marine mammals and sea turtles from non-explosive missiles, as outlined in Table 5.3-14. The mitigation zone for non-explosive missiles is conservatively designed to be several times larger than the impact footprint for the largest non-explosive missile used for these activities. Smaller non-explosive missiles

have smaller impact footprints than the largest non-explosive missile used for these activities; therefore, the mitigation zone will extend even further beyond the impact footprints for these smaller projectiles.

## Table 5.3-14: Procedural Mitigation for Non-Explosive Missiles

Procedural Mitigation Description
Stressor or Activity
<ul> <li>Aircraft-deployed non-explosive missiles</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Mitigation applies to activities using a surface target</li> </ul>
Resource Protection Focus
Marine mammals
Sea turtles
Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform
<ul> <li>1 Lookout positioned in an aircraft</li> </ul>
Mitigation Requirements
Mitigation zone:
<ul> <li>900 yd. around the intended impact location</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., during a fly-over of the mitigation zone):</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, relocate or delay the start of firing.</li> </ul>
• During the activity:
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, cease firing.</li> </ul>
Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal or sea turtle sighting prior to or
during the activity:
- The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal or sea turtle to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing firing) until one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone; (2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the intended impact location; or (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for 10 min. when the activity involves aircraft that have fuel constraints, or 30 min.

Mitigation applies to activities using non-explosive missiles fired from aircraft at targets that are typically located up to 15 NM down range, and infrequently up to 75 NM down range. There is a chance that animals could enter the mitigation zone after the aircraft conducts its close-range mitigation zone observations and before firing begins (once the aircraft has transited to its firing position). Due to the distance between the mitigation zone and the observation platform, Lookouts will have a better likelihood of detecting marine mammals and sea turtles during the close-range observations and are less likely to detect these resources once positioned at the firing location, particularly individual marine mammals, cryptic marine mammal species, and sea turtles. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce potential impacts on these resources within the mitigation zone during the close-range observations. The mitigation only applies to aircraft-deployed missiles for the reasons discussed in Section 5.3.3.4 (Explosive Missiles). Positioning additional observers closer to the targets would increase safety risks because these platforms would be located in the vicinity of an intended impact location or in the path of a projectile.

#### 5.3.4.5 Non-Explosive Bombs and Mine Shapes

The Navy will continue to implement procedural mitigation to avoid or reduce the potential for strike of marine mammals and sea turtles from non-explosive bombs and mine shapes, as outlined in Table 5.3-15.

## Table 5.3-15: Procedural Mitigation for Non-Explosive Bombs and Mine Shapes

Procedural Mitigation Description
Stressor or Activity
Non-explosive bombs
<ul> <li>Non-explosive mine shapes during mine laying activities</li> </ul>
Resource Protection Focus
Marine mammals
Sea turtles
Number of Lookouts and Observation Platform
<ul> <li>1 Lookout positioned in an aircraft</li> </ul>
Mitigation Requirements
Mitigation zone:
<ul> <li>– 1,000 yd. around the intended target</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Prior to the initial start of the activity (e.g., when arriving on station):</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for floating vegetation; if observed, relocate or delay the start until the mitigation zone is clear.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, relocate or delay the start of bomb deployment or mine laying.</li> </ul>
• During the activity (e.g., during approach of the target or intended minefield location):
<ul> <li>Observe the mitigation zone for marine mammals and sea turtles; if observed, cease bomb deployment or mine laying.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Commencement/recommencement conditions after a marine mammal or sea turtle sighting prior to or during the activity:</li> </ul>
- The Navy will allow a sighted marine mammal or sea turtle to leave the mitigation zone prior to the initial start of the activity (by delaying the start) or during the activity (by not recommencing bomb deployment or mine laying) until one of the following conditions has been met: (1) the animal is observed exiting the mitigation zone; (2) the animal is thought to have exited the mitigation zone based on a determination of its course, speed, and movement relative to the intended target or minefield location; (3) the mitigation zone has been clear from any additional sightings for 10 min.; or (4) for activities using mobile targets, the intended target has transited a distance equal to double that of the mitigation zone size beyond the location of the last sighting.

The mitigation zone for non-explosive bombs and mine shapes is conservatively designed to be several times larger than the impact footprint for the largest non-explosive bomb used for these activities. Smaller non-explosive bombs and mine shapes have smaller impact footprints than the largest non-explosive bomb used for these activities; therefore, the mitigation zone will extend even further beyond the impact footprints for these smaller military expended materials. Activities involving non-explosive bombing and mine laying involve aircraft deploying munitions or mine shapes from a relatively steady altitude of approximately 1,500 ft. at a surface target or in an intended minefield located beneath the aircraft. Due to the mitigation zone size, proximity to the observation platform, and the good vantage point from an aircraft, Lookouts will be able to observe the entire mitigation zone during approach of the target or intended minefield location. Observing for indicators of marine mammal and sea turtle presence will further help avoid or reduce impacts on these resources within the mitigation zone.

## 5.4 Mitigation Areas to be Implemented

A draft biological assessment and operational analysis of mitigation areas that the Navy considered for the Study Area is provided in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment). The Navy will finalize development of its mitigation areas during the consultation and permitting processes and will summarize all finalized measures in this section of the Final Supplemental.

## 5.5 Measures Considered but Eliminated

As described in Section 5.2 (Mitigation Development Process), the Navy conducted a detailed review and assessment of each potential mitigation measure individually and then all potential mitigation measures collectively to determine if, as a whole, the mitigation will be effective at avoiding or reducing impacts and practical to implement. The assessment included consideration of mitigation recommendations received during scoping on this Proposed Action or through public comments and consultations on past environmental compliance documents applicable to the Study Area. The operational community determined that implementing procedural mitigation beyond what is detailed in Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented) would be incompatible with the practicality assessment criteria for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements. Information about why implementing additional mitigation measures for active sonar, explosives, active and passive acoustic monitoring devices, thermal detection systems, third-party observers, foreign navy mitigation, and reporting requirements would be impractical is provided in the sections below. A draft biological assessment and operational analysis of mitigation areas that the Navy considered for the Study Area is provided in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment) and will be summarized in Section 5.4 (Mitigation Areas to be Implemented) of the Final Supplemental.

When analyzing all potential mitigation measures collectively, the operational community determined that adopting certain mitigation measures would result in the Navy losing utilization of sea space and airspace required to support training and testing of naval forces in the Study Area. Certain measures would restrict or prohibit Navy training and testing throughout most of the Study Area except in very narrow circumstances. For example, blanket limitations or restrictions on the level, number, or timing (seasonal or time of day) of training and testing activities within discrete or broad-scale areas of water (e.g., embayments and large swaths of the littorals and open ocean), or other areas vital to mission requirements would prevent the Navy from accessing its ranges, operating areas, facilities, or range support structures necessary to meet the purpose and need of the Proposed Action. As described in Section 5.2.3 (Practicality of Implementation), the Navy requires extensive sea space so that individual training and testing activities can occur at sufficient distances such that these activities do not interfere with one another, and so that Navy units can train to communicate and operate in a coordinated fashion over tens or hundreds of square miles, as required during military missions and combat operations. The Navy also needs to maintain access to sea space with the unique, challenging, and diverse environmental and oceanographic features (e.g., bathymetry, topography, surface fronts, and variations in sea surface temperature) analogous to military mission and combat conditions to achieve the highest skill proficiency and most accurate testing results possible.

Threats to national security are constantly evolving. The Navy requires the ability to adapt training and testing to meet these emerging threats. Restricting access to broad-scale areas of water would impact the ability for Navy training and testing to evolve as threats evolve. Eliminating opportunities for the Navy to train and test in a myriad of at-sea conditions would put U.S. forces at a tactical disadvantage during military missions and combat operations. This would also present a risk to national security if

potential adversaries were to be alerted to the environmental conditions within which the U.S. Navy is prohibited from training and testing. Restricting large areas of ocean or other smaller areas that are critical to Navy training and testing would make training and concealment much more difficult and would adversely impact the Navy's ability to perform its statutory mission.

### 5.5.1 Active Sonar

When assessing and developing mitigation, the Navy considered reducing active sonar training and testing hours, modifying active sonar sound sources, implementing time-of-day restrictions and restrictions during surface ducting conditions, replacing active sonar training and testing with synthetic activities (e.g., computer simulated training), and implementing active sonar ramp-up procedures. The Navy determined that it would be practical to implement certain restrictions on the use of active sonar in the Study Area, as detailed in Section 5.3.2.1 (Active Sonar) and Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment). As discussed in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), Section 5.2.3 (Practicality of Implementation), Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions), and Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment), training and testing activities are planned and scheduled based on numerous factors and data inputs, such as compliance with the Optimized Fleet Response Plan. Information on why training and testing with active sonar is essential to national security is presented in Section 5.3.2.1 (Active Sonar). The Navy uses active sonar during military readiness activities only when it is essential to training missions or testing program requirements since active sonar has the potential to alert opposing forces to the operating platform's presence. Passive sonar and other available sensors are used in concert with active sonar to the maximum extent practicable.

The Navy currently uses, and will continue to use, computer simulation to augment training and testing whenever possible. As discussed in Section 1.4.1 (Why the Navy Trains), simulators and synthetic training are critical elements that provide early skill repetition and enhance teamwork; however, they cannot duplicate the complexity faced by Sailors during military missions and combat operations for the types of active sonar used under the Proposed Action (e.g., hull-mounted mid-frequency active sonar). Just as a pilot would not be ready to fly solo after simulator training, operational Commanders cannot allow military personnel to engage in military missions and combat operations based merely on simulator training. Similarly, in testing a system that is being developed, simulation can be used during the initial stages of development, but ultimately the system must be tested under conditions analogous to those faced during military missions and combat operations. Systems that have undergone maintenance need to be tested, and not simulated, to ensure that the system is operating correctly.

Sonar operators must train to effectively handle bottom bounce and sound passing through changing currents, eddies, and across changes in ocean temperature, pressure, salinity, depth, and in surface ducting conditions. Sonar systems must be tested in these conditions to ensure functionality and accuracy in military mission and combat conditions. The Navy tests its active sonar systems in areas analogous to where the Navy trains and operates. This includes a nighttime testing requirement for some active sonar systems, and a requirement to test in a variety of locations and environmental conditions depending on the testing program objectives. Training and testing in both good visibility (e.g., daylight, favorable weather conditions) and low visibility (e.g., nighttime, inclement weather conditions) is vital because environmental differences between day and night and varying weather conditions affect sound propagation and the detection capabilities of sonar. Temperature layers that move up and down in the water column and ambient noise levels can vary significantly between night and day. This affects sound propagation and could affect how sonar systems function and are operated.

Submarines may hide in the higher ambient noise levels of shallow coastal waters and surface ducts. Surface ducting occurs when water conditions, such as temperature layers and lack of wave action, result in little sound energy penetrating beyond a narrow layer near the surface of the water. Avoiding surface ducting conditions would be impractical because ocean conditions contributing to surface ducting change frequently, and surface ducts can be of varying duration. Surface ducting can also lack uniformity and may or may not extend over a large geographic area, making it difficult to determine where to reduce power and for what periods. Submarines have long been known to take advantage of the phenomena associated with surface ducting to avoid being detected by sonar. When surface ducting occurs, active sonar becomes more useful near the surface but less useful at greater depths. As noted by the U.S. Supreme Court in Winter v. Natural Resources Defense Council Inc., 555 U.S. 7 (2008), because surface ducting conditions occur relatively rarely and are unpredictable, it is especially important for the Navy to be able to train under these conditions when they occur. Training with active sonar in these conditions is a critical component of military readiness because sonar operators need to learn how sonar transmissions are altered due to surface ducting, how submarines may take advantage of them, and how to operate sonar effectively under these conditions. Reducing power or shutting down active sonar based on environmental conditions as a mitigation would affect a Commander's ability to develop the tactical picture. It would also prevent sonar operators from training in conditions analogous to those faced during military missions and combat operations, such as during periods of low visibility.

Active sonar signals are designed explicitly to provide optimum performance at detecting underwater objects (e.g., submarines) in a variety of acoustic environments. The Navy assessed the potential for implementing active sonar signal modification as mitigation. At this time, the science on the differences in potential impacts of up or down sweeps of the sonar signal (e.g., different behavioral reactions) is extremely limited and requires further development. If future studies indicate that modifying active sonar signals (i.e., up or down sweeps) could be an effective mitigation approach, then the Navy will investigate if and how the mitigation would affect the sonar's performance.

Active sonar equipment power levels are set consistent with mission requirements. Active sonar rampup procedures are used during seismic surveys and some foreign navy sonar activities. Ramping up involves slowly increasing sound levels over a certain length of time until the optimal source level is reached. The intent of ramping up a sound source is to alert marine mammals with a low sound level to deter them from the area and avoid higher levels of sound exposure. The best available science does not suggest that ramp-up would be an effective mitigation tool for U.S. Navy active sonar training and testing activities under the Proposed Action. Wensveen et al. (2017) found that active sonar ramp-up was not an effective method for reducing impacts on humpback whales because most whales did not display strong behavioral avoidance to the sonar signals. The study suggested that sonar ramp-up could potentially be more effective for other more behaviorally responsive species but would likely also depend on the context of exposure. For example, ramp-up would be less effective if animals have a strong motivation not to move away from their current location, such as when foraging. Dunlop et al. (2016) and von Benda-Beckmann et al. (2014) found that implementing ramp-up as a mitigation may be effective for some activities in some situations. Additionally, von Benda-Beckmann et al. (2014) found that the main factors limiting ramp-up effectiveness for a typical anti-submarine warfare activity are a high source level, a moving sonar source, and long silences between consecutive sonar transmissions. Based on the source levels, vessel speeds, and sonar transmission intervals that will be used during typical active sonar activities under the Proposed Action, the Navy has determined that ramp-up would be an ineffective mitigation measure for the active sonar activities analyzed in this Draft Supplemental.

Implementing active sonar ramp-up procedures during training or testing under the Proposed Action would not be representative of military mission and combat conditions and would significantly impact training and testing realism. For example, during an anti-submarine warfare exercise using active sonar, ramp-ups have the potential to alert opponents (e.g., target submarines) to the transmitting vessel's presence. This would defeat the purpose of the training by allowing the target submarine to detect the searching unit and take evasive measures, thereby denying the sonar operator the opportunity to learn how to locate the submarine. Similarly, testing program requirements determine test parameters to accurately determine whether a system is meeting its operational and performance requirements; therefore, implementing ramp-up during testing activities would impede the Navy's ability to collect essential data for evaluation of a system's capabilities.

Reducing realism in training impedes the ability for Navy Sailors to train and become proficient in using active sonar, erodes capabilities, and reduces perishable skills. These impacts would result in a significant risk to personnel safety during military missions and combat operations and would prevent units from meeting their individual training and certification requirements. Therefore, implementing additional mitigation that would reduce training realism would ultimately prevent units from deploying with the required level of readiness necessary to accomplish their missions and impede the Navy's ability to certify forces to deploy to meet national security tasking. Reducing realism in testing would impact the ability of researchers, program managers, and weapons system acquisition programs to conduct accurate acoustic research and effectively test systems and platforms (and components of these systems and platforms) before full-scale production or delivery to the fleet. These tests are required to ensure functionality and accuracy in military mission and combat conditions per required acquisition milestones or on an as-needed basis to meet operational requirements.

## 5.5.2 Explosives

When assessing and developing mitigation, the Navy considered reducing the number and size of explosives and limiting the locations and time of day of explosive training and testing in the Study Area. The Navy determined that it would be practical to implement certain restrictions on the use of explosives in the Study Area, as detailed in Section 5.3.3 (Explosive Stressors) and Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment). As discussed in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), Section 5.2.3 (Practicality of Implementation), Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment), Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions), the locations and timing of the training and testing activities that use explosives vary throughout the Study Area based on range scheduling, mission requirements, testing program requirements, and standard operating procedures for safety and mission success.

Activities that involve explosive ordnance are inherently different from those that involve non-explosive practice munitions. For example, critical components of an explosive Bombing Exercise Air-to-Surface include the assembly, loading, delivery, and assessment of the explosive bomb. The explosive bombing training exercise starts with ground personnel, who must practice the building and loading of explosive munitions. Training includes the safe handling of explosive material, configuring munitions to precise specifications, and the loading of munitions onto aircraft. Aircrew must then identify a target and safely deliver fused munitions, discern if the bomb was assembled correctly, and determine bomb damage assessments based on how and where the explosive detonated. An air-to-surface bombing exercise using non-explosive practice munitions can train aircrews on valuable skills to locate and accurately deliver munitions on a target; however, it cannot effectively replicate the critical components of an explosive bomb.

Reducing the number and size of explosives or diminishing activity realism by implementing time of day or geographic restrictions for additional explosive training activities would impede the ability for Navy Sailors to train and become proficient in using explosive weapons systems (which would result in a significant risk to personnel safety during military missions and combat operations), and would ultimately prevent units from meeting their individual training and certification requirements (which would prevent them from deploying with the required level of readiness necessary to accomplish their missions) and impede the Navy's ability to certify forces to deploy to meet national security tasking.

Similar to training, the Navy is required to test its explosives to quantify the compatibility of weapons with the platform from which they will be launched or released in military missions and combat operations. Such testing requires the use of the actual explosive ordnance that will be used during training exercises, military missions, and combat operations. Reducing the number and size of explosives or diminishing activity realism by implementing time of day or geographic restrictions for additional explosive testing events would impact the ability of researchers, program managers, and weapons system acquisition programs to effectively test systems and platforms (and components of these systems and platforms). Such testing must be conducted before full-scale production or delivery to the fleet to ensure functionality and accuracy in military mission and combat conditions per required acquisition milestones or on an as-needed basis to meet operational requirements.

## 5.5.3 Active and Passive Acoustic Monitoring Devices

When assessing and developing mitigation, the Navy considered using active and passive acoustic monitoring devices as procedural mitigation. During Surveillance Towed Array Sensor System lowfrequency active sonar (which is not part of the Proposed Action), the Navy uses a specially-designed adjunct high-frequency marine mammal monitoring active sonar known as "HF/M3" to mitigate potential impacts. HF/M3 can only be towed at slow speeds and operates like a fish finder used by commercial and recreational fishermen. Installing the HF/M3 adjunct system on the tactical sonar ships used under the Proposed Action would have implications for safety and mission requirements due to impacts on speed and maneuverability. Furthermore, installing the system would significantly increase costs associated with designing, building, installing, maintaining, and manning the equipment. The Navy will not install the HF/M3 system or other adjunct marine mammal monitoring devices as mitigation under the Proposed Action. However, Navy assets with passive acoustic monitoring capabilities that are already participating in an activity will continue to monitor for marine mammals, as described in Section 5.2.1 (Procedural Mitigation Development) and Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented). Significant manpower and logistical constraints make constructing and maintaining additional passive acoustic monitoring systems for each training and testing activity under the Proposed Action impractical. Diverting platforms with passive acoustic monitoring capabilities to monitor training and testing events would impact their ability to meet their mission requirements and would reduce the service life of those systems.

The Navy is continuing to improve its capabilities to use range instrumentation to aid in the passive acoustic detection of marine mammals. For example, at the Southern California Offshore Range, the Pacific Missile Range Facility off Kauai, Hawaii, and the Atlantic Undersea Test and Evaluation Center in the Bahamas, the Navy can monitor instrumented ranges in real-time or through data recorded by hydrophones. The Navy has sponsored numerous studies that have produced meaningful results on marine mammal occurrence, distribution, and behavior on these ranges through the U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program. For information on the U.S. Navy Marine Species Monitoring Program, see Section 5.1.2.2.1 (Marine Species Research and Monitoring Programs).

Although the Navy's instrumented ranges are helping to facilitate a better understanding of the species that are present in those areas, instrumented ranges were not developed for the purpose of mitigation, and therefore do not have the capabilities to be used effectively for mitigation. To develop an estimated position for an individual marine mammal, the animal's vocalizations must be detected on at least three hydrophones. The vocalizations must be loud enough to provide the required signal to noise ratio on those hydrophones. The hydrophones must have the required bandwidth and dynamic range to capture that signal. Detection capabilities are generally degraded under noisy conditions (such as high sea state) that affect signal to noise ratio. The ability to detect and develop an estimated position for marine mammals on the Navy's instrumented ranges depends of numerous factors, such as behavioral state (e.g., only vocalizing animals can be detected), species (e.g., species vocalize at varying rates, call types, and source levels), animal location relative to the passive acoustic receivers (hydrophones), and location on the range. The Navy's hydrophones cannot track the real-time locations of individual animals with dispersed and directional vocalizations with the level of precision needed for effective mitigation. Even marine mammals that have been vocalizing for extended periods of time have been known to stop vocalizing for hours at a time, which would prevent the Navy from obtaining or maintaining an accurate estimate of that animal's location. In addition, the Navy does not currently have the capability to perform data processing for large baleen whales in real-time. Determining if an animal is located within a mitigation zone within the timeframes required for mitigation would be prohibited by the amount of time it takes to process the data.

If a vocalizing animal is detected on only one or two hydrophones, estimating its location is not possible, and the location of the animal would be assigned generally within the detection radius around each hydrophone. The detection radius of a hydrophone is typically much larger than the mitigation zone for the activities conducted on instrumented ranges. The Navy does not have a way to verify if that vocalizing animal is located within the mitigation zone or at a location down range. Mitigating for passive acoustic detections based on unknown animal locations would essentially increase the mitigation zone sizes for each activity to that of the hydrophone detection radius. Increasing the mitigation zone sizes beyond what is described for each activity is impractical for the reasons described throughout Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented).

In summary, although the Navy is continuing to improve its capabilities to use range instrumentation to aid in the passive acoustic detection of marine mammals, at this time it would not be effective or practical for the Navy to monitor instrumented ranges for real-time mitigation or to construct additional instrumented ranges as a tool to aid in the implementation of mitigation.

## 5.5.4 Thermal Detection Systems and Unmanned Aerial Vehicles

Thermal detection technology is designed to allow observers to detect the difference in temperature between a surfaced marine mammal (i.e., the body or blow of a whale) and the environment (i.e., the water and air). Although thermal detection may be reliable in some applications and environments, current technologies are limited by their: (1) reduced performance in certain environmental conditions, (2) inability to detect certain animal characteristics and behaviors, (3) low sensor resolution and narrow fields of view, and (4) high cost and low lifecycle (Boebel, 2017; Zitterbart et al., 2013).

Thermal detection systems can be effective at detecting some types of marine mammals in a limited range of marine environmental conditions. Current thermal detection systems have proven more effective at detecting large whale blows than the bodies of small animals, particularly at a distance (Zitterbart et al., 2013). The effectiveness of current technologies has not been demonstrated for small

marine mammals. Thermal detection systems exhibit varying degrees of false positive detections (i.e., incorrect notifications) due in part to their low sensor resolution and reduced performance in certain environmental conditions. False positive detections may incorrectly identify other features (e.g., birds, waves, boats) as marine mammals. In one study, Zitterbart et al. (2013) reported a false positive rate approaching one incorrect notification per four minutes of observation.

Thermal detection systems are generally thought to be most effective in cold environments, which have a large temperature differential between an animal's temperature and the environment. Two studies that examined the effectiveness of thermal detection systems for marine mammal observations are Zitterbart et al. (2013), which tested a thermal detection system and automatic algorithm in polar waters between 34–50 degrees Fahrenheit, and a Navy-funded study in subtropical and tropical waters. Zitterbart et al. (2013) found that current technologies have limitations regarding temperature and survey conditions (e.g., rain, fog, sea state, glare, ambient brightness), for which further effectiveness studies are required. The Office of Naval Research Marine Mammals and Biology program funded a project (2013-2018) to test the thermal limits of infrared-based automatic whale detection technology. That project focused on capturing whale spouts at two different locations featuring subtropical and tropical water temperatures, optimizing detector/classifier performance on the collected data, and testing system performance by comparing system detections with concurrent visual observations.

The Navy has also been investigating the use of thermal detection systems with automated marine mammal detection algorithms for future mitigation during training and testing, including on autonomous platforms. For example, the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency funded six initial studies to test and evaluate infrared-based thermal detection technologies and algorithms to automatically detect marine mammals on an unmanned surface vehicle. Based on the outcome of these initial studies, follow-on efforts and testing are planned for 2018-2019.

Thermal detection systems are currently used by some specialized U.S. Air Force aircraft for marine mammal mitigation. These systems are specifically designed for and integrated into Air Force aircraft and cannot be added to Navy aircraft. Only certain Navy aircraft have specialized infrared capabilities, and these capabilities are only for fine-scale targeting within a narrow field of view. The only thermal imagery sensors aboard Navy surface ships are associated with specific weapons systems, and these sensors are not available on all vessels. These sensors are typically used only in select training events, have a limited lifespan before requiring expensive replacement, and are not optimized for marine mammal observations within the Navy's mitigation zones. For example, as described in Section 5.3.3.3 (Explosive Medium-Caliber and Large-Caliber Projectiles), Lookouts are required to observe a 1,000 yd. mitigation zone around the intended impact location during explosive large-caliber gunnery activities. In addition to observing for marine mammals, one of the activity's mission-essential requirements is for event participants, including Lookouts, to maintain focus on the mitigation zone to ensure safety of Navy personnel and equipment and the public. Lookouts would not be able to observe the 1,000 yd. mitigation zone using the Navy's thermal imagery sensors due to their narrow fields of view and technological design specific to fine-scale targeting. Such observations would be ineffective for marine mammals and would prevent Lookouts from effectively maintaining focus on the activity area and implementing mission-essential safety protocols.

The effectiveness of even the most advanced commercially available thermal detection systems with technological designs specific to marine mammal observations is highly dependent on environmental conditions, animal characteristics, and animal behaviors (Zitterbart et al., 2013). Considering the range of environmental conditions and diversity of marine mammal species found throughout the Study Area,

the use of thermal detection systems would be less effective than the traditional techniques currently employed by the Navy, such as naked-eye scanning, hand-held binoculars, and high-powered binoculars mounted on a ship deck. Furthermore, high false positive rates of thermal detection systems could result in the Navy implementing mitigation for other features incorrectly identified as marine mammals. Increasing the instances of mitigation implementation based on incorrectly-identified features would have significant impacts on the ability for training and testing activities to accomplish their intended objectives, without providing any mitigation benefit to the species. In addition, thermal detection systems are designed to detect marine mammals and do not have the capability to detect other resources for which the Navy is required to implement mitigation. Requiring Lookouts to use thermal detection systems would prevent them from detecting and mitigating for sea turtles and other biological resources (e.g., floating vegetation, jellyfish aggregations).

As discussed in Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented), the Navy's procedural mitigation measures include the maximum number of Lookouts the Navy can assign to each activity based on available manpower and resources. It would be impractical to add personnel to serve as additional Lookouts for the sole purpose of thermal detection system use. For example, the Navy does not have available manpower to add Lookouts to use thermal detection systems in tandem with existing Lookouts who are using traditional observation techniques.

In summary, thermal detection systems have not been sufficiently studied both in terms of their effectiveness within the environmental conditions found in the Study Area and their compatibility with Navy training and testing. The Navy plans to continue researching thermal detection systems to determine their effectiveness and compatibility with Navy applications. If the technology matures to the state where thermal detection is determined to be an effective mitigation tool during training and testing, the Navy will assess the practicality of using the technology during training and testing events and retrofitting its observation platforms with thermal detection devices. The assessment will include an evaluation of the budget and acquisition process (including costs associated with designing, building, installing, maintaining, and manning equipment that is expensive and has a relatively short lifecycle before key system components need replacing); logistical and physical considerations for device installment, repair, and replacement (e.g., conducting engineering studies to ensure there is no electronic or power interference with existing shipboard systems); manpower and resource considerations for training personnel to effectively operate the equipment; and considerations of potential security and classification issues. New system integration on Navy assets can entail up to 5 to 10 years of effort to account for acquisition, engineering studies, and development and execution of systems training. The Navy will provide information to NMFS about the status and findings of Navyfunded thermal detection studies and any associated practicality assessments at the annual adaptive management meetings. Information about the Navy's adaptive management program is included in Section 5.1.2.2.1.1 (Adaptive Management).

## 5.5.5 Third-Party Observers

When assessing and developing mitigation, the Navy considered using third-party observers during training and testing to aid in the implementation of procedural mitigation. The use of third-party observers to conduct pre- or post-activity biological resource observations would be an ineffective mitigation because marine mammals would likely move into or out of the activity area, and mitigation must be implemented at the time the activity is taking place.

There are significant manpower and logistical constraints that make using third-party observers for every training and testing activity under the Proposed Action impractical. Training and testing activities often occur simultaneously and in various regions throughout the Study Area, some of which last for days or weeks at a time. Having third-party observers embark on Navy vessels or aircraft would result in safety and security clearance issues. Training and testing event planning includes careful consideration of capacity limitations when placing personnel on participating aircraft and vessels. The Navy is unable to add third-party observers on a ship or substitute a Navy Lookout with a third-party observer without causing a berthing shortage or exceedance of other space limitations, or impacting the ability for Lookouts to complete their other mission-essential duties. The use of third-party observers also presents national security concerns due to the requirement to provide advance notification of specific times and locations of Navy platform movements and activities (e.g., vessels using active sonar).

Reliance on the availability of third-party personnel for mitigation would be impractical because training and testing activity timetables oftentimes cannot be precisely fixed and are instead based on the freeflow development of tactical situations. Waiting for third-party aircraft or vessels to complete surveys, refuel, or transit on station would extend the length of the activity in a way that would diminish realism and delay training and testing schedules. Hiring third-party civilian vessels or aircraft to observe Navy training and testing activities would also be unsustainable due to the significant associated costs. Because many training and testing activities take place offshore, the amount of time observers would spend on station would be limited due to aircraft fuel restrictions. Fuel restrictions and distance from shore would increase safety risks should mechanical problems arise. The presence of civilian aircraft or vessels in the vicinity of training and testing activities would present increased safety risks due to airspace conflicts and proximity to explosives.

## 5.5.6 Foreign Navy Mitigation

When assessing and developing mitigation, the Navy considered adopting the mitigation measures implemented by foreign navies. Mitigation measures are carefully developed for and assessed by each individual navy based on the potential impacts of their activities on the biological resources that live in their Study Areas, and the practicality of mitigation implementation based on their training mission and testing program requirements and the resources available for mitigation. The U.S. Navy's readiness considerations differ from those of foreign navies based on each navy's strategic reach, global mission, country-specific legal requirements, and geographic considerations. Most non-U.S. navies do not possess an integrated strike group and do not have integrated training requirements. The U.S. Navy's training is built around the integrated warfare concept and is based on the U.S. Navy's capabilities, the threats faced, the operating environment, and the overall mission. For this reason, not all measures developed for foreign navies would be effective at reducing impacts of U.S. Navy training or testing, or practical to implement by the U.S. Navy (and vice versa). For example, some navies implement active sonar ramp-up as mitigation for marine mammals; however, as described in Section 5.5.1 (Active Sonar), the U.S. Navy determined that active sonar ramp-up would be an ineffective mitigation measure for training and testing activities under the Proposed Action and would be impractical to implement because it would significantly impact training and testing realism.

The U.S. Navy will implement mitigation measures that have been determined to be effective at avoiding or reducing impacts from the Proposed Action and practical to implement by the U.S. Navy. Many of these measures are the same as, or comparable to, those implemented by foreign navies. For example, most navies implement some form of procedural mitigation to cease certain activities if a marine mammal is observed in a mitigation zone (Dolman et al., 2009). Some navies also implement

geographic mitigation to restrict activities within particularly important marine mammal breeding, feeding, or migration habitats. The U.S. Navy will implement several mitigation measures and environmental compliance initiatives that are not implemented by foreign navies. For example, as discussed in Section 5.1.2.2 (Monitoring, Research, and Reporting Initiatives), the U.S. Navy will continue to sponsor scientific monitoring and research and comply with stringent reporting requirements.

## 5.5.7 Reporting Requirements

When assessing and developing mitigation, the Navy considered increasing its reporting requirements, such as additional reporting of vessel speeds and marine species observations. As discussed in Section 5.1.2.2 (Monitoring, Research, and Reporting Initiatives), the Navy developed its reporting requirements in conjunction with NMFS to be consistent with mission requirements and balance the usefulness of the information to be collected with the practicality of collecting it. The Navy's training and testing activity reports and incident reports are designed to verify implementation of mitigation; comply with current permits, authorizations, and consultation requirements; and improve future environmental analyses. In the unlikely event that a vessel strike of a marine mammal should occur, the Navy would provide NMFS with relevant information pertaining to the incident, including but not limited to vessel speed.

Additional reporting would be ineffective as mitigation because it would not result in modifications to training or testing activities or further avoidance or reductions of potential impacts. For example, additional reporting of vessel speed data would not result in modifications to vessel speeds (e.g., speed restrictions) or reduce the already low potential for vessel strikes of marine mammals for the reasons described in Section 5.3.4.1 (Vessel Movement). Lookouts are not trained to make species-specific identification and would not be able to provide detailed scientific data if more detailed marine species observation reports were to be required. Furthermore, the Navy does not currently maintain a record management system to collect, archive, analyze, and report marine species observation or vessel speed data for every training and testing activity and all vessel movements. For example, the speed of Navy vessels can fluctuate an unlimited number of times during training and testing events. Developing and implementing a record management system of this magnitude would be unduly cost prohibitive and place a significant administrative burden on vessel operators and activity participants. Burdening operational Commanders, vessel operators, and event participations with requirements to complete additional administrative reporting would distract them from preparing a ready force and focusing on mission-essential tasks. Additional reporting requirements would draw event participants' attention away from the complex tactical tasks they are primarily obligated to perform, such as driving a warship or engaging in a gunnery event, which would adversely impact personnel safety, public health and safety, and the effectiveness of training or testing.

## 5.6 Mitigation Summary

Table 5.6-1 summarizes the procedural mitigation measures that the Navy will implement under Alternative 1 or Alternative 2 of the Proposed Action. For specific requirements, additional information, and clarifications to the table summaries, see Section 5.3 (Procedural Mitigation to be Implemented). For a summary of mitigation areas that the Navy considered for this Draft Supplemental, see Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment). The final mitigation areas resulting from the MMPA and ESA consultation and permitting processes will be included in this section of the Final Supplemental.

Stressor or Activity	Mitigation Zone Sizes and Other Requirements	Protection Focus
Environmental Awareness and Education	<ul> <li>Afloat Environmental Compliance Training program for applicable personnel</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> <li>Sea turtles</li> <li>Seabirds</li> </ul>
Active Sonar	<ul> <li>2 Lookouts (hull-mounted sources on platforms without space or manning restrictions while underway)</li> <li>1 Lookout (all other sources)</li> <li>Mitigation zones: <ul> <li>1,000 yd. power down, 500 yd. power down, and 200 yd. or 100 yd. shut down for low-frequency active sonar ≥200 decibels (dB) and hull-mounted mid-frequency active sonar (with exceptions for pinnipeds hauled out on, or in the water near, man-made structures and vessels)</li> <li>200 yd. or 100 yd. shut down for low-frequency active sonar &lt;200 dB, mid-frequency active sonar sources that are not hull-mounted, and high-frequency active sonar (with exceptions for pinnipeds hauled out on, or in the water near, man-made structures and vessels)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> <li>Sea turtles</li> </ul>
Weapons Firing Noise	<ul> <li>1 Lookout</li> <li>Mitigation zone: 30° on either side of the firing line out to 70 yd. from the muzzle of weapon being fired</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> <li>Sea turtles</li> <li>Seabirds (marbled murrelets, short-tailed albatross)</li> </ul>
Explosive Sonobuovs	<ul> <li>1 Lookout</li> <li>Mitigation zone: 600 vd</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> <li>Sea turtles</li> </ul>
Explosive	• 1 Lookout	Marine mammals
Torpedoes	<ul> <li>Mitigation zone: 2,100 yd.</li> </ul>	Sea turtles
Explosive	1 Lookout	Marine mammals
Medium-Caliber	<ul> <li>Mitigation zones:</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sea turtles</li> </ul>
and Large-Caliber	<ul> <li>– 200 yd. (seabirds) and 600 yd. (marine mammals, sea turtles)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Seabirds (marbled</li> </ul>
Projectiles	for medium-caliber projectiles	murrelets, short-
	<ul> <li>– 1,000 yd. (marine mammals, sea turtles) for large-caliber projectiles</li> </ul>	tailed albatross)
Explosive Missiles	• 1 Lookout	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Mitigation zone: 2,000 yd.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sea turtles</li> </ul>
Explosive Bombs	• 1 Lookout	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Mitigation zone: 2,500 yd.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sea turtles</li> </ul>
Explosive Mine	<ul> <li>1 Lookout (≤ 5 lb. charge)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> </ul>
Countermeasure	<ul> <li>2 Lookouts (&gt; 5–60 lb. charge)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Sea turtles</li> </ul>
and Neutralization	Mitigation zones:	
Activities	— 600 yd. (≤ 5 lb. charge)	
	– 2,100 yd. (> 5–60 lb. charge)	

Table 5.6-1: Summary	v of Procedural	Mitigation
	yorrioccuurar	Milligation

Stressor or Activity	Mitigation Zone Sizes and Other Requirements	Protection Focus
Explosive Mine Neutralization Activities Involving Navy Divers	<ul> <li>2 Lookouts, including 1 Navy biologist</li> <li>Mitigation zone: <ul> <li>100 yd. for &lt; 0.1 lb. charges (seabirds)</li> <li>400 yd. for &gt; 0.5–2.5 lb. charges (seabirds)</li> <li>500 yd. for &gt; 0.5–2.5 lb. charges (marine mammals)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Special pre- and post-event observations</li> <li>Use of smallest practicable positive control charges</li> <li>Requirements for low sea state (Beaufort 2 or less) and good visibility conditions</li> <li>Permission required from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to explosive activities</li> <li>At the Hood Canal Explosive Ordnance Disposal Range: no use of &gt; 0.5–2.5 lb. charges to the maximum extent practicable during August, September, and October</li> <li>At the Crescent Harbor Explosive Ordnance Disposal Range, no explosive activities at least 1,000 m from the closest point of land</li> <li>Requirements to submit mitigation summary reports to the LISEWS after the completion of each activity</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> <li>Seabirds (marbled murrelets)</li> <li>Fish (bull trout, salmonids)</li> </ul>
Vessel Movement	<ul> <li>1 Lookout</li> <li>Mitigation zones: <ul> <li>500 yd. (for surface ships) around whales</li> <li>200 yd. (for surface ships) around other marine mammals (except bow-riding dolphins and pinnipeds hauled out manmade navigational structures, port structures, and vessels)</li> <li>100 yd. (for small boats, such as range craft) around marine mammals (except bow-riding dolphins and pinnipeds hauled out manmade navigational structures, port structures, and vessels)</li> <li>Within the vicinity of sea turtles</li> </ul> </li> <li>Special event planning and environmental training measures prior to Small Boat Attack Exercises</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> <li>Sea turtles</li> </ul>
Towed In-Water Devices	<ul> <li>1 Lookout</li> <li>Mitigation zones:         <ul> <li>250 yd. (for in-water devices towed by aircraft or surface ships) around marine mammals (except bow-riding dolphins and pinnipeds hauled out on man-made navigational structures, port structures, and vessels)</li> <li>100 yd. (for in-water devices towed by small boats, such as range craft) around marine mammals (except bow-riding dolphins and pinnipeds hauled out on man-made navigational structures, port structures, and vessels)</li> <li>Within the vicinity of sea turtles</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> <li>Sea turtles</li> </ul>

	Table 5.6-1: Summary	y of Procedural	Mitigation	(continued)
--	----------------------	-----------------	------------	-------------

Stressor or Activity	Mitigation Zone Sizes and Other Requirements	Protection Focus
Small-, Medium-, and Large-Caliber Non-Explosive Practice Munitions	<ul> <li>1 Lookout</li> <li>Mitigation zones:         <ul> <li>200 yd. during small-, medium-, and large-caliber events (marine mammals, sea turtles) and small- and medium-caliber events (caphieds)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Marine mammals</li> <li>Sea turtles</li> <li>Seabirds (marbled murrelets, short- teiled albetrase)</li> </ul>
Non-Explosive Missiles	<ul> <li>1 Lookout</li> <li>Mitigation zone: 900 yd.</li> </ul>	Marine mammals     Sea turtles
Non-Explosive Bombs and Mine Shapes	<ul><li>1 Lookout</li><li>Mitigation zone: 1,000 yd.</li></ul>	<ul><li>Marine mammals</li><li>Sea turtles</li></ul>

Table 5.6-1: Summary of Procedural Mitigation (continued)

## **REFERENCES**

- Boebel, O. (2017). *Exploring the Thermal Limits of IR-Based Automatic Whale Detection*. Arlington, VA: Office of Naval Research Program.
- Dolman, S. J., C. R. Weir, and M. Jasny. (2009). Comparative review of marine mammal guidance implemented during naval exercises. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 58*, 465–477.
- Dunlop, R. A., M. J. Noad, R. D. McCauley, E. Kniest, R. Slade, D. Paton, and D. H. Cato. (2016). Response of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) to ramp-up of a small experimental air gun array. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 103(1–2), 72–83.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2010). *Navy Integrated Comprehensive Monitoring Plan*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of the Navy.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2013). U.S. Navy Strategic Planning Process for Marine Species Monitoring. Washington, DC: Chief of Naval Operations, Energy & Environmental Readiness Division.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2015). *Northwest Training and Testing Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement, Final*. Pearl Harbor, HI: U.S. Pacific Fleet.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2017a). *Marine Mammal Strandings Associated with U.S. Navy Sonar Activities*. San Diego, CA: U.S. Navy Marine Mammal Program and SPAWAR Naval Facilities Engineering Command.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2017b). *Criteria and Thresholds for U.S. Navy Acoustic and Explosive Effects Analysis (Phase III).* San Diego, CA: Space and Naval Warfare System Command, Pacific.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2017c). *Dive Distribution and Group Size Parameters for Marine Species Occurring in the U.S. Navy's Atlantic and Hawaii-Southern California Training and Testing Study Areas*. Newport, RI: Naval Undersea Warfare Center Division.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2018). *Quantifying Acoustic Impacts on Marine Mammals and Sea Turtles: Methods and Analytical Approach for Phase III Training and Testing* (Technical Report prepared by NUWC Division Newport, Space and Naval Warfare Systems Center Pacific, G2 Software Systems, and the National Marine Mammal Foundation). Newport, RI: Naval Undersea Warfare Center.
- von Benda-Beckmann, A. M., P. J. Wensveen, P. H. Kvadsheim, F. P. Lam, P. J. Miller, P. L. Tyack, and M. A. Ainslie. (2014). Modeling effectiveness of gradual increases in source level to mitigate effects of sonar on marine mammals. *Conservation Biology*, *28*(1), 119–128.
- Wensveen, P. J., P. H. Kvadsheim, F.-P. A. Lam, A. M. Von Benda-Beckmann, L. D. Sivle, F. Visser, C. Curé, P. Tyack, and P. J. O. Miller. (2017). Lack of behavioural responses of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) indicate limited effectiveness of sonar mitigation. *The Journal of Experimental Biology, 220*, 1–12.
- Williams, B. K., R. C. Szaro, and C. D. Shapiro. (2009). *Adaptive Management: The U.S. Department of the Interior Technical Guide*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of the Interior.
- Zitterbart, D. P., L. Kindermann, E. Burkhardt, and O. Boebel. (2013). Automatic round-the-clock detection of whales for mitigation from underwater noise impacts. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8), e71217.

This page intentionally left blank.
6 Additional Regulatory Considerations

6

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

### **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

### Northwest Training and Testing

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	ADE	DITIONAL	REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS	6-1	
6.1	Consistency with Other Applicable Federal, State, and Local Plans, Policies, and				
	Regul	ations		6-1	
	6.1.1	Coastal	Zone Management Act Compliance	6-6	
		6.1.1.1	Washington Coastal Zone Management Program	6-6	
		6.1.1.2	Oregon Coastal Management Program	6-7	
		6.1.1.3	California Coastal Management Program	6-7	
		6.1.1.4	Alaska Coastal Management Program	6-7	
	6.1.2	Marine	Marine Protected Areas		
		6.1.2.1	Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary	6-8	
	6.1.3	Magnus	on-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act	6-13	
6.2	Relati	onship Between Short-Term Use of the Environment and Maintenance and			
	Enhar	icement o	of Long-Term Productivity	6-13	
6.3	Irreve	eversible or Irretrievable Commitment of Resources6-13			
6.4	Energy Requirements and Conservation Potential of Alternatives				

## **List of Figures**

Figure 6-1: Marine Protected Areas in and Near the Offshore Area Portion of the Study Area	6-9
Figure 6-2: Marine Protected Areas in and Near the Inland Waters Area of the Study Area	6-10

### List of Tables

Table 6.1-1: Summary of Environmental Compliance for the Proposed Action	6-1
Table 6.1-2: Marine Protected Areas Located Within the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area	
6	-11

This page intentionally left blank.

# 6 Additional Regulatory Considerations

In accordance with the Council on Environmental Quality regulations for implementing the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), federal agencies shall, to the fullest extent possible, integrate the requirements of NEPA with other planning and environmental review procedures required by law or by agency practice so that all such procedures run concurrently rather than consecutively. This chapter summarizes environmental compliance for the Proposed Action; consistency with other federal, state, and local plans, policies, and regulations in addition to the ones discussed in Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences); the relationship between short-term impacts and the maintenance and enhancement of long-term productivity in the affected environment; irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources; and energy conservation.

# 6.1 Consistency with Other Applicable Federal, State, and Local Plans, Policies, and Regulations

Implementation of the Proposed Action addressed in this Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas EIS (OEIS) (Supplemental) would comply with applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and executive orders (EOs). The United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy (Navy) is consulting with and will continue to consult with regulatory agencies, as appropriate, during the NEPA process and prior to implementing the Proposed Action.

Table 6.1-1 summarizes environmental compliance requirements that were considered in preparing this Supplemental (including those that may be secondary considerations in the resource evaluations). Section 3.0.2 (Regulatory Framework) provides brief excerpts of the primary federal statutes, EOs, international standards, and guidance that form the regulatory framework for the resource evaluations. Section 1.6 (The Environmental Planning Process) provides brief excerpts of the primary federal statutes, EOs, and guidance that form the regulatory framework for the resource evaluations in Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences). Documentation of consultation and coordination with regulatory agencies is provided in Appendix I (Agency Correspondence).

Statutes, Regulations, Executive Orders, International Standards, and Guidance	Status of Compliance	
Statutes and Regulations		
Abandoned Shipwreck Act (43 United States [U.S.] Code [U.S.C.] sections 2101–2106)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
Act to Prevent Pollution from Ships (33 U.S.C. sections 1901–1915)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
Antiquities Act (16 U.S.C. sections 431–433)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	

Table 6.1-1: Summar	y of Environmental	Compliance for	or the Proposed Action
---------------------	--------------------	----------------	------------------------

Statutes, Regulations, Executive Orders, International Standards, and Guidance	Status of Compliance	
Statutes and Regulations (continued)		
Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (16 U.S.C. 668–668c)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. sections 7401 et	These level requirements have not changed since the 2015 NM/TT	

clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. sections 7401 et seq.) Clean Air Act General Conformity Rule (40 CFR section 93[B]) State Implementation Plan (SIP)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.
Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.
Coastal Zone Management Act (16 U.S.C. sections 1451-1464)	The legal description and the definitions for this Act from the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS have not changed. As described in the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS, a Consistency Determination or a Negative Determination may be submitted for review of federal agency activities.
	This Supplemental analyzes potential effects to species listed under the ESA and is administered by both the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) and National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS).
	In accordance with Section 7 of the ESA (50 CFR section 402), during the preparation of the 2015 MITT Final EIS/OEIS, the Navy prepared a Biological Assessment and submitted it to the USFWS. A Biological Opinion (BO) was issued by USFWS and remains valid. The Navy will continue to adhere to any BO terms and conditions listed therein.
Endangered Species Act (ESA) (16 U.S.C. sections 1531 et seq.)	The Navy is preparing another Biological Assessment that will be submitted to NMFS as part of formal consultation. A BO may be issued by NMFS and the Navy will adhere to any BO terms and conditions listed therein.
	In addition, the Navy will apply for a Letter of Authorization (LOA), which is expected to impose terms and conditions that, when implemented, would make ESA Section 9 prohibitions inapplicable to covered Navy activities. The MMPA LOA permit may be issued by NMFS prior to the issuance of the Record of Decision on this Supplemental.

Statutes, Regulations, Executive Orders, International Standards, and Guidance	Status of Compliance	
Historic Sites, Buildings and Antiquities Act, 1935 (54 U.S.C. 320101 et seq.) Antiquities Act (54 U.S.C. sections 320301–320303)	The citations and naming conventions for Historic Sites, Buildings and Antiquities Act have changed slightly since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. However, no substantive changes to the laws have occurred since 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (16 U.S.C. sections 1801–1882)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) (16 U.S.C. sections 1431 et seq.)	This Supplemental EIS/OEIS updates the analysis and will be the basis for a request for a 7-year LOA, which is a change from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS per the 2018 National Defense Authorization Act and the MMPA, as the NMFS permitting period has been changed from 5- to 7-year permits, to cover the Navy's proposed activities for the 2020–2027 timeframe.	
Migratory Bird Treaty Act (16 U.S.C. sections 703–712)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
National Fishery Enhancement Act (33 U.S.C. section 2101 et seq.)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
Statutes and Regulations (continued)		
National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) (54 U.S.C. section 306108)	The Proposed Action is consistent with the national policy for the preservation of historic sites, buildings, and objects of national significance. See Section 3.10 (Cultural Resources) for the assessment. Navy activities are currently covered under the completed Section 106 consultation for the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The Navy will engage in consultation under NHPA Section 106 to support the Proposed Action in the Study Area under this Supplemental.	
National Marine Sanctuaries Act (16 U.S.C. sections 1431–1445c-1)	The Navy and NMFS will be submitting a joint Sanctuary Resource Statement to Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary (OCNMS). OCNMS will have 45 days to respond with conservation recommendations for the agencies to consider.	
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. section 6901 et seq.) Military Munitions Rule	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	

Statutes, Regulations, Executive Orders, International Standards, and Guidance	Status of Compliance	
Rivers and Harbors Act (33 U.S.C. section 401 et seq.)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
The Sikes Act of 1960 (16 U.S.C. sections 670a-670o, as amended by the Sikes Act Improvement Act of 1997, Public Law No. 105-85), requires military installations with significant natural resources to prepare and implement Integrated Natural Resource Management Plans (INRMPs).	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
Submerged Lands Act of 1953 (43 U.S.C. sections 1301–1315)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
Sunken Military Craft Act (Public Law 108–375, 10 U.S.C. section 113 Note and 118 Stat. 2094–2098)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
Wilderness Act (Public Law 88–577, 16 U.S.C. 1131–1136)	The Wilderness Act was not included in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The Proposed Action is consistent with the management policies for the Daniel J. Evans Wilderness unit in Olympic National Park.	
Executive Orders (EOs)		
EO 11990, Protection of Wetlands	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
EO 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	
EO 12962, Recreational Fisheries	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	

Statutes, Regulations, Executive Orders, International Standards, and Guidance	Status of Compliance			
EOs (continued)				
EO 13045, Protection of Children from Environmental Health Risks and Safety Risks	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.			
EO 13089, Coral Reef Protection	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.			
EO 13112, Invasive Species	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.			
EO 13158, Marine Protected Areas	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.			
EO 13175, Consultation and Coordination With Indian Tribal Governments	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.			
EO 13547, Stewardship of the Ocean, Our Coasts, and the Great Lakes	This EO was revoked and replaced by EO13840, Ocean Policy to Advance the Economic, Security, and Environmental Interests of the United States, since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.			
EO 13693, Planning for Federal Sustainability in the Next Decade	This EO was revoked and replaced by EO 13834, <i>Efficient Federal Operations</i> since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS.			
EO 13783, Promoting Energy Independence and Economic Growth	This EO revokes EO 13653, <i>Preparing the United States for the Impacts of Climate Change</i> . The Proposed Action is consistent with the policy's goals for the safe, efficient development of domestic energy resources.			
EO 13792, Review of Designations Under the Antiquities Act	On April 26, 2017, EO 13792 was issued and directed the Secretary of the Interior to review designations of national monuments made since 1996. The Proposed Action is consistent with this EO and considers all national monuments that are still designated as such.			
EO 13834, Efficient Federal Operations	The Proposed Action is consistent with the federal government's order to prioritize actions that reduce waste, cut costs, enhance the resilience of federal infrastructure and operations, and enable more effective accomplishment of an agency's mission. This Executive Order revokes EO 13693, <i>Planning for Federal Sustainability in the Next Decade</i> .			

Statutes, Regulations, Executive Orders, International Standards, and Guidance	Status of Compliance	
EOs (continued)		
EO 13840, Ocean Policy to Advance the Economic, Security, and Environmental Interests of the United States	The Proposed Action is consistent with the comprehensive national policy for the Ocean Policy to Advance the Economic, Security, and Environmental Interests of the United States (which replaced EO 13547, Stewardship of the Ocean, Our Coasts, and the Great Lakes).	
International Standards		
International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL)	These legal requirements have not changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the Navy has verified that the updated activity array and stressor quantities do not change its compliance with these requirements.	

Notes: CFR = Code of Federal Regulations, U.S. = United States, NMFS = National Marine Fisheries Service, NWTT = Northwest Training and Testing, EIS = Environmental Impact Statement, OEIS = Overseas Environmental Impact Statement, MMPA = Marine Mammal Protection Act, MBTA = Migratory Bird Treaty Act, ESA = Endangered Species Act, INRMP = Integrated Natural Resource Management Plan, OCNMS = Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary

#### 6.1.1 Coastal Zone Management Act Compliance

The 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS describes the *Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972* (16 United States Code [U.S.C.] section 1451, et seq.). This description and the definitions from the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS have not changed. See Section 4.3.5.5 (Shoreline Development) and 4.4.6.3 (Coastal Development) in the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS for additional information regarding management of the coastal zone within the NWTT Study Area.

As described in the 2015 Final NWTT EIS/OEIS, a Consistency Determination (CD) or a Negative Determination may be submitted for review of federal agency activities.

#### 6.1.1.1 Washington Coastal Zone Management Program

In 1976, the State of Washington's Coastal Zone Management Program (CZMP) was the first to be accepted and approved by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and implemented by the Washington Department of Ecology. Washington's CZMP is primarily based on their Shoreline Management Act of 1971, as well as other state land use and resource management laws. Any public federal project carried out with a federal agency, or private project licensed or permitted by a federal agency, or carried out with a federal grant, must be determined to have "Federal Consistency," which means the project is consistent with Washington's CZMP.

The coastal zone includes all lands and waters from the coastline seaward to 3 NM. The coastline along the inland marine waters is located at the seaward limit of rivers, bays, estuaries, or sound. The inland political boundaries of the counties are used as the Coastal Zone limit because they generally follow drainage divides. The Act specifically excludes from the coastal zone those lands that are subject solely by law to the discretion of or held in trust by the federal government (e.g., military reservations and other defense installations, all lands within National Parks, the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary, Indian lands held in trust by the federal government, and National Forest lands and National

Recreation Areas owned or leased by the federal government) (Washington State Department of Ecology, 2001).

The federal CZMA also gives special funding to assist in making improvements to the state CZMP. Washington State participates in these voluntary Improvement Grants, otherwise known as the Section 309 Program, in order to update and amend the Shoreline Master Program Guidelines under Washington's Shoreline Management Act. Washington conducted a self-assessment of their CZMP that was finalized in 2015 for improvements to the program from 2016 to 2020. The various updates to the program will be considered in the CD process between the Navy and Washington Department of Ecology (Washington Department of Ecology, 2015).

In June 2018, the State of Washington finalized and adopted a new Pacific Coast Marine Spatial Plan. The Marine Spatial Plan includes scientific information on ocean uses and resources, provides a framework for evaluating future ocean use proposals, and establishes protections for sensitive areas and fisheries. The plan was submitted to NOAA to be reviewed and approved for incorporation into Washington State's CZMP. Since there is a history of military presence off the coast of Washington State, the Marine Spatial Plan includes a section about military operations. Under a Federal Consistency determination, the Navy must be compliant with the state's implementation of the Marine Spatial Plan (Washington State Department of Ecology, 2018).

### 6.1.1.2 Oregon Coastal Management Program

The Oregon Coastal Management Program was described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and has not changed. The Navy submitted a negative determination to the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development for the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the State of Oregon concurred. No new consultation would be required as a result of the Proposed Action because no training and testing activities are proposed within the Oregon Coastal Zone, and no proposed activities would affect any land or water use of natural resource of Oregon's coastal zone. The Navy intends to send the Oregon Coastal Management Program a letter stating that a revised negative determination is not required as there are still no proposed training or testing activities planned to occur within the Oregon Coastal Zone as concluded in the Navy's Negative Determination that supported the 2015 NWTT EIS/OEIS.

### 6.1.1.3 California Coastal Management Program

The California Coastal Act was described in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and has not changed. Previously, the Navy submitted a negative determination to the California Coastal Commission for the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The California Coastal Commission concurred with the Navy's negative determination, in which the Commission agreed that it does not appear reasonably foreseeable that the proposed activities would affect California coastal zone resources. In accordance with the Coastal Zone Management Act, the Navy will comply with California's Coastal Management Plan.

### 6.1.1.4 Alaska Coastal Management Program

The Alaska Coastal Management Program (CMP) ended at 12:01 a.m., Alaska Standard Time on July 1, 2011 per state legislative action (AS 44.66.030). The Legislature adjourned the special legislative session May 14, 2011 without passing legislation required to extend the Alaska CMP. Therefore, Alaska currently does not have an approved CMP, and the Navy has no requirements to prepare and submit a CD.

### 6.1.2 Marine Protected Areas

The 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS discussed Marine Protected Areas (MPA) that overlapped with the Study Area (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2015). EO 13792, *Review of Designations Under the Antiquities Act*,

authorized a review by the Secretary of Interior of certain designated National Monuments under the Antiquities Act. No changes have been made currently to any of the National Monuments in the Study Area. Figure 6-1 and Figure 6-2 show MPAs in the Offshore Area and Inland Waters. These areas include the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary (OCNMS), National Wildlife Refuges, state or local MPAs that are included in the National System of Marine Protected Areas, and the marine component of the Olympic National Park. This Supplemental has been prepared in accordance with requirements for natural or cultural resources protected under the National System of MPAs. While several MPAs are located within the Study Area and are included in the National System of MPAs, it is important to note that through standard operating procedures, the Navy takes every precaution to train or test in these areas sparingly. Table 6.1-2 provides information on the MPAs that are new, have regulations that have changed since the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, or have new or different Navy training and testing activities proposed to occur. Further analysis and discussion of Marine Protected Areas can be found in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS Chapter 6 (Table 6.1-2). Additionally, the OCNMS within the Study Area receives protection under both EO 13158 and the National Marine Sanctuaries Act and is described in more detail below.

#### 6.1.2.1 Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary

Details of the OCNMS are discussed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS, and the dimensions, species, and descriptions of the area have not changed. The offshore portion of the Study Area encompasses the OCNMS. All allowed Department of Defense (DoD) military training and testing activities currently are, and would continue to be, carried out in a manner that avoids to the maximum extent practicable any adverse impacts on Sanctuary resources and qualities. Air-to-water bombing, and high explosives are not used in the Sanctuary. Therefore, proposed training and testing activities are consistent with those described in the sanctuary's designation document and in Section 6.4.5 (Department of Defense Activities) of the *Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Final Management Plan and Environmental Assessment* (2011), authored and published by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and would continue to be exempt from the prohibitions identified in the Sanctuary's regulations. The mitigation developed for MMPA/ESA impacts (see Chapter 5, Mitigation) would be applied to all activities occurring near or within the Sanctuary. Further, the Navy would continue to regulate which training and testing activities occur within the Sanctuary based on existing requirements, as discussed below.

To ensure compliance with the National Marine Sanctuary Program regulations and the interagency consultation requirements of National Marine Sanctuaries Act section 304(d), the Navy considered all proposed modifications to training and testing activities to determine whether they have the potential to destroy, cause the loss of, or injure sanctuary resources, or result in adverse impacts on sanctuary resources or qualities. The Navy and NMFS will be submitting a joint Sanctuary Resource Statement to OCNMS. OCNMS has 45 days to respond with conservation recommendations for the agencies to consider. The Navy has considered and found some additional mitigation measures as indicated in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment). These mitigation measures in the OCNMS are to limit mid-frequency 1 sonar training hours to no more than 32 hours annually; 20 percent of the total annual training authorization of 164 hours. Should national security present a requirement to use mid-frequency 1 sonar or explosive munitions for training in this area during the designated timeframe, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to commencement of the activity. The Navy will provide NMFS with advance notification and include the information in its annual activity reports submitted to NMFS.

#### Northwest Training and Testing Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS



Figure 6-1: Marine Protected Areas in and Near the Offshore Area Portion of the Study Area



Figure 6-2: Marine Protected Areas in and Near the Inland Waters Area of the Study Area

### Table 6.1-2: Marine Protected Areas Located Within the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area

Marine Protected Area	Location Within the Study Area	Protection Focus	Regulations Applicable to Navy Activities	Navy Proposed Training and Testing Activities and Potential Impacts
Copalis National Wildlife Refuge	Washington (Offshore Area)	Ecosystem	The Refuge is closed to visitation to protect wildlife and other natural, cultural, and other resources consistent with the conservation purpose of the Refuge.	The Navy conducts no activities in or near this area, but Navy ships may transit near or through the reserve.
Ebey's Landing National Historical Reserve	Washington (Puget Sound)	Natural Heritage	The Reserve covers the entire central Whidbey Island area, including Penn Cove.	The Navy's proposed activities in the Inland Waters would not occur within the limits of the Reserve and therefore would not violate the spatial boundaries or restrictions of the Reserve.
Flattery Rocks National Wildlife Refuge	Washington (Offshore Area)	Ecosystem	The Refuge is closed to visitors to protect wildlife and other natural, cultural, and other resources consistent with the conservation purpose of the Refuge.	The Navy conducts no activities in or near this area, but Navy ships may transit near or through the Refuge.
Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary	Washington (Offshore Area)	Ecosystem	The regulations state that "all Department of Defense (DoD) activities must be carried out in a manner that avoids to the maximum extent practicable any adverse impacts on sanctuary resources and qualities." If a DoD activity causes any destruction, loss, or injury to a Sanctuary resource, then the "DoD, in coordination with the Director, must promptly prevent and mitigate further damage and must restore or replace the Sanctuary resource or quality in a manner approved by the Director."	The Navy and NMFS will be submitting a joint Sanctuary Resource Statement to the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary (OCNMS). OCNMS will have 45 days to respond with conservation recommendations for the agencies to consider.

Marine Protected Area	Location Within the Study Area	Protection Focus	Regulations Applicable to Navy Activities	Navy Proposed Training and Testing Activities and Potential Impacts
Olympic National Park	Washington (Offshore Area)	Ecosystem	Vessels are prohibited from creating a wake or exceeding 5 miles per hour, 100 yards from shoreline in undeveloped areas. Permits are required for aircraft and air delivery; delivery/retrieval of a person/object by parachute, helicopter, or other airborne means; or removal of a downed aircraft. As a designated World Heritage Site, the Olympic National Park was analyzed in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS in Appendix K (World Heritage Site Analysis).	The Navy does not conduct ship or submarine activities in Olympic National Park but does conduct flight activities in the Olympic Military Operations Areas in national airspace above the Park. The environmental analysis for placement of mobile emitters on U.S. Forest lands outside the Olympic National Park supporting these activities was included in the Navy's Electronic Warfare Range Environmental Assessment. The Navy received special use permits from the U.S. Forest Service for placement of these emitters. Analysis of flight activities over the Olympic National Park within the MOA airspace is included in this Proposed Action. The Navy completed a noise study in Appendix J (Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas) to support determinations made in Section 3.12 (Socioeconomic Resources) that noise impacts on the Park and its resources would not rise to the level of significance for cultural or biological resources (see Appendix J, Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas).
Quillayute Needles National Wildlife Refuge	Washington (Offshore Area)	Seabirds/ Wildlife	No discharge/depositing, no dredging or altering the seabed, no motorized aircraft below 2,000 ft. or within 1 NM seaward, and no bombing activities.	The Navy does not discharge/deposit into, dredge, or alter the seabed; fly motorized aircraft below 2,000 ft. or within 1 NM seaward of Quillayute Needles National Wildlife Refuge; or conduct bombing activities in the refuge.

#### Table 6.1-2: Marine Protected Areas Located Within the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area (continued)

Notes: DoD = Department of Defense, EIS/OEIS = Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement, Navy = United States Department of the Navy, NM = nautical miles, NMFS = National Marine Fisheries Service, OCNMS = Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary, U.S. = United States, MOA = Military Operations Area

#### 6.1.3 Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act

The Proposed Action has the potential to impact Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) and managed species within the Study Area. The Navy prepared an EFH Assessment for the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. The relevant science has not changed measurably since 2015 and this Supplemental covers similar training and testing activities in the same study area as those analyzed in 2015 (a copy of the EFH Assessment is available at https://www.NWTTEIS.com).

The Navy will continue to coordinate with NMFS to ensure that the best available data is being used for continued compliance with the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act.

### 6.2 Relationship Between Short-Term Use of the Environment and Maintenance and Enhancement of Long-Term Productivity

In accordance with the Council on Environmental Quality regulations (Part 1502), this Supplemental analyzes the relationship between the short-term impacts on the environment and the effects those impacts may have on the maintenance and enhancement of the long-term productivity of the affected environment. This analysis has not changed since the analysis conducted in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. See Section 6.2 (Relationship Between Short-Term Use of the Environment and Maintenance and Enhancement of Long-Term Productivity) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS for more information (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2015).

#### 6.3 Irreversible or Irretrievable Commitment of Resources

NEPA requires that environmental analysis include identification of "any irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources which would be involved in the Proposed Action should it be implemented" (42 U.S.C. section 4332). This analysis has not changed since it was conducted in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS and the Navy's activities have been ongoing and continuous since then. See Section 6.3 (Irreversible or Irretrievable Commitment of Resources) of the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS for more information (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2015).

### 6.4 Energy Requirements and Conservation Potential of Alternatives

Pursuant to the operational strategy report in 2011, the DoD published an implementation plan to integrate operational energy considerations and transformation into existing programs, processes, and institutions (U.S. Department of Defense, 2012). The DoD consumed approximately 1.3 percent of the total U.S. oil and petroleum consumption in Fiscal Year 2013. It is the largest single user in the nation (Burke, 2014). The Navy consumes approximately 26 percent of the total DoD share (U.S. Department of Defense, 2016). In Fiscal Year 2013, the Navy consumed almost 90 million barrels of liquid fuel (Burke, 2014). In 2016, the DoD published a new Operational Energy Strategy to update the 2011 strategy and transform the way energy is consumed in military operations; the strategy sets the overall direction for operational energy security (U.S. Department of Defense, 2016). The 2016 strategy shifts focus towards three objectives: (1) increasing future warfighting capability by including energy throughout future force development; (2) identifying and reducing logistic and operational risks from operational energy vulnerabilities; (3) and enhancing the force's mission effectiveness through updated equipment and improvements in training, exercises, and operations (U.S. Department of Defense, 2016). These documents provide guidance to the DoD in how to better use energy resources and transform the way we power current and future forces.

Training and testing activities within the Study Area would result in an increase in energy demand over current activities. The energy demand would arise from fuel (e.g., gasoline, diesel) consumption, mainly

from aircraft and vessels participating in training and testing. Details of fuel consumption by training and testing activities on an annual basis are set forth in the air quality emissions calculation spreadsheets available on the project website. Aircraft fuel consumption is estimated to decrease by approximately 28 percent and 26 percent per year under Alternative 1 and Alternative 2, respectively, when compared to current rates of aircraft fuel consumption for training and testing activities. Vessel fuel consumption is estimated to increase by 140 percent under Alternative 1 and by 163 percent per year under Alternative 2, when compared to current rates of vessel fuel consumption during training and testing activities. Fuel consumption would result in a net total increase of 7 percent and 13 percent for Alternative 1 and 2, respectively. The alternatives could result in a net cumulative reduction in the global energy (fuel) supply. The significant increase in vessel testing fuel consumption for Alternatives 1 and 2 is due to additional testing operations compared to the baseline, including operations that were previously not analyzed; and updated fuel flow rates for vessels, which are significantly higher for certain vessels, including guided-missile destroyer.

Energy requirements would be subject to any established energy conservation practices. The use of energy sources has been minimized wherever possible without compromising safety, training, or testing activities. No additional conservation measures related to direct energy consumption by the proposed training and testing activities are identified. The Navy's energy vision given in the Operational Energy Strategy report (2016) is consistent with energy conservation practices and states that the Navy values energy as a strategic resource, understands how energy security is fundamental to executing our mission afloat and ashore, and is resilient to any potential energy future.

The Navy is committed to improving energy security and environmental stewardship by reducing its reliance on fossil fuels. The Navy is actively developing and participating in energy, environmental, and climate change initiatives that will increase use of alternative energy and help conserve the world's resources for future generations. Two Navy programs—the Incentivized Energy Conservation Program and the Naval Sea Systems Command's Fleet Readiness, Research and Development Program—are helping the fleet conserve fuel via improved operating procedures and long-term initiatives. The Incentivized Energy Conservation Program encourages the operation of ships in the most efficient manner while conducting their mission and supporting the Secretary of the Navy's efforts to reduce total energy consumption on naval ships. The Naval Sea Systems Command's Fleet Readiness, Research, and Development Program includes the High-Efficiency Heating, Ventilating, and Air Conditioning. These are improvements to existing shipboard technologies that will both help with fleet readiness and decrease the ships' energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions.

These initiatives are expected to greatly reduce the consumption of fossil fuels (Section 3.1, Sediments and Water Quality). Furthermore, to offset the impact of its expected near-term increased fuel demands and achieve its goals of reducing fossil fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions, the Navy has launched the first vessels of its Great Green Fleet in San Diego (Olson, 2016). The Great Green Fleet was a year-long, Department of the Navy initiative that demonstrated the sea service's efforts to transform its energy use (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2016). The Great Green Fleet's centerpiece was a Carrier Strike Group that deployed on alternative fuels, including nuclear power for the carrier and a blend of advanced biofuel made from beef fat and traditional petroleum for its escort ships (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2016). Throughout 2016, other platforms included ships, aircraft, amphibious and expeditionary forces, and shore installations from the Department of the Navy that participated in the Great Green Fleet by using energy-efficient systems, operational procedures, or alternative fuel during the course of planned mission functions throughout the world (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2016).

### **REFERENCES**

- Burke, S. (2014). Statement by Ms. Sharon Burke: Hearing before the Subcommittee on Readiness and Management Support, Senate Armed Services Committe, United States Senate. Washington, DC: Subcommittee on Readiness and Management Support.
- Office of National Marine Sanctuaries. (2011). *Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary: Final Management Plan and Environmental Assessment*. Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration.
- Olson, W. (2016). Navy launching first Great Green Fleet next week. *Stars and Stripes*. Retrieved from http://www.stripes.com/news/pacific/navy-launching-first-great-green-fleet-next-week-1.388769.
- U.S. Department of Defense. (2012). *Operational Energy Strategy: Implementation Plan*. Washington, DC: Assistant Secretary of Defense for Operational Energy Plans & Programs.
- U.S. Department of Defense. (2016). 2016 Operational Energy Strategy. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Defense.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2015). *Northwest Training and Testing Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement, Final*. Silverdale, WA: Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2016). *Great Green Fleet*. Retrieved from http://greenfleet.dodlive.mil/energy/great-green-fleet/.
- Washington Department of Ecology. (2015). *Washington Coastal Zone Management Section 309 Assessment & Strategy, 2016–2020*. Olympia, WA: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.
- Washington State Department of Ecology. (2001). *Managing Washington's Coast: Washington's Coastal Zone Management Program*. Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.
- Washington State Department of Ecology. (2018). *Marine Spatial Plan for Washington's Pacific Coast*. Olympia, WA: State of Washington.

This page intentionally left blank.

7 List of Preparers

7

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

### **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

### Northwest Training and Testing

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF PREPARERS ......7-1

### **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this chapter.

## **List of Tables**

There are no tables in this chapter.

This page intentionally left blank.

### 7 List of Preparers

#### U.S. Department of the Navy

Andrea Balla-Holden (Commander, U.S. Pacific Fleet) B.S., Fisheries Years of experience: 26

Victoria Bowman (Space & Naval Warfare Systems Command) B.A., Psychology Years of experience: 9

David Grant (Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest) M.A., Anthropology (Nautical Archaeology) Years of experience: 30

Elizabeth Henderson (Space & Naval Warfare Systems Command) Ph.D., Biological Oceanography M.Sc., Wildlife and Fisheries Sciences B.A., Psychobiology Years of experience: 19

Peter Hulton (Naval Undersea Warfare Center, Division Newport) B.S., Mechanical Engineering Years of experience: 35

Keith Jenkins (Space & Naval Warfare Systems Command) M.S., Fisheries Oceanography B.S., Marine Biology Years of experience: 18

Rose Johnson (Naval Sea Systems Command, Environmental Planning Branch) M.S., Environmental Management B.S., Environmental Science and Policy Years of experience: 9

Kimberly Kler (Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest) B.S., Environmental Policy Analysis and Planning Years of experience: 22

Sarah Kotecki (Space & Naval Warfare Systems Command Pacific) B.S., Civil and Environmental Engineering Years of experience: 18

Cynthia Kunz (Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest) M.S., Wildlife Science B.S., Wildlife Science Years of experience: 34

John Mosher (Commander, U.S. Pacific Fleet) B.S., Geology Years of experience: 31 Nicholas Paraskevas (Naval Air Systems Command) B.S., Aerospace and Ocean Engineering Years of experience: 43

Jennifer Paulk (Naval Air Systems Command) M.S., Physiology B.S., Psychology Years of experience: 22

Corey Pressley Plakos (Naval Air Systems Command Patuxent River) M.S., Conservation and Marine Ecology Years of experience: 15

Katherine Pollock (Naval Base Kitsap) M.A., Anthropology B.A., Anthropology Years of experience: 24

Jennie Shield (Space & Naval Warfare Systems Command) B.A., International Studies Years of experience: 12

Stephanie Sleeman (Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest)M.E.S., Environmental ScienceB.A., Environmental Policy and Planning; Minor, Marine ScienceYears of experience: 14

Jackie Queen (Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest) B.S., Fisheries Biology B.S., Wildlife Biology Years of experience: 14

#### Contractors

Conrad Erkelens (ManTech International) M.A., Anthropology B.A., Anthropology Years of experience: 23

Lucas Griswold (ManTech International) B.S., Environmental Engineering Years of experience: 3

Danny Heilprin (ManTech International) M.S., Marine Science B.A., Aquatic Biology Years of experience: 33

Dawn Houston (ManTech International) M.S., Wildlife Ecology B.S., Molecular Biology Years of experience: 12 Taylor Houston (ManTech International) M.B.A. B.S., Natural Resource Management Years of experience: 20

Cameron Martin (National Marine Mammal Foundation) B.S., Environmental Science Years of experience: 3

Robert Nielsen (AECOM) Ph.D., Fisheries Science M.S., Fisheries Science B.S., Fisheries and Wildlife Science Years of experience: 47

Sarah Rider (G2 Software Systems) M.E.M., Coastal Environmental Management B.S., Marine Science Years of experience: 13

Marya Samuelson (ManTech International) M.B.A., Project Management B.A., Environmental Studies Years of experience: 8

Gerald Sodano (SAIC) Air Traffic Control and Airspace Officer. Lieutenant Commander, USN (ret) Years of experience: 36

Valorie Thompson (Scientific Resources Associated) Ph.D., Chemical Engineering M.S., Chemical Engineering B.S., Chemistry Years of experience: 32

Michelle Tishler (National Marine Mammal Foundation) M.S., Marine Biology B.S., Wildlife Ecology and Conservation, Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences Minor Years of experience: 8

Allison Turner, Certified Public Participation Practitioner by the International Association of Public Participation (ManTech International)
M.E.S.M., Environmental Science & Management
B.A., Social Science emphasis in Environment
Years of experience: 19

Karen Waller (ManTech International) M.B.A., Environmental Management B.S., Public Affairs Years of experience: 29 Brian Wauer (ManTech International) B.S., Administrative Management B.S., Industrial Management Years of experience: 32

Mike Zickel (ManTech International) M.S., Marine Estuarine Environmental Sciences B.S., Physics Years of experience: 21

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

# **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

# Northwest Training and Testing

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

8		PUBL	IC INVOL	VEMENT AND DISTRIBUTION8-1	
	8.1	Projec	roject Website		
	8.2	Scopir	ng Period		
		8.2.1	Public Sc	oping Notification	
			8.2.1.1	Notification Letters	
			8.2.1.2	Postcard Mailers	
			8.2.1.3	Newspaper Advertisements	
			8.2.1.4	Press Releases	
			8.2.1.5	Subscriber Email Notifications8-20	
		8.2.2	Public Sc	oping Comments8-20	
			8.2.2.1	Proposed Action and Alternatives	
			8.2.2.2	National Environmental Policy Act and Public Involvement8-21	
			8.2.2.3	Location of Activities8-21	
			8.2.2.4	Segmentation8-21	
			8.2.2.5	Environmental Impact Analysis8-21	
			8.2.2.6	Cumulative Impacts	
			8.2.2.7	Sediments and Water Quality Impacts8-22	
			8.2.2.8	Air Quality8-23	
			8.2.2.9	Airborne Noise	
			8.2.2.10	Socioeconomic Resources8-24	
			8.2.2.11	Terrestrial Species and Habitats/Marine Birds8-24	
			8.2.2.12	Marine Resources8-24	
			8.2.2.13	Marine Mammal Impacts8-24	
			8.2.2.14	Fish/Marine Habitat8-24	
			8.2.2.15	American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources	
			8.2.2.16	Public Health and Safety8-25	
			8.2.2.17	Mitigation Measures8-25	

8.3	Notification of Availabilit Statement/Overseas Env	y of the Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact ironmental Impact Statement	8-26
	8.3.1 Notification of Dra Environmental Impact St	aft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/O atement and Public Meetings	verseas 8-26
	8.3.1.1 Notificat	ion Letters	8-26
	8.3.1.2 Postcard	ls	8-26
	8.3.1.3 Press Re	leases	8-26
	8.3.1.4 Newspa	per Advertisements	8-26
	8.3.2 Public Meetings		8-27
8.4	Distribution of the Draft	Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Over	seas
	Environmental Impact St	atement	8-27
	8.4.1 Federal Agencies.		8-27
	8.4.2 Information Repo	sitories	8-28

# **List of Figures**

Figure 8.2-1: Stakeholder Scoping Notification Letter	8-7
Figure 8.2-2: Postcard Mailer for Scoping	8-11
Figure 8.2-3: Newspaper Announcement for Scoping	8-14
Figure 8.2-4: Commander, Navy Region Northwest Scoping Press Release	8-16
Figure 8.2-5: Commander, Navy Region Northwest Comment Extension Press Release	8-18

### **List of Tables**

Table 8.2-1: Entities that Received the Scoping Notification Letter	8-2
Table 8.2-2: Newspaper Publications	8-13
Table 8.3-1: Newspaper Announcements of the Availability of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS and	
Public Meetings	8-27
Table 8.4-1: Information Repositories	8-28

# 8 Public Involvement and Distribution

This chapter describes the efforts to involve the public in preparing this Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (OEIS) (Supplemental) for Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT).

### 8.1 Project Website

A project website was established to provide the public with information and to accept comments electronically. The project website address is https://www.nwtteis.com and has been active since 2012. The website address was included in the *Federal Register* Notice of Intent to Prepare a Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement. It was also included in newspaper advertisements, stakeholder and federally recognized tribes notification letters, press releases, and postcard mailers disseminated for the Notice of Intent. The scoping fact sheet booklet, public notifications, maps, frequently asked questions, technical reports, informational videos, and various other materials are available on the project website and will be updated and made available throughout the course of the project. The website is periodically updated with project announcements, which are emailed to website subscribers.

### 8.2 Scoping Period

The public scoping period began with issuance of the Notice of Intent in the *Federal Register* on August 22, 2017 (82 FR 39779). At the request of the public and elected officials, the Navy extended the public scoping period to October 6, 2017, and a Notice of Extension of Scoping Period was published in the *Federal Register* on September 20, 2017 (82 FR 43950). Comments on the scope of the analysis were provided by mail and through the project website.

### 8.2.1 Public Scoping Notification

The Navy made significant efforts to notify the public to ensure maximum public participation during the scoping process. A summary of these efforts follows.

#### 8.2.1.1 Notification Letters

Tribal letters were mailed on August 18, 2017, via priority mail to 56 tribal chairpersons of federally recognized tribes. Stakeholder letters were mailed first-class on August 21, 2017, to 614 federal, state, and local elected officials and government agencies. Entities that received the scoping notification letter can be found in Table 8.2-1, and an example of a stakeholder letter can be found in Figure 8.2-1.

Federally Recognized Tribes and Tribal Groups	
Big Lagoon Rancheria, California	Organized Village of Saxman Pinoleville Pomo Nation,
Cahto Tribe of the Laytonville Rancheria	California
Central Council of the Tlingit and Haida Indian Tribes	Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribe
Cher-Ae Heights Indian Community of the Trinidad	Potter Valley Tribe, California
Rancheria, California	Puyallup Tribe of the Puyallup Reservation
Confederated Tribes and Bands of the Yakama Nation	Quileute Tribe of the Quileute Reservation
Confederated Tribes of the Coos, Lower Umpqua and	Quinault Indian Nation
Siuslaw Indians	Resighini Rancheria, California
Confederated Tribes of Grand Ronde Community of	Robinson Rancheria Band of Pomo Indians, California
Oregon	Round Valley Indian Tribes, Round Valley
Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation	Reservation, California
Confederated Tribes of Siletz Indians of Oregon	Samish Indian Nation
Coquille Indian Tribe	Sauk-Suiattle Indian Tribe
Cow Creek Band of Umpqua Tribe of Indians	Scotts Valley Band of Pomo Indians of California
Cowlitz Indian Tribe	Sherwood Valley Rancheria of Pomo Indians of
Coyote Valley Band of Pomo Indians of California Elk	California
Valley Rancheria, California	Shoalwater Bay Indian Tribe of the Shoalwater Bay
Hoh Indian Tribe	Indian Reservation
Hopland Band of Pomo Indians, California	Skokomish Indian Tribe
Hoopa Valley Tribe, California	Snoqualmie Indian Tribe
InterTribal Sinkyone Wilderness Council	Squaxin Island Tribe of the Squaxin Island
Jamestown S'Klallam Tribe	Reservation
Karuk Tribe	Stillaguamish Tribe of Indians of Washington
Ketchikan Indian Corporation	Suquamish Indian Tribe of the Port Madison
Little River Band of Pomo Indians	Reservation
Lower Elwha Tribal Community	Swinomish Indian Tribal Community
Lummi Tribe of the Lummi Reservation	Tolowa Dee-ni' Nation
Makah Indian Tribe of the Makah Reservation	Tulalip Tribes of Washington
Metlakatla Indian Community, Annette Island Reserve	Upper Skagit Indian Tribe
Muckleshoot Indian Tribe	Wiyot Tribe, California
Nisqually Indian Tribe	Yurok Tribe of the Yurok Reservation, California
Nooksack Indian Tribe	
Federal Elected Officials and Federal Agencies	
U.S. Senators (Washington, Oregon, California, Alaska) ar	nd Staff
U.S. Representatives (Alaska at large; California Districts	1, 2, 5; Oregon Districts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5; Washington
Districts 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9); and Staff	
Battelle Pacific Northwest Laboratory	
Bureau of Indian Affairs	
Northwest Regional Office	
Bureau of Land Management	
Oregon/Washington State Office	
Spokane District Office	
Bureau of Ocean Energy Management	
Pacific Outer Continental Shelf Region	
Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement	
Office of Offshore Regulatory Programs	

### Table 8.2-1: Entities that Received the Scoping Notification Letter

Western Pacific Region
Fisheries and Oceans Canada Pacific Region
Marine Mammal Commission
National Marine Protected Areas Center
National Park Service
Olympic National Park
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
Office of Law Enforcement
National Marine Fisheries Service
Arcata Field Office
Office of Protected Resources
Endangered Species Act Interagency Cooperation Division
Marine Mammal Permitting
West Coast Region
Washington Coast/Lower Columbia Habitat Branch
Northwest Regional Office
Northwest Fisheries Science Center
Washington Habitat Branch
Oregon Office
Southwest Oregon Habitat Branch
Ukiah Field Office
Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary
Advisory Council
Pacific Fishery Management Council
Puget Sound Federal Caucus
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
U.S. Army National Guard, Boardman Oregon
U.S. Coast Guard
District 13
District 17
Office of Operating and Environmental Standards
U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service
Olympic National Forest
Pacific Northwest Region U.S. Department of Commerce
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region X
Environmental Review & Sediment Management Unit
NEPA Compliance Division
U.S. Geological Survey
Alaska Science Center
NorthWest Region Office
Pacific Region Office
western Fisheries Research Center
U.S. FISH and Wildlife Service
Ailaid Unice Desific Pagion
Pacific Region
Nachington Maritimo Wildlife Pofuge Complex
Western Washington Office
Consultation & Conservation Dianning Division
Quilcone National Eish Hatshory

. . . . .

State Elected Officials and State Agencies	
Office of the Governor (Washington, Oregon, California, Alaska) and Staff	
State Senators (Washington Districts 1, 2, 7, 10, 19, 21, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 31, 32, 35, 38, 39, 44; Oregon	
Districts 1, 5, 16, 28, 29; California Districts 1, 2, 4; Alaska Districts A, B, C) and Staff	
State Representatives (Washington Districts 1, 2, 7, 10, 19, 21, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 31, 32, 35, 38, 39, 44;	
Oregon Districts 1, 9, 10, 31, 32, 57; California District 1; Alaska Districts 1, 2, 3, 4) and Staff	
Alaska Department Natural Resources	
Division of Forestry	
Alaska Department of Commerce	
Community and Economic Development	
Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation	
Alaska Department of Fish & Game	
Commercial Fisheries Division	
Division of Wildlife Conservation	
Habitat	
Sport Fish Division	
Sport Fishing	
Subsistence	
Alaska Department of Military & Veterans Affairs	
Alaska Department of Natural Resources	
Public Information Center	
Division of Forestry	
Division of Mining, Land and Water	
Division of Parks and Outdoor Recreation	
Office of History and Archaeology	
Alaska Department of Transportation & Public Facilities	
Division of Statewide Aviation	
Alaska Marine Highway	
Alaska Statement of Cooperation	
California Coastal Commission	
California Department of Fish and Wildlife	
California Environmental Protection Agency	
California Resources Agency	
Washington Coastal Marine Advisory Council	
Denartment of Commerce	
Community & Economic Development	
Division of Community and Regional Affairs	
Denartment of Environmental Conservation	
Division of Air Quality	
Division of Administrative Services	
Division of Environmental Health	
Division of Snill Prevention and Response	
Division of Water	
Department of Natural Resources	
Division of Mining Land and Water	
Division of Goological & Goophysical Surveys	
Division of Oil and Gas	
Division of Oli and Gas	
Department of Transportation & Public Excilition	
Department of Hansportation & Public Eddilles	
Division of Ports and Wildlife	
Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife	
Uregon Department of Forestry	

Dregon Department of Land Conservation and Development
Dregon Parks and Recreation Department
Dregon Department of State Lands
Dregon Military Department
Dregon State Department of Environmental Quality
Water Quality
Dregon Water Resources Department
Dregon Parks and Recreation Department
Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission
Puget Sound Partnership
Regulatory Commission of Alaska
Scappoose Industrial Air Park
State of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation
Division of Water
Washington State Department of Ecology
Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program
Washington State Department of Agriculture
Policy and Communications
Washington State Department of Archaeology & Historic Preservation
Washington State Department of Ecology
Northwest Regional Office
Southwest Regional Office
Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife, Region 6
Washington State Department of Natural Resources
Washington State Fish and Wildlife Commission
Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies Washington State
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies Washington State City of Aberdeen
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies Washington State City of Aberdeen City of Bainbridge Island
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies Washington State City of Aberdeen City of Bainbridge Island City of Everett
Jocal Elected Officials and Local Agencies Washington State City of Aberdeen City of Bainbridge Island City of Everett City of Forks
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Hoquiam
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Oak Harbor
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Oak Harbor         City of Ocean Shores
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Oak Harbor         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Oak Harbor         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Orchard
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Oak Harbor         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Townsend
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Hoquiam         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Townsend         City of Poulsbo
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Oak Harbor         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Townsend         City of Sequim
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Oak Harbor         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Townsend         City of Sequim         City of Shelton
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Hoquiam         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Townsend         City of Sequim         City of Shelton         City of Shelton         City of Tacoma
Local Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Moquiam         City of Oak Harbor         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Townsend         City of Sequim         City of Shelton         City of Tacoma         City of Westport
Jocal Elected Officials and Local Agencies Washington State City of Aberdeen City of Bainbridge Island City of Bainbridge Island City of Everett City of Forks City of Gig Harbor City of Gig Harbor City of Hoquiam City of Oak Harbor City of Ocean Shores City of Ocean Shores City of Port Angeles City of Port Angeles City of Port Townsend City of Port Townsend City of Sequim City of Shelton City of Shelton City of Westport Clallam County Board of Commissioners
Jocal Elected Officials and Local Agencies Washington State City of Aberdeen City of Bainbridge Island City of Bainbridge Island City of Everett City of Forks City of Gig Harbor City of Gig Harbor City of Hoquiam City of Ocean Shores City of Ocean Shores City of Port Angeles City of Port Angeles City of Port Townsend City of Port Townsend City of Sequim City of Shelton City of Shelton City of Shelton City of Westport Clallam County Board of Commissioners Frays Harbor County Board of Commissioners City of Docean Port Port Port Port Port Port Port Port
Jocal Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Hoquiam         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Townsend         City of Sequim         City of Shelton         City of Tacoma         City of Westport         Clallam County Board of Commissioners         Island County Board of Commissioners         Island County Board of Commissioners
Jocal Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Forks         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Hoquiam         City of Ocan Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Townsend         City of Sequim         City of Shelton         City of Shelton         City of Westport         Clallam County Board of Commissioners         Island County Board of Commissioners         Jefferson County Board of Commissioners         Jefferson County Board of Commissioners         Jefferson County Board of Commissioners
Jocal Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Oak Harbor         City of Ocean Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Orchard         City of Port Townsend         City of Sequim         City of Sequim         City of Sequim         City of Westport         Clallam County Board of Commissioners         Island County Board of Commissioners         Jefferson County Board of Commissioners         Island County Board of Commissioners         Kitsap County Board of Commissioners         Kitsap County Board of Commissioners         Kitsap County Board of Commissioners
Jocal Elected Officials and Local Agencies Washington State City of Aberdeen City of Bainbridge Island City of Everett City of Forks City of Forks City of Gig Harbor City of Oak Harbor City of Oak Harbor City of Ocan Shores City of Port Angeles City of Port Angeles City of Port Townsend City of Poulsbo City of Sequim City of Shelton City of Shelton City of Tacoma City of Westport Clallam County Board of Commissioners Island County Board of Commissioners Jefferson County Board of Commissioners Kitsap County Board of Commissioners Kitsap County Board of Commissioners Mason County
Jocal Elected Officials and Local Agencies         Washington State         City of Aberdeen         City of Bainbridge Island         City of Everett         City of Forks         City of Gig Harbor         City of Oak Harbor         City of Ocan Shores         City of Port Angeles         City of Port Townsend         City of Sequim         City of Sequim         City of Shelton         City of Westport         Clallam County Board of Commissioners         Island County Board of Commissioners         Jefferson County Board of Commissioners         Kitsap County Board of Commissioners         Mason County         Pacific County Board of Commissioners         Mason County         Pacific County Board of Commissioners

San Juan County Council
Snohomish County Council
City of Oak Harbor Planning Services Division
City of Ocean Shores
Friday Harbor Airport
Oregon State
City of Astoria
City of Bandon
City of Bay City
City of Brookings
City of Cannon Beach
City of Coos Bay
City of Depoe Bay
City of Garibaldi
City of Gearhart
City of Gold Beach
City of Lakeside
City of Lincoln City
City of Manzanita
City of Nehalem
City of Newport
City of North Bend
City of Port Orford
City of Reedsport
City of Rockaway Beach
City of Seaside
City of Tillamook
City of Warrenton
City of Wheeler
City of Yachats
Clatsop County Board of Commissioners
Coos County Board of Commissioners
Curry County Board of Commissioners
Lane County Board of Commissioners
Lincoln County
Tillamook County Board of Commissioners
Depoe Bay Nearshore Action Team
Office of Lincoln County
Port Orford Watershed Council
California State
City of Arcata
City of Crescent City
City of Eureka
City of Fort Bragg
City of Point Arena
City of Trinidad
Del Norte County Board of Supervisors
Humboldt County Board of Supervisors
Mendocino County Board of Supervisors
Humboldt County Democratic Central Committee
Alaska State
City of Ketchikan
Ketchikan Gateway Borough


5090 Ser N465/0952 August 21, 2017

The Proposed Action is to conduct at-sea training and testing activities within the Study Area. Activities include the use of active sonar and explosives while employing marine species protective mitigation measures. The purpose of the Proposed Action is to maintain a ready force, which is needed to ensure the Navy can accomplish its mission to maintain, train, and equip combat-ready naval forces capable of winning wars, deterring aggression, and maintaining freedom of the seas, consistent with Congressional direction in section 5062 of Title 10 of the U.S. Code.

To achieve and maintain military readiness, the Navy proposes to:

- Conduct at-sea training and testing activities at levels required to support military readiness requirements beyond 2020; and
- Accommodate evolving mission requirements, including those resulting from the development, testing, and introduction of new vessels, aircraft, and weapons systems into the fleet.

Public comments will be accepted during the 30-day scoping period beginning August 22, 2017 and extending through September 21, 2017. Comments must be postmarked or received online by **September 21, 2017** for consideration in the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS. Comments may be submitted online at **www.NWTTEIS.com**, or by mail to:

Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest Attention: NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager 3730 North Charles Porter Avenue, Building 385 Oak Harbor, WA 98278-3500

For more information, please visit the project website at www.NWTTEIS.com or contact Ms. Jackie Queen, NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager, at 360-257-3852, or email jackie.queen@navy.mil.

Please help the Navy inform the community about the intent to prepare the Supplemental EIS/OEIS for at-sea training and testing in the Pacific Northwest by sharing this information with your staff and interested individuals.

Sincerely,

Kary M. footer

L. M. FOSTER By direction

Enclosure: 1. Northwest Training and Testing Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement Study Area

2

Figure 8.2-1: Stakeholder Scoping Notification Letter (continued)



Figure 8.2-1: Stakeholder Scoping Notification Letter (continued)

#### 8.2.1.2 Postcard Mailers

A postcard was mailed first-class to 1,655 individuals, community groups, tribal staff, and nongovernmental organizations on August 21, 2017. The postcard provided information about the Proposed Action, the website address, and how to submit public comments. An example of the postcard is shown in Figure 8.2-2.



## NORTHWEST TRAINING AND TESTING SUPPLEMENTAL EIS/OEIS FOR TRAINING AND TESTING ACTIVITIES BEYOND 2020

The Navy welcomes your input!







The U.S. Navy invites you to participate in the National Environmental Policy Act public involvement process for the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS).

The Navy is preparing a Supplemental EIS/OEIS to assess the potential environmental effects associated with ongoing and future at-sea military readiness activities conducted within the NWTT EIS/OEIS Study Area beyond 2020.

The Navy is requesting your comments on the scope of the analysis to be considered during the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS. You can participate in the public involvement process in the following ways:

- Visit **www.NWTTEIS.com** to learn more about the project and submit comments online.
- Mail written comments to: Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest Attention: NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager 3730 North Charles Porter Ave. Building 385 Oak Harbor, WA 98278-3500

Comments must be postmarked or received online by **Sept. 21, 2017** for consideration in the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

Figure 8.2-2: Postcard Mailer for Scoping (Front)

## **Proposed Action**

The Proposed Action is to conduct at-sea training and testing activities within the Study Area. Activities include the use of active sonar and explosives while employing marine species protective mitigation measures. Proposed training and testing activities are generally consistent with those analyzed in the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS and are representative of activities the Navy has been conducting in the Study Area for decades.



For more information or to submit comments online, visit www.NWTTEIS.com.

Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest Attention: NVVTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager 3730 North Charles Porter Ave. Building 385 Oak Harbor, WA 98278-3500

Figure 8.2-2: Postcard Mailer for Scoping (Back)

#### 8.2.1.3 Newspaper Advertisements

Display advertisements were placed in local newspapers to advertise the public's opportunity to comment on the scope of the analysis. The advertisements included a description of the Proposed Action, the address of the project website, the duration of the comment period, and information on how to provide comments. The newspapers and publication dates are indicated in Table 8.2-2. An example of the advertisement is shown in Figure 8.2-3.

Newspaper	Newspaper Coverage	Publication Dates		
Juneau Empire	Juneau, Alaska	Tuesday, Aug. 22, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017		
Ketchikan Daily News	Ketchikan, Alaska	Tuesday, Aug. 22, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017		
Eureka Times-Standard	Eureka, California	Tuesday, Aug. 22, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017		
Fort Bragg Advocate-News	Fort Bragg, California	Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 31, 2017 Thursday, Sept. 7, 2017		
The Daily Astorian	Astoria, Oregon	Tuesday, Aug. 22, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Thursday, Aug 24, 2017		
Newport News-Times	Newport, Oregon	Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Friday, Aug. 25, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 30, 2017		
The Oregonian	Portland, Oregon	Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Friday, Aug. 25, 2017 Saturday, Aug. 26, 2017		
The Daily Herald	Everett, Washington	Tuesday, Aug. 22, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017		
The Daily World	Aberdeen, Washington	Tuesday, Aug. 22, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017 Saturday, Aug. 26, 2017		
Forks Forum	Forks, Washington	Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 31, 2017 Thursday, Sept. 7, 2017		
Journal of the San Juan Islands	San Juan Island, Washington	Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 30, 2017 Wednesday, Sept. 6, 2017		

Table 8.2-2:	Newspaper	<b>Publications</b>
--------------	-----------	---------------------

Newspaper	Newspaper Coverage	Publication Dates		
The Kitsap Sun	Kitsap, Washington	Tuesday, Aug. 22, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017		
Peninsula Daily News	Port Angeles, Washington	Tuesday, Aug. 22, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017		
Port Townsend and Jefferson County Leader	Port Townsend, Washington	Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 30, 2017 Wednesday, Sept. 6, 2017		
The Seattle Times	Seattle, Washington	Tuesday, Aug. 22, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Thursday, Aug. 24, 2017		
Sequim Gazette	Sequim, Washington	Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 30, 2017 Wednesday, Sept. 6, 2017		
Whidbey News-Times	Whidbey Island, Washington	Wednesday, Aug. 23, 2017 Saturday, Aug. 26, 2017 Wednesday, Aug. 30, 2017		



The U.S. Navy is preparing a Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS) to assess the potential environmental effects associated with ongoing and future at-sea military readiness activities conducted within the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) EIS/OEIS Study Area beyond 2020.

#### Public Involvement Opportunity

The Navy is requesting your comments on the scope of the analysis to be considered during the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS. Comments will be accepted online at **www.NWTTEIS.com**, or by mail to:

Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest Attention: NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager 3730 North Charles Porter Ave., Building 385 Oak Harbor, WA 98278-3500

All comments must be postmarked or received online by Sept. 21, 2017 for consideration in the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

Figure 8.2-3: Newspaper Announcement for Scoping

#### 8.2.1.4 Press Releases

Commander, Navy Region Northwest Public Affairs Office distributed a news release to local and regional media outlets on August 22, 2017. A second news release was distributed to media outlets on September 15, 2017, and that same news release was redistributed on October 2, 2017. The first news release provided information on the Proposed Action and how to submit comments. The second news release provided information on the public scoping comment period extension, the Proposed Action, and how to submit comments. The press releases from the Commander, Navy Region Northwest are shown in Figure 8.2-4 and Figure 8.2-5.



# COMMANDER, NAVY REGION NORTHWEST

 Public Affairs Office

 1100 Hunley Rd., Silverdale, WA 98315-1100

 Phone: 360-396-1630
 Fax: 360-396-7127

Release # 0823417

Aug. 22, 2017

#### U.S. NAVY SEEKS PUBLIC INPUT ON THE NORTHWEST TRAINING AND TESTING SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT/OVERSEAS ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT

SILVERDALE, Wash — The U.S. Navy is preparing a supplement to the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS) to assess the potential environmental effects associated with ongoing and future at-sea military readiness activities conducted within the NWTT EIS/OEIS Study Area (hereafter referred to as the "Study Area"). Military readiness activities include training and research, development, testing, and evaluation (hereafter referred to as "training and testing"). The Navy is requesting public comments on the scope of the analysis, including potential environmental issues and viable alternatives to be considered during the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

The Navy previously completed an EIS/OEIS in 2015, for which a Record of Decision was signed in October 2016, for at-sea training and testing activities occurring within the Study Area. The supplement to the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS is being prepared to support ongoing and future activities conducted at sea within the Study Area beyond 2020. Proposed training and testing activities are generally consistent with those analyzed in the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS and are representative of activities the Navy has been conducting in the Study Area for decades.

The Supplemental EIS/OEIS will include an analysis of training and testing activities using new information available after the release of the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS. New information includes an updated acoustic effects model, updated marine mammal density data, and evolving and emergent best available science. As part of this process, the Navy will seek the issuance of federal regulatory permits and authorizations under the Marine Mammal Protection Act and the Endangered Species Act to support ongoing and future at-sea military readiness activities within the Study Area beyond 2020.

#### Proposed Action:

The Proposed Action is to conduct at-sea training and testing activities within the Study Area. Activities include the use of active sound navigation and ranging (sonar) and explosives while employing marine species protective mitigation measures.

The purpose of the Proposed Action is to maintain a ready force, which is needed to ensure the Navy can accomplish its mission to maintain, train, and equip combat-ready naval forces capable of winning wars, deterring aggression, and maintaining freedom of the seas, consistent with Congressional direction in section 5062 of Title 10 of the U.S. Code.

To achieve and maintain military readiness, the Navy proposes to:

-more-

Figure 8.2-4: Commander, Navy Region Northwest Scoping Press Release

NWTT SUPPLEMENTAL EIS/OEIS -2-

- Conduct at-sea training and testing activities at levels required to support military readiness requirements beyond 2020; and
- Accommodate evolving mission requirements, including those resulting from the development, testing, and introduction of new vessels, aircraft, and weapons systems into the fleet.

The Study Area remains unchanged since the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS. The Study Area is comprised of established maritime operating areas and warning areas in the northeastern Pacific Ocean, including areas within the Strait of Juan de Fuca, Puget Sound, and the Western Behm Canal in southeastern Alaska. The Study Area includes air and water space within and outside Washington state waters, air and water space outside state waters of Oregon and Northern California, and Navy pierside locations where sonar maintenance and testing occur. In the supplement to the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS, the Navy will only analyze those training and testing activities conducted at sea within the Study Area.

#### Scoping Comment Period for the Supplemental EIS/OEIS:

The 30-day scoping comment period begins Aug. 22, 2017 through Sept. 21, 2017. Comments must be postmarked or received online by **Sept. 21, 2017** for consideration in the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS. Comments may be submitted online at <u>www.NWTTEIS.com</u>, or by mail to:

Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest Attention: NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager 3730 North Charles Porter Ave., Building 385 Oak Harbor, WA 98278-3500

Scoping meetings are not being held at this stage of the process because the Proposed Action does not differ substantially from the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS. However, public meetings are planned to occur following the release of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS in early 2019. For additional project information, please visit the project website at <u>www.NWTTEIS.com.</u>

Please help inform your community by sharing the information in this press release.

Should you have trouble accessing the project website, please email <u>ProjectManager@nwtteis.com</u> for assistance. For other information about your Navy in the Northwest Region, please visit the Navy Region Northwest website at www.cnic.navy.mil/cnrnw.

-USN-

Figure 8.2-4: Commander, Navy Region Northwest Scoping Press Release (continued)



### COMMANDER, NAVY REGION NORTHWEST

Public Affairs Office 1100 Hunley Road, Silverdale, WA 98315-1100 Phone: 360-396-1630 Fax: 360-396-7127

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE Release #17-258 Sept. 15, 2017

#### NAVY EXTENDS PUBLIC SCOPING COMMENT PERIOD FOR NORTHWEST TRAINING AND TESTING SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT/OVERSEAS ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT

SILVERDALE, Wash. — The U.S. Navy is extending the public scoping comment period for the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/ Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS) through Oct. 6, 2017, to allow the public more time to submit substantive comments. Scoping, which is conducted in accordance with the National Environmental Policy Act, is a process where the public is encouraged to participate in the development of an environmental impact statement by identifying the scope of the analysis, including potential environmental issues and viable alternatives.

The Navy is preparing a supplement to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS to assess the potential environmental effects associated with military readiness activities conducted within the NWTT EIS/OEIS Study Area (hereafter referred to as the "Study Area"). Military readiness activities include training and research, development, testing, and evaluation (hereafter referred to as "training and testing").

#### Scoping Comment Period Extension for the Supplemental EIS/OEIS:

The Navy is accepting comments throughout the extended public comment period, which began Aug. 22. 2017, and now runs until Oct. 6, 2017. All comments must be postmarked or received online by **Oct. 6, 2017**, for consideration in the development of the Supplemental EIS/OEIS. Comments may be submitted online at <u>www.NWTTEIS.com</u>, or by mail to:

Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest Attention: NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager 3730 North Charles Porter Ave., Building 385 Oak Harbor, WA 98278-3500

Public meetings are planned to occur following the release of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS in early 2019. For additional project information, please visit the project website at <u>www.NWTTEIS.com</u>.

#### Background:

The Navy completed an EIS/OEIS in 2015 for training and testing activities occurring within the same Study Area, for which a Record of Decision was signed in October 2016. The supplement to the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS is being prepared to support future activities conducted at sea and in associated airspace within the same Study Area beyond 2020. As part of this process, the Navy will seek the issuance of federal regulatory permits and authorizations under the Marine Mammal Protection Act and Endangered Species Act. Proposed training and testing activities are generally

-more-

Figure 8.2-5: Commander, Navy Region Northwest Comment Extension Press Release

NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS -2-2-2

consistent with those analyzed in the previous EIS/OEIS and approved in the 2016 Record of Decision, and are representative of activities the Navy has been conducting in the Study Area for decades.

#### Proposed Action:

The Proposed Action is to conduct training and testing activities at sea and in associated airspace within the Study Area. At-sea activities include the use of active sound navigation and ranging (sonar) and explosives while employing marine species protective measures.

The purpose of the Proposed Action is to maintain a ready force, which is needed to ensure the Navy can accomplish its mission to maintain, train, and equip combat-ready naval forces capable of winning wars, deterring aggression, and maintaining freedom of the seas, consistent with Congressional direction in section 5062 of Title 10 of the U.S. Code.

To achieve and maintain military readiness, the Navy proposes to:

- Conduct training and testing activities at sea and in associated airspace to support military readiness requirements beyond 2020; and
- Accommodate evolving mission requirements, including those resulting from the development, testing, and introduction of new vessels, aircraft, and weapons systems into the fleet.

The Study Area remains unchanged from the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS. The Study Area is comprised of established maritime operating areas and warning areas in the northeastern Pacific Ocean, including areas within the Strait of Juan de Fuca, Puget Sound, and the Western Behm Canal in southeastern Alaska. The Study Area includes air and water space within and outside Washington state waters, air and water space outside state waters of Oregon and Northern California, and Navy pierside locations.

Visit the project website at **www.NWTTEIS.com** to view a map of the Study Area, learn more about the project, and submit substantive comments online.

Should you have trouble accessing the project website, please email <u>ProjectManager@nwtteis.com</u> for assistance. For other information about your Navy in the Northwest Region, please visit the Navy Region Northwest website at www.cnic.navy.mil/cnrnw.

Please help inform your community by sharing the information in this press release.

-USN-

# Figure 8.2-5: Commander, Navy Region Northwest Comment Extension Press Release (continued)

#### 8.2.1.5 Subscriber Email Notifications

Email subscribers from Phase II were carried forward into Phase III to start with 166 initial website subscribers. An email notification was sent to these 166 website subscribers on August 22, 2017, announcing the Navy's Intent to Prepare a Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS. A second email notification was sent to 181 website subscribers on September 15, 2017. The email informed the subscribers of the public scoping comment period extension dates. As of January 2019, there are 193 website subscribers.

#### 8.2.2 Public Scoping Comments

Scoping comments were submitted in two ways:

- Written letters (received any time during the public comment period)
- Comments submitted directly on the project website (received any time during the public comment period)

The Navy received written and electronic comments from federal agencies, state agencies, federally recognized tribes, nongovernmental organizations, individuals, and community groups. A total of 786 comments were received. Seven hundred forty-five comments were submitted using the electronic comment form on the project website. Forty-one written comments were mailed. A sampling of some of the specific areas of concerns follows.

#### 8.2.2.1 Proposed Action and Alternatives

- Need for clarity on the Navy's Proposed Action
- Overview requested on how the Proposed Action fits within the broader Department of Defense training and testing occurring throughout the Pacific Northwest, western regions and states, marine coastal and oceanic environments, and Alaska
- Concern about expansion
- Opposition to expansion of the use of sonar and explosives
- Concern about the impacts of dipping sonar
- Concern for activities that are perceived as a waste of taxpayer dollars
- Concern about the Navy conducting war games in the Pacific Northwest and creating war zones in the area
- Recommendation to evaluate the efficacy of sonar with computer modeling rather than performing experiments in the ocean
- Consider an alternative that maximizes opportunities to limit sound exposures to marine mammals to a level that would likely result in behavioral harassment only
- Include a range of alternatives that meet the stated purpose and need, goals and objectives, and responds to issues identified during the scoping process
- Encourage selection of alternatives that protect, restore, and enhance the environment
- Provide greater details on whether Navy exercises would expand onto public beaches
- Develop reasonable alternatives that inform decision-makers and the public of how the agencies can, in accordance with Council on Environmental Quality regulations, avoid or minimize adverse impacts or enhance the quality of the human environment
- Evaluate an alternative that would exclude ocean waters off the California coast from all training and testing

• Request for the Navy to broadly define the scope of the project and re-evaluate the spectrum of naval training exercises conducted in the Pacific Northwest

#### 8.2.2.2 National Environmental Policy Act and Public Involvement

- Request for a 60-day comment period extension
- Request the Navy issue revised notices clarifying specific actions the Navy will analyze in this Supplemental to provide clarity on the scope of analysis
- Request the Navy issue a revised Notice of Intent mentioning the Proposed Action's potential effects and proximity to Olympic National Park
- Objection to developing a Supplemental rather than a new EIS/OEIS
- Determination of whether a revised or updated Coastal Zone Management Act compliance document is required
- Request Navy invite U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, National Park Service, and U.S. Forest Service to be cooperating agencies to more comprehensively evaluate impacts

#### 8.2.2.3 Location of Activities

- Request the Navy research other locations for training and testing
- Request to use other areas where the Navy trains and conducts tests, and not in the marine waters of the Pacific Northwest, Alaska, and California
- Concern about ocean areas off the Northern California coast being used for chemical tests
- Should not test live ammunition or explosions of aerial or underwater ordnance
- Evaluate alternate areas that would have less impact on residents and economy

#### 8.2.2.4 Segmentation

- Request to conduct EISs associated with the geographic area being impacted, rather than by broad resource category
- Concern the Navy is segmenting and limiting its analysis to individual training exercises or actions to characterize its activities as minimal
- Request aircraft training be split into a separate analysis to allow the public to engage in a more meaningful way
- Provide information on impacts of the EA-18G Growlers in the analysis

#### 8.2.2.5 Environmental Impact Analysis

- Evaluate direct and indirect impacts
- Recommend a detailed table identifying the proposed type and frequency of specific potential stressors be developed; provide to the public in advance of the release of this Draft Supplemental
- Monitor depleted uranium in the ocean
- Evaluate impacts of aircraft noise and the use of sonar and live explosives on humans, animals, and marine life
- Request for comparison of baseline activities versus proposed activities

- Concerns that training and testing exercises involving marine vessels and aircraft, explosives, electromagnetic devices, or sonar technology have the potential to negatively impact terrestrial and marine resources and diminish visitor enjoyment of national parks in the Pacific Northwest
- Natural and cultural resources and visitor experience in three units of the National Park System may be impacted by the activities identified in this Supplemental and should be evaluated in detail:
  - Ebey's Landing National Historical Reserve
  - Olympic National Park
  - San Juan Island National Historical Park
- Request for appropriate density estimates for expended training debris, which should be calculated using the footprint area of the specific exercise
- Focus impact discussion on specific resources and locales and avoid basing significance conclusions on averaging impacts over large areas of ocean
- Avoid equating a lack of information with a lack of impact
- Use project-specific thresholds to determine levels of impact to focus analysis on potentially significant environmental impacts
- Concern over aircraft training and expansion of training areas over Olympic National Park
- Disruption to National Park will result in increased noise complaints from the public
- Assess impacts of alternative on the resources and values of Olympic National Park
- Develop and fully analyze alternatives that avoid aviation training over Olympic National Park and that minimize impacts on the Park
- Include Olympic National Park World Heritage Site and the International Biosphere Reserve designation of Olympic National Park in the analysis

#### 8.2.2.6 Cumulative Impacts

- Assess cumulative impacts of naval activities on marine biota
- Assess impacts at sea and throughout the region
- Characterize resources, ecosystems, and communities in terms of their response to change and capacity to withstand stress

#### 8.2.2.7 Sediments and Water Quality Impacts

- Discuss the applicability of national standards under development by the Environmental Protection Agency under Section 312(n) of the Clean Water Act to establish the Uniform National Discharge Standards to control discharges incidental to the normal operation of military vessels
- Include relevant updates to the fate, transport, and bioaccumulation of toxics in expended materials
- Include relevant updates on areas that contain hazardous materials, and evaluate the potential for training and testing to resuspend contaminants
- Evaluate whether the Navy is putting depleted uranium into marine waters
- Concerns for groundwater or other contamination associated with Navy operations on Whidbey Island

#### 8.2.2.8 Air Quality

- Quantify the contribution of carbon pollution from projected military activities
- Concerns about aerosol spraying and resulting impacts on critical habitat and species
- Include in the scope of the analysis the greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the project, and all the effects of those emissions, including ocean acidification, climate change, and loss of species
- Consider in the analysis:
  - Any adverse impact on air-quality-related values in a federal Class I area or state wilderness area
  - Whether there are annual emissions greater than the basic Prevention of Significant Deterioration emission thresholds
  - Any new violation of state or federal ambient air quality standards
  - Interference with the maintenance or attainment of any state or federal ambient air quality standard in the project area
  - Increases in the frequency or severity of existing violations of state or federal ambient air quality standard in the analysis area
  - Exposure of nearby populations to increased levels of diesel particulate matter and other air toxics
  - Delays in the timely attainment of any standard, interim emission reduction, or other air quality milestone
  - Exposure of sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations

#### 8.2.2.9 Airborne Noise

- Develop on-the-ground noise data instead of a model
- Include health impacts from noise, including effects of post-traumatic stress disorder
- Analyze Growler noise complaints and impacts noise would have on tourism, residents, health, and quality of life
- Recognize predicted noise and actual noise produced by aircraft deviates significantly
- Concerns that models are producing wrong results
- Request the Navy fund the collection of baseline ambient acoustic data in Olympic National Park and include the results in this Supplemental
- Request to continue Navy flight training in Montana and other locations already disrupted by jet noise
- Impact of aircraft and helicopter noise on farm animals and other species found in National Parks, such as the Olympic marmot
- Analyze the impact noise would have on property values
- Analyze effects related to the scenic, aesthetic, and cultural components of the Olympic Peninsula, including impacts on visitors to Olympic National Park who are seeking solitude and/or natural ambient noise levels
- Analyze the impacts on nesting colonies of gulls as a result of aircraft noise over Lopez Island

#### 8.2.2.10 Socioeconomic Resources

- Evaluate economic impacts on tourism, property values, health, and well-being
- Impacts on commercial fishing industry

#### 8.2.2.11 Terrestrial Species and Habitats/Marine Birds

- Concern that the analysis may be limited to just effects at sea, but proposed analysis of impacts on terrestrial environments should be included
- Analyze the impacts on terrestrial species from Navy overflights
- Impacts on wildlife that may experience increased and prolonged stress levels

#### 8.2.2.12 Marine Resources

- Evaluate the pollution from activities in marine waters, and state what pollutants are being added to marine waters from Navy activities
- Concerns about disruption to the marine environment and marine species, especially from the use of active sonar and explosives
- Refrain from measuring impacts on the marine environment according to whether population impacts would occur; harm to smaller areas and groups should be considered
- Analyze how stressors affect habitat, as well as the physiology and behavior of marine life
- Revise thresholds and weighting system for auditory impacts
- Revise behavioral impact thresholds to incorporate best available science

#### 8.2.2.13 Marine Mammal Impacts

- Navy and National Marine Fisheries Service should include information needed to evaluate compliance with the Marine Mammal Protection Act/Endangered Species Act
- Concerns that the Navy lies about marine species takes and mortalities to gain permits from federal agencies
- Concerns on incidental takes and general impacts on marine species
- Analyze the impact of pinniped colonies found near Lopez Island as a result of aircraft noise
- Impacts on the ocean food chain due to the loss of large mammals
- Concern that low-frequency active sonar systems violate the Marine Mammal Protection Act

#### 8.2.2.14 Fish/Marine Habitat

- Impacts on migrating salmon populations, damage to honing mechanisms, and takes of endangered species, including salmon and steelhead
- Analyze impacts of noise on fish and stress hormone production from sound
- Reach out to the Alaska Ocean Observing System for fish population/migration data
- Incorporate latest understanding of important marine habitats reflected in current management documents

#### 8.2.2.15 American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources

- Concerns about the evaluation of impacts on the cultural resources, and areas of importance
- Consider impacts on cultural practices, which have religious and spiritual meaning
- Best available science should include Tribal Traditional Knowledge

- Request the Navy continue to fulfill its obligation for meaningful government-to-government tribal consultation
- Concern about impacts on usual and accustomed treaty rights
- Consider a tribe's human-environmental relationship
- Consider the economic impact on the tribe
- Concern about diminished treaty rights
- Evaluate the possible disruption to tribal cultural practices
- Determine impacts of noise on the cultural landscape
- Impacts on salmon and other fish that provide subsistence to neighboring indigenous populations

#### 8.2.2.16 Public Health and Safety

- Determine public health effects from chaff and other toxins
- Determine impacts from exposure to electromagnetic radiation

#### 8.2.2.17 Mitigation Measures

- Recommendations to establish additional mitigation areas (geographic) and time-area management (temporal) areas
- Provide specific clean up measures that will be taken on the terrestrial and marine environment
- Recommendation to use thermal detection for marine species
- Concerns about inefficiencies and inadequacies of human Lookouts, and requests to analyze the effectiveness of visual monitoring
- Move training and testing activities outside of the annual gray whale migration path, and suspend training activities during gray whale migration
- Recommendation for Navy to engage in direct dialogue with the trawling community and develop a mutually acceptable warning system to alert trawlers when submarines are operating in the area
- Follow current mitigation measures, including but not limited to:
  - Do not operate at night or in specific ocean areas
  - Conduct air flights to search for species
  - Do not operate when a species is within a certain range
  - Do not operate when bow-riding dolphins are present
  - Operate at less than full power
  - Reduce speeds as directed
- Reduce impacts to the lowest possible level
- Provide training to Navy personnel on a tribe's history, culture, and subsistence uses
- Consider habitat-based management and important feeding areas
- Concerns that cultural mitigation measures are inadequate
- Avoid areas of biological and ecological importance
- Include an adaptive management plan, including monitoring the effectiveness of mitigation commitments
- Include more monitoring results in this Supplemental
- Include the public in mitigation planning

#### 8.3 Notification of Availability of the Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement

This Draft Supplemental public review and comment period will begin with issuance of the Notice of Availability and Notice of Public Meetings in the *Federal Register*. The *Federal Register* notices will include notification of the availability of the Draft Supplemental and where it can be accessed; an overview of the Proposed Action and its purpose and need; public commenting information; and the locations, dates, and times of public meetings. The purpose of the public meetings is to inform the public about the Proposed Action and environmental analysis, and to solicit public comments on the environmental issues addressed and analyzed in this Supplemental. Comments will be accepted by mail, through the project website at www.nwtteis.com, and at the public meetings.

# 8.3.1 Notification of Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement and Public Meetings

The Navy will make significant efforts to facilitate maximum public participation during Draft Supplemental public review and comment period. A summary of these efforts follows.

#### 8.3.1.1 Notification Letters

Tribal notification letters will be distributed three days prior to the release of Draft Supplemental to appropriate federally recognized tribes and tribal groups. Stakeholder letters will be mailed one day prior to the release of Draft Supplemental to interested federal, state, and local government agencies and elected officials, and persons expressing an interest in the Proposed Action and Draft Supplemental.

#### 8.3.1.2 Postcards

Postcards will be mailed to recipients on the project mailing list, including individuals; nongovernmental organizations; tribal groups; community and business groups; fishing, aviation, and recreation groups; and private companies. The postcards will include the dates, locations, and times of the public meetings, as well as the website address for more information, commenting information, and a brief summary of the Proposed Action.

#### 8.3.1.3 Press Releases

Press releases to announce the availability of the Draft Supplemental and public meetings will be distributed to local and regional media. Press releases will provide a description of the Proposed Action, project website, duration of the comment period and commenting methods, information repositories, and location, dates, and times of the public meetings. The press releases will also provide information on the availability of the Navy to meet with the media in advance of the meetings.

#### 8.3.1.4 Newspaper Advertisements

To announce the availability of the Draft Supplemental and public meetings, advertisements will be placed in area newspapers as shown in Table 8.3-1. The advertisements will include a description of the Proposed Action, the project website, the duration of the comment period, and information on how to provide comments.

Newspaper	Newspaper Coverage
Juneau Empire	Juneau, Alaska
Ketchikan Daily News	Ketchikan, Alaska
Eureka Times-Standard	Eureka, California
Fort Bragg Advocate-News	Fort Bragg, California
The Daily Astorian	Astoria, Oregon
Newport News-Times	Newport, Oregon
The Oregonian	Portland, Oregon
The Daily Herald	Everett, Washington
The Daily World	Aberdeen, Washington
Forks Forum	Forks, Washington
Journal of the San Juan Islands	San Juan Island, Washington
The Kitsap Sun	Kitsap, Washington
Peninsula Daily News	Port Angeles, Washington
Port Townsend and Jefferson County Leader	Port Townsend, Washington
The Seattle Times	Seattle, Washington
Sequim Gazette	Sequim, Washington
Whidbey News-Times	Whidbey Island, Washington

# Table 8.3-1: Newspaper Announcements of the Availability of the Draft SupplementalEIS/OEIS and Public Meetings

#### 8.3.2 Public Meetings

The Navy will hold open house public meetings to inform the public about the Proposed Action and environmental analysis, and to solicit public comments on the Draft Supplemental. The public meetings will include informational poster stations staffed by Navy representatives. There will not be a presentation or formal oral comment session. A stenographer will be available for the public to facilitate one-on-one oral comments; written comments can be submitted at any time during the meetings. Members of the public may arrive at any time during the public meetings.

#### 8.4 Distribution of the Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement

All of the parties being notified of the availability of the Draft Supplemental will be directed to access the document electronically on the project website (www.nwtteis.com), or to access hard and CD-ROM copies, as available at the information repositories discussed in Section 8.4.2 (Information Repositories). Chairpersons of federally recognized tribes will receive a CD-ROM copy of the Draft Supplemental.

#### 8.4.1 Federal Agencies

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency will receive a hard copy and electronic version (CD-ROM) of the Draft Supplemental. Regional offices of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency will receive electronic versions of the Draft Supplemental. The National Marine Fisheries Service headquarters office, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service office, and U.S. Coast Guard office will receive hard and electronic copies of the Draft Supplemental.

#### 8.4.2 Information Repositories

The Draft Supplemental will be mailed in hard copy form, along with an electronic CD-ROM, to the information repository locations shown in Table 8.4-1.

Repository Name	Mailing Address	Phone
Everett Main Library	2702 Hoyt Ave., Everett, WA, 98201	425-257-8010
Gig Harbor Library	4424 Point Fosdick Drive NW,	253-548-3305
	Gig Harbor, WA, 98335	
Jefferson County Library (Port Hadlock)	620 Cedar Ave., Port Hadlock, WA, 98339	360-385-6544
Kitsap Regional Library (Poulsbo)	700 NE Lincoln Road, Poulsbo, WA 98370	360-779-2915
Kitsap Regional Library - Sylvan Way (Bremerton)	1301 Sylvan Way, Bremerton, WA 98310	360-405-9100
North Olympic Library System Forks Branch	171 S. Forks Ave., Forks, WA 98331	360-374-6402
Lopez Island Library	2225 Fisherman Bay Road, Lopez Island, WA 98261	360-468-2265
Oak Harbor Public Library	1000 SE Regatta Drive, Oak Harbor, WA 98277	360-675-5115
Port Angeles Main Library	2210 S. Peabody St., Port Angeles, WA 98362	360-417-8500
Port Townsend Public Library	1220 Lawrence St., Port Townsend, WA 98368	360-385-3181
San Juan Island Library	1010 Guard St., Friday Harbor, WA 98250	360-378-2798
Timberland Regional Library Aberdeen	121 E. Market St., Aberdeen, WA 98520	360-533-2360
Timberland Regional Library Hoquiam	420 Seventh St., Hoquiam, WA 98550	360-532-1710
Astoria Public Library	450 10th St., Astoria, OR 97103	503-325-7323
Driftwood Public Library	801 SW Highway 101 #201, Lincoln City, OR 97367	541-996-2277
Newport Public Library	35 NW Nye St., Newport, OR 97365	541-265-2153
Oregon State University, Guin Library Hatfield Marine Science Center	2030 SE Marine Science Drive, Newport, OR 97365	541-867-0249
Tillamook Main Library	1716 Third St., Tillamook, OR 97141	503-842-4792
Fort Bragg Branch Library	499 Laurel St., Fort Bragg, CA 95437	707-964-2020
Humboldt County Public Library Arcata Branch Library	500 Seventh St., Arcata, CA 95521	707-822-5954
Humboldt County Public Library Eureka Main Library	1313 Third St., Eureka, CA 95501	707-269-1905
Redwood Coast Senior Center	490 N. Harold St., Fort Bragg, CA 95437	707-964-0443
Juneau Public Library Downtown Branch	292 Marine Way, Juneau, AK, 99801	907-586-5249
Ketchikan Public Library	1110 Copper Ridge Lane, Ketchikan, AK 99901	907-225-3331

#### Table 8.4-1: Information Repositories

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

## **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

# Northwest Training and Testing

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

APPENDIX A	NA۱	/Y ACTIVI	Y ACTIVITIES DESCRIPTIONS A		
A.1	Traini	ng Activit	iesA-1		
	A.1.1	Air Warf	are TrainingA-1		
		A.1.1.1	Air Combat Maneuver A-2		
		A.1.1.2	Gunnery Exercise Surface-to-Air A-3		
		A.1.1.3	Missile Exercise Air-to-Air		
		A.1.1.4	Missile Exercise Surface-to-Air A-7		
	A.1.2	Anti-Sub	marine Warfare TrainingA-9		
		A.1.2.1	Anti-Submarine Warfare Torpedo Exercise – Submarine A-10		
		A.1.2.2	Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Helicopter A-12		
		A.1.2.3	Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Maritime Patrol Aircraft A-14		
		A.1.2.4	Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Ship A-16		
		A.1.2.5	Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Submarine A-18		
	A.1.3	Electron	ic Warfare TrainingA-19		
		A.1.3.1	Electronic Warfare Training A-19		
A.1.4 Min		Mine W	arfare TrainingA-21		
		A.1.4.1	Civilian Port Defense – Homeland Security Anti-Terrorism/Force		
		Protecti	on Exercises A-21		
		A.1.4.2	Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Disposal Training A-23		
	A.1.5	Surface	Warfare TrainingA-25		
		A.1.5.1	Bombing Exercise Air-to-Surface A-25		
		A.1.5.2	Gunnery Exercise Surface-to-Surface – Ship A-27		
		A.1.5.3	Missile Exercise Air-to-Surface A-29		
	A.1.6	Other Tr	ainingA-31		
		A.1.6.1	Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance A-31		
		A.1.6.2	Maritime Security Operations A-33		
		A.1.6.3	Personnel Insertion/Extraction – Non-Submersible A-36		
		A.1.6.4	Precision Anchoring A-38		

		A.1.6.5	Search and Rescue	. A-39
		A.1.6.6	Small Boat Attack Exercise	. A-40
		A.1.6.7	Submarine Sonar Maintenance	. A-42
		A.1.6.8	Surface Ship Sonar Maintenance	. A-43
		A.1.6.9	Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Training	. A-44
A.2	Naval	Sea Syste	ems Command Testing Activities	A-46
	A.2.1	Anti-Sub	omarine Warfare	A-46
		A.2.1.1	Anti-Submarine Warfare Testing	. A-46
		A.2.1.2	At-Sea Sonar Testing	. A-48
		A.2.1.3	Countermeasure Testing	. A-50
		A.2.1.4	Pierside Sonar Testing	. A-52
		A.2.1.5	Submarine Sonar Testing/Maintenance	. A-53
		A.2.1.6	Torpedo (Explosive) Testing	. A-54
		A.2.1.7	Torpedo (Non-Explosive) Testing	. A-56
	A.2.2	Mine W	arfare	A-58
		A.2.2.1	Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing	. A-58
		A.2.2.2	Mine Detection and Classification Testing	. A-60
	A.2.3	Surface	Warfare	A-62
		A.2.3.1	Kinetic Energy Weapon Testing	. A-62
	A.2.4	Unmanr	ned Systems	A-64
		A.2.4.1	Unmanned Aerial System Testing	. A-64
		A.2.4.2	Unmanned Surface Vehicle System Testing	. A-66
		A.2.4.3	Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Testing	. A-68
	A.2.5	Vessel E	valuation	A-70
		A.2.5.1	Propulsion Testing	. A-70
		A.2.5.2	Undersea Warfare Testing	. A-71
		A.2.5.3	Vessel Signature Evaluation	. A-73
	A.2.6	Other Te	esting	A-75
		A.2.6.1	Acoustic and Oceanographic Research	. A-75
		A.2.6.2	Acoustic Component Testing	. A-77
		A.2.6.3	Cold Water Support	. A-79
		A.2.6.4	Hydrodynamic and Maneuverability Testing	. A-80
		A.2.6.5	Non-Acoustic Component Testing	. A-81

		A.2.6.6	Post Refit Sea Trial A-83
		A.2.6.7	Radar and Other System Testing A-84
		A.2.6.8	Semi-Stationary Equipment Testing A-86
		A.2.6.9	Simulant Testing A-88
A.3	Naval	Air Syster	ns Command Testing ActivitiesA-90
	A.3.1	Anti-Sub	marine WarfareA-90
		A.3.1.1	Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Test – Maritime Patrol Aircraft A-90
		A.3.1.2	Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Test – Maritime Patrol Aircraft (SUS)
	A.3.2	Other Te	estingA-94
		A.3.2.1	Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance/Electronic Warfare Triton
		Testing	A-94

# **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this appendix.

# List of Tables

There are no tables in this appendix.

This page intentionally left blank.

# APPENDIX A NAVY ACTIVITIES DESCRIPTIONS

## A.1 TRAINING ACTIVITIES

The Navy's training activities are organized generally into eight primary mission areas and a miscellaneous category (Other Training) that includes those activities that do not fall within a primary mission area, but are an essential part of Navy training. In addition, because the Navy conducts a number of activities within larger training exercises, descriptions of those larger exercises are also included here. It is important to note that these larger exercises are comprised entirely of individual activities described in the primary mission areas.

Descriptions of sonar, ordnance/munitions, targets, and other systems were provided in the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS) (Section 2.3, Description of Sonar, Ordnance/Munitions, Targets, and Other Systems Employed in Northwest Training and Testing Activities).

#### A.1.1 AIR WARFARE TRAINING

Air warfare is the primary mission area that addresses combat operations by air and surface forces against hostile aircraft. Navy ships contain an array of modern anti-aircraft weapon systems, including naval guns linked to radar-directed fire-control systems, surface-to-air missile systems, and radar-controlled guns for close-in point defense. Strike/fighter aircraft carry anti-aircraft weapons, including air-to-air missiles and aircraft guns. Air warfare training encompasses events and exercises to train ship and aircraft crews in employment of these weapons systems against simulated threat aircraft or targets. Air warfare training includes surface-to-air gunnery, surface-to-air and air-to-air missile exercises, and aircraft force-on-force combat maneuvers.

#### A.1.1.1 Air Combat Maneuver

Air Warfare								
Air Combat Maneuver								
Short	Fixed-wing aircrews aggress	ively maneuve	er against	Typical Duration				
Description	threat aircraft to gain tactic	al advantage.	-	1–2 hours				
Long	Basic flight maneuvers in wh	offensive and defensive maneuvering						
Description	against each other. During air combat maneuver engagements, no ordnance is fired, but							
	countermeasures such as chaff and flares may be used. These events typically involve two aircraft;							
	however, based upon the training requirement, events may involve multiple aircraft.							
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing aircraft							
Components	Targets: Air targets							
	Systems being Trained/Tes	ted: None						
Standard	Aircraft safety	Typical Loca	tions					
Operating		Offshore Ar	ea					
Procedures		W-237	cu					
(Section 2.3.3)		Olympic Mil	litary Opera	tions Ar	eas (MOAs)			
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Dist	urbance an	d Strike	: Energy:			
Biological	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and a	aerial target	ts	In-air electromagnetic			
Resources			0		devices			
	Explosive:	Ingestion:			Entanglement:			
	None	None			None			
Stressors to	Air Quality:	-	Sedimen	ts and <b>V</b>	Vater Quality:			
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		None					
Resources								
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Reso	ources:	Public Health and Safety:			
Human	None	Airborne	acoustics		None			
Resources		Physical o	disturbance	and stri	ke			
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	1	None			
Expended	Compression pad or plastic	piston,	Recovera	ble				
Material	endcap – chaff and flare, t	flare O-ring	Material					
	Non-Ingestible Material:							
	None							
Sonar and	None							
Other								
l ransoucer Bine								
	Nono							
Explosivo	None							
Bins								
Procedural	None							
Mitigation	None							
Measures								
Assumptions	No munitions fired. Flare a	nd chaff may I	be used.					
Used for	For air quality analysis:	in the second						
Analysis	<ul> <li>Average 2 fixed-wing f</li> </ul>	ighter aircraft	per event					
	- Average 1 hr. per even	t						

#### A.1.1.2 Gunnery Exercise Surface-to-Air

Air Warfare							
Gunnery Exercise Surface-to-Air							
Short	Surface ship crews fire med	dium- and lar	ge-	Typical Duration			
Description	caliber guns at air targets.		0-	1–2 hours			
Long	Surface ship crews defend	against threa	t aircraft o	r missi	es with large- and medium-caliber		
Description	guns to disable or destroy	the threat.					
	An event involves one ship	and a simulated threat aircraft or anti-ship missile that is detected by					
	the ship's radar. Large- or r	nedium-calib	er guns fire	e non-e	explosive projectiles to disable or		
	destroy the threat before i	by the threat before it reaches the ship. The target is towed by a contract air services jet.					
Typical	Platforms: Aircraft carrier,	amphibious v	varfare shi	p, fixec	I-wing aircraft, surface combatant		
Components	Targets: Air targets						
	Systems being Trained/Tes	<b>sted:</b> None					
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	ations				
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshare A					
Procedures	Weapons firing safety	Unshore A	rea				
(Section		VV-237					
2.3.3)							
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Di	sturbance	and St	rike: Energy:		
Biological	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and	d aerial tar	gets	None		
Resources	Vessel noise	Vessels and	d in-water	devices	5		
	Weapons noise	Military ex	pended ma	aterials	Entanglement:		
					None		
	Explosive:	Ingestion:					
	In-air explosions	Military ex	pended ma	aterials	-		
		munitio	ns				
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimer	nts and	Water Quality:		
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Metals				
Resources	Cultured Decouvery	<b>C i</b>			Dublis Uselah sud Cafetar		
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco		sources	S: Public Health and Safety:		
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessio			Physical Interactions		
Resources	SUTIKE	Physical	disturbanc	o and o	trike		
Military	Ingestible Material:	FITYSICAL	Military	e anu s	Air targets		
Expended	Large- and medium-caliber	nroiectile	Recovera	ahle			
Material	fragments	projectic	Material				
material	Non-Ingestible Material:		materia				
	Large- and medium-caliber	casings.					
	large-caliber projectiles	0,					
Sonar and	None						
Other							
Transducer							
Bins							
In-Water	None						
Explosive							
Bins							
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section	n 5.3.2)					
Mitigation	Weapons Firing Noise						
Measures	Physical Disturbance and S	trike: (Sectio	n 5.3.4)				
	Vessel movement						

Air Warfare						
Gunnery Exercise Surface-to-Air						
Assumptions	Explosive rounds are used greater than 50 nautical miles (NM) from shoreline, all large-caliber					
Used for	non-explosive events occur greater than 20 NM from shore, and all other non-explosive rounds					
Analysis	are used 12 NM or greater from shore.					
	The target is a fiberglass finned target that is towed approximately 3 NM behind the towing					
	aircraft, at an altitude of 1,000 ft. or greater.					
	Approximately 30 percent of the projectiles are assumed to be high explosive. All projectiles					
	explode well above surface.					

#### A.1.1.3 Missile Exercise Air-to-Air

Air Warfare							
Missile Exercise Air-to-Air							
Short	Fixed-wing aircrews fire air	-to-air missile	es at air	Typical Duration			
Description	targets.			1–2 hours			
Long	An event involves two or more fixed-wing aircraft and a target. Missiles are either high-explosive						
Description	warheads or non-explosive	practice mur	nitions. The	e targe	et is an unr	manned aerial target drone, a	
	tactical air-launched decoy	, or a parachu	ute suspen	ded ill	umination	flare. Target drones deploy	
	parachutes and are recove	red by small b	poat or rota	ary-wi	ng aircraft	; tactical air-launched decoys	
	and illumination flares are	expended an	d not recov	vered.	These eve	ents typically occur at high	
	altitudes.						
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing aircr	aft; rotary-wi	ing aircraft	; smal	l boat		
Components	Targets: Air targets, flares						
	Systems being Trained/Te	sted: None	_				
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	ations				
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshore Ar	ea				
Procedures	Weapons firing safety	W-237					
222	retrieval safety						
Stressors to		Physical Di	sturbance	and St	triko	Energy:	
Biological	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and	aerial tar	gets	unc.	None	
Resources	Vessel noise	Vessels and	l in-water o	device	s	None	
	Weapons noise	Military ex	pended ma	terial	5	Entanglement:	
		Decelerators/parachut					
	Explosive:	Ingestion:					
	In-air explosions	Military expended materials –					
	munitions						
		Military exp	pended ma	aterials	s – other		
		than mu	initions				
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimer	nts and	d Water Q	uality:	
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Explosive	es	Che	emicals	
Resources			Metals				
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	onomic Res	ource	s: F	Public Health and Safety:	
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessio	liity	stics			
Resources	STIKE	Physical	disturbance	hac o	striko		
Militory	Ingostible Material:	Fliysical	Military	e anu	Targota		
Expended	Target and missile (explosiv	ve)	Recovera	hle	Targets		
Material	fragments casing	,	Material	ioic			
material	Non-Ingestible Material:		materia				
	Large parachutes, medium	ge parachutes, medium					
	parachutes, illumination flares,						
	missile (non-explosive)						
Sonar and	None						
Other							
Transducer							
Bins							
In-Water	None						
Explosive							
Bins							

Air Warfare					
Missile Exercise Air-to-Air					
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)				
Mitigation	Vessel movement				
Measures					
Assumptions	4 Training events per year with 4 high explosive (HE) warheads, 4 non-explosive practice				
Used for	munitions (NEPM) warheads. Assume 1 flare per Missile Exercise event. All events occur				
Analysis	greater than 50 NM from shore and above 15,000 ft. altitude.				
	All propellant and explosives are consumed.				

#### A.1.1.4 Missile Exercise Surface-to-Air

Air Warfare								
Missile Exercis	e Surface-to-Air							
Short	Surface ship crews fire surface-to-air missiles a		siles at	Typical Duration				
Description	air targets.			1–2 hours				
Long	Surface ship crews defend against threat missiles and aircraft with ship-launched surface-to-air							
Description	missiles.							
	The event involves a simulated threat aircraft or anti-ship missile that is detected by the ship's							
	radar. Ship-launched surface-to-air missiles are fired (high-explosive) to disable or destroy the							
	threat. The target typically is a remote-controlled drone. Surface-to-air missiles may also be							
	used to train against land attack missiles.							
Typical	Platforms: Aircraft carrier, amphibious warfare ship, surface combatant							
Components	Targets: Air targets							
	Systems being Trained/Te	sted: None						
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locat	ions					
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshore Are	a					
Procedures	Weapons firing safety	W-237						
(Section	Target deployment and							
2.3.3)	retrieval safety	L						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Dist	urbance	and St	trike: Energy:			
Biological	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and aerial targets None						
Resources	Vessel hoise	Vessels and I	in-water (	aevice	S Enterelanout			
	weapons noise	Military expended materials Entanglement:						
	Explosive:	Deceierators/parachutes						
	In-air explosions	Military expended materials -						
		munitions						
		Military expe	- ended ma	terials	s – other			
		than mun	itions					
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sediments and Water Quality:						
Physical	Criteria air pollutants	Explosives Chemicals						
Resources		Metals						
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioecon	omic Res	ource	s: Public Health and Safety:			
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessibili	ty		Physical interactions			
Resources	strike	Airborne acoustics						
		Physical disturbance and strike						
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		Undamaged targets			
Expended	Target and missile (explosiv	ve)	Recovera	ble				
Material	fragments		Material					
	Non-Ingestible Material:							
Company	Large parachutes							
Sonar and	None							
Transducor								
Rins								
In-Water	None							
Explosive								
Bins								
Bins								

Air Warfare					
Missile Exercise Surface-to-Air					
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)				
Mitigation	Vessel movement				
Measures					
Assumptions	Assumes that all surface-to-air missiles are high explosive. All events occur greater than 50				
Used for	NM from shore and missile explosions occur above 500 ft. altitude. All explosive and				
Analysis	propellant are consumed.				

#### A.1.2 ANTI-SUBMARINE WARFARE TRAINING

Anti-submarine warfare involves helicopter and maritime patrol aircraft, ships, and submarines. These units operate alone or in combination to locate, track, and neutralize submarines. Controlling the undersea battlespace is a unique naval capability and a vital aspect of sea control. Undersea battlespace dominance requires proficiency in anti-submarine warfare. Every deploying strike group and individual surface combatant must possess this capability.

Various types of active and passive sonar are used by the Navy to determine water depth, and identify, track, and target submarines. Passive sonar "listens" for sound waves by using underwater microphones, called hydrophones, which receive, amplify, and process underwater sounds. No sound is introduced into the water when using passive sonar. Passive sonar can indicate the presence, character, and movement of submarines. However, passive sonar provides only a bearing (direction) to a sound-emitting source; it does not provide an accurate range (distance) to the source. Active sonar is needed to locate objects because active sonar provides both bearing and range to the detected contact (such as an enemy submarine).

The Navy's anti-submarine warfare training plan, including the use of active sonar in at-sea training scenarios, includes multiple levels of training. Individual-level anti-submarine warfare training addresses basic skills such as detection and classification of contacts; distinguishing discrete acoustic signatures including those of ships, submarines, and marine life; and identifying the characteristics, functions, and effects of controlled jamming and evasion devices.

This training integrates the full anti-submarine warfare continuum from detecting and tracking a submarine to attacking a target using either exercise torpedoes or simulated weapons. Training events include detection and tracking exercises against "enemy" submarine contacts, torpedo employment exercises against the target, and exercising command and control tasks in a multi-dimensional battlespace.

Anti-Submarine Warfare									
Anti-Submarine Warfare Torpedo Exercise—Submarine									
Short	Submarine crews search for, track, and detect				Typical Duration				
Description	submarines. Event would include one non-								
	explosive MK-48 torpedo.				urs				
Long	Submarine crews search fo	r, detect, and	track a su	rface v	vessel or threat submarine to develop				
Description	firing position to launch a to	orpedo. A sin	gle submei	rged si	ubmarine operates at slow speeds				
	and various depths while using its hull-mounted or towed array sonar to track a surface vessel								
	or threat submarine. Passive sonar is used almost exclusively. Explosive (only for Alternative 2)								
	or non-explosive exercise torpedoes can be fired and active sonar can be used during this								
	training event.								
	This exercise may involve a single submarine, or be undertaken in the context of a coordinated								
	larger exercise involving multiple aircraft, ships, and submarines. The preferred range for this								
	exercise is an instrumented underwater range, but it may be conducted in other range								
	complexes depending on training requirements and available assets.								
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing aircraft, small boat, submarines								
Components	Targets: Sub-surface targets								
Chandand	Systems being Trained/Te	Turical Loop	quency and	u nign	-frequency sonar, torpedoes				
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	ations						
Operating	Aircrait salety	Offshore Ar	rea						
(Section	safety	Offshore Ar	rea						
2 2 2)	salety								
Strossors to	Acoustic	Physical Di	cturbanco	and S	triko: Eporgy:				
Biological	Sonar and other	Vessels and	in-water		s None				
Resources	transducers	Military ex	nended ma	terial					
Resources	Vessel noise				, Entanglement:				
	Explosive:	Ingestion:			Wires and cables				
	In-water explosions	None							
	(Alternative 2 only)								
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sediments and Water Quality:							
Physical	None		Metals						
Resources									
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic Resources: Public Health and Safety:							
Human	Physical disturbance and	nce and Physical disturbance and strike In-water energy							
Resources	strike	strike Physical interactions							
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		Anti-Submarine Warfare Training				
Expended	For Alternative 2 only: heavyweight		Recovera	ble	Targets, Exercise Torpedoes				
Material	torpedo (explosive) – fra	gments,	Material						
	target fragments								
	Non-Ingestible Material:								
	Guidance wires, heavyweig								
	accessories								
Sonar and	Mid-Frequency:	Anti-Sul	omarine W	arfare	:				
Other	MF3	ASW4							
Transducer		_							
Bins	High-Frequency:	Torpedoes:							
	HF1	TORP2							

#### A.1.2.1 Anti-Submarine Warfare Torpedo Exercise – Submarine
Anti-Submarin	Anti-Submarine Warfare					
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Torpedo Exercise—Submarine					
In-Water	E11 (Alternative 2 only)					
Explosive						
Bins						
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2)	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section				
Mitigation	Active sonar	5.3.4)				
Measures	Vessel movement					
	Explosive Stressors: (Section 5.3.3) Towed in-water devices					
	Explosive torpedoes (Alternative 2 only)					
Assumptions	Exercise non-explosive practice torpedoes are recovered.					
Used for	Guidance wire has a low breaking strength and breaks easily. Weights and flex tubing sink					
Analysis	rapidly.					
	All events would occur 50 NM or more from	shoreline.				

Anti-Submarin	e Warfare							
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Tracking Exercise	- Helicopter						
Short	Helicopter crews search fo	r, track, and c	detect	Турі	ical Duration			
Description	submarines.			2–4	hours			
Long	Helicopters using sonobuoy	/s and dipping	s and dipping sonar search to detect, classify, localize, and track a					
Description	simulated threat submarine	e with the goa	al of deterr	nining	a firing solution that could be used			
	to launch a torpedo and de	stroy the sub	marine.					
	Sonobuoys (both passive a	nd active) are	typically e	mploy	ed by a helicopter operating at			
	altitudes below 3,000 ft. Di	pping sonar (	both passiv	ve and	l active) is employed from an altitude			
	of about 50 ft. after the sea	arch area has	been narro	owed b	based on the sonobuoy search.			
	The anti-submarine warfar	e target used	for this ex	ercise	may be a MK-39 Expendable Mobile			
	Anti-submarine warrare in	Eiro Scout m	, a IVIK-30 hav also bo	target,	, or a live submarine. Unmanned aerial			
	an instrumented range bu	t it may be co	ay also be	useu.	r range complexes depending on			
	training requirements and	available asse	nuucteu ii >ts	rothe	range complexes depending on			
Typical	Platforms: Rotary-wing air	craft_small bo	oat unmar	ned a	erial system			
Components	Targets: Sub-surface target	ts		incu u				
	Systems being Trained/Te	sted: Dipping	sonar syst	ems, s	sonobuoys			
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	ations					
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offeboro Area						
Procedures	Unmanned aircraft	Offshore Ar	rea					
(Section	system procedures	Onshore A	cu					
2.3.3)	Target deployment and							
Characteristic	retrieval safety	Dhusiaal Di		and C	tulling for every			
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Aircraft and	sturbance	and Si	trike: Energy:			
Biological	transducers	Vessels and	l dendi tan	dovico				
Resources	Aircraft noise	Military exi	nended ma	aterial	s devices			
	Vessel noise	initially exp			Fntanglement:			
	Explosive:	Ingestion:			Decelerators/parachutes			
	None	None			Wires and cables			
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimer	nts and	d Water Quality:			
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Chemica	ls				
Resources			Metals		Other materials			
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	onomic Res	ource	s: Public Health and Safety:			
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessibi	ility		In-water energy			
Resources	strike	Airborne	acoustics		Physical interactions			
		Physical	disturbanc	e and	strike			
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	hla	ASW Training Targets			
Expended	Small decelerators/parachi	ltes	Matorial	idie				
wateria	Sonobuovs ASW Training 1	argets	wateria					
	sonobuov wires	argets,						
Sonar and	Mid-Frequency:				1			
Other	MF4							
Transducer	MF5							
Bins								

## A.1.2.2 Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Helicopter

Anti-Submarin	Anti-Submarine Warfare				
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Tracking Exercise - Helicopter				
In-Water	None				
Explosive					
Bins					
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2)	Physical Disturbance and Strike:			
Mitigation	Active sonar	(Section 5.3.4)			
Measures		Vessel movement			
Assumptions	Submarines may provide service as the	target.			
Used for	All events are conducted in water greater than 600 ft. in depth and further than 12 NM				
Analysis	from shore. For air quality analysis:				
	<ul> <li>1 rotary-wing aircraft per event</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>Average 2 hours per event</li> </ul>				

Anti-Submarin	e Warfare					
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Tracking Exercise	—Maritime P	atrol Aircr	aft		
Short	Maritime patrol aircraft cre	ews search fo	r, track,	Турі	cal Duration	
Description	and detect submarines.			2–8 hours		
Long	Fixed-wing maritime patrol aircraft employ sonobuoys to search for, detect, classify,					
Description	localize, and track a simula	ted threat sub	omarine wi	ith the	goal of determining a firing	
	solution that could be used	l to launch a t	orpedo an	d dest	roy the submarine.	
	Sonobuoys are deployed in	specific patte	erns based	on the	e expected threat submarine and	
	specific water conditions. L	Depending on	these two	factor	rs, these patterns will cover many	
	different size areas. For cer	tain sonobuo	ys, tactical	paran	neters of use may be classified. The	
	Submarine Warfare (ASW/)	get used for t	ot a MK-2	0 targe	be a IVIN-59 Experituable Mobile Anti-	
Typical	Diatforms: Fixed-wing airco	raft		Utarge		
Components	Targets: Sub-surface targe	ts submaring	c			
components	Systems being Trained/Te	sted: Mid-fre	aneuch soi	nar		
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	ations			
Operating	Aircraft safety	.,,,,				
Procedures	Target deployment and	Offshore Ar	ea			
(Section	retrieval safety	Offshore Ar	ea			
2.3.3)						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Di	sturbance	and St	trike: Energy:	
Biological	Sonar and other	Aircraft and	d aerial tar	get	In-air electromagnetic	
Resources	transducers	Vessels and	in-water	device	s devices	
	Aircraft noise	Military expended materials Entanglement:				
	Vessel noise				Decelerators/parachutes	
	Explosive:	Ingestion:	aandad ma	torial	wires and cables	
	None	than mu	initions	lenais		
Stressors to	Air Ouality:		Sedimer	nts and	d Water Ouality:	
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Chemica	als		
Resources			Metals		Other materials	
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	source	s: Public Health and Safety:	
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessibi	ility		In-water energy	
Resources	strike	Airborne	acoustics		Physical interactions	
		Physical	disturbanc	e and	strike	
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		ASW training targets	
Expended	Small decelerators/parach	utes	Recovera	able		
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material			
	Sonobuoys, ASW training t	argets,				
Sonar and	Mid Frequency	Anti Suk	marina W	larfaro		
Other	ME5					
Transducer		ASVVZ	AS	0000		
Bins						
In-Water	None					
Explosive						
Bins						

## A.1.2.3 Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Maritime Patrol Aircraft

Anti-Submarin	Anti-Submarine Warfare				
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Tracking Exercise—Maritime Patrol Aircraft				
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2)				
Mitigation	Active sonar				
Measures					
Assumptions	Submarine may provide service as the target.				
Used for	If target is air dropped, one parachute per target.				
Analysis	All events are conducted in water greater than 600 ft. in depth and further than 12 NM from				
	shore.				
	For air quality analysis:				
	<ul> <li>1 fixed-wing patrol aircraft per event</li> </ul>				
	- Average 6 hours per event				

A.1.2.4	Anti-Submarine	Warfare	Tracking	Exercise	– Ship
---------	----------------	---------	----------	----------	--------

Anti-Submarin	e Warfare					
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Tracking Exercise	—Ship				
Short	Surface ship crews search f	or, track, and	detect	Турі	cal Duration	
Description	submarines.			2–4 hours		
Long	Surface ships search for, de	etect, and trac	k threat su	ubmar	ines to determine a firing position	
Description	to launch a torpedo and at	tack the subm	arine.			
	A surface ship operates at s	slow speeds w	hile emplo	oying s	onobuoys, hull-mounted sonar, or	
	towed array sonar. Passive	or active sona	ar is emplo	oyed d	epending on the type of threat	
	submarine, the tactical situ	ation, and en	vironment	al con	ditions. The target for this exercise	
	is either a MK-39 Expendat	ole Mobile Ant	ti-Submari	ne Wa	rfare Training Target or	
	live submarine.				in	
Tructural	This exercise may involve a	single snip, o	r involve n	nuitipi	e aircraft, snips, and submarines.	
Typical	Platforms: Surface combat	ant				
Components	Systems being Trained /Tes	.s <b>tod:</b> Mid from		ar		
Standard	Voscol cofoty	Typical Loca	tions	lai		
Operating	Towed in-water device		itions			
Procedures	safety	Offshore Ar	ea			
(Section	Survey	Offshore Ar	ea			
2.3.3)						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance and Strike: Energy:				
Biological	Sonar and other	Vessels and	in-water o	device	s In-water electromagnetic	
Resources	transducers	Military exp	pended ma	terials	devices	
	Vessel noise				Entanglement:	
	Explosive:	Ingestion:			Wires and cables	
	None	None	-			
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimer	nts and	d Water Quality:	
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		None			
Resources			<u>-</u>			
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	ource	s: Public Health and Safety:	
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessibi	lity		In-water energy	
Resources	SUIKE	Physical	disturbanc	b nc o	ctriko	
Military	Ingestible Material	Thysical c	Military	c ana	ASW training targets	
Expended	None		Recovera	able	ASW training targets	
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material			
	ASW training targets, expe	ndable				
	bathythermograph					
Sonar and	Mid-Frequency:	Anti-Sub	marine W	arfare	:	
Other	MF1	ASW3				
Transducer	MF11					
Bins						
In-Water	None					
Explosive						
Bins						

Anti-Submarin	Anti-Submarine Warfare				
Anti-Submarine	e Warfare Tracking Exercise—Ship				
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2)				
Mitigation	Active sonar				
Measures					
	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)				
	Vessel movement				
	Towed in-water devices				
Assumptions	A submarine may provide service as the target.				
Used for	All events are conducted in water greater than 600 ft. in depth and further than 12 NM from				
Analysis	shore.				

Anti-Submarin	e Warfare						
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Tracking Exercise-	-Submarine					
Short	Submarine crews search for	r, track, and d	letect	Турі	cal Dura	ation	
Description	submarines.	, ,		8 hours			
Long	Submarine crews search for	r. detect, and track a threat submarine to develop firing position to					
Description	launch a torpedo.						
	A single submerged submai	rine operates at slow speeds and various depths while using its					
	hull-mounted or towed arra	av sonar to tr	ack a threa	nt subr	narine.	Passive sonar is used almost	
	exclusively. The target for t	his exercise is	either an	MK 30	expend	dable mobile anti-submarine	
	warfare training target MK	30 recoverat	ole training	targe	t or live	submarine	
Typical	Platforms: Submarines	30100010100		, 101.90	.,	- Submanne:	
Components	Targets: Sub-surface target	·c					
components	Systems being Trained/Te	.s <b>sted:</b> Mid-fre	quency and	d high	-freque	ncy sonar	
Standard	Vessel safety		ations	ambri	neque		
Operating	Towed in-water device						
Procedures	safety	Offshore A	rea				
(Section	Target deployment and	Offshore Ar	ea				
2 3 3)	retrieval safety						
Stressors to		Physical Di	sturhance	and St	trike	Energy:	
Biological	Sonar and other	Vessels and	l in-water (	device	ςς	None	
Resources	transducers	Military ex	hended ma	terial	5	None	
Resources	Vessel noise				,	Entanglement	
	Explosive:	Ingestion.				None	
	None	None				None	
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimer	nts and	d Water	Quality:	
Physical	None		Metals			2	
Resources							
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	ource	s:	Public Health and Safety:	
Human	Physical disturbance and	Physical o	disturbanc	e and	strike	In-water energy	
Resources	strike	,				Physical interactions	
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		None	•	
Expended	None		Recovera	ble			
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material				
	ASW Training Targets						
Sonar and	Mid-Frequency:	High-Fre	quency:				
Other	MF3	HF1	• •				
Transducer							
Bins							
In-Water	None						
Explosive							
Bins							
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section	n 5.3.2)	Р	hysica	al Distur	bance and Strike: (Section	
Mitigation	Active sonar	·		5.3.	4)		
Measures			т	owed	in-wate	r devices	
			V	'essel	movem	ent	
Assumptions	All events are conducted in	water greate	r than 600	ft. in	depth a	nd further than 12 NM from	
Used for	shore.						
Analysis							

## A.1.2.5 Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Submarine

# A.1.3 ELECTRONIC WARFARE TRAINING

Electronic warfare is the mission area of naval warfare that aims to control use of the electromagnetic spectrum and to deny its use by an adversary. Typical electronic warfare activities include threat avoidance training, signals analysis for intelligence purposes, and use of airborne and surface electronic jamming devices to defeat tracking systems.

A.1.3.1	Electronic War	fare Training
---------	----------------	---------------

Electronic War	fare						
Electronic War	fare Training						
Short	Aircraft and ship crews con	trol portions o	of the	Туріс	al Dura	tion	
Description	electromagnetic spectrum	used by enem	у				
	systems to degrade or deny the enemy's ability 1			1–2 ł	1–2 hours		
	to take defensive actions.						
Long	Aircraft and ship crews con	trol the electr	omagnetic	c spect	rum use	ed by enemy systems to	
Description	degrade or deny the enemy	y's ability to ta	ike defens	ive act	ions. Ele	ectronic Warfare Operations	
	can be active or passive, of	fensive or defe	ensive. Fix	ed-wir	ng aircra	Ift employ active jamming and	
	deception against enemy se	earch radars to	o mask the	e frien	dly inbo	und strike aircraft mission.	
	Surface ships detect and ev	valuate enemy	electronic	c signa	ls from	enemy aircraft or missile	
	radars; evaluate courses of	action concer	ning the u	se of p	bassive o	or active countermeasures;	
	and then use ship maneuve	ers and either	chaff, flare	es, acti	ve elect	ronic countermeasures, or a	
	combination of them to de	feat the threa	t.				
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing aircr	aft, surface co	ombatant				
Components	Targets: Air targets, electro	onic warfare ta	argets				
	Systems being Trained/Tes	tea: None					
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	tions				
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshore Are	ea			Inland Waters	
Procedures		W-237				Inland Waters	
2.3.3)	Acoustic	Dhysical Dis	turbanca	and St	riko	Enormy	
Stressors to Biological	Acoustic:	Aircraft and	Physical Disturbance and Strike:			Energy:	
Biological	Vessel noise		in-water	dovico	5	devices	
Resources	Vessernoise	vessels and	m-water (		3	devices	
	Explosive:	Ingestion:				Entanglement	
	None	None				None	
Stressors to	Air Quality:	-	Sedimen	ts and	Water	Quality:	
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		None				
Resources							
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	ource	5:	Public Health and Safety:	
Human	None	Accessibil	lity			Physical interactions	
Resources		Airborne	acoustics				
		Physical d	listurbance	e and s	strike		
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		None		
Expended	Chaff (Offshore Area only)	– air fibers,	Recovera	ble			
Material	compression pad or plastic	piston,	Material				
	endcap – chaff and flare, fla	are O-ring					
	Non-Ingestible Material:						
	None						

Electronic War	fare
Electronic War	fare Training
Sonar and	None
Other	
Transducer	
Bins	
In-Water	None
Explosive	
Bins	
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)
Mitigation	Vessel movement
Measures	
Assumptions	For air quality analysis:
Used for	- 1 contract air services aircraft
Analysis	- 1 fixed-wing electronic warfare aircraft
	- 1 fixed-wing strike aircraft
	- Average 2 hours per event

# A.1.4 MINE WARFARE TRAINING

Mine warfare is the naval warfare area involving the detection, avoidance, and neutralization of mines to protect Navy ships and submarines, and offensive mine laying in naval operations. A naval mine is a self-contained explosive device placed in water to destroy ships or submarines. Naval mines are deposited and left in place until they are triggered by the approach of an enemy ship, or are destroyed or removed. Naval mines can be laid by purpose-built minelayers, other ships, submarines, or airplanes. Mine warfare training includes mine countermeasures exercises and mine laying exercises.

Mine Warfare	Mine Warfare				
Civilian Port Do	efense—Homeland Security	Anti-Terrorism/Force P	rotection Exercis	ses	
Short	Maritime security personnel train to protect		Typical Duratio	n	
Description	civilian ports and harbors a	gainst enemy efforts	Multiple days		
	to interfere with access to	those ports.	Multiple days		
Long	Naval forces conduct mine	warfare training in conj	unction with Dep	partment of Homeland	
Description	Security units. The three pi	llars of mine warfare, ai	rborne (helicopte	er), surface (surface ships),	
	and undersea (divers, mari	ne mammals, and unma	nned vehicles) m	nine countermeasures will	
	be brought to bear in order to ensure strategic U.S. ports remain free of mine threats. Various				
	mine warfare sensors, which utilize active acoustics, will be employed in the detection,				
	classification, and neutralization of mines. Along with traditional mine warfare techniques, such				
	as helicopter towed mine countermeasures, new technologies (unmanned vehicles) will be				
	Utilized. Marine mammal systems may be used during this exercise.				
	Department of Defense strategic goals and evolving world events.				
Typical	Platforms: Moored platfor	m. rotary-wing aircraft.	support craft, sur	rface combatant. unmanned	
Components	underwater vehicle	,			
	Targets: Sub-surface target	ts (mine shapes)			
	Systems being Trained/Tested: Mine detection systems, towed mine neutralization systems,				
	airborne mine neutralizatio	on system			
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations			
Operating	Aircraft safety	Inland Waters			
Procedures	Unmanned surface	Naval Magazine Indiar	Island		
(Section	vehicle and unmanned	NS Everett			
2.3.3)	underwater vehicle	Naval Base Kitsap (NB	<) Bangor		
	procedures	NBK Bremerton			
	rowed in-water device	Manchester Fuel Pier			
	procedures	Port Angeles			
		Port of Seattle		_	
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance	and Strike:	Energy:	
Biological	Sonar and other	Aircraft and aerial tar	get	In-water electromagnetic	
Resources	transducers	Vessels and in-water	devices	devices	
	Aircraft noise	Seafloor devices		In-air electromagnetic	
	vessel noise	Incostion		aevices	
	Explosive	None		Entanglement:	
	None			None	
	None			NOTE	

A.1.4.1 Civilian Port Defense – Homeland Security Anti-Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises

Mine Warfare					
Civilian Port Defense—Homeland Security Anti-Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises					
Stressors to	Air Quality: Sediments and Water Quality:				Quality:
Physical	Criteria air pollutants				
Resources					
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic Resources: Public Health and Safety:			Public Health and Safety:
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessib	ility		In-water energy
Resources	strike	Airborne	acoustics		In-air energy
		Physical	disturbance and	strike	Physical interactions
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	Mines	shapes
Expended	None		Recoverable		
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material		
	None				
Sonar and	High-Frequency:	Synthet	ic Aperture Sona	irs:	
Other	HF4	SAS2			
Transducer					
Bins					
In-Water	None				
Explosive					
Bins					
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.	.3.2)	Physical Di	sturban	ce and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)
Mitigation	Active sonar		Vessel mov	rement	
Measures			Towed in-w	vater de	vices
Assumptions	Non-permanent mine shapes	will be laid	in various place	s on the	bottom and will be retrieved
Used for	Shapes are varied, from about	t 1 m circul	ar to about 2.5 r	n long b	y 1 m wide. They will be
Analysis	recovered using normal assets	s, with dive	er involvement.		
	While goal is to conduct once	per year, a	Iternating East/	West Co	ast, assume that a West Coast
	event will occur every other y	ear with a	total of three pe	r 5-year	period.
	For air quality analysis:				
	- 1 rotary-wing aircraft	t (12 hours	)		
	- 1 Mine Countermeas	sures-class	ship (24 hours)		
	- 1 Rigid Hull Inflatable	e Boat (24 l	nours)		

Mine Warfare	Mine Warfare					
Mine Neutraliz	ation – Explosive Ordnance	Disposal Trai	ning			
Short	Personnel disable threat m	ines using exp	olosive	Турі	cal Duratio	on
Description	charges.			Up to	o 4 hours	
Long	Navy divers, typically explo	sive ordnance	e disposal p	erson	nel, disabl	le threat mines with
Description	explosive charges to create	a safe chann	el for frien	dly ve	ssels to tra	ansit.
	Personnel detect, identify,	evaluate, and	l neutralize	non-e	explosive p	practice mines in the water
	with an explosive device an	d may involve	e detonatio	on of c	one or mor	re explosive charges per
	training event. At each of the two training locations, up to three events per year may occur					
	using 0.1 pound (E0) explosive charges (Limpet Mine Neutralization Tool), and three events per					
	year with up to 2.5 pound (E3) charges. For each event using 0.1 pound charges, a total of up to					
	six charges may be used. Fo	or events usin	g charges (		pounds or	less, one charge will be
	used. Events may also include recovery of the neutralized non-explosive mine to the surface					
	and towing it to shore by small boat. These training events are normally conducted during daylight hours for safety reasons					
Typical	Platforms: Small Boat					
Components	Targets: Sub-surface targets (mine shanes)					
components	Systems being Trained/Tested: None					
Standard	Vessel safety	ressel safety Tynical Locations				
Operating	Underwater detonation					
Procedures	safety	Inland Waters				
(Section	,	Crescent Ha	Irbor EOD 1	rainin	g Range	
2.3.3)		Hood Canal	EOD Train	ing Ra	nge	
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Dis	sturbance	and St	rike:	Energy:
Biological	Vessel Noise	Vessels and	l in-water o	device	S	None
Resources		Military exp	pended ma	terials	5	
	Explosive:	Seafloor de	evices			Entanglement:
	In-water explosions					None
		Ingestion:				
		Military exp	pended ma	terials	5 —	
		munitions		4! - I .		
		than munit	pended ma	terials	s – other	
Stroscore to	Air Quality		Sodimor	+= -==	Watar O	uolityy
Stressors to Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Explosive	its and		cals
Resources			Metals	co Other	materials	
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco				Public Health and Safety:
Human	Explosives	Accessibi	ilitv	ource	5.	In-water energy
Resources	Physical disturbance and	Airborne	acoustics			Physical interactions
	strike	Physical of	disturbanc	e and	strike	,
Military	Ingestible Material:	1	Military		Training	targets (mine shapes)
Expended	Target fragments, small-cal	iber	Recovera	ble	0	
Material	projectile casings		Material			
	Non-Ingestible Material:					
	Mine-shape (explosive) frag	gments				

#### A.1.4.2 Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Disposal Training

Mine Warfare				
Mine Neutraliz	Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Disposal Training			
Sonar and	None			
Other				
Transducer				
Bins				
In-Water	Up to E3			
Explosive				
Bins				
Procedural	Explosive Stressors: (Section 5.3.3)	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)		
Mitigation	Explosive mine neutralization activities	Vessel movement		
Measures	involving Navy divers			
Assumptions	Mine shapes will be recovered.			
Used for	For air quality analysis:			
Analysis	- 3 small boats			
	- Average 2 hours per event			

## A.1.5 SURFACE WARFARE TRAINING

Surface warfare is a type of naval warfare in which aircraft and surface ships employ weapons and sensors in operations directed against enemy surface ships or small boats. Aircraft-to-surface Surface Warfare is conducted by using precision guided munitions. Surface warfare also is conducted by warships employing naval guns. Training in surface warfare includes surface-to-surface gunnery, air-to-surface gunnery, and bombing exercises. Gunnery and missile training may involve expenditure of ordnance against a towed target.

Surface Warfa	re			
Bombing Exerc	ise Air-to-Surface			
Short	Fixed-wing aircrews deliver	bombs against	Typical Duration	on
Description	surface targets.		1 hour	
Long Description	Fixed-wing aircraft conduct smoke buoy), towed target smoke buoy, and then delive the target. A range boat may attack. Exercises for strike fighters guided munitions that may may be employed by strike munitions include non-expl non-explosive general purp non-explosive). Precision-g non-explosive), laser-guide	bombing exercises agains, or maneuvering targe vers high-explosive or not ay be used to deploy tow typically involve a flight be either high-explosive fighter aircraft in the co losive subscale bombs (f bose bombs (MK-80 serio uided munitions include d training rounds (non-e	inst stationary fla inst stationary fla its. An aircraft cla on-explosive pra- wed or maneuve of two aircraft of e or non-explosive ourse of bombing MK-76 and BDU- es), MK-20 cluste e laser-guided bo explosive), Joint	pating targets (e.g., MK-58 ears the area, deploys a ctice munitions bombs on ring targets for an aircraft to delivering unguided or ve. The following munitions g exercise: Unguided 45), explosive and er bomb (explosive, ombs (explosive, Direct Attack Munition
Turical	(explosive, non-explosive).	-ft aussart craft		
Components	Targets: Surface targets	att, support crart	hombs non-exr	alosive practice munitions
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations	bonnos, non enp	
Operating	Aircraft safety			
Procedures (Section 2.3.3)	Laser procedures Weapons firing safety Target deployment and retrieval safety	Offshore Area W-237 (Excluding Olyr and Olympic Coast Na Marine Sanctuary)	npic MOAs tional	
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance	and Strike:	Energy:
Biological Resources	Aircraft noise Vessel noise	Aircraft and aerial tar Vessels and in-water Military expended ma	get devices aterials	In-air electromagnetic devices
	Explosive:	, ,		Entanglement:
	In-water explosions	Ingestion: Military expended ma munitions Military expended ma than munitions	aterials – aterials – other	Decelerators/parachutes
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sedimer	nts and Water Q	uality:
Physical Resources	Criteria air pollutants	Explosiv	es Metals	

#### A.1.5.1 Bombing Exercise Air-to-Surface

Surface Warfa	re					
Bombing Exerc	Bombing Exercise Air-to-Surface					
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	onomic Resource	s: Public Health and Safety:		
Human	Explosives	Accessibility		In-water energy		
Resources	Physical disturbance and	Airborne	acoustics	Physical interactions		
	strike	Physical disturbance and strike				
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	Recoverable surface targets		
Expended	Small decelerators/parachutes	s, target	Recoverable			
Material	fragments, bomb fragments		Material			
	Non-Ingestible Material:					
	Mark 58 marine marker, bomb	o (non-				
	explosive)					
Sonar and	None					
Other						
Transducer						
Bins						
In-Water	E10					
Explosive						
Bins						
Procedural	Explosive Stressors: (Section 5	.3.3)	Physical	Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)		
Mitigation	Explosive bombs		Vessel m	ovement		
Measures			Non-expl	osive bombs and mine shapes		
Assumptions	Approximately 90 percent of n	on-explos	ive bombs are th	e sub-scale bombs such as the MK-76		
Used for	and BDU-48. 110 NEPM and 10	) HE bomb	os annually.			
Analysis	All explosive bombing events of	occur grea	ter than 50 NM f	rom shore. Non-explosive bombing		
	events occur greater than 20 N	IM from s	hore. Air-to-surfa	ace bombing is not authorized in the		
	Olympic Coast National Marin	e Sanctuar	ry.			
	For air quality analysis:	6. (4.)	,			
	<ul> <li>2 fixed-wing strike air</li> </ul>	craft (1 ho	our)			

Surface Warfar	e				
Gunnery Exerci	ise Surface-to-Surface – Ship				
Short	Surface ship crews fire large	e-, medium-, and	Typical Durat	ion	
Description	small-caliber guns at surfac	e targets.	Up to 3 hours		
Long	This exercise involves ships	' gun crews engaging su	rface targets at	t sea with their main battery	
Description	large-caliber (typically 57 m	nillimeter [mm], 76 mm,	and 5-inch), m	edium-caliber (20 mm,	
	25 mm, and 40 mm), and si	mall-caliber (.50-caliber	and smaller) gu	uns. Targets include the	
	QST-35 seaborne powered	target, high speed mane	euverable surfa	ace target, or a specially	
	configured remote controlled water craft. Some targets are expended during the exercise and				
	are not recovered.				
	The target may be a 10-foo	t diameter red balloon (	Killer Tomato),	a 50-gallon steel drum, or	
	other available target, such as a cardboard box. Some targets are expended during the exercise				
	and are not recovered.				
	weapon maintenance	be med during weapon	certification es		
	During all events, either high-explosive or non-explosive rounds may be used. High-explosive				
	rounds can either be fused	for detonation on impa	ct (with water s	surface or target), or for	
	proximity to the target (in air detonation).				
	Shipboard protection syste	ms utilizing small-calibe	r projectiles wi	ll train against high-speed	
	mobile targets.				
Typical	Platforms: Surface combata	ant			
Components	Targets: Recoverable or exp	pendable floating target	(stationary or	towed), remote controlled	
	high speed targets				
	Systems being Trained/Tes	<b>ted:</b> Large-, medium-, a	nd small-calibe	er gun systems	
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations			
Operating	Weapons firing safety	Offshore Area			
Procedures	Target deployment and	Offshore Area			
(3001011	Tellieval salely				
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance	and Strike:	Energy:	
Biological	Vessel noise	Vessels and in-water	devices	In-air electromagnetic	
Resources	Weapons noise	Military expended ma	terials	devices	
	Explosive:	Ingestion:		Entanglement:	
	In-water explosions	Military expended ma	terials –	None	
	In-air explosions	munitions			
		Military expended ma	terials – other		
		than munitions	_		
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sedimer	its and Water	Quality:	
Physical	Criteria air pollutants	Explosive	es Meta	Is	
Resources	Cultural Descurrent	Contant and a D			
Stressors to		Socioeconomic Res	ources:	Public Health and Safety:	
Resources	Explusives Dhysical disturbance and	Accessionity Airborne acoustics		ni-water energy Physical interactions	
Resources	i nysicai distui bance allu				
Resources	Physical disturbance and	Airborne acoustics		Physical interactions	

#### A.1.5.2 Gunnery Exercise Surface-to-Surface – Ship

Surface Warfare				
Gunnery Exerc	ise Surface-to-Surface – Ship			
Military	Ingestible Material:	Military	Recoverable surface targets	
Expended	Target fragments, projectile	Recoverable		
Material	fragments, small- and medium-caliber	Material		
	casings, small- and medium-caliber			
	(non-explosive) projectiles			
	Non-Ingestible Material:			
	Large-caliber projectiles (non-			
	explosive), large-caliber casings,			
	marine marker, canister			
Sonar and	None			
Other				
Transducer				
Bins				
In-Water	E1 E2 E5	1		
Explosive				
Bins				
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2)	Explosi	ve Stressors: (Section 5.3.3)	
Mitigation	Weapons firing noise	Explosi	ve medium-caliber and large-caliber	
Measures		project	iles	
	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section	n		
	5.3.4)			
	Vessel movement			
	Small-, medium-, and large-caliber non-			
	explosive practice munitions			
Assumptions	Small- and medium-caliber NEPM activit	y always occurs	12 NM or more from the shoreline.	
Used for	Large-caliber NEPM activity always occu	rs 20 NM or mor	e from shoreline.	
Analysis	Medium- and large-caliber explosive mu	nitions activity a	lways occur 50 NM or more from	
	shore.			
	For analytical purposes assume all high e	explosive rounds	are fused to detonate upon impact	
	with water surface or target.			
	After impacting the water, the high expl	osive rounds are	expected to detonate within three	
	feet of the surface. Non-explosive round	s and fragments	from the high explosive rounds will	
	sink to the bottom of the ocean.			

### A.1.5.3 Missile Exercise Air-to-Surface

Surface Warfa	e				
Missile Exercise	e Air-to-Surface				
Short	Fixed-wing aircrews simulat	te firing precision	- Турі	ical Duration	
Description	guided missiles, using capti	ve air training mis	ssiles		
	(CATMs) against surface tar	gets. Some activi	ties		
	include firing a missile with	a high-explosive	(HE) 2110	Juis	
	warhead.				
Long	Fighter, Electronic Attack, n	naritime patrol ai	rcraft aircrev	ws fire precision-guided miss	siles
Description	against surface targets. Airc	craft involved may	y be unmanr	ned.	
	Fixed-wing aircraft (fighters	s, Electronic Attac	k, or maritin	me patrol aircraft) approach	an at-sea
	surface target from high alt	itude and launch	high-explosi	ive precision guided missiles	
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing aircr	aft			
Components	Targets: Recoverable floating	ng target (station	ary or towed	d), Remotely operated target	t
	Systems being Trained/Tes	ted: Air-to-surfac	e missile sys	stems	
Standard	Aircraft safety	<b>Typical Location</b>	าร		
Operating	Laser procedures	Offshore Area			
Procedures	Weapons firing safety	W-237			
(Section	Target deployment and				
2.3.3)	retrieval safety	_			
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Distur	bance and S	Strike: Energy:	
Biological	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and ae	rial target sti	rike In-air electroma	agnetic
Resources		Military expend	led material	s devices	
		Vessel and in-w	ater devices	S	
	Evalosive	Ingestion		Entonalomont	
	LAPIOSIVE.	ingestion.		Entangiement:	
	In-water explosions	None		None	
Stressors to	In-water explosions Air Quality:	None Se	ediment and	None I Water Quality:	
Stressors to Physical	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants	None E>	ediment and plosives	None I Water Quality: Chemicals	
Stressors to Physical Resources	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants	None Se E>	e <b>diment and</b> plosives etals	None I Water Quality: Chemicals	
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources:	None Se E> Socioeconon	ediment and plosives etals nic Resource	I Water Quality: Chemicals Chemicals	Safety:
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics	None Se E> M Socioeconon Accessibility	ediment and plosives etals nic Resource	I Water Quality: Chemicals Chemicals Public Health and In-water energy	Safety:
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives	None Se Ex Socioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco	ediment and plosives etals nic Resource ustics	A Water Quality: Chemicals     Public Health and In-water energy In-air energy	Safety:
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance	None Seconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu	ediment and aplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and	I Water Quality: Chemicals Chemicals Public Health and In-water energy In-air energy strike Physical interactio	Safety:
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material:	None Se E> M Socioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu Mi	ediment and cplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary	None     None	<b>Safety:</b> ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr	None Sec Ex Socioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Re	ediment and cplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable	A water Quality: Chemicals     Chemicals     In-water energy In-air energy strike Physical interactio Recoverable surface targer	Safety: ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material:	None Sec Ex M Socioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Re Mi	ediment and splosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	I Water Quality: Chemicals Chemicals Es: Public Health and In-water energy In-air energy strike Physical interactio Recoverable surface targe	<b>Safety:</b> ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive)	None Sec E> M Socioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Re Ma	ediment and eplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	I Water Quality:         Chemicals         es:       Public Health and         In-water energy         In-air energy         strike       Physical interactio         Recoverable surface targe	<b>Safety:</b> ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive) None	None Sec E> M Socioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Re Mi	ediment and cplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	Average in the second sec	Safety: ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive) None	None Sec Ex Socioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Re Ma	ediment and cplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	A variable for the second	Safety: ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive) None	None Sec Ex Socioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Re Mi	ediment and splosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	A variable for the second	Safety: ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive) None	None Secioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Re Mi	ediment and eplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	Average in the second sec	Safety: ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins In-Water	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive) None E10	None Secioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Re Mi	ediment and cplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	A Water Quality: Chemicals      Chemicals      Public Health and In-water energy In-air energy strike Physical interactio Recoverable surface targer	Safety: ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins In-Water Explosive	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive) None E10	None Secioeconon Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Re Ma	ediment and cplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	I Water Quality:         Chemicals         es:       Public Health and         In-water energy         In-air energy         strike       Physical interactio         Recoverable surface targe	Safety: ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins In-Water Explosive Bins	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive) None E10	None Secondary Market M	ediment and eplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	I Water Quality:         Chemicals         es:       Public Health and         In-water energy         In-air energy         strike       Physical interactio         Recoverable surface targe	Safety: ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins In-Water Explosive Bins Procedural	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive) None E10 Physical Disturbance and S	None Seconom Socioeconom Accessibility Airborne aco Physical distu agments Mi Agments Ke Mi Socioeconom Socioecono	ediment and cplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	Sive Stressors: (Section 5.3.3)	Safety: ns ts
Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins In-Water Explosive Bins Procedural Mitigation	In-water explosions Air Quality: Criteria Air Pollutants Hazardous Air Pollutants Cultural Resources: Acoustics Explosives Physical disturbance Ingestible Material: Missile fragments, target fr Non-Ingestible Material: Missiles (non-explosive) None E10 Physical Disturbance and S Non-Explosive Missiles	None Secondary Market Secondary Market Secondary Market Section 5.3	ediment and cplosives etals nic Resource ustics urbance and litary coverable aterial	I Water Quality:         Chemicals         es:       Public Health and         In-water energy         In-air energy         strike       Physical interactio         Recoverable surface targe	Safety: ns ts

Surface Warfa	re
Missile Exercis	e Air-to-Surface
Assumptions	Assume one target per event.
Used for	Most missiles are non-firing. Some missiles are live missiles with HE warhead (4 HE
Analysis	missiles per year).
	All events occur greater than 50 NM from shore.

# A.1.6 OTHER TRAINING

A.1.6.1	Intelligence,	Surveillance,	Reconnaissance
---------	---------------	---------------	----------------

Other Training					
Intelligence, Su	rveillance, Reconnaissance				
Short	Maritime patrol aircraft (M	PA), unmann	ed aerial	Турі	cal Duration
Description	systems, ships, and submar	ines use all a	vailable	2.01	h
	sensors to collect data on t	hreat vessels.		2-81	nours
Long	MPA and unmanned aerial systems operators use all available sensors to collect data on threat			ilable sensors to collect data on threat	
Description	vessels. Passive sonobuoys are used to collect and analyze acoustic data, and photographic				
	equipment is used to document the vessel with visual information.				
Typical	Platforms: Aircraft, unman	ned aerial sys	tem, ships	, subm	narines
Components	Targets: None				
	Systems being Trained/Tes	ted: None			
Standard	Aircraft safety Typical Locations				
Operating	Unmanned aircraft	Offshore Ar	ea		Inland Waters
Procedures	system procedures	Offshore Ar	ea		Restricted Area 6701
(Section					NAVY 7 OPAREA
2.3.3)		-			
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Di	sturbance	and St	trike: Energy:
Biological	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and	d aerial tar	get	In-air electromagnetic
Resources	Vessel noise	Military exp	pended ma	terials	s devices
	Explosive:	Vessel and	in-water d	evices	Entanglement:
	None	Ingestion:			Wires and cables
		None			
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimer	nts and	d Water Quality:
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		None		
Resources			-		
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	ource	es: Public Health and Safety:
Human	None	None			None
Resources					
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		None
Expended	Small decelerators/parachu	ites	Recovera	ble	
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material		
	Sonobuoys, sonobuoy wire	S			
Sonar and	None				
Other					
Transducer					
Bins					
In-Water	None				
Explosive					
Bins					
Procedural	None				
Mitigation					
Measures					

Other Training	
Intelligence, Su	urveillance, Reconnaissance
Assumptions	ISR training is conducted by Maritime Patrol Aircraft and unmanned aerial systems in W-237 and the
Used for	Pacific Northwest Operating Area. Activities typically last 6 hours. P-8A aircrews use a variety of
Analysis	intelligence gathering and surveillance methods, including visual, infrared, electronic, radar, and
	acoustic. EP-3 and EA-18G crews conduct ISR training as well, but to a lesser extent than P-8A crews.

m

#### A.1.6.2 Maritime Security Operations

Other Training							
Maritime Security Operations							
Short	Helicopter, surface ship, an	nd small boat crews conduct a	Typical Duration				
Description	suite of maritime security of	operations events, including					
	maritime security escorts for	or Navy vessels such as	TPS, averaging 10 hours, up to				
	submarines and aircraft ca	rriers; Visit, Board, Search,	approximately 12–18 hours; 2				
	and Seizure; Maritime Inter	rdiction Operations; Force	hours for other MSO activities				
	Protection; and Anti-Piracy	Operations.					
Long	Maritime security operatio	ns in the NWTT study area are p	redominantly maritime security				
Description	escort events, including the	e Transit Protection Program (TF	PP) and training of other escort units.				
	The TPP includes up to 9 se	curity vessels that protect SSBN	s while moving within Puget Sound				
	and the Strait of Juan de Fu	ıca. U.S. Coast Guard (USCG) pe	rsonnel and their ancillary equipment				
	and weapons systems are i	nvolved in these events. Genera	ally, the escorts establish a moving				
	1000-yard perimeter (secu	rity zone) around the vessel to p	prevent non-participants from				
	entering that security zone	. Non-participant vessels might	be ordered to move. Every 2 years, a				
	training event occurs which	n involves up to 16 vessels, trans	siting from Hood Canal to Admiralty				
	Inlet. During this biennial e	vent, boat crews train to engage	e surface targets by firing small-				
	caliber (blank) weapons.						
	Similar maritime security e	scort training occurs with Coasta	al Riverine Group (CRG) boats that				
	conduct force protection for	or designated vessels and mover	ments. These CRG boat crews train to				
	protect ships while enterin	g and leaving ports. Other missi	ons include ensuring compliance				
	with vessel security zones f	for ships in port and at anchor, c	conducting patrols to counter				
	waterborne threats, and co	onducting harbor approach defe	nse.				
	The vessels used by TPP an	d CRG include small unit rivering	e craft, combat rubber raiding craft,				
	rigid-hull inflatable boats, patrol craft, reaction vessels, blocking vessels, and many other						
	versions of these types of boats. These boats use inboard or outboard, diesel or gasoline						
	engines with either propell	er or water jet propulsion. Boat	crews may use high or low speeds to				
	approach and engage targe	ets simulating other boats, swim	mers, floating mines, or nearshore				
	land targets with small-cali	ber (blank) weapons.					
Typical	Platforms: Small boats, rea	ction vessels, blocking vessels, a	and patrol boats				
Components	<b>Targets:</b> High-performance small boats, recoverable or expendable floating target						
	Systems being Trained/Tested: None						
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations					
Operating	Aircraft safety	Inland Waters					
Procedures	Weapons firing safety	NBK Bremerton					
(Section	Target deployment and	Hood Canal					
2.3.3)	retrieval safety	Dabob Bay					
		TPS Route (169)					
		NS Everett					
		Puget Sound					
		Strait of Juan de Fuca					
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance and Stri	ike: Energy:				
Biological	Vessel noise	Vessels and in-water devices	In-air electromagnetic				
Resources	Weapons noise	Military expended materials	devices				
	Explosive:	Ingestion:	Entanglement:				
	None	Military expended materials -	- None				
		munitions					

Other Training							
Maritime Secu	rity Operations						
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sediments and Water Quality:					
Physical	Criteria air pollutants	Metals					
Resources							
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioecor	nomic Resource	es: Public Health and Safety:			
Human	None	Accessibil	ity	Physical interactions			
Resources		Airborne	acoustics				
		Physical d	isturbance and	strike			
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	None			
Expended	Shell casings		Recoverable				
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material				
	None						
Sonar and	None						
Other							
Transducer							
Bins							
In-Water	None						
Explosive							
Bins							
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)						
Mitigation	Vessel movement						
Measures							
Assumptions	Maritime security training events conducted in inland waters do not involve live fire of						
Used for	weapons. All maritime security	y events inv	olve vessel mo	vement, sometimes at speeds			
Analysis	necessary to overtake suspect	vessel or s	mall boats (targ	ets). Maritime security training events,			
	particularly maritime security	escorts, are	e conducted pro	ximate to Naval Bases (NAVBASEs)			
	Kitsap Bangor, Bremerton, and	d Everett, a	nd within the H	ood Canal, Dabob Bay, Puget Sound,			
	and Strait of Juan de Fuca.						
	Maritime Security Escort (SSB	N Transit Pr	otection): The T	Fransit Protection Program (TPP)			
	utilizes a mixture of 16 securit	y vessels, u	p to 9 of which	can be utilized at any time for			
	escorting SSBNs transiting bet	ween the S	SBN homeport	of NAVBASE Bangor and the			
	dive/surface point in the Strait	t of Juan de	Fuca or Dabob	Bay. TPP vessels include 16 escort			
	security boats nome ported at	NAVBASE	Kitsap Bangor, (	consisting of 2 Blocking Vessels			
	(250 ft.), 2 Reaction Vessels (8	7 π.), and 1	12 Screening ve	ssels (small boats and patrol boats –			
	10-85 IL.).	al accort b	aing conducted	and other conditions, the convritu zone			
	could be from a 100 yard to a	1 000 vard	radius around i	the accorted vessel. Recreational and			
	commercial vessels might be c	1,000-yaiu		the escorted vessel. Recreational and			
	To the extent practicable all	ise of blank	ammunition w	ould be near the center of the			
	waterway and no closer than t	500 vards t	a the shoreline				
	All shell casings associated wit	h use of his	ank ammunition	shall be cantured to the greatest			
	extent feasible using either co	offerdams a		nture hins or capture on the deck of			
	vessels Radio broadcasts to m	ariners will	l be conducted	during exercises to ensure the public is			
	aware and clear of the area.						

Other Training									
Maritime Secu	rity Operations								
Assumptions	Maritime Security Escort (Coastal Riverine Group): Naval Coastal Riverine Units train to provide								
Used for	escort and force protection security to naval vessels. These training events will be conducted								
Analysis	within inland waterways in and around Naval Homeports such as Naval Base Kitsap Bangor,								
	Naval Base Kitsap Bremerton, and Naval Station Everett, and within the Hood Canal, Dabob								
	Bay, Puget Sound, and Strait of Juan de Fuca WA.								
	These training events would occur approximately 51 times per year, approximately								
	60–70 percent originating proximate to Bangor, 20–30 percent proximate to Bremerton, and								
	the remainder (less than 10 percent) proximate to Everett. The average total transit distance								
	associated with maritime security escort training events (Other) can vary between 50 and								
	180 NM.								
	Maritime Security Escort (Other) is supported with 6 total vessels (i.e., 34' Sea Ark Patrol Craft								
	and 85' Mk VI Riverine Craft), of which 2–4 vessels would be used for a single escort mission.								
	Naval Coastal Riverine Forces would also conduct certification maritime security escort training								
	events once every 6–9 months. These certification events would include 8–10 days underway,								
	operating in common escort areas (with 1–2 days of no-fire events/7 days of blank fire events								
	in the vicinity of Whidbey Island). The typical training day would consist of two shifts,								
	approximately 5 hours each. Nighttime training is not anticipated. Certification training would								
	utilize up to 5 boats (3 as escorts, 1 simulating a Navy vessel to be protected, and 1 simulating								
	Opposition Force [OPFOR]).								
	Expended Brass: Efforts will be made by crews to collect all expended brass (shell casings)								
	captured on the deck; however, brass ejection may result in loss over the side. Use of								
	Pyrotechnics limited to flash, flare, and sound devices, may be utilized. Noise Levels: Loud								
	hailers will be used for hailing contacts if no radio communication can be established. Use of								
	sirens in support of mission or training will be minimized and period of use limited to late-								
	morning through early evening.								
	Water Depth: Patrol boats will not typically be operating in shoal water. Unless in an								
	emergency and during launch and recovery, patrol boats will only operate in waters in which								
	the charted depth is greater than 6 ft. Speed: Patrol boats are not expected to exceed 15 knots								
	unless involved in a drill that requires them to quickly move from one zone to another to								
	provide force protection.								
	For air quality analysis:								
	- 1 fixed-wing strike aircraft								
	- 1 rotary-wing aircraft								
	- 3–9 small boats								
	- Average 2 hours per event								

Other Training	Other Training						
Personnel Inse	Personnel Insertion/Extraction Training—Non-Submersible						
Short	Military personnel train for	insertion and	ł	Турі	cal Duration		
Description	extraction into target areas	using rotary	wing				
	aircraft, fixed-wing aircraft (insertion only), or				Up to 12 hours		
	small boats.						
Long	Personnel train to approach	n or depart ar	n objective	area u	ising various transportation methods		
Description	and tactics. These operatio	ns train force	s to insert	and e>	stract personnel and equipment day or		
	night. Tactics and technique	es employed i	include ins	ertion	from aircraft by parachute, by rope, or		
	from low, slow-flying helico	pters from w	hich perso	nnel ju	ump into the water. Parachute training		
	is required to be conducted	l on surveyed	drop zone	s to ei	nhance safety. Insertion and extraction		
	methods also employ small	inflatable bo	ats. Activit	y may	include Navy personnel learning		
	advanced self-contained ur	iderwater bre	eathing app	paratu	s (SCUBA) diving, to include tactics,		
	techniques, and procedure	s and emerge	ncy proced	lures.	Small boats are used for safety.		
Typical	Platforms: Small boats, rot	ary-wing aircr	aft, fixed-v	wing a	ircraft		
Components	Targets: None						
	Systems being Trained/Tes	ted: None					
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	ations				
Operating	Aircraft safety	Incraft safety Inland Waters					
Procedures		Crescent Ha	Irbor EOD I	Range			
(Section 2 2 2)		NAVY / OPA	AREA				
2.3.3)	Acquation	Dhusiaal Die	turbanaa		riko: Energy		
Biological	Acoustic.	Voscols and	in water d		Nono		
Biological	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and	aprial targ		s none		
Resources	All chart hoise	Ingestion.		sei	Entanglement		
	Fxplosive:	None			None		
	None	None			None		
Stressors to	Air Quality:	-	Sedimer	nts and	Water Quality:		
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		None		a trater Quanty.		
Resources	oncenta un ponacanto		Home				
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	ource	s: Public Health and Safety:		
Human	None	None			None		
Resources							
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		None		
Expended	None		Recovera	ble			
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material				
	None						
Sonar and	None						
Other							
Transducer							
Bins							
In-Water	None						
Explosive							
Bins							

#### A.1.6.3 Personnel Insertion/Extraction – Non-Submersible

Other Training			
Personnel Insertion/Extraction Training—Non-Submersible			
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)		
Mitigation	Vessel movement		
Measures			
Assumptions	For air quality analysis:		
Used for	- 1 small boat		
Analysis	- Average 8 hours per event		

#### A.1.6.4 Precision Anchoring

Other Training						
Precision Anch	oring					
Short	Surface ship crews release	and retrieve an	chors	Турі	al Durat	ion
Description	in designated locations.			Up to 1 hour		
Long	Ship crews choose the best available anchoring sites. The ship uses all means available to					
Description	determine its position when anchor is dropped to demonstrate calculating and plotting the					
•	anchor's position within 10	0 vards of cente	er of plar	nned a	nchorage	
Typical	Platforms: Navy ships					
Components	Targets: None					
	Systems being Trained/Tes	sted: None				
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locati	ions			
Operating		Inland Water				
Procedures		Naval Magazi	ne Indiar	n Island	4	
(Section		Naval Station	Everett	i isiaiit		
2.3.3)		NAVY 3 OPAR	RFA			
,		Fastern Banks	s Area			
Stressors to	Acoustic	Physical Dist	urbance	and St	riko	Energy
Biological	Vessel noise	Vessels and i	n-water (	device	c c	In-air electromagnetic
Resources	Vessernoise	Seafloor devi			5	devices
Resources	Explosive:	Seanoor devi				devices
	None	Ingestion.				Entanglement:
	None	Nono Nono			None	
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimer	nts and	Water (	Quality:
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		None	its and	vulci	Lunry.
Resources	enteria an ponatanto		None			
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioecon	omic Res	ource	s:	Public Health and Safety:
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessibilit	tv	ouree		Physical interactions
Resources	strike	Physical di	sturbanc	e and :	strike	
Military	Ingestible Material:	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	Military		None	
Expended	None		Recovera	able		
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material			
	None					
Sonar and	None					
Other						
Transducer						
Bins						
In-Water	None					
Explosive						
Bins						
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and S	Strike: (Section	5.3.4)			
Mitigation	Vessel movement					
Measures						
Assumptions	None					
Used for						
Analysis						
Allalysis						

#### A.1.6.5 Search and Rescue

Other Training						
Search and Res	scue					
Short	Helicopter crews train to re	escue military	,	Турі	cal Duratio	on
Description	personnel at sea.			2–3	hours	
Long	Helicopter crews rescue mi	ilitary personr	nel at sea.			
Description	Helicopters fly below 3,000	) ft. and locate	e personne	el to be	e rescued. I	Flares are expended during
	training.					
Typical	Platforms: Rotary-wing airc	craft, small bc	oats			
Components	Targets: None					
	Systems being Trained/Tes	sted: None				
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	ations			
Operating	Aircraft safety	Inland Wate	ers			
Procedures		Crescent Ha	arbor EOD I	Range		
(Section		Restricted A	rea 6701			
2.3.3)	!	<u> </u>				
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Di	sturbance	and St	trike:	Energy:
Biological	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and	d aerial tar	get		In-air electromagnetic
Resources	Vessel noise	Vessels and	d in-water o	device	S	devices
	Final ashies					
	Explosive:	Ingestion.				Entanglement:
Church and the	None	NOTE	C - dim or	- 1- 0.04	- Mater O	
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Seaimen	its and	d water Q	uality:
Physical	Criteria ali poliutants		NOTE			
Strossors to	Cultural Pacauroas	Facioacc			D	
Stressors to	None	Airborne	nonic res	Ource	S: г D	UDIC Really and Salery.
Resources	NOTE	Physical	disturbanc	e and	strike '	
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	Cuna	None	
Expended	Flares	l	Recovera	able	None	
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:	l	Material			
Wateria	None		inderie.			
Sonar and	None	ļ				
Other						
Transducer						
Bins						
In-Water	None					
Explosive						
Bins						
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and S	Strike: (Sectio	n 5.3.4)			
Mitigation	Vessel movement	•	-			
Measures	l					
Assumptions	This activity involves a helic	copter landing	g and simul	lated e	extraction (	of a survivor (typically one of
Used for	the helicopter crewmembe	ers). The searc	ch and resc	ue hel	icopter, an	۱ H-60, approaches the
Analysis	survivor, hovers, recovers t	the survivor, a	and then de	eparts	the area w	vith the survivor onboard.

### A.1.6.6 Small Boat Attack Exercise

Other Training							
Small Boat Attack Exercise							
Short	Small boat crews engage p	ierside surfac	e <b>Typ</b> i	cal Duration			
Description	targets with small-caliber v	weapons. Onl <sup>y</sup>	y blank				
	rounds are fired.		4 no	ours over 3 days			
Long	A single activity consists of	multiple day	s of training. For	r analysis in this SEIS/OEIS, a 3-day			
Description	scenario is assumed. On th	e first day, bl	anks will be fire	d from a small-caliber machine gun,			
	mounted on a high-speed	boat used by	Navy security fo	prces. The second day will consist of test			
	firing multiple crew-serve	and hand-held small-caliber weapons, all with blank ammunition.					
	Some rounds will be fired t	from both the	high-speed boa	at and from a Navy surface ship moored			
	at a Navy pier. The third da	ay will be the	full training exe	rcise. This consists of a high-speed			
	attack vessel running direc	tly at the Nav	y pier where th	e simulated target surface ship is			
	moored.						
	Duration of firing will be a	oproximately	2 hours with a t	otal of 1,000 rounds fired the first day,			
	and a duration of 1.5 hour	s with a total	of 1,000 rounds	fired the second day. The final day will			
	have a duration of approxi	mately 30 mi	nutes, with 1,00	0 rounds fired. Typical firing patterns			
	are 3–30 round bursts, ass	ess target, an	d then fire again	n. Multiple crew members will be given a			
	chance to fire the weapons.						
Typical	Platforms: Small boats or watercraft						
Components	<b>Fargets:</b> High-performance	e small boats					
	Systems being Trained/Te	sted: None					
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations					
Operating	Weapons firing	Inland Wate	ers				
Procedures	procedures	Naval Statio	n Everett				
(Section		NBK Bangor					
2.3.3)		NBK Breme	ton				
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Dis	turbance and S	trike: Energy:			
Biological	Vessel noise	Vessels and	in-water device	s None			
Resources	Weapons noise	Military exp	ended materials	S			
				Entanglement:			
	Explosive:	Ingestion:		None			
	None	Military exp	ended materials	S –			
<u></u>		munitions					
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sediments an	d Water Quality:			
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Metals				
Resources	Cultured Deservation			Dublis Uselah and Cafetan			
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco		es: Public Health and Safety:			
Human	etriko	Accession	nty	Physical interactions			
Resources	Strike	Airborne	acoustics	striko			
D diliteration	In a stible NA - t - ut - lu	Physical (	nsturbance and				
Twoondood	Ingestible iviaterial:		Nillitary	None			
Expended	Small-caliber casings		Netorial				
waterial	Non-Ingestible Material:		waterial				
	none						

Other Training	
Small Boat Att	ack Exercise
Sonar and	None
Other	
Transducer	
Bins	
In-Water	None
Explosive	
Bins	
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)
Mitigation	Vessel movement
Measures	
Assumptions	At locations where a security barrier is present, and sea lions may be hauled out on the barrier,
Used for	the security barrier will be pulled fully open to remove haul out opportunities. During Day 1
Analysis	training, all firing will occur at least 250 ft. away from the security barrier.

### A.1.6.7 Submarine Sonar Maintenance

Other Training						
Submarine Sonar Maintenance						
Short	Maintenance of submarine	sonar and ot	her	Турі	cal Duration	
Description	system checks are conduct	ed pierside or	at sea.	Up to 1 hour		
Long	A submarine performs peri	odic mainten	ance on th	e AN/I	BQQ-10 (high-frequency and mid-	
Description	frequency) sonar system w	hile in port or	· at sea. Su	bmari	nes conduct maintenance to their sonar	
	systems in shallow water near their homeport; however, sonar maintenance could occur at sea					
	as the system's performant	ce may warra	nt.			
Typical	Platforms: Submarines					
Components	Targets: None					
	Systems being Trained/Tes	sted: Mid-free	quency hul	l mou	nted sonar	
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	ations			
Operating	Pierside testing safety	Offshore Ar	ea		Inland Waters	
Procedures		Offshore Ar	ea		NBK Bremerton	
(Section					NBK Bangor	
2.3.3)						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Di	sturbance	and S	trike: Energy:	
Biological	Sonar and other	Vessels and	d in-water of	device	s None	
Resources	transducers					
	Vessel noise	Ingestion:			Entanglement:	
	Explosive:	None None				
	None					
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimer	nts and	d Water Quality:	
Physical	None		None			
Resources			<u> </u>			
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	ource	s: Public Health and Safety:	
Human	None	None			In-water energy	
Resources	In costible Meterial		<b>NA:1:</b>		News	
Ivinitary	Nono		Recover	able		
Expended	Non-Ingestible Material:		Matorial	able		
Wateria	None		wateria			
Sonar and	Low-Frequency:					
Other	Low-frequency.					
Transducer	Mid-Frequency:					
Bins	MF3					
In-Water	None					
Explosive						
Bins						
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section	n 5.3.2)	Phy	vsical	Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)	
Mitigation	Active sonar	/	Ves	ssel m	ovement	
Measures						
Assumptions	For biological resources an	alysis, vessel r	noise and v	/essel	strike are only analyzed for the periods	
Used for	while the submarines are s	urfaced, typic	ally brief in	n natu	re. Mitigation measures related to	
Analysis	vessel movement are also	only considere	ed during t	he pei	riod of surfacing.	
	For human resources stress	sor analysis, p	hysical dis	turbar	nce and strike and physical interactions	
	are only analyzed for the periods while the submarines are surfaced, typically brief in nature.					

#### A.1.6.8 Surface Ship Sonar Maintenance

Other Training							
Surface Ship Sonar Maintenance							
Short	Maintenance of surface shi	p sonar and c	other	Турі	cal Duration		
Description	system checks are conducted pierside or at sea.			Up to 4 hours			
Long	This scenario consists of su	This scenario consists of surface ships performing periodic maintenance to the AN/SQS-53 sonar					
Description	and other ship systems whi	le in port or a	nt sea. This	maint	enance takes up to 4 hours. Surface		
	ships operate active sonar s	systems for m	aintenanc	e while	e in shallow water near their homeport;		
	however, sonar maintenance could occur anywhere as the system's performance may warrant.						
Typical	Platforms: Surface combata	ants					
Components	Targets: None						
	Systems being Trained/Tes	ted: Mid-fred	quency hul	l mour	nted sonar		
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loca	ations				
Operating		Offshore Ar	ea		Inland Waters		
Procedures		Offshore Ar	ea		Naval Station Everett		
(Section					NBK Bremerton		
2.3.3)							
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Di	sturbance	and St	trike: Energy:		
Biological	Sonar and other	Vessels and	l in-water	device	s In-air electromagnetic		
Resources	transducers				devices		
	Vessel noise	Ingestion:					
	Explosive:	None			Entanglement:		
	None None						
Stressors to	Air Quality:	-	Sedimer	nts and	d Water Quality:		
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		None				
Resources							
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	ource	s: Public Health and Safety:		
Human	None	None			In-water energy		
Resources							
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		None		
Expended	None		Recovera	able			
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material				
	None						
Sonar and	Mid-Frequency:						
Other	MF1						
Transducer							
Bins							
In-Water	None						
Explosive							
Bins							
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section	n 5.3.2)	P	hysica	al Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)		
Mitigation	Active sonar		V	/essel ı	movement		
Measures							
Assumptions	None						
Used for							
Analysis							

Other Training									
Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Training									
Short	Unmanned underwater vehicle certification			Typical Duration					
Description	involves training with unma	nvolves training with unmanned platforms to							
	ensure submarine crew pro	ficiency. Tact	ical	Up to 24 hours					
	development involves train	ing with vario	bus						
	payloads for multiple purpo	oses to ensure	e that	Op to 24 hours					
	the systems can be employ	systems can be employed effectively in an							
	operational environment.			<u> </u>					
Long	Unmanned underwater vehicle certification and tactical development involves training with								
Description	unmanned platforms on which various payloads are attached and used for different purposes.								
	Payload certification and development training assesses various systems that can be								
	incorporated onto unmanned platforms for mine warfare, bottom mapping, and other								
	missions. Training can range from basic remote control and autonomous navigation tests to								
	deployment and activation of onboard systems that may include hydrodynamic instruments,								
	aunchers, and recovery capabilities. These vehicles are capable of expanding the								
Typical	Platforms: Support craft unmanned underwater vehicle								
Components	Targets: None								
components	Systems being Trained/Tested: Acoustic modern high-frequency sonar synthetic aperture								
	sonar								
Standard	Vessel safety Typical Locations								
Operating	Unmanned surface	Offshore Ar				Inland Waters			
Procedures	vehicle and unmanned	Ouinault Range Site				Crescent Harbor FOD Range			
(Section	underwater vehicle	Quinduit nu	inge onte	Dabob Bay Range Comple					
2.3.3)	procedures					NBK Bangor, NBK Bremerton,			
						Keyport Range Site,			
						Manchester Fuel Pier, NAVY 3			
						OPAREA, NAVY 7 OPAREA			
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance and Strike: Energy:							
Biological	Sonar and other	Vessels and in-water device			S	None			
Resources	transducers	Military expended materials							
	Vessel noise	Entangler				Entanglement:			
	Explosive:	Ingestion:				None			
	None	None							
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sediments and Water Quality:							
Physical	None None								
Resources									
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic Res		ources:		Public Health and Safety:			
Human	None	None		None					
Resources									
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		None				
Expended	None		Recoverab	le					
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:								
	Anchor blocks								

Other Training							
Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Training							
Sonar and	Forward-Looking Sonar: Acoustic Modems:						
Other	FLS2 M3						
Transducer							
Bins							
In-Water	None						
Explosive							
Bins							
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)						
Mitigation	Vessel movement						
Measures							
Assumptions	Potential specific locations for this activity include Northwest Training Range Complex Dabob						
Used for	Bay, Hood Canal Sinclair Inlet, NBK Bangor, NBK Keyport, Manchester Fuel Pier.						
Analysis	For air quality analysis:						
	- 1 support craft						
	- Average 8 hours per event						

# A.2 NAVAL SEA SYSTEMS COMMAND TESTING ACTIVITIES

# A.2.1 ANTI-SUBMARINE WARFARE

#### A.2.1.1 Anti-Submarine Warfare Testing

Anti-Submarine Warfare									
Anti-Submarine Warfare Testing									
Short	Ships and their supporting platforms (rotary-wing				Typical Duration				
Description	aircraft and unmanned aerial systems) detect, localize,			ize,	1–2 weeks, with 4–8 hours of active				
	and prosecute submarines.				sonar use with intervals of non-				
					activity in between.				
Long	Ships conduct detect-to-engage operations against modern diesel-electric and nuclear								
Description	submarines using airborne and surf	ace as	ssets (both	mann	ned and u	nmanned). Active and			
	passive acoustic systems are used to detect and track submarine targets, culminating in the								
	deployment of lightweight torpedoes to engage the threat.								
Typical	Platforms: Rotary-wing aircraft, submarine, surface combatant								
Components	Targets: Sub-surface targets								
	System being Trained/Tested: Acoustic countermeasures, navigation sonar, sonar systems,								
	sonobuoys, torpedo systems, underwater communications								
Standard	Vessel safety Typical Locations								
Operating	Aircraft safety Offshore A			Area	Area				
Procedures	Towed in-water device safety Offshore A			Area					
(Section	Target deployment and retrieval sat	fety							
2.3.3)		-							
Stressors to	Acoustic: Physical Disturbance and Energy:				Energy:				
Biological	Sonar and other transducers	Sonar and other transducers Strike:			None				
Resources	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and aerial targets Entanglement:				Entanglement:			
	Vessel noise	Mili	tary expen	ded m	aterial	Decelerators/parachutes			
	Explosives:	Vess	sels and in-	-water	devices	Wires and cables			
	None Ingestion:								
	Military expended materials –								
Stressors to	Air Quality:								
Physical	Criteria air pollutants			Chemicals					
Resources	Habitats:			Metals					
	Physical disturbance and strike – military			Other materials					
	expended material								
	-								
Stressors to	Cultural Resources: Pr			Public Health and Safety:					
Human	Physical disturbance and strike			Physical interactions					
Resources	Socioeconomic Resources:			In-air energy					
	Accessibility			In-water energy					
	Airborne acoustics								
	Physical disturbance and strike								
Military	Ingestible Material:			Milita	ary	Lightweight (non-explosive)			
Expended	Small decelerator/parachute			Recov	, verable	torpedo			
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:			Mate	rial				
	Acoustic countermeasures, lightweight torpedo								
	accessories, mobile subsurface target, sonobuoy								
	(non-explosive), sonobuoy wires								
Anti-Submarine	e Warfare								
----------------	-----------------------------------	---------------	-----------------------	-----------------------------					
Anti-Submarine	e Warfare Testing								
Sonar and	Mid-Frequency:	Anti-Subma	rine Warfare:	Torpedoes:					
Other	MF1K MF4	ASW1 ASW	2	TORP1					
Transducer	MF10 MF11	ASW3 ASW	5						
Bins	MF 5								
	MF12								
In-Water	None								
Explosive									
Bins									
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.	.2)	Physical Disturbance	and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)					
Mitigation	Active sonar		Vessel movement						
Measures			Towed in-water device	ces					
Assumptions	All sonobuoys have parachutes	unless otherw	ise noted.						
Used for									
Analysis									

## A.2.1.2 At-Sea Sonar Testing

Anti-Submarine	e Warfare						
At-Sea Sonar T	esting						
Short	At-sea testing to ensure systems are	fully fu	nctional in	Typical D	uration		
Description	an open ocean environment.	-		From 4 ho	From 4 hours to 11 days		
Long	At-sea sonar testing is required to ca	librate	or document th	e function	ality of sonar systems while		
Description	the ship or submarine is in an ocean	environ	ment. At-sea so	onar testin	ig is conducted to verify the		
	vessel meets design acoustic specific	ations,	define the unde	erwater ch	aracteristics of the vessel,		
	determine effects of systems and eq	uipmen	t on ship's acou	ustic chara	cteristics, and provide		
	technical background necessary to in	nitiate d	evelopment of	design imp	provements to reduce noise.		
	Tests also consist of electronic suppo	ort meas	surement, phot	onics, and	sonar sensor accuracy		
	testing. In some instances, a submar	ine's pa	ssive detection	capability	is tested when a second		
	submarine utilizes its active sonar or	is equip	oped with a noi	se augmer	ntation system in order to		
	replicate acoustic or electromagnetic	c signati	ures of other ve	essel types	or classes.		
Typical	<b>Platforms:</b> Aircraft carrier, fixed-win	g patrol	aircraft, rotary	-wing airci	raft, submarines, support		
Components	Crart, surface compatant						
	System being Trained /Tested: Acoustic countermeasures, acoustic modems, sonar systems						
	sonobuovs underwater communication systems, torpedo systems						
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations					
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offsh	ore Area		Inland Waters		
Procedures	Towed in-water device safety	Offsh	ore Area		Dabob Bay Range Complex		
(Section	Target deployment and retrieval						
2.3.3)	safety	Dhusiaal	Diatumbanasa	ام م	Freezer		
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical	Disturbance a	na	Energy:		
Biological	Aircraft poiso	Aircraft	and aorial targe	otc	devices		
Resources	Vessel noise	Military	evnended mate	erials	Entanglement:		
	Explosives:	vincal y	and in-water de	evices	Decelerator/parachutes		
	None	ngestio	n:		Wires and cables		
		Military	expended mate	erials –			
		, other th	an munitions				
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimer	nts and Wa	ater Quality:		
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Metals				
Resources	Habitats:		Chemica	ls			
	Physical disturbance and strike – mil	itary	Other m	aterials			
	expended material						
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioec	onomic Resour	ces: F	Public Health and Safety:		
Human	None	Accessic	onity	ŀ	nysical interactions		
Resources				1	n-air eilergy		
					n-water energy		
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	Lightwei	ght (non-explosive) torpedo		
Expended	Small decelerator/parachute		Recoverable	Anti-tor	pedo torpedo		
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material				
	Lightweight torpedo accessories,						
	anti-torpedo torpedo accessories,						
	motorized sub-surface target, sonob	uoy					
	(non-explosive), sonobuov wires			L			

Anti-Submarine	e Warfare					
At-Sea Sonar To	esting					
Sonar and	Mid-Frequency:	High-	Anti-Submarine	Torpedoes	Acoustic	
Other	MF3 MF4	Frequency	Warfare	TORP1	Modems	
Transducer	MF5	HF1 HF5	ASW3		M3	
Bins						
In-Water	None					
Explosive						
Bins						
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors:	(Section 5.3.2)	Physical I	Disturbance and S	Strike: (Section 5.3.4)	
Mitigation	Active sonar		Vessel m	ovement		
Measures			Towed in	-water devices		
Assumptions	Active sonar use is intermittent throughout the duration of the event.					
Used for	Manned aircraft are	not used in inland	d waters.			
Analysis						

## A.2.1.3 Countermeasure Testing

Anti-Submarine W	/arfare						
Countermeasure 1	Testing						
Short	Countermeasure testing involves	the testing of systems that	Typical Duration				
Description	will detect, localize, and track incomarine vessel targets. Counterme obscure the vessel's location or so track, and counter incoming three	oming weapons, including easures may be systems to ystems to rapidly detect, ats. Testing includes surface	From 4 hours to 6 days, depending on the countermeasure being tested				
	ship torpedo defense systems and marine vessel stopping pavloads.						
Long Description	payloads. Countermeasure testing evaluate components or fully integrated sy Countermeasures may be mechai vessel to obscure the vessel's loca threat-intervention systems oper respond to incoming threats. Thre array. Test scenarios vary widely, mechanism to validating the abili destroy an incoming torpedo. Torpedo defense systems are an respond to incoming weapons. At components, including towed acc countermeasure anti-torpedo sub non-explosive torpedoes against submarine). While surface vessels identify false alert rates. Marine vessel stopping payloads to affect a vessel's propulsion and potentially stop the advance of th the use of biodegradable polymer	is the deployment, operation, ar ystems used to defend a vessel finical, chemical, or electronic development, chemical, or electronic development ation or provide a false target. Control the target of targe	Ind effectiveness of rom an incoming threat. vices that are released from a ountermeasures may also be etect, localize, track, and anded by towing a sensor eration of a deployment tect, track, localize, and detect, localize, track, and systems addresses all systems, and e system scenarios employ latforms (e.g., helicopter or systems may be used to the appropriate measure(s) significantly slow and g proposed activities include that the Navy uses are				
	ineffective.						
Typical	Platforms: All Navy ships and boa	its, moored platforms, support c	raft				
Components	Targets: Mine warfare targets, su	b-surface targets, surface target					
	System being Trained/Tested: Ac	coustic countermeasures, sonar	systems, underwater				
	communications, torpedo system	IS					
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations					
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshore Area	Inland Waters				
Procedures	Towed in-water device safety	Quinault Range Site	Dabob Bay Range Complex				
(Section 2.3.3)	Weapons firing safety	Western Behm Canal	Keyport Range Site				
	Target deployment and retrieval	SEAFAC					
	safety						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance and	Energy:				
Biological	Sonar and other transducers	Strike:	In-air electromagnetic				
Resources	Vessel noise	Military expended material	devices				
	Explosives:	Vessels and in-water devices	Entanglement:				
	None	Ingestion:	Biodegradable polymer				
		other than munitions	wires and cables				

Anti-Submarine W	Anti-Submarine Warfare				
Countermeasure T	esting				
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedimen	ts and Water Quality:	
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Metals		
Resources	Habitats:		Chemical	ls	
	Physical disturbance and strike – r	military	Other ma	aterials	
	expended material				
Stressors to	Cultural Resources: S	ocioeco	onomic Resourc	ces: Public Health and Safety:	
Human	Physical disturbance and A	Accessibility Physical interactions			
Resources	strike P	hysical	disturbance an	d In-air energy	
	S	trike		In-water energy	
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	Mine shape (non-explosive),	
Expended	Biodegradable polymer		Recoverable	heavyweight (non-explosive)	
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material	torpedo, acoustic countermeasures	
	Acoustic countermeasures, guidar	nce			
	wire, heavyweight torpedo				
	accessories, mobile sub-surface ta	arget			
Sonar and Other	Mid-Frequency: High-Frequ	uency:	Anti-Subma	rine Torpedoes:	
Transducer Bins	MF1 HF8		Warfare:	TORP2	
			ASW3 ASW	/4	
In-Water	None				
Explosive Bins					
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2)	)	Physical	Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)	
Mitigation	Active sonar		Vessel m	ovement	
Measures			Towed in	-water devices	
Assumptions	Not all events will include the use	of sona	r and other tra	nsducers.	
Used for	Use of expendable materials is mi	nimized	l in Inland Wate	ers, and most components of	
Analysis	countermeasures are recovered (s	some co	omponents are	consumed in use and dissipate in the	
	environment).				
	Obscuring devices deployed in the	e water	may have a self	f-inflating balloon and tether that	
	helps them to operate at the idea	l depth.	The balloon all	lows test units to be recovered in calm	
	conditions, but has a slow leak en	abling t	he empty conta	ainer to sink to the floor. The tether is	
	a very thin wire or monofilament	type ma	aterial and is an	entanglement hazard.	
	No marine vessel stopping testing	g will occ	cur at Southeas	t Alaska Acoustic Measurement	
	Facility (SEAFAC).				
	All materials used at SEAFAC woul	ld be re	covered.		

## A.2.1.4 Pierside Sonar Testing

Anti-Submarine Warfare							
Pierside Sonar Testir	Ig						
Short Description	Pierside testing to ensure syste	ems are ful	ly Typical D	uration			
	functional in a controlled piersi	ide	Up to 3 w	eeks total per ship, with each			
	environment prior to at-sea tes	st activities	s. source ru	n independently and not			
			continuo	continuously during this time			
Long Description	Shins and submarines will activ	ate mid- a	nd high-frequen	cy tactical sonars underwater			
Long Description	communications systems and	navigation	al devices to en	sure they are fully functional prior			
	to at-sea test events. Testing m	nav also in	clude the firing o	finert tornedo shanes. Event			
	duration varies with average d	lurations o	of 3 weeks with a	ctive sonar used intermittently			
	over 2 days during the total even	ent duratio	on. This also inclu	udes pierside sonar testing during			
	surface combatant sea trials.			····· ··· ····· ······ ······ ······ ····			
Typical	Platforms: Submarine, surface	combatan	t				
Components	Targets: None	Targets: None					
	System being Trained/Tested: Sonar systems, underwater communications						
Standard	Pierside testing safety	Typical	locations				
Operating	Thershoe testing surery	Inland Waters					
Procedures		NBK Bangor					
(Section 2.3.3)		NBK Bremerton					
(0000000 20000)		Naval Station Everett					
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical	Disturbance and	Energy:			
Biological	Sonar and other transducers	Strike:		None			
Resources	Explosives:	None		Entanglement:			
	None	Ingestion:		None			
		None					
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sediments	and Water Quality:			
Physical Resources	None		None				
	Habitats:						
	None						
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioecon	omic Resources:	Public Health and Safety:			
Human Resources	None	None		In-water energy			
Military Expended	Ingestible Material:	Ν	Ailitary	None			
Material	None	R	Recoverable				
	Non-Ingestible Material:	N	<b>Aaterial</b>				
	None						
Sonar and Other	Mid-Frequency:	High-Fr	equency:	Anti-Submarine Warfare:			
Transducer Bins	MF1 MF2	HF3		ASW3			
	MF3 MF9						
	MF10 MF12						
In-Water Explosive	None	-					
Bins							
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3	3.2)					
Mitigation	Active sonar						
Measures							
Assumptions	None						
Used for Analysis							

#### A.2.1.5 Submarine Sonar Testing/Maintenance

Anti-Submarine Warfare						
Submarine Sonar Te	sting/Maintenance					
Short Description	Pierside, moored, and underw	ay testing of subn	narine	Typical Duration		
	systems occurs periodically fol	lowing major		Up to 3 weeks, with intermittent		
	maintenance periods and for r	outine maintenan	nce.	use of active sonar		
Long Description	Following major and routine m	aintenance nerio	ds system	operations are evaluated in both		
Long Description	stationary and underway tests	Multiple system	s with acti	ve and passive acoustic sources		
	such as navigation systems fat	thometers under	water com	munications systems underwater		
	distress beacons, range finders	s, and other simila	ar systems	, will be tested.		
Turrical		, 	, , ,			
Typical	Targete: None	submarines, surfac	ce snips			
components	System being Trained /Tested	Sopor systems	ndorwata	r communications		
	System being framedy fested.	Solial systems, u	nuerwate	communications		
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locatio	ons			
Operating	Pierside testing safety	Pierside testing safety Western Behm Canal				
Procedures		SEAFAC				
(Section 2.3.3)						
Stressors to	Acoustic: Physical Disturbance and Energy:					
Biological	Sonar and other transducers Strike:			None		
Resources	Vessel noise	Vessels and ir	n-water de	vices Entanglement:		
	Explosives:	Ingestion:		None		
	None	None				
Stressors to	Air Quality:	See	diment an	d Water Quality:		
Physical Resources	None	No	ne			
	Habitats:					
	None					
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic I	Resources	Public Health and Safety:		
Human Resources	None	Physical disturba	ince and	Physical interactions		
Military Fundad	lucestible Meterial	strike	NA:II:town	In-water energy		
Material	Ingestible Material:		Nilitary	None		
wateria	None Non Ingostible Material:		Matorial			
	None		Wateria			
Sonar and Other	Mid-Frequency:					
Transducer Bins	MF9		HF6	luency.		
In-Water Explosive	None		TH O			
Bins	None					
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5	3 <i>2)</i> Ph	vsical Dist	urbance and Strike: (Section 5 3 4)		
Mitigation	Active sonar	Ve	ssel move	ment		
Measures		VC.				
Assumptions Used	None					
for Analysis						

#### A.2.1.6 Torpedo (Explosive) Testing

Anti-Submarine Warfare								
Torpedo (explosive	Testing							
Short Description	Air, surface, or submarine crews	employ explosive and	Typical	Duration				
	non-explosive torpedoes against	t artificial targets.	1–2 day	s during daylight hours				
Long Description	Non-explosive and explosive tor	pedoes (carrying a warhea	d) will be	e launched at a suspended				
	target by a submarine and fixed	- or rotary-winged aircraft	or surfac	e combatants. Event				
	duration is 1–2 days during dayl	ight hours.						
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing aircraft, n	noored platform, rotary-w	ing aircra	ift, submarines, support				
Components	craft, surface combatant							
	Targets: Sub-surface targets, sur	rface targets						
	System being Trained/Tested: A	Acoustic countermeasures,	sonar sy	stems, sonobuoys,				
	underwater communications, torpedo systems							
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations						
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshore Area						
Procedures	Towed in-water device safety	Offshore Area						
(Section 2.3.3)	Weapons firing safety							
	Target deployment and							
	retrieval safety							
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance a	ind	Energy:				
Biological	Sonar and other transducers	Strike:		In-air electromagnetic				
Resources	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and aerial targ	ets	devices				
	Vessel noise	Military expended mat	erials	Entanglement:				
	Explosives:	Vessels and in-water d	evices	Decelerator/Parachutes				
	In-water explosions	Ingestion:		Wires and cables				
		Military expended mat	erials –					
		Mulitary expended mat	orials					
		other than munitions						
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sediment a	nd Water	r Quality:				
Physical	Criteria air pollutants	Explosives		Quanty.				
Resources	Habitats:	Chemicals						
	Physical disturbance and strike -	- military Metals						
	expended material	Other mate	rials					
	In-water explosions							
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic Resource	s: P	ublic Health and Safety:				
Human Resources	None	Accessibility	Р	hysical interactions				
		Airborne acoustics	Ir	n-air energy				
		Physical disturbance and	Ir	n-water energy				
		strike						

Anti-Submarine Wa	Irfare				
Torpedo (explosive)	) Testing				
Military	Ingestible Material:	Military	Heavyweight		
Expended	Lightweight torpedo (explosive) - fragments,	Recoverable	(non-explosive) torpedo,		
Material	heavyweight torpedo (explosive) – fragments,	Material	lightweight (non-explosive)		
	small decelerator/parachute, target fragments		torpedo		
	Non-Ingestible Material:				
	Buoy (non-explosive), guidance wire,				
	heavyweight torpedo accessories, lightweight				
	torpedo accessories, sonobuoy				
	(non-explosive), sonobuoy wires, stationary				
	surface target				
Sonar and Other	Mid-Frequency: High-Frequency:	Anti-Submari	ne Torpedoes:		
Transducer Bins	MF1 MF3 HF1 HF6	Warfare:	TORP1 TORP2		
	MF4 MF5	ASW3			
In-Water	E8 E11				
Explosive Bins	Accustic Stressons (Costion 5.2.2)		nee and Strikes (Castion 5.2.4)		
Mitigation	Active conor				
Measures	Active solidi	vessel movement	essel movement		
weasures	Explosive Stressors: (Section 5.3.3)	lowed in-water d	levices		
Assumptions	All sonobuoys have parachutes unless otherwi	se noted			
Lised for Analysis	All solid book weight torpade test could accu	r in 1 day: two ho	any weight torpode tests		
Oseu Ior Analysis	could accur an consecutive days. Two lightweet	t in 1 uay, two ne	could occur in a single day		
	All non-overlasive termedees are recovered	gint torpedo tests	could occur in a single day.		
	All non-explosive torpedoes are recovered.	1 fuene else un end			
	Explosive torpedo testing occurs at least 50 NN	i from shore and	does not occur within the		
	boundaries of the Olympic Coast National Mar	ne Sanctuary.			

#### A.2.1.7 Torpedo (Non-Explosive) Testing

Anti-Submarine Warfare							
Torpedo (non-explosive) Testing							
Short Description	Air, surface, or submarine crev	vs employ non-	Typical Duration				
	explosive torpedoes against ta	rgets, submarines, or	Up to 2 weeks				
	surface vessels.						
Long Description	Aerial, surface, and subsurface	assets fire exercise torp	edoes against surface or subsurface				
	targets, or at no target and pro	pgrammed with a particu	lar run geometry. Torpedo testing				
	evaluates the performance and	d the effectiveness of ha	rdware and software upgrades of				
	heavyweight or lightweight tor	pedoes. It also includes	testing of experimental torpedoes.				
	Not all torpedo tests involve ad	coustics. Exercise torped	loes are recovered, typically from				
	recovery Event duration is der	hat are specifically crew	and outlitted for torpedo				
Typical	Platforms: Aircraft carrier aut	onomous underwater ve	abicle fixed-wing aircraft moored				
Components	nlatform rotary-wing aircraft remotely operated vehicle submarines support craft						
components	surface combatant unmanned underwater vehicle						
	Targets: Sub-surface targets, s	urface targets					
	System being Trained/Tested: Acoustic countermeasures, sonar systems, sonobuoys,						
	underwater communications, torpedo systems						
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations					
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshore Area	Inland Waters				
Procedures	Towed in-water device safety	Offshore Area	Dabob Bay Range Complex				
(Section 2.3.3)	Unmanned surface vehicle						
	and unmanned underwater						
	vehicle procedures						
	Weapons firing safety						
	Target deployment and						
	retrieval safety						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance a	nd Energy:				
Biological	Sonar and other	Strike:	In-air electromagnetic				
Resources	transducers	Aircraft and aerial targe	ets devices				
	Aircraft noise	Military expended mate	erials Entanglement:				
	Vessel noise	Vessels and in-water	Decelerators/Parachutes,				
	Explosives:	devices	Wires and cables				
	None	Ingestion:					
		Military expended mate	erials				
Stroscors to	Air Quality:	- other than munitions	nd Water Quality:				
Physical	Criteria air pollutants	Motals	nu water Quanty.				
Resources	Habitats:	Chemicals					
nesources	Physical disturbance and strike	- Other mate	rials				
	military expended materials						
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic Resour	ces: Public Health and Safety:				
Human Resources	Physical disturbance and	Accessibility	Physical interactions				
	strike	Airborne acoustics	In-air energy				
		Physical disturbance an	d In-water energy				
		strike					

Anti-Submarine Wa	rfare								
Torpedo (non-explo	Torpedo (non-explosive) Testing								
Military	Ingestible Mate	rial:		Military Anchors, heavyweight			heavyweight		
Expended	Small decelerato	or/parachute		<b>Recoverable</b> (non-explosive) torped		osive) torpedo,			
Material	Non-Ingestible I	Material:		Material lightweight (non-expl			nt (non-explosive)		
	Acoustic countermeasures, buoy (non-		torped		torpedo, a	anti-torpedo			
	explosive), heavyweight torpedo			torpedo, st		stationary sub-			
	accessories, lightweight torpedo			surface		rget			
	accessories, mobile sub-surface target,								
	sonobuoy (non-explosive), sonobuoy								
	wires, guidance wire, anti-torpedo								
	torpedo accesso	ries							
Sonar and Other	Low-	Mid-	High-		Anti-Sul	omarine	Torpedoes:		
Transducer Bins	Frequency:	Frequency:	Freque	ency:	Warfare	:	TORP1 TORP2		
	LF4	MF1 MF3	HF1 H	F5	ASW3 A	SW4	TORP3		
		MF4 MF5	HF6						
		MF6 MF9							
		MF10							
In-Water	None								
Explosive Bins									
Procedural	Acoustic Stresso	rs: (Section 5.3.2	?)	Physical	Disturba	nce and Str	ike: (Section 5.3.4)		
Mitigation	Active sonar			Vessel m	ovement				
Measures									
Assumptions	All exercise torp	edoes are recove	ered.						
Used for Analysis	Typically, no mo	re than 8 torped	oes are f	ired per da	ay during	daylight ho	urs.		

# A.2.2 MINE WARFARE

A.2.2.1	Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Te	esting
---------	---	--------

Mine Warfare							
Mine Countermeasu	ure and Neutralization Te	sting					
Short Description	Air, surface, and subsur	face vessels	<b>Typical Duration</b>				
	neutralize threat mines	and mine-like	1–10 days, with ir	ntermittent use of			
	objects.		countermeasure/	neutralization systems during			
			this period				
Long Description	Mine countermeasure-r	neutralization and	mine system testir	ng is required to ensure			
	systems can effectively	neutralize threat	live or inert) mines	that will otherwise restrict			
	passage through an area	a and to ensure U	.S. Navy mines rem	ain effective against enemy			
	ships. These systems ma	may be deployed with a variety of ships, aircraft, submarines, or					
	unmanned autonomous	vehicles and ope	rate in water depth	is up to 6,000 ft. Mines are			
	neutralized by cutting m	nooring cables of I	puoyant mines, pro	ducing acoustic energy that			
	fires acoustic-influence	ce mines, by employing radar or laser fields, detonating mines using					
	remotely-operated vehi	ehicles, or using explosive charges to destroy threat mines. There will					
	be no explosive testing	testing in the inland waters. Testing in Inland waters would involve					
	non-explosive aspects o	on-explosive aspects of mine countermeasure and neutralization testing, including the					
	associated sensors and the operation of laser systems						
Typical	<b>Bigging Structure Sensors</b> , and the operation of laser systems.						
Components	unmanned aerial system surface combatant unmanned underwater vehicle						
components	Targets: Mine shapes						
	System being Trained/Tested: Electromagnetic devices, minehunting sonar, low powered						
	lasers. radar						
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Location	S				
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshore Area		Inland Waters			
Procedures	Laser procedures	Offshore Area		Only non-explosive aspects of			
(Section 2.3.3)	Unmanned aircraft			this testing activity would			
	system procedures			occur at the following areas:			
	Unmanned surface			NBK Bremerton			
	vehicle and			Carr Inlet Operations Area			
	unmanned			Crescent Harbor EOD Range			
	underwater vehicle			Dabob Bay Range Complex			
	procedures			Hood Canal EOD Range			
	Towed in-water			Naval Station Everett			
	device safety			Naval Magazino Indian Island			
	Target deployment						
	and retrieval safety						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Distu	rbance and Strike:	Energy:			
Biological	Sonar and other	Aircraft and a	erial targets	In-air electromagnetic			
Resources	transducers	Military expen	ded materials	devices			
	Aircraft noise	Vessels and in	-water devices	Entanglement:			
	Vessel noise	Seafloor devic	es	Wires and cables			
	Explosives:	Ingestion:					
	In-water explosions	Military expen	aed materials -				
	(Uffshore Area only)	munitions					

Mine Warfare						
Mine Countermeasu	ure and Neutralization Te	esting				
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedin	nent and W	/ater	Quality:
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Explo	sives		
Resources	Habitats:		Meta	S		
	Physical disturbance an	d strike –	Other	materials		
	military expended mate	erial				
	Physical disturbance an	d strike –				
	seafloor devices					
	In-water explosions (Of	fshore Area				
	only)					
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioecono	mic Re	sources:	Pul	plic Health and Safety:
Human Resources	Physical disturbance	Accessibility	/		Phy	vsical interactions
	and strike	Airborne ac	oustics	;	In-a	air energy
		Physical dist	turban	ce and	In-۱	water energy
		strike				
Military Expended	Ingestible Material:			Military		Mine shape (non-explosive)
Material	Neutralizer (explosive) -	– fragments, r	nine	Recovera	ble	
	(explosive) – fragments			Material		
	Non-Ingestible Materia	al:				
	Fiber optic cable, fiber o	optic can, and	hors			
Sonar and Other	High-Frequency:					
Transducer Bins	HF4					
In-Water	E4 E7					
Explosive Bins						
Procedural	Physical Disturbance ar	n <b>d Strike:</b> (Sea	ction	Explosive	Stre	essors: (Section 5.3.3)
Mitigation	5.3.4)			Explosive	min	e countermeasure and
Measures	Vessel movement			neutraliza	ation	activities
	Towed in-water devices	5		Acoustic	Stres	sors (Section 5.3.2)
				Active so	nar	
Assumptions Used	Explosives are not used	in the Inland	Water	s or in the	Olym	pic Coast National Marine
for Analysis	Sanctuary.					
	Manned aircraft are not	t used in the I	nland	Waters exc	ept a	at the designated aircraft-use
	area Navy 3 OPAREA.					

Mine Warfare				
Mine Detection and	Classification Testing			
Short Description	Air, surface, and subsurface vessels and systems detect and classify mines and mine-like objects. Vessels also			
	assess their potential susceptibility like objects.	to mines and mine-	of acoustic activity each day	
Long Description	Mine detection and classification s generating underwater magnetic a can detect and classify a wide rang Surface craft may deploy an under susceptibility profile against mine-l operation and effectiveness of the and classification, as well as assess mine-like targets. Detection systen may be deployed from surface or s detection and classification sonar r classification, and localization of its methods of minesweeping, the Nar identify, and avoid mines including illumination coupled with sensitive	ystems require testing nd acoustic signature f e of threat mines at ta water sensor system th ike objects. This testin components and integ ing vessel vulnerability ns may use acoustic, el ubsurface vessels, or u nay also be used for m ems on the seafloor. In vy is currently testing r a laser airborne mine electro-optic receiver	to evaluate the capability of fields as well as sonar systems that actically different water depths. hat uses ship signature to develop og encompasses evaluating the grated systems for mine detection y to mines and development of new lectro-optic, or laser sensors, and unmanned platforms. Mine happing, as well as detection, n order to develop better and safer new systems to detect locate, detection system that uses laser rs to find mines in the upper part of	
Typical Components	Platforms: Moored platform, supp unmanned aerial vehicle, unmanne Targets: Mine shapes System being Trained/Tested: Mir	ort craft, surface comb ed underwater vehicle nehunting sonar, electr	patant, remotely operated vehicles ro-magnetic or laser sensors	
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations		
Operating	Laser procedures	Offshore Area	Inland Waters	
Procedures	Unmanned aircraft system	Quinault Range Site	Dabob Bay Range	
(Section 2.3.3)	procedures	6	Complex	
	Unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Towed in-water device safety Target deployment and retrieval safety		Keyport Range Site	
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance	e and Energy:	
Biological	Sonar and other transducers	Strike:	None	
Resources	Vessel noise	Aircraft and aerial tai	rgets Entanglement:	
	Explosives:	Vessels and in-water	devices None	
	None	Seafloor devices		
		None		
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sediments a	nd Water Quality:	
Physical Resources	Criteria air pollutants Habitats: Physical disturbance and strike – se devices	Metals		

## A.2.2.2 Mine Detection and Classification Testing

Mine Warfare						
Mine Detection and	Classification Testing					
Stressors to	Cultural resources:	Socio	economic Reso	urces:	Public Health and Safety:	
Human Resources	Physical disturbance and strike	and strike Accessibility Physical inter				
		Airbo	In-air energy			
					In-water energy	
Military Expended	Ingestible Material:		Military	Ancho	ors, mine shape (non-	
Material	None		Recoverable	explos	sive)	
	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material			
	None					
Sonar and Other	Low-Frequency: High-Fr	requenc	y: E	Broadba	and	
Transducer Bins	LF4 HF4		E	3B1 BB2	2	
In-Water Explosive	None					
Bins						
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2) Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)					
Mitigation	Active sonar Vessel movement					
Measures			Towed in-w	ater de	vices	
Assumptions Used	Mine-like targets and temporary anchored devices may be deployed for the duration of a					
for Analysis	single test event or may be left in	n place f	or up to 12 mor	nths to s	support multiple events; all	
	devices and their anchors are red	covered.	Bottom anchor	rs are no	ot deployed in known	
	sensitive shallow water benthic h	nabitats	such as eelgras	s beds.		

# A.2.3 SURFACE WARFARE

## A.2.3.1 Kinetic Energy Weapon Testing

Surface Warfare	Surface Warfare						
Kinetic Energy Wear	Kinetic Energy Weapon Testing						
Short Description	A kinetic energy weapon	uses stored energy	Typical Durat	ion			
	released in a burst to acco	elerate a	1 day				
	projectile.						
Long Description	A kinetic energy weapon	uses stored energy r	eleased in a bui	st to accelerate a projectile			
	to more than 7 times the	speed of sound to a	range of up to 2	200 miles.			
Typical	Platforms: Surface combatants						
Components	Targets: Air Targets, surface targets						
	System being Trained/Te	sted: Kinetic energy	weapon				
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations					
Operating	Weapons firing safety	Offshore Area					
Procedures	Target deployment and	Offshore Area					
(Section 2.3.3)	retrieval safety						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Distur	bance and	Energy:			
Biological	weapons noise	Strike:	iel terrete	In-air electromagnetic			
Resources	Explosivos:	Aircrait and der	lal largels	Entangloment:			
	In-air explosions	materials	leu	Decelerators/parachutes			
		Vessels and in-water					
	devices						
	Ingestion:						
	Military expended						
	materials – munitions						
	Military expended						
	materials – other than						
		munitions					
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sed	iments and Wa	ter Quality:			
Physical Resources	Criteria air pollutants	Met	als				
	Habitats:	atrika					
	Physical disturbance and strike –						
	millary expended materi	ai					
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic	Publ	ic Health and Safety:			
Human Resources	Physical disturbance and	Resources:	Phys	ical interactions			
	strike	Accessibility	In-ai	renergy			
	Airborne acoustics						
		Physical disturban	ice and				
Military Expanded	Ingostible Material	strike	Militory	None			
Military Expended	Ingestible Material:	oroiectile	Recoverable	None			
Wateria	fragments target fragme	nts	Material				
	Non-Ingestible Material:		material				
	Expendable aerial drone.	kinetic energy					
	round, large-caliber proie	ectile (non-					
	explosive), large-caliber p	rojectile casings,					
	sabot - kinetic energy rou	ind, stationary					
	surface target						

Surface Warfare	
<b>Kinetic Energy Wear</b>	pon Testing
Sonar and Other	None
Transducer Bins	
In-Water	None
Explosive Bins	
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)
Mitigation	Vessel movement
Measures	Small-, medium-, and large-caliber non-explosive practice munitions
Assumptions Used	Assume one target is expended per event.
for Analysis	Explosive rounds are designed to detonate above the surface target.
	Activity takes place at least 50 NM from shore.

## A.2.4 UNMANNED SYSTEMS

#### A.2.4.1 Unmanned Aerial System Testing

Unmanned Systems							
Unmanned Aerial Sy	stem Testing						
Short Description	Unmanned aerial systems (UASs)	are re	motely piloted	Typical	Duration		
	or self-piloted (i.e., preprogramme	or self-piloted (i.e., preprogrammed flight pattern)					
	aircraft that include fixed-wing, ro	otary-v	ving, and other				
	vertical takeoff vehicles. They can	carry	cameras,	1–12 ho	urs		
	sensors, communications equipme	ent, oi	r other				
	payloads.						
Long Description	UASs are remotely piloted or self-	pilote	d (i.e., preprogr	ammed fli	ght pattern) aircraft that		
	include fixed-wing, rotary-wing, a	nd oth	er vertical take	off vehicle	s. They can carry		
	cameras, sensors, communication	s equi	pment, or othe	r payloads	. UASs can vary in size up		
	to approximately 10 ft. in length,	with g	ross vehicle we	ights of a c	ouple hundred pounds.		
	Propulsion types can range from t	raditio	onal turbofans,	turboprop	s, and piston engine-		
	driven propellers, to electric motor-driven propellers powered by rechargeable batteries						
	(lead-acid, nickel-cadmium, and lithium ion), photovoltaic cells, or hydrogen fuel cells.						
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing unmanned	aerial	system, rotary-	wing unm	anned aerial system,		
Components	support craft						
	Targets: None						
	System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned aerial vehicle						
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations					
Operating	Unmanned aircraft system	Offs	hore Area	Inland Waters			
Procedures	procedures	Quinault Range Site Dabob Bay Range					
(Section 2.3.3)					Complex		
					Keyport Range Site		
		Restricted Area 6701					
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance and Energy:					
Biological	Vessel noise	Strike: None					
Resources	Explosives:		Aircraft and aei	rial targets	Entanglement:		
	None	Vessels and in-water None					
		devices					
			Ingestion:				
		None					
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sed	iments and	d Water Quality:		
Physical	Criteria air pollutants		Non	e			
Resources	Habitats:						
	None						
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Soc	ioeconomic		Public Health and		
Human Resources	Physical disturbance and strike	Res	ources:		Safety:		
		Accessibility Physical interactions					
		Airb	orne acoustics				
		Phy	sical disturband	e and			
		stril	ke				
Military Expended	Ingestible Material:		Military	None			
Material	None		Recoverable				
	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material				
	None						
Sonar and Other	None						
Transducer Bins							

Unmanned Systems			
Unmanned Aerial Sy	istem Testing		
In-Water	None		
Explosive Bins			
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)		
Mitigation	Vessel movement		
Measures			
Assumptions Used	UASs work in compliance with the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) regulations		
for Analysis	UASs can vary in size up to approximately 10 ft. in length, with gross vehicle weights of a		
	couple hundred pounds.		

Ummanned Surface Vehicle System Testing         Typical Duration           Short Description         Unmanned surface vehicles are primarily and future platforms to help deter maritime threats. They employ a variety of sensors designed to extend the reach of manned ships.         Typical Duration           Long Description         Unmanned surface vehicles (USV) can include remotely operated craft (semisubmersible, plane hull, semi-plane hull, etc.) and test vehicles. During testing, they can operate autonomously, semi-autonomously, or non-autonomously. Non-autonomously or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled vehicles may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, soan or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.           Typical Components         Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; surface targets: System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle         Dabob Bay Range           Stressors to Biological Resources         Air Quality: Vessel noise	Unmanned Surface Vehicle Short Description Unm auto and f threa to ex	e System Testing anned surface vehicles are nomous systems designed	e prima	arily	Typical [	Duration		
Short Description         Unmanned surface vehicles are primarily autonomous systems designed to augment current and future platforms to help deter maritime threats. They employ a variety of sensors designed to extend the reach of manned ships.         Typical Duration           Long Description         Winmanned surface vehicles (USV) can include remotely operated craft (semisubmersible, plane hull, semi-plane hull, etc.) and test vehicles. During testing, they can operate autonomously, semi-autonomously, or non-autonomously, Non-autonomousl	Short Description Unm auto and f threa to ex	anned surface vehicles are nomous systems designed	e prima	arily	Typical [	Duration		
autonomous systems designed to augment current and future platforms to help deter maritime threats. They employ a variety of sensors designed to extend the reach of manned ships.       Up to 10 days. Some propulsion systems (gliders) could operate continuously for multiple months.         Long Description       Ummanned surface vehicles (USV) can include remotely operated craft (semisubmersible, plane hull, semi-plane hull, etc.) and test vehicles. During testing, they can operate autonomously, semi-autonomously, or non-autonomously. Non-autonomous or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled via radio link. USVs may have multiple test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical Components       Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft Targets: Surface targets         System being Trained/Tested:       Unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safety         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and Lingestion: None       Entanglement: None         S	auto and f threa to ex	nomous systems designed						
and future platforms to help deter maritime threats. They employ a variety of sensors designedsystems (gliders) could operate continuously for multiple months. to extend the reach of manned ships.Long DescriptionUmmanned surface vehicles (USV) can include remotely operated craft (semisubmersible, plane hull, semi-plane hull, etc.) and test vehicles. During testing, they can operate autonomously, semi-autonomously, or non-autonomously. Non-autonomous or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled via radio link. USVs may have multiple test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.Typical ComponentsVessel safetyTypical LocationsOperating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)Vessel affect Vessel noiseOffshore Area Strike: NoneInland Waters NoneStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and Strike: NoneEntanglement: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneNoneEntanglement: None </th <th>and f threa to ex</th> <th></th> <th>d to aug</th> <th>gment current</th> <th>Up to 10</th> <th>days. Some propulsion</th>	and f threa to ex		d to aug	gment current	Up to 10	days. Some propulsion		
threats. They employ a variety of sensors designed to extend the reach of manned ships.     continuously for multiple months.       Long Description     Unmanned surface vehicles (USV) can include remotely operated craft (semisubmersible, plane hull, semi-plane hull, etc.) and test vehicles. During testing, they can operate autonomously, semi-autonomously, or non-autonomously. Non-autonomous or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled vehicles may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.       Typical     Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle       Gomponents     Vessel safety       Unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safety     Offshore Area Quinault Range Site     Inland Waters None       Stressors to Biological Resources     Air Quality:     Physical Disturbance and Vessel and in-water None     Entanglement: None       Stressors to Physical Resour	threa to ex	future platforms to help de	eter m	aritime	systems	(gliders) could operate		
Long DescriptionUnmanned surface vehicles (USV) can include remotely operated craft (semisubmersible, plane hull, semi-plane hull, etc.) and test vehicles. During testing, they can operate autonomously, or non-autonomously. Non-autonomous or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled via radio link. USVs may have multiple test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.Typical ComponentsPlatforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft Targets: Surface targets System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicleInland Waters Quinault Range SiteStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic:Physical Disturbance and LocationsEnergy: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	to ex	ats. They employ a variety	of sen	sors designed	continuo	ously for multiple months.		
Long Description       Unmanned surface vehicles (USV) can include remotely operated craft (semisubmersible, plane hull, semi-plane hull, etc.) and test vehicles. During testing, they can operate autonomously, semi-autonomously. On non-autonomously. Non-autonomous or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled variadio link. USVs may have multiple test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical       Platforms: Ummanned surface vehicle; support craft         Components       System being Trained/Tested: Ummanned surface vehicle         Standard       Vessel safety       Typical Locations         Operating       Projeculures       Target deployment and retrieval safety         Vicicle procedures       Target deployment and retrieval safety       Offshore Area       Inland Waters         Stressors to       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and retrieval safety       None	Long Description	tend the reach of manned	d ships.			,		
plane hull, semi-plane hull, etc.) and test vehicles. During testing, they can operate autonomously, or non-autonomously. Non-autonomous or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled via radio link. USVs may have multiple test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical       Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft         Torget adployment and retrieval afety       Unmanned underwater vehicle         Standard       Vessel safety       Typical Locations         Operating       Unmanned underwater vehicle       Offshore Area       Inland Waters         Procedures       Target deployment and retrieval safety       Offshore Area       Inland Waters         Stressors to       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and surface vehicle       Energy:         Biological       Air Quality:       Vessels and in-water       Entanglement:		anned surface vehicles (U	SV) car	n include remo	tely operat	ed craft (semisubmersible,		
autonomously, semi-autonomously, or non-autonomously. Non-autonomous or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled via radio link. USVs may have multiple test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical       Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft         Components       Targets: Surface targets         System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle       Offshore Area       Inland Waters         Quanault Range Site       Dabob Bay Range       Complex         (Section 2.3.3)       Keyport Range Site       None         Stressors to       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and       Energy:         None       Vessel noise       Strike:       None         Explosives:       Vessels and in-water       Entarglement:         None       Ingestion:       None	plane	e hull, semi-plane hull, etc	.) and t	test vehicles. D	uring testi	ng, they can operate		
controlled vehicles may be tethered like remotely operated vehicles (ROVs) or remotely controlled via radio link. USVs may have multiple test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water form a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical       Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft         Components       System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle         Standard       Vessel safety       Typical Locations         Unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures vehicle procedures       Vessel safety       Offshore Area       Inland Waters         Stressors to       Biological       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and Energy:       None         Resources       Air Quality:       Criteria air pollutants       None       None         Habitats:       None       None       None       None	auto	nomously, semi-autonom	ously, o	or non-autonor	nously. No	n-autonomous or remotely		
controlled via radio link. USVs may have multiple test objectives or payloads (such as cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical Components       Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft         Targets: Surface targets       System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle         Standard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)       Unmanned underwater vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and through the vehicle velice in the vehicle is sufficient.         Stressors to Biological Resources       Air Quality:       Vessels and in-water in the vehicle is in pollutants is pollutants in the vehicle in the vehicle in the vehicle in the vehicle is pollutants in the vehicle in the vehicl	conti	rolled vehicles may be tetl	hered I	ike remotely o	perated ve	hicles (ROVs) or remotely		
cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.Typical ComponentsPlatforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft Targets: Surface targets System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicleInland Waters Dabob Bay Range Complex Keyport Range SiteStandard (Section 2.3.3)Vessel safety unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safetyPhysical Disturbance and devices Strike:Energy: NoneStressors to Biological ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	conti	rolled via radio link. USVs	may ha	ave multiple te	st objective	es or payloads (such as		
testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.Typical ComponentsPlatforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft Targets: Surface targets System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicleInland Waters Dabob Bay Range ComplexStandard (Section 2.3.3)Vessel safety Target deployment and retrieval safetyTypical LocationsInland Waters Reyport Range SiteStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and devicesEnergy: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None	came	cameras and sonar) onboard so that numerous tests can be executed during a single						
and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.Typical ComponentsPlatforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft Targets: Surface targets System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicleStandard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)Vessel safety unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safetyTypical Locations Offshore AreaInland Waters Dabob Bay RangeStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and devices NoneEnergy: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneChysical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	testir	testing activity. USVs may be used in conjunction with unmanned underwater vehicles						
are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle         launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying         from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through         the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of         a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical       Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft         Components       Targets: Surface targets         System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle       Inland Waters         Operating       Unmanned surface vehicle         Procedures       Inland Waters         (Section 2.3.3)       Vessel safety       Offshore Area       Inland Waters         Vensel safety       Unmanned surface vehicle       Oomplex         Resources       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and retrieval safety       Complex         Stressors to       Acoustic:       Vessel sand in-water       None         None       devices       None       None         Ingestion:       None       Sediments and Water Quality:         None       Criteria air pollutants       None       None         Habitats:       None       Sediments and Water Quality: </th <th>and u</th> <th colspan="6">and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods</th>	and u	and unmanned aerial systems to meet test objectives. USV launch and retrieval methods						
Iaunch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.Typical ComponentsPlatforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft Targets: Surface targetsStandard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)Vessel safety Unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safetyTypical Locations Offshore Area Quinault Range SiteInland Waters Dabob Bay Range Complex Keyport Range SiteStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Explosives:Physical Disturbance and devicesEnergy: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneNoneCriteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	are h	are highly variable because of the differences in vehicle type and size. USV test vehicle						
from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical Components       Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft Targets: Surface targets System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle         Standard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)       Vessel safety       Typical Locations         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and in-water Entanglement: None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality:       Vessels and in-water Vessels and in-water Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None         Stressors to       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None       Sediments and Water Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None	laund	launch methods include lowering onto the water from a support craft or pier, deploying						
the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical Components       Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft         Targets: Surface targets       System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle         Standard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)       Vessel safety       Typical Locations         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and in-water entry devices         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality:       Vessels and in-water entry devices         Stressors to       Air Quality:       Vessels and in-water wide entry devices         None       Stressors to       Air Quality:       Criteria air pollutants         None       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:         Physical Resources       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:         Physical Resources       Air Quality:       None         Stressors to       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:         Physical Resources       Air Quality:       Stressor to         Physical Resources       Air Quality:       Stressor to         Physical Resources       Air Quality:       Stressor to         Physical Resources       Air Quality = topoly       Stressor topoly	from	from another craft, or launching from a boat ramp. The vehicle will propel itself through						
a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.         Typical Components       Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft Targets: Surface targets System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle         Standard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)       Vessel safety Unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safety       Typical Locations Offshore Area Quinault Range Site       Inland Waters Dabob Bay Range Complex Keyport Range Site         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic: Vessel noise       Physical Disturbance and explosives: None       Energy: Vessels and in-water         Stressors to Biological Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None       Seediments and Water Quality: None         Stressors to Biological Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None       Seediments and Water Quality: None	the v	the water to complete the test objectives, which could include deployment or recovery of						
Typical ComponentsPlatforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft Targets: Surface targets System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicleStandard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)Vessel safety Unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safetyTypical LocationsStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Explosives: NonePhysical Disturbance and devicesInland Waters Dabob Bay Range Complex Keyport Range SiteStressors to Biological ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NonePhysical Disturbance and Water Quality: NoneEntanglement: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	a pay	a payload, sonar or other sensor use, or completion of a propulsion test.						
ComponentsTargets: Surface targets System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicleStandard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)Vessel safety Unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safetyTypical LocationsStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Explosives: NonePhysical Disturbance and devices Strike: NoneEnergy: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	Typical Platf	Platforms: Unmanned surface vehicle; support craft						
System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicleStandard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)Vessel safety Unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safetyTypical LocationsStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and strike:Inland Waters Dabob Bay Range Complex Keyport Range SiteStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and strike:Energy: Entanglement: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir up ollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	Components Targe	Targets: Surface targets						
Standard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)Vessel safety Unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safetyTypical LocationsStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and Strike: NoneEnergy: Entry NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	Syste	System being Trained/Tested: Unmanned surface vehicle						
Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)Unmanned surface vehicle and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safetyOffshore AreaInland WatersStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and Strike:Energy: NoneStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and devices NoneEnergy: NoneStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and Strike:Energy: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneCriteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	Standard Vess	el safety	Typica	al Locations				
Procedures (Section 2.3.3)and unmanned underwater vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safetyQuinault Range SiteDabob Bay Range Complex Keyport Range SiteStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and Strike: Vessels and in-waterEnergy: Entanglement: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: None	Operating Unm	anned surface vehicle	Offsh	ore Area		Inland Waters		
(Section 2.3.3)       vehicle procedures Target deployment and retrieval safety       Complex Keyport Range Site         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic: Vessel noise       Physical Disturbance and Strike:       Energy: None         Keyport Range Site       Strike:       None         Resources       Explosives: None       Vessels and in-water       Entanglement: None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants       Sediments and Water Quality: None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants       Sediments and Water Quality: None	Procedures and u	unmanned underwater	Quina	ult Range Site		Dabob Bay Range		
Target deployment and retrieval safetyKeyport Range SiteStressors to Biological ResourcesAcoustic: Vessel noisePhysical Disturbance and Strike: Vessels and in-waterEnergy: Entanglement: NoneNoneExplosives: NoneVessels and in-water devices NoneEntanglement: NoneStressors to Physical ResourcesAir Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneSediments and Water Quality: NoneCriteria air pollutants Habitats: NoneNoneSediments and Water Quality: None	(Section 2.3.3) vehic	cle procedures		Complex				
retrieval safety         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic: Vessel noise       Physical Disturbance and Strike:       Energy: None         None       Explosives: None       Vessels and in-water devices       Entanglement: None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants       Sediments and Water Quality: None         Criteria air pollutants       None         Habitats: None       None	Targe	et deployment and	Keyport Range Site					
Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic: Vessel noise       Physical Disturbance and Strike:       Energy: None         Resources       Vessel noise       Strike:       None         Explosives: None       Vessels and in-water       Entanglement:         None       devices       None         Ingestion: None       None       Sediments and Water Quality:         Criteria air pollutants       None         Habitats: None       None	retrie	eval safety						
Biological Resources       Vessel noise       Strike:       None         Explosives:       Vessels and in-water       Entanglement:         None       devices       None         Ingestion:       None         Stressors to       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:         Physical Resources       Criteria air pollutants       None         Habitats:       None       None	Stressors to Acou	ustic:	F	hysical Disturl	bance and	Energy:		
Resources     Explosives: None     Vessels and in-water devices     Entanglement: None       Stressors to Physical Resources     Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants     Sediments and Water Quality: None       Criteria air pollutants     None       Habitats: None     None	Biological Vess	el noise	S	Strike:		None		
None     devices     None       Ingestion:     Ingestion:     None       Stressors to     Air Quality:     Sediments and Water Quality:       Physical Resources     Criteria air pollutants     None       Habitats:     None     None	Resources Explo	osives:	١	/essels and in-v	vater	Entanglement:		
Ingestion: None       Stressors to Physical Resources     Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants     Sediments and Water Quality: None       Habitats: None     None	None	e	C	levices		None		
Stressors to Physical Resources     Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants     Sediments and Water Quality: None       Image: Content of the state of the stat			Ingestion:					
Stressors to Physical Resources     Air Quality:     Sediments and Water Quality:       Criteria air pollutants     None       Habitats: None     None			None					
Physical Resources     Criteria air pollutants     None       Habitats:     None	Stressors to Air Q	Quality:	Sediments and Water Quality:					
Habitats: None	Physical Resources Crite	ria air pollutants		Non	e			
None	Habi	tats:						
	None	e						
Stressors to Cultural Resources: Socioeconomic Resources: Public Health and Safety:	Stressors to Cultu	ural Resources:	Socioeconomic Resources: Public Health and Safety:					
Human Resources         Physical disturbance and         Accessibility         Physical interactions	Human Resources Phys	ical disturbance and	Acces	ssibility		Physical interactions		
strike Physical disturbance and In-air energy	strike	e	Physi	ical disturbance	e and	In-air energy		
strike			strike	2				
Military Expended Ingestible Material: Military Stationary Surface Targets anchors	Military Expended Inge	stible Material		Military	Stationar	Surface Targets anchors		
Material None None	Material None			Recoverable	Stational	y Surface rangets, anchors		
INGLETIAL INDUCE RECOVERAGE	Non-	- -Ingestible Material:		Material				
Non-Ingestible Material: Material	None							
Non-Ingestible Material: Material None	Sonar and Other None							
None     Material       Sonar and Other     None	Transducer Bins							

#### A.2.4.2 Unmanned Surface Vehicle System Testing

Unmanned Systems			
Unmanned Surface Vehicle System Testing			
In-Water	None		
Explosive Bins			
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)		
Mitigation	Vessel movement		
Measures			
Assumptions Used	None		
for Analysis			

#### A.2.4.3 Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Testing

Unmanned Systems								
Unmanned Underwa	Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Testing							
Short Description	Testing involves the production or	upgrade of	Typical Dur	ation				
	unmanned underwater vehicles. T	his may include	Typically 1-	-2 days, but endurance				
	testing of mission capabilities (e.g	., mine detection),	testing may	last up to 35 days.				
	evaluating the basic functions of in	ndividual platforms,	Some prop	ulsion systems (e.g.,				
	or conducting complex events wit	h multiple vehicles.	gliders) cou	ld operate continuously				
			for multiple	e months.				
Long Description	Unmanned underwater vehicle (U	(UUV) testing covers a broad range of activity in support of						
	the development of UUV performance capabilities (propulsion, navigation, control,							
	durability, and reliability) and miss	durability, and reliability) and mission capabilities (launch and recovery systems,						
	development of various payloads and the capability to deliver the payload as needed, data							
	collection and communication). U	collection and communication). UUVs may operate singly, in groups, or in coordination with						
	unmanned aircraft or unmanned s	urface vehicles. Most	t UUV operat	ions include a launch,				
	transit, mission profile execution,	and recovery operation	ons. UUVs m	ay be developed to carry				
	out warfare missions (e.g., mine d	etection) or scientific	missions (e.	g., bottom mapping),				
	while others are developed to support other testing objectives (e.g., performing as a target							
	for anti-submarine warfare). UUVs may be launched from unmanned aerial vehicles, surface							
	craft, submarines, piers, or land. Once launched, the vehicles are either towed or self-							
	propelled to the test area. Unmanned underwater vehicles may also deploy, tow, operate,							
	or recover remote sensors and payload systems. Systems on or towed by the UUV may be							
	acoustically active, produce radio-frequency transmissions, or use lasers.							
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing unmanned aerial systems, patrol boats, remote operated vehicle.							
Components	shore-based facility small hoat special mission ship submarines support craft surface							
	combatant, unmanned surface ve	hicle. unmanned unde	erwater vehi	cle				
	Targets: Mine warfare targets, sub	o-surface targets, surf	ace targets					
	System being Trained/Tested: So	nar systems, acoustic	modem und	lerwater				
	communications systems, torpedo	systems, unmanned	underwater	vehicle				
Standard	Vessel safety							
Operating	Towed in-water device safety	Offshore Area	In	land Waters				
Procedures	Unmanned aircraft system	Quinault Range Site	Ca	arr Inlet Operations Area				
(Section 2.3.3)	procedures	Quinduit hange bite	Carr Iniet Operations Area     Dabob Pay Pango Complex					
()	Linmanned surface vehicle and		Keynort Range Site					
	unmanned underwater vehicle	кеурон канде зне						
	larget deployment and retrieval							
	safety			_				
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturban	ice and	Energy:				
Biological	Sonar and other transducers	Strike:		In-air electromagnetic				
Resources	Vessel noise	Aircraft and aerial	targets	devices				
	Explosives:	Military expended	materials	Entanglement:				
	None	Vessels and in-wat	er devices	Decelerators/				
		Seafloor devices		parachutes				
		Ingestion:						
		Military Expended	Materials –					
		Other Than Muniti	ons					

Unmanned Systems								
Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Testing								
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Air Quality: Sediments and Water Quality:						
Physical Resources	Criteria air pollutants			Chemical				
	Habitats:		Other materials	5				
	Physical disturbance and strike – military							
	expended material							
	Physical disturbance and strike – seafloor							
	devices	devices						
Stressors to	Cultural Resou	rces:	Socioeconomic	c Resources:	Public Health	and Safety:		
Human Resources	Physical disturb	bance and	Accessibility		Physical intera	actions		
	strike Physical disturbance and In-air energy							
	strike In-water energy					gy		
Military Expended	Ingestible Mate	arial		Military	Anchor min	a shane (non-		
Matorial	Small decelorat	ors/parachutos		Recoverable		abtwoight		
Wateria	Small decelerators/paracifules Recoveral				(non-explosive) tornedo			
	Lightweight torpedo accessories anti-torpedo					torpedo		
	torpedo accessories, mobile sub-surface					inface target		
	target stationary sub-surface stationary sub-surface					indee target,		
	target stationary sub-surface					ib-surrace		
Sonar and Other	High-	Verv High	Torpedoes	s: Forward	- Acoustic	Synthetic		
Transducer Bins	Frequency:	Frequency:	TORP1	Looking	Modems:	Aperture		
	HF5 HF9	VHF1		Sonar:	M3	Sonars:		
				FLS2		SAS2		
In-Water Explosive	None							
Bins								
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2) Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)							
Mitigation	Active sonar Vessel movement							
Measures			Том	ved in-water dev	vices			
Assumptions Used	Mine shapes ar	nd other tempora	ry anchored tar	gets may be dep	loyed for the c	luration of a		
for Analysis	single test even	it or may be left i	n place for up to	o 12 months to s	upport multipl	e events; all		
	devices and the	eir anchors are re	covered. Botton	n anchors are no	ot deployed in l	known		
	sensitive shallo	w water benthic	habitats such as	eelgrass beds. N	Aultiple vehicle	es may		
	operate simultaneously in one or multiple areas.							

# A.2.5 VESSEL EVALUATION

#### A.2.5.1 Propulsion Testing

Vessel Evaluation						
Propulsion Testing	lsion Testing					
Short	Ship is run at high speeds in vario	ous formations and	d Typical I	Duration		
Description	at various depths.		Up to 5	Up to 5 days		
Long Description	Propulsion testing is one part of t	he total sea trial a	activity. During	this activity, the ship is		
	tested for maneuverability, includ	ding full power an	d endurance r	uns.		
		0				
Typical	Platforms: Surface ships					
Components	Targets: None					
	System being Trained/Tested: No	one				
Standard	Vessel safety	<b>Typical Locatio</b>	ns			
Operating		Offshore Area				
Procedures		Offshore Area				
(Section 2.3.3)						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Dist	urbance and	Energy:		
Biological	Vessel noise	Strike:		None		
Resources	Explosives:	Vessels and i	n-water device	es Entanglement:		
	None	Ingestion:		None		
		None				
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Se	ediments and	Water Quality:		
Physical	Criteria Air Pollutants None					
Resources	Habitats:					
	None					
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic Re	esources:	Public Health and Safety:		
Human	None A	Accessibility		Physical interactions		
Resources	•	Physical disturban	ce and			
D dilite me	S In costible Material:	strike	N dilitary	Nega		
Ivilitary	Ingestible Material:		Military	None		
Expended	None Non Ingestible Material:		Recoverable			
wateria	Non-ingestible Material.		Wateria			
Sonar and Other	None					
Transducer Bins	None					
In-Water	None					
Explosive Bins	None					
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike /	(Section 5 3 4)				
Mitigation	Vessel movement	50000 5.5.4				
Measures						
Assumptions	Surface ships will not be conducti	ing test constantly	/ for the entire	duration.		
Used for	Surface ships may not be travelin	g in a straight line				
Analysis	Surface ships will operate at least	3 NM from shore	e. across the fu	III spectrum of capable		
	speeds.		,			

#### A.2.5.2 Undersea Warfare Testing

Vessel Evaluation						
Undersea Warfare Testing						
Short	Ships demonstrate capability of co	ountermeasure	Typical Duration			
Description	systems and underwater surveilla	nce, weapons	Up to 10 days			
	engagement, and communication	s systems. This tests				
	ships' ability to detect, track, and	engage undersea				
	targets.					
Long Description	Undersea warfare events may be	comprised of tracking	and firing events or tests o	f hull-		
	mounted sonar system capabilitie	s to detect and avoid	orpedo type targets. Track	ing and		
	firing events ensure the operabilit	y of the undersea war	are suite and its interface	with the		
	rotary-wing helicopter. Tests inclu	ide demonstrating the	ability of the ship to search	1, detect,		
	and track a target and conduct at	tacks with exercise for	bedoes. Detection and avoi	dance		
	events may use surface craft and	underwater platforms	to test the capability of mi	d- and		
	nign-frequency acoustic sources.	Subsurface moving tar	gets, rocket and air-droppe	a weapons,		
	sonobuoys, towed arrays, and suc	o-surface torpedo-like	devices may be used. Appr	oximately		
Typical	<b>Platforms:</b> Rotary-wing aircraft su	ubmarines support cr	off surface combatant			
Components	Targets: Sub-surface targets	ubiliarilles, support ci	int, surface combatant			
components	Targets: Sub-surface largets					
	systems sonar systems sonobio	vs tornedo systems		tions		
Standard	Vescel safety					
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshore Area				
Procedures	Target deployment and retrieval	Offshore Area				
(Section 2.3.3)	safety					
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturba	ce and Energy:			
Biological	Sonar and other transducers	Strike:	None			
Resources	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and aerial	targets Entangleme	ent:		
	Vessel noise	Military expended	materials Decelerator	/Parachute,		
	Explosives:	Vessels and in-wa	er devices Wires and c	ables		
	None	Ingestion:				
		Military expended	materials –			
		other than muniti	ons			
Stressors to	Air Quality:	Sedimo	ents and Water Quality:			
Physical	Criteria air pollutants	Metals				
Resources	Habitats:	Chemi	als			
	Physical disturbance and strike – r	military Other	naterials			
Church and ha	expended material		Dublic Use Miles and	l C - f - tru		
Stressors to	Cultural Resources: S	ocioeconomic Resour	ces: Public Health and	l Safety:		
Human	Physical disturbance and A	viccessibility	Physical interaction	ons		
Resources		historical disturbance and	d In water operation			
	P S	trike	u in-water energy			

Vessel Evaluation						
Undersea Warfare	Undersea Warfare Testing					
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	Lightweight (non-		
Expended	Small decelerator/pa	arachute	Recoverable	explosive) torpedo,		
Material	Non-Ingestible Mate	erial:	Material	heavyweight (non-		
	Acoustic countermea	asures, buoy (non-		explosive) torpedo		
	explosive), expended	l bathythermograph,				
	expended bathyther	mograph wire,				
	heavyweight torpedo accessories, lightweight					
	torpedo accessories,	mobile subsurface targ	get,			
	sonobuoy (non-explo	osive), sonobuoy wires,				
	guidance wire					
Sonar and Other	Mid-Frequency:	High-Frequency:	Anti-Submarine	Torpedoes:		
Transducer Bins	MF1 MF4	HF4	Warfare:	TORP1 TORP2		
	MF5 MF6		ASW3 ASW4			
-	MF9					
In-Water	None					
Evalocivo Binc						
Explosive bills						
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (	Section 5.3.2)	Physical Disturba	nce and Strike (Section 5.3.4)		
Procedural Mitigation	Acoustic Stressors: ( Active sonar	Section 5.3.2)	Physical Disturba Vessel movement	nce and Strike (Section 5.3.4)		
Procedural Mitigation Measures	Acoustic Stressors: ( Active sonar	Section 5.3.2)	Physical Disturba Vessel movement	nce and Strike (Section 5.3.4)		
Procedural Mitigation Measures Assumptions	Acoustic Stressors: ( Active sonar Not all sonobuoys us	Section 5.3.2) ed in this activity would	<b>Physical Disturba</b> Vessel movement d include a decelerato	nce and Strike (Section 5.3.4) r/parachute.		
Procedural Mitigation Measures Assumptions Used for	Acoustic Stressors: ( Active sonar Not all sonobuoys us Ships will not be con	Section 5.3.2) sed in this activity would ducting test constantly	Physical Disturba Vessel movement d include a decelerato during the duration o	nce and Strike (Section 5.3.4) r/parachute. f the allotted time.		

#### A.2.5.3 Vessel Signature Evaluation

vessel Evaluation						
Vessel Signature Evaluation						
Short	Surface ship, submarine, and aux	iliary system	Typical I	Typical Duration		
Description	signature assessments. This may include electronic, radar, acoustic, infrared and magnetic signatures.			Typically 1–5 days, up to 20 days depending on the test being conducted		
Long Description	conductedSignature testing is passive monitoring of surface ships and submarines, conducted on newships and periodically throughout a vessel's life cycle, to assess the vessel's vulnerability tovarious types of detection systems when operating in different profiles (e.g., with or without acommunication buoy deployed). Signature testing may include the subject vessel's own safetyand navigation systems, tracking devices and range safety systems, radar systems, andunderwater or in-air communications equipment. Submarines move through the test site, butin-water devices may be towed. Data may be collected by passive acoustic hydrophones, bypassive electro-magnetic or infrared sensors, or by radar. Also included in this activity is theShipboard Electronic Systems Evaluation Facility, which conducts measurements of antennaemission patterns, Federal Aviation Administration identification of Friend or Foe systems, andTactical Air Navigation Systems.					
Components	Targets: None		,			
	System being Trained/Tested: N	one				
Standard			ans			
Operating		Western Behn	n Canal	Inland Waters		
Procedures		SEAEAC		Dahoh Pay Pango Complex		
(Section 2.3.3)		JEAFAC		Dabob Bay Range complex		
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Dis	turbance and	Energy:		
Biological	Vessel noise	Strike		In-air electromagnetic		
Resources	Explosives:	Vessels and	in-water device	eccelonidghetie		
nesources	None	Ingestion	in water device			
	None Entanglement:					
		None Littangreiticht.				
Stressors to	Air Quality: Sediments and Water Quality:					
Physical	Criteria air pollutants	S N	lone	Water Quanty.		
Resources	Habitate					
neoouroeo	None					
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic R	esources:	Public Health and Safety:		
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessibility		Physical interactions		
Resources	strike	Physical disturba	nce and	In-air energy		
		strike				
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military	None		
Expended	None		Recoverable			
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material			
	None					
Sonar and Other	None					
Transducer Bins						
In-Water	None					
<b>Explosive Bins</b>						
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike	(Section 5.3.4)				
Mitigation	Vessel movement	- *				
Measures						

Vessel Evaluation			
Vessel Signature E	valuation		
Assumptions	None		
Used for			
Analysis			

# A.2.6 OTHER TESTING

#### A.2.6.1 Acoustic and Oceanographic Research

Acoustic and Oceano	graphic Science and Technol	ogy				
Acoustic and Oceano	Acoustic and Oceanographic Research					
Short Description	Research using active transr	nissions from sour	ces Typical I	Duration		
	deployed from ships, aircraf	ft, and unmanned	Up to 14	Up to 14 days		
	underwater vehicles. Reseau	rch sources can be				
	used as proxies for current and future Navy					
	systems.					
Long Description	Active acoustic transmission	ns used for enginee	ering tests of ac	coustic sources, validation of		
	ocean acoustic models, test	s of signal processi	ing algorithms,	and characterization of		
	acoustic interactions with th	ne ocean bottom, f	ish and ocean s	surface. Standard		
	oceanographic research sen	ising (acoustic Dop	pler current pr	ofiler, fathometer-like		
Tructural	systems) also to be employed	ed.				
Typical	Platforms: Support craft, un	imanned underwa	ter vehicle			
Components	For the second s	ad. Conor sustance				
	System being Trained/Teste	ed: sonar systems				
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations	S			
Operating	Unmanned surface	Offshore Area		Inland Waters		
Procedures	vehicle and unmanned	Quinault Range S	Site	Dabob Bay Range Complex		
(Section 2.3.3)	underwater vehicle			Keyport Range Site		
	procedures					
Stressors to	Acoustic: Physical Disturbanc		rbance and	Energy:		
Biological	Sonar and other transducers	s Strike:		In-air electromagnetic		
Resources	Vessel noise	Vessels and in-	water devices	devices		
	Explosives:	Seafloor device	es	Entanglement:		
	None	Ingestion:		None		
Strassors to						
Physical Resources	Criteria air pollutants	3	ther materials	water Quality.		
r nysical nesources	Habitats:	C				
	Physical disturbance and str	ike – seafloor				
	devices					
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Р	ublic Health ar	nd Safety:		
Human Resources	Physical disturbance and str	ike P	hysical interact	tions		
	Socioeconomic Resources:	Ir	n-air energy	air energy		
	Accessibility	Ir	n-water energy	water energy		
	Physical disturbance and strike					
Military Expended	Ingestible Material:		Military	Anchors		
Material	None		Recoverable			
	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material			
	None					
Sonar and Other	Low Frequency:	Mid Frequer	ncy:			
Transducer Bins	LF4	MF9				
In-Water Explosive	None					
Bins						

Acoustic and Oceanographic Science and Technology				
Acoustic and Oceanographic Research				
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2)	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)		
Mitigation	Active sonar	Vessel movement		
Measures				
Assumptions Used	None			
for Analysis				

#### A.2.6.2 Acoustic Component Testing

Other Testing					
Acoustic Component Testing					
Short Description	Various surface vessels, moor	ed equipment, and	Typical Duration		
	materials are tested to evalua	te performance in the	1 day to multiple months		
	marine environment.				
Long Description	Acoustic component testing i	ncludes various activitie	s utilizing the marine environment		
	for testing and evaluation, inc	luding troubleshooting	components of all installed systems,		
	including acoustic systems. Co	omponents may be teste	ed in-situ or removed and tested		
	independently. Test may invo	lve radar, environmenta	al sensors, magnetic, passive		
	acoustic, optical, or air quality	instrumentation to me	asure, record, and analyze system		
	effectiveness, dependability,	operational parameters	, and durability. Surface operations		
	utilize a variety of vessels for	deployment of test equi	ipment and for the monitoring of the		
	air, surface, and subsurface.				
Typical	Platforms: Moored platform,	submarines, support cra	aft, surface combatants, unmanned		
Components	underwater vehicles, unmanr	ied aerial vehicle, unma	nned surface vessel		
	Targets: None				
	System being Trained/Tested	I: Acoustic modems, sor	har systems, underwater		
Chan dand	communication systems	Tenterlinestere			
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations	Internal Materia		
Derating					
(Section 2.2.2)	procedures	SEAFAC	NBK Bangor		
(Section 2.5.5)	Unmanned surface vehicle		Noval Station Evoratt		
	and unmanned underwater		Naval Magazino Indian		
	venicle procedures		Island		
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbanc	ce and Energy:		
Biological	Sonar and other transducers	Strike:	None		
Biological Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise	Strike: Aircraft and aerial to	None argets Entanglement:		
Biological Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives:	Strike: Aircraft and aerial to Vessels and in-wate	argets Entanglement:		
Biological Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion:	Argets Entanglement: er devices None		
Biological Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise <b>Explosives:</b> None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None	Argets Entanglement: er devices None		
Biological Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None	Argets Entanglement: er devices None		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim	And		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats:	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedin None	None argets Entanglement: er devices None		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None	A vone Argets Entanglement: er devices None		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources:	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None	Average in a second sec		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility	A vone Argets Entanglement: Ar devices None Anone Argets Entanglement: Argets None Argets None Argets Public Health and Safety: Physical interactions		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a	None argets Entanglement: r devices None nents and Water Quality: Physical interactions and In-water energy		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike	None         argets       Entanglement:         er devices       None         ments and Water Quality:         ments and Water Quality:         Physical interactions         and       In-water energy		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material:	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military	None argets Entanglement: r devices None nents and Water Quality: Physical interactions and In-water energy None		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material: None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military Recoverable	None argets Entanglement: er devices None  nents and Water Quality:  urces: Public Health and Safety: Physical interactions and In-water energy None		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material: None Non-Ingestible Material:	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military Recoverable Material	None         argets       Entanglement:         er devices       None         ments and Water Quality:         ments and Water Quality:         Physical interactions         and       In-water energy         None		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material: None Non-Ingestible Material: None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military Recoverable Material	None argets Entanglement: r devices None  nents and Water Quality:  prces: Public Health and Safety: Physical interactions and In-water energy None		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material: None Non-Ingestible Material: None None Mon-Ingestible Material: None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military Recoverable Material Frequency: High Fi	None argets Entanglement: r devices None  nents and Water Quality:  physical interactions and In-water energy None  requency:		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material: None Non-Ingestible Material: None Low Frequency: Mid LF5 MF9	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military Recoverable Material Frequency: High Fit HF3	None       argets       Entanglement:       er devices       None   ments and Water Quality:       ments and Water Quality:   ments and Water Quality:       Physical interactions       and       In-water energy   None       requency:		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins In-Water Explosive	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material: None Non-Ingestible Material: None Low Frequency: Mid LF5 MF9 None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military Recoverable Material Frequency: High Fu	None       argets       Entanglement:       er devices       None   ments and Water Quality:       ments and Water Quality:   ments and Water Quality:       Public Health and Safety:   Physical interactions       and   None       requency:   HF6		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins In-Water Explosive Bins	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material: None Non-Ingestible Material: None Low Frequency: Mid LF5 MF9 None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial to Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military Recoverable Material Frequency: High Fu HF3	None argets Entanglement: Provide argets None  International Action of the second seco		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins In-Water Explosive Bins Procedural	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material: None Non-Ingestible Material: None Low Frequency: Mid LF5 MF9 None	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military Recoverable Material Frequency: High Fu HF3 3.2) Physical D	None         argets       Entanglement:         er devices       None         ments and Water Quality:         ments and Water Quality:         physical interactions         and       In-water energy         None         requency:         HF6         Disturbance and Strike: (Section)		
Biological Resources Stressors to Physical Resources Stressors to Human Resources Military Expended Material Sonar and Other Transducer Bins In-Water Explosive Bins Procedural Mitigation	Sonar and other transducers Vessel noise Explosives: None Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None Cultural Resources: Physical disturbance and strike Ingestible Material: None Non-Ingestible Material: None Low Frequency: Mid LF5 MF9 None Acoustic Stressors (Section 5. Active sonar	Strike: Aircraft and aerial ta Vessels and in-wate Ingestion: None Sedim None Socioeconomic Resou Accessibility Physical disturbance a strike Military Recoverable Material Frequency: High Fit HF3 3.2) Physical D 5.3.4)	None         argets       Entanglement:         er devices       None         ments and Water Quality:         ments and Water Quality:         physical interactions         and       In-water energy         None         requency:         HF6		

Other Testing				
Acoustic Componen	t Testing			
Assumptions Used	Subject vessel being tested is moored at the Navy piers in Washington, but may be			
for Analysis	moving or static if the test is conducted at SEAFAC. ROVs may be used to deploy sensors			
	below the water line at the Washington piers, but are unlikely to be used at SEAFAC.			

## A.2.6.3 Cold Water Support

Other Testing	Other Testing					
Cold Water Support						
Short Description	Fleet training for divers in a co	ld water	Туріса	Typical Duration		
	environment, and other diver t	training	Assum	Assume 8 hours for all events, though they		
	related to Navy divers support	ing	may c	may continue for up to 40 hours, and		
	range/test site operations and		infrea	infrequently some may operate intermittently		
	maintenance.		for m	for multiple consecutive months		
Long Description	Elect training for divers in a cold water environment, and other diver training related to				er diver training related to	
	Navy divers supporting range/	test facility	operatio	ns and ma	intenance. Hand-held	
	acoustic systems and underwa	ter commu	nication	devices ma	ay be used in diver training,	
	as well as a variety of in-water	devices for	transpo	rting divers	s or cargo, and various dive	
	targets such as mine-like shape	es.				
Typical	Platforms: Moored platform, s	ubmarines	, surface	combatan	t	
Components	Targets: Mine warfare targets					
	System being Trained/Tested:	Sonar syst	ems, und	lerwater co	ommunications	
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Lo	ocations			
Operating	Target deployment and	Western	Behm Ca	inal	Inland Waters	
Procedures	retrieval safety	SEAFAC			Carr Inlet Operations Area	
(Section 2.3.3)					Dabob Bay Range Complex	
					Keyport Range Site	
Stressors to	Acoustic: P	hysical Dis	turbance	and	Energy:	
Biological	Sonar and other S	trike:			None	
Resources	transducers V	essels and	in-water	devices	Entanglement:	
	Vessel noise S	ise Seafloor devices None			None	
	Explosives: II	ngestion:				
	None N	lone				
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedime	ents and W	/ater Quality:	
Physical Resources	Criteria air pollutants		None			
	Habitats:					
	Physical disturbance and strike	2 —				
Strossors to		ocioacana	mic Boco		Public Health and Safatu	
Human Pesources	Physical disturbance and		nic Reso	urces.	Physical interactions	
numan Resources	strike	CCCSSIDIIIty			In-water energy	
Military Expended	Ingestible Material:	Milit	arv	Mine sha	ane (non-explosive) anchors	
Material	None	Reco	verable			
	Non-Ingestible Material:	Mate	erial			
	None					
Sonar and Other	High-Frequency					
Transducer Bins	HF6					
In-Water Explosive	None					
Bins						
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.	3.2)	Physica	al Disturba	nce and Strike:	
Mitigation	Active sonar		(Sectio	n 5.3.4)		
Measures			Vessel	movement	t	
Assumptions Used	If a submarine is used as part of	of the event	(SEAFAC	C, Carr Inle	t), submarine acoustic	
for Analysis	systems may be activated.					

## A.2.6.4 Hydrodynamic and Maneuverability Testing

Other Testing	Other Testing				
Hydrodynamic and	d Maneuverability Testing				
Short	Submarines maneuver in the sub	omerged	Typica	I Duratio	n
Description	operating environment.		10 days		
Long Description	Hydrodynamic testing is required	d to validate	the con	trol and n	naneuverability of a
	submarine in a submerged testir	ng environm	ent.		
Typical	Platforms: Moored platform, su	bmarines, si	upport cr	aft	
Components	Targets: None				
	System being Trained/Tested: N	lone			
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Lo	cations		
Operating		Western I	Behm Ca	nal	
Procedures		SEAFAC			
(Section 2.3.3)					
Stressors to	Acoustic: F	Physical Dist	urbance	and	Energy:
Biological	Vessel noise S	Strike:			None
Resources	Explosives:	/essels and i	n-water	devices	Entanglement:
	None I	ngestion:			None
	۲ ۱	None			
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedir	nents and	d Water Quality:
Physical	None		None	2	
Resources	Habitats:				
Straccore to		acioaconor	nic Poco		Dublic Health and Safatu
Juman	None (		IIIC RESU	urces.	Physical interactions
Resources		hysical dist	irhance	and	
hesources	, s	trike		una	
Military	Ingestible Material:	Milita	ary	None	
Expended	None	Reco	/erable		
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:	Mate	rial		
	None				
Sonar and Other	None				
Transducer Bins					
In-Water	None				
Explosive Bins		(0	2.41		
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike	: (Section 5	3.4)		
Witigation	Vessel movement				
Neasures				مامسابم	and and south and for the
Assumptions	For biological resource analysis,	vessei noise	and Ves	sei strike ä brief in na	are only analyzed for the
Applycic	related to vessel movement are	e surraceu, i	ypically	oner in na	ind of surfacing as well
Allalysis	For human resource stressor and	alvsis nhvci	al distur	hance and	d strike and physical
	interactions are only analyzed for	ir the nerioc	s (tynica	lly hrief in	nature) while the submarine
	is surfaced.	in the period		, srici li	inatarcy while the submanife
	Underwater communications are	e used for ra	inge and	vessel sat	fety purposes.

#### A.2.6.5 Non-Acoustic Component Testing

Other Testing	Other Testing				
Non-Acoustic Component Testing					
Short Description	These tests involve non-acou	ustic sensors and	Typical Duration		
	communication systems. No	n-acoustic sensors	3 days (4 hours per day for 3 days)		
	may also gather other forms	of environmental			
	data.				
Long Description	Radio communication with s	ubmarines typically inc	ludes systems using tethered,		
	untethered, or towed buoya	nt in-water devices to r	aise an antenna package to the		
	surface to broadcast the sign	al. Some communication	on buoys are intended for single-use		
	applications while the rest al	re multi-use packages.	The component hardware of these		
	systems needs to be tested t	o ensure that it will rei	ably support communication		
	tested while integrated with	the platform or remov	ad and tested independently. Test		
	may involve radar, environm	ental sensors magneti	c passive acoustic or optical		
	instrumentation to measure	record and analyze co	omponent effectiveness		
	dependability, operational p	arameters, and durabil	ity. Optical communications tests		
	may include communication	between helicopter or	fixed-wing aircraft and manned or		
	unmanned underwater syste	ems, and may also inclu	de ground truth sensors mounted on		
	surface craft.		-		
Typical Components	Platforms: All navy ships and	boats, in-water struct	ures, moored platform, remote		
	operated vehicle, support cra	aft, unmanned aerial ve	ehicle, unmanned underwater		
	vehicle				
	Targets: None				
	System being Trained/Teste	d: Communications sys	tems		
Standard Operating	Vessel safety	Typical Locations			
Procedures (Section	Unmanned aircraft system	Offshore Area	Inland Waters		
2.3.3/	procedures	Offshore Area			
	Unmanned surface vehicle		Keyport Bange Site		
	and unmanned		Keyport Nange Site		
	underwater venicle		NBK Bangor		
	procedures		Zelatched Point Pier		
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturban	ce and Energy:		
<b>Biological Resources</b>	Vessel noise	Strike:	In-air electromagnetic		
	Explosives:	Vessels and in-wate	er devices devices		
	None	Seafloor devices	Entanglement:		
		Ingestion:	None		
		None			
Stressors to Physical	Air Quality:	Sedim	pents and Water Quality:		
Resources	Criteria air pollutants	None			
	Habitats:				
	Physical disturbance and stri	ke – seafloor			
	devices				
Stressors to Human	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic Reso	urces: Public Health and Safety:		
Resources	Physical disturbance and	Accessibility	Physical interactions		
	strike	Airborne acoustics	In-air energy		
		Physical disturbance	and		
	strike				

Other Testing						
Non-Acoustic Component Testing						
Military Expended	Ingestible Material:	Military	Bottom placed instruments			
Material	None	Recoverable				
	Non-Ingestible Material:	Material				
	None					
Sonar and Other	None					
Transducer Bins						
In-Water Explosive	None					
Bins						
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)					
<b>Mitigation Measures</b>	Vessel Movement					
Assumptions Used	Manned aircraft are not used in Dabob Bay Range Complex or Keyport Range Site.					
for Analysis	Underwater communications are used for range and vessel safety purposes.					
	Unmanned aerial vehicles used in the inland waters areas would be small (e.g.,					
	Phantom quadcopter).					
Other Testing						
----------------------	--	------------------	-----------------------	--------------------------------	--	--
Post Refit Sea Trial						
Short Description	Following periodic maintenance periods or repairs, sea <b>Typical Duration</b>					
•	trials are conducted to evaluate submarine propulsion,			Typically 8 hours		
	sonar systems, and other mechanical tests.			Typically 8 hours		
Long Description	Testing activities are con	ducted throu	ghout the life of a N	lavy submarine to verify		
	performance and mission	n capabilities.	Sea trials are cond	ucted following periodic		
	maintenance or repairs	A typical test	may include a subn	parine operating at full power		
	and subjected to high-sp	eed runs stee	ering tests and oth	er mechanical tests		
Tynical	<b>Platforms:</b> Fixed facility	submarines				
Components	Targets: None	submannes				
components	System being Trained/Te	stad. Acoust	ic modern underw	ater communications		
Standard	Voccol cofoty	Tunical Loca	tions			
Standard	vessel salely	Typical Loca				
Operating		Inland Wat	ers			
Procedures		Dabob Bay	Range Complex			
(Section 2.3.3)						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Phy	sical Disturbance a	nd Energy:		
Biological	Sonar and other transduc	cers <b>Stri</b>	ke:	None		
Resources	Explosives: None			Entanglement:		
	None Ingestion: None					
	None					
Stressors to	Air Quality: Sediments and Water Quality:					
Physical Resources	None None					
	Habitats:					
	None					
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioecor	omic Resources:	Public Health and Safety:		
Human Resources	None	Accessibili	tv	Physical interactions		
		Physical d	isturbance and	In-water energy		
		strike				
Military Expended	Ingestible Material:		Military	None		
Material	None		Recoverable			
	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material			
	None					
Sonar and Other	Mid-Frequency:	High-	Frequency:	Acoustic Modems:		
Transducer Bins	MF10	HF9	- 1 /	M3		
	-			-		
In-Water Explosive	None					
Bins						
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2) Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)					
Mitigation	Active sonar		Vessel movement			
Measures						
Assumptions Used	None					
for Analysis						

#### A.2.6.7 Radar and Other System Testing

Other Testing	Other Testing						
Radar and other Sys	tem Testing						
Short Description	Testing may include use of military or commercial radar, communication systems (or simulators), or high-energy lasers. Testing may occur aboard a ship or a helicopter against drones, small boats, or otherTypical D 12 hours period				<b>Duration</b> rs per day over a 7-day		
Long Description	At-sea testing may include use of military or commercial radar, communication systems (or simulators), or high-energy lasers. No subsurface transmission will occur during this testing. Testing of various air and surface targets may include unmanned aerial vehicles or small craft (e.g., floating cardboard triwalls, towed, anchored, or self-propelled vessels). High-energy laser testing may include tracking, scoring, and neutralization runs with single or multiple targets.						
Typical Components	Platforms: Surface ships, rotary-wing aircraft Targets: Aerial targets, surface targets System being Trained/Tested: Radar, high-energy lasers						
Standard	Vessel safety	Турі	cal Locations				
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offs	hore Area				
Procedures	High-energy laser safety	Offshore Area					
(Section 2.3.3)	Towed in-water device						
	safety						
	Target deployment and	arget deployment and					
	retrieval safety						
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Pl	nysical Disturbance a	nd	Energy:		
Biological	Aircraft noise	St	rike:		In-air electromagnetic		
Resources	Vessel noise	Ai	rcraft and aerial targ	ets	devices		
	Explosives:	Μ	ilitary expended mat	erials	High-energy lasers		
	None	Ve	essels and in-water d	evices	Entanglement:		
		In	gestion:		Decelerators/parachutes		
		N	one				
Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sedim	ents and	Water Quality:		
Physical Resources	Criteria air pollutants		Metals	matarial			
	Physical disturbance and str	iko _	military	materials			
	expended material	IKC -	mintary				
	expended material						
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Soci	oeconomic Resource	es:	Public Health and Safety:		
Human Resources	None	Acc	essibility		Physical interactions		
		Airb	orne acoustics		In-air energy		
Military Expanded	Ingestible Material:		Military	Stationa	ry surface target		
Material	None		Recoverable	Stational	ly surface target		
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material				
	Air targets – expended dron	e.	material				
	mobile surface target	-,					
Sonar and Other	None						
Transducer Bins							
In-Water Explosive	None						
Bins							

Other Testing				
Radar and other System Testing				
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)			
Mitigation	Vessel movement			
Measures	Towed in-water devices			
Assumptions Used	None			
for Analysis				

#### A.2.6.8 Semi-Stationary Equipment Testing

Other Testing							
Semi-Stationary Eq	uipment Testing						
Short Description	Semi-stationary equipmen	nt (e.g., hydro	ophones) is	Typical Dura	ation		
•	deployed to determine fur	nctionality.	. ,	From 10 mir	From 10 minutes to multiple		
				days			
Long Description	Semi-stationary equipment calibration and testing is performed from a fixed site						
Tour Provincial	suspended over the side of a boat moored to the bottom suspended in the water column						
	or on the surface. Examples of semi-stationary equipment include moored hydrophones						
	(i.e., devices to listen to ur	nderwater so	ound), line arrays (i	.e., multiple h	vdrophones)		
	deployed on the ocean bo	deployed on the ocean bottom, acoustic countermeasures, a moored oceanographic					
	sensor that moves vertically through the water column, sonobuoys, and transducers. Some						
	units produce sound in the	e water (e.g.,	, acoustic countern	neasures), wh	ile others only listen		
	(e.g., passive sonobuoys, v	ector sensor	rs that measure pa	rticle motion)	. Some tests could		
	require deployment in an	area that pro	ovides opportunist	ic data collect	ion (e.g., placing a		
	hydrophone near a shippi	ng lane to co	llect shipping noise	e data), or wit	h specific geographic		
	or oceanographic requirer	nents.					
Typical	Platforms: Moored platfor	rm, shore ba	sed facility, subma	rines, support	t craft		
Components	Targets: None						
	System being Trained/Tes	<b>sted:</b> Acousti	c modems, sonar s	systems, unde	rwater		
	communications systems						
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Loc	ations				
Operating		Western B	ehm Canal Inland Waters				
Procedures		SEAFAC	Dabob Bay Range Complex				
(Section 2.3.3)				Keyport Ran	ige Site		
Stressors to	Acoustic:		Physical Disturba	ance and	Energy:		
Biological	Sonar and other transduce	ers	Strike:		None		
Resources	Vessel noise		Vessels and in-water devices Entanglement:				
	Explosives:		Ingestion:		None		
Streese to	None Air Qualitur		None Sediments and W				
Stressors to Physical	Air Quailty: Criteria air pollutants		Metals	vater Quality	•		
Resources	Habitate:		Other materials				
Resources	None						
	None						
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:		Socioeconomic	Pu	blic Health and		
Human	None		Resources:	Sa	fety:		
Resources			Accessibility	Ph	ysical interactions		
			Physical disturba	nce and In-	-water energy		
			strike				
Military	Ingestible Material		Military	Anchors ca	nictor		
Expended	None		Recoverable	Anenors, ca	inster		
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material				
	None						
Sonar and Other	Low- Mid-Fred	uency:	High-	Very High			
Transducer Bins	Frequency: MF9		Frequency:	Frequency:			
	LF4		HF6 HF9	VHF2			
In-Water	None		-				
Explosive Bins							

Other Testing							
Semi-Stationary Equipment Testing							
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2)	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)					
Mitigation	Active sonar	Vessel movement					
Measures							
Assumptions	Anchored equipment and temporary mooring buoys may be deployed for the duration of a						
Used for Analysis	single test event or may be left in place for up to 12 months to support multiple events; all						
	devices and their anchors are recovered. Bottom anchors are not deployed in known						
	sensitive shallow water benthic habitats such as eelgrass beds.						
	Acoustic test facility testing would occ	ur at the Keyport Pier.					

### A.2.6.9 Simulant Testing

Simulant Testing         Short Description       The capability of surface ship defense systems to detect and protect against chemical and biological attacks are tested.         Long Description         The capabilities of surface ship defense systems to detect and protect in the event of chemical and biological tatcks are tested. Testing involves the deployment of harmless compounds (i.e., simulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological warfare agents remain a security threat, the Department of Defense uses relatively harmless compounds (simulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents and protect military personnel and twill aretir agio referred to as gaseous simulants and can be released in smaller quantities in conjunction with glacial acetic acid or thethy phosphate; windure agent semipartice waret agents aretino	Other Testing						
Short Description         The capability of surface ship defense systems to detect and protect against chemical and biological attacks are tested.         Typical Duration           Long Description         The capabilities of surface ship defense systems to detect and protect in the event of chemical and biological attacks are tested. Testing involves the deployment of harmless compounds (i.e., simulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological warfare agents compounds (sinulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological warfare agents compounds (sinulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological warfare agents to test equipment intended to detect their presence. Chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents and protect military personnel and civilians from the threat of exposure to these agents. The simulants trigger a response by sensors in the detection equipment without intrating or injuring personnel involved in testing detectors. Navy Chemical Agent Simulant 82 (commonly referred to as NCAS-82), glacial acetic acid, triethyl phosphate, sulfur hexafluoride, 1, 1, 1, 12 tetrafluoroethane (a refigreant commonly known as R134), and 1, -dfiluoroethane (a refigreant commonly known as R134), and 1, -dfiluoroethane (a refigreant commonly known as R134), and 1, -dfiluoroethane (a refigreant commonly known as R134), and 1, -dfiluoroethane (a refigreant commonly known as R134), and 1, -dfiluoroethane (a refigreant commonly known as R134), and 1, -dfiluoroethane (a refigreant commonly known as R134), and 1, -dfiluoroethane (a refigreant commonly known as R132) are also referred to as gaseous simulants and can be released in smaller quantities in conjunction with glacial acetic acid, triethyl phosphate releases. The types of biological simulants as deserved to triethyl phosphate releases. The types of biological simulants aref generally dispersence being Trainied/Testet: Non	Simulant Testing						
detect and protect against chemical and biological attacks are tested.     3 days       Long Description     The capabilities of surface ship defense systems to detect and protect in the event of chemical and biological attacks are tested. Testing involves the deployment of harmless compounds (i.e., simulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological warfare agents. Because chemical and biological warfare agents net set equipment intended to detect their presence. Chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents. The simulants trigger a response by sensors in the detection equipment without irritating or injuring personnel involved in testing detectors. Navy Chemical Agent Simulant 82 (commonly referred to as NCAS-82), glacial acetic acid, triethyl phosphate, sulfur hexafluoride, 1, 1, 1, 2 tetrafluoroethane (a refrigerant commonly known as R134), and 1,1-difluoroethane (a refrigerant commonly known as R-152a) are also referred to as gaseous simulants and can be released in smaller quantities in conjunction with glacial acetic acid or triethyl phosphate releases. The types of biological simulants that may be used include spore-forming bacteria, non-spore-forming bacteria, ovalbumin, bacteriophage MS2, and Aspergillus niger. The simulants are generally dispersed by hand at the detector or by aircraft as a fine mist or aerosol.       Typical Components     Platforms: Fixed-wing aircraft, rotary-wing aircraft, surface combatant Targets: None       Stressors to Physical Resources     Acoustic: None     Physical Disturbance and None     Energy: In-air electromagnetic Vessel safety       Stressors to Physical Resources     Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants None     Sediments and Water Quality: None     Physical interactions In-air energy       Stresso	Short Description	The capability of surface ship	defens	e systems to	Typical Du	uration	
attacks are tested.       Image: Composition of the exposition		detect and protect against che	emical	and biological	3 days		
Long Description       The capabilities of surface ship defense systems to detect and protect in the event of chemical and biological attacks are tested. Testing involves the deployment of harmless compounds (i.e., simulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological warfare agents remain a security threat, the Department of Defense uses relatively harmless compounds (simulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological warfare agents to test equipment intended to detect their presence. Chemical and biological agent agents and protect military personnel and civilians from the threat of exposure to these agents. The simulants trigger a response by sensors in the detection equipment without irritating or injuring personnel involved in testing detectors. Navy Chemical Agent Simulant S at (commonly referred to as NCAS-82), glacial acetic acid, triethyl phosphate, sulfur hexafluoride, 1, 1, 1, 2 tetrafluoroethane (a refrigerant commonly known as R134), and 1, 1-diffluoroethane (a refrigerant commonly known as R134), and 1, 1-diffluoroethane (arefrigerant commonly known as R134), and 2, 1, -diffluoroethane (arefrigerant commonly known as R134), and 2, 1, -diffluoroethane (arefrigerant commonly known as R-152a) are also referred to as gaseous simulants and can be released in smaller quantities in conjunction with glacial acetic acid or triethyl phosphate releases. The types of biological simulants that may be used include spore-forming bacteria, ovalbumin, bacteriophage MS2, and Aspergillus niger. The simulants are generally dispersed by hand at the detector or by aircraft as a fine mist or aerosol.         Typical       Patforms: Fixed-wing aircraft, rotary-wing aircraft, surface combatant Components       Targets: None         Stratard       Vessel safety       Offshore Area       Offshore Area         Offshore Area       In-air electromagnetic		attacks are tested.					
Typical       Practorins: Fried-Wing and fail, for a y-wing and fail, surface combatant         Components       Targets: None         Standard       Vessel safety       Typical Locations         Operating       Aircraft safety       Offshore Area         Procedures       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and Gestion 2.3.3)       Energy:         Stressors to       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and Aircraft noise       Energy:         Biological Resources       Aircraft noise       Strike:       In-air electromagnetic devices         None       None       None       None         Stressors to       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:       Entanglement:         None       None       None       None       None         Stressors to       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:       Physical interactions         Military Expended       Cultural Resources:       Socioeconomic Resources:       Public Health and Safety:         Military Expended       Ingestible Material:       Military Material       Military Material       None	Long Description	The capabilities of surface ship defense systems to detect and protect in the event of chemical and biological attacks are tested. Testing involves the deployment of harmless compounds (i.e., simulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological warfare agents. Because chemical and biological warfare agents remain a security threat, the Department of Defense uses relatively harmless compounds (simulants) as substitutes for chemical and biological warfare agents to test equipment intended to detect their presence. Chemical and biological agent detectors monitor for the presence of chemical and biological warfare agents. The simulants trigger a response by sensors in the detection equipment without irritating or injuring personnel involved in testing detectors. Navy Chemical Agent Simulant 82 (commonly referred to as NCAS-82), glacial acetic acid, triethyl phosphate, sulfur hexafluoride, 1,1,1,2 tetrafluoroethane (a refrigerant commonly known as R134), and 1,1-difluoroethane (a refrigerant commonly known as R134), and 1,1-difluoroethane (a refrigerant commonly known as R134), and 1,1-difluoroethane (a refrigerant commonly known as R-152a) are also referred to as gaseous simulants and can be released in smaller quantities in conjunction with glacial acetic acid or triethyl phosphate releases. The types of biological simulants that may be used include spore-forming bacteria, non-spore-forming bacteria, ovalbumin, bacteriophage MS2, and Aspergillus niger. The simulants are generally dispersed by hand at the detector or by aircraft as a fine mist or aerosol.					
System being Trained/Tested: None         System being Trained/Tested: None         System being Trained/Tested: None         Standard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)       Vessel safety       Typical Locations         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic: Vessel noise       Physical Disturbance and Aircraft and aerial targets       Energy: In-air electromagnetic devices         Stressors to Biological Resources       Air Quality:       Vessels and in-water devices       Entanglement: None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality: Other materials       Physical Resources: Other materials       Public Health and Safety: Physical disturbance and strike         Military Expended Material       Ingestible Material:       Military Recoverable Material:       Military Recoverable Material:       Military Recoverable Material:	Components	Targets: None	, rotar	y-wing aircrait,	surface com	Jalani	
Standard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)       Vessel safety Aircraft safety       Typical Locations Offshore Area Offshore Area         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic: Aircraft noise       Physical Disturbance and Strike:       Energy: In-air electromagnetic devices         Stressors to Physical Resources       Aircraft noise       Strike:       In-air electromagnetic devices         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants       Vessels and in-water devices       Entanglement: None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants       Sediments and Water Quality: Criteria air pollutants       None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Cultural Resources: None       Socioeconomic Resources: Physical disturbance and strike       Public Health and Safety: Physical interactions In-air energy         Military Expended Material       Ingestible Material:       Military Material       None	components	System being Trained/Tested	• None	3			
Standard Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)       Vessel safety       Typical Locations         Stressors to Biological Resources       Aircraft safety       Offshore Area Offshore Area       Energy: In-air electromagnetic devices         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic: Aircraft noise       Physical Disturbance and Aircraft and aerial targets Explosives: None       Energy: In-air electromagnetic devices         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None       Vessels and in-water devices Ingestion: None       Entanglement: None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None       Sediments and Water Quality: Physical interactions Airborne acoustics Physical disturbance and strike       Public Health and Safety: Physical interactions In-air energy Physical disturbance and strike         Military Expended Material       Ingestible Material: None       Military Material       None		System being framedy rested					
Operating Procedures (Section 2.3.3)       Aircraft safety       Offshore Area Offshore Area         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and Strike:       Energy: In-air electromagnetic         Vessel noise       Aircraft and aerial targets Vessel noise       devices         Explosives:       Vessels and in-water devices       Entanglement: Ingestion: None         None       None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants Habitats: None       Sediments and Water Quality: Other materials         Stressors to Human Resources       Cultural Resources: None       Socioeconomic Resources: Physical disturbance and strike         Military Expended Material       Ingestible Material: None       Military Recoverable       None	Standard	Vessel safety	Туріс	cal Locations			
Procedures (Section 2.3.3)       Offshore Area         Stressors to Biological Resources       Acoustic: Aircraft noise       Physical Disturbance and Strike:       Energy: In-air electromagnetic         Vessel noise       Aircraft and aerial targets Explosives:       In-air electromagnetic         None       Vessels and in-water devices       Entanglement: Ingestion: None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants       Sediments and Water Quality: Criteria air pollutants         None       Cultural Resources: None       Socioeconomic Resources: None       Public Health and Safety: Physical disturbance and strike         Military Expended Material       Ingestible Material:       Military Recoverable       None	Operating	Aircraft safety	Offst	nore Area			
Section 2.3.3)       Acoustic:       Physical Disturbance and Strike:       Energy:         Biological Resources       Aircraft noise       Strike:       In-air electromagnetic         Vessel noise       Aircraft and aerial targets       devices         Explosives:       Vessels and in-water devices       Entanglement:         None       Ingestion:       None       None         Stressors to       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:       Physical Resources         Physical Resources       Air Quality:       Chemicals       Other materials         None       None       Accessibility       Physical interactions         Habitats:       Other materials       In-air energy         None       Airborne acoustics       In-air energy         None       Airborne acoustics       In-air energy         Military Expended       None       Recoverable         None       Recoverable       None	Procedures		Offsh	nore Area			
Stressors to     Acoustic:     Physical Disturbance and Aircraft noise     Energy: In-air electromagnetic       Resources     Aircraft noise     Strike:     In-air electromagnetic       Vessel noise     Aircraft and aerial targets     devices       Explosives:     Vessels and in-water devices     Entanglement:       None     Ingestion: None     None       Stressors to     Air Quality:     Sediments and Water Quality:       Physical Resources     Criteria air pollutants     Chemicals       Habitats:     Other materials     Other materials       None     Accessibility     Physical interactions       Human Resources     Cultural Resources: None     Socioeconomic Resources: None     Physical disturbance and strike       Military Expended Material     Ingestible Material: None     Military Recoverable     None	(Section 2.3.3)	Accustic	DL			<b>Francis</b>	
Biological       Aircraft noise       Strike.       Infail electromagnetic         Resources       Vessel noise       Aircraft and aerial targets       devices         Explosives:       Vessels and in-water devices       Entanglement:       None         None       Ingestion:       None       None         Stressors to       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:       Criteria air pollutants         Criteria air pollutants       Chemicals       Other materials         None       None       Aircost consonic Resources:       Public Health and Safety:         None       Accessibility       Physical interactions       In-air energy         Military Expended       Ingestible Material:       Military       None         Material       None       Recoverable       None	Stressors to Biological	Acoustic:	PT S+	iysical Disturbal riko:	nce and	Energy:	
Air Quality:       Vessels and in-water devices       Entanglement:         None       Ingestion:       None         Stressors to       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:         Physical Resources       Criteria air pollutants       Chemicals         None       Other materials         Stressors to       Habitats:       Other materials         None       None         Stressors to       Cultural Resources:       Socioeconomic Resources:       Public Health and Safety:         None       Airborne acoustics       In-air energy         Physical disturbance and strike       Military Expended       Ingestible Material:       Military         None       None       Recoverable       None	Resources	Vessel noise	Δi	rcraft and aerial	targets	devices	
Ingestion:     None     Ingestion:     None       Stressors to Physical Resources     Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants     Sediments and Water Quality: Criteria air pollutants       Stressors to Habitats:     Criteria air pollutants     Chemicals       None     Other materials       Stressors to Human Resources     Cultural Resources:     Socioeconomic Resources:     Public Health and Safety:       None     Accessibility     Physical interactions     In-air energy       Military Expended Material     Ingestible Material:     Military None     None	Resources	Explosives:	Ve	essels and in-wa	ter devices	Entanglement:	
None       None         Stressors to Physical Resources       Air Quality: Criteria air pollutants       Sediments and Water Quality: Chemicals         Habitats: None       Other materials         Stressors to Human Resources       Cultural Resources: None       Socioeconomic Resources: Accessibility Human Resources       Public Health and Safety: Physical interactions         Military Expended Material       Ingestible Material: None       Military Recoverable Material       None		None	In	gestion:		None	
Stressors to       Air Quality:       Sediments and Water Quality:         Physical Resources       Criteria air pollutants       Chemicals         Habitats:       Other materials         None       Other materials         Stressors to       Cultural Resources:       Socioeconomic Resources:       Public Health and Safety:         Human Resources       None       Accessibility       Physical interactions         Military Expended       Ingestible Material:       Military       Military         None       Recoverable       None			No	one			
Air Quarty.       Securities and water Quarty.         Physical Resources       Criteria air pollutants       Chemicals         Habitats:       Other materials         None       Stressors to       Cultural Resources:         Human Resources       Cultural Resources:       Socioeconomic Resources:         None       Accessibility       Physical interactions         Airborne acoustics       In-air energy         Physical disturbance and strike       Strike         Military Expended       None         None       Recoverable         None       Recoverable         None       Material	Stressors to	Air Quality:		Sodi	ments and W	Nater Quality:	
Habitats:       Other materials         None       Cultural Resources:       Socioeconomic Resources:       Public Health and Safety:         Human Resources       None       Accessibility       Physical interactions         None       Airborne acoustics       In-air energy         Military Expended       Ingestible Material:       Military         None       Recoverable       None         Material       None       Recoverable	Physical Resources	Criteria air pollutants		Chei	nicals	valei Quaily.	
None     Socioeconomic Resources:     Public Health and Safety:       Human Resources     Cultural Resources:     Socioeconomic Resources:     Public Health and Safety:       Human Resources     None     Accessibility     Physical interactions       Airborne acoustics     In-air energy       Physical disturbance and strike     None       Military Expended     Ingestible Material:     Military       None     Recoverable       None     Material	inysical Nesources	Criteria air pollutants Chemicals					
Stressors to Human Resources       Cultural Resources: None       Socioeconomic Resources: Accessibility Airborne acoustics Physical disturbance and strike       Public Health and Safety: Physical interactions In-air energy         Military Expended Material       Ingestible Material: None       Military Recoverable Material       None		None		•••••			
Human Resources       None       Accessibility       Physical interactions         Airborne acoustics       In-air energy       In-air energy         Physical disturbance and strike       Military Expended       Military Expended         Material       None       Recoverable       None         Non-Ingestible Material:       Material       Material       None	Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Soci	oeconomic Res	ources: P	ublic Health and Safety:	
Airborne acoustics       In-air energy         Physical disturbance and strike       In-air energy         Military Expended       Ingestible Material:       Military         None       Recoverable       Indexestible         Non-Ingestible Material:       Material       Material	Human Resources	None	Acce	essibility	Р	hysical interactions	
Military Expended Material     Ingestible Material:     Military Recoverable     None       Non-Ingestible Material:     Material     Material			Airb	orne acoustics	Ir	n-air energy	
Military Expended     Ingestible Material:     Military     None       Material     None     Recoverable     Independent of the second of the secon			Physical disturbance and				
Military Expended     Ingestible Material:     Military     None       Material     None     Recoverable       Non-Ingestible Material:     Material			strik	e			
Material None Recoverable Non-Ingestible Material: Material	Military Expended	Ingestible Material:		Military	None		
Non-Ingestible Material: Material	Material	None		Recoverable			
None		Non-Ingestible Material:		waterial			

Other Testing	
Simulant Testing	
Sonar and Other	None
Transducer Bins	
In-Water Explosive	None
Bins	
Procedural	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)
Mitigation	Vessel movement
Measures	
Assumptions Used	All chemical simulants have low toxicity to humans and the environment. Examples of
for Analysis	chemical simulants include glacial acetic acid and triethyl phosphate.
	All biological simulants are considered to be Biosafety Level 1 organisms. Examples of
	biological simulants are spore-forming bacteria, non-spore-forming bacteria, the protein
	ovalbumin, MS2 bacteriophages, and the fungus Aspergillus niger.
	Simulant testing will occur at least 3 NM from shore.

# A.3 NAVAL AIR SYSTEMS COMMAND TESTING ACTIVITIES

### A.3.1 ANTI-SUBMARINE WARFARE

#### A.3.1.1 Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Test – Maritime Patrol Aircraft

Anti-Submarin	e Warfare						
Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Test—Maritime Patrol Aircraft							
Short	The test evaluates the sens	ors and systems used	Typical Duration	on			
Description	by maritime patrol aircraft to detect and track						
	submarines and to ensure that aircraft systems						
	used to deploy the tracking systems perform to 4–8 flight hours per event						
	specifications and meet operational						
	requirements.						
Long	Similar to an anti-submarin	e warfare (ASW) trackin	g exercise-marit	time patrol aircraft, an			
Description	anti-submarine warfare tra	cking test—maritime pa	itrol aircraft eva	luates the sensors and			
	systems used to detect and	I track submarines and t	o ensure that pl	atform systems used to			
	deploy the tracking system	s perform to specification	ons and meet op	erational requirements. P-3			
	or P-8 fixed-wing aircraft co	onduct anti-submarine v	varfare testing u	sing non-impulsive			
	sonobuoys (e.g., AN/SSQ-6	2 DICASS, AN/AQS-125 I	MAC, AN/AQS-1	25 HDC, MK-84 ESUS) and			
	passive sonobuoys (e.g., AN/SSQ-53 DIFAR). If available, tests may be conducted using an actual						
	submarine as the target. This activity would be conducted in deep (typically beyond 100 ft.)						
	waters. Some anti-submarine warfare maritime patrol aircraft tracking tests could be						
_ · ·	conducted as part of a coordinated event with fleet training activities.						
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing aircraft						
Components	Targets: Submarine						
	Systems being Trained/Tes	sted: Sonobuoys/sonob	loy launching sy	stems, data transmission			
Standard							
Standard	Aircraft safety						
Operating	All chart salety	Offshore Area					
(Section		Offshore Area					
2 3 3)							
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Disturbance	and Strike:	Energy:			
Biological	Sonar and other	Aircraft and aerial tar	gets	In-air electromagnetic			
Resources	transducers	Military expended ma	aterials	devices			
	Aircraft noise	, ,					
		Ingestion:		Entanglement:			
	Explosives:	Military expended ma	iterials – other	Wires and cables			
	None	than munitions		Decelerators/parachutes			
Stressors to	Habitats:	Air Qua	ity:				
Physical	Physical disturbance and st	rike – Criteria	Air Pollutants				
Resources	military expended mate	erial Sedimer	nt and Water Qu	ality:			
		Metals	Othe	r Materials			
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeconomic Res	ources:	Public Health and Safety:			
Human	Physical disturbance and	Accessibility	I	n-water energy			
Resources	strike	Airborne acoustics	I	Physical interactions			
		Physical disturbanc	e and strike				

Anti-Submarine Warfare					
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Tracking Test—Maritime Pa	trol Aircraft			
Military	Ingestible Material:	Military	None		
Expended	Small decelerators/parachutes	Recoverable			
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:	Material			
	Sonobuoys, sonobuoy wires				
Sonar and	Mid-Frequency: Anti-	Submarine Warfar	e:		
Other	MF5 MF6 ASW	ASW5			
Transducer					
Bins					
In-Water	None				
Explosive					
Bins					
Procedural	Acoustic Stressors: (Section 5.3.2)	Physical	Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)		
Mitigation	Active Sonar	Vessel m	ovement		
Measures					
Assumptions	Assume one decelerator/parachute p	er sonobuoy			
Used for	For air quality analysis:				
Analysis	- 1 fixed-wing patrol aircraft				
	- Average 8 hours per event				

Anti-Submarin	e Warfare					
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Tracking Test—M	aritime Patro	ol Aircraft (	SUS)		
Short	This test evaluates the sense	sors and syste	ems used	Турі	cal Duratio	n
Description	by maritime patrol aircraft to communicate with					
	submarines using any of th	e family of sig	gnal	8 flig	ght hours p	er event
	underwater sound (SUS) sonobuoy systems.					
Long	Similar to an ASW tracking	exercise-mar	itime patro	l aircr	aft, an anti	i-submarine warfare tracking
Description	test—maritime patrol aircr	aft (SUS) eval	uates the s	sensor	s and syste	ems used to detect and track
	submarines and to ensure t	hat platform	systems us	sed to	deploy the	e tracking systems perform
	to specifications and meet	operational r	equiremen	ts. P-3	8 or P-8 fixe	ed-wing aircraft conduct
	anti-submarine warfare tes	ting using exp	plosive (SU	S) son	obuoys (i.e	e., MK-61 SUS, MK-64 SUS,
	and MK-82 SUS) and passiv	e sonobuoys	(e.g., AN/S	SQ-53	B DIFAR). If	available, tests may be
	conducted using an actual	submarine as	the target.	. This a	activity wo	uld be conducted in deep
	(typically beyond 100 ft.) w	aters. Some a	anti-subma	rine w	varfare mai	ritime patrol aircraft
	tracking tests could be con	ducted as par	t of a coor	dinate	ed event wi	th fleet training activities.
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing aircr	aft				
Components	Targets: Submarine					
	Systems being Trained/Tested: Sonobuoys/sonobuoy launching systems, data transmission					
	systems					
Standard	Vessel safety	Typical Locations				
Operating	Aircraft safety	Offshore Area				
Procedures		Offshore Area				
(Section						
2.3.3)						<u> </u>
Stressors to	Acoustic:	Physical Di	sturbance	and S	trike:	Energy:
Biological	Aircraft noise	Aircraft and	d aerial tar	gets		In-air electromagnetic
Resources	Four Lands on a	Military ex	pended ma	iterial	S	devices
	Explosive:	Ingestion				Entanglomont
	in-water explosions	Military ov	nondod ma	torial	s _ othor	Entanglement:
		than munit	ions	iteriai		Decelerators (parachutes
Strossors to	Air Quality:		Sodimor	at and	Wator Ou	
Physical	Criteria Air Pollutants		Explosiv		Chemic	ancy.
Resources			Metals	63	Other M	laterials
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	ource	s P	Public Health and Safety:
Human	Explosives	Accessib	ilitv			n-water energy
Resources	Physical disturbance	Airborne	acoustics		P	hysical Interactions
	, · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Physical	disturbanc	e and	strike	1
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		None	
Expended	Small decelerators/parachu	ites,	Recovera	able		
Material	sonobuoy fragments		Material			
	Non-Ingestible Material:					
	Sonobuoys, sonobuoy wire	S				
Sonar and	None					
Other						
Transducer						
Bins						

#### A.3.1.2 Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Test – Maritime Patrol Aircraft (SUS)

Anti-Submarine Warfare						
Anti-Submarin	e Warfare Tracking Test—Maritime Patro	Aircraft (SUS)				
In-Water	E1 E3					
Explosive						
Bins						
Procedural	Explosive Stressors: (Section 5.3.3)	Physical Disturbance and Strike: (Section 5.3.4)				
Mitigation	Explosive Sonobuoys	Vessel movement				
Measures						
Assumptions	Assume one decelerator/parachute per s	onobuoy				
Used for	Explosive sonobuoy testing occurs at least 50 NM from shore and does not occur within the					
Analysis	boundaries of the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary.					
	For air quality analysis:					
	- 1 fixed-wing patrol aircraft					
	<ul> <li>Average 8 hours per event</li> </ul>					

### A.3.2 OTHER TESTING

A.3.2.1	Intelligence, Surveillance,	Reconnaissance/Electronic	Warfare Triton Testing
---------	-----------------------------	---------------------------	------------------------

Electronic War	fare (EW)					
<b>ISR/EW</b> Triton	Testing					
Short	ISR/EW Triton Testing will e	evaluate the s	ensors	Туріса	al Durat	tion
Description	and communication system	ns on board th	ne MQ-		20 (1) 1	
	4C Triton unmanned aerial	system.		Up to	30 fligh	nt hours per event
Long	The MQ-4C Triton unmann	ed aerial syste	em will fill	a comp	lement	ary role to the P-8A fixed-wing
Description	aircraft, providing maritime	e intelligence,	surveillan	ce and i	reconna	aissance (ISR) and Electronic
	Warfare (EW) support to th	ne Navy. This I	MQ-4C Trit	on will	be equ	ipped with electro-optical and
	infrared sensors that allow	it to conduct	high-altitu	de surv	eillance	e operations. ISR/EW Triton
	Testing will evaluate the se	nsors and cor	nmunicatio	on syste	ems on	board the MQ-4C Triton
	unmanned aerial system at	a high altituc	le (50,000	feet ab	ove sea	a level) within the NWTT Study
	Area.					
Typical	Platforms: Fixed-wing aircr	aft				
Components	Targets: None					
	Systems being Trained/Tes	sted: Unmann	ied aerial s	ystems	, data t	ransmission systems
Standard	Aircraft safety	Typical Loca	ations			
Operating	Unmanned aircraft	Offshore Ar	ea			Inland Waters
Procedures	system procedures	Offshore Ar	ea			EW Range
(Section						
2.3.3)	· · · · · ·					<u> </u>
Stressors to	Acoustic/Explosive:	Physical Dis	sturbance	and Str	rike:	Energy:
Biological	None	Aircraft and	a aeriai tar	gets		In-air electromagnetic
Resources		Ingostion				devices
		None				Entanglement
		None				None
Stressors to	Air Quality:	-	Sedimer	t and \	Nater (	Quality:
Physical	None		None	it and i		zaanty.
Resources						
Stressors to	Cultural Resources:	Socioeco	nomic Res	ources	:	Public Health and Safety:
Human	None	None				None
Resources						
Military	Ingestible Material:		Military		None	
Expended	None		Recovera	ble		
Material	Non-Ingestible Material:		Material			
	None					
Sonar and	None			-		
Other						
Transducer						
Bins						
In-Water	None					
Explosive						
Bins						
Procedural	None					
Mitigation						
Measures						

Electronic War	fare (EW)
<b>ISR/EW Triton</b>	Testing
Assumptions	Triton is at approximately 50,000 feet above ground level for duration of test events within the
Used for	NWTT Study Area.
Analysis	

This page intentionally left blank.

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

### **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

### **Northwest Training and Testing**

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

APPENDIX B	ACTIVITY STRESSOR MATRICES	.B-1
APPENDIX B	ACTIVITY STRESSOR MATRICES	B.

### **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this appendix.

### **List of Tables**

Table B-1: Stressors by Training Activity	В-З
Table B-2: Stressors by Testing Activity	B-5
Table B-3: Stressors by Resource	В-8

This page intentionally left blank.

# APPENDIX B Activity Stressor Matrices

This appendix contains three matrices. The first two matrices in this appendix list the training and testing activities that occur in the Northwest Training and Testing Study Area and their associated stressors. The third matrix lists the resources analyzed in this Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement and the stressors they are potentially affected by.

This page intentionally left blank.

								Bio	logica	l Resou	ırces								Ph	ysical	Resour	rces1				Н	uman R	lesourd	es <sup>2</sup>		
	Ad	coustic	Stress	ors	Expl Stre	osive ssors	Ene	rgy Stres	sors	Phy and	sical D I Strike	isturbo Stress	ance sors	Enta S	anglem tressor	ient s	Inge Stre	estion essors	Air Quality Stressors	Sedi Q	ments uality S	and W Stresso	/ater ors	Cult Reso Stres	ural urces ssors	Soci R S	oecono esourco tressor	omic es rs	Publ Safe	lic Heal ty Stre	th & ssors
Northwest Training Activity	Sonar & Other Transducers	Vessel Noise	Aircraft Noise	Weapons Noise	In-Air Explosions	In-Water Explosions	In-Air Electromagnetic Devices	In-Water Electromagnetic Devices	High-Energy Lasers	Vessels & In-water Devices	Aircraft & Aerial Targets	Military Expended Material	Seafloor Devices	Wires & Cables	Decelerators/Parachutes	Biodegradable Polymer <sup>3</sup>	Military Expended Materials – Munitions	Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions	Criteria Air Pollutants	Explosives	Metals	Chemicals	Other Materials <sup>4</sup>	Explosives <sup>5</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike $^{6}$	Accessibility 7	Airborne Acoustics <sup>8</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike $^{6}$	In-Water Energy <sup>9</sup>	In-Air Energy <sup>10</sup>	Physical Interactions <sup>11</sup>
AIR WARFARE	1		1		1	1	1	[ ]		1			T				[	1	l			1		[]							
Air Combat Maneuver			✓				✓				~	✓							~		~			~			~	~			
Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)		✓	1	✓	1		1			✓	✓	✓					✓		✓	✓	✓				✓	✓	~	✓			✓
Missile Exercise (Air-to-Air)			~		~		~				~	~			~		~	~	1	~	~	~			~	~	1	~			~
Missile Exercise (Surface-to-Air)		~	~	1	~		~			~	~	~					~	~	1	~	~	~			~	~	1	~			~
ANTI-SUBMARINE WARFARE										Γ			I						Γ									Γ			
Torpedo Exercise – Submarine	✓	✓								✓		✓		✓							✓				✓			✓	✓		✓
Tracking Exercise – Helicopter	✓	✓	✓				✓			√	✓	✓			✓		~	~	√		✓	✓	✓		✓	✓	✓	✓	✓		✓
Tracking Exercise – Maritime Patrol Aircraft	~	~	~				~			~	~	~			~		~	~	~		~	~	~		~	~	~	~	~		✓
Tracking Exercise – Ship	✓	✓					✓			✓		✓							✓						✓	✓	✓	✓	✓		✓
Tracking Exercise – Submarine	~	~								~		~									~				~			~	~		~
ELECTRONIC WARFARE	T	T	T	1	1	1	T	1		-	T	Ĩ	T	I				T		ſ	T	T		0		ſ	T				
Electronic Warfare Training – Aircraft			✓				✓				✓								✓							✓	✓	✓			✓
Electronic Warfare Training - Ship		✓					✓			√									✓							✓		✓			✓
MINE WARFARE																															
Civilian Port Defense – Homeland Security Anti-Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises	~	~	~			~	1	✓		~	~		~						✓	1				~	~	~	~	~	~		✓
Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Disposal Training		~				~				1		~	~				~	~	~	~				~	~	~	~	~	~		~
SURFACE WARFARE																															
Bombing Exercise Air-to-Surface			✓			✓	✓				✓	✓					✓	✓	✓	✓	✓				✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
Gunnery Exercise Surface-to-Surface – Ship		1		~		~	~			~		~					4	~	✓	~	~			•	~	~	1	~	✓		~

### Table B-1: Stressors by Training Activity

								Biol	logical	l Reso	urces								Ph	ysical	Resou	rces1				Hı	man R	esourc	es <sup>2</sup>		
	Ad	coustic	Stress	ors	Expl Stre	losive ssors	Ene	rgy Stress	ors	Phy an	vsical L d Strik	Disturb e Stres	ance sors	Ent	anglen Stresso	nent rs	In St	gestion tressors	Air Quality Stressors	Sedi Q	ments uality	and W Stresso	'ater rs	Cul Resc Stre	tural ources ssors	Soc R	ioecono esourco tressoi	omic es rs	Publ Safe	ic Heali ty Stres	th & sors
Northwest Training Activity	Sonar & Other Transducers	Vessel Noise	Aircraft Noise	Weapons Noise	In-Air Explosions	In-Water Explosions	In-Air Electromagnetic Devices	In-Water Electromagnetic Devices	High-Energy Lasers	Vessels & In-water Devices	Aircraft & Aerial Targets	Military Expended Material	Seafloor Devices	Wires & Cables	Decelerators/Parachutes	Biodegradable Polymer <sup>3</sup>	Military Expended Materials –	Munitions Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions	Criteria Air Pollutants	Explosives	Metals	Chemicals	Other Materials <sup>4</sup>	Explosives <sup>5</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	Accessibility 7	Airborne Acoustics <sup>8</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	In-Water Energy <sup>9</sup>	In-Air Energy <sup>10</sup>	Physical Interactions <sup>11</sup>
SURFACE WARFARE (Continued)	1	1	T	1	1	T	T				Γ		ſ	T	1	I			1				I	I	1	I	1	T	T		
Missile Exercise Air-to-Surface			✓	~		✓	✓			✓	✓	1					✓	· 🖌	1	✓	1	1		✓	✓	✓	1	✓	~	×	✓
OTHER TRAINING		-	-												-												-				
Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance			✓				1				✓	✓		✓	1				✓												l
Maritime Security Operations		✓		✓			✓			✓		1							✓		1					✓	✓	✓			✓
Personnel Insertion/ Extraction – Non- Submersible		1								✓									~												
Precision Anchoring		~					✓			✓		✓	✓						✓						✓	1					✓
Search and Rescue		✓	✓				1			✓	✓								✓								✓	✓			~
Small Boat Attack Exercise		✓		✓						✓		~					✓		✓		1				✓	✓	✓	✓			~
Submarine Sonar Maintenance	✓								✓																		✓				
Surface Ship Sonar Maintenance	~	✓				~			✓																		✓				
Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Training	~	✓								✓		✓																			

### Table B-1: Stressors by Training Activity (continued)

<sup>1</sup> Habitat stressors are included under Biological Resources

<sup>2</sup> Area of interest is U.S. Territorial Waters (seaward of the mean high water line to 12 nautical miles and any inshore waters)

<sup>3</sup> Testing activities only

<sup>4</sup> Other Materials include marine markers and flares, chaff, towed and stationary targets, and miscellaneous components of other expended objects

<sup>5</sup> Vibration and shock waves from underwater explosions

<sup>6</sup> Physical disturbance and strike stressors resulting from in-water devices, military expended materials, seafloor devices, and vibration from sonic booms in U.S. territorial waters (seaward of the mean high water line to 12 nautical miles)

<sup>7</sup> Availability of access on the ocean and in the air

<sup>8</sup> Loud noises from weapons firing, in-air explosions, and sonic booms

<sup>9</sup> Active sonar, underwater explosions, vessel movements, mine warfare training devices, and unmanned underwater systems

<sup>10</sup> Sources or electromagnetic energy and lasers

<sup>11</sup> Interaction of Navy aircraft, vessels, and equipment with general public

Note: A check indicates events that take place for Alternative 1 and Alternative 2.

								Bio	logica	Resou	irces								Ph	ysical	Resou	rces <sup>1</sup>				Hu	ıman R	esourc	es <sup>2</sup>		
	Ad	oustic	Stresso	ors	Expl Stre	osive ssors	Enei	gy Stres	sors	Phy: and	sical D I Strike	isturbo Stress	ance sors	Ent. S	anglen tressoi	nent rs	Inge Stre	stion ssors	Air Quality Stressors	Sedi Qi	ments uality S	and W Stresso	'ater rs	Cult Reso Stre	tural urces ssors	Soci R S	ioecono esourco tresso	omic es rs	Publ Safe	ic Heal ty Stre	th & ssors
Northwest Testing Activity	Sonar & Other Transducers	Vessel Noise	Aircraft Noise	Weapons Noise	In-Air Explosions	In-Water Explosions	In-Air Electromagnetic Devices	In-Water Electromagnetic Devices	High-Energy Lasers	Vessels & In-water Devices	Aircraft & Aerial Targets	Military Expended Material	Seafloor Devices	Wires & Cables	Decelerators/Parachutes	Biodegradable Polymer <sup>3</sup>	Military Expended Materials – Munitions	Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions	Criteria Air Pollutants	Explosives	Metals	Chemicals	Other Materials <sup>4</sup>	Explosives <sup>5</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	Accessibility <sup>7</sup>	Airborne Acoustics <sup>8</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	In-Water Energy <sup>9</sup>	In-Air Energy <sup>10</sup>	Physical Interactions <sup>11</sup>
NAVAL SEA SYSTEMS COMMAND																															
ANTI-SUBMARINE WARFARE																															
Anti-Submarine Warfare Testing	✓	✓	•							•	•	<b>√</b>		<b>✓</b>	<b>✓</b>			•	✓		<b>v</b>	<b>✓</b>	✓		<b>✓</b>	<b>✓</b>	✓	•	•		
At-Sea Sonar Testing	✓	✓	✓				✓			~	~	✓		✓	✓			✓ ✓	<b>√</b>		✓	✓	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>			✓		✓	✓		
Countermeasure Testing	✓	✓					✓			✓		✓		✓		✓		✓	✓		✓	✓	✓		✓	✓		✓	✓		<b>✓</b>
Pierside-Sonar Testing	✓																												✓		
Submarine Sonar Testing/Maintenance	✓	✓								~																		~	1		✓
Torpedo (Explosive) Testing	1	✓	✓			✓	✓			✓	✓	✓		✓	✓		~	1	1	✓	✓	✓	✓			✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	1
Torpedo (Non-explosive) Testing	✓	✓	✓				~			~	✓	~		✓	✓			✓	✓		✓	✓	✓		✓	✓	✓	✓	1	<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	✓
MINE WARFARE			<u> </u>	1		<b>_</b>			<u> </u>			1	•					<b>I</b>	•	1			1			1			1		
Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing	~	~	~			~	~				~	~	~	~			~		~	~	~		~	~	~	~	~	1	~	~	~
Mine Detection and Classification Testing	✓	~								✓	✓		✓						✓		✓				1	✓	✓		✓	<ul> <li>✓</li> </ul>	1
SURFACE WARFARE	T	1		I	I								1	1	1	1					I	1		1	1						
Kinetic Energy Weapon Testing		✓		✓	✓		✓			✓	✓	✓			✓		~	~	✓		✓				✓	✓	✓	✓		✓	✓
UNMANNED SYSTEMS		1			1	1							1		1	1		1	T	1	1	-	1		1		1	1			
Unmanned Aerial System Testing		✓								✓	✓								✓						✓	✓	✓	✓			✓
Unmanned Surface Vehicle System Testing		✓								✓									✓						✓	✓		1		✓	✓
Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Testing	✓	✓					✓			✓	~	✓	✓		1			1	✓			~	✓		1	1		~	~	✓	1
VESSEL EVALUATION		1		1	1	1									1	1			Γ	1	-		1		1		1				
Propulsion Testing		✓								✓									✓							✓		✓			✓
Undersea Warfare Testing	✓	✓	✓							✓	✓	✓		✓	✓			✓	✓		✓	✓	✓		✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓

### Table B-2: Stressors by Testing Activity

								Bio	ologica	l Reso	urces								Pi	hysical	Resou	rces <sup>1</sup>				Hı	ıman R	esourc	es <sup>2</sup>		
	Ad	coustic	Stress	ors	Expl Stre	losive essors	Ene	ergy Stre	ssors	Phy an	vsical D d Strik	Disturb e Stres	ance sors	Ent	angle Stress	ement sors	Ing Str	estion essors	Air Quality Stressors	Sedi Q	iments uality :	and W Stresso	/ater ors	Cult Reso Stre	tural ources ssors	Soc. R	ioecon esourc Stresso	omic es rs	Publ Safe	ic Heal ty Stre	th & ssors
Northwest Testing Activity	Sonar & Other Transducers	Vessel Noise	Aircraft Noise	Weapons Noise	In-Air Explosions	In-Water Explosions	In-Air Electromagnetic Devices	In-Water Electromagnetic Devices	High-Energy Lasers	Vessels & In-water Devices	Aircraft & Aerial Targets	Military Expended Material	Seafloor Devices	Wires & Cables	Decelerators/Parachutes	Biodegradable Polymer <sup>3</sup>	Military Expended Materials – Munitions	Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions	Criteria Air Pollutants	Explosives	Metals	Chemicals	Other Materials <sup>4</sup>	Explosives <sup>5</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	Accessibility 7	Airborne Acoustics <sup>8</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	In-Water Energy <sup>9</sup>	In-Air Energy <sup>10</sup>	Physical Interactions <sup>11</sup>
VESSEL EVALUATION (CONTINUED)		T	-			T	ŀ		T				-			-	-		-	1	-	1			1		T				
Vessel Signature Evaluation		✓					✓			✓									✓						✓	✓		✓		✓	✓
OTHER TESTING		I				1	-		T	1		1	1						1	I	1	I	-	1	T	T	T	1			
Acoustic and Oceanographic Research	✓	✓					✓			✓			✓						1				✓		1	✓		✓	✓	<ul><li>✓</li></ul>	1
Acoustic Component Testing	~	~								~	~								~						~	~		~	~		✓
Cold Water Support	✓	✓								✓			~						✓						✓	✓				✓	✓
Hydrodynamic and Maneuverability Testing		✓								✓																✓		✓			✓
Non-Acoustic Component Testing		✓					~			✓			~						✓						✓	~	✓	~		✓	~
Post-Refit Sea Trial	1																									✓		✓	✓		✓
Radar and Other System Testing		✓	✓				✓		✓	✓	✓	✓			~				1		✓		~			✓	✓			✓	✓
Semi-Stationary Equipment Testing	1	✓								~									1		✓		~			✓		✓	✓		✓
Simulant Testing		✓	✓				✓			~	✓								1			~	~			✓	✓	✓		✓	✓
NAVAL AIR SYSTEMS COMMAND																															
ANTI-SUBMARINE WARFARE		1			1	1	r		1	1	1	1	1							1	1			1	1	1	1				
Tracking Test – Maritime Patrol Aircraft	✓		✓				✓				✓	✓		✓	✓			✓	✓		✓		✓		✓	✓	✓	✓	✓		~
Tracking Test – Maritime Patrol Aircraft (SUS)			~			~	~				✓	~		~	~			~	✓	✓	✓	✓	~	~	~	~	~	~	~		~

# Table B-2: Stressors by Testing Activity (continued)

### Table B-2: Stressors by Testing Activity (continued)

Γ									Bio	logica	l Resou	urces								Ph	ysical	Resou	rces1				Hu	man R	esourc	es <sup>2</sup>		
		A	coustic	Stress	ors	Expl Stre	osive ssors	Ene	rgy Stres	sors	Phy and	rsical D d Strike	isturbo Stres	ance sors	Ento S	anglen tresso	nent rs	Inge Stre	estion ssors	Air Quality Stressors	Sed Q	iments uality S	and W Stresso	later ors	Cult Reso Stres	ural urces ssors	Soci R S	oecono esourc tresso	omic es rs	Publ Safe	ic Heal ty Stre	th & ssors
	Northwest Testing Activity	Sonar & Other Transducers	Vessel Noise	Aircraft Noise	Weapons Noise	In-Air Explosions	In-Water Explosions	In-Air Electromagnetic Devices	In-Water Electromagnetic Devices	High-Energy Lasers	Vessels & In-water Devices	Aircraft & Aerial Targets	Military Expended Material	Seafloor Devices	Wires & Cables	Decelerators/Parachutes	Biodegradable Polymer <sup>3</sup>	Military Expended Materials – Munitions	Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions	Criteria Air Pollutants	Explosives	Metals	Chemicals	Other Materials <sup>4</sup>	Explosives <sup>5</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	Accessibility <sup>7</sup>	Airborne Acoustics <sup>8</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	In-Water Energy <sup>9</sup>	In-Air Energy <sup>10</sup>	Physical Interactions <sup>11</sup>
	OTHER TESTING																															
	Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance (ISR)/Electronic Warfare (EW) Triton Testing							~				✓																				

<sup>1</sup> Habitat stressors are included under Biological Resources

<sup>2</sup> Area of interest is U.S. Territorial Waters (seaward of the mean high water line to 12 nautical miles and any inshore waters)

<sup>3</sup> Testing activities only

<sup>4</sup> Other Materials include marine markers and flares, chaff, towed and stationary targets, and miscellaneous components of other expended objects

<sup>5</sup> Vibration and shock waves from underwater explosions

<sup>6</sup> Physical disturbance and strike stressors resulting from in-water devices, military expended materials, seafloor devices, and vibration from sonic booms in U.S. territorial waters (seaward of the mean high water line to 12 nautical miles)

<sup>7</sup> Availability of access on the ocean and in the air

<sup>8</sup> Loud noises from weapons firing, in-air explosions, and sonic booms

<sup>9</sup> Active sonar, underwater explosions, vessel movements, mine warfare training devices, and unmanned underwater systems

<sup>10</sup> Sources or electromagnetic energy and lasers

<sup>11</sup> Interaction of Navy aircraft, vessels, and equipment with general public

Note: A check indicates events that take place for Alternative 1 and Alternative 2.

									Bi	iologic	al Reso	urces								Ph	ysical	Resou	rces <sup>1</sup>				Hu	man R	esourc	es <sup>2</sup>		
		A	coustic	Stress	sors	Exp Stre	losive essors	Enei	rgy Stre	ssors	Phy and	sical Di Strike	sturba Stress	ince fors	Ent. S	anglem tressor	ient 's	Inge Stre	estion essors	Air Quality Stressors	Sedi Q	ments uality :	and W Stresso	/ater ors	Cul Reso Stre	tural ources essors	Soc F	ioecon Resourc Stresso	omic ces ors	Publ Safe	ic Heal ty Stree	th & ssors
	Stressors vs. Resources	Sonar & Other Transducers	Vessel Noise	Aircraft Noise	Weapons Noise	In-Air Explosions	In-Water Explosions	In-Air Electromagnetic Devices	In-Water Electromagnetic Devices	High-Energy Lasers	Vessels & In-water Devices	Aircraft & Aerial Targets	Military Expended Material	Seafloor Devices	Wires & Cables	Decelerators/Parachutes	Biodegradable Polymer <sup>3</sup>	Military Expended Materials – Munitions	Military Expended Materials – Other than Munitions	Criteria Air Pollutants	Explosives	Metals	Chemicals	Other Materials <sup>4</sup>	Explosives <sup>5</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	Accessibility 7	Airborne Acoustics <sup>8</sup>	Physical Disturbance & Strike <sup>6</sup>	In-Water Energy <sup>9</sup>	In-Air Energy <sup>10</sup>	Physical Interactions <sup>11</sup>
sical	Sediments and Water Quality						~														~	~	~	~								
Phys	Air Quality					✓													✓	✓												
	Marine Habitats						✓				✓		✓	✓																		
	Marine Mammals	1	✓	1	✓		1		~	1	✓		✓	1	✓	✓	✓	1			✓	1	~	1								
al	Sea Turtles	1	✓	1	1		✓		~	1	~		✓	~	~	~	~	~			✓	✓	1	~								
ologic	Birds	1	✓	1	1	1	✓	~		1	✓	✓	✓				✓	~	✓	~												
Bi	Marine Vegetation						✓				~		✓	✓							~	✓	1	1								
	Marine Invertebrates	1					✓	✓	1	1	~		✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	~			1	1	1	1								
	Fishes	1	✓		1		✓		~	1	✓		✓	1	~		✓	~			✓	✓	1	1								
	Cultural Resources			✓			✓						✓	1											✓	✓						
man	American Indian and Alaskan Traditional Resources																															
Hu	Socioeconomic Resources	1	✓	✓	✓		✓				✓	✓	✓		✓						✓	✓	✓	✓			✓	✓	✓			
	Public Health and Safety	1			✓		✓			✓	✓	✓	✓	✓																<ul><li>✓</li></ul>	~	✓

#### Table B-3: Stressors by Resource

<sup>1</sup> Habitat stressors are included under Biological Resources

<sup>2</sup> Area of interest is U.S. Territorial Waters (seaward of the mean high water line to 12 nautical miles and any inshore waters)

<sup>3</sup> Testing activities only

<sup>4</sup> Other Materials include marine markers and flares, chaff, towed and stationary targets, and miscellaneous components of other expended objects

<sup>5</sup> Vibration and shock waves from underwater explosions

<sup>6</sup> Physical disturbance and strike stressors resulting from in-water devices, military expended materials, seafloor devices, and vibration from sonic booms in U.S. territorial waters (seaward of the mean high water line to 12 nautical miles)

<sup>7</sup> Availability of access on the ocean and in the air

<sup>8</sup> Loud noises from weapons firing, in-air explosions, and sonic booms

<sup>9</sup> Active sonar, underwater explosions, vessel movements, mine warfare training devices, and unmanned underwater systems

<sup>10</sup> Sources or electromagnetic energy and lasers

<sup>11</sup> Interaction of Navy aircraft, vessels, and equipment with general public

Note: A check indicates stressors analyzed for each resource.

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

### **Overseas Impact Statement**

## Northwest Training and Testing

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

APPENDIX C	AIR QUALITY EXAMPLE CALCULATIONS	C-1
C.1	Surface Operations Emissions	C-1
	C.1.1 Marine Outboard Engines	C-1
	C.1.2 Diesel Engines	C-2
C.2	Air Operations Emissions	C-2
C.3	Ordnance and Munitions Emissions	C-3
C.4	Emissions Estimates Spreadsheets	C-3
C.5	Example Record of Non-Applicability	C-4

# **List of Figures**

Figure C-1: Sample Record of Non-Applicability Memorandum	C-4
Figure C-2: Sample Record of Non-Applicability Form	C-5

# List of Tables

Table C-1: United States Environmental Protection Agency Emission Factors for Outboard EnginesC-	-1
Table C-2: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Under All AlternativesC-	-6
Table C-3: Distribution and Frequency of Training and Testing Activities Under All AlternativesC-	-7
Table C-4: Aircraft Engine Emissions Indices/Factors and SourcesC-1	17
Table C-5: Vessel Emission FactorsC-1	18
Table C-6: Aircraft Training Emissions Under Alternative 1C-1	19
Table C-7: Aircraft Testing Emissions Under Alternative 1C-2	22
Table C-8: Vessel Training Emissions Under Alternative 1C-2	23
Table C-9: Vessel Testing Emissions Under Alternative 1C-2	28
Table C-10: Ordnance Training Emissions Under Alternative 1C-3	34

i

This page intentionally left blank.

# Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

This appendix discusses emission factor development, calculations, and assumptions used in the air quality analyses presented in Section 3.2 (Air Quality) of the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (Supplemental).

### C.1 Surface Operations Emissions

Surface operations are activities associated with vessel movements. Fleet training activities use a variety of marine vessels, including cruisers, destroyers, frigates, carriers, submarines, amphibious vessels, and small boats. Testing activities use a variety of marine vessels, including various testing support vessels, work boats, torpedo recovery vessels, unmanned surface vehicles, and small boats. These vessels use diverse propulsion methods, including marine outboard engines, diesel engines, and gas turbines.

### C.1.1 Marine Outboard Engines

The United States (U.S.) Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) has published emissions factors for air pollutants produced by several types of two-stroke and four-stroke outboard engines. Representative emission factors for two-stroke and four-stroke engines of various horsepower are presented in Table C-1.

# Table C-1: United States Environmental Protection Agency Emission Factors for OutboardEngines

	Engine	Emissions Factor (grams/hp-hr.)								
Туре	Rating (horsepower)	NOx	СО	voc	РМ					
2 Stroko	16–25	4.32	79.32	18.69	0.26					
2-Stroke	50-100	4.32	79.32	15.55	0.22					
A Churcher	16–25	5.82	166.46	4.65	0.06					
4-3110Ke	60–100	5.82	127.94	3.53	0.06					

Notes: CO = carbon monoxide, hp = horsepower, hr. = hour, NOx = nitrogen oxides, VOC = volatile organic compounds, PM = Particulate Matter

Source: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2010, Exhaust Emissions Factors for Non-Road Engine Modeling-Spark Ignition. Report No. NR-010f; Office of Mobile Sources, Assessment and Modeling Division, EPA-420-R-10-019.

Emissions for surface craft using outboard engines were calculated using USEPA AP-42 factors, multiplied by the engine horsepower and hours of operation.

C-1

Where:

*Emissions = annual surface craft emissions* 

*HP* = *horsepower* (*reflective of a particular load factor/engine power setting*)

HR/YR = hours per year

*EF* = air pollutant emission factor for specific engine type

ENG = number of engines per vessel

To obtain the total criteria pollutant emissions for the Proposed Action, emissions were calculated for each training or testing activity, type of surface vessel, and criteria pollutant. These individual estimates of emissions, in units of tons per year, were then summed by criteria pollutant to obtain the aggregate emissions for surface vessel emissions activities.

#### C.1.2 Diesel Engines

Limited data were available for large marine diesel engines. Therefore, USEPA AP-42 emissions factors for industrial reciprocating engines were used to calculate diesel engine emissions. Other sources of vessel emissions factors included data presented in John J. McMullen Associates, as referenced in previous U.S. Department of the Navy (Navy) EIS/OEIS documentation. Diesel was assumed to be the primary fuel to ensure a conservative estimate. Calculation methods similar to those described for marine outboard engines were used to obtain emissions estimates for diesel engines.

Emissions = HP×HR/YR×EF×ENG

Where:

Emissions = annual surface craft emissions HP = horsepower (reflective of a particular load factor/engine power setting) HR/YR = hours per year EF = air pollutant emission factor for specific engine type ENG = number of engines per vessel

Diesel engine emission factors were multiplied by the engine horsepower and annual hours of operation to calculate the pollutant emissions per year.

### C.2 Air Operations Emissions

Fleet training and Naval Air Systems Command testing use various aircraft, including the E/A-18G, P-8, SH-60B, MH-60S, and Lear Jet. Aircraft operations of concern are those that occur from ground level up to 3,000 feet (ft.) above ground level (AGL). The 3,000 ft. AGL altitude was assumed to be the ceiling of the mixing zone (known as the atmospheric mixing height) above which any pollutant generated would not contribute to increased pollutant concentrations at ground level. Pollutants emitted by aircraft above 3,000 ft. AGL are excluded from the analysis of compliance with National Ambient Air Quality Standards. The pollutant emission rate is a function of the aircraft engine's fuel flow rate and efficiency. Emissions for one complete training activity for a particular aircraft are calculated by knowing the specific engine pollutant emission factors for each mode of operation.

For this Supplemental, emission factors for most military engines were obtained from the Navy's Aircraft Environmental Support Office memoranda and the Federal Aviation Administration's Emissions and Dispersion Modeling System model). For those aircraft for which engine data were unavailable, an applicable surrogate was used. Using these data, as well as number of sorties, pollutant emissions for each aircraft were calculated by applying the equation below.

Emissions = T×NxFF×EF×ENG×CF

Where:

Emissions = annual aircraft emissions (pounds [lb.]) (for EF in lb./1,000 gallons [gal.] fuel)

*T* = time at a specified power setting (hours [hr.]/activity).

*N* = *Number of aircraft operations per year for each type of aircraft* 

FF = fuel flow at a specified power setting (gal./hr./engine)

*EF* = pollutant emission factor by engine type and power setting (*lb./1,000* gal. of fuel used)

ENG = number of engines per aircraft

*CF* = *conversion factor* (0.001)

#### C.3 Ordnance and Munitions Emissions

Available emissions factors (AP-42, *Compilation of Air Pollutant Emission Factors*) were used. These factors were then multiplied by the net weight of the explosive and the number of items that were used per year. This calculation provides estimates of annual emissions.

Emissions = EXP/YR×EF×Net Wt

Where:

Emissions = annual ordnance emissions EXP/YR = number of explosives, propellants, and pyrotechnics items used per year EF = air pollutant emissions factor per item Net Wt = net weight of explosive, propellant, or pyrotechnics per ordnance item

### C.4 Emissions Estimates Spreadsheets

The following spreadsheets are examples of the emissions calculations for aircraft, vessels, and ordnance. Tables C-2 through C-10 provide example calculations for the air quality calculations for vessels, aircraft, and ordnance. The examples provided are for baseline training within the NWTT Study Area. These examples are representative of calculation spreadsheets developed for each range or testing area and of the calculations developed for each alternative analyzed in this Supplemental.

#### C.5 Example Record of Non-Applicability

This appendix provides an example of the documentation that will be prepared for each state potentially impacted by the Proposed Action. The example document includes a Record of Non-Applicability memorandum, a standard form to show Clean Air Act conformity, and sample conformity analyses.

	UKANDUM FUK I HE KECUKD
From:	·
Subj:	Conformity Analysis for Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Environmental Impact
Stater	ment/OverseasEnvironmental Impact Statement – Operations in State of Washington Waters
Ref:	(a) 40 CFR, Part 93, Subpart B: Determining Conformity of General Federal Actions to State or
Feder	al Implementation Plans
Encl:	(1) Record of Non-Applicability for Northwest Training and Testing in State of Washington
	Waters
1.	Enclosure (1) is a Record of Non-Applicability for those activities associated with Pacific Fleet
trainin	ng and testing activities that are expected to occur annually in State of Washington waters. The
trainir Propo	ng and testing activities that are expected to occur annually in State of Washington waters. The osed Action would have no new emissions of criteria air pollutants in air quality non-attainment or
trainir Propo maint	ng and testing activities that are expected to occur annually in State of Washington waters. The ised Action would have no new emissions of criteria air pollutants in air quality non-attainment or senance areas.
trainir Propo maint 2.	ng and testing activities that are expected to occur annually in State of Washington waters. The osed Action would have no new emissions of criteria air pollutants in air quality non-attainment or cenance areas. If there are any questions or if additional information is needed, please call at
trainir Propo maint 2.	ng and testing activities that are expected to occur annually in State of Washington waters. The used Action would have no new emissions of criteria air pollutants in air quality non-attainment or senance areas. If there are any questions or if additional information is needed, please call at
trainir Propo maint 2.	ng and testing activities that are expected to occur annually in State of Washington waters. The osed Action would have no new emissions of criteria air pollutants in air quality non-attainment or senance areas. If there are any questions or if additional information is needed, please call at
trainir Propo maint 2.	ng and testing activities that are expected to occur annually in State of Washington waters. The used Action would have no new emissions of criteria air pollutants in air quality non-attainment or tenance areas. If there are any questions or if additional information is needed, please call at 

Figure C-1: Sample Record of Non-Applicability Memorandum

The Proposed Action falls under the Record of Non-Applicability (RONA) category and is											
documented with thi	is RONA.										
Proposed Action: No	orthwest Training and Testing										
Action Proponents:	Commander, Pacific Fleet										
	Naval Sea Systems Command										
	Naval Air Systems Command										
Proposed Action Nar Impact Statement/O	<b>me</b> : <u>Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Supplemental Environmental</u> verseas Environmental Impact Statement (SEIS/OEIS)										
Proposed Action and	d Emissions Summary:										
Washington, Oregon Action would result in attainment or maintee of 40 CFR, Part 93, Su	consists of training and testing activities in the waters of the States of Alaska, , and California, as well as in federal and international waters. The Proposed n no increases in emissions of criteria air pollutants in air quality non- enance areas. Accordingly, the Proposed Action is exempt from the provisions ubpart B.										
Affected Air Basins:	Northwest Washington Air Quality Control Region, Puget Sound Air Quality										
Control Regio											
A	on										
Date RONA prepared	<u>on</u> d:										
Date RONA prepared	on d: <u>Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest</u>										
Date RONA prepared RONA prepared by: Attainment Area Sta	on d: <u>Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest</u> itus and Emissions Evaluation Conclusion:										
Date RONA prepared RONA prepared by: Attainment Area Sta To the best of my kno Applicability Analysis finding that the total this action is below to determination that the	on         d: <u>Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest</u> itus and Emissions Evaluation Conclusion:         owledge and belief, the information contained within this General Conformity         is is correct and accurate. By signing this statement, I am in agreement with the         of all reasonably foreseeable direct and indirect emissions that will result from         he de minimis threshold set forth in 40 CFR 93.153. Accordingly, it is my         his action conforms to the applicable State Implementation Plan (SIP).										
Date RONA prepared RONA prepared by: Attainment Area Sta To the best of my knd Applicability Analysis finding that the total this action is below t determination that the RONA Approval:	on         d: <u>Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest</u> ntus and Emissions Evaluation Conclusion:         owledge and belief, the information contained within this General Conformity         is is correct and accurate. By signing this statement, I am in agreement with the         of all reasonably foreseeable direct and indirect emissions that will result from         he de minimis threshold set forth in 40 CFR 93.153. Accordingly, it is my         his action conforms to the applicable State Implementation Plan (SIP).										
Date RONA prepared RONA prepared by: Attainment Area Sta To the best of my knd Applicability Analysis finding that the total this action is below the determination that the RONA Approval: Signature:	on         d:         Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest         ntus and Emissions Evaluation Conclusion:         owledge and belief, the information contained within this General Conformity         is correct and accurate. By signing this statement, I am in agreement with the         of all reasonably foreseeable direct and indirect emissions that will result from         he de minimis threshold set forth in 40 CFR 93.153. Accordingly, it is my         his action conforms to the applicable State Implementation Plan (SIP).										
Date RONA prepared RONA prepared by: Attainment Area Sta To the best of my kno Applicability Analysis finding that the total this action is below th determination that the RONA Approval: Signature: Name/Rank:	on         d:         Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Northwest         ntus and Emissions Evaluation Conclusion:         owledge and belief, the information contained within this General Conformity         is is correct and accurate. By signing this statement, I am in agreement with the         of all reasonably foreseeable direct and indirect emissions that will result from         he de minimis threshold set forth in 40 CFR 93.153. Accordingly, it is my         his action conforms to the applicable State Implementation Plan (SIP).										

### Figure C-2: Sample Record of Non-Applicability Form

		TRAINING				TESTING			TOTAL					
Case	Source	GHG Emissions (lb	/year)			<b>GHG Emission</b>	ns (lb/year)				<b>GHG</b> Emission	ns (Ib/year)		
		CO <sub>2</sub>	N <sub>2</sub> O	CH₄	CO <sub>2-e</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>	N <sub>2</sub> O	CH₄	CO <sub>2-e</sub>		CO <sub>2</sub>	N <sub>2</sub> O	CH <sub>4</sub>	CO <sub>2-e</sub>
Baseline (2015 NWTT				·				·						
EIS/OEIS)	Aircraft	264,552,544	8,582	7,476	267,370,027	5,537,775	180	157	5,596,752		270,090,318	8,762	7,633	272,966,779
ALT 1 - Pref. LT	Vessels	64,893,806	2,105	1,834	65,584,925	4,762,766	184	77	4,821,481		69,656,572	2,289	1,911	70,406,406
	Total	329,446,350	10,687	9,310	332,954,952	10,300,540	364	233	10,418,233		339,746,890	11,051	9,544	343,373,185
	kilos	149,748,341	4,858	4,232	151,343,160	4,682,064	165	106	4,735,560		154,430,405	5,023	4,338	156,078,720
	teras	0.149748341	4.85789E-06	4.23E-06	0.15134316	0.00468206	1.654E-07	1.06E-07	0.00473556		0.1544304	5.02E-06	4.34E-06	0.15607872
Alt 1	Aircraft	191,413,129	6,210	5,409	193,451,678	4,114,545	133	116	4,158,365		195,527,674	6,343	5,526	197,610,042
	Vessels	79,879,404	2,591	2,257	80,730,119	87,263,425	2,831	2,466	88,192,780		167,142,829	5,422	4,724	168,922,899
	Total	271,292,533	8,801	7,667	274,181,797	91,377,970	2,964	2,582	92,351,145		362,670,502	11,765	10,249	366,532,941
	kilos	123,314,788	4,000	3,485	124,628,089	41,535,441	1,347	1,174	41,977,793		164,850,228	5,348	4,659	166,605,882
	teras	0.123314788	4.00038E-06	3.48E-06	0.124628089	0.04153544	1.347E-06	1.17E-06	0.04197779		0.16485023	5.35E-06	4.66E-06	0.166605882
Alt 2	Aircraft	196,272,965	6.367	5.547	198.363.271	4.325.991	140	122	4.372.063		200.598.956	6.508	5,669	202.735.333
	Vessels	91,366,349	2,964	2,582	92.339.400	91,750,107	2,976	2.593	92,727,245		183,116,456	5,940	5,175	185.066.645
	Total	287,639,313	9,331	8,129	290,702,671	96,076,098	3,117	2,715	97,099,308		383,715,411	12,448	10,844	387,801,978
	kilos	130,745,142	4,241	3,695	132,137,578	43,670,954	1,417	1,234	44,136,049		174,416,096	5,658	4,929	176,273,627
	teras	0.130745142	4.24142E-06	3.69E-06	0.132137578	0.04367095	1.417E-06	1.23E-06	0.04413605		0.1744161	5.66E-06	4.93E-06	0.176273627

### Table C-2: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Under All Alternatives

Range Activity		2015 NWTT E Ongoing Ac	IS/OEIS tivities	Alternative 1			Alternative 2							
	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	HORZ Dist	(%) 3-12	12+	<3,000 FT (%)
TRAINING														(14)
Air Warfare										1				
	275	Chaff	W-237 A and B	126	Chaff	W-237 A and B	126	Chaff	W-237 A and B	1	100%	0%	0%	0%
Air Comhat Maneuver	275	Flares	Olympic Military	574	Flares	Olympic Military	574	Flares	Olympic Military					0.000
Fill Compatimatica ver	270	Tidres	Operations Area	0/7	Thures	Operations Area	0/4	i laica	Operations Area					
	550	·	Total	700		Total	700		Total					
	9.6		W 237	1.6		W 237	9.6		W 237	1.5	0%	0%	100%	0%
Missile Exercise (Air-	2.4	AIM-7/9/120 (15 explosive warheads, 15 NEPM warheads	OPArea - ORAB	0.4	AIM-7/9/120 (5 explosive warheads, 5 NEPM warheads)	OPArea - ORAB	2.4	AIM-7/9/120 (15 explosive warheads, 15 NEPM warheads	OPArea - ORAB					
to-Airj	2.4		OPArea - PSAB	0.4		OPArea - PSAB	2.4		OPArea - PSAB					
	2.4		OPArea - NOI	0.4		OPArea - NOI	2.4		OPArea - NOI					
	2.4		OPArea - PI	0.4		OPArea - PI	2.4		OPArea - PI					
	2.4		OPArea - SOI	0.4		OPArea - SOI	2.4		OPArea - SOI					
	2.4		OPArea - NCAB	0.4		OPArea - NCAB	2.4		OPArea - NCAB					
	24		TOTAL	4		TOTAL	24		TOTAL		ekoarte.	bile centre		
	64		W 237	50		W 237	64		W 237	1.5	0%	0%	100%	50%
Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	16 16 16 16 16 16	Large-caliber rounds (230 explosive, 80 NEPM) Medium-caliber rounds (6.320 explosive, 9,680 NEPM)	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	12.5 12.5 12.5 12.5 12.5 12.5 12.5	Large-caliber rounds (60 explosive, 6,670 NEPM) Medium- caliber rounds (300 explosive, 9,680 NEPM)	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	16 16 16 16 16 16	Large-caliber rounds (230 explosive, 80 NEPM) Medium-caliber rounds (6,320 explosive, 9,680 NEPM)	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL					
2	1.6	8 HE warheads	W 237	1.6	8 HE warheads	W 237	1.6	8 HE warheads	W 237	4	0%	0%	100%	67%
Missile Exercise	0.4		OPArea - ORAB	0.4	Wanteads	OPArea - ORAB	0.4		OPArea - ORAB					
(Surface-to-Air) - ship	0.4		OPArea - PSAB	0.4		OPArea - PSAB	0.4		OPArea - PSAB					
emissions are	0.4		OPArea - NOI	0.4		OPArea - NOI	0.4		OPArea - NOI					
included in Gunnerv	0.4		OPArea - PI	0.4		OPArea - PI	0.4		OPArea - PI					
exercises	0.4		OPArea - SOI	0.4		OPArea - SOI	0.4		OPArea - SOI					
Contraction (Contraction)	0.4		OPArea - NCAB	0.4		OPArea - NCAB	0.4		OPArea - NCAB	1				
	4		TOTAL	4		TOTAL	1		TOTAL					

### Table C-3: Distribution and Frequency of Training and Testing Activities Under All Alternatives

Range Activity		2015 NWTT E Ongoing Act	IS/OEIS tivities	Alternative 1			Alternative 2							
	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	HORZ Dist 0-3	(%) 3-12	12+	<3,000 FT (%)
Surface Warfare														
Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Ship	50 30 30 30 30 30 200	Small-caliber rounds (121,200 NEPM) Medium-caliber rounds (48 explosive, 33,492 NEPM) Large-caliber rounds (160 explosive, 2,720 NEPM)	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	50 30 30 30 30 30 200	sman-canber rounds (121,000 NEPM) Medium- caliber rounds (120 explosive, 17,000 NEPM) Large-caliber rounds (112 explosive, 2,720 NEPM)	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB	50 30 30 30 30 30 200	Small-caliber rounds (121,000 NEPM) Medium-caliber rounds (120 explosive, 17,000 NEPM) Large-caliber rounds (112 explosive, 2,720 NEPM)	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Boat (not included in DOPAA)	0	None	Crescent Harbor	0	1500 sc blanks	Crescent Harbor	0	1500 sc blanks	Crescent Harbor	٥	0%	0%	100%	100%
Missile Exercise (Air –to-Surface)	4	AGM-84 (4 explosive missiles)	W-237	2	AGM-84 (2 explosive missiles)	W-237	4	AGM-84 (4 explosive missiles)	W-237	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
HARM Exercise (included in Electronic Warfare Operations (EW OPS))	0	All non-firing Captive Air Training Missiles	W-237	0	All non-firing Captive Air Training Missiles	W-237	O	All non-firing Captive Air Training Missiles	W-237	2	0%	0%	100%	0%
Bombing Exercise (Air-to-Surface)	7.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 30	BDU-45, MK-84 bombs (10 explosive, 110 NEPM)	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	7.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 30	BDU-45 series bombs (84 NEPM) MK-80 series bombs (2 explosive)	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	7.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 30	BDU-45 series bombs (84 NEPM) MK-80 series bombs (2 explosive)	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	1	0%	0%	100%	90%
Sinking Exercise	0	24 HE Bombs, 1,400 HE Lg- caliber rounds, 22 HE Missiles, 2 MK-48 HE	W 237	0	None	W 237	0	None	W 237	8	0%	0%	100%	10%
conducted	0 0 0 0 0 0		OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	0 0 0 0 0 0		OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	0 0 0 0 0 0		OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL					

March	2019
-------	------

Range Activity	2015 NWTT EIS/OEIS Ongoing Activities				Alternative 1			Alternative 2						
	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	HORZ Dist 0-3	(%) 3-12	12+	<3,000 FT (%)
Anti-Submarine Warfare														
	25	None	OPArea - ORAB	25	None	OPArea - ORAB	25	None	OPArea - ORAB	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
Tracking Exercise – Submarine (assumed no air emissions - nuclear vessels)	15 15 15 15 15 100		OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	15 15 15 15 15 15 100		OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	15 15 15 15 15 15 100		OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL					
Tracking Exercise- Ship	16.25 9.75 9.75 9.75 9.75 9.75 65	None	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	16.25 9.75 9.75 9.75 9.75 9.75 9.75 65	None	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	16.25 9.75 9.75 9.75 9.75 9.75 9.75 65	None	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
Tracking Exercise- Maritime Patrol Aircraft (MPA) includes Maritime	81	896 DICASS, 720 SSQ-125 MAC sonobuoys, 7,320 passive buoys	OPArea - ORAB	100	896 DICASS, 350 MAC buoys, 50 MAC HDC buoys, 7,650 passive buoys	OPArea - ORAB	100	896 DICASS, 350 MAC buoys, 50 MAC HDC buoys, 7,650 passive buoys	OPArea - ORAB	6	0%	0%	100%	75%
Patrol Aircraft (DICASS), Maritime Patrol Aircraft (MAC), Maritime Patrol Aircraft (HDC)	48.6 48.6 48.6 48.6 48.6 324		OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	60 60 60 60 60 400		OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	60 60 60 60 60 400		OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL					
Tracking Exercise – Helicopter	1.6 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 4	None	W-237 OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	0.8 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 2	None	W-237 OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - NOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	16 4 4 4 4 4 4 40	None	W-237 OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
Electronic Warfare						1 Martin Lance			and the state					
Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) Aircraft and Ship Combined	1,055 1,055 527.5 527.5 527.5 527.5 527.5 527.5 527.5	None	W-237 Olympic MOAs OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB	1,044 1,044 522 522 522 522 522 522 522 522	None	W-237 Olympic MOAs OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - NOI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB	1,055 1,055 527.5 527.5 527.5 527.5 527.5 527.5 527.5	None	W-237 Olympic MOAs OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - NOI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB	1	40% 60% 0%	40% 0% 0%	20% 40% 100%	0% 0% 0%

		i ang												
Range Activity		2015 NWTT E	IS/OEIS					816	i 0					
	Annual	Ongoing Ac	uviues	Annual	Alterna		Annual	Annual	ive z	HOR7 Dict (%)				<2 000 ET
	events	Ordnance	Location	events	Ordnance	Location	events	Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	0-3	3-12	12+	(%)
Mine Warfare														
	0.25		NS Everett	0.25		NS Everett	0.25		NS Everett	24	100%	0%	0%	100%
	0.25		NB Kitsap-Bangor	0.25		NB Kitsap-Bangor	0.25		NB Kitsap-Bangor					
Civilian Port Derense	0.25		Indian Island	0.25		Indian Island	0.25		Indian Island					
- Homeland Security	0.25		NB Kitsap-Bremenon	0.25	2 000	NB Kitsap-Bremerton	0.25	0.000	NB Kitsap-Bremerton					
Protection Exercises	1		TOTAL	1	3,000 small-caliber rounds (all	TOTAL	1	3,000 small-caliber rounds (all	TOTAL					
		Thursday Calls			blanks)			blanks)						
Mine Neutralization –		charges 18			charges 19			charges 19		2	109/	109/	201/	100%
Explosive Ordnance	6	I MNT	Crescent Harbor	6	I MNT	Crescent Harbor	6	I MNT	Crescent Harbor	2	4070	4070	2070	100%
Disposal (EOD) - no	6		Hood Canal	6		Hood Canal	6		Hood Canal	2	60%	0%	40%	100%
aircraft	12		Total	12		Total	12		Total	10770	SCHOOL SEC.	1.202	1962642	100000000
	2	N/A	OPArea - ORAB	0	N/A	OPArea - ORAB	0	N/A	OPAREA					23
Submarine Mine	1.2	100000000	OPArea - PSAB	0		OPArea - PSAB	0	1000 Marca	OPArea - PSAB					
Exercise	1.2		OPArea - NOI	0		OPArea - NOI	0		OPArea - NOI	0	0%	0%	100%	100%
(discontinued and not	1.2		OPArea - PI	0		OPArea - PI	0		OPArea - PI	KALE -				(Children Talastan))
considered in the	1.2		OPArea - SOI	0		OPArea - SOI	0		OPArea - SOI					
SEIS)	1.2		OPArea - NCAB	0		OPArea - NCAB	0		OPArea - NCAB					
	8		TOTAL	0		TOTAL	0		TOTAL					
Naval Special Warfare		r				r	-	-		r				
Extraction-	35	None	Crescent Harbor	0	None	Crescent Harbor	0	None	Crescent Harbor	5	100%	0%	0%	100%
Personnel Insertion/														
Extraction – Non- Submersible - <mark>no</mark> aircraft	10	None	Crescent Harbor	6	None	Crescent Harbor	10	None	Crescent Harbor	8	100%	0%	0%	100%
Other						-			10 V					
Maritime Security	54	1,320 small caliber rounds (all blanks)	NB Kitsap-Bangor	42	Small-caliber side arms, 7.62-cal, 50- cal, and 25- mm weapons (all blanks)	NB Kitsap-Bangor	54	Small-caliber side arms, 7.62- cal, 50-cal, and 25-mm weapons (all blanks)	NB Kitsap-Bangor	10	100%	0%	0%	100%
Protection System	54		Hood Canal OPAREAs	42	1320	Hood Canal OPAREAs	54	1320	Hood Canal OPAREAs					
11-3)	10		Dabob Bay	10	rounds	Dabob Bay	10	rounds	Dabob Bay					
	54		Puget Sound	42	0.0.000000	Puget Sound	54		Puget Sound					
	54		Strait of Juan de Fuca	42		Strait of Juan de Fuca	54		Strait of Juan de Fuca					
	226		TOTAL	178		TOTAL	226		TOTAL					
11

11

22

None

11

11

22

Bangor

Pierside: NB Kitsap

Bremerton

Total

None

Submarine Sonar

Maintenance (No air

quality impact)

Range Activity		2015 NWTT E Ongoing Ac	IS/OEIS tivities		Alterna	ttive 1		Alternat	ive 2					
	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	HORZ Dist 0-3	(%) 3-12	12+	<3,000 FT (%)
Maritime Security Operations (Non-TPS)	20	None	NB Kitsap-Bangor	14	Small-caliber side arms, 7.62-cal, 50- cal, and 25- mm weapons (all blanks)	NB Kitsap-Bangor	20	Small-caliber side arms, 7.62- cal, 50-cal, and 25-mm weapons (all blanks)	NB Kitsap-Bangor	8	100%	0%	0%	100%
	20 20		NB Kitsap @ Bremerton NB Everett	14 14		NB Kitsap @ Bremerton NB Everett	20 20		NB Kitsap @ Bremerton					
	60		TOTAL	42		TOTAL	60		TOTAL					
Maritime Security Operations - Certification	2	None	Whidbey Island	2	small arms	Whidbey Island	2	small arms	Whidbey Island	100	100%	0%	0%	100%
Precision Anchoring	5 5 10	None         Whidbey Island         2         sm.           NS Everett         20         Indian Island         20           None         TOTAL         40         1           NS Everett         0.33         0.33           NB Kitsap-Bremerton         0.33         0.33				NS Everett Indian Island TOTAI	20 20 40	None	NS Everett Indian Island TOTAI	1	100%	0%	0%	100%
Small Boat Attack	0.33 0.33 0.33 1	3,000 small-caliber rounds (all blanks)	None         Whidbey Island         2         small arms         Whidbey Island         2         small arms           None         NS Everett Indian Island         20 20         NS Everett Indian Island         20 20         NS Everett Indian Island         20 20         NS Everett Indian Island         20 20         None         TOTAL         40         None           None         TOTAL         40         None         TOTAL         40         None           NS Everett NB Kitsap-Bangor         0.33 0.33         NB Kitsap-Bangor         0.33 0.33         NB Kitsap-Bangor         0.33 0.33         3,000           all-callber unds (all blanks)         TOTAL         1         small-callber rounds (all blanks)         TOTAL         1         small-callber rounds (all blanks)         3,000         3,000				NS Everett NB Kitsap-Bangor NB Kitsap-Bremerton TOTAL	4	100%	0%	0%	100%		
Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance (ISR)	50 30 30 30 30 30 200	200 passive sonobuoys	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	50 30 30 30 30 30 200	200 passive sonobuoys	OPArea - ORAB OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	50 30 30 30 30 30 200	200 passive sonobuoys	OPAREA OPArea - PSAB OPArea - NOI OPArea - PI OPArea - SOI OPArea - NCAB TOTAL	6	0%	0%	100%	60%
Search and Rescue	25 25 25 25 25 100	None	NASWI Survival Area Crescent Harbor Lake Hancock Olympic MOA Total	20 20 20 20 80	None	NASWI Survival Area Crescent Harbor Lake Hancock Olympic MOA Total	25 25 25 25 100	None	NASWI Survival Area Crescent Harbor Lake Hancock Olympic MOA Total	2.	5 40% 5 60%	40% 0%	20% 40%	100% 100%
Surface Ship Sonar Maintenance	6.5 6.5 13	None	Pierside: NB Kitsap Bremerton Pierside: NS Everett Total	12.5 12.5 25	None	Pierside: Naval Base Kitsap at Bremerton Pierside: Naval Station Everett Total	12.5 12.5 25	None	Pierside: Naval Base Kitsap at Bremerton Pierside: Naval Station Everett Total	6	4 100%			100
			Pierside: NB Kitsap			Pierside: NB Kitsap			Pierside: NB Kitsap					100

100

1

Bangor

Pierside: NB Kitsap

Bremerton

Total

11

11

22

None

Bangor

Pierside: NB Kitsap

Bremerton

Total

Range Activity		2015 NWTT E Ongoing Ad	EIS/OEIS ctivities		Alterna	ntive 1		Alterna	tive 2					
	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	HORZ Dist 0-3	(%) 3-12	12+	<3,000 F1 (%)
TESTING														
Anti-Submarine Warfare														
Anti-Submarine Warfare Testing	13	16 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	4	8 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	4	8 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	6	100%	0%	0%	100%
-				12		OPArea - ORAB	12		OPArea - ORAB	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0		OPArea - PSAB	0		OPArea - PSAB	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
				8		OPArea - NOI	8		OPArea - NOI	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
				4		OPArea - PI	4		OPArea - PI	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
				8		OPArea - SUI	8		OPArea - SOI	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
				8		UPArea - NCAB	8		UPArea - NCAB	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
				40		Offshore	40		TOTAL -NWTT Offshore					
		1. ( . (		44		TOTAL	44		TOTAL					
At-Sea Sonar Testing	U	None	Quinault Range* Site	2	None	Quinault Range* Site	2	None	Quinault Range* Site	4	100%	0%	0%	75%
				0.9		OPArea - ORAB	1.5		OPArea - ORAB	4	50%	50%	100%	100%
				0		OPArea - PSAB	1		OPArea - PSAB	4	50%	50%	100%	100%
				0.0		OPArea - PI	05		OPArea - PI	4	50%	50%	100%	100%
				0.0		OPArea - SOL	1		OPArea - SOI	4	50%	50%	100%	100%
				0.6		OPArea - NCAB	1		OPArea - NCAB	4	50%	50%	100%	100%
				3		TOTAL -NWTT Offshore	5		TOTAL -NWTT Offshore					
	0	None	DBRC Range Site	7	24 NEPM torpedoes	DBRC Range Site	9	32 NEPM torpedoes	DBRC Range Site	4	100%	0%	0%	75%
Countermeasure Test	14	123 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	14	12 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	14	12 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	3	0%	0%	100%	75%
	37	21 NEPM torpedoes	DBRC Range Site	15	None	DBRC Range Site	15	None	DBRC Range Site	3	100%	0%	0%	75%
	37	None	Keyport Range Sites	14	None	Keyport Range Sites	14	None	Keyport Range Sites	3	100%	0%	0%	75%
	4	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	1	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	1	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5					
	92		Total	44		Total	44	9.	Total					
Torpedo Non- Explosive Testing	23	119 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	18	146 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	18	146 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
				1.2		OPArea - ORAB	1.2		OPArea - ORAB		0%	0%	100%	75%
				0		OPArea - PSAB	0		OPArea - PSAB	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
				0.8		OPArea - NOI	0.8		OPArea - NOI	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
				0.4		OPArea - PI	0.4		OPArea - PI	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
				0.8		OPArea - SOI	0.8		OPArea - SOI	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
				0.0		ODArea NCAD	0.0		ODArea NCAD	4	0%	0%	100%	76.07
				0.8 4		TOTAL -NWTT	0.8 4		TOTAL -NWTT Offshore	4	U%	U%	100%	/5%
	41	189 NEPM torpedoes	DBRC Range Site	61	358 NEPM torpedoes	DBRC Range Site	61	358 NEPM torpedoes	DBRC Range Site	1.5	100%	0%	0%	75%

				C										
Range Activity		2015 NWTT E	IS/OEIS tivities		Alterna	tive 1		Alternat	ive ?					
	Annual	Annual	livities	Annual	Annual		Annual	Annual		1	HOR7 Dist	(%)		<3.000 FT
	events	Ordnance	Location	events	Ordnance	Location	events	Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	0-3	3-12	12+	(%)
Torpedo (Explosive) Testing	0.75	6 HE torpedoes 6 NEPM torpedoes	OPArea - ORAB	0.8	8 HE Torpedoes	OPArea - ORAB	1	8 HE Torpedoes	OPArea - ORAB	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
	0.45		OPArea - PSAB	0	16 NE Torpedoes	OPArea - PSAB	0	16 NE Torpedoes	OPArea - PSAB	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
	0.45		OPArea - NOI	0.8	Torpeddes	OPArea - NOI	0.8	Torpeddes	OPArea - NOI	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
	0.45		OPArea - PI	0.4		OPArea - PI	0.4		OPArea - PI	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
	0.45		OPArea - SOI	0.8		OPArea - SOI	0.8		OPArea - SOI	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
	0.45		OPArea - NCAB	0.8		OPArea - NCAB	0.8		OPArea - NCAB	4	0%	0%	100%	75%
	3		TOTAL	0.8 OPArea - NGAB U. 4 TOTAL 4			4		TOTAL					
Mine Warfare									2					
Mine Detection and Classification Testing	0	None	Quinault Range* Site	1	None	Quinault Range* Site	1	None	Quinault Range* Site	12	0%	0%	100%	100%
	27	None	DBRC Range Sites	25	None	DBRC Range Sites	25	None	DBRC Range Sites	12	100%	0%	0%	100%
	27		Keyport Range Sites	17	None	Keyport Range Sites	17	None	Keyport Range Sites	16	100%	0%	0%	100%
	54		Total	43		Total	43		Total					
Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization	0	None	Quinault Range* Site	1.5	Mine HE – 5 Mine Neutralizer – 36	Quinault Range* Site	1.5	Mine HE – 5 Mine Neutralizer – 36	Quinault Range* Site	40	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0.45	1000	OPArea - ORAB	0.45		OPArea - ORAB	40	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0		OPArea - PSAB	0		OPArea - PSAB	40	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0.3		OPArea - NOI	0.3		OPArea - NOI	40	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0.15		OPArea - PI	0.15		OPArea - PI	40	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0.3		OPArea - SOI	0.3		OPArea - SOI	40	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0.3		OPArea - NCAB	0.3		OPArea - NCAB	40	0%	0%	100%	100%
				1.5		Offshore	1.5		TOTAL -NWTT Offshore					
	۵	None	DBRC Range Sites	03	None	DBRC Range Sites	0.3	None	DBRC Range Sites	20	100%	0%	0%	100%
	0	10000	Keyport Range Sites	0.3		Keyport Range Sites	0.3	10000	Keyport Range Sites	20	100%	0%	0%	100%
				0.3		Carr Inlet	0.3		Carr Inlet	20	100%	0%	0%	100%
				0.3		Crescent Harbor EOD Range	0.3		Crescent Harbor EOD Range	20	100%	0%	0%	100%
				0.3	).3 Hood Canal E Range Naval Magazine		0.3		Hood Canal EOD Range	20	100%	0%	0%	100%
				0.3		Naval Magazine Indian Island	0.3		Naval Magazine Indian Island	20	100%	0%	0%	100%
				0.3		NS Everett	0.3		NS Everett	20	100%	0%	0%	100%
				0.3		NB Kitsap-Bremerton	0.3		NB Kitsap-Bremerton	20	100%	0%	0%	100%
	n		Total	0.3		Total - Inland	0.3		Navy 3 OPAREA Total - Inland	20	100%	0%	0%	100%

Range Activity		2015 NWTT I Ongoing Ad	EIS/OEIS ctivities		Alterna	tive 1		Alternat	ive 2					
	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	HORZ Dist 0-3	(%) 3-12	12+	<3,000 FT (%)
Surface Warfare														
Kinetic Energy Weapon Testing (Railgun)				1.2	Kinetic energy HE – 80	OPArea - ORAB	1.2	Kinetic energy HE – 80	OPArea - ORAB	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0		OPArea - PSAB	0		OPArea - PSAB	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0.8		OPArea - NOI	0.8		OPArea - NOI	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0.4		OPArea - PI	0.4		OPArea - PI	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0.8		OPArea - SOI	0.8		OPArea - SOI	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
				U.8 4		OPArea - NCAB	0.8		OPArea - NCAB	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
				4		TOTAL	4		TOTAL					
Unmanned Systems														
Unmanned Underwater Vehicle Testing	140	67 NEPM torpedoes	Keyport Range Site	58	24 NEPM torpedoes	Keyport Range Site	58	36 NEPM torpedoes	Keyport Range Site	1	100%	0%	0%	100%
	141	67 NEPM torpedoes	DBRC Range Site	322	24 NEPM torpedoes	DBRC Range Site	322	36 NEPM torpedoes	DBRC Range Site	1	100%	0%	0%	100%
	0	None	Quinault Range* Site	38	24 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	39	24 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	1	0%	0%	100%	100%
Unmanned Aerial System Testing	20	None	Quinault Range* Site	2	None	Quinault Range* Site	2	None	Quinault Range* Site	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
				6.7	None	R6701	6.7	None	R6701	2	100%	0%	0%	100%
				6.7	None	Keyport Range Site	6.7	None	Keyport Range Site	2	100%	0%	0%	100%
	20	None	DBRC Range Sites	6.7	None	DBRC Range Sites	6.7	None	DBRC Range Sites	2	100%	0%	0%	100%
Unmanned Surface Vehicle System Testing	20	None	Quinault Range* Site	4	None	Quinault Range* Site	4	None	Quinault Range* Site	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
	10	None	Keyport Range Site	10	None	Keyport Range Site	10	None	Keyport Range Site	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
	10	None	DBRC Range Sites	10	None	DBRC Range Sites	10	None	DBRC Range Sites	8	0%	0%	100%	100%
Vessel Evaluation														
Propulsion Testing				3	None	OPArea - ORAB	3.9	None	OPArea - ORAB	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0		OPArea - PSAB	0		OPArea - PSAB	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
				2		OPArea - NOI	2.6		OPArea - NOI	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
				1		OPArea - PI	1.3		OPArea - PI	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
				2		OPArea - SOI	2.6		OPArea - SOI	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
				2		OPArea - NCAB	2.6		OPArea - NCAB	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
				10		TOTAL	13		TOTAL					

Range Activity		2015 NWTT I Ongoing Ac	EIS/OEIS ctivities		Alterna	ttive 1		Alterna	tive 2					
	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	Annual events	Annual Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	HORZ Dist 0-3	(%) 3-12	12+	<3,000 FT (%)
Undersea Warfare Testing	0	None	Quinault Range* Site	4	23-55 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	7	78 NEPM torpedoes	Quinault Range* Site	8	33%	33%	33%	100%
				2.4	None	OPArea - ORAB	3.3	None	OPArea - ORAB	8	33%	33%	33%	100%
				0		OPArea - PSAB	0	A. 2000. CO. 1. A.	OPArea - PSAB	8	33%	33%	33%	100%
				1.6		OPArea - NOI	2.2		OPArea - NOI	8	33%	33%	33%	100%
				0.8		OPArea - PI	1.1		OPArea - PI	8	33%	33%	33%	100%
				1.6		OPArea - SOI	2.2		OPArea - SOI	8	33%	33%	33%	100%
				1.6		OPArea - NCAB	2.2		OPArea - NCAB	8	33%	33%	33%	100%
				8		TOTAL -NWTT Offshore	11		TOTAL -NWTT Offshore			(Apple 1997)		
Vessel Signature	0	None	DBRC Range Sites	1	None	DBRC Range Sites	1	None	DBRC Range Sites	2	100%	0%	0%	100%
Evaluation	43	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	37	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	48	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	2	100%	0%	0%	100%
Other Testing														
Cold Water Support	20		Quinault Range* Site	0		Quinault Range* Site	0		Quinault Range* Site	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
	32.5	None	DBRC Range Sites	1	None	DBRC Range Sites	2	None	DBRC Range Sites	2	100%	0%	0%	100%
	32.5	None	Keyport Range Sites	3	None	Keyport Range Sites	3	None	Keyport Range Sites	2	100%	0%	0%	100%
	65		Total	4		Total	5		Total	0.85				
	1	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	1	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	1	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	8	100%	0%	0%	100%
Post-Refit Sea Trial	32	None	DBRC Range Sites	30	None	DBRC Range Sites	39	None	DBRC Range Sites	No Air qu	uality impact			
Radar and Other System Testing	0	None	Quinault Range* Site	0	None	Quinault Range* Site	0	None	Quinault Range* Site	0	0%	0%	100%	100%
				16.2	None	OPArea - ORAB	16.2	None	OPArea - ORAB	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
				0		OPArea - PSAB	0		OPArea - PSAB	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
				10.8		OPArea - NOI	10.8		OPArea - NOI	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
				5.4		OPArea - PI	5.4		OPArea - PI	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
				10.8		OPArea - SOI	10.8		OPArea - SOI	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
				10.8		OPArea - NCAB	10.8		OPArea - NCAB	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
				54		TOTAL	54		TOTAL					

**Range Activity** 

Acoustic and Oceanographic

Non Acoustic

**Component Testing** 

Semi-Stationary

Simulant Testing

Acoustic Component

Testing

Non-Acoustic Component Testing

above)

(accounted for in the

Equipment Testing

Research

Annual events

0

0 0

5

37 37 74

88

88 176 2

0

15

15

15

15

60

4

0

None

None

NB Kitsap-Bangor

Indian Island

NB Kitsap-Bremerton

TOTAL

SEAFAC Restricted

Areas 1-5

NB Kitsap Bangor

30.0

5.0

5.0

45

13

0

None

None

2015 NWT Ongoing	T EIS/OEIS Activities		Alterna	itive 1		Alterna	tive 2					
Annual	Location	Annual	Annual	Location	Annual	Annual	Leastion		HORZ Dist	(%)		<3,000 FT
Ordnance	Location	events	Ordnance	Location	events	Ordnance	Location	HR/OP	0-3	3-12	12+	(%)
None	Keyport Range Sites	1.5	None	Keyport Range Sites	1.5	None	Keyport Range Sites	28	100%	0%	0%	100%
None	DBRC Range Sites	15	None	DBRC Range Sites	15		DBRC Range Sites	28	100%	0%	0%	100%
None	Quinault Range* Site	1	None	Quinault Range* Site	1.0	None	Quinault Range* Site	28	0%	0%	100%	100%
None	Quinault Range* Site	6	None	Quinault Range* Site	6	None	Quinault Range* Site	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
None	canaan Kange One		None			None		~	070	070	10070	10070
		0.3	None	OPArea - ORAB	0.6	None	OPArea - ORAB	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
		0		OPArea - PSAB	0		OPArea - PSAB	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
		0.2		OPArea - NOI	0.4		OPArea - NOI	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
		0.1		OPArea - PI	0.2		OPArea - PI	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
		0.2		OPArea - SOI	0.4		OPArea - SOI	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
		0.2		OPArea - NCAB	0.4		OPArea - NCAB	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
		1		TOTAL -NWTT Offshore	2		TOTAL -NWTT Offshore					
	NB Kitsap-Bangor	13		NB Kitsap-Bangor	13		NB Kitsap-Bangor	1	100%	0%	0%	100%
None	DBRC Range Sites	46	None	DBRC Range Sites	46	None	DBRC Range Sites	1	100%	0%	0%	100%
	Keyport Range Sites	16		Keyport Range Sites	16		Keyport Range Sites	î.	100%	0%	0%	100%
	Total	82		Total	83		Total	-	100/1	0/1	0,1	100/1
None	DBRC Range Sites	60	None	DBRC Range Sites	60	None	DBRC Range Sites	1	100%	0%	0%	100%
None	Keyport Range Sites	60	None	Keyport Range Sites	60	None	Keyport Range Sites	1	100%	۵%	0%	100%
	Total	120		Total	120		Total					
None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	3	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	3	None	SEAFAC Restricted Areas 1-5	1	100%	0%	0%	100%
None	Quinault Range* Site	0	None	Quinault Range* Site	0	None	Quinault Range* Site	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
		15	None	OPArea - ORAB	15	None	OPArea - ORAB	2	0%	0%	100%	100%
		0		OPArea - PSAB	0		OPArea - PSAB	6	0%	0%	100%	100%
		10		OPArea - NOI	10		OPArea - NOI	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
		5		OPArea - PI	5		OPArea - PI	5	0%	0%	100%	100%
		10		OPArea - SOI	10		OPArea - SOI	З	0%	0%	100%	100%
		10		OPArea - NCAB	10		OPArea - NCAB	3	0%	0%	100%	100%
		50		TOTAL	50		TOTAL		11=37.4			
None	NS Everett	5.0	None	NS Everett	5.0	None	NS Everett	1	100%	0%	0%	100%
689659630-543	I INFORMATION AND INCOMEND	1000000	NO STATES OF A	2014263-0204-0120-0020-0020-0020-0020-0020-0020	1 1000008	643355294552945557		(387)	1.00A8A8205	1210/076	12/2017	2010/2015/224-04

NB Kitsap-Bangor

Indian Island

NB Kitsap-Bremerton

TOTAL - Inland

SEAFAC Restricted

Areas 1-5

NB Kitsap Bangor

1

1

1

8

12

100%

100%

100%

100%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

NB Kitsap-Bangor

Indian Island

NB Kitsap-Bremerton

TOTAL -Inland

SEAFAC Restricted

Areas 1-5

NB Kitsap Bangor

30.0

5.0

5.0

45

18

0

None

General in	formation					Emission I	ndices, lb/	1,000 lb fu	el			Emissions	Factors (lb	/hr)			References
Aircraft	Engine Model	Engines (#)	Fuel Flow (Ib/hr) /Engine	Fuel Flow (gal/hr)	Mode	со	NOx	нс	VOC	SOx	PM	со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM	Source of Emissions Indices Information
C-130 F/R/T	T56-A-16 Turboprop	4	2068	1182	Intermediate Military	2.51	11.19	na	0.28	2.06	1.22	20.76	92.56	2.32	17.04	10.09	USAF 2003 Draft Mobile AEI Guide Updated
E-2C	T56-A-425, - 427	2	1100	314	circle	2.16	8.06	0.49	0.56	2.06	3.97	4.75	17.73	1.24	4.53	<mark>8.73</mark>	AESO Memorandum Report No. 9943C, February 2010.
EA-18G	F414-GE-400	2	5169	1477	circle	0.72	14.75	0.12	0.14	2.06	6.56	7.44	152.49	1.43	21.30	67.82	AESO Memorandum Report No. 9933, Revision D, March 2011.
EA-6B	J52-P-408A	2	3195	913	circle	7.99	5.71	1.09	1.25	2.06	12.12	51.06	36.49	8.01	13.16	77.45	AESO Memorandum Report No. 9941, Revision B, December 2009.
F-15	F100-PW-220	2	9679	2765	military	0.86	29.32	na	1.79	2.06	1.33	16.65	567.58	34.65	39.88	25.75	USAF 2003 Draft Mobile AEI Guide Updated
FA-18E/F	F414-GE-400	2	5169	1477	circle	0.72	14.75	0.12	0.14	2.06	6.56	7.44	152.49	1.43	21.30	67.82	AESO Memorandum Report No. 9933, Revision D, March 2011.
Learjet	TFE731-2-2B	2	532	152		22.38	5.90	4.26	4.90	2.06	1.27	23.81	6.28	5.21	2.19	1.35	USAF Institute for Environment, Safety and Occupational Health Risk Analysis, October 2002.
P-3C	T56-A-14	4	1200	686	ASUW	1.82	8.43	0.41	0.47	2.06	3.97	8.74	40.46	2.26	9.89	19.06	AESO Memorandum Report No. 9948, Revision C, March 2010.
P-8 MMA	Boeing 737- 800 Series CFM56-7B26	2	1631	466	climbout	1.24	9.26	0.28	0.32	2.06	0.56	4.05	30.21	1.05	6.72	1.83	ICAO, 2007, Cited in DoN 2008 (EIS for Introduction of the P-8A).
S-3B	TF34-GE-400	2	1145	327		14.10	4.07	1.86	2.14	2.06	3.62	32.29	9.32	4.90	4.72	8.29	AESO Memorandum Report No. 9915A, March 2000.
H-60	T700-GE-401C	2	634	181	circle	5.66	6.56	0.55	0.63	2.06	4.20	7.18	8.32	0.80	2.61	5.33	AESO Memorandum Report No. 9953, January 2014.

### Table C-4: Aircraft Engine Emissions Indices/Factors and Sources

### **Table C-5: Vessel Emission Factors**

		v	ESSEL SPE	CIFICA	rions				VESSEL O	PERATIC	DNAL PAR	AMETERS	E	MISSION	S FACTO	RS (LB/H	R)		
Vessel		Propulsion	Outpu t (HP)	No.	Max Power (HP)	Generator	No.	Speed	Load	Ор НР	Gen No.	Gen (kW)	со	NOx	нс	SOx	PM10	PM2.5	Fuel Consumption at Speed (gal/hr)
Cruiser	CG-3	GE LM 2500	21,500	4	86,000			12	12.2%	10,492	2	2@1625kW ea	61.51	79.58	4.32	77.63	2.79	2.79	1,339
Destroyer	DDG-3	GE LM 2500	21,500	4	86,000			12	4.9%		2	2@1300kW ea	60.16	114.52	4.01	88.53	3.64	3.640	1640.65
Frigate	FFG-3	GE LM 2500	21,500	2	43,000			12	4.8%	2,064	2	650	120	78.11	11.64	16.08	4.30	4.30	203
Torpedo Retrieval Boat	TRB-3							12	90%		2	1@ 38kW	6.47	56.22	1.55	7.40	1.18	1.18	3.00
	AOE-2							15	50%		2	NA	109.76	311.31	10.60	119.99	10.41	10.41	1630.37
USCG Cutter WHEC715, 378 feet - Hamilton Class	USCG	Fairbanks Morse T88-1-8, 3,600 hp		2		GM 8-645, 550 kW	2	10	40%		2 Diesels	1@ 358kW	5.74	57.91	0.88	11.55	0.21	0.21	79
Amphibious Assault Ship - Tarawa	LHA-1	Steam Combustion Engineering		3		NA - No separate emissions	ο	12	30%		2	NA	7.96	47.09	5.67	133.29	28.11	28.11	2226.13
Landing Helicopter Dock	LHD-2	Two marine gas turbines			70,000			12	30%		2	NA	8.08	47.83	5.77	135.50	28.58	28.58	2226.13
Amphibious Transport Dock	LPD-2	turbocharged marine Colt- Pielstick Diesels			41,600			12	35%		2	NA	3.48	21.00	2.58	60.82	12.85	12.85	756.25
	MCM												25.62	30.81	6.09	5.13	0.56	0.56	33.00
	CVN												0.68	9.23	0.17	1.09	0.08	0.08	148.50
Landing Craft Air Cushion	LCAC	Avco Lycoming TF-40B 3,955 hp each		4	15,820	APU T-62-T-40- 7 Sunstrand 60 kW each	2	35	80%	12,656	2	10	25.41	55.32	0.72	43.30	3.89	3.77	676
Landing Craft Utility	LCU	GM Detroit, V12-71N 460bhp		2	92	3-71 GM Detroit, 40 kW	2	10	2,000 rpm (97%)	89	2	7	36.21	44.95	0.52	3.11	1.57	1.52	259
	AAV-2	400 hp						6	2,400		1	NA	0.76	6.22	0.82	1.25	0.26	0.25	67
Advanced Amphibious Assault Vehicle	AAAV	MTU MT 883 Ka-523 2,016 kW, 2,740 hp, 3,300 rpm		1	2,740	NA - No separate emissions	0	20	TBD		1	NA						0.00	66
	PC-2	3,350 hp each						12	30% 666 rpm		2	11.6 gph (95%)	17.21	38.14	2.94	8.23	0.92	0.89	8
	MK V-2	2,285 hp						12	30%		2	10 kW	3.86	29.49	0.99	4.73	0.40	0.39	14
	RIB-4							25	2,300		2	NA	0.34	9.14	0.06	1.44	0.15	0.15	14.00
	CRRC-5							12-18	4,500		1	NA		0.15	12.90			0.00	3
	AE-2							10	95% 1,650 rpm		2	NA	20.17	20.93	0.99	5.97	1.57	1.57	
	BW-3							15	3,500		2	NA		0.26	26.30			0.00	
Source: HSST, 03/28/2017																			

Notes:

AOE-1 assumed 2 boilers operating and heavy displacement.
 AOE-1 assumed 2 boilers operating and heavy displacement.
 AOE, LHA, LHD, and LPD class ships - Steam ship emissions are calculated based on ship's fuel consumption.
 Steam ship emission factors were calculated using U.S. Environmental Protection Agency AP-42 Steam Ship Emission Factors for Distillate Oil.
 All SO<sub>x</sub> emission factors were based upon 0.5% sulfur content of the fuel.

5. PM<sub>10</sub> is based on 95% of total PM based on information provided by the EPA.

									EMISSIO	NS FACTO	DRS (Ib/h	ip-hr) <sup>a</sup>		EMISSIC	ONS FAC	TORS (IL	o/hr)			Fuel Flow (gph)
VESSEL	ENGINE	MODEL	HP	NO.	MAX	HP LOAD	OF	Р НР	со	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>2</sub>	PM	со	NOx	voc	SO <sub>2</sub>	PM	PM2.5	
BV	Main	CAT3516	3000		2 60	00														
	Bow Thruste	r Brunvol	950		2 19	00														
	Stern Thruste	r Brunvol	950		19	50														
	generator	CAT C18	340		3 10	20														
	Total				98	70	0.5	4935	0.0082	0.00286	0.0004	0.00083	0.00007	40.47	14.11	1.9	7 4.10	0.35	0.34	286
RV	Main	MTU 8V 396	751		2 15	02	0.5	751	0.0082	0.00286	0.0004	0.00083	0.00007	6.16	2.15	0.30	0.62	0.05	0.05	43
	Generator	Man DO 824																		
SVL	Main	MTU 10V2000 M92	1,360		2 2,7	20	0.5	1360	0.0082	0.00286	0.0004	0.00083	0.00007	11.15	3.89	0.54	4 1.13	0.10	0.09	79
	Generator	Northern Lights M20CRW2.2	32		1	32	0.5	16	0.0082	0.0117	0.0022	0.00083	0.00048	0.13	0.19	0.04	4 0.01	0.01	. 0.01	1
	Total													11.28	4.08	0.58	3 1.14	0.10	0.10	80
SVS	Main	Mercury Verado	275		38	25	0.5	412.5	0.0082	0.0088	0.0015	0.00083	0.00018	3.38	3.63	0.6	2 0.34	0.07	0.07	24
Sea Ark	Main	Cummings QSB-9	380		2 7	50	0.53	402.8	0.0082	0.0088	0.0015	0.00083	0.00018	3.30	3.54	0.60	0.33	0.07	0.07	23
Mark VI	Main	MTU 12V396 TE94	2,285		2 45	70	0.53 2	422.1	0.0082	0.00286	0.0004	0.00083	0.00007	19.86	6.93	0.9	7 2.01	0.17	0.16	140

(a) SOURCE: Technical Support Document, Rulemaking to Consider the Adoption of Proposed Regulations to Reduce Emissions from Diesel Engines on Commercial Harbor Craft Operated Within California Waters and 24 Nautical Miles of the California Baseline; Appendix B: Emissions Estimation Methodology for Commercial Harbor Craft Operating in California. 2007. California Air Resources Board.

## Table C-6: Aircraft Training Emissions Under Alternative 1

			1		Criteria /	Air Polluta	ants			Criteria Ai	Pollutant	<3,000	ft		Criteria Air	Pollutant	<3,000 ft	State		Criteria Air F	ollutants <	3,000 ft Fe	ederal		Criteria Air	Pollutants	<3,000 ft Inte	ernational		ten ener
AQCR	Range / Location	Activity	Aircraft	Annual Hours	со	NOx	voc	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM10	co	NO <sub>x</sub>	voc	SOx	PM10	co	NOx	voc	so <sub>x</sub> I	PM10	co	NOx	voc	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM10	со	NOx	voc	SOx	PM10	Fuel Use (gal)
TRAINING																														
SEAI, AK	SEAFAC																		_											2
NWAB, WA	NAS WI Survival Area	Other Search and Rescue	SH-60B	50	359	416	40	131	266	359	416	40	131	266	144	166	16	52	107	144	166	16	52	107	72	83	8	26	53	9,057
	Crescent Harbor	Mine Warfare Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Dis	pSH-60B	0	0	0	0	o	o	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	о	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		NSW Personnel I&E	SH-60B C-130	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Other Search and Rescue	SH-60B	50	359	416	40	131	266	359	416	40	131	266	215	250	24	78	160	o	o	o	o	o	144	166	16	52	107	9,057
ODAD INA	14/ 227	Alexan																		inter-										
ORAB, WA	W-237	Air Combat Maneuver	EA-6B EA-18G	126 126	6,433 938	4,597 19,213	1,009 180	1,659 2,683	9,758 8,545	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	115,020 348,444
		Missile Exercise (Air-to-Air)	EA-6B	10	490	350	77	126	743	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8,763
		Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	EA-6B	75	3,829	2,737	601	987	5,809	1,915	1,368	300	494	2,904	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1914.604	1368.259	300.3699	493.6275	2904.255	68,464
		<u>Surface Warfare</u> Missile Exercise (Air –to-Surface)	P-8	3	10	77	3	17	5	10	77	3	17	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	77	3	17	5	1,193
		HARM Everying (included in Electronic	S-3B	1	27	8	4	4	7	27	8	4	4	7	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	27	8	4	4	7	275
		Warfare Operations (EW OPS))	EA-18G	0	0	0	0	0	0	о	o	0	о	0	0	о	0	0	o	0	0	o	о	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Helicopter	F/A-18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			P-8 E-2 SH-60B	0 0 1.6	0 0 11	0 0 13	001	0 4	009	0 0 11	0 0 13	001	0 0 4	009	0	0000	0	0000	000	0	0	000	0000	0	0 0 11	0 0 13	001	0 4	0 0 9	0 290
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship Combined	EA-6B P-8	960 84	49,038 338	35,045 2,523	7,693 88	12,643 561	74,386 153	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	876,781 38,927
	Olympic MOA	Air Warfare																												
		Air Combat Maneuver	EA-6B EA-18G	574 574	29,306 4272	20,943 87527	4,598 819	7,556	44,454 38927	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	523,980 1,587,356
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship Combined	EA-6B P-8	960 84	49,038 338	35,045 2,523	7,693 88	12,643 561	74,386 153	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	876,781 38,927
		Other Search and Rescue	SH-60B	50	359	416	40	131	266	359	416	40	131	266	144	166	16	52	107	144	166	16	52	107	72	83	8	26	53	9,057
-	NUWC OPAREA	Air Warfare										12-1						24		120	111		1100							
		Missile Exercise (Air-to-Air)	EA-6B	2	123	88	19	32	186	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,191
		Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	EA-6B	19	957	684	150	247	1,452	479	342	75	123	726	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	478.6509	342.0647	75.09248	123.4069	726.0638	17,116
		Bombing Exercise (Air-to-Surface)	P-8	15	61	453	16	101	27	55	408	14	91	25	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	55	408	14	91	25	6,991
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conduct	e F/A-18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			E-2 SH-60B	0	00	0	00	0	0	0	0	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	00	0
		Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise- Maritime Patrol Aircraft (MPA) includes Maritime Patrol Aircraft (DICASS), Maritime Patrol Aircraft (MAC), Maritime Patrol Aircraft (HDC)	P-8	600	2,427	18,127	630	4.033	1,096	1,821	13,595	473	3,024	822	0	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	1,821	13,595	473	3,024	822	279,651
		Tracking Exercise - Heliconter	SH-60B	0.4	3	3	C	1	2	2	з	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	3	0		2	72
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) -	31-008	0.4	3	3	0	1	2	3	3	U	1	2	0	U	U	U	Ĭ	0	0	0	U	0	3	3	0	1	2	12
		Aircraft and Ship Combined	EA-6B P-8	480	24,519 169	17,522 1,262	3,847	6,322 281	37,193 76	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	438,391 19,464
		Uther Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance (ISF	R P-8	300	1,214	9,064	315	2,016	548	728	5,438	189	1,210	329	0	ο	o	0	o	о	0	o	o	0	728	5,438	189	1,210	329	139,826
	Hood Canal	Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Dis	pSH-60B	0.0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

					Criteria A	Air Polluta	ants			Criteria Ai	r Pollutan	ts <3,000 <sup>-</sup>	ft		Criteria Air P	Pollutant	ts <3,000 ft	: State	Cr	iteria Air Po	llutants «	<3,000 ft F	ederal		Criteria Air	Pollutants <	3,000 ft Inte	rnational		
AQCR	Range / Location	Activity	Aircraft	Annual Hours	со	NOx	voc	SOx	PM10	со	NOx	voc	so,	PM <sub>10</sub>	co I	NOx	voc	SO <sub>x</sub> PM	10	со		voc	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	voc	SOx	PM10	Fuel Use (gal)
PSAB	Hood Canal	Mine Warfare Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Disc	SH-60B	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NUWC OPAREA	Air Warfare																												
		Missile Exercise (Air-to-Air)	EA-6B	2	123	88	19	32	186	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,191
		Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	EA-6B	19	957	684	150	247	1,452	479	342	75	123	726	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	479	342	75	123	726	17,116
		Surface Warfare Bombing Exercise (Air-to-Surface)	P-8	9	36	272	9	60	16	33	245	9	54	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	33	245	9	54	15	4,195
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducte	e F/A-18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	.,
			P-8 E-2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			SH-60B	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise- Maritime Patrol Aircraft (MP	P-8	360	1.456	10.876	378	2.420	658	1.092	8,157	284	1.815	493	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.092	8,157	284	1.815	493	167,791
		Tracking Exercise – Helicopter	SH-60B	0.4	3	3	0	1	2	3	3	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	3	0	1,010	2	72
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) -	5.11 000	011		2		-	-	5	-	Ū	-	-	Ū		Ű	Ū	-		0		0		5	5		-	-	
		Aircraft and Ship Combined	EA-6B P-8	480 42	24,519 169	17,522	3,847 44	6,322 281	37,193 76	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	438,391 19.464
		Other				-,																							_	
		Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance (ISR	R P-8	180	728	5,438	189	1,210	329	437	3,263	113	726	197	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	О	0	0	437	3,263	113	726	197	83,895
	Lake Hancock	Other Search and Rescue	SH-60B	50	359	416	40	131	266	359	416	40	131	266	144	166	16	52 1	107	144	166	16	52	107	72	83	8	26	53	9,057
NOI, OR	NUWC OPAREA	Air Warfare																	_											
		Missile Exercise (Air-to-Air)	EA-6B	2	123	88	19	32	186	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,191
		Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	EA-6B	19	957	684	150	247	1,452	479	342	75	123	726	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	479	342	75	123	726	17,116
		<u>Surface Warfare</u> Bombing Exercise (Air-to-Surface)	P-8	9	36	272	9	60	16	33	245	9	54	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	33	245	9	54	15	4,195
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducte	e F/A-18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			P-8 E-2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			SH-60B	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise- Maritime Patrol Aircraft (MP	P-8	360	1.456	10.876	378	2.420	658	1.092	8.157	284	1.815	493	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.092	8.157	284	1.815	493	167,791
		Tracking Exercise – Heliconter	SH-60B	0.4	3	3	0	1	2	3	3	0	-,	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	3	0	-,	2	72
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) -							_					_					-						-				-	
		Aircraft and Ship Combined	EA-6B P-8	480 42	24,519 169	17,522	3,847 44	6,322 281	37,193 76	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	438,391 19,464
		Other																												
		Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance (ISR	R P-8	180	728	5,438	189	1,210	329	437	3,263	113	726	197	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	437	3,263	113	726	197	83,895
PI, OR	NUWC OPAREA	Air Warfare Missile Exercise (Air-to-Air)	EA-6B	2	123	88	19	32	186	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,191
		Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	EA-6B	19	957	684	150	247	1,452	479	342	75	123	726	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	479	342	75	123	726	17,116
		Surface Warfare																												
		Bombing Exercise (Air-to-Surface)	P-8	9	36	272	9	60	16	33	245	9	54	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	33	245	9	54	15	4,195
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducte	e F/A-18 P-8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			E-2 SH-60B	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Anti-Submarine Warfare																												
		Tracking Exercise- Maritime Patrol Aircraft (MPA)																												
		includes Maritime Patrol Aircraft (DICASS), Maritime Patrol Aircraft (MAC), Maritime																												
		Patrol Aircraft (HDC)	P-8	360	1,456	10,876	378	2,420	658	1,092	8,157	284	1,815	493	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,092	8,157	284	1,815	493	167,791
		Tracking Exercise – Helicopter	SH-60B	0.4	3	3	0	1	2	3	3	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	3	0	1	2	72
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship Combined	EA-6B	480	24,519	17,522	3,847	6,322	37,193	о	о	о	о	о	о	о	о	0	o	о	0	о	о	о	о	о	о	о	0	438,391
			P-8	42	169	1,262	44	281	76	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	19,464
		<u>Other</u> Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance (ISR	R P-8	180	728	5,438	189	1,210	329	437	3,263	113	726	197	о	0	0	0	0	о	0	о	0	0	437	3,263	113	726	197	83,895

					Criteria	Air Polluta	ints			Criteria Ai	r Pollutan	ts <3,000	ft		Criteria Air I	Pollutant	ts <3,000 f	ft State		Criteria Air P	ollutants	s <3,000 ft I	ederal		Criteria Air	Pollutants	<3,000 ft Int	ernational		
AQCR	Range / Location	Activity	Aircraft	Annual Hours	со	NOx	voc	SOx	PM10	со	NOx	voc	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	voc	SO <sub>x</sub> F	P <b>M</b> 10	со	NOx	voc	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	voc	SOx	PM10	Fuel Use (gal)
SOI, OR	NUWC OPAREA	Air Warfare Missile Exercise (Air-to-Air)	FA-6B		2 123	88	19	32	186	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	0	2 191
			54.65				450		1 150	170	-	-	100	70.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	100	70.0	
		Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	EA-6B	19	9 957	684	150	247	1,452	479	342	75	123	726	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	(	479	342	75	123	726	17,116
		Surface Warfare Bombing Exercise (Air-to-Surface)	P-8	9	9 36	272	9	60	16	33	245	9	54	15	0	ο	ο	0	о	0	о	0	ο	c	33	245	9	54	15	4,195
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducto	e F/A-18	(	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	(	0 0	0	0	0	0	
			P-8	(	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	
			SH-60B		5 0 5 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	0
		Anti-Submarine Warfare	D D-8	36	1 4 5 6	10 876	378	2 420	658	1 092	8 157	284	1 8 1 5	493	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	(	1 092	8 157	284	1 815	493	167 791
		Hacking Exercise- Manume Patrol Alicrat (Mi	n F-0	300	1,430	10,870	378	2,420	038	1,092	8,137	284	1,815	493	0	0	0	0	Ŭ	0	0	U	0		1,032	8,157	204	1,815	455	107,791
		Tracking Exercise – Helicopter	SH-60B	0.4	4 3	3	0	1	2	3	3	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	3	3	0	1	2	72
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Shin Combined	FA-6B	480	24 5 19	17 5 2 2	3 847	6 3 2 2	37 193	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			0	0	0	0	438 391
		An erart and ship combined	P-8	43	2 169	1,262	44	281	76	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	19,464
		Other																												
		Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance (ISF	R P-8	180	0 728	5,438	189	1,210	329	437	3,263	113	726	197	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	(	437	3,263	113	726	197	83,895
NCAB, CA	NUWC OPAREA	<u>Air Warfare</u> Missile Exercise (Air-to-Air)	EA-6B		2 123	88	19	32	186	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	o 0	0	0	0	0	2,191
		Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	EA-6B	19	9 957	684	150	247	1.452	479	342	75	123	726	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	0 479	342	75	123	726	17.116
		Surface Warfare							_,						-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-							
		Bombing Exercise (Air-to-Surface)	P-8	9	9 36	272	9	60	16	33	245	9	54	15	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	C	33	245	9	54	15	4,195
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted	e F/A-18	(	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	
			P-8 E-2	(	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	(	0 0 0 0	0	0	0	0	
			SH-60B	(	o o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	0 0	0	0	0	0	0
		Anti-Submarine Warfare																												
		(MPA)																												
		includes Maritime Patrol Aircraft (DICASS), Maritime Patrol Aircraft (MAC), Maritime																												
		Patrol Aircraft (HDC)	P-8	360	1,456	10,876	378	2,420	658	1,092	8,157	284	1,815	493	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	1,092	8,157	284	1,815	493	167,791
		Tracking Exercise – Helicopter	SH-60B	0.4	4 3	3	0	1	2	3	3	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	3 3	3	0	1	2	72
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Shin Combined	EA-6B	48	24 5 1 9	17 5 2 2	3 8/7	6 3 2 2	37 193	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			0	0	0	0	/138 391
		Allerane and Ship combined	P-8	43	2 169	1,262	44	281	76	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	19,464
		Other																												
		Intelligence, Surveillance, Reconnaissance (ISF	R P-8	180	728	5,438	189	1,210	329	437	3,263	113	726	197	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	437	3,263	113	726	197	83,895
															со	NOx	voc	SOx P	PM10											
		NWAB, WA ORAB, WA													0.2	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1											
		ONW													0.3	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.2											
		PSAB													0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1											
		NOI, OR													0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0											
		PI, OR													0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0											
															0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0											
		North, err													0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0											
					Criteria	Air Polluta	ints			Criteria Ai	r Pollutan	ts <3,000	ft		Criteria Air I	Pollutant	ts <3,000 f	ft State		Criteria Air P	ollutants	s <3,000 ft I	Federal		Criteria Air	Pollutants	<3,000 ft Int	ernational		Fuel Use
		TRAINING SURTOTAL (nounda)	.	40.70	CO	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM10	CO	NOx	voc	SOx	PM10	co	NOx	voc	SOx P	·M10	со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM10	co	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM10	(gal)
		TRAINING SUBTOTAL (pounds)		10,70	157 5	440,233 220 1	25.6	118,093	498,568 249 2	16,734 <b>8 /</b>	63,005 41 5	3,629	19,100	13,086	040	0.4	0.0	235	479	431	499	48	15/	320	7 15,658	81,758	3,509	18,708	12,287	9,091,533
		TRAINING SUBTOTAL (metric tons)			143	200	23	54	227	8	38	2	9	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.0	0	0.2	0 7	37	2.3	9	6	

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

## Table C-7: Aircraft Testing Emissions Under Alternative 1

					Criteria	Air Polluta	nts			Criteria Ai	Pollutants	s <3,000 ft			Criteria A	ir Pollutan	ts <3,000 ft	State		Criteria Air	Pollutants <	3,000 ft Fe	deral		Criteria Air Po	ollutants <3,0	000 ft Interna	tional		
AQCR	Range / Location	Activity	Aircraft	Annual Hours	со	NO <sub>x</sub>	voc	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NO <sub>x</sub>	voc	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	voc	SO,	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NO <sub>x</sub>	voc	SO,	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	voc	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	Fuel Use (gal)
TEST ACTIVITI	es la																													
ORAB, WA	Quinault Range Site	Anti-Submarine Warfare Te	esting																											
	Quinault Range Site	At-Sea Sonar Testing	SH-60B	26	4 1,895	2,196	212	690	1,406	1,895	2,196	212	690	1,406	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	(	) (	0 0	1,895	2,196	212	690	1,406	47,822
			P-8	2	0 81	604	21	134	37	61	453	16	101	27	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0				61	453	16	101	27	9,322
	DBRC Range Site	At-Sea Sonar Testing	517005	2	144	100	10	52	107	100	125	12		00											100	125	12		00	5,025
			P-8 SH-60B	2	8 113 8 201	846 233	29 22	188 73	51 149	85 151	634 175	22 17	141 55	38 112	0	) 0 ) 0	0	0	0	0	0		) ( ) (	D 0 D 0	85 85 85	634 175	22 17	141 55	38 112	13,050 5,072
	Quinault Range Site	Torpedo Test - Explosive	P-8		8 32	242	8	54	15	24	181	6	40	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	24	181	6	40	11	3,729
			SH-60B		8 57	67	6	21	43	43	50	5	16	32	0	0	0	o	o	0	0	o	0	0	43	50	5	16	32	1,449
	Quinault Range Site	Torpedo Test - Non-Explosit	P-8	35	2 1,424	10,635	370	2,366	643	1,068	7,976	277	1,774	482	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,068	7,976	277	1,774	482	164,062
	DBRC Range Site	Torpedo Test - Non-Explosi	SH-60B	35	2 2,526	2,928	282	919	1,875	1,895	2,196	212	690	1,406	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,895	2,196	212	690	1,406	63,762
			P-8	97	6 3,949	29,487	1,025	6,560	1,783	2,961	22,115	769	4,920	1,337	1,481	11,057	385	2,460	669	0	0	0	0	0	1,481	11,057	385	2,460	669	454,900
			2H-60B	97	6 7,005	8,118	783	2,549	5,198	5,253	6,089	587	1,912	3,898	2,627	3,044	294	956	1,949	U	U	0	0	0	2,627	3,044	294	956	1,949	176,795
	Quinault Range Site	Mine Countermeasure and	SH-60B	12	0 861	998	96	313	639	861	998	96	313	639	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	861	998	96	313	639	21.737
	DDDC Dange Site	Mine Countermoscure and													-				-											,
	DBRC Range Site	while countermeasure and	SH-60B	6	0 431	499	48	157	320	431	499	48	157	320	215	250	24	78	160	0	0	0	0	0	215	250	24	78	160	10,869
	Quinault Range Site	Undersea Warfare Testing			_				_																					
	~		SH-60B	7	2 517	599	58	188	383	517	599	58	188	383	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	517	599	58	188	383	13,042
	Quinault Range Site	Radar and Other System Te	esting																											
	Quinault Range Site	Simulant Testing	SH-60B	129	6 9,301	10,780	1,039	3,385	6,902	9,301	10,780	1,039	3,385	6,902	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9,301	10,780	1,039	3,385	6,902	234,761
			P-8	30	0 1,214	9,064	315	2,016	548	1,214	9,064	315	2,016	548	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,214	9,064	315	2,016	548	139,826
		ASW Mission Package Test	SH-60B	30	2,153	2,495	241	784	1,598	2,153	2,495	241	784	1,598	U	U	0	0	U	U	U	0	0	U	2,153	2,495	241	784	1,598	54,343
		ASW TRACKEX Test MAP	P-8	1	8 73	544	19	121	33	55	408	14	91	25	0	) 0	0	0	0	0	0		) (	D 0	55	408	14	91	25	8,390
	OPArea - PSAB	Tormodo Tast Evalosivo																	_	-	-									-,
		Torpedo Test - Explosive	P-8	4.	8 19	145	5	32	9	15	109	4	24	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	109	4	24	7	2,237
		Mine Countermeasure and	SH-60B	4.	8 34	40	4	13	26	26	30	3	9	19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	26	30	3	9	19	869
		ACIN Mission Deskare Test	SH-60B	6	0 431	499	48	157	320	431	499	48	157	320	215	250	24	78	160	0	0	0	0	0	215	250	24	78	160	10,869
		ASW Mission Package Test ASW TRACKEX Test MAP																												
	OPArea - NIO		P-8	10.	8 44	326	11	73	20	33	245	9	54	15	0	) 0	0	0	0	0	0	(	) (	0 0	33	245	9	54	15	5,034
	orriton inc	Torpedo Test - Explosive				1.45	-	22	0	45	100		24	-		0	0	2	0	0	0	2	0	0	45	100			-	2 2 2 7
			SH-60B	4.	8 19 8 34	40	4	32 13	26	26	30	4	24 9	19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	26	30	4	24	19	2,237 869
		ASW Mission Package Test ASW TRACKEX Test MAP																												
	OBArea BI		P-8	10.	8 44	326	11	73	20	33	245	9	54	15	0	) 0	0	0	0	0	0	(	) (	0 0	33	245	9	54	15	5,034
	OFArea - FI	Torpedo Test - Explosive																												
			P-8 SH-60B	4.	8 19 8 34	145 40	5	32 13	9 26	15 26	109 30	4	24 9	7 19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15 26	109 30	4	24 9	7 19	2,237 869
		ASW Mission Package Test																												
		ASW TRACKER TEST MAP	P-8	10.	8 44	326	11	73	20	33	245	9	54	15	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	(	) (	0 0	33	245	9	54	15	5,034
	OPArea - SOI	Torpedo Test - Explosive																												
			P-8	4.	8 19 8 34	145	5	32	9	15	109	4	24	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	109	4	24	7	2,237
		ASW Mission Package Test	511 000		5	10		10	20	20	50			15											20	50	5		15	005
		ASW TRACKEX Test MAP	P-8	10.	8 44	326	11	73	20	33	245	9	54	15	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	(	) (	0 0	33	245	9	54	15	5,034
	OPArea - NCAB	Torpedo Test - Explosive																										_		
			P-8	4.	8 19	145	5	32	9	15	109	4	24	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	109	4	24	7	2,237
		ASW Mission Package Test	SH-60B	4.	8 34	40	4	13	26	26	30	3	9	19	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	26	30	3	9	19	869
		ASW TRACKEX Test MAP	P-8	10	8 44	326	11	73	20	33	245	9	54	15	0	) 0	0	0	0	0	0		) (	0 0	33	245	9	54	15	5.034
					Criteria	Air Pollu	tants			Criteria A	ir Pollutar	nts <3,000	ft		Criteria /	Air Polluta	ints <3,00	0 ft State		Criteria Ai	r Pollutants	s <3,000 f	t Federal		Criteria Air	Pollutants <	3,000 ft Inte	rnational		Fuel Use
			Total (pounds)	5,36	<b>CO</b> 0 32,894	NOx 83,556	4,741	21,315	PM10 22,318	28,871	NOx 69,449	4,070	<b>SOx</b> 17,908	PM10 19,767	<b>CO</b> 4,538	NOx 3 14,601	VOC 726	SOx 3,573	PM10 2,937	<b>CO</b>	<b>NOx</b>	voc	SOx	PM10 0 0	CO 24,333	NOx 54,848	3,344	SOx 14,336	PM10 16,830	(gal) 1,478,124
			Total (tons)		16.4	41.8	2.4	10.7	11.2	14.4	34.7	2.0	9.0	9.9	2.3	3 7.3	0.4	1.8	1.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	12.2	27.4	1.7	7.2	8.4	
			ORAB		16.0	40.3	2.3	10.3	10.9	14.0	33.5	2.0	8.7	9.6	2.2	2 7.2	0.4	1.7	1.4	0	0	(		0 0	11.9	26.3	1.6	6.9	8.2	
			PSAB NOI		15.0 15.0	39.2 39.2	2.2 2.2	9.9 9.9	10.2 10.2	13.1 13.1	32.4 32.4	1.9 1.9	8.3 8.3	8.9 8.9	0.1	L 0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0	0	(	) ( ) (	0 0 0 0	10.9 10.9	25.2 25.2	1.5 1.5	6.6 6.6	7.5 7.5	
			PI		15.0	38.9	2.2	9.9 9.9	10.1	13.1	32.2	1.9	8.3 g 2	8.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0	0	0			10.9	25.1	1.5	6.5	7.5	
			NCAB		15.0	38.9	2.2	9.9	10.1	13.0	32.2	1.9	8.3 8.3	8.9 8.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0	0			0 0	10.9	25.0	1.5	6.5	7.5	

## Table C-8: Vessel Training Emissions Under Alternative 1

TRAINING ACTIVITIES								-																				
AQCR Range / Location	Activity	Vessel	Annual Hours	Total Criteria CO	Air Pollut NO <sub>x</sub>	tants VOC	SO <sub>x</sub> PM <sub>1</sub>	Criteria P 0 CO	ollutants < 3,00 NO <sub>x</sub>	0 ft agl VOC	SO <sub>x</sub> F	PM <sub>10</sub>	Criteria P CO	NO <sub>x</sub>	< 3,000 ft VOC	t agl State	₽ • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Criteria Pol CO	NO <sub>x</sub>	000 ft agl	Federal SO <sub>x</sub> PN	C 110	Criteria Polluta	nts < 3,0 NO <sub>x</sub>	00 ft agl Inte VOC	ernational SO <sub>x</sub> PN	1 <sub>10</sub>	Fuel Use (gal)
NWAB, WA Crescent Harbor	Surface Warfare						•											•	•	•	•		•		•	•		
	Gunnery Exercise																											
	(Surface-to-Surface) Boat (not included in DOPAA)	DDG	0	0	0	0	0	o o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		FFG	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		AUE	0.0	Ŭ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ŭ	0	0	0	0	Ŭ	0	0	0	0	Ŭ	Ū	0	0	0	Ŭ	0
	Mine Neutralization –																											
	Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) - no	RHIB	36	12	329	2	52	5 12	329	2	52	5	5	132	1	21	2	5	132	1	21	2	2	66	ο	10	1	504
	Naval Special Warfare																											
	Personnel Insertion/	RHIB	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Personnel Insertion/		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ŭ	0	0	0	0	Ŭ	0	0	0	0	Ŭ	0	0	0	0	Ŭ	0
	Extraction – Non-	RHIB	40	10	420	2	60	7 10	420	2	60	_	16	420	2	60	-	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	0	(72)
Puget Sound	Other		48	16	439	3	69	/ 16	439	3	69		16	439	3	69		U	U	0	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	672
	Maritime Security Operations-TPS	BV	277	11,217	3,912	547	1,135 9	6 11,217	3,912	547	1,135	96	11,217	3,912	547	1,135	96	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	79,203
		RV	139 416	854 4.637	298 1.617	42 226	86 469 4	7 854 0 4.637	298 1.617	42 226	86 469	7 40	854 4.637	298 1.617	42 226	86 469	7 40	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6,027 32,741
		SVS	416	1,406	1,509	257	142 3	1 1,406	1,509	257	142	31	1,406	1,509	257	142	31	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9,931
Strait of SJF	<u>Other</u>																											
	Operations-TPS	BV	420	16,996	5,928	829	1,720 14	5 16,996	5,928	829	1,720	145	16,996	5,928	829	1,720	145	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	120,005
		RV SVL	210 630	1,293 7,026	451 2,450	63 343	131 1 711 6	1 1,293 0 7,026	451 2,450	63 343	131 711	11 60	1,293 7,026	451 2,450	63 343	131 711	11 60	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	9,131 49,607
		SVS	630	2,131	2,287	390	216 4	7 2,131	2,287	390	216	47	2,131	2,287	390	216	47	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15,046
Whidbey Island	Other Maritimo Socurity																											
	Operations-Certification	S_A	800	2,642	2,836	483	267 5	8 2,642	2,836	483	267	58	2,642	2,836	483	267	58	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	18,657
		MK-VI	200	3,972	1,385	194	402 3	4 3,972	1,385	194	402	34	3,972	1,385	194	402	34	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	28,047
ORAB, WA Hood Canal	<u>Other</u> Mine Neutralization –																											
	Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) - no	RHIB																										
	aircraft		18	6	165	1	26	3 6	165	1	26	3	4	99	1	16	2	0	0	0	0	0	2	66	0	10	1	252
	Maritime Security	BV	100					-																				
	Operations-TPS	RV	420 210	1,293	5,928 451	63	1,720 14	1 1,293	5,928 451	63	1,720	145	1,293	5,928 451	63	1,720	145	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9,131
		SVL SVS	630 630	7,026 2,131	2,450 2,287	343 390	711 6 216 4	0 7,026 7 2,131	2,450 2,287	343 390	711 216	60 47	7,026 2,131	2,450 2,287	343 390	711 216	60 47	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	49,607 15,046
Dabob Bay	Other																											
	Maritime Security	BV	200	8 093	2 8 2 3	395	819 6	9 8 093	2 823	395	819	69	8 093	2 823	395	819	69	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	57 145
	operations in s	RV	100	616	215	30	62	5 616	215	30	62	5	616	215	30	62	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4,348
		SVL	300	3,346 1,015	1,167 1,089	163 186	103 2	9 3,346 2 1,015	1,167	163 186	103	29	3,346 1,015	1,167 1,089	163 186	103	29	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	23,622 7,165
Puget Sound	Other																											
	Maritime Security Operations-TPS	BV	277	11,217	3,912	547	1,135 9	6 11,217	3,912	547	1,135	96	11,217	3,912	547	1,135	96	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	79,203
		RV	139	854	298	42	86 469 4	7 854	298	42	86	7	854	298	42	86	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6,027
		SVS	416	1,406	1,509	257	142 3	1 1,406	1,509	257	142	31	1,406	1,509	257	142	31	0	0	o	o	0	o	0	o	o	0	9,931
Strait of SJF	Other																											
	Maritime Security Operations-TPS	BV	420	16,996	5,928	829	1,720 14	5 16,996	5,928	829	1,720	145	16,996	5,928	829	1,720	145	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	120,005
		RV SVI	210 630	1,293 7.026	451 2.450	63 343	131 1 711 6	1 1,293 0 7.026	451 2.450	63 343	131 711	11 60	1,293 7.026	451 2.450	63 343	131 711	11 60	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9,131 49,607
		SVS	630	2,131	2,287	390	216 4	7 2,131	2,287	390	216	47	2,131	2,287	390	216	47	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15,046
Indian Island	Mine Warfare																											
	Homeland Security Anti-	RHIR																										
	Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises	KIID	6	2	55	0	9	1 2.0	54.8	0.4	8.6	0.9	2.0	54.8	0.4	8.6	0.9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	84
		DDG	6	361	687	24	531 2	2 361	687	24	531	22	360.9	687.1	24.0	531.2	21.8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9,844
	Other Precision Anchesing		0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	~
	Anchoring	CG	0	0	0	U	0		0	U	0	0	0	U	U	0	J	U	0	0	0	0	0	U	0	0	0	0

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

				Annual	Total Criteria	Air Pollu	tants		Cı	riteria Po	llutants < 3,000	) ft agl			Criteria Po	ollutants	< 3,000 ft	t agl State	2	Criteria Po	llutants <	3,000 ft ag	Federal		Criteria Pollu	utants < 3,0	000 ft agl In	ternational		Fuel Use
AQCR	Range / Location	Activity Air Warfare	Vessel	Hours	CO	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub> P	M <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub> PI	M <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	(gal)
		Gunnery Exercise	DDG															_				_	_							
		(Surface-to-Air)	FFG AOE	71 0 5	4,241 0 494	8,073 0 1,401	282 0 48	6,242 0 540	256 0 47	4,241 0 494	8,073 0 1,401	282 0 48	6,242 0 540	256 0 47	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0	4,241 0 494	8,073 0 1,401	282 0 48	6,242 0 540	256 0 47	115,666 0 7,337
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship Combined	DDG	31	1,884	3,587	125	2,773	114	1,884	3,587	125	2,773	114	754	1,435	50	1,109	46	754	1,435	50	1,109	46	377	717	25	555	23	51,385
			FFG AOE SSGN SSBN	0 5 5 5	0 573	0 1,625	0 55	0 626	0 54	0 573	0 1,625	0 55	0 626	0 54	0 229	0 650	0 22	0 251	0 22	0 229	0 650	0 22	0 251	0 22	0 115	0 325	0 11	0 125	0 11	0 8,511
	Olympic MOA	Electronic Warrare Operations (EW Ops) -	DDG FFG AOE SSGN SSBN	31 0 5 5 5	1,884 0 573	3,587 0 1,625	125 0 55	2,773 0 626	114 0 54	1,884 0 573	3,587 0 1,625	125 0 55	2,773 0 626	114 0 54	1,130 0 344	2,152 0 975	75 0 33	1,664 0 376	68 0 33	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	754 0 229	1,435 0 650	50 0 22	1,109 0 251	46 0 22	51,385 0 8,511
	NUWC OPAREA	<u>Air Warfare</u> Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	DDG FFG AOE	18 0 1	1,060 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	1,060 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	1,060 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	28,916 0 1,834
		Surface Warfare																												
		(Surface-to-Surface) Ship	DDG FFG AOE	139.5 0 3	8,392 0 329	15,975 0 934	559 0 32	12,350 0 360	507 0 31	8,392 0 329	15,975 0 934	559 0 32	12,350 0 360	507 0 31	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	8,392 0 329	15,975 0 934	559 0 32	12,350 0 360	507 0 31	228,871 0 4,891
		Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise-Ship	DDG FFG	48.75 0	2,933 0	5,583 0	195 0	4,316 0	177 0	2,933 0	5,583 0	195 0	4,316 0	177 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0	2,933 0	5,583 0	195 0	4,316 0	177 0	79,982 0
		Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship Combined	DDG FFG AOE SSGN SSBN	16 0 3 3 3	942 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	942 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	377 0 115	717 0 325	25 0 11	555 0 125	23 0 11	377 0 115	717 0 325	25 0 11	555 0 125	23 0 11	188 0 57	359 0 163	13 0 6	277 0 63	11 0 5	25,693 0 4,255
PSAB	Hood Canal	Mine Warfare							_																					
		Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) - no aircraft	RHIB	18	6	165	1	26	3	6	165	1	26	3	4	99	1	16	2	0	0	0	о	o	2	66	0	10	1	252
		<u>Other</u> Maritime Security																												
		Operations-TPS	RV SVL SVS	420 210 630 630	16,996 1,293 7,026 2,131	5,928 451 2,450 2,287	829 63 343 390	1,720 131 711 216	145 11 60 47	16,996 1,293 7,026 2,131	5,928 451 2,450 2,287	829 63 343 390	1,720 131 711 216	145 11 60 47	16,996 1,293 7,026 2,131	5,928 451 2,450 2,287	829 63 343 390	1,720 131 711 216	145 11 60 47	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0 0	120,005 9,131 49,607 15,046
	Puget Sound	Other																												
		Operations-TPS	BV RV SVL SVS	286 143 428 428	11,557 879 4,778 1,449	4,031 307 1,666 1,555	564 43 233 265	1,170 89 484 147	99 8 41 32	11,557 879 4,778 1,449	4,031 307 1,666 1,555	564 43 233 265	1,170 89 484 147	99 8 41 32	11,557 879 4,778 1,449	4,031 307 1,666 1,555	564 43 233 265	1,170 89 484 147	99 8 41 32	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	81,604 6,209 33,733 10,231
	NS Everett	<u>Mine Warfare</u> Civilian Port Defense – Homeland Security Anti- Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises	RHIB	6	2	55	0	9	1	2.0	54.8	0.4	8.6	0.9	2.0	54.8 687 1	0.4	8.6	0.9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	84
			DDG	ь	106	08/	24	531	22	201	08/	24	331	22	500.9	00/.1	24.0	351.2	21.0	0	U	U	U	U	U	U	U	U	0	9,844
		Other Maritime Security Operations, Non-TPS	S_A MK-VI	268.8 67.2	888 1,335	953 466	162 65	90 135	19 11	888 1,335	953 466	162 65	90 135	19 11	888 1,335	953 466	162 65	90 135	19 11	0	0	0	0 0	0	0 0	0	0 0	0	0	6,269 9,424
		Precision Anchoring	CG	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Small Boat Attack	RHIB	1.3	0	12	0	2	0	0.5	12.2	0.1	1.9	0.2	0.5	12.2	0.1	1.9	0.2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	19
		Surface Ship Sonar Maintenance	DDG	50	3,008	5,726	200	4,427	182	3,008	5,726	200	4,427	182	3,007.8	5,725.8	200.3	4,426.6	181.9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	82,033
													-							-				_	_		_		-	

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

AOCR Range / Location	Activity	Vessel	Annual Hours	otal Criteria	Air Polluta	ants VOC	SO, PM	Criteria P	ollutants < 3,00 NO <sub>x</sub>	0 ft agl	SO,	P <b>M</b> <sub>10</sub>	Criteria Po	NO,	< 3,000 fr	t agl Stat	e PM <sub>10</sub>	Criteria Pol	lutants < 3, NO,	000 ft agl F /OC 5	Federal SO <sub>x</sub> PM <sub>10</sub>	Criter	ia Pollut	ants < 3,00	0 ft agl Int /OC	ernational	PM <sub>10</sub>	Fuel Use
NB Kipsat-Bangor	Mine Warfare	VESSEI	nours				~		~			10		~		~							-				10	(gai)
	Homeland Security Anti- Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises	RHIB	6 6	2 361	55 687	0 24	9 531 2	1 2.0 2 361	54.8 687	0.4 24	8.6 531	0.9 22	2.0 360.9	54.8 687.1	0.4 24.0	8.6 531.2	0.9 21.8	0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	84 9,844
	<u>Other</u> Maritime Security Operations-TPS	BV	840	33,992	11,856	1,658	3,441 29	0 33,992	11,856	1,658	3,441	290	33,992	11,856	1,658	3,441	290	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	240,011
		RV SVL SVS	420 1260 1260	2,586 14,052 4,262	902 4,901 4,574	126 685 780	262 2 1,422 12 431 9	2 2,586 20 14,052 04 4,262	902 4,901 4,574	126 685 780	262 1,422 431	22 120 94	2,586 14,052 4,262	902 4,901 4,574	126 685 780	262 1,422 431	22 120 94	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0	0 0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	18,262 99,214 30,093
	Maritime Security Operations, Non-TPS	S_A MK-VI	268.8 67.2	888 1,335	953 466	162 65	90 1 135 1	9 888 1 1,335	953 466	162 65	90 135	19 11	888 1,335	953 466	162 65	90 135	19 11	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0	6,269 9,424
	Small Boat Attack Surface Ship Sonar Maintenance	RHIB DDG	1.3	0.5	12	0.1	2 0	.2 0	5 726	0	2	0	0	12	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	19 82 033
Kitsap-Bremerton	<u>Mine Warfare</u> Civilian Port Defense –		50	3,000	5,720	200	4,427 10	3,000	5,720	200	4,427	102	3,007.0	5,725.0	200.5	4,420.0	101.5	0.0	Ū	0	U		0	Ū	0	Ū	Ŭ	62,655
	Homeland Security Anti- Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises	RHIB	6 6	2 361	55 687	0 24	9 531 2	1 2.0 2 361	54.8 687	0.4 24	8.6 531	0.9 22	2.0 360.9	54.8 687.1	0.4 24.0	8.6 531.2	0.9 21.8	0	0	0	0 0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	84 18
	<u>Other</u> Maritime Security Operations, Non-TPS	S_A	268.8	888	953	162	90 1	.9 888	953	162	90	19	888	953	162	90	19	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	o	6,269
	Small Boat Attack	MK-VI	67.2	1,335	466	65 0.052	135 1	1 1,335	466	65 0.05	135	11 0.01	1,335	466	65 0.05	135	11 0.01	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9,424
NUWC OPAREA	Air Warfare Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	DDG	18	1,060	2,018	71	1,560 6	54 1,060	2,018	71	1,560	64	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 1	1,060	2,018	71	1,560	64	28,916
		FFG AOE	1	123	350	12	0 135 1	0 0 .2 123	350	12	135	0 12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 123	350	12	135	12	0 1,834
	Surface Warfare Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Ship	DDG FFG	84 0 2	5,035 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 30 0 216 1	04 5,035 0 0	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 5	5,035 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	137,322 0 2 935
	Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted	CG	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Anti-Submarine Warfare	SSN	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	U	0	0	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	U	0	0	0	U	U	0	0	0
	Tracking Exercise-Ship	DDG FFG	29 0	1,760 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 10 0	06 1,760 0 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 1	l,760 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	47,989 0
	<u>Electronic Warfare</u> Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship	DDG																										
	<u>Combined</u>	FFG AOE SSGN SSBN	16 0 3 3 3	942 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 5 0 313 2	67 942 0 0 27 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	377 0 115	717 0 325	25 0 11	555 0 125	23 0 11	377 0 115	717 0 325	25 0 11	555 2 0 125 2	0 1	188 0 57	359 0 163	13 0 6	277 0 63	11 0 5	25,693 0 4,255
NOI, OR NUWC OPAREA	<u>Air Warfare</u> Gunnery Exercise	DDC																				1						
	(Surface-to-Air)	FFG AOE	18 0 1	1,060 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 6 0 135 1	4 1,060 0 0 2 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 1 0 0	1,060 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	28,916 0 1,834
	Surface Warfare Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Ship	DDG FFG AOE	84 0 2	5,035 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 30 0 216 1	04 5,035 0 0 .9 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 5 0 0	5,035 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	137,322 0 2,935
	Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted	CG DDG FFG SSN	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0
			Ŭ																									

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

			Annual	Total Criteria	Air Pollut	ants		Criteria P	ollutants < 3,00	0 ft agl			Criteria Poll	utants <	3,000 ft a	gl State	C	Criteria Pollut	ants < 3,0	00 ft agl F	ederal	Criteria Pol	utants < 3	,000 ft agl Ir	ternationa	1	Fuel Use
AQCR Range / Location	Activity Anti-Submarine Warfare	Vessel	Hours	CO	NOx	voc	SO <sub>x</sub> PM	• CO	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO N	NO <sub>x</sub> V		SO <sub>x</sub> PM	1 <sub>10</sub>	CO N	O <sub>x</sub> V	oc s	SO <sub>x</sub> PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	(gal)
	Tracking Exercise-Ship	DDG FFG	29 0	1,760 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 10 0	6 1,760 0 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 1,760 0 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	47,989 0
	Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship Combined	DDG FFG AOE SSGN SSBN	16 0 3 3 3	942 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 5 0 313 2	7 942 0 0 7 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 942 0 0 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	25,693 0 4,255
PI, OR NUWC OPAREA	<u>Air Warfare</u> Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	DDG FFG AOE	18 0 1	1,060 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 ( 0 135 2	4 1,060 0 0 2 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 1,060 0 0 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	28,916 0 1,834
	Surface Warfare Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Ship	DDG FFG AOE	84 0 2	5,035 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 30 0 216 1	4 5,035 0 0 9 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 5,035 0 0 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	137,322 0 2,935
	Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted	CG DDG FFG SSN	0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0		0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0		0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0
	Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise-Ship	DDG FFG	29 0	1,760 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 10 0	6 1,760 0 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 1,760 0 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	47,989 0
	Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship Combined	DDG FFG AOE SSGN SSBN	16 0 3 3 3	942 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 5 0 313 2	7 942 0 0 7 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 942 0 0 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	25,693 0 4,255
SOI, OR NUWC OPAREA	<u>Air Warfare</u> Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	DDG FFG AOE	18 0 1	1,060 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 0 135 1	4 1,060 0 0 2 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 1,060 0 0 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	28,916 0 1,834
	Surface Warfare Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Ship	DDG FFG AOE	84 0 2	5,035 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 30 0 216 2	4 5,035 0 0 9 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 5,035 0 0 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	137,322 0 2,935
	Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted	CG DDG FFG SSN	0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0		0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0
	<u>Anti-Submarine Warfare</u> Tracking Exercise-Ship	DDG FFG	29 0	1,760 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 10 0	6 1,760 0 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 1,760 0 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	47,989 0
	Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship Combined	DDG FFG AOE SSGN SSBN	16 0 3 3 3	942 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 5 0 313 2	7 942 0 0 7 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 942 0 0 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	25,693 0 4,255

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

			Annual	Total Criteria	Air Pollut	ants		C	riteria Po	llutants < 3,00	) ft agl			Criteria Po	ollutants <	3,000 f	t agl State	e	Criteria P	ollutants <	3,000 ft a	l Federal		Criteria Pol	lutants < 3,	000 ft agl I	nternation	al	Fuel Use
AQCR Range / Location	Activity	Vessel	Hours	CO	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub> P	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO	NO <sub>x</sub>	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub> F	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	СО	NOx	VOC	SOx	<b>PM</b> <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	(gal)
NCAB, CA NUWC OPAREA	<u>Air Warfare</u> Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	DDG FFG AOE	18 0 1	1,060 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	1,060 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 1,060 0 0 123	2,018 0 350	71 0 12	1,560 0 135	64 0 12	28,916 0 1,834
	Surface Warfare																												
	Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Ship	DDG FFG AOE	84 0 1.8	5,035 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	5,035 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 5,035 0 0 198	9,585 0 560	335 0 19	7,410 0 216	304 0 19	137,322 0 2,935
	Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted	CG DDG FFG SSN	0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0
	Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise-Ship	DDG FFG	29 0	1,760 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	1,760 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	C C	0 1,760 0 0	3,350 0	117 0	2,590 0	106 0	47,989 0
	Electronic Warfare Operations (EW Ops) - Aircraft and Ship Combined	DDG FFG AOE SSGN SSBN	16 0 3 3 3	942 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	942 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0		942 0 0 286	1,793 0 813	63 0 28	1,386 0 313	57 0 27	25,693 0 4,255
	NWAB, WA ORAB PSAB NOI, OR PI, OR SOI, OR NCAB, CA													26 45 71 58 0 0 0 0	NOx 12 21 33 30 0 0 0 0	2 3 4 0 0 0	SOx 3 7 9 11 0 0 0 0	PM10 0 1 1 0 0 0 0											
				Total Criteria	Air Pollut	ants	SOx P	C M10	Criteria Po	ollutants < 3,00	0 ft agl	SOx P	PM10	Criteria	a Pollutan	ts < 3,00	00 ft agl St	tate	Crite	ria Polluta	nts < 3,000	ft agl Fed	eral PM10	Criteria	a Pollutants	< 3,000 ft	agl Interna	tional PM10	Fuel Lise (gal)
	<u>TRAINING SUBTOTAL</u> (pounds) TRAINING SUBTOTAL		19,487	324,168	257,951	20,509 1	38,135 7	,349 3	324,168	257,951	20,509 :	138,135	7,349	256,858 1	25,208	15,887	40,788	3,116	1,971	4,301	145	2,740	137	65,340	128,442	4,476	94,607	4,097	3,794,025
	(tons) TRAINING SUBTOTAL (metric tons)			<b>162</b> 147	<b>129</b> 117	<b>10</b> 9	<b>69</b> 63	<b>4</b> 3	<b>162</b> 147	<b>129</b> 117	<b>10</b> 9	<b>69</b> 63	<b>4</b> 3	<b>128</b> 117	<b>63</b> 57	<b>8</b> 7	<b>20</b> 19	<b>2</b> 1	<b>1</b> 1	<b>2</b> 2	<b>0</b> 0	<b>1</b> 1	<b>c</b>	<b>33</b> 30	<b>64</b> 58	<b>2</b> 2	<b>47</b> 43	<b>2</b> 2	

ACTIVITIES																														
AOCR	Range / Location	Activity	Vessel	Annual	Total Criteria CO	Air Pollu NO.	tants VOC	SO. P	M <sub>10</sub>	CO	NO. NO.	) ft agl	SO. PN	Cri	iteria Po CO	Ilutants <	< 3,000 ft VOC	t agl State	e PM <sub>40</sub>	Criteria Pol	NO <sub>2</sub> V(	0 ft agl F	ederal	PM10	Criteria Pollu	tants < 3,00	0 ft agl Int /OC	ternational SO.	PMto	Fuel Use
ORAB, WA	hange / Location	Activity	vesser	nours										-10		, and the second s				00										(gai)
	Quinault Range Site	Anti-Submarine Warfare Testing	SSBN	24																										
			DDG	24	1444	2748	96	2125	87	1,444	2,748	96	2,125	87	1,444	2,748	96	2,125	87	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	39376
	Quinault Range Site	At-Sea Sonar Testing	SSBN	8																										
			DDG CVN	8	481	916	32	708	29	361	687	24	531	22	361	687	24	531	22	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13125
			RHIB	8	3	73	0	12	1	2	55	0	9	1	2	55	0	9	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	112
	DBRC Range Site	At-Sea Sonar Testing	SSBN	28																-						-	-	-		
			DDG CVN	28	1684	3206	112	2479	102	1,263	2404.83	84.12 1	1859.18 76	.39	1,263	2,405	84	1,859	76	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	45938
			RHIB	28	10	256	2	40	4	7	191.94	1.26	30.24 3	.15	7	192	1	30	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	392
	Quinault Range Site	Countermeasure Test	DDG	42	2,527	4,810	168	3,718	153	1,895	3,607	126	2,789 1	115	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,895	3,607	126	2,789	115	68907
			RHIB	42	14	384	3	60	6	11	287.91	1.89	45.36 4	.73	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	11	288	2	45	5	588
	DBRC Range Site	Countermeasure Test	DDG	45	2,707	5,153 411	180	3,984	164 7	2,030	3,865 308.48	135	2,988 1	123	2,030	3,865 308	135	2,988 49	123	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	73829
							-										-		_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	
		Torpedo Test - Explosive	DDG	3.2	193	366	13	283	12	144	274.84	9.61	212.48 8	.73	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	144	275	10	212	9	5250
			RHIB	3.2	1	29	0	5	0	0.82	21.94	0.14	3.46 0	.36	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	22	0	3	0	45
		Torpedo Test - Non-	DDG			0.045	200	6.374	262	2.242		246						-							2.240		24.6		105	
	Quinault Range Site	Explosive	RHIB	72	4,331 24	8,245	288	6,374 104	262	3,248	6,184 493.56	3.24	4,781 1 77.76 8	196	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3,248	6,184 494	216	4,781	196	118127
		Torpedo Test - Non-																												
	DBRC Range Site	Explosive	DDG	91.5	5,504	10,478	367	8,101	333	4,128	7,859	275	6,076 2	250	4,128	7,859	275	6,076	250	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	150119
			RHIB	91.5	31	836	5	132	14	23	627.23	4.12	98.82 10	.29	23	627	4	99	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1281
	Quinault Range Site	Mine Detection and Classification Testing	DDG	12	722	1.374	48	1.062	44	722	1.374	48	1.062	44	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	722	1.374	48	1.062	44	19688
			RHIB	12	4	110	1	17	2	4	109.68	0.72	17.28 1	.80	ō	ō	ō	0	o	0	0	ō	ō	o	4	110	1	17	2	168
		Mine Detection and	DDG																											
	DBRC Range Site	Classification Testing	RHIB	300 300	18,047 102	34,355 2742	1,202 18	26,560 1 432	,091 45	18,047 102	34,355 2742.00	1,202	26,560 1,0	091 1	.8,047 3 102	2,742	1,202 18	26,560 432	1,091 45	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	492195 4200
		Mine Countermoscure														_,														
	Quinault Range Site	and Neutralization	MCM	60	1,537	1,848	366	308	34	1,537	1,848	366	308	34	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	1,537	1,848	366	308	34	1980
			LHD	60 60	485 3609	2870 6871	346 240	8130 1 5312	218	485 3,609	2869.99 3 6870.94 2	46.03 8	8129.82 ### 5311.94 ###	****	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	485 3,609	2,870 6,871	346 240	8,130 5,312	1,715 218	133568 98439
		Mine Countermeasure																												
	DBRC Range Site	and Neutralization	MCM	6.67	171	205	41	34	4	171	205	41	34	4	171	205	41	34	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	220
			DDG	6.67 6.67	54 401	319 763	38 27	903 590	191 24	54 401	318.89 763.44	38.45 26.71	903.31 ### 590.22 24	### .25	54 401	319 763	38 27	903 590	191 24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14841 10938
		Unmanned Underwater																												
	Quinault Range Site	Vehicle Testing	DDG	38	2,286	4,352	152	3,364	138	2,286	4,352	152	3,364 1	138	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,286	4,352	152	3,364	138	62345
			SSBN	38	13	347	2	55	6	13	347.32	2.28	54.72 5	.70	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13	347	2	55	6	532
		Unmanned Underwater																												
	DBRC Range Site	Vehicle Testing	DDG	322	19,371	36,874	1,290	28,507 1	,171	19,371	36,874	1,290	28,507 1,1	171 1	9,371 3	86,874	1,290	28,507	1,171	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	528289
			SSBN	322	109	2943	19	464	48	109	2943.08	19.32	463.68 48	.30	109	2,943	19	464	48	0	U	0	0	0	0	0	0	U		4508
		Unmanned Aerial																												
	Quinault Range Site	System Testing	RHIB	12	4	110	1	17	2	4	110	1	17	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	110	1	17	2	168
		Unmanned Aerial																												
	DBRC Range Site	System Testing	RHID	13.33	5	122	1	19	2	5	122	1	19	2	5	122	1	19	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	187
	Outrout Pages Site	Unmanned Surface	RHIB			202		45	_	11	202	-	45	_	0	0	0			0				_		202	-	45	-	440
	Quinault Range Site	venicle System Testing		32	11	292	2	46	5	11	292	2	46	5	U	U	U	0	0	0	0	U	U	0	11	292	2	46	5	448
	DBRC Range Site	Unmanned Surface Vehicle System Testing	RHIB	80	27	731	5	115	12	27	731	5	115	12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	27	731	5	115	12	1120
		Undersee Warfare																												
	Quinault Range Site	Testing	DDG	32	1,925	3,665	128	2,833	116	1,925	3,665	128	2,833 1	116	635	1,209	42	935	38	635	1,209	42	935	38	635	1,209	42	935	38	52501
			RHIB SSBN	32	11	292	2	46	5	11	292.48	1.92	46.08 4	.80	4	97	1	15	2	4	97	1	15	2	4	97	1	15	2	448
		Vessel Signature																												
	DBRC Range Site	Evaluation	DDG	2	120	229	8	177	7	120	229	8	177	7	120	229	8	177	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	0	3281
			RHIB SSBN	2	1	18	0	3	0	1	18.28	0.12	2.88 0	.30	1	18	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	28

## Table C-9: Vessel Testing Emissions Under Alternative 1

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

[				Annual	Total Criteria	Air Pollu	tants			Criteria Poll	utants < 3,000	) ft agl		(	Criteria Po	llutants	3,000 ft	agl State	e	Criteria Po	llutants < 3	3,000 ft ag	l Federal		Criteria Pol	lutants < 3	3,000 ft agl	Internation	al	Fuel Use
AQCR	Range / Location	Activity	Vessel	Hours	CO	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub> F	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub> P	M <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	(gal)
	DBRC Range Site	Cold Water Support	DDG SSBN	2	120	229	8	177	7	120	229	8	177	7	120	229	8	177	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3281
	Quinault Range Site	Radar and Other System Testing	RHIB	o	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	o	o	0	0	0	0	0	o	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	o
	Quinault Range Site	Acoustic and Oceanographic Research	RHIB	28	10	256	2	40	4	10	256	2	40	4	0	0	0	0	o	0	o	0	0	0	10	256	2	40	4	392
	DBRC Range Site	Acoustic and Oceanographic Research	RHIB	42	14	384	3	60	6	14	384	3	60	6	14	384	3	60	6	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	588
	Ouinault Range Site	Non Acoustic Component Testing	RHIB	12	4	110	1	17	2	4	110	1	17	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	110	1	17	2	168
			DDG LHD	12 12	722 97	1,374 574	48 69	1,062 1626	44 343	722 97	1,374 574.00	48 69.21	1,062 1626	44 343	0	0 0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	722 97	1,374 574	48 69	1,062 1,626	44 343	19688 26714
	DBRC Range Site	Non Acoustic Component Testing	RHIB	46	16	420	3	66	7	16	420	3	66	7	16	420	3	66	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	644
			LHD	46	372	2200	265	6233	1314	372	2200.33	265.29	6233 ##	####	372	2,200	265	6,233	1,314	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	102402
	DBRC Range Site	Semi-Stationary Equipment Testing	RHIB	60	20	548	4	86	9	20	548	4	86	9	20	548	4	86	9	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	o	840
	Quinault Range Site	Simulant Testing	DDG	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Indian Island	Acoustic Component Testing	SSBN	5																										
			RHIB	5	301	46	0	443	18	301	46	0	443	18	301	46	0	443	18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8203
		Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization	мсм	6.7	171	205	41	34	4	171	205	41	34	4	171	205	41	34	4	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	220
			LHD DDG	6.7 6.7	54 401	319 763	38 27	903 590	191 24	54 401	318.89 763.44	38.45 26.71	903.31 ## 590.22 2	#### 4.25	54 401	319 763	38 27	903 590	191 24	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14841 10938
		Anti-Submarine Warfare																												
	NOWCOPAREA	resung	DDG	72	4331	8245	288	6374	262	4,331	8,245	288	6,374	262	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4,331	8,245	288	6,374	262	118127
		At-Sea Sonar Testing	DDG CVN	3.6 3.6	217	412	14	319	13	217	412	14	319	13	108	206	7	159	7	108	206	7	159	7	217	412	14	319	13	5906
			RHIB	3.6	1	33	0	5	1	1	33	0	5	1	1	16	0	3	0	1	16	0	3	0	1	33	0	5	1	50
		Torpedo Non-Explosive Testing	DDG	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Torondo Tort, Fundacion	CODY		Ŭ				Ŭ		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00										Ŭ					Ŭ	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i
		Torpedo Test - Explosive	DDG RHIB	3.2 3.2 3.2	193 1	366 29	13 0	283 5	12 0	144 0.82	274.84 21.94	9.61 0.14	212.48 3.46	8.73 0.36	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	144 1	275 22	10 0	212 3	9 0	5250 45
		Mine Countermeasure	мсм																											
		and Neutralization	LHD	18 18	461 145	555 861	110 104	92 2439	10 514	461 145	555 861.00 1	110 103.81	92 2438.94 ##	10 ####	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	461 145	555 861	110 104	92 2,439	10 514	594 40070
		Kinetic Energy Weapon	DDG	18	1083	2061	72	1594	65	1,083	2061.28	72.10	1593.58 6	5.48	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,083	2,061	72	1,594	65	29532
		Testing (Railgun)	DDG	9.6	578	1099	38	850	35	578	1099.35	38.46	849.91 3	4.92	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	578	1,099	38	850	35	15750
		Propulsion Testing	DDG	9	541	1031	36	797	33	541	1030.64	36.05	796.79 3	2.74	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	541	1,031	36	797	33	14766
		Undersea Warfare Testing	DDG RHIB	19.2 19.2	1,155 7	2,199 175	77 1	1,700 28	70 3	1,155 7	2,199 175.49	77 1.15	1,700 27.65	70 2.88	381 2	726 58	25 0	561 9	23 1	381 2	726 58	25 0	561 9	23 1	381 2	726 58	25 0	561 9	23 1	31500 269
		Radar and Other System Testing	DDG	32.4	1,949	3,710	130	2,868	118	1,949	3,710	130	2,868	118	o	o	o	o	o	o	o	0	o	o	1,949	3,710	130	2,868	118	53157
		Non Acoustic	RHIB				_			-																		-		
		Component Testing	DDG	1.8 1.8	1 108	16 206	0	3 159	0	1 108	16 206	0	3 159	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1 108	16 206	0	3 159	0	25 2953
			LHD	1.8	15	86	10	244	51	15	86.10	10.38	243.89 5	1.44	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	86	10	244	51	4007
		Simulant Testing	DDG	30	1,805	3,435	120	2,656	109	1,805	3,435	120	2,656	109	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,805	3,435	120	2,656	109	49220

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

AOCR	Range / Location	Activity	Vessel	Annual 1	Fotal Criteria	Air Pollut	ants	SO. PM.	Criteria Po	llutants < 3,00	0 ft agl	SO. P	Mag	Criteria Po	llutants <	3,000 f	t agl State	PM	Criteria Pollu	itants < 3,0	00 ft agl F	ederal	C	riteria Pollu	itants < 3,0	000 ft agl I	nternation SO	nal PM-re	Fuel Use
Auch	Hood Canal EOD	Mine Countermeasure	VESSEI	nours	00	no <sub>x</sub>								00	NO <sub>X</sub>						00 0	•x • • •	10	00	x		00,	10	(gai)
	Range	and Neutralization	MCM	3.33	85	103	20	17 2	85	103	20	17	2	85	103	20	17	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	110
			LHD	3.33	27	159	19	452 95	27	159	19	452	95	27	159	19	452	95	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7420
			DDG	3.33	201	382	13	295 12	201	382	13	295	12	201	382	13	295	12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5469
	Crescent Harbor EOD	Mine Countermeasure																											
NWAB, WA	Range	and Neutralization	MCM	6.67	171	205	41	34 4	171	205	41	34	4	171	205	41	34	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	220
			LHD	6.67	54	319	38	903 191	54	319	38	903	191	54	319	38	903	191	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	14841
			DDG	6.67	401	763	27	590 24	401	763	27	590	24	401	763	27	590	24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10938
		Mine Countermeasure																											
	OPAREA 3	and Neutralization	MCM	6.67	171	205	41	34 4	171	205	41	34	4	171	205	41	34	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	220
			LHD	6.67	54	319	38	903 191	54	319	38	903	191	54	319	38	903	191	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	14841
			DDG	6.67	401	763	27	590 24	401	763	27	590	24	401	763	27	590	24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10938
		Unmanned Aerial																											
	R6701	System Testing	RHIB	13.33	5	122	1	19 2	5	122	1	19	2	5	122	1	19	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	187
OPAres - PSAR	Keynort Range Sites	Countermeasure Test	DDG		0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
OF ATEA - F3AE	Resport hange sites	countermeasure rest	RHIB	42	14	384	3	60 6	11	288	2	45	5	11	288	2	45	5	ő	ŏ	ŏ	õ	ō	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	č	588
		Mine Detection and																											
		Mine Detection and Classification Testing	DDG	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
			RHIB	272	92	2486	16	392 41	92	2486	16	392	41	92	2,486	16	392	41	ő	ŏ	ŏ	õ	ō	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	c č	3808
		Mine Countermeasure	MCM			205				205					205				-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-		
		and Neutralization	IHD	6.67	1/1	205	41	34 4 903 191	1/1	205	41	903	4	1/1	205	41	34 903	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	, o	14841
			DDG	0.00	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	ō	ō	ō	0	ō	ō	o	o	, c	0
		Unmanned Underwater	DDG																				~						
		venicie resung	RHIB	58	20	530	3	84 9	20	530	3	84	9	20	530	3	84	9	0	0	0	0	ö	0	0	0	0	/ C	812
			SSBN																										
		System Testing	RHIB	13.33	5	122	1	19 2	5	122	1	19	2	5	122	1	19	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		187
									_					_				_	_		-	-		_	_	_	_	-	
		Unmanned Surface	RHIB	00	27	721	-	115 17	27	721	E	115	12	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0		27	721	E	115	17	1120
		venicie system resting		80	27	/51	-	115 12	21	/31	5	115	12					Ŭ	0		0	0		27	/31		115	12	1120
		Cold Water Support	DDG	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	0
			SSBN																										
		Acoustic and																											
		Oceanographic Research	RHIB	42	14	384	3	60 6	14	384	3	60	6	14	384	3	60	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c	588
		Non Acoustic	RHIB		-				-				_	-				_					_						
		Component Testing	DDG	16	5	146	1	23 2	0	146	1	23	2	0	146	1	23	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		224
			LHD	16.0	129	765	92	2168 457	129	765.33	92.28 2	167.95 ##	####	129	765	92	2,168	457	ŏ	ō	ō	ō	o	ō	ō	ŏ	ō	c č	35618
		Semi-Stationary	RHIB	60	20	E 40		96 0	20	E 49	4	96		20	E 40		96		0	0		0	~	0					840
		Equipment resting		00	20	340	4	00 3	20	340	4	00	5	20	340	4	00	-	0		0	0							040
		Torpedo (Explosive)	SSBN																										
		Testing	33014	0		-				0.00					-	-	-	_	-	-			_		-	-			
			DDG	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			RHIB	o	0	0	0	0 0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c c	0 0
	Complete	Mine Countermeasure	MCM	6.67		205			474	205		-			205		-						_						
	Carriniet	and Neutralization	LHD	6.67	54	319	38	903 191	54	319	38	903	4 191	54	319	38	903	191	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	, c	14841
			DDG	6.67	401	763	27	590 24	401	763	27	590	24	401	763	27	590	24	ŏ	õ	ō	ō	o	õ	ō	õ	ō	, č	10938
	Hood Canal EOD	Mine Countermeasure	MCM	2.22		102	20	17 7		103	20	17	-	05	102	20	17	_					~						110
	Kange	and Neutralization	LHD	3.33	27	103	19	452 95	27	103	19	452	95	27	103	19	452	95	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	/ C	7420
			DDG	3.33	201	382	13	295 12	201	382	13	295	12	201	382	13	295	12	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c c	5469
	NS Everett	Acoustic Component	SSBN	E																									
	Lvelett		DDG	5	301	573	20	443 18	301	573	20	443	18	301	573	20	443	18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c	8203
			RHIB	5	2	46	0	7 1	2	46	0	7	1	2	46	0	7	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	σ	70
		Mine Counterror																											
		and Neutralization	MCM	6.67	171	205	41	34 4	171	205	41	34	4	171	205	41	34	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		220
			LHD	6.67	54	319	38	903 191	54	319	38	903	191	54	319	38	903	191	ŏ	õ	õ	õ	õ	ŏ	ŏ	ŏ	0	c c	14841
			DDG	6.67	401	763	27	590 24	401	763	27	590	24	401	763	27	590	24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	10938

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

AOCR	Pango (Location	Activity	Verrel	Annual	Total Criteria	Air Pollut	ants	SO PM	Criteria	Pollutants < 3,	000 ft agl	so	PM	Criteria Po	NO NO	3,000 ft	t agl State	PM	Criteria Pollu	utants < 3,	,000 ft agl	Federal	M	Criteria Pollu	utants < 3,0	000 ft agl In	ternational	PM	Fuel Use
AUCK	Range / Location	Acoustic Component	CERNI	Hours	00	NO <sub>x</sub>	100		10 00	NO <sub>x</sub>	1000	00x	10 10	00	NO <sub>x</sub>	000	JO <sub>x</sub>	10	00	NO <sub>x</sub>			10	00	NOx	VOC	JO <sub>x</sub>	10	(gai)
	NB Kipsat-Bangor	Testing	SSBN	30	1805	2425	120	2000 1	1.00		c 130	2.000	100	1.805	2.425	120	2.656	100					_					-	40.334
			RHIB	30	1805	274	2	43	5 1	) 3,43 ) 27	4 2	43	109	1,805	274	2	43	109	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	49220
		Acoustic Component																											
	NB Kipsat-Bremerton	Testing	SSBN	5																									
			DDG	5	301	573	20	443	18 30	L 57	3 20	443	18	301	573	20	443	18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8203
			RHIB	5	2	46	0	/	1	2 4	6 0		1	2	46	0		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	70
		Mine Countermeasure	мсм			2.05									2.05					-	-					-	-		
		and Neutralization	LHD	6.67	54	319	38	903 1	4 1/ 91 5	1 31	5 41 9 38	903	191	54	319	38	903	191	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14841
			DDG	6.67	401	763	27	590	24 40	L 76	3 27	590	24	401	763	27	590	24	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10938
	OPArea - NOI																												
		Anti-Submarine Warfare																											
		Testing																											
			DDG	48	2888	5497	192	4250 1	75 2,88	3 5,49	7 192	4,250	175	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2,888	5,497	192	4,250	175	78751
		At-Sea Sonar Testing																											
			DDG CVN	2.4	144	275	10	212	9 14	1 27	5 10	212	9	72	137	5	106	4	72	137	5	106	4	144	275	10	212	9	3938
			RHIB	2.4	1	22	0	3	0	L 2	2 0	3	0	0	11	0	2	0	0	11	0	2	0	1	22	0	3	0	34
		Torpedo Test - Non-	DDC																										
		Explosive	DDG	3.2	193	366	13	283	12 14	1 27	5 10	212	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	144	275	10	212	9	5250
			KHIB	5.2	1	25	0	5	Ŭ	21.5	4 0.14	5.40	0.50	0	0	0	0	Ŭ	0	0	0	0		1	22	0	5	Ŭ,	45
		Tornedo Test - Explosive	CODA	2.2																									
		Torpedo Test - Explosive	DDG	3.2	193	366	13	283	12 14	1 274.8	4 9.61	212.48	8.73	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	144	275	10	212	9	5250
			CVN	1.6	1	29	0	5	0 0.8	2 21.9	4 0.14	3.46	0.36	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	22	0	3	0	45
		Mine Country																											
		and Neutralization	MCM	12	307	370	73	62	7 30	7 37	0 73	62	7	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	o	307	370	73	62	7	396
			LHD	12	97	574	69	1626 3	43 9	7 574.0	0 69.21	1625.96 #	4#### 43.65	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	97	574	69	1,626	343	26714
			000	12	/22	13/4	40	1002	*** /2	13/4.1	40.07	1002.35	43.05			0		Ŭ				0	Ŭ	122	1,374	40	1,002	44	19000
		Kinetic Energy Weapon Testing (Railgun)	DDG	6.4	385	733	26	567	23 38	5 732.9	0 25.64	566.61	23.28	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	385	733	26	567	23	10500
		Propulsion Testing	DDG	6	361	697	24	531	22 36	687.0	9 24 03	531 19	21.83	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	361	697	24	531	22	9844
		riopuision resting	DDG	Ŭ	501	007	24	551	22 30	007.0	5 24.05	551.15	21.05			0		Ŭ				0	Ŭ	501	007	24	551	~~	5044
		Undersea Warfare Testing	DDG	12.8	770	1.466	51	1.133	47 77	1.46	6 51	1,133	47	254	484	17	374	15	254	484	17	374	15	254	484	17	374	15	21000
			RHIB	12.8	4	117	1	18	2	1 116.9	9 0.77	18.43	1.92	1	39	0	6	1	1	39	0	6	1	1	39	0	6	1	179
		Radar and Other System																											
		Testing	DDG	21.6	1,299	2,474	87	1,912	79 1,29	2,47	4 87	1,912	79	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,299	2,474	87	1,912	79	35438
		Non Acoustic																											
		Component Testing	RHIB	1.2	0	11	0	2	0	) 1	1 0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	11	0	2	0	17
			LHD	1.2	10	57	7	163	34 1	57.4	0 6.92	162.60	4 34.29	0	ő	ő	ő	0	0	ő	ő	ő	0	10	57	7	163	34	2671
		Simulant Testing	DDG	30	1.805	3.435	120	2,656 1	1.80	5 3.43	5 120	2,656	109	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.805	3.435	120	2,656	109	49220
	OPArea - PI		220		-,	-,		-,				_,						-					-	-,	-,		_,		
		Anti-Submarine Warfare Testing																											
			DDG	24	1444	2748	96	2125	87 1,44	1 2,74	8 96	2,125	87	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,444	2,748	96	2,125	87	39376
		At-Sea Sonar Testing																											
			DDG	1.2	72	137	5	106	4 7	2 13	7 5	106	4	36	69	2	53	2	36	69	2	53	2	72	137	5	106	4	1969
			RHIB	1.2	0	11	0	2	0	) 1	1 0	2	0	0	5	0	1	o	0	5	0	1	o	0	11	0	2	0	17
		Torpedo Test - Non-																											
		Explosive	DDG	1.6	96	183	6	142	6 7	2 13	7 5	106	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	72	137	5	106	4	2625
			RHIB	1.6	1	15	0	2	0	0 10.9	7 0.07	1.73	0.18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	11	0	2	0	22
		Torpedo Test - Explosive	SSBN	1.6		107	-					105.34	4.37										_		437	-	105		2625
			DDG CVN	1.6	96	183	6	142	6 /	2 137.4	2 4.81	106.24	4.37	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	72	137	5	106	4	2625
			RHIB	1.6	1	15	0	2	0 0.4	l 10.9	7 0.07	1.73	0.18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	11	0	2	0	22
		Mine Countermeasure	мсм																										
		and Neutralization	LHD	6	154	185	37	31 813 1	3 15	1 18	5 37	31	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	154	185	37	31 813	171	198
			DDG	6	361	687	24	531	22 36	687.0	9 24.03	531.19	21.83	o	ō	ō	ō	o	ō	ŏ	ō	ō	ŏ	361	687	24	531	22	9844
		Kinetic Energy Weapon																											
		Testing (Railgun)	DDG	3.2	193	366	13	283	12 19	3 366.4	5 12.82	283.30	11.64	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	193	366	13	283	12	5250
		Propulsion Testing	DDG	з	180	344	12	266	11 18	343.5	5 12.02	265.60	10.91	0	o	0	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	180	344	12	266	11	4922
		Lindorron Warfara																											
		Testing	DDG	6.4	385	733	26	567	23 38	5 73	3 26	567	23	127	242	8	187	8	127	242	8	187	8	127	242	8	187	8	10500
			RHIB	6.4	2	58	0	9	1	2 58.5	0 0.38	9.22	0.96	1	19	0	3	0	1	19	0	3	0	1	19	0	3	0	90
1									1				I					I					I						

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

				Annual	Total Criteria	Air Pollut	ants			Criteria Poll	utants < 3.00	0 ft agl			Criteria Po	Ilutants	< 3.000	ft agl State		Criteria P	ollutants	3 000 ft :	od Federa		Criteria Po	llutants < 3	000 ft agl I	Internation	al	Evelles
AOCR	Range / Location	Activity	Vessel	Hours	CO	NO.	VOC	SO P	M	CO	NO.	VOC	SO_	PM	CO	NO.	VOC	SO. PI	Maa	CO	NO.	VOC	SO.	PM	CO	NO.	VOC	SO.	PM	ruer Use
	hunge / cocation	Radar and Other System	(Case)	nours																										(gai)
		Testing	DDG	10.8	650	1,237	43	956	39	650	1,237	43	956	39	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c	650	1,237	43	956	39	17719
		Non Acoustic	PLUD																											
		Component Testing	KHID	0.6	0	5	0	1	0	0	5	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	0	5	0	1	0	8
			DDG	0.6	36	69	2	53	2	36	69	2	53	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	36	69	2	53	2	984
			LHD	0.6	5	29	3	81	17	5	28.70	3.46	81.30	17.15	0	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	0	c	5	29	3	81	17	1336
		Simulant Testing	DDG	25	1,504	2,863	100	2,213	91	1,504	2,863	100	2,213	91	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	1,504	2,863	100	2,213	91	41016
	OPArea - SOI																													
		Anti-Submarine Warfare Testing	DDG	48	2888	5497	192	4250	175	2,888	5,497	192	4,250	175	o	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c	2,888	5,497	192	4,250	175	78751
		At-Sea Sonar Testing																												
			DDG	2.4	144	275	10	212	9	144	275	10	212	9	72	137	5	106	4	72	137	5	106	4	144	275	10	212	9	3938
			CVN	2.4																										
			RHIB	2.4	1	22	0	3	0	1	22	0	3	0	0	11	0	2	0	0	11	0	2	C	1	22	0	3	0	34
		Torpedo Test - Non-																												
		Explosive	DDG	3.2	193	366	13	283	12	144	275	10	212	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	144	275	10	212	9	5250
			RHIB	3.2	1	29	0	5	0	1	21.94	0.14	3.46	0.36	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	1	22	0	3	0	45
		Tornado Test - Explosiva	CODA	2.2																										
		Torpedo Test - Explosive	DDG	3.2	193	366	13	283	12	144	274.84	9.61	212.48	8.73	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		144	275	10	212	9	5250
			CVN	3.2				200							_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-						-	
			RHIB	3.2	1	29	0	5	0	0.82	21.94	0.14	3.46	0.36	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	1	22	0	3	0	45
		Mine Countermeasure	MCM	12	207	270	72	62	-	207	370	77	62	-		0		0	_						207	370	72	63	7	200
		and Neutralization	IND	12	307	574	73	1626	343	307	574.00	69 21	62 1625 96 ±					0	0		0	0	0		307	574	/3	1 626	3/13	26714
			DDG	12	722	1374	48	1062	44	722	1374.19	48.07	1062.39	43.65	o	ō	ō	õ	o	o	ō	ō	o	0	722	1,374	48	1,062	44	19688
		Kinetic Energy Weapon	DDG																											
		Testing (Railgun)		6.4	385	733	26	567	23	385	732.90	25.64	566.61	23.28	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	385	733	26	567	23	10500
		Propulsion Testing	DDG	6	361	687	24	531	22	361	687.09	24.03	531.19	21.83	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c	361	687	24	531	22	9844
				-												-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-			-			
		Undersea Warfare	DDG																											
		Testing	000	12.8	770	1,466	51	1,133	47	770	1,466	51	1,133	47	254	484	17	374	15	254	484	17	374	15	254	484	17	374	15	21000
			RHIB	12.8	4	117	1	18	2	4	116.99	0.77	18.43	1.92	1	39	0	6	1	1	39	0	6	1	1	39	0	6	1	179
		Radar and Other System																												
		Testing	DDG	21.6	1,299	2,474	87	1,912	79	1,299	2,474	87	1,912	79	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c	1,299	2,474	87	1,912	79	35438
		Non Acoustic	RHIB		_																_	_						-		
		Component Testing	DDC	1.2	0	11	0	106	0	0	11	0	105	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	11	0	105	0	17
			LHD	1.2	10	57	7	163	34	10	57.40	6.92	162.60	34.29	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		10	57	5	163	34	2671
			616	4.6	10	27	1			10	57.40	0.52	202.00					~	Ŭ	Ŭ					10			200	34	20/1
		Simulant Testing	DDG	30	1,805	3,435	120	2,656	109	1,805	3,435	120	2,656	109	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C	1,805	3,435	120	2,656	109	49220

1000	Barra (Lassilian		Marcal	Annual	Total Criteria	Air Pollu	tants	80	DM	Criteria Pol	lutants < 3,00	0 ft agl	80 1	DM	Criteria P	ollutants	< 3,000 f	t agl State		Criteria Poll	utants < 3,	000 ft agl	Federal	DM	Criteria Poll	utants < 3/	000 ft agl In	ternationa	DM	Fuel Use
AUCK	OPArea - NCAB	Activity	vessei	Hours		NOx	VUC	30 <sub>x</sub>	10	00	NOx	VUC	30 <sub>x</sub>	10	0	NOx	VUC	30 <sub>x</sub> P	10	0	NO <sub>x</sub>		30 <sub>x</sub>	F 10110	0	NOx	VOC	30 <sub>x</sub>	r m10	(gal)
		Testing	DDG	48	2888	5497	192	4250	175	2,888	5,497	192	4,250	175	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	2,888	5,497	192	4,250	175	78751
		At-Sea Sonar Testing	DDG	2.4	144	275	10	212	9	144	275	10	212	9	72	137	5	106	4	72	137	5	106	4	144	275	10	212	9	3938
			CVN RHIB	2.4	1	22	0	з	o	1	22	0	3	o	0	11	0	2	o	0	11	0	2	o	1	22	0	3	o	34
		Torpedo Test - Non- Explosive	DDG	3.2	193	366	13	283	12	144	275	10	212	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	144	275	10	212	9	5250
			RHIB	3.2	1	29	0	5	0	1	21.94	0.14	3.46	0.36	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	22	0	3	0	45
		Torpedo Test - Explosive	SSBN DDG	3.2 3.2	193	366	13	283	12	144	274.84	9.61	212.48	8.73	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o	144	275	10	212	9	5250
			CVN RHIB	3.2 3.2	1	29	0	5	o	0.82	21.94	0.14	3.46	0.36	o	o	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	o	1	22	0	3	o	45
		Mine Countermeasure	мсм	12	307	370	73	62	7	307	370	73	62	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	307	370	73	62	7	396
			LHD DDG	12	97	574 1374	69 48	1626 1062	343 44	97 722	574.00 1374.19	69.21 1 48.07 1	L625.96 #	##### 43.65	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	97 722	574 1.374	69 48	1,626	343 44	26714 19688
		Kinetic Energy Weapon Testing (Railgun)	DDG	6.4	385	733	26	567	23	385	732.90	25.64	566.61	23.28	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	385	733	26	567	23	10500
		Propulsion Testing	DDG	6	361	687	24	531	22	361	687.09	24.03	531.19	21.83	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	361	687	24	531	22	9844
		Undersea Warfare																												
		Testing_	RHIB	12.8 12.8	770	1,466 117	51 1	1,133 18	47 2	770 4	1,466 116.99	51 0.77	1,133 18.43	47 1.92	254 1	484 39	17 0	374 6	15 1	254 1	484 39	17 0	374 6	15 1	254 1	484 39	17 0	374 6	15 1	21000 179
		Radar and Other System Testing	DDG	21.6	1,299	2,474	87	1,912	79	1,299	2,474	87	1,912	79	0	0	0	0	o	0	0	0	0	o	1,299	2,474	87	1,912	79	35438
		Non Acoustic Component Testing	RHIB	1.2	0	11	0	2	o	o	11	0	2	o	0	0	o	0	o	o	0	0	0	o	o	11	o	2	o	17
			LHD	1.2 1.2	72 10	137 57	5	106 163	4 34	72 10	137 57.40	5 6.92	106 162.60	4 34.29	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	72 10	137 57	5	106 163	4 34	1969 2671
		Simulant Testing Vessel Signature	DDG	30	1,805	3,435	120	2,656	109	1,805	3,435	120	2,656	109	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1,805	3,435	120	2,656	109	49220
SEAI, AK	SEAFAC	Evaluation	DDG	74 74 74	4452 25	8474 676	296 4	6551 107	269 11	4,452 25	8,474 676	296 4	6,551 107	269 11	4,452 25	8,474 676	296 4	6,551 107	269 11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	121408 1036
		Cold Water Support	SSBN DDG	8	481	916	32	708	29	481	916	32	708	29	481	916	32	708	29	0	o	0	0	o	o	o	0	o	o	13125
		Acoustic Component	SSBN																											
		Testing	DDG	104	6256	11910	417	9207	378	6,256	11,910	417	9,207	378	6,256	11,910	417	9,207	378	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	170628
		Countermeasure testing	DDG	4	241	458	16	354	15	180	344	12	266	11	180	344	12	266	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	6563
		Semi-Stationary	RHIB	4	1	37	0	6	1	1	27	0	4	0	1	27	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	56
		Equipment Testing	RHIB	3	1	27	0	4	0	1	27	0	4	0	1	27	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	42
		NWAB, WA ORAB												F	27.29	56.96	2.10	44.82	2.76											
		PSAB NOI, OR													2.57 4.58	7.62 8.91	0.37	6.38 7.37	0.82											
		<u>PI, OR</u> SOI, OR NCAB, CA													2.59 4.58 4.58	5.03 8.91	0.20	4.13 7.37 7.37	0.25											
														L	4.50	0.51	0.57	1.27	0.40											
					Total Criteria CO	Air Pollu NOx	VOC	SOx	PM10	Criteria Pol CO	lutants < 3,00 NOx	0 ft agl VOC	SOx F	PM10	Criteri CO	a Pollutan NOx	ts < 3,00 VOC	00 ft agl Sta SOx Pl	nte M10	Criteria CO	Pollutants NOx 1	< 3,000 ft /OC	agl Fede	PM10	Criteria CO	Pollutants NOx	< 3,000 ft a VOC	gl Internat SOx	ional PM10	
		SEAI, AK	pounds tons		11,493 5.7	23,449 11.7	772 0.4	17,088 8.5	719 0.4	11,432 5.7	23,325 11.7	768 0.4	16,998 8.5	715 0.4	11,432 5.7	23,325 11.7	768 0.4	16,998 8.5	715 0.4	0 0.0	0.0	0 0.0	0.0	0.0	0 0.0	0 0.0	0 0.0	0 0.0	0.0	
					Total Criteria	11.72 A Air Pollu	tants			Criteria Pol	lutants < 3.00	0 ft agl			Criteri	a Pollutar	ts < 3.00	0 ft agl Sta	ite	Criteria	Pollutants	< 3.000 ft	agl Fede	eral	Criteria	Pollutants	< 3,000 ft a	gl Internat	ional	
		TESTING SUBTOTAL			со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM10	со	NOx	voc	SOx P	PM10	со	NOx	voc	SOx PI	M10	со	NOx	VOC S	SOx	PM10	со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM10	Fuel Use (gal)
		(pounds) TESTING SUBTOTAL		5,276	136,856	284,877	11,347	*****	####	132,023	274,910	11,021	222,604 #	*****	72,301 1	154,846	5,779 1	21,115	7,958	2,280	4,659	153	3,390	143	58,111	116,770	5,134	99,092	7,330	4,144,743
		(tons) TESTING SUBTOTAL			68	142	6	115	8	66	137	6	111	8	36.2	77.4	2.9	60.6	4.0	1.1	2.3	0.1	1.7	0.1	29	58	3	50	4	
		(metric tons)		]	62	129	5	104	7	60	125	5	101	7	33	70	3	55	4	1	2	0	2	0	26	53	2	45	3	

## Table C-10: Ordnance Training Emissions Under Alternative 1

AOCR	Range / Location	Activity	Ordnance Item	Annual	Total Crit	eria Air P	ollutants			Criteria Po	llutants	< 3,000 ft	agl		Criteria Po	ollutants <	< 3,000 ft	agl State		Criteria Pol	lutants <	3,000 ft ag	gl Federal		Criteria Pol	utants < 3,	000 ft agl li	nternation	nal
		,		Amount	со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	voc	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	voc	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	voc	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>
NWAB, WA	Crescent Harbor	Surface Warfare (Surface-to-Surface) Boat (not included in	5.56 blank	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Mine Warfare Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) - no aircraft	2.5# charge	7.5	0.16	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.16	0.1575	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.16	0.063	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.063	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.03	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.03
	Puget Sound	Other																											
		Operations	5.56 blank	40	0.01	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			0.5-cal blank	40	0.45	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.445	0.049	0.000	0.000	0.013	0.445	0.049	0.000	0.000	0.013	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Strait of SJF	Other																											
		Maritime Security Operations	5.56 blank	61	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	o
			0.5-cal blank	61	0.45	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.445	0.049	0.000	0.000	0.013	0.445	0.049	0.000	0.000	0.013	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Whidbey Island	Other																											
		Maritime Security Operations- Certification	5.56 blank 0.5 cal	1320 1320	0.37	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.37	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.37	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.01	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			smoke grenade	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			shotgun	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
URAB, WA	W-237	Air Warfare																											
		Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)	LC Proj	945	166.28	54.42	0.00	0.00	324.99	83.14	27.21	0.00	0.00	162.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	83.14	27.21	0.00	0.00	162.50
			MC Proj	5000	420.25	7.38	0.00	0.00	10.40	210.13	3.09	0.00	0.00	8.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	210.13	3.09	0.00	0.00	8.20
		Missile Exercise (Surface-to-Air) - ship	AIM-116 (SS)	3.2	166.05	4.57	0.00	0.03	18.21	111.25	3.06	0.00	0.02	12.20	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	3.06	0.00	0.00	0.00	111.25	3.06	0.00	0.02	12.20
		Surface Warfare Missile Exercise (Air –to Surface)	0-																										
		,	HARM	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			AGM-114 AGM-65	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			AGM-84	2	20.50	6.15	0.00	0.12	20.50	20.50	6.15	0.00	0.12	20.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	20.50	6.15	0.00	0.12	20.50
	NUWC OPAREA	Anti-Air Warfare Gunnery Exercise	SEAW ER	5	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
		(Surface-to-Air)	LC Proj MC Proj	236 1250	41.57 105.06	13.60 1.85	0.00	0.00	81.25 4.10	20.78 52.53	6.80 0.92	0.00 0.00	0.00	40.62 2.05	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	20.78 52.53	6.80 0.92	0.00	0.00 0.00	40.62 2.05
		(Surface-to-Air) - ship																											
		emissions are included	AIM-116 (SS)	0.8	41.51	1.14	0.00	0.01	4.55	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.76	0.00	0.00	0.00	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05
		Surface Warfare Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface)																											
		Ship	LC Proj	680	119.68	39.17	0.00	0.00	233.92	119.68	39.17	0.00	0.00	233.92	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	119.68	39.17	0.00	0.00	233.92
		Bombing Exercise (Air-	MC Proj SC Proj	8373 30250	703.75 69.58	12.36 2.93	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	27.46 1.54	703.75 69.58	12.36 2.93	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	27.46 1.54	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	703.75 69.58	12.36 2.93	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	27.46 1.54
		Exercise (All-	MK-82 BDU-45	2.5 27.5	152.83 7.01	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	152.83 7.01	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	152.83 7.01	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00								
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted																											
			HARM AGM-114 AGM-65 AGM-84	0 0 0	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00														
			SLAIVI EK	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

AQCR	Range / Location	Activity	Ordnance Item	Annual	Total Crit	teria Air Po	ollutants	80	DM	Criteria Po	ollutants	< 3,000 ft	agl	DM	Criteria Po	NO	< 3,000 ft	agl State	DM	Criteria Poll	utants < 3	3,000 ft ag	Federal	DM	Criteria Pollu	utants < 3,	000 ft agl Ir	iternation	al
	Hood Canal			Amount	00	NOx	VOC	50 <sub>x</sub>	PW10	0	NOx	VOC	30 <sub>x</sub>	P IM 10	00	NOx	VOC	30 <sub>x</sub>	P M10	00	NOx	VOC	30 <sub>x</sub>	PW10	00	NOx	VOC	30 <sub>x</sub>	P W110
		<u>Mine Warfare</u> Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) - no aircraft	2.5# charge	3.75	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.07875	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.0315	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.0315	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
		<u>Other</u> Maritime Security Operations	5.56 blank 0.5-cal blank	61 61	0.01 0.45	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.011 0.445	0.001 0.049	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011 0.445	0.001 0.049	0.000	0.000	0.000 0.013	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
	Dabob Bay	Other																											
		Maritime Security			0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00																				
		Operations	5.56 blank	29	0.45	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			0.5 car blank	23						0.115	0.015	0.000	0.000	0.015	0.115	0.015	0.000	0.000	0.015	Ŭ		Ŭ	0	0	, in the second s	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	
	Puget Sound	Other																											
		Maritime Security Operations	5.56 blank	40	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c
			0.5-cal blank	40	0.45	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.445	0.049	0.000	0.000	0.013	0.445	0.049	0.000	0.000	0.013	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	c
	Strait of SJF	Other																											
		Maritime Security	E EC block	61	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0			0	0	0	
		Operations	0.5-cal blank	61	0.45	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.445	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.445	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
PSAB			0.5-car blank	01						0.445	0.045	0.000	0.000	0.015	0.445	0.045	0.000	0.000	0.015	0	0	0	0		0	0			
	NUWC OPAREA	Air Warfare																											
		Gunnery Exercise																											
		(Surface-to-Air)	LC Proj	236	41.57	13.60	0.00	0.00	81.25	20.78	6.80	0.00	0.00	40.62	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	20.78	6.80	0.00	0.00	40.62
			MC Proj	1250	105.06	1.85		0.00	4.10	52.53	0.92	0.00	0.00	2.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	52.53	0.92	0.00	0.00	2.05
		Missile Exercise (Surface-to-Air) - ship emissions are included in Gunnery exercises	I																										
			AIM-116 (SS)	0.8	41.51	1.14	0.00	0.01	4.55	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05
		<u>Surface Warfare</u> Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Ship																											
			LC Proj MC Proj	408 5023.8	71.81	23.50 7.42	0.00	0.00	140.35 16.48	71.81	23.50 7.42	0.00	0.00	140.35 16.48	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	71.81 422.25	23.50 7.42	0.00	0.00	140.35
			SC Proj	18150	41.75	1.76	0.00	0.00	0.93	41.75	1.76	0.00	0.00	0.93	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	41.75	1.76	0.00	0.00	0.93
		Bombing Exercise (Air-	to-Surface)																										
			MK-82 BDU-45	1.5 16.5	91.70 4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70 4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70 4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
		Sinking Exercise																											
		(SINKEX) - no longer	HARM	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			AGM-114	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			AGM-65 AGM-84	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			SLAM ER	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Hood Canal	Mine Warfare																											
		Mine Neutralization – Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) - no aircraft	2.5# charge	3.75	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.0315	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.0315	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
		Other																											
		Maritime Security	E EC block	~	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.000										
		Operations	0.5-cal blank	61	0.45	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
												2.300	2.500				2.000				5				Ŭ	č			
	Kitsap-Bremerton	Other Small Boat Attack	5.56 blank	333.33	0.09	9 0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

AQCR	Range / Location	Activity	Ordnance Item	Annual	Total Crite	eria Air Po NO.	llutants VOC	SO.	PM <sub>10</sub>	Criteria Po	Ilutants • NO.	< 3,000 ft	agl SO.	PM <sub>10</sub>	Criteria Po	NO.	< 3,000 ft	agl State	PM <sub>10</sub>	Criteria Pol	utants < 3 NO.	3,000 ft ag	SO_	PM <sub>10</sub>	Criteria Poll	utants < 3,0 NO_	000 ft agl Ir VOC	so.	al PM <sub>10</sub>
	Kitsap-Bangor	<u>Other</u>									x													10					10
		Maritime Security			0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00		_															_			
		Operations	5.56 blank	123	0.45	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			0.5-car blank	125						0.445	0.045	0.000	0.000	0.013	0.445	0.045	0.000	0.000	0.013										
		Small Boat Attack	5.56 blank	333.33	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	NS Everett	Other Small Boat Attack	5.56 blank	333,33	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	Proved Council	Other		555.55																									
	Puget Sound	Other																											
		Maritime Security Operations	5.56 blank	40	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.011	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
			0.5-cal blank	40	0.45	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.445	0.049	0.000	0.000	0.013	0.445	0.049	0.000	0.000	0.013	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
NOL OR																													
	NUWC OPAREA	A																											
		Gunnery Exercise																											
		(Surface-to-Air)	LC Proj	236	41.57	13.60	0.00	0.00	81.25	20.78	6.80	0.00	0.00	40.62	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	20.78	6.80	0.00	0.00	40.62
			MC Proj	1250	105.06	1.85		0.00	4.10	52.53	0.92	0.00	0.00	2.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	52.53	0.92	0.00	0.00	2.05
		Missile Exercise																											
		(Surface-to-Air) - ship emissions are included																											
		in Gunnery exercises	AINA 116 (SS)	0.8	41.51	1.14	0.00	0.01	4.55	27.91	0.76	0.00	0.01	2.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	2.05
			AllVI-110 (33)	0.0	41.51	1.14	0.00	0.01	4.55	27.01	0.70	0.00	0.01	3.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	27.01	0.70	0.00	0.01	3.05
		Surface Warfare																											
		Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface)																											
		Ship	LC Proj	408	74.04	22.50	0.00	0.00	140.05	71.01	22.50	0.00	0.00	140.25	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	71.01	22.50	0.00	0.00	140.35
			MC Proj	5023.8	71.81 422.25	23.50 7.42	0.00	0.00	140.35 16.48	422.25	7.42	0.00	0.00	140.35	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	422.25	7.42	0.00	0.00	140.35
		Develop Freedom (Ale	SC Proj	18150	41.75	1.76	0.00	0.00	0.93	41.75	1.76	0.00	0.00	0.93	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	41.75	1.76	0.00	0.00	0.93
		Bombing Exercise (Air-	MK-82	1.5	91.70	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			BDU-45	16.5	4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
		Sinking Exercise																											
		(SINKEX) - no longer																											
		conducted	HARM	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			AGM-114 AGM-65	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			AGM-84	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			SLAIVI EK	0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
PI, OR																													
	LOTE OF AREA	Air Warfare																											
		(Surface-to-Air)																											
			LC Proj MC Proj	236 1250	41.57	13.60	0.00	0.00	81.25	20.78	6.80	0.00	0.00	40.62	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	20.78	6.80	0.00	0.00	40.62
		Missile Eversion		1250	105.00	1.05		0.00	4.10	52.55	0.52	0.00	0.00	2.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	52.55	0.52	0.00	0.00	2.00
		(Surface-to-Air) - ship																											
		emissions are included in Gunnery exercises																											
		,	AIM-116 (SS)	0.8	41.51	1.14	0.00	0.01	4.55	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05
		Surface Warfare Gunnery Exercise																											
		(Surface-to-Surface)																											
		Sub	LC Proj	408	71.81	23.50	0.00	0.00	140.35	71.81	23.50	0.00	0.00	140.35	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	71.81	23.50	0.00	0.00	140.35
			MC Proj SC Proj	5023.8 18150	422.25 41.75	7.42 1.76	0.00	0.00	16.48 0.93	422.25 41.75	7.42 1.76	0.00	0.00	16.48 0.93	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	422.25 41.75	7.42 1.76	0.00	0.00	16.48 0.93
		Bombing Exercise (Air-	to-Surface)																										
		Series Preseive (All-	MK-82	1.5	91.70	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
			BDU-45	16.5	4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

Appendix C Air Quality Example Calculations

				Annual	Total Crit	eria Air Po	llutants			Criteria Po	llutants <	< 3,000 ft :	agl		Criteria Po	llutants «	< 3,000 ft	agl State		Criteria Po	llutants <	3,000 ft ag	I Federal		Criteria Poll	lutants < 3	,000 ft agl	nternatio	nal
AQCR	Range / Location	Activity	Ordnance Item	Amount	со	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	СО	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted																											
			HARM AGM-114 AGM-65 AGM-84 SLAM ER	0 0 0	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00														
SOI, OR				-																									
	NUWC OPAREA	<u>Air Warfare</u> Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)																											
			LC Proj MC Proj	236 1250	41.57 105.06	13.60 1.85	0.00	0.00 0.00	81.25 4.10	20.78 52.53	6.80 0.92	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	40.62 2.05	0.00 0.00	20.78 52.53	6.80 0.92	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	40.62 2.05									
		Missile Exercise (Surface-to-Air) - ship emissions are included in Gunnery exercises																											
			AIM-116 (SS)	0.8	41.51	1.14	0.00	0.01	4.55	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05
		Surface Warfare Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Ship																											
			LC Proj MC Proj SC Proj	408 5023.8 18150	71.81 422.25 41.75	23.50 7.42 1.76	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	140.35 16.48 0.93	71.81 422.25 41.75	23.50 7.42 1.76	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	140.35 16.48 0.93	0.00 0.00 0.00	71.81 422.25 41.75	23.50 7.42 1.76	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	140.35 16.48 0.93									
		Bombing Exercise (Air-1	to-Surface) MK-82 BDU-45	1.5 16.5	91.70 4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70 4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70 4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted																											
			HARM AGM-114 AGM-65 AGM-84 SLAM ER	0 0 0 0	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00																								
NCAB, CA																													
	NOWC OPAREA	<u>Air Warfare</u> Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Air)																											
			LC Proj MC Proj	236 1250	41.57 105.06	13.60 1.85	0.00	0.00 0.00	81.25 4.10	20.78 52.53	6.80 0.92	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	40.62 2.05	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	20.78 52.53	6.80 0.92	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	40.62 2.05
		Missile Exercise (Surface-to-Air) - ship emissions are included in Gunnery exercises																											
			AIM-116 (SS)	0.8	41.51	1.14	0.00	0.01	4.55	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	27.81	0.76	0.00	0.01	3.05
		<u>Surface Warfare</u> Gunnery Exercise (Surface-to-Surface) Ship																											
			LC Proj MC Proj SC Proj	408 5023.8 18150	71.81 422.25 41.75	23.50 7.42 1.76	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	140.35 16.48 0.93	71.81 422.25 41.75	23.50 7.42 1.76	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	140.35 16.48 0.93	0.00 0.00 0.00	71.81 422.25 41.75	23.50 7.42 1.76	0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00 0.00	140.35 16.48 0.93									
		Bombing Exercise (Air-1	to-Surface) MK-82 BDU-45	1.5 16.5	91.70 4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70 4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	91.70 4.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

1000		A	0.1	Annual	Total Crite	ria Air Pol	llutants			Criteria Po	llutants	< 3,000 ft :	agl		Criteria Po	llutants	< 3,000 ft	agi State		Criteria Pol	lutants <	3,000 ft a	gl Federal		Criteria Pol	lutants < 3	,000 ft agl	Internatio	nal
AQCR	Range / Location	Activity	Ordnance Item	Amount	СО	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	со	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	СО	NOx	VOC	SO <sub>x</sub>	PM <sub>10</sub>	CO	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>	СО	NOx	VOC	SOx	PM <sub>10</sub>
		Sinking Exercise (SINKEX) - no longer conducted					, e						•							•			•						
			HARM AGM-114 AGM-65 AGM-84 SLAM ER	0 0 0 0	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00																								
		TRAINING SUBTOTAL (pounds) TRAINING SUBTOTAL			6132.92	392.03	0.00	0.21	1971.90	5262.78	311.01	0.00	0.18	1530.14	19.40	2.09	0.00	0.00	0.60	0.13	3.84	0.00	0.00	0.06	5243.25	308.90	0.00	0.18	1529.47
		(tons) TRAINING SUBTOTAL (metric tons)			3.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	1.0	2.6	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.6	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.8
		NWAB, WA			0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
		ORAB, WA			1.01	0.07	0.00	0.00	0.37	0.79	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.26	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.79	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.26
		PSAB, WA Noi, OR			0.41 0.41	0.02	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.12 0.12	0.37 0.37	0.02	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.10 0.10	0.00 0.00	0.00	0.00 0.00	0.37 0.37	0.02 0.02	0.00 0.00	0.00 0.00	0.10 0.10							
		<u>PI, OR</u> SOI, OR			0.41	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.12	0.37	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.37	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.10
		NCAB, CA Total			0.41 3.07	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.12	0.37	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.37	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.10

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

# **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

# Northwest Training and Testing

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

APPENDIX D		ACOUST	C AND EXPLOSIVE CONCEPTS	D-1
D.1	Termin	ology		D-1
	D.1.1	Sound		D-1
	D.1.2	Signal Ve	rsus Noise	D-1
	D.1.3	Frequen	cy and Wavelength	D-2
	D.1.4	Sound A	nplitude	D-2
	D.1.5	Impulsiv	e Versus Non-Impulsive Sounds	D-3
	D.1.6	Acoustic	Impedance	D-3
	D.1.7	Duty Cyc	le	D-3
	D.1.8	Resonan	ce	D-3
D.2	Sound	Metrics		D-4
	D.2.1	Pressure		D-4
	D.2.2	Sound Pr	essure Level	D-4
	D.2.3	Sound Ex	posure Level	D-5
	D.2.4	Particle r	notion	D-7
	D.2.5	Impulse.		D-7
D.3	Predict	ing How S	ound Travels	D-7
	D.3.1	Speed of	Sound	D-8
	D.3.2	Source D	irectivity	D-9
	D.3.3	Transmis	sion Loss	D-9
		D.3.3.1	Geometrical Spreading Loss	D-10
		D.3.3.2	Absorption	D-11
		D.3.3.3	Refraction	D-11
		D.3.3.4	Reflection and Multipath Propagation	D-12
		D.3.3.5	Diffraction, Scattering, and Reverberation	D-13
		D.3.3.6	Surface and Bottom Effects	D-13
		D.3.3.7	Air-Water Interface	D-14
D.4	Audito	ry Percep	tion	D-15
D.5	Explosi	ves		D-17
	D.5.1	Explosio	ns in Air	D-18
		D.5.1.1	Fragmentation	D-19

# List of Figures

Figure D-1: Various Sound Pressure Metrics for a Hypothetical (a) Pure Tone (Non-Impulsive) and (b) Impulsive Sound D	)-4
Figure D-2: Summation of Acoustic Energy from a Hypothetical, Intermittently Pinging, Stationary Sound Source	)-6
Figure D-3: Cumulative Sound Exposure Level Under Realistic Conditions with a Moving, Intermittently Pinging Sound Source D	)-7
Figure D-4: Sound Velocity Profile (Sound Speed) Is Related to Temperature, Salinity, and Hydrostatic Pressure of Seawater D	)-9
Figure D-5: Graphical Representation of the Inverse Square Relationship in Spherical Spreading D-	10
Figure D-6: Sound Propagation Showing Multipath Propagation and Conditions for Surface Duct D-	12
Figure D-7: Characteristics of Sound Transmission Through the Air-Water Interface	15
Figure D-8: A-weighting for Human Hearing of Sounds in Air (OSHA). The Numbers Along the Curve Indicate How a Received Sound Level Would Be Adjusted at that Frequency D-	17
Figure D-9: Impulse Shown as a Function of Pressure over Duration at a Specific Location	18

# **List of Tables**

There are no tables in this appendix.

# APPENDIX D ACOUSTIC AND EXPLOSIVE CONCEPTS

This appendix is an update to the 2015 Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas EIS (OEIS) Appendix F (Acoustic and Explosives Primer) and introduces basic principles and terminology for acoustics and explosives to help the reader understand the analyses presented in this Environmental Impact Statement. This appendix briefly explains the transmission of sound and explosive energy; introduces some of the basic mathematical formulas used to describe propagation; and defines acoustical terms, abbreviations, and units of measurement. The difference between transmission of sound in water and in air is also discussed. Finally, it discusses methods used to analyze what animals may hear.

A number of other sources provide a more extensive background on acoustics and explosives than presented in this overview and are recommended for further inquiry. These include, but are not limited to:

- Marine Mammals and Noise (Richardson et al., 1995) for a general overview
- Principles of Underwater Sound (Urick, 1983), Fundamentals of Acoustical Oceanography (Medwin & Clay, 1998), and Principles of Marine Bioacoustics (Au & Hastings, 2008) for comprehensive explanations of underwater acoustics

### D.1 Terminology

The following terms are used in this document when discussing sound and the attributes of a sound source.

### D.1.1 Sound

Sound is produced when an elastic medium (such as air or water) is set into motion, typically by a vibrating object within the medium. As the object vibrates, its motion is transmitted to adjacent "particles" of the medium. The motion of these particles is transmitted to adjacent particles, and so on. The result is a mechanical disturbance (the "sound wave") that moves away from the source and propagates at a medium-dependent speed (the "sound speed"). As the sound wave travels through the medium, the individual particles of the medium oscillate about their original positions but do not actually move with the sound wave. As the particles of the medium move back and forth they create small changes about the original values of the medium density, pressure, and temperature.

Sound may be described by both physical and subjective attributes. Physical attributes, such as sound amplitude and frequency, may be directly measured. Subjective (or sensory) attributes like loudness depend on an animal's perception of sound. Physical attributes of a sound at a particular point are usually obtained by measuring pressure changes as sound waves pass.

### D.1.2 Signal Versus Noise

When sound is purposely created to convey information, communicate, or obtain information about the environment, it is often referred to as a signal. Examples of sounds that could be considered signals are sonar pings, marine mammal vocalizations and echolocation clicks, tones used in hearing experiments, and small sonobuoy explosions used for submarine detection.

Noise is undesired sound (American National Standards Institute, 1994). Sounds produced by naval aircraft and vessel propulsion are considered noise because they represent possible inefficiencies and increased detectability. Whether a sound is perceived as noise often depends on the receiver (i.e., the

animal or system that detects the sound). For example, small explosives and sonar used to generate sounds that can locate an enemy submarine produce signals that are useful to sailors engaged in anti-submarine warfare, but are assumed to be noise when detected by marine mammals.

The combination of all sounds at a particular location, whether these sources are located near or far, is ambient noise (American National Standards Institute, 1994). Ambient noise includes natural sources, such as sound from crashing waves, rain, and animals (e.g., snapping shrimp), and anthropogenic sources, such as seismic surveys and vessel noise.

### D.1.3 Frequency and Wavelength

Frequency is the physical attribute most closely associated with the subjective attribute "pitch"; the higher the frequency, the higher the pitch. Frequency is defined by the number of oscillations in the sound pressure or particle motion per second. One hertz (Hz) is equal to one oscillation per second, and one kilohertz (kHz) is equal to 1,000 oscillations per second. Human hearing generally spans the frequency range from 20 Hz to 20 kHz. The frequency range of a sound is called its bandwidth.

Pure tones have energy at a constant, single frequency. Complex tones contain energy at multiple, discrete frequencies, rather than a single frequency. A harmonic of a sound at a particular frequency is a multiple of that frequency (e.g., harmonic frequencies of a 2 kHz tone are 4 kHz, 6 kHz, 8 kHz, etc.). A source operating at a nominal frequency may emit several harmonic frequencies, but at lower amplitudes. Some sources may also emit subharmonics; however, these are typically many orders of magnitude less powerful than at the center frequency. Sounds with large bandwidth ("broadband" sounds) have energy spread across many frequencies.

In this document, sounds are generally described as either low- (less than 1 kHz), mid- (1 kHz–10 kHz), high- (10 kHz–100 kHz), or very high- (greater than 100 kHz) frequency. Hearing ranges of marine animals (e.g., fish, birds, sea turtles, and marine mammals) are quite varied and are species-dependent. For example, some fish can hear sounds below 100 Hz and some species of marine mammals have hearing capabilities that extend above 100 kHz. Acoustic impact analyses must therefore focus not only on the sound amplitude (i.e., pressure or particle motion, see Section D.1.4), but on the sound frequency and the hearing capabilities of the species being considered.

The wavelength of a sound is the distance between wave peaks. Wavelength decreases as frequency increases. The frequency multiplied by the wavelength equals the speed of sound in a medium, as shown in this equation:

Frequency  $(s^{-1})$  x wavelength (m) = sound speed (m/s)

The approximate speed of sound in sea water is 1500 m/s and in air is 340 m/s, although speed varies depending on environmental conditions [e.g., pressure, temperature, and, in the case of sea water, salinity; see Section D.3.1, Speed of Sound].

### D.1.4 Sound Amplitude

Sound amplitude is the physical attribute most closely associated with the subjective attribute loudness. Amplitude is related to the amount that the medium particles oscillate about their original positions and can be thought of as the "strength" of a sound (as the amplitude increases, the loudness also increases). As the sound wave travels, the particles of the medium oscillate but do not actually travel with the wave. The result is a mechanical disturbance (i.e., the sound wave) that propagates away from the sound source. Sound amplitude is typically characterized by measuring the acoustic pressure or particle motion (see Section D.2, Sound Metrics).

### D.1.5 Impulsive Versus Non-Impulsive Sounds

Although no standard definitions exist, sounds may be broadly categorized as impulsive or nonimpulsive. Impulsive sounds have short durations, rapid rise-times, broad frequency content, and high peak sound pressures. Impulsive sounds are often produced by processes involving a rapid release of energy or mechanical impacts (Hamernik & Hsueh, 1991). Explosions, air guns, weapon firing, and impact pile driving are examples of impulsive sound sources analyzed in this document. In contrast, sonars, vessel operation, vibratory pile driving, and underwater transducers lack the characteristics of impulsive sources and are thus examples of non-impulsive sound sources. Non-impulsive sounds can be essentially continuous, such as machinery noise, or intermittent, such as sonar pings.

### D.1.6 Acoustic Impedance

Acoustic impedance is a property of the propagation medium (air, water, or tissue) that can be simply described as the opposition to flow of a pressure wave. Acoustic impedance is a function of the density and speed of sound in a medium. Sound transmits more readily through materials of similar acoustic impedance, such as water and animal tissue. When sound waves encounter a medium with different acoustic impedance (for example, an air-water interface), they reflect and refract (see Sections D.3.3.3, Refraction; and D.3.3.4, Reflection and Multipath Propagation), creating more complex propagation conditions. For example, sound traveling in air (low impedance) encountering the water surface (high impedance) will be largely reflected, preventing most sound energy in the air from being transmitted into the water. The impedance difference at the tissue-air interface in animals with gas-containing organs also makes these areas susceptible to damage when exposed to the shock wave near an explosion, since the transmission from high-impedance to low-impedance can result in large motion at the boundary.

### D.1.7 Duty Cycle

Duty cycle describes the portion of time that a sound source actually generates sound. It is defined as the percentage of time during which a sound is generated over a total operational time period. For example, if a sonar source produces a one-second ping once every 10 seconds, the duty cycle is 10 percent. Duty cycles vary among different acoustic sources; in general, a low duty cycle could be considered 20 percent or less and a high duty cycle 80 percent or higher.

### D.1.8 Resonance

Resonance occurs when an object is vibrated at a frequency near its "natural frequency" or resonant frequency. The resonant frequency can be considered the preferred frequency at which an object will oscillate at a greater magnitude than when exposed to other frequencies. In this document, resonance is considered in relation to the size of an air bubble or air cavity in an animal that is exposed to high pressure waves and the potential for injury. The natural frequencies of dolphin and beluga lungs near the surface are about 36 Hz and 30 Hz, respectively (Finneran, 2003), the natural frequency of lungs of a large whale would be lower, while the natural frequency of small air bubbles would be much higher. Resonant frequencies would tend to increase as an animal dives, since the increased water pressure would compress an air-filled structure and reduce its size.

### D.2 Sound Metrics

The sound metrics described here are used in this document to quantify exposure to a sound or explosion.

### D.2.1 Pressure

Sound pressure is the incremental variation in a medium's static pressure as a sound wave travels through it. Sound pressure is typically expressed in units of pascals (Pa) (1 Pa =  $1 \text{ N/m}^2 = 10 \text{ µbar} = 1.45 \times 10^{-4} \text{ psi}$ ), although explosive overpressure may also be described in pounds per square inch (psi).

Various sound pressure metrics are illustrated in Figure D-1 for (a) a non-impulsive sound (a pure tone in this illustration) and (b) an impulsive sound. As shown in Figure D-1, the non-impulsive sound has a relatively gradual rise in pressure from static pressure (the ambient pressure without the added sound), while the impulsive sound has a near-instantaneous rise to a high peak pressure. The peak pressure shown on both illustrations is the maximum absolute value of the instantaneous sound pressure during a specified time interval ("zero-to-peak" or "peak"), which accounts for the values of peak pressures below the static (ambient) pressure (American National Standards Institute, 2013). "Peak-to-peak" pressure is the difference between the maximum and minimum sound pressures. The root-mean-square (rms) value is often used to describe the average sound pressure level of sounds, and sound pressure levels provided in this EIS/OEIS are root-mean-square values unless otherwise specified. As the name suggests, this method takes the square root of the average squared sound pressure values over a time interval. The duration of this time interval can have a strong effect on the measured rms sound pressure for a given sound, especially where pressure levels vary significantly, as during an impulsive sound exposure. If the analysis duration includes a significant portion of the waveform after the sound pressure has returned to zero, the rms pressure would be relatively low. If the analysis duration includes only the highest pressures of the impulsive exposure, the rms value would be comparatively high. For this reason, it is important to specify the duration used to calculate the rms pressure for impulsive sounds.



### Figure D-1: Various Sound Pressure Metrics for a Hypothetical (a) Pure Tone (Non-Impulsive) and (b) Impulsive Sound

### D.2.2 Sound Pressure Level

The most common sound level metric is sound pressure level (SPL). Because many animals can detect very large pressure ranges and judge the relative loudness of sounds by the ratio of the sound pressures (a logarithmic behavior), SPL is described by taking the logarithm of the ratio of the sound pressure to a reference pressure. Use of a logarithmic scale compresses the wide range of measured pressure values into a more useful scale.

Sound pressure levels are normally expressed in decibels. A decibel is 1/10 of a bel, a unit of level when the logarithm is to the base ten and the quantities concerned are proportional to power (American National Standards Institute, 2013). Sound pressure level in decibels is calculated as follows:

$$SPL = 20 \log_{10} \left( \frac{P}{P_{ref}} \right)$$

where P is the sound pressure and P<sub>ref</sub> is the reference pressure. Unless stated otherwise, the pressure P is the rms value of the pressure (American National Standards Institute, 2013). In some situations, SPL is calculated for the peak pressure rather than the rms pressure. On the occasions when rms pressure is not used, the pressure metric will be stated (e.g., peak SPL means an SPL calculated using the peak pressure rather than the rms pressure).

When a value is presented in decibels, it is important to also specify the value and units of the reference quantity. Normally the numeric value is given, followed by the text "re," meaning "with reference to," and the numeric value and unit of the reference quantity. For example, a pressure of 1 Pa, expressed in decibels with a reference of 1 micropascal ( $\mu$ Pa), is written 120 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa. The standard reference pressures are 1  $\mu$ Pa for water and 20  $\mu$ Pa for air. The reference pressure for air, 20  $\mu$ Pa, is the approximate lowest threshold of human hearing. It is important to note that because of the differences in reference units, the same sound pressures would result in different SPL values for each medium (the same sound pressure measured in water and in air would result in a higher SPL in water than in air, since the in-air reference is larger). Therefore, sound pressure levels in air and in water should never be directly compared.

### D.2.3 Sound Exposure Level

Sound exposure level (SEL) can be thought of as a composite metric that represents both the SPL of a sound and its duration. Individual time-varying noise events (e.g., a series of sonar pings or an impulsive sound) have two main characteristics: (1) a sound pressure that changes throughout the event and (2) a period of time during which the source is exposed to the sound. SEL can be provided for a single exposure (i.e., a single sonar ping or single explosive detonation) or for an entire acoustic event (i.e., multiple sonar pings or multiple explosive detonations). Cumulative SEL provides a measure of the net exposure of the entire acoustic event, but it does not directly represent the sound level heard at any given time. SEL is determined by calculating the decibel level of the cumulative sum-of-squared pressures over the duration of a sound, with units of dB re 1 micropascal squared seconds (re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s) for sounds in water and dB re (20 micropascal) squared seconds [dB re (20  $\mu$ Pa)<sup>2</sup>-s] for sounds in air.

Some rules of thumb for SEL are as follows:

- The numeric value of SEL is equal to the SPL of a one-second sound that has the same total energy as the exposure event. If the sound duration is one second, SPL and SEL have the same numeric value (but not the same reference quantities). For example, a one-second sound with an SPL of 100 dB re 1 μPa has a SEL of 100 dB re 1 μPa<sup>2</sup>-s.
- If the sound duration is constant but the SPL changes, SEL will change by the same number of decibels as the SPL.
- If the SPL is held constant and the duration (T) changes, SEL will change as a function of 10log<sub>10</sub>(T):
  - $\circ$  10 log<sub>10</sub> (10) = 10, so increasing duration by a factor of 10 raises SEL by 10 dB.

- $\circ$  10 log<sub>10</sub> (0.1) = -10, so decreasing duration by a factor of 10 lowers SEL by 10 dB.
- Since  $10 \log_{10}(2) \approx 3$ , so doubling the duration increases SEL by 3 dB.
- $10 \log_{10}(1/2) \approx -3$ , so halving the duration lowers SEL by 3 dB.

Figure D-2 illustrates the summation of energy for a succession of sonar pings. In this hypothetical case, each ping has the same duration and SPL. The SEL at a particular location from each individual ping is 100 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s (red circles). The upper, blue curve shows the running total or cumulative SEL.



*Note: EL = Exposure Level (i.e., Sound Exposure Level)* 

### Figure D-2: Summation of Acoustic Energy from a Hypothetical, Intermittently Pinging, Stationary Sound Source

After the first ping, the cumulative SEL is 100 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s. Since each ping has the same duration and SPL, receiving two pings is the same as receiving a single ping with twice the duration. The cumulative SEL from two pings is therefore 103 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s. The cumulative SEL from four pings is 3 dB higher than the cumulative SEL from two pings, or 106 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s. Each doubling of the number of pings increases the cumulative SEL by 3 dB.

Figure D-3 shows a more realistic example where the individual pings do not have the same SPL or SEL. These data were recorded from a stationary hydrophone as a sound source approached, passed, and moved away from the hydrophone. As the source approached the hydrophone, the received SPL from each ping increased, causing the SEL of each ping to increase. After the source passed the hydrophone, the received SPL and SEL from each ping decreased as the source moved farther away (downward trend of red line), although the cumulative SEL increased with each additional ping received (slight upward trend of blue line). The main contributions are from those pings with the highest individual SELs. Individual pings with SELs 10 dB or more below the ping with the highest level contribute little (less than 0.5 dB) to the total cumulative SEL. This is shown in Figure D-3, where only a small error is introduced by
summing the energy from the eight individual pings with SEL greater than 185 dB re 1  $\mu$ Pa<sup>2</sup>-s (black line), as opposed to including all pings (blue line).



*Note: EL = Exposure Level (i.e., Sound Exposure Level)* 

# Figure D-3: Cumulative Sound Exposure Level Under Realistic Conditions with a Moving, Intermittently Pinging Sound Source

# D.2.4 Particle motion

The particles of a medium (e.g., water or air) oscillate around their original position as a sound wave passes. This motion is quantified using average displacement (m or dB re 1pm), velocity (m/s or dB re 1 nm/s<sup>2</sup>), and acceleration (m/s<sup>2</sup> or dB re 1  $\mu$ m/s<sup>2</sup>) of the particles (Nedelec et al., 2016). Note that particle velocity is not the same as sound speed, which is how fast a sound wave moves through a medium. Particle motion is directional, whereas pressure measurement is not (Nedelec et al., 2016).

Far from a sound source and without any boundaries that could cause wave interference, particle velocity is directly proportional to sound pressure. Closer to a sound source, particle velocity begins to increase relative to sound pressure. Because this phenomenon is related to wavelength, it may be relevant only when very close to sound sources with extremely low frequencies.

# D.2.5 Impulse

Impulse is a metric used to describe the pressure and time component of a pressure wave. Impulse is typically only considered for high energy exposures to impulsive sources, such as exposures close to explosives. Specifically, positive impulse is the time integral of the initial peak positive pressure with units of Pascal-seconds (Pa-s). Impulse is a measured quantity that is distinct from the term "impulsive," which is not a measurement term, but rather describes a type of sound (see Section D.1.5, Impulsive Versus Non-Impulsive Sounds).

# D.3 Predicting How Sound Travels

While the concept of a sound wave traveling from its source to a receptor is relatively simple, sound propagation is quite complex because of the simultaneous presence of numerous sound waves of

different frequencies and source levels, and other phenomena such as reflections of sound waves and subsequent constructive (additive) or destructive (cancelling) interferences between reflected and incident waves. Other factors such as refraction, diffraction, bottom types, and surface conditions also affect sound propagation. While simple examples are provided here for illustration, the Navy Acoustic Effects Model used to quantify acoustic exposures to marine mammals and sea turtles takes into account the influence of multiple factors to predict acoustic propagation [see technical report *Quantitative Analysis for Estimating Acoustic and Explosive Impacts to Marine Mammals and Sea Turtles* (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2017a)].

# D.3.1 Speed of Sound

The speed of sound is not affected by the SPL or frequency of the sound, but rather depends wholly on characteristics of the medium through which it is passing (e.g., the density and the compressibility). Sound travels faster through a medium that is harder to compress. For example, water is more difficult to compress than air, and sound travels approximately 340 m/s in air and 1,500 m/s in seawater.

The speed of sound in air is primarily influenced by temperature, relative humidity, and pressure, because these factors affect the density and compressibility of air. Generally, the speed of sound in air increases as air temperature increases.

The speed of sound in seawater also increases with increasing temperature and, to a lesser degree, with increasing hydrostatic pressure and salinity. Figure D-4 shows an example of how these attributes can change with depth. In seawater, temperature has the most important effect on sound speed for depths less than about 300 m. Below 1,500 m, the increasing hydrostatic pressure is the dominant factor because the water temperature is relatively constant. The variation of sound speed with depth in the ocean is called a sound velocity profile.



Source: Diogou (2014)

# Figure D-4: Sound Velocity Profile (Sound Speed) Is Related to Temperature, Salinity, and Hydrostatic Pressure of Seawater

# D.3.2 Source Directivity

Most sonar and other active acoustic sources do not radiate sound in all directions. Rather, they emit sounds over a limited range of angles, in order to focus sound energy on a specific area or object of interest. The specific angles are sometimes given as horizontal or vertical beam width. Some sources can be described qualitatively as "forward-looking," when sound energy is radiated in a limited direction in front of the source, or "downward-looking," when sound energy is directed toward the bottom.

# D.3.3 Transmission Loss

As a sound wave passes through a medium, the sound level decreases with distance from the sound source. This phenomenon is known as transmission loss (TL). The transmission loss is used to relate the source SPL (SL), defined as the SPL produced by a sound source at a distance of one meter, and the received SPL (RL) at a particular location, as follows:

D-9

The main contributors to transmission loss are as follows (Urick, 1983):

- Geometric spreading of the sound wave as it propagates away from the source
- Sound absorption (conversion of sound energy into heat)
- Scattering, diffraction, multipath interference, and boundary effects

## D.3.3.1 Geometrical Spreading Loss

Spreading loss is a geometric effect representing regular weakening of a sound wave as it spreads out from a source. Spreading describes the reduction in sound pressure caused by the increase in surface area as the distance from a sound source increases. Spherical and cylindrical spreading are common types of spreading loss.

In the simple case of sound propagating from a point source without obstruction or reflection, the sound waves take on the shape of an expanding sphere. An example of spherical spreading loss is shown in Figure D-5. As spherical propagation continues, the sound energy is distributed over an ever-larger area following the inverse square law: the pressure of a sound wave decreases inversely with the square of the distance between the source and the receptor. For example, doubling the distance between the receptor and a sound source results in a reduction in the pressure of the sound to one-fourth of its initial value; tripling the distance results in one-ninth of the original pressure, and so on. Since the surface area of a sphere is  $4\pi r^2$ , where r is the sphere radius, the change in SPL with distance r from the source is proportional to the radius squared. This relationship is known as the spherical spreading law. The transmission loss for spherical spreading between two locations is:

## $TL = 20 \log_{10} (r_2/r_1)$

where  $r_1$  and  $r_2$  are distances from the source. Spherical spreading results in a 6 dB reduction in SPL for each doubling of distance from the sound source. For example, calculated transmission loss for spherical spreading is 40 dB at 100 m and 46 dB at 200 m.



Figure D-5: Graphical Representation of the Inverse Square Relationship in Spherical Spreading

In cylindrical spreading, spherical waves expanding from the source are constrained by the water surface and the seafloor and take on a cylindrical shape. In this case the sound wave expands in the shape of a cylinder rather than a sphere, and the transmission loss is:

$$TL = 10log_{10}(r_2/r_1)$$

Cylindrical spreading is an approximation of sound propagation in a water-filled channel with horizontal dimensions much larger than the depth. Cylindrical spreading predicts a 3 dB reduction in SPL for each doubling of distance from the source. For example, calculated transmission loss for cylindrical spreading is 30 dB at 1,000 m and 33 dB at 2,000 m.

The cylindrical and spherical spreading equations above represent two simple hypothetical cases. In reality, geometric spreading loss is more spherical near a source and more cylindrical with distance, and is better predicted using more complex models that account for environmental variables, such as the Navy Acoustic Effects Model [see technical report *Modeling and Quantitative Analysis of Acoustic and Explosive Impacts to Marine Species due to Navy Training and Testing Activities* (DON 2017)].

However, when conducting simple spreading loss calculations in near shore environments, "practical spreading loss" can be applied, where:

$$TL = 15log_{10}(r_2/r_1)$$

Practical spreading loss accounts for other realistic losses in the environment, such as absorption and scattering, which are not accounted for in geometrical spreading.

# D.3.3.2 Absorption

Absorption is the conversion of acoustic energy to kinetic energy in the particles of the propagation medium (Urick, 1983). Absorption is directly related to sound frequency, with higher frequencies having higher rates of absorption. Absorption rates range from 0.07 dB/km for a 1 kHz sound to about 30 dB/km for a 100 kHz sound. Therefore, absorption is the cause of a significant amount of attenuation for high and very high frequency sound sources, reducing the distance over which these sources may be perceived compared to mid- and low-frequency sound sources with the same source level.

# D.3.3.3 Refraction

When a sound wave propagating in a medium encounters a second medium with a different density (e.g., the air-water boundary), part of the incident sound will be reflected back into the first medium and part will be transmitted into the second medium (Kinsler et al., 1982). The propagation direction will change as the sound wave enters the second medium; this phenomenon is called refraction. Refraction may also occur within a single medium if the properties of the medium change enough to cause a variation in the sound speed. Refraction of sound resulting from spatial variations in the sound speed is one of the most important phenomena that affect sound propagation in water (Urick, 1983).

As discussed in Section D.3.1 (Speed of Sound), the sound speed in the ocean primarily depends on hydrostatic pressure (i.e., depth) and temperature. Although the actual variations in sound speed are small, the existence of sound speed gradients in the ocean has an enormous effect on the propagation of sound in the ocean. If one pictures sound as rays emanating from an underwater source, the propagation of these rays changes as a function of the sound speed profile in the water column. Specifically, the directions of the rays bend toward regions of slower sound speed. This phenomenon creates ducts in which sound becomes "trapped," allowing it to propagate with high efficiency for large distances within certain depth boundaries. During winter months, the reduced sound speed at the

surface due to cooling can create a surface duct that efficiently propagates sound such as commercial shipping noise (Figure D-6). Sources located within this surface duct can have their sounds trapped, but sources located below this layer would have their sounds refracted downward. The deep sound channel, or sound frequency and ranging (SOFAR) channel, is another duct that exists where sound speeds are slowest deeper in the water column (600–1,200 m depth at the mid-latitudes).

Similarly, the path of sound will bend toward regions of lower sound speed in air. Air temperature typically decreases with altitude, meaning sounds produced in air tend to bend skyward. When an atmospheric temperature inversion is present, air is cooler near the earth's surface. In inversion conditions, sound waves near the earth's surface will tend to refract downward.



Note: 1 kiloyard (kyd) = 0.9 km

# Figure D-6: Sound Propagation Showing Multipath Propagation and Conditions for Surface Duct

# D.3.3.4 Reflection and Multipath Propagation

In multipath propagation, sound may not only travel a direct path (with no reflection) from a source to a receiver, but also be reflected from the surface or bottom multiple times before reaching the receiver (Urick, 1983). Reflection is shown in Figure D-6 at the seafloor (bottom bounce) and at the water surface. At some distances, the reflected wave will be in phase with the direct wave (their waveforms add together) and at other distances the two waves will be out of phase (their waveforms cancel). The existence of multiple sound paths, or rays, arriving at a single point can result in multipath interference,

a condition that permits the addition and cancellation between sound waves, resulting in the fluctuation of sound levels over short distances.

Reflection plays an important role in the pressures observed at different locations in the water column. Near the bottom, the direct path pressure wave may sum with the bottom-reflected pressure wave, increasing the exposure. Near the surface, however, the surface-reflected pressure wave may destructively interfere with the direct path pressure wave, "cutting off" the wave and reducing exposure (called the Lloyd mirror effect). This can cause the sound level to decrease dramatically within the top few meters of the water column.

# D.3.3.5 Diffraction, Scattering, and Reverberation

Diffraction, scattering, and reverberation are examples of what happens when sound waves interact with obstacles in the propagation path.

Diffraction may be thought of as the change of direction of a sound wave as it passes around an obstacle. Diffraction depends on the size of the obstacle and the sound frequency. The wavelength of the sound must be larger than the obstacle for notable diffraction to occur. If the obstacle is larger than the wavelength of sound, an acoustic shadow zone will exist behind the obstacle where the sound is unlikely to be detected. Common examples of diffraction include sound heard from a source around the corner of a building and sound propagating through a small gap in an otherwise closed door or window.

An obstacle or inhomogeneity (e.g., smoke, suspended particles, gas bubbles due to waves, and marine life) in the path of a sound wave causes scattering as these inhomogeneities reradiate incident sound in a variety of directions (Urick, 1983). Reverberation refers to the prolongation of a sound, after the source has stopped emitting, caused by multiple reflections at water boundaries (surface and bottom) and scattering.

## D.3.3.6 Surface and Bottom Effects

Because the sea surface reflects and scatters sound, it has a major effect on the propagation of underwater sound in applications where either the source or receiver is at a shallow depth (Urick, 1983). If the sea surface is smooth, the reflected sound pressure is nearly equal to the incident sound pressure; however, if the sea surface is rough, the amplitude of the reflected sound wave will be reduced. Sound waves reflected from the sea surface experience a phase reversal. When the surface-reflected waves interact with the direct path waves near the surface, a destructive interference pattern is created in which the received pressure approaches zero.

The sea bottom is also a reflecting and scattering surface, similar to the sea surface. Sound interaction with the sea bottom is more complex, however, primarily because the acoustic properties of the sea bottom are more variable and the bottom is often layered into regions of differing density. As sound travels into the seafloor it reflects off of these different density layers in complex ways. For sources in contact with the bottom, such as during pile driving or bottom-placed explosives, a ground wave is produced that travels through the bottom sediment and may refract back into the water column.

For a hard bottom such as rock, the reflected wave will be approximately in phase with the incident wave. Thus, near the ocean bottom, the incident and reflected sound pressures may add together (constructive interference), resulting in an increased sound pressure near the sea bottom. Soft bottoms such as mud or sediment absorb sound waves and reduce the level in the water column overall.

## D.3.3.7 Air-Water Interface

Sound from aerial sources such as aircraft and weapons firing may be transmitted into the water under certain conditions. The most studied of these sources are fixed-wing aircraft and helicopters, which create noise with most energy below 500 Hz. Noise levels in water are highest at the surface and are highly dependent on the altitude of the aircraft and the angle at which the aerial sound encounters the ocean surface. Transmission of the sound once it is in the water is identical to any other sound as described in the sections above.

Transmission of sound from a moving airborne source to a receptor underwater is influenced by numerous factors and has been addressed by Young (1973), Urick (1983), Richardson et al. (1995), Eller and Cavanagh (2000), Laney and Cavanagh (2000), and others. Sound is transmitted from an airborne source to a receptor underwater by four principal means: (1) a direct path, refracted upon passing through the air-water interface; (2) direct-refracted paths reflected from the bottom in shallow water; (3) evanescent transmission in which sound travels laterally close to the water surface; and (4) scattering from interface roughness due to wave motion.

When sound waves in air meet the water surface, the sound can either be transmitted across the airwater boundary or reflected off the water surface. When sound waves meet the water at a perpendicular angle (e.g., straight down from an in-air source to a flat water surface), the sound waves are both transmitted directly across the water surface in the same direction of travel and reflected 180° back toward the original direction of travel. This can create a localized condition at the water surface where the incident and reflected waves sum, doubling the in-air overpressure (+ 6 dB). As the incident angle of the in-air sound wave changes from perpendicular, this phenomenon is reduced, ultimately reaching the angle where sound waves are parallel to the water surface and there is no surface reflection.

The sound that enters the water is refracted due to the difference in sound velocity between air and water, as shown in Figure D-7. As the angle of the in-air incident wave moves away from perpendicular, the direction of travel of the underwater refracted waves becomes closer to parallel to the water surface. When the incident angle is reached where the underwater refracted sound wave is parallel to the water surface, all of the sound is reflected back into the air and no sound enters the water. This occurs at an angle of about 13-14°. As a result, most of the acoustic energy transmitted into the water through a relatively narrow cone extending vertically downward from the in-air source. The width of the footprint would be a function of the source altitude. Lesser amounts of sound may enter the water outside of this cone due to surface scattering (e.g., from water surface waves that can vary the angle of incidence over an area) and as evanescent waves that are only present very near the surface.



Source: Richardson et al. 1995

# Figure D-7: Characteristics of Sound Transmission Through the Air-Water Interface

If a sound wave is ideally transmitted into water (that is, with no surface transmission loss, such as due to foamy, wave conditions that could decrease sound entering the water), the sound pressure level underwater is calculated by changing the pressure reference unit from 20  $\mu$ Pa in air to 1  $\mu$ Pa in water. For a sound with the same pressure in air and water, this calculation results in a +26 dB sound pressure level in water compared to air. For this reason, sound pressure levels in water and sound pressure levels in air should never be directly compared.

# D.4 Auditory Perception

Animals with an eardrum or similar structure, including mammals, birds, and reptiles, directly detect the pressure component of sound. Some marine fish also have specializations to detect pressure changes, although most invertebrates and many marine fish do not have anatomical structures that enable them to detect the pressure component of sound and are only sensitive to the particle motion component of sound. This difference in acoustic energy sensing mechanisms limits the range at which these animals can detect most sound sources analyzed in this document. This is because far from a sound source (i.e., in the far field), particle velocity and sound pressure are directly proportional. But close to a source (i.e., in the near field), particle velocity increases relative to sound pressure and may become more detectable to certain animals. As sound frequency increases, the wavelength becomes shorter, resulting in a smaller near field.

Because mammalian ears can detect large pressure ranges and humans judge the relative loudness of sounds by the ratio of the sound pressures (a logarithmic behavior), sound amplitude is described by the SPL, calculated by taking the logarithm of the ratio of the sound pressure to a reference pressure (see

Section D.2.2, Sound Pressure Level). Use of a logarithmic scale compresses the wide range of pressure values into a more usable numerical scale. On the decibel scale, the smallest audible sound in air (near total silence) to a human is 0 dB re 20  $\mu$ Pa. If the sound intensity increases by a factor of 10, the SPL would increase to 10 dB re 20  $\mu$ Pa. If the sound intensity increases by a factor of 100, the SPL would increase to 20 dB re 20  $\mu$ Pa, and if the sound intensity increases by a factor of 1000, the SPL would be 30 dB re 20  $\mu$ Pa. A quiet conversation has an SPL of about 50 dB re 20  $\mu$ Pa, while the threshold of pain is around 120–140 dB re 20  $\mu$ Pa.

As described in Section D.2.2 (Sound Pressure Level), SPLs under water differ from those in air because they rely on different reference pressures in their calculation; therefore, the two should never be directly compared.

While sound pressure and frequency are physical measure of the sound, loudness is a subjective attribute that varies with not only sound pressure but also other attributes of the sound, such as frequency. For example, a human listener would perceive a 60 dB re 20  $\mu$ Pa sound at 2 kHz to be louder than a 60 dB re 20  $\mu$ Pa sound at 50 Hz, even though the SPLs are identical. This effect is most noticeable at lower sound pressure levels; however, at very high sound pressure levels, the difference in perceived loudness at different frequencies becomes smaller.

To account for differences in hearing sensitivity at various frequencies, acoustic risk analyses commonly use auditory weighting functions—mathematical functions that adjust (or "weight") received sound levels across sound frequency based on how the listener's sensitivity or susceptibility to sound changes at different frequencies. For humans, the most common weighting function is called "A-weighting" (see Figure D-8). A-weighted sound levels are specified in units of "dBA" (A-weighted decibels). For example, if the unweighted received level of a 500 Hz tone at a human receiver was 90 dB re 20  $\mu$ Pa, the A-weighted sound level would be 90 dB – 3 dB = 87 dBA because the A-weighting function amplitude at 500 Hz is -3 dB. Many measurements of sound in air appear as A-weighted decibels in the literature because the intent of the authors is to assess noise impacts on humans.

The auditory weighting concept can be applied to other species. When used in analyzing the impacts of sound on an animal, auditory weighting functions adjust received sound levels to emphasize ranges of best hearing and de-emphasize ranges of less or no sensitivity. Auditory weighting functions were developed for marine mammals and sea turtles and are used to assess acoustic impacts. For more information on weighting functions and their derivation for this analysis see technical report *Criteria and Thresholds for U.S. Navy Acoustic and Explosive Effects Analysis* (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2017b).



# Figure D-8: A-weighting for Human Hearing of Sounds in Air (OSHA). The Numbers Along the Curve Indicate How a Received Sound Level Would Be Adjusted at that Frequency.

## D.5 Explosives

Explosive materials used in Navy testing and training activities are either (1) "high explosives," sometimes referred to as HE, which means that the explosive material has a very fast rate of detonation (exceeding the speed of sound), or (2) low explosives, which exhibit a relatively slow burn, or deflagration, such as black powder. Because low explosives are typically used in small quantities and have less destructive power, the below discussion focuses on high explosives.

This rate of detonation of a high explosive is highly supersonic, producing a high pressure, steep instantaneous shock wave front travelling through the explosive material. This shock front is produced by the supersonic expansion of the explosive products, but as the shock front travels away from the immediate area of the detonation, it begins to behave as an acoustic wave front travelling at the speed of sound.

The near-instantaneous rise from ambient to an extremely high peak pressure is what makes the explosive shock wave potentially damaging. The area under this positive pressure duration is calculated as the positive impulse.

The positive pressure produced by an explosion is also referred to as the overpressure. As the shock front passes a location, the positive pressure exponentially decays, as shown in Figure D-9. As the shock front travels away from the detonation, the waveform is stretched—the peak pressure decreases while the positive duration increases. The reduction in peak pressure reduces the rate at which the positive impulse is received. Both the reduction in peak pressure and stretching of the positive impulse reduce

the potential for injury. In addition, absorption losses of higher frequencies over distance results in a softening of the shock front, such that the rise to peak pressure is no longer near-instantaneous.



# Figure D-9: Impulse Shown as a Function of Pressure over Duration at a Specific Location

The peak pressure experienced by a receptor (i.e., an animal) is a function of the explosive material, the net explosive weight, and the distance from the charge. Net explosive weight (NEW) is a way to classify and compare quantities of different explosive compounds. The net explosive weight for a charge is the energetic equivalent weight of trinitrotoluene (TNT). In general, shock wave effects near an explosive charge increase in proportion to the cube root of the explosive weight (Young, 1991). For example, shock wave impacts will double when the explosive charge weight is increased by a factor of eight (i.e., cube root of eight equals two). This relationship is known as the similarity principle, and the corresponding similitude equations allow for prediction of various explosive metrics for a given charge weight and material.

The similitude equations allow for a simple prediction of peak pressure in a uniform free field environment, and sources are provided below for using these equations for estimating explosive effects in air and in water. However, at longer distances or in more complex environments with boundaries and variations in the propagation medium, explosive propagation modeling is preferred.

## D.5.1 Explosions in Air

Explosions in air produce an initial blast front that propagates away from the detonation. When pressure waves from an explosion in air meet the water surface, the pressure wave can be transmitted across the air-water boundary and reflected off the water surface. When pressure waves in air meet the water at a perpendicular angle (e.g., straight down from an in-air source to a flat water surface), the sound waves are both transmitted directly across the water surface in the same direction of travel and reflected 180° back toward the original direction of travel. For acoustic waves, this can create a localized condition at the water surface where the incident and reflected waves sum, doubling the in-air overpressure (+ 6 dB). For shock waves with high incident pressures travelling at supersonic speeds, the reflection from the water surface depends on the angle of incidence and the speed of the shock wave,

and the reflected shock wave pressure can be greater than the incident shock wave pressure (Kinney & Graham, 1985; U.S. Department of the Navy, 1975).

In certain explosive geometries, depending on the size of the explosive and its height of detonation, a combined shock wave, called a Mach stem, can be created by the summing of the direct and reflected shock waves at larger angles of incidence (Kinney & Graham, 1985). In instances where this specific geometry does not occur, only the direct path wave is experienced because there is no surface reflection (waves are parallel to or angled away from the water surface, such as would occur when an explosive is detonated at the water surface), or separate direct and reflected pressure waves may be experienced.

# D.5.1.1 Fragmentation

Missiles, rockets, projectiles, and other cased weapons will produce casing fragments upon detonation. These fragments may be of variable size and are ejected at supersonic speed from the detonation. The casing fragments will be ejected at velocities much greater than debris from any target due to the proximity of the casing to the explosive material. Unlike detonations on land targets, detonations during Navy training and testing would not result in other propelled materials such as crater debris.

Fragment density can be simply assumed to follow an inverse-square law with distance, in which the possibility of fragment strike is reduced by the square of the distance from the original detonation point. The forces of gravity and drag will further reduce the likelihood of strike with increasing distance than is accounted for in the inverse-square relationship (Zaker, 1975). The possible area of strike risk at any given distance from the detonation point is limited to the surface area of produced fragments, with drag and gravity reducing the number of produced fragments that travel to greater distances.

## D.5.2 Explosions in Water

At the instant of explosion underwater, gas byproducts are generated at high pressure and temperature, creating a bubble. The heat causes a certain amount of water to vaporize, adding to the volume of the bubble. This action immediately begins to force the water in contact with the blast front in an outward direction, creating an intense, supersonic pressure shock wave. As the high-pressure wave travels away from the source, it slows to the speed of sound and acts like an acoustic wave similar to other impulsive sources that lack a strong shock wave (e.g., air guns). Explosions have the greatest amount of energy in lower frequencies below 500 Hz, although energy is present in frequencies exceeding 10 kHz (Urick, 1983). The higher frequency components exhibit more attenuation with distance due to absorption (see Section D.3.3.2, Absorption).

The shock wave caused by an explosion in deeper water may be followed by several bubble pulses in which the explosive byproduct gases expand and contract, with correlated high and low pressure oscillations. These bubble pulses lack the steep pressure front of the initial explosive pulse, but the first bubble pulse may still contribute to the total energy released at frequencies below 100 Hz (Urick, 1983). Subsequent bubble pulses contribute little to the total energy released during the explosion (Urick, 1983). If the detonation occurs at or just below the surface, a portion of the explosive power is released into the air and a pulsating gas bubble is not formed.

The pressure waves from an explosive can constructively add or destructively cancel each other in ocean environments with multi-path propagation, as described for acoustic waves in Section D.3.3.3 (Refraction) and Section D.3.3.4 (Reflection and Multipath Propagation). The received impulse is affected by the depth of the charge and the depth of the receiving animal. Pressure waves from the

detonation may travel directly to the receiver or be reflected off the water surface before arriving at the receiver. If a charge is detonated closer to the surface or if an animal is closer to the surface, the time between the initial direct path arrival and the following surface-reflected tension wave arrival is reduced, resulting in a steep negative pressure cut-off of the initial direct path positive impulse exposure. Two animals at similar distances from a charge, therefore, may experience the same peak pressure but different levels of impulse at different depths.

# **REFERENCES**

- American National Standards Institute. (1994). ANSI S1.1-1994 (R 2004) American National Standard Acoustical Terminology. New York, NY: The Acoustical Society of America.
- American National Standards Institute. (2013). *Acoustical Terminology*. Melville, NY: The Acoustical Society of America.
- Au, W., and M. Hastings. (2008). Principles of Marine Bioacoustics. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Diogou, N. (2014). *Talk about the weather*. *Animal Bioacoustics: Technology. Ecology. Noise*. Retrieved from http://blogs.oregonstate.edu/bioacoustics/2014/10/21/talk-weather/.
- Eller, A. I., and R. C. Cavanagh. (2000). *Subsonic Aircraft Noise at and Beneath the Ocean Surface: Estimation of Risk for Effects on Marine Mammals*. McLean, VA: United States Air Force Research Laboratory.
- Finneran, J. J. (2003). Whole-lung resonance in a bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) and white whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*). *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 114(1), 529–535.
- Hamernik, R. P., and K. D. Hsueh. (1991). Impulse noise: Some definitions, physical acoustics and other considerations. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *90*(1), 189–196.
- Kinney, G. F., and K. J. Graham. (1985). *Explosive Shocks in Air* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Kinsler, L. E., A. R. Frey, A. B. Coppens, and J. V. Sanders. (1982). *Fundamentals of Acoustics* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Medwin, H., and C. Clay. (1998). *Fundamentals of Acoustical Oceanography*. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Nedelec, S. L., J. Campbell, A. N. Radford, S. D. Simpson, and N. D. Merchant. (2016). Particle motion: The missing link in underwater acoustic ecology. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(7), 836– 842.
- Richardson, W. J., C. R. Greene, Jr., C. I. Malme, and D. H. Thomson. (1995). *Marine Mammals and Noise*. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- U.S. Department of the Air Force. (2000). *Supersonic Aircraft Noise At and Beneath the Ocean Surface: Estimation of Risk for Effects on Marine Mammals* (AFRL-HE-WP-TR-2000-0167). McLean, VA: United States Air Force Research Laboratory.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (1975). *Explosion Effects and Properties Part I Explosion Effects in Air*. Silver Spring, MD: White Oak Laboratory, Naval Surface Weapons Center.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2017a). *Quantitative Analysis for Estimating Acoustic and Explosive Impacts to Marine Mammals and Sea Turtles*. Newport, RI: Space and Naval Warfare System Command, Pacific and Naval Undersea Warfare Cente.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2017b). *Criteria and Thresholds for U.S. Navy Acoustic and Explosive Effects Analysis (Phase III)*. San Diego, CA: Space and Naval Warfare System Command, Pacific.
- Urick, R. J. (1983). Principles of Underwater Sound (3rd ed.). Los Altos, CA: Peninsula Publishing.
- Young, G. A. (1991). *Concise Methods for Predicting the Effects of Underwater Explosions on Marine Life*. Silver Spring, MD: Naval Surface Warfare Center.

- Young, R. W. (1973). Sound pressure in water from a source in air and vice versa. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 53(6), 1708–1716.
- Zaker, T. A. (1975). *Fragment and Debris Hazards*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Defense Explosives Safety Board.

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

# **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

# Northwest Training and Testing

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# APPENDIX E ESTIMATED MARINE MAMMAL AND SEA TURTLE IMPACTS FROM EXPOSURE TO ACOUSTIC AND EXPLOSIVE STRESSORS UNDER NAVY TRAINING AND TESTING ACTIVITIES......E-1

E.1	Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Training Activities
E.2	Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Training Activities
E.3	Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Testing Activities
E.4	Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Testing Activities
E.5	Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts from Explosives Under Navy Training Activities E-19
E.6	Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosives Under Navy Training Activities
E.7	Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts from Explosives Under Navy Testing Activities E-29
E.8	Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosives Under Navy Testing Activities
E.9	Estimated Sea Turtle Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Training and Testing Activities
E.10	Estimated Sea Turtle Impacts from Explosives Under Navy Training and Testing Activities
	E-38

# **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this appendix.

# List of Tables

Table E-1: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per Year from Sonar Training ActivitiesTable E-2: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar Training ActivitiesTable E-3: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per Year from Sonar Testing ActivitiesTable E-4: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar Testing ActivitiesTable E-4: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar Testing ActivitiesE-16Table E-5: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per Year from Explosive Training ActivitiesE-20Table E-6: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosive Training ActivitiesE-20Table E-6: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosive Training ActivitiesE-20Table E-6: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosive Training ActivitiesE-20Table E-6: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosive Training ActivitiesE-20Table E-7: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per Year from Explosive Training ActivitiesE-20

i

Table E-8: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosive Testing Activities...E-34

March 2019

# Appendix EEstimated Marine Mammal and Sea TurtleImpacts from Exposure to Acoustic and Explosive StressorsUnder Navy Training and Testing Activities

Navy training and testing activities would result in the incidental takes of marine mammals and sea turtles within the Study Area. The following appendix provides the estimated number of marine mammal and sea turtle impacts. Specifically, estimated impacts are derived from the quantitative analysis for activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 that involve the use of acoustic or explosive stressors. The quantitative analysis takes into account Navy activities, marine species density layers, acoustic modeling, and other environmental parameters. A detailed explanation of the quantitative analysis is provided in the technical report Quantifying Acoustic Impacts on Marine Mammals and Sea Turtles: Methods and Analytical Approach for Phase III Training and Testing (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2017). It is important to note that *impacts*, as discussed in this appendix, represent the estimated instances of take of marine mammals or sea turtles, not necessarily the number of individuals impacted (i.e., some marine mammals or sea turtles could be impacted several times, while others would not experience any impact). The take tables below represent the minimum and maximum impacts under Alternative 1, and the maximum impacts under Alternative 2 for any given year and across a consecutive 7-year period. because the level of certain activities may vary annually as described in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives), estimated impacts under Alternative 1 will also vary between nominal and maximum years. The variation in activity level under Alternative 2 is negligible therefore the difference in impacts are not presented. In addition, across training and testing activities, the 7-year total impacts in each table may be more or less than seven times the maximum impact in any year. Estimated impacts are provided over the duration of the Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) Regulations and Letters of Authorization, which would be valid for a 7-year period.

# E.1 Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Training Activities

Table E-1 provides a summary of the estimated number of marine mammal impacts from exposure to sonar and other transducers used during Navy training activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of a year.

		Alternative 1 – Minimum			Alternative 1 – Maximum			Alternative 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Order Cetacea										
Suborder Mystic	eti (baleen whales	5)								
Family Balaenop	oteridae (rorquals)									
Blue whale*	Eastern North Pacific	2	0	0	2	0	0	2	0	0
	Northeast Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Fin whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	41	13	0	41	13	0	42	13	0
Sei whale*	Eastern North Pacific	16	14	0	16	14	0	16	14	0
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Minke whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	51	58	0	52	58	0	54	58	0
	Central North Pacific	3	2	0	3	2	0	3	2	0
Humpback* whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	3	2	0	3	2	0	3	2	0
Family Eschricht	iidae (gray whale)	1								
Current al a	Eastern North Pacific	1	0	0	2	0	0	2	0	0
Gray whate	Western North Pacific <sup>†</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

#### Table E-1: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per Year from Sonar Training Activities

		Alternative 1 – Minimum			Alternative 1 – Maximum			Alternative 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Suborder Odont	oceti (toothed wh	ales)	-				-			
Family Delphini	dae (dolphins)									
	California,									
Bottlenose dolphin	Oregon, & Washington, Offshore	5	0	0	5	0	0	5	0	0
	Alaska Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Eastern North Pacific Offshore	67	1	0	67	1	0	69	1	0
Killer whale	Northern Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	West Coast Transient	73	2	0	76	2	0	79	2	0
	Southern Resident <sup>†</sup>	2	0	0	2	0	0	3	0	0
Northern right whale dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	7,765	156	0	7,785	156	0	7,985	156	0
	North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Pacific white- sided dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	5,149	85	0	5,198	86	0	5,311	87	0
Risso's dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	2,234	46	0	2,240	46	0	2,301	46	0
Short-beaked common dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	1,133	25	0	1,140	25	0	1,152	25	0

		Alternative 1 –	Minimur	n	Alternative 1 – Maximum			Alternative 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	ттѕ	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Short-finned pilot whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	57	0	0	57	0	0	58	0	0
Striped dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	424	13	0	426	13	0	432	13	0
Family Kogiidae	(Kogia spp.)									
Pygmy sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	182	160	0	183	160	0	188	161	0
Dwarf sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	20	18	0	20	18	0	21	18	0
Family Phocoeni	dae (porpoises)									
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Dall's porpoise	California, Oregon, & Washington	6,871	6,346	5	6,911	6,368	6	7,088	6,419	6
	Southeast Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Harbor	Northern Oregon/ Washington Coast	212	87	0	212	87	0	273	99	0
porpoise	Northern California/ Southern Oregon	21	0	0	21	0	0	21	0	0
	Washington Inland Waters	6,607	3,409	12	8,010	4,244	16	9,977	5,196	19

		Alternative 1 – Minimum			Alternative 1 – Maximum			Alternative 2 – Maximum				
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS		
Family Physeter	idae (sperm whale	?)										
Sperm whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	508	2	0	510	2	0	519	2	0		
Family Ziphiidae (beaked whales)												
Baird's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	553	0	0	556	0	0	559	0	0		
Cuvier's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	1,456	1	0	1,461	1	0	1,497	1	0		
Mesoplodon spp	California, Oregon, & Washington	648	1	0	651	1	0	666	1	0		
Suborder Pinnip	edia											
Family Otariidae	e (sea lions and fu	r seals)										
California sea lion	U.S. Stock	3,578	9	0	3,615	9	0	3,698	9	0		
Steller sea lion	Eastern U.S.	103	1	0	107	1	0	114	1	0		
Guadalupe fur seal*	Mexico	603	3	0	605	3	0	617	3	0		
Northern fur	Eastern Pacific	2,125	4	0	2,130	4	0	2,162	4	0		
seal	California	43	0	0	43	0	0	44	0	0		

		Alternative 1 – Minimum			Alternative 1 – Maximum			Alternative 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Family Phocidae	e (true seals)									
	Southeast Alaska - Clarence Strait	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	California	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Harbor seal	Oregon/ Washington Coastal	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
	Washington Northern Inland Waters	262	112	0	436	203	0	509	227	0
	Hood Canal	2,298	332	0	2,334	348	0	2,881	417	0
	Southern Puget Sound	464	279	1	730	360	1	822	398	1
Northern elephant seal	California	1,691	209	0	1,698	209	0	1,735	209	0

<b>Table E-1: Estimated Marine Mammals</b>	Impacts per	Year from Sonar	<b>Training Activities</b>	(continued)
--	-------------	-----------------	----------------------------	-------------

\* ESA-listed species (all stocks) within the NWTT Study Area. <sup>†</sup>Only designated stocks are ESA-listed.

Notes: PTS = permanent threshold shift, TTS = temporary threshold shift

# E.2 Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Training Activities

Table E-2 provides a summary of the estimated number of marine mammal impacts from exposure to sonar and other transducers used during Navy training activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of seven years.

		Alternati	ve 1 – 7-year	Alternative 2 – 7-year			
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Order Cetaced	7						
Suborder Mys	ticeti (baleen whal	es)					
Family Balaer	nopteridae (rorqual	s)	1	n			
Blue whale*	Eastern North Pacific	11	0	0	11	0	0
	Northeast Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0
Fin whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	285	92	0	291	92	0
Sei whale*	Eastern North Pacific	111	95	0	114	95	0
-	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0
Minke whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	360	407	0	376	407	0
Humpback	Central North Pacific	18	13	0	20	13	0
whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	23	11	0	24	11	0
Family Eschrid	chtiidae (gray whale	e)			1		
Crowwhale	Eastern North Pacific	10	0	0	14	0	0
Gray whate	Western North Pacific <sup>⊕</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0
Suborder Odo	ntoceti (toothed wi	hales)					
Family Delphi	nidae (dolphins)						
Bottlenose dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington, Offshore	33	0	0	33	0	0

## Table E-2: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar Training Activities

		Alternativ	ve 1 – 7-year	Alternative 2 – 7-year			
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
	Alaska Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Eastern North Pacific Offshore	470	8	0	481	8	0
Killer whale	Northern Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0
	West Coast Transient	525	13	0	554	15	0
	Southern Resident <sup>††</sup>	15	0	0	20	0	0
Northern right whale dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	54,399	1,094	0	55,894	1,095	0
Pacific	North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0
white-sided dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	36,187	601	0	37,180	606	0
Risso's dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	15,649	323	0	16,110	323	0
Short- beaked common dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	7,947	177	0	8,062	177	0
Short-finned pilot whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	398	0	0	403	0	0
Striped dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	2,970	89	0	3,026	89	0
Family Kogiid	ae (Kogia spp.)	1	1	r	1		
Pygmy sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	1,278	1,120	0	1,316	1,124	0
Dwarf sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	142	124	0	146	125	0

		Alternativ	ve 1 – 7-year	Alternative 2 – 7-year			
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Family Phoco	enidae (porpoises)						
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0
Dall's porpoise	California, Oregon, & Washington	48,192	44,506	39	49,614	44,930	39
	Southeast Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0
Harbor	Northern Oregon/ Washington Coast	1,485	607	0	1,910	692	0
porpoise	Northern California/ Southern Oregon	145	0	0	145	0	0
	Washington Inland Waters	52,137	27,369	103	69,828	36,364	134
Family Physet	eridae (sperm wha	le)					
Sperm whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	3,562	12	0	3,636	12	0
Family Ziphiid	lae (beaked whales,	)		n			
Baird's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	3,875	0	0	3,913	0	0
Cuvier's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	10,202	7	0	10,480	7	0
Mesoplodon spp	California, Oregon, & Washington	4,544	5	0	4,662	5	0
Suborder Pinr	nipedia						
Family Otariid	lae (sea lions and fu	ır seals)		n			
California sea lion	U.S. Stock	25,179	64	0	25,884	64	0
Steller sea lion	Eastern U.S.	738	5	0	799	5	0
Guadalupe fur seal*	Mexico	4,226	21	0	4,322	21	0
Northern	Eastern Pacific	14,885	26	0	15,137	26	0
fur seal	California	300	0	0	305	0	0

Table E-2: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar Training Activities
(continued)

		Alternativ	ve 1 – 7-year	Alternative 2 – 7-year			
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Family Phocic	lae (true seals)						
	Southeast Alaska - Clarence Strait	0	0	0	0	0	0
	California	0	0	0	0	0	0
Harbor seal	Oregon/ Washington Coastal	0	0	0	5	0	0
	Washington Northern Inland Waters	2,564	1,165	0	3,561	1,591	0
	Hood Canal	16,238	2,394	0	20,167	2,916	0
	Southern Puget Sound	4,364	2,293	6	5,749	2,788	6
Northern elephant seal	California	11,851	1,462	0	12,142	1,464	0

\* ESA-listed species (all stocks) within the NWTT Study Area. TONIy designated stocks are ESA-listed. Notes: PTS = permanent threshold shift, TTS = temporary threshold shift

# E.3 Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Testing Activities

Table E-3 provides a summary of the estimated number of marine mammal impacts from exposure to sonar and other transducers used during Navy testing activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of a year.

		Alternative 1 – Minimum			Alternat	tive 1 – Maxim	um	Alternative 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Order Cetace	7		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Suborder Mys	ticeti (baleen whales)									
Family Balaer	opteridae (rorquals)			T		1	r		1	
Blue whale*	Eastern North Pacific	2	3	0	3	4	0	4	4	0
Fin whale*	Northeast Pacific	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0
	California, Oregon, & Washington	24	17	0	44	29	0	58	36	0
Sei whale*	Eastern North Pacific	10	21	0	17	36	0	22	46	0
	Alaska	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0
Minke whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	34	75	0	56	133	0	71	170	0
Humpback whale*	Central North Pacific	32	44	0	46	71	0	58	93	0
	California, Oregon, & Washington	26	33	0	38	56	0	48	72	0

		Alternative 1 – Minimum			Alternat	tive 1 – Maxim	um	Alternative 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Family Eschrichtiidae (gray whale)										
Gray whale	Eastern North Pacific	30	9	0	65	85	0	85	140	0
	Western North Pacific <sup>†</sup>	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	0
Suborder Odd	ontoceti (toothed whal	les)			1			1		
Family Delph	inidae (dolphins)	1		I	1	I	I	1		1
Bottlenose dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington, Offshore	2	0	0	3	0	0	5	0	0
	Alaska Resident	27	0	0	34	0	0	40	0	0
	Eastern North Pacific Offshore	47	3	0	86	4	0	112	5	0
Killer whate	Northern Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	West Coast Transient	91	18	0	136	20	0	168	22	0
	Southern Resident <sup>†</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Northern right whale dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	7,584	711	1	12,018	847	1	15,176	933	1

		Alternative 1 – Minimum			Alternat	tive 1 – Maxim	um	Alternative 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Pacific	North Pacific	80	0	0	101	0	0	117	0	0
white-sided dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	8,714	1,088	1	13,809	1,278	1	17,532	1,403	1
Risso's dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	2,358	181	0	3,920	248	0	5,071	290	0
Short- beaked common dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	329	3	0	963	21	0	1,317	24	0
Short-finned pilot whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	14	0	0	31	1	0	42	1	0
Striped dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	125	3	0	336	7	0	465	9	0
Family Kogiid	ae (Kogia spp.)	•			•			•		
Pygmy sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	101	162	0	145	306	0	178	407	1
Dwarf sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	11	18	0	16	34	0	20	45	0
Family Phoco	enidae (porpoises)									
	Alaska	140	341	0	179	459	0	204	574	0
Dall's porpoise	California, Oregon, & Washington	4,672	7,507	17	6,530	13,837	25	7,843	18,206	31

		Alternative 1 – Minimum			Alternat	tive 1 – Maxim	um	Alternative 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Harbor porpoise	Southeast Alaska	79	28	0	92	38	0	102	47	0
	Northern Oregon/ Washington Coast	25,360	13,812	15	39,304	24,976	34	49,607	33,824	48
	Northern California/ Southern Oregon	1,545	134	0	1,579	134	0	1,582	134	0
	Washington Inland Waters	7,061	9,747	131	7,353	10,284	137	8,428	10,890	147
Family Physet	Family Physeteridae (sperm whale)									
Sperm whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	164	3	0	319	3	0	418	4	0
Family Ziphiid	lae (beaked whales)			•			•			•
Baird's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	188	0	0	420	0	0	578	1	0
Cuvier's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	592	3	0	1,072	3	0	1,391	4	0
Mesoplodon spp	California, Oregon, & Washington	258	1	0	467	2	0	606	2	0
Suborder Pinr	nipedia									
Family Otariid	lae (sea lions and fur s	eals)						I		
California sea lion	U.S. Stock	12,072	314	0	23,653	337	0	32,475	352	0
Steller sea lion	Eastern U.S.	1,557	3	0	3,027	6	0	4,151	8	0

		Alternative 1 – Minimum			Alternat	tive 1 – Maxim	um	Alternative 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS
Guadalupe fur seal*	Mexico	487	9	0	892	10	0	1,168	10	0
Northern fur seal	Eastern Pacific	5,628	122	0	8,424	125	0	10,485	126	0
	California	114	1	0	169	1	0	209	1	0
Family Phocic	dae (true seals)									-
	Southeast Alaska - Clarence Strait	1,497	238	0	2,077	275	0	2,513	312	0
	California	38	0	0	38	0	0	38	0	0
Harbor seal	Oregon/ Washington Coastal	683	424	0	1,350	1,766	0	1,760	2,777	0
	Washington Northern Inland Waters	434	144	0	434	144	0	434	144	0
	Hood Canal	34,158	22,109	0	36,927	23,667	0	38,645	26,574	0
	Southern Puget Sound	2,505	3,196	3	2,544	3,204	3	2,565	3,204	3
Northern elephant seal	California	1,458	294	0	2,437	578	0	3,137	762	0

\* ESA-listed species (all stocks) within the NWTT Study Area. TOnly designated stocks are ESA-listed. Notes: PTS = permanent threshold shift, TTS = temporary threshold shift

# E.4 Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Testing Activities

Table E-4 provides a summary of the estimated number of marine mammal impacts from exposure to sonar and other transducers used during Navy testing activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of seven years.

		Alterno	ative 1 – 7-yea	r	Alternative 2 – 7-year			
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	
Order Cetace	а							
Suborder My	sticeti (baleen wh	ales)						
Family Balae	nopteridae (rorqu	als)						
Blue whale*	Eastern North Pacific	15	21	0	21	25	0	
Fin whale*	Northeast Pacific	5	5	0	7	6	0	
	California, Oregon, & Washington	201	140	0	306	191	0	
Sei whale*	Eastern North Pacific	80	171	0	118	239	0	
Minke whale	Alaska	4	5	0	5	6	0	
	California, Oregon, & Washington	272	622	0	389	875	0	
Humpback	Central North Pacific	243	351	0	332	497	0	
whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	198	266	0	266	374	0	
Family Eschri	chtiidae (gray wh	ale)						
Cray whale	Eastern North Pacific	272	184	0	447	530	0	
Gray whate	Western North Pacific <sup>⊤</sup>	2	2	0	4	5	0	
Suborder Odd	ontoceti (toothed	whales)						
Family Delph	inidae (dolphins)							
Bottlenose dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington, Offshore	14	0	0	22	0	0	

#### Table E-4: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar Testing Activities

		Alterne	ative 1 – 7-yea	r	Alternative 2 – 7-year			
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	
	Alaska Resident	202	0	0	279	0	0	
	Eastern North Pacific Offshore	391	24	0	586	27	0	
Killer whate	Northern Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	West Coast Transient	713	133	0	968	152	0	
	Southern Resident <sup>††</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Northern right whale dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	59,792	5,201	7	81,951	5,805	7	
Pacific white-sided dolphin	North Pacific	603	0	0	817	0	0	
	California, Oregon, & Washington	68,415	7,908	8	94,235	8,782	8	
Risso's dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	18,726	1,374	0	26,633	1,674	0	
Short- beaked common dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	3,384	58	0	6,427	126	0	
Short- finned pilot whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	128	2	0	213	4	0	
Striped dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	1,264	29	0	2,262	43	0	
Family Kogiid	lae (Kogia spp.)							
Pygmy sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	767	1,370	0	1,023	2,061	3	
Dwarf sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	85	152	0	114	229	0	

		Alterne	ative 1 – 7-yea	r	Alternative 2 – 7-year			
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	
Family Phoco	enidae (porpoises			-	-	-		
	Alaska	1,047	2,664	0	1,417	4,015	0	
Dall's porpoise	California, Oregon, & Washington	35,244	62,827	128	45,614	92,834	169	
	Southeast Alaska	576	218	0	708	332	0	
Harbor porpoise	Northern Oregon/ Washington Coast	193,333	113,581	130	276,511	168,232	224	
	Northern California/ Southern Oregon	9,930	671	0	10,078	673	0	
	Washington Inland Waters	49,240	68,574	930	57,998	74,967	1,022	
Family Physe	teridae (sperm wl	nale)						
Sperm whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	1,416	19	0	2,200	23	0	
Family Ziphii	dae (beaked whal	es)						
Baird's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	1,738	0	0	2,947	2	0	
Cuvier's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	4,971	20	0	7,367	23	0	
Mesoplodo n spp	California, Oregon, & Washington	2,167	11	0	3,203	14	0	
Suborder Pin	nipedia							
Family Otarii	dae (sea lions and	fur seals)						
California sea lion	U.S. Stock	101,038	2,236	0	159,932	2,338	0	
Steller sea lion	Eastern U.S.	12,963	29	0	21,072	41	0	
Guadalupe fur seal*	Mexico	4,027	64	0	6,020	68	0	
Northern	Eastern Pacific	43,420	858	0	57,641	870	0	
fur seal	California	879	9	0	1,154	9	0	
		Alterno	ative 1 – 7-yeai		Altern	ative 2 – 7-yea	r	
------------------------------	--	------------------------	------------------	-----	------------------------	-----------------	-----	
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	
Family Phocid	dae (true seals)						_	
	Southeast Alaska - Clarence Strait	11,630	1,754	0	17,511	2,181	0	
	California	191	0	0	191	0	0	
Harbor seal	Oregon/ Washington Coastal	5,830	5,043	0	9,363	11,267	0	
	Washington Northern Inland Waters	2,221	1,006	0	2,221	1,006	0	
	Hood Canal	246,497	159,440	0	269,602	186,016	0	
	Southern Puget Sound	17,124	22,387	24	17,506	22,431	24	
Northern elephant seal	California	11,772	2,538	0	17,567	3,847	0	

# Table E-4: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Sonar Testing Activities (continued)

\* ESA-listed species (all stocks) within the NWTT Study Area. <sup>(†)</sup>Only designated stocks are ESA-listed. Notes: PTS = permanent threshold shift, TTS = temporary threshold shift

## E.5 Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts from Explosives Under Navy Training Activities

Table E-5 provides a summary of the estimated number of marine mammal impacts from exposure to explosives used during Navy training activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of a year.

		Alternative	1 – M	linimu	m	Alternative	1 – M	aximu	m	Alternative	2 – M	aximu	m
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Order Cetacea						-	-	_	_	-	-		
Suborder Mystic	eti (baleen whale:	s)											
Family Balaenop	teridae (rorquals)	)											
Blue whale*	Eastern North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Northeast Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Fin whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sei whale*	Eastern North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Minke whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
llumahaalu	Central North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Eschrichti	idae (gray whale,	)											
	Eastern North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Gray whale	Western North Pacific <sup>†</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

		Alternative	e 1 – N	linimu	m	Alternative	2 1 – M	laximu	m	Alternative	2 – M	aximu	m
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Suborder Odonto	oceti (toothed wh	ales)	-	-	_	-		-	-	-	-	-	
Family Delphinia	lae (dolphins)		-	-				-					
Bottlenose dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington, Offshore	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alaska Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Eastern North Pacific Offshore	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Killer whale	Northern Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	West Coast Transient	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Southern Resident <sup>†</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Northern right whale dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
	North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Pacific white- sided dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Risso's dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Short-beaked common dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

		Alternative	e 1 – N	linimu	m	Alternative	2 – M	aximu	m	Alternative	2 – M	aximu	m
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Short-finned pilot whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Striped dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Kogiidae	(Kogia spp.)			-				-			-	-	
Pygmy sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Dwarf sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Phocoeni	dae (porpoises)			-				-			-	-	
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Dall's porpoise	California, Oregon, & Washington	2	6	1	0	4	16	2	0	4	39	6	0
	Southeast Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Harbor	Northern Oregon/ Washington Coast	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
porpoise	Northern California/ Southern Oregon	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Washington Inland Waters	0	61	27	0	0	61	27	0	0	102	45	0

		Alternative	e 1 – N	linimu	m	Alternative	2 1 – M	laximu	m	Alternative	2 – M	aximu	m
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Family Physeteri	dae (sperm whal	e)	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-		
Sperm whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Ziphiidae	(beaked whales)												
Baird's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cuvier's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mesoplodon spp	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Suborder Pinnipe	edia												
Family Otariidae	(sea lions and fu	r seals)							(				
California sea lion	U.S. Stock	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Steller sea lion	Eastern U.S.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Guadalupe fur seal*	Mexico	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Northern fur	Eastern Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
seal	California	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

		Alternative	e 1 – N	1inimu	m	Alternative	m	Alternative 2 – Maximum					
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Family Phocidae	(true seals)	-	-	-			-	-			-		
	Southeast Alaska - Clarence Strait	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	California	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Harbor seal	Oregon/ Washington Coastal	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Washington Northern Inland Waters	0	30	5	0	0	30	5	0	0	50	8	0
	Hood Canal	0	4	1	0	0	4	1	0	0	7	1	0
	Southern Puget Sound	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Northern elephant seal	California	0	1	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	5	2	0

\* ESA-listed species (all stocks) within the NWTT Study Area. TONIy designated stocks are ESA-listed.

Notes: PTS = permanent threshold shift, TTS = temporary threshold shift

## E.6 Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosives Under Navy Training Activities

Table E-6 provides a summary of the estimated number of marine mammal impacts from exposure to explosives used during Navy training activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of seven years.

### Table E-6: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosive Training Activities

		Alterno	ntive 1 –	· 7-year		Alter	native 2	– 7-year	
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Order Cetac	ea								
Suborder M	ysticeti (baleen wl	nales)							
Family Bala	enopteridae (rorqu	uals)	•			1			1
Blue whale*	Eastern North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Northeast Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Fin whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Sei whale*	Eastern North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Minke whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Liumenhe ele	Central North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Esch	richtiidae (gray wh	nale)							
Gray	Eastern North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
whale	Western North Pacific <sup>†</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Suborder Od	lontoceti (toothed	whales)							
Family Delp	hinidae (dolphins)	ſ	1	1		ſ	1		
Bottlenose dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington, Offshore	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table E-6: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosive Training Activities
(continued)

		Alterna	rtive 1 –	· 7-year		Alter	native 2	– 7-year	
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
	Alaska Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Eastern North Pacific Offshore	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
whale	Northern Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	West Coast Transient	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Southern Resident <sup>††</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Northern right whale dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	0
Pacific	North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
white- sided dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	5	0	0
Risso's dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Short- beaked common dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Short- finned pilot whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Striped dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Kogii	dae (Kogia spp.)	T	1	1	I	ſ	1	Γ	Γ
Pygmy sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	8	0	0
Dwarf sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

		Alterna	tive 1 –	7-year		Alter	native 2	– 7-year	
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Family Phoc	oenidae (porpoise	s)							
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Dall's porpoise	California, Oregon, & Washington	20	75	9	0	25	276	45	0
	Southeast Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Harbor	Northern Oregon/ Washington Coast	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
porpoise	Northern California/ Southern Oregon	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Washington Inland Waters	0	428	188	0	0	713	313	0
Family Physe	eteridae (sperm w	hale)					n	(	(
Sperm whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Ziphi	idae (beaked wha	les)							
Baird's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cuvier's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mesoplod on spp	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Suborder Pir	nipedia								
Family Otari	iidae (sea lions and	d fur seals)				[		[	[
california sea lion	U.S. Stock	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Steller sea lion	Eastern U.S.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Guadalupe fur seal*	Mexico	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
No white a sur-	Eastern Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
fur seal	California	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

		Alterna	tive 1 –	7-year		Alternative 2 – 7-year					
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury		
Family Phoc	idae (true seals)										
	Southeast Alaska - Clarence Strait	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
	California	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Harbor	Oregon/ Washington Coastal	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
sear	Washington Northern Inland Waters	0	209	35	0	0	348	59	0		
	Hood Canal	0	30	5	0	0	50	8	0		
	Southern Puget Sound	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
Northern elephant seal	California	0	11	1	0	0	32	12	0		

\* ESA-listed species (all stocks) within the NWTT Study Area. <sup>(†)</sup>Only designated stocks are ESA-listed. Notes: PTS = permanent threshold shift, TTS = temporary threshold shift

### E.7 Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts from Explosives Under Navy Testing Activities

Table E-7 provides a summary of the estimated number of marine mammal impacts from exposure to sonar and other transducers used during Navy testing activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of a year.

### Table E-7: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per Year from Explosive Testing Activities

Species		Alternati	ve 1 – M	inimun	n	Alternati	ve 1 – Ma	aximun	n	Alternati	ve 2 – M	aximur	n
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Order Cetaced	7	-	-	-	-		-	_	-		_	_	
Suborder Mys	ticeti (baleen whale	es)											
Family Balaer	nopteridae (rorquals	5)						-				-	
Blue whale*	Eastern North Pacific	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
	Northeast Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Fin whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	6	2	0	0	6	2	0	0	6	2	0	0
Sei whale*	Eastern North Pacific	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Minke whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	4	2	0	0	4	2	0	0	4	2	0	0
Humphack	Central North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	1	2	0	0	1	2	0	0	1	2	0	0

		Alternati	ve 1 – M	inimun	n	Alternative 1 – Maximum Alternative 2				ve 2 – M	e 2 – Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Family Eschrig	chtiidae (gray whale	2)				-							
Crowwhole	Eastern North Pacific	1	2	0	0	1	2	0	0	1	2	0	0
Gray whate	Western North Pacific <sup>††</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Suborder Odd	ontoceti (toothed wh	hales)											
Family Delph	inidae (dolphins)	1			1	1		1	1				
Bottlenose dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington, Offshore	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Alaska Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Eastern North Pacific Offshore	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Killer whale	Northern Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	West Coast Transient	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Southern Resident <sup>[↑]</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Northern right whale dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0
Dacific	North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
white-sided dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0

		Alternati	ve 1 – M	inimun	า	Alternative 1 – Maximum Altern					ive 2 – Maximum			
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	ттѕ	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	
Risso's dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Short- beaked common dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Short-finned pilot whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Striped dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Family Kogiid	ae (Kogia spp.)		-				-					-		
Pygmy sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	1	3	1	0	1	3	1	0	1	3	1	0	
Dwarf sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Family Phoco	enidae (porpoises)													
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Dall's porpoise	California, Oregon, & Washington	52	175	66	0	52	175	66	0	52	175	66	0	

		Alternati	ve 1 – M	inimun	า	Alternative 1 – Maximum Alternative 2 –				ve 2 – M	Maximum		
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
	Southeast Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Harbor	Northern Oregon/ Washington Coast	52	178	79	0	52	178	79	0	52	178	79	0
porpoise	Northern California/ Southern Oregon	91	214	86	0	91	214	86	0	91	214	86	0
	Washington Inland Waters	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Physe	teridae (sperm whal	e)		1				1				1	
Sperm whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Ziphiid	lae (beaked whales)												
Baird's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cuvier's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mesoplodon spp	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Suborder Pini	Suborder Pinnipedia												
Family Otarii	dae (sea lions and fu	ır seals)		1				1			I	1	
California sea lion	U.S. Stock	1	3	1	0	1	3	1	0	1	3	1	0

		Alternati	ve 1 – M	inimun	n	Alternative 1 – Maximum Alternative 2 – Maxi					aximur	n	
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury
Steller sea lion	Eastern U.S.	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0
Guadalupe fur seal*	Mexico	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Northorn	Eastern Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
fur seal	California	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Family Phocie	dae (true seals)												
	Southeast Alaska - Clarence Strait	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	California	5	6	1	0	5	6	1	0	5	6	1	0
Harbor seal	Oregon/ Washington Coastal	3	3	0	0	3	3	0	0	3	3	0	0
	Washington Northern Inland Waters	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Hood Canal	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Southern Puget Sound	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Northern elephant seal	California	7	8	3	0	7	8	3	0	7	8	3	0

\* ESA-listed species (all stocks) within the NWTT Study Area. <sup>①</sup>Only designated stocks are ESA-listed. Notes: PTS = permanent threshold shift, TTS = temporary threshold shift

# E.8 Estimated Marine Mammal Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosives Under Navy Testing Activities

Table E-8 provides a summary of the estimated number of marine mammal impacts from exposure to sonar and other transducers used during Navy testing activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of seven years.

#### Table E-8: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosive Testing Activities

		Alter	Alternative 1 – 7-year				Alternative 2 – 7-year			
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	
Order Cetace	a	-	_	_	_	_	_	-	-	
Suborder Mys	sticeti (baleen w	vhales)								
Family Balaer	nopteridae (ror	quals)								
Blue whale*	Eastern North Pacific	3	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	
	Northeast Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Fin whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	39	11	0	0	39	11	0	0	
Sei whale*	Eastern North Pacific	8	4	0	0	8	4	0	0	
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Minke whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	26	10	0	0	26	10	0	0	
Humpback	Central North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	8	8	0	0	8	8	0	0	
Family Eschrie	chtiidae (gray w	vhale)								
Cray whale	Eastern North Pacific	4	9	0	0	4	9	0	0	
Gray whate	Western North Pacific <sup>†</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Suborder Odd	ontoceti (toothe	d whales)								
Family Delphi	inidae (dolphins	5)								
Bottlenose dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington, Offshore	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	

Table E-8: Estimated Marine Mammals Impacts per 7-Year Period from Explosive Testing Activities
(continued)

		Alter	native 1 –	7-year		Alternative 2 – 7-year				
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	
	Alaska Resident	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	Eastern North Pacific Offshore	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Killer whale	ler whale Northern Resident		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	West Coast Transient	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	Southern Resident <sup>††</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Northern right whale dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	8	5	0	0	8	5	0	0	
Pacific	North Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
white-sided dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	7	4	0	0	7	4	0	0	
Risso's dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Short- beaked common dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Short-finned pilot whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Striped dolphin	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Family Kogiid	ae (Kogia spp.)									
Pygmy sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	6	19	10	0	6	19	10	0	
Dwarf sperm whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	

		Alter	native 1 –	7-year		Alternative 2 – 7-year				
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	
Family Phoco	enidae (porpois	es)								
	Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Dall's porpoise	California, Oregon, & Washington	301	1,065	395	0	301	1,065	395	0	
	Southeast Alaska	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Harbor	Northern Oregon/ Washington Coast	259	894	397	0	259	894	397	0	
porpoise	Northern California/ Southern Oregon	459	1,071	432	0	459	1,071	432	0	
	Washington Inland Waters	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Family Physet	teridae (sperm	whale)								
Sperm whale*	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Family Ziphiid	lae (beaked wh	ales)	1	n				n		
Baird's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Cuvier's beaked whale	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Mesoplodon spp	California, Oregon, & Washington	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Suborder Pinr	nipedia									
Family Otariid	dae (sea lions a	nd fur seals)								
California sea lion	U.S. Stock	5	15	5	0	5	15	5	0	
Steller sea lion	Eastern U.S.	0	3	0	0	0	3	0	0	
Guadalupe fur seal*	Mexico	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	

		Alter	native 1 –	7-year		Alternative 2 – 7-year				
Species	Stock	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	Behavioral Response	TTS	PTS	Injury	
Northern	Eastern Pacific	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
fur seal	California	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Family Phocic	lae (true seals)	•								
	Southeast Alaska - Clarence Strait	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	California	26	29	7	0	26	29	7	0	
Harbor seal	Oregon/ Washington Coastal	15	15	0	0	15	15	0	0	
	Washington Northern Inland Waters	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	Hood Canal	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	Southern Puget Sound	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Northern elephant seal	California	43	49	18	0	43	49	18	0	

\* ESA-listed species (all stocks) within the NWTT Study Area. <sup>†</sup>Only designated stocks are ESA-listed. Notes: PTS = permanent threshold shift, TTS = temporary threshold shift

# E.9 Estimated Sea Turtle Impacts from Sonar and Other Transducers Under Navy Training and Testing Activities

Based on the quantitative analysis, no sea turtle impacts are anticipated from exposure to sonar and other transducers used during Navy training and testing activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of a year or seven years.

# E.10 Estimated Sea Turtle Impacts from Explosives Under Navy Training and Testing Activities

Based on the quantitative analysis, no sea turtle impacts are anticipated from exposure to explosives used during Navy training and testing activities under Alternatives 1 and 2 over the course of a year or seven years.

## **REFERENCES**

U.S. Department of the Navy. (2017). *Quantifying Acoustic Impacts on Marine Mammals and Sea Turtles: Methods and Analytical Approach for Phase III Training and Testing* (Technical Report prepared by Space and Naval Warfare Systems Center Pacific). San Diego, CA: Naval Undersea Warfare Center. This page intentionally left blank.

## Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

## **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

## Northwest Training and Testing

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

APPENDIX F		MILITARY EXPENDED MATERIAL AND DIRECT STRIKE IMPACT ANALYSE	S F-1
F.1	Estima	ating The Impact of Military Expended Materials and Underwater Explos	ions on
	Abioti	c Substrates as a Habitat for Biological Resources	F-1
	F.1.1	Military Expended and Recovered Material – Training Activities	F-9
	F.1.2	Military Expended and Recovered Materials – Testing Activities	F-12
F.2	Statist	tical Probability Analysis for Estimating Direct Strike Impact and Number	r of
	Potent	tial Exposures from Military Expended Materials	F-15
	F.2.1	Direct Impact Analysis	F-15
	F.2.2	Parameters for Analysis	F-17
	F.2.3	Input Data	F-18
	F.2.4	Output Data	F-18

## **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this appendix.

# List of Tables

Table F-1: Categories and Footprints for Various Materials and Underwater Explosions F-2
Table F-2: Number and Impacts <sup>1</sup> of Military Expended Materials Proposed for Use During Training
Activities in a Single Year Under Alternatives 1 and 2 F-10
Table F-3: Number and Impacts1 of Military Expended Materials Proposed for Use During TestingActivities in a Single Year Under Alternatives 1 and 2F-13
Table F-4: Estimated Exposures from Direct Strike of a High-Energy Laser by Area and Alternative in aSingle YearF-19
Table F-5: Estimated Representative Marine Mammal Exposures from Direct Strike of Military ExpendedMaterials by Area and Alternative in a Single Year
Table F-6: Estimated Leatherback Sea Turtle Exposures from Direct Strike of Military Expended Materialsby Area and Alternative in a Single YearF-19

This page intentionally left blank.

# APPENDIX F MILITARY EXPENDED MATERIAL AND DIRECT STRIKE IMPACT ANALYSES

## F.1 ESTIMATING THE IMPACT OF MILITARY EXPENDED MATERIALS AND UNDERWATER EXPLOSIONS ON ABIOTIC SUBSTRATES AS A HABITAT FOR BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES

This section describes the calculation of the disturbance footprint (i.e., military expended material footprint or explosive crater footprint) of an instantaneous impact of military expended materials or explosions on the substrate. The actual instantaneous impact on the bottom will depend on the number and location of military expended materials expended and not recovered, which is likely much lower and more concentrated than either scenario being analyzed. Longer-term impacts on the bottom are far more difficult to quantify—refer to the Marine Habitats section (3.3) of Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences) for qualitative discussion. The approach described in this appendix is consistent with the approach taken in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS (see Appendix H, Statistical Probability Analysis for Estimating Direct Air Strike Impact and Number of Potential Exposures).

The analysis requires a tabular summary of the military expended material or crater (underwater explosions) footprints expected in training and testing areas. The data comes from the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) action proponents and represents the most locational flexibility with regard to expenditure of military expended materials and underwater explosions. The data for both expended and recovered material are reported in Table F-1 below. Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions) of the 2015 NWTT Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (OEIS) provides basic descriptions of military expended materials, and Chapter 3 (Section 3.0.3.2, Explosive Stressors) provides basic descriptions of explosive categories. The data for number of military expended materials and underwater explosions are then multiplied by an estimate of the footprint size documented in Table F-1.

To determine the potential level of disturbance of military expended materials on marine substrates, it was assumed that the impact area (footprint) of the expended material on the seafloor is twice the size of its physical size (unless specified otherwise in Appendix F notes). By doubling the footprint, the results should more accurately reflect the potential disturbance to soft bottom habitats (i.e., to account for sediment plumes), but should overestimate disturbance to hard bottom habitats (i.e., because sediment plumes are not expected). These calculations do not consider the Navy's mitigation measures for seafloor resources, which are detailed in Appendix K (Geographic Mitigation Assessment). Items with casings (e.g., small-, medium-, and large-caliber munitions; flares; sonobuoys) have their impact footprints further doubled to account for both the item and its casing. To be conservative (i.e., worst case), items and their casings were assumed to be the same size, although in reality the items are a smaller size in order to fit in their casing.

Additionally, highly explosive munitions that explode either at the surface or in the water column were treated in the same manner as non-explosive practice munitions, although in reality, the explosions would result in smaller fragments reaching the substrate than expected by the fully intact non-explosive practice munitions.

Material Group	Material Category	Bottom Frequency <sup>1</sup>	Crater Footprint <sup>2</sup> (ft. <sup>2</sup> )	MEM Size (ft.²)	MEM Footprint (ft.²)	Material Specific Notes	
	Bombs (Explosive)	NA	NA	8.1203	112.9048	The MEM footprint was calculated using the bomb with the	
Bomb	Bombs (Non- explosive)	NA	NA	8.1203	(ft.2)Footprint (ft.2)Material Specific Notes8.1203112.9048The MEM footprint was calculated using the bomb with t largest footprint in terms of material fragments.8.1203112.9048Includes all type of non-recoverable Acoustic Countermeasures0.311071.2432Includes all type of non-recoverable Acoustic Countermeasures0.00120.0022Chaff is a radar reflector material made of thin, narrow, metallic strips cut in various lengths to elicit frequency responses, which deceive enemy radars. Chaff-Air is fired from an aircraft using a small cartridge.2.0004.000Chaff-ship serves the same purpose of chaff-air. It is fired from a ship in cartridges.4.54249.0847The Countermeasure Anti-torpedo consists of an anti- torpedo torpedo enclosed within All Up Round Equipmer canister. The anti-torpedo torpedo is a 6.75-inch diamete high-maneuverability hard-kill torpedo designed to rapid intercept and engage an incoming threat torpedo. The Al Up Round Equipment consists of a nose sabot, ram plate, launch tube, muzzle cover, and breech mechanism to		
	Acoustic Countermeasures	NA	NA	0.31107	1.2432	Includes all type of non-recoverable Acoustic Countermeasures	
	Chaff-Air Cartridge	NA	NA	0.0012	0.0022	Chaff is a radar reflector material made of thin, narrow, metallic strips cut in various lengths to elicit frequency responses, which deceive enemy radars. Chaff-Air is fired from an aircraft using a small cartridge.	
	Chaff-Ship Cartridge	NA	NA	2.000	4.000	Chaff-ship serves the same purpose of chaff-air. It is fired from a ship in cartridges.	
Countermeasure	Anti-torpedo Torpedo	NA	NA	4.5424	9.0847	The Countermeasure Anti-torpedo consists of an anti- torpedo torpedo enclosed within All Up Round Equipment canister. The anti-torpedo torpedo is a 6.75-inch diameter high-maneuverability hard-kill torpedo designed to rapidly intercept and engage an incoming threat torpedo. The All Up Round Equipment consists of a nose sabot, ram plate, launch tube, muzzle cover, and breech mechanism to encapsulate, protect, and ultimately launch the anti- torpedo torpedo. Anti-torpedo torpedoes are frequently recovered; assume all are non-recoverable for worst-case.	
	Missiles (Explosive)	NA	NA	37.3669	74.7338	MEM size based on SM-6	
Missiles	Missile (Non- explosive)	NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA	NA	31.0011	62.0023	MEM size based on Tomahawk	

Material Group	Material Category	Bottom Frequency <sup>1</sup>	Crater Footprint <sup>2</sup> (ft. <sup>2</sup> )	MEM Size (ft.²)	MEM Footprint (ft.²)	Material Specific Notes
	Air-launched Lightweight (Explosive) Torpedo	NA	NA	19.1199	38.2399	MEM size based on MK50/MK54
	Air-launched Lightweight (Non- explosive) Torpedo	NA	NA	19.1199	38.2399	MEM size based on MK50/MK54. Typically recovered
	AMNS/EMNS Neutralizer (Explosive)	50%	430.5564	1.6286	3.2572	AMNS is air deployed whereas EMNS is ship deployed
	AMNS Neutralizer (Non-explosive)	NA	NA	0.1513	0.3026	The neutralizer itself is recovered, but the associated fiber optic cable and the can that holds the fiber optic cable is not.
Other	Anchor (Expendable)	NA	NA	6.2495	12.5001	Associated primarily with mine shapes.
	Anchor (Recoverable)	NA	NA	6.2495	12.5001	Associated primarily with mine shapes and ships.
	Biodegradable Polymer	NA	NA	NA	NA	A substance composed of molecules that degrade as a result of microorganisms and/or enzymes. Footprint is not applicable because the material breaks up within a couple of hours, depending on the material composition of the polymer. Reference: Karlsson and Albertsson (1998).
	Bottom Placed Instruments	NA	NA	2.0000	4.000	Usually a moored tracking beacon, typically weighing around 50 pounds covering approximately 2 ft. <sup>2</sup> of seafloor.
	Buoy (Explosive)	NA	NA	0.9752	3.8987	Explosive buoys including mini-sound source and SUS. MEM-size based on Marine Marker.

Material Group	Material Category	Bottom Frequency <sup>1</sup>	Crater Footprint <sup>2</sup> (ft. <sup>2</sup> )	MEM Size (ft.²)	MEM Footprint (ft.²)	Material Specific Notes				
	Buoy (Non- explosive)	NA	NA	0.9752	3.8987	These buoys are separate from sonobuoys, and are included for DWADS (expendable). MEM size based on Marine Marker. Can be expended or recovered.				
	Concrete Slugs	NA	NA	0.0011	0.0022	Assume similar in dimensions to a chaff cartridge				
	Endcaps & Pistons – Non Chaff & Flare	NA	NA	0.0043	0.0086	Applies only to where it cannot be associated to another object (e.g., endcaps and pistons associated with chaff would be covered by 'chaff'). Used for testing.				
	Endcaps – Chaff & Flare	NA	NA	0.00215	0.0043	Applies only to Chaff-Air and Flares. 1 Endcap is expende per chaff-air or flare.				
	Flare O-Ring	NA	NA	0.0043	0.0086	Assumed similar 2-dimensional footprint as endcaps and pistons. Associated with flares. Assumed 1 Flare O-Ring per flare.				
(continued)	Fiber Optic Can	NA	NA	0.0011	0.0022	Assumed similar 2-dimensional footprint as chaff-air cartridge. Associated with AMNS Neutralizer fiber optic cable. Can that holds fiber optic cable is expended.				
	Bathythermograph – Expended	NA	NA	0.0258	0.0516	An instrument that is deployed from a ship to record temperature and depth measurements. Small wires transmit the temperature data from the probe to the ship. This item is fairly standard in terms of footprint; these are off the shelf Commercial products. Reference: NOAA 2015. http://www.aoml.noaa.gov/goos/uot/xbt-what-is.php. Accessed November 3, 2015.				
	Fiber Optic Cables	NA	NA	NA	NA	Associated with some rockets and AMNS neutralizers				
	Guidance Wires	NA	NA	0	0	Fragments created for relatively small portion associated with explosive devices (associated with heavyweight torpedoes).				

Material Group	Material Category	Bottom Frequency <sup>1</sup>	Crater Footprint <sup>2</sup> (ft. <sup>2</sup> )	MEM Size (ft.²)	MEM Footprint (ft.²)	Material Specific Notes
	Bathythermograph – Expended Wire	NA	NA	NA	NA	Single vertical wire
Other	Heavyweight (Explosive) Torpedo	NA	NA	39.6155	79.2299	MEM size based on MK-48
	Heavyweight Torpedo Accessories	NA	NA	0.1615	3.2367	MEM includes ballast weights, flex tubing
	Heavyweight (Non- explosive) Torpedo	NA	NA	NA	NA	Typically recovered
	Illumination Flares	NA	NA	1.2196	4.8782	Flares that have a large parachute; MEM size based on half the surface area of an 18 ft. diameter parachute used with an LUU-2 illumination flare.
(continued)	Lightweight Torpedo Accessories	NA	NA	1.0107	2.0215	MEM includes ballast weights, flex tubing (parachute size not included)
	Marine Marker	NA	NA	0.9752	3.8987	MEM footprint based on two Navy marine markers (MK25 and MK58
	Parachute (Large)	NA	NA	353.4289	706.8578	MEM size based on diameter of drone main parachute (30 ft. diameter).
	Parachute (Medium)	NA	NA	283.9961	567.9932	Associated with Illumination flares (18 ft. diameter)
	Small Decelerator/ Parachute	NA	NA	2.8438	5.6876	Associated with launched sonobuoys, lightweight torpedoes, and drones (drag parachute)
	Sabot	NA	NA	1.2195	4.8782	An accessory used during projectile firing. Footprint similar in size to the projectile.

Material Group	Material Category	Bottom Frequency <sup>1</sup>	Crater Footprint <sup>2</sup> (ft. <sup>2</sup> )	MEM Size (ft.²)	MEM Footprint (ft.²)	Material Specific Notes
	Sonobuoys (Non-explosive)	NA	NA	1.2206	2.4413	Sonobuoys have an extra item footprint (half the dimensions of the sonobuoy) added in addition to the
	Sonobuoys (Explosive)	0%	NA	1.2206	2.4413	actual sonobuoy and casing to account for the items that are discarded from the sonobuoy following its release. MEM size does not include the associated Small Decelerator/Parachute (noted in table above)
Other	Sonobuoy Wires	NA	NA	Iter print²MEM Size (ft.²)MEM Footprint (ft.²)Metm Footprint (ft.²)A1.22062.4413Sonobuoys have an extra item footprint (half the dimensions of the sonobuoy) added in addition to the actual sonobuoy and casing to account for the items that are discarded from the sonobuoy following its release. MEM size does not include the associated Small Decelerator/Parachute (noted in table above)ANANAANANANAOne wire is associated with each sonobuoyIA10.078220.1576IA0.10440.2088IA1.00974.0386Item assumed to have a projectile and casingIA0.50481.0097US0.2239Item assumed to have a projectile and casingIA0.05600.2239Item assumed to have a projectile and casingIA0.03010.1216Item assumed to have a projectile and casing		
(continued)	Surface-Launched Lightweight (Explosive) Torpedo	0%	NA	10.0782	20.1576	MEM size based on MK50/MK54
	Surface-Launched Lightweight (Non- Explosive) Torpedo	NA	NA	10.0782	20.1576	Typically recovered
	Grenades (Explosive)	0	NA	0.1044	0.2088	None
	Large Caliber (Explosive)	NA	MEM Size Footprint² (ft.²)MEM Size (ft.²)INEM Footprint (ft.²)NA1.22062.4413Sonobuoys ha dimensions o actual sonobu are discarded MEM size doe Decelerator/FNA1.22062.4413MEM size doe Decelerator/FNANANANANANANANA10.078220.1576MEM size basNA10.078220.1576Typically recoNA0.10440.2088NoneNA1.00974.0386Item assumedNA0.50481.0097Used when theNA0.05600.2239Item assumedNA0.03010.1216Item assumed	Item assumed to have a projectile and casing		
	Large Caliber (Non-explosive)	NA	NA	1.0097	4.0386	Item assumed to have a projectile and casing
Projectile	Large caliber (Casing Only)	NA	NA	0.5048	1.0097	Used when the target is on land; no MEM from projectile
	Medium Caliber (Explosive)	NA	NA	0.0560	0.2239	Item assumed to have a projectile and casing
	Medium Caliber (Non-explosive)	NA	NA	0.0560	0.2239	Item assumed to have a projectile and casing
	Small Caliber (Non-explosive)	NA	NA	0.0301	0.1216	Item assumed to have a projectile and casing

Material Group	Material Category	Bottom Frequency <sup>1</sup>	Crater Footprint <sup>2</sup> (ft. <sup>2</sup> )	MEM Size (ft.²)	MEM Footprint (ft.²)	Material Specific Notes
Drojostilo	Small Caliber (Casing Only)	NA	NA	0.0151	MEM Size (ft.*)MEM Footprint (ft.*)Material Specific Notes0.01510.0301Used only for small caliber 'blanks'. All other small caliber rounds are included under NEPM0.50481.0097Item assumed to only have a projectile (no casing) - size of Large Caliber round.194.6082589.2164MEM when specifically known it is an aerial drone; MEM size based on Firebee194.6082589.2164MEM when specifically known it is an aerial drone; MEM size based on Firebee194.6082589.2164MEM when specifically known it is an air launched decoy. MEM when specifically known it is an air launched decoy.42.162284.3244MEM size based on dimensions of Tactical Air Launched Decoy or Miniature Air-Launched Decoy.2.77825.5563Charges are secured to a 20" X 20" X 1/2" ferrous metal plate The target unit (concrete blocks, metal plate, and any debris) is brought to the surface and analyzed.5.752211.5034Includes remote controlled or towed targets96.8752193.7504MEM when specifically known it is a stationary surface target. MEM size based on Killer Tomato.1.22062.4412MEM when specifically known it is a sub-surface Motorized Autonomous Target	Used only for small caliber 'blanks'. All other small caliber rounds are included under NEPM
Projectie	Kinetic Energy Round	NA	NA	0.5048		
	Aerial Drones – Expendable	NA	NA	294.6082	589.2164	MEM when specifically known it is an aerial drone; MEM size based on Firebee
	Aerial Drones – Recovered	NA	NA	294.6082	589.2164	MEM when specifically known it is an aerial drone; MEM size based on Firebee. Typically recovered.
	Air Target – Expended (Non- Drone)	NA	NA	42.1622	84.3244	MEM when specifically known it is an air launched decoy. MEM size based on dimensions of Tactical Air Launched Decoy or Miniature Air-Launched Decoy.
	Metal Plates	NA	NA	2.7782	5.5563	Charges are secured to a 20" X 20" X 1/2" ferrous metal plate The target unit (concrete blocks, metal plate, and any debris) is brought to the surface and analyzed.
Target	Surface Target - Expended	NA	NA	5.7522	11.5034	Includes remote controlled or towed targets
	Surface Target - Recovered	NA	NA	NA	NA	Reported as recovered.
	Surface Target (Mobile) - Expended	NA	NA	5.7522	11.5034	Includes remote controlled or towed targets
	Surface Target (Stationary) - Expended	NA	NA	96.8752	193.7504	MEM when specifically known it is a stationary surface target. MEM size based on Killer Tomato.
	Subsurface Target (Mobile) - Expended	NA	NA	1.2206	2.4412	MEM when specifically known it is a sub-surface Motorized Autonomous Target

Material Group	Material Category	Bottom Frequency <sup>1</sup>	Crater Footprint <sup>2</sup> (ft. <sup>2</sup> )	MEM Size (ft.²)	MEM Footprint (ft.²)	Material Specific Notes		
	Surface Target (Stationary) - Expended	NA	NA	96.8752	193.7504	MEM when specifically known it is a stationary surface target. MEM size based on Killer Tomato.		
	Subsurface Target (Mobile) - Expended	NA	NA	1.2206	2.4412	MEM when specifically known it is a sub-surface Motoriz Autonomous Target		
Target	Mine Shape - Expended	NA	NA	25.7903	51.5807	Mine shapes that were specifically identified as non-recoverable; footprint based on size of explosive mi size not including anchor		
	Mine Shape - Expended	NA	NA	25.7903	51.5807	Mine shape and associated anchor block that are recovered. The vast majority of practice mines have built-in anchors for placing on the bottom; relatively few are moored/floating, and none are drifting.		

<sup>1</sup>Bottom frequencies (%) are only listed for underwater explosions;

<sup>2</sup>Crater footprints are only listed for material that may be detonated on the bottom.

Notes: MEM = Military Expended Materials; AMNS/EMNS = Airborne Mine Neutralization System/Expendable Mine Neutralization System; NA = Not Applicable; DWADS = Deep Water Active Distributed System; NEPM = Non-explosive Practice Munitions

## F.1.1 MILITARY EXPENDED AND RECOVERED MATERIAL – TRAINING ACTIVITIES

Table F-2 shows military expended and recovered materials and impact footprints within the NWTT Study Area for a single year.

# Table F-2: Number and Impacts<sup>1</sup> of Military Expended Materials Proposed for Use During Training Activities in a Single Year UnderAlternatives 1 and 2

		lunnast		Offsho	ore Area		Inland Waters			
Military Expended Materials	Size	Footprint	Alterne	ative 1	Altern	ative 2	Alterno	ntive 1	Alternative 2	
	(ft.²)	(ft. <sup>2</sup> )	Number	Impact (Acre)	Number	Impact (Acre)	Number	Impact (Acre)	Number	Impact (Acre)
Bombs									-	
Bombs (Explosive)	8.1203	112.9048	2	0.00518	2	0.00518	0	0	0	0
Bombs (Non-Explosive)	8.1203	112.9048	84	0.21772	90	0.23327	0	0	0	0
Grenade (Explosive)	0.1044	0.2088	130	0.00062	130	0.00062	0	0	0	0
Projectiles										
Small-Caliber (Non-Explosive)	0.0301	0.1216	121,000	0.33778	121,000	0.33778	0	0	0	0
Small-Caliber (Casing Only)	0.0151	0.0301	121,000	0.08361	121,000	0.08361	432	0.00030	432	0.00030
Medium-Caliber (Explosive)	0.056	0.2239	420	0.00216	6,360	0.03269	0	0	0	0
Medium-Caliber (Non-Explosive)	0.056	0.2239	26,660	0.13703	43,112	0.22160	0	0	0	0
Large-Caliber (Explosive)	1.0097	4.0386	172	0.01595	390	0.03656	0	0	0	0
Large-Caliber (Non-Explosive)	1.0097	4.0386	9,390	0.87058	9,520	0.88263	0	0	0	0
Large-Caliber (Casing only)	0.5048	1.0097	9,562	0.22164	9,910	0.22971	0	0	0	0
Missiles (Explosive)	37.6691	74.7338	14	0.02402	27	0.04632	0	0	0	0
Missiles (Non-Explosive)	37.6691	74.7338	4	0.00686	15	0.02573	0	0	0	0
Countermeasures										
Chaff- Air Cartridge	0.0011	0.0022	5,000	0.00025	5000	0.00025	0	0	0	0
Flares	1.2196	4.8782	700	0.07839	700	0.07839	0	0	0	0
Targets										
Air Target- Expended Decoy	42.1622	84.3245	35	0.06775	43	0.08324	0	0	0	0
Air Targets- Recovered Drone	NA	NA	98	0	145	0	0	0	0	0
Sub-Surface Targets (Mobile) - Expended	1.2206	2.4412	49	0.01294	60	0.01584	0	0	0	0
Sub-Surface Targets (Mobile) - Recovered	NA	NA	420	0	420	0	0	0	0	0
Surface Targets (Stationary) - Expended	96.8752	193.7504	374	0.09877	370	0.09771	0	0	0	0

# Table F-2: Number and Impacts<sup>1</sup> of Military Expended Materials Proposed for Use During Training Activities in a Single Year Under Alternatives 1 and 2 (continued)

				Offsho	re Area		Inland Waters			
Military Expanded Materials	Size	Ecotoriot	Alterno	ative 1	Alterno	ative 2	Alterno	ative 1	Alterno	ative 2
wintary expended waterials	(ft.²)	(ft. <sup>2</sup> )	Number	Impact (Acre)	Number	Impact (Acre)	Number	Impact (Acre)	Number	Impact (Acre)
Targets (continued)										
Mine Shapes - Recovered	NA	NA	0	0	0	0	112	0	120	0
Mine Shapes - Expended	25.7903	51.5807	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Other										
Anchor - Recovered	6.2495	12.5001	10	0.00287	10	0.00287	30	0.00861	30	0.00861
Sonobuoys (Non-Explosive)	1.2207	2.4413	9,338	0.52334	9,378	0.52559	15	0.00084	15	0.00084
Endcaps	0.0021	0.0043	5,700	0.00056	5,700	0.00057	0	0	0	0
Compression Pad/Piston	0.0043	0.0086	700	0.00014	700	0.00014	0	0	0	0
Fiber Optic Can	0.0011	0.0022	170	0.00001	164	0.00001	0	0	0	0
Flare O-Ring	0.0043	0.0086	704	0.00014	724	0.00014	0	0	0	0
Illumination Flare	1.2196	4.8782	4	0.00045	24	0.00269	0	0	0	0
Heavyweight Torpedo (Non-Explosive)	39.6155	79.2299	2	0.00364	0	0	0	0	0	0
Heavyweight Torpedo (Explosive)	39.6155	79.2299	0	0	2	0.00364	0	0	0	0
Heavyweight Torpedo Accessories	0.1615	3.2367	2	0.00015	2	0.00015	0	0	0	0
Lightweight Torpedo (Non-Explosive)	19.1199	38.2398	16	0.01405	16	0.01405	0	0	0	0
Lightweight Torpedo Accessories	1.1011	2.0215	16	0.00074	16	0.00074	0	0	0	0
Marine Marker	0.9752	3.8987	230	0.02059	232	0.02076	0	0	0	0
Small Decelerator/Parachute	2.8438	5.6876	9,338	1.21926	9,378	1.22448	15	0.00196	15	0.00196
Parachutes - Medium	9.0417	18.0834	16	0.00664	16	0.00664	0	0	0	0
Parachutes - Large	283.9961	567.9932	4	0.05216	24	0.31294	0	0	0	0
Total			321,364	5.58055	344,680	6.06168	589	0.01087	597	0.01087

<sup>1</sup>Calculations for "Impact (Acre) Column = [(Impact Footprint) x (Number)]/43560 sq. ft. per acre; Blue shading indicates numbers and impacts of MEM that differ between Alternatives 1 & 2

## F.1.2 MILITARY EXPENDED AND RECOVERED MATERIALS – TESTING ACTIVITIES

Table F-3 shows military expended and recovered materials and impact footprints within the NWTT Study Area for a single year.
# Table F-3: Number and Impacts<sup>1</sup> of Military Expended Materials Proposed for Use During Testing Activities in a Single Year UnderAlternatives 1 and 2

		lucionat	Offshore Area				Inland Waters			
Military, Expanded Materiale	Size	Impact Footprint	Alterno	ative 1	Altern	ative 2	Altern	ative 1	Vaters Alterna Number 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 184 0 184 0 336 5,266 1,159 0 7,317 0 7,317 0 542 0 7,317 0 0 7,317 0 0 7,317 0 0 7,317 0 7,317 0 0 7,317 0 7,317 0 0 7,317 0 0 7,317 0 0 7,317 0 0 7,317 0 0 7,20 1 7,317 0 0 7,317 0 0 7,00 7,317 0 0 7,00 7,00 7,00 7,00 7,317 0 0 7,00 7	ative 2
wintary expended waterials	(ft.²)	(ft. <sup>2</sup> ) (ft. <sup>2</sup> ) Number Impact (Acre) Number Impact (Acre) Number (Acre) Number (Acre)	Number	Impact (Acre)						
Projectiles										
Kinetic Energy Round	0.5048	1.0097	80	0.00185	80	0.00185	0	0	0	0
Large-Caliber (Non-Explosive)	1.0097	4.0386	160	0.01483	160	0.01483	0	0	0	0
Large-Caliber (Casing only)	0.5048	1.0097	160	0.00371	160	0.00371	0	0	0	0
Sabot – Kinetic Energy Round	1.2196	4.8782	80	0.00896	80	0.00896	0	0	0	0
Countermeasures						-				
Acoustic Countermeasures	0.3311	1.2432	751	0.02143	791	0.02258	720	0.02055	720	0.02055
Anti-Torpedo Torpedo	4.524	9.0847	58	0.01210	58	0.01210	176	0.03671	184	0.03837
Targets		-				-				
Air Targets - Expended Drone	294.6082	589.2164	162	0.31360	162	0.31360	0	0	0	0
Mine Shapes (Non-Explosive) – Expended	25.7903	51.5807	280	0.33156	280	0.33156	336	0.39787	336	0.39787
Mine Shapes (Non-Explosive) – Recovered	25.7903	51.5807	181	0.21433	181	0.21433	3,776	4.47127	5,266	6.23563
Sub-Surface Target (Mobile) – Recovered	NA	NA	185	0	188	0	1,127	0	1,159	0
Sub-Surface Target (Stationary) – Expended	96.8752	193.7504	4	0.01779	4	0.01779	0	0	0	0
Sub-Surface Target (Stationary) – Recovered	NA	NA	3,331	0	3,331	0	7,317	0	7,317	0
Surface Target (Mobile) – Expended	5.7522	11.5034	162	0.04278	162	0.04278	0	0	0	0
Surface Target (Stationary) – Expended	96.8752	193.7504	172	0.76504	172	0.76504				
Surface Target (Stationary) – Recovered	NA	NA	81	0	81	0	542	0	542	0
Other		-				-				
Air-Launched Lightweight Torpedo (Explosive)	19.1199	38.2399	3	0.00263	3	0.00263	0	0	0	0
Air-Launched Lightweight Torpedo (Non- Explosive)	19.1199	38.2399	42	0.03687	42	0.03687	0	0	0	0
AMNS Neutralizer (Explosive)	1.6286	3.2572	36	0.00269	36	0.00269	0	0	0	0
Anchor – Expended	6.2495	12.5001	445	0.12770	445	0.12770	720	0.20661	720	0.20661
Anchor – Recovered	6.2495	12.5001	0	0	0	0	2,527	0.72516	3,107	0.89159
Bathythermograph - Expended	0.2771	0.5554	604	0.00770	1,130	0.01441	0	0	0	0
Bottom Placed Instruments	2.0000	4.0000	0	0.00000	0	0.00000	19	0.00174	19	0.00174
Buoy (Explosive)	0.9752	3.8987	80	0.00716	80	0.00716	0	0	0	0
Buoy (Non-Explosive)	0.9752	3.8987	232	0.02076	392	0.03508	0	0	0	0

# Table F-3: Number and Impacts<sup>1</sup> of Military Expended Materials Proposed for Use During Testing Activities in a Single Year Under Alternatives 1 and 2 (continued)

		Increase	Offshore Area				Inland Waters			
Military Expended Materials	Size	Impact Footprint	Alterno	ative 1	Alterno	ntive 2	Alterno	ative 1	Altern	ative 2
	(ft. <sup>2</sup> ) (ft. <sup>2</sup> ) Number Impact Number Mumber Number (Acre) (Acre)	Number	Impact (Acre)							
Other (Continued)										
Fiber Optic Can	0.0011	0.0022	36	0.00000	36	0.00000	0	0	0	0
Guidance Wire	0.0000	0.0000	0	0	0	0	230	0	230	0
Heavyweight Torpedo (Explosive)	39.6155	79.2299	4	0.00728	4	0.00728	0	0	0	0
Heavyweight Torpedo (Non-Explosive)	39.6155	79.2299	148	0.26919	188	0.34195	230	0.41834	230	0.41834
Heavyweight Torpedo Accessories	0.1615	3.2367	152	0.01129	192	0.01427	230	0.01709	230	0.01709
Lightweight Torpedo Accessories	1.1011	2.0215	82	0.00381	85	0.00394	48	0.00223	48	0.00223
Parachutes (Medium)	9.0417	18.0834	102	0.04234	102	0.04234	176	0.07306	184	0.07639
Decelerator/Parachute (Small)	2.8438	5.6876	1,657	0.21635	1,657	0.21635	48	0.00627	48	0.00627
Sonobuoy (Non-Explosive)	1.2207	2.4413	3,445	0.19307	5,125	0.28723	48	0.00269	48	0.00269
Surface-Launched Lightweight Torpedo (Explosive)	10.0782	20.1576	2	0.00093	2	0.00093	0	0	0	0
Surface-Launched Lightweight Torpedo (Non-Explosive)		20.1576	37	0.01712	40	0.01851	48	0.02221	48	0.02221
Total			12,954	2.71489	15,449	2.90847	18,318	6.40180	20,436	8.33758

<sup>1</sup>Calculations for "Impact (Acre) Column = [(Impact Footprint) x (Number)]/43560; Blue shading indicates numbers and impacts of MEM that differ between Alternatives 1 and 2

### F.2 STATISTICAL PROBABILITY ANALYSIS FOR ESTIMATING DIRECT STRIKE IMPACT AND NUMBER OF POTENTIAL EXPOSURES FROM MILITARY EXPENDED MATERIALS

This section discusses the methods and results for calculating the probability of a direct strike of an animal from any military items from the proposed training and testing activities falling toward (or directed at) the sea surface. For the purposes of this section, military items include non-explosive practice munitions, sonobuoys, acoustic countermeasures, targets, and high-energy lasers. Only marine mammals and sea turtles will be analyzed using these methods because animal densities are necessary to complete the calculations, and density estimates are currently available only for marine mammals and sea turtles within the Study Area. The analysis conducted here does not account for explosive munitions because impacts from explosives are analyzed within the Navy Acoustic Effects Model as described in the Quantifying Acoustic Impacts on Marine Mammals and Sea Turtles: Methods and Analytical Approach for Phase III Training and Testing (U.S. Department of the Navy, 2018).

### F.2.1 DIRECT IMPACT ANALYSIS

A probability was calculated to estimate the impact probability (P) and number of exposures (T) associated with direct impact of military items on marine animals on the sea surface within the specified training or testing area (R) in which the activities are occurring. The statistical probability analysis is based on probability theory and modified Venn diagrams with rectangular "footprint" areas for the individual animal (A) and total impact (I) inscribed inside the training or testing area (R). The analysis is over-predictive and conservative, in that it assumes: (1) that all animals would be at or near the surface 100 percent of the time, when in fact, marine mammals spend the majority of their time underwater, and (2) that the animals are stationary, which does not account for any movement or any potential avoidance of the training or testing activity.

- A = length\*width, where the individual animal's width (breadth) is assumed to be 20 percent of its length for marine mammals and 112 percent of its length for sea turtles. This product for A is multiplied by the number of animals N<sub>a</sub> in the specified training or testing area (i.e., product of the highest average month animal density [D] and training or testing area [R]: N<sub>a</sub> = D\*R) to obtain the total animal footprint area (A\*N<sub>a</sub> = A\*D\*R) in the training or testing area. As a conservative scenario, the total animal footprint area is calculated for the species with the highest average month density in the training or testing area with the highest use of military items within the entire Study Area.
- I = N<sub>mun</sub>\*length\*diameter, where N<sub>mun</sub> = total annual number of military items for each type, and "length" and "diameter" refer to the individual military equipment dimensions. For each type, the individual impact footprint area is multiplied by the total annual number of military items to obtain the type-specific impact footprint area (I = N<sub>mun</sub>\*length\*diameter). Each training or testing activity uses one or more different types of military items, each with a specific number and dimensions, and several training and testing activities occur in a given year. When integrating over the number of military items types for the given activity (and then over the number of activities in a year), these calculations are repeated (accounting for differences in dimensions and numbers) for all military items types used, to obtain the type-specific impact footprint area (I). These impact footprint areas are summed over all military items types for the given activity, and then summed (integrated) over all

activities to obtain the total impact footprint area resulting from all activities occurring in the training or testing area in a given year. As a conservative scenario, the total impact footprint area is calculated for the training or testing area with the highest use of military items within the entire Study Area.

Though marine mammals and sea turtles are not randomly distributed in the environment, a random point calculation was chosen due to the intensive data needs that would be required for a calculation that incorporated more detailed information on an animal's or military item's spatial occurrence.

The analysis is expected to provide an overestimation of the probability of a strike for the following reasons: (1) it calculates the probability of a single military item (of all the items expended over the course of the year) hitting a single animal at its species' highest seasonal density, (2) it does not take into account the possibility that an animal may avoid military activities, (3) it does not take into account the possibility that an animal may not be at the water surface, (4) it does not take into account that most projectiles fired during training and testing activities are fired at targets, and so only a very small portion of those projectiles that miss the target would hit the water with their maximum velocity and force, and (5) it does not quantitatively take into account the Navy avoiding animals that are sighted through the implementation of mitigation measures.

The likelihood of an impact is calculated as the probability (P) that the animal footprint (A) and the impact footprint (I) will intersect within the training or testing area (R). This is calculated as the area ratio A/R or I/R, respectively. Note that A (referring to an **individual** animal footprint) and I (referring to the impact footprint resulting from the **total** number of military items N<sub>mun</sub>) are the relevant quantities used in the following calculations of single-animal impact probability [P], which is then multiplied by the number of animals to obtain the number of exposures (T). The probability that the random point in the training or testing area is within both types of footprints (i.e., A and I) depends on the degree of overlap of A and I. The probability that I overlaps A is calculated by adding a buffer distance around A based on one-half of the impact area (i.e., 0.5\*I), such that an impact (center) occurring anywhere within the combined (overlapping) area would impact the animal. Thus, if L<sub>i</sub> and W<sub>i</sub> are the length and width of the impact footprint such that L<sub>i</sub>\*W<sub>i</sub> = 0.5\*I and  $W_i/L_i = L_a/W_a$  (i.e., similar geometry between the animal footprint and impact footprint), and if L<sub>a</sub> and W<sub>a</sub> are the length and width (breadth) of the individual animal such that L<sub>a</sub>\*W<sub>a</sub> = A (= individual animal footprint area), then, assuming a purely static, rectangular scenario (Scenario 1), the total area A<sub>tot</sub> = (L<sub>a</sub> + 2\*L<sub>i</sub>)\*(W<sub>a</sub> + 2\*W<sub>i</sub>), and the buffer area A<sub>buffer</sub> = A<sub>tot</sub> - L<sub>a</sub>\*W<sub>a</sub>.

Four scenarios were examined with respect to defining and setting up the overlapping combined areas of A and I. The results of the following four scenarios were averaged to determine the probability:

- Scenario 1: Purely static, rectangular scenario. Impact is assumed to be static (i.e., direct impact effects only; non-dynamic; no explosions or scattering of military items after the initial impact). Hence the impact footprint area (I) is assumed to be rectangular and given by the product of military items length and width (multiplied by the number of military items). Atot = (La + 2\*Li)\*(Wa + 2\*Wi) and Abuffer = Atot La\*Wa.
- 2. Scenario 2: Dynamic scenario with end-on collision, in which the length of the impact footprint (Li) is enhanced by Rn = 5 military items lengths to reflect forward momentum.  $A_{tot} = (L_a + (1 + R_n)^*L_i)^*(W_a + 2^*W_i)$  and  $A_{buffer} = A_{tot} - L_a^*W_a$ .
- 3. Scenario 3: Dynamic scenario with broadside collision, in which the width of the impact footprint (W<sub>i</sub>) is enhanced by R<sub>n</sub> = 5 military items lengths to reflect forward momentum.  $A_{tot} = (L_a + 2^*W_i)^*(W_a + (1 + R_n)^*L_i)$  and  $A_{buffer} = A_{tot} - L_a^*W_a$ .

4. Scenario 4: Purely static, radial scenario, in which the rectangular animal and impact footprints are replaced with circular footprints while conserving area. Define the radius (R<sub>a</sub>) of the circular individual animal footprint such that  $\pi^*R_a^2 = L_a^*W_a$ , and define the radius (R<sub>i</sub>) of the circular impact footprint such that  $\pi^*R_i^2 = 0.5^*L_i^*W_i = 0.5^*I$ . Then  $A_{tot} = \pi^*(R_a + R_i)^2$  and  $A_{buffer} = A_{tot} - \pi^*R_a^2$  (where  $\pi = 3.1415927$ ).

Static impacts (Scenarios 1 and 4) assume no additional aerial coverage effects of scattered military items beyond the initial impact. For dynamic impacts (Scenarios 2 and 3), the distance of any scattered military items must be considered by increasing the length (Scenario 2) or width (Scenario 3), depending on orientation (broadside versus end-on collision), of the impact footprint to account for the forward horizontal momentum of the falling object. Forward momentum typically accounts for five object lengths, resulting in a corresponding increase in impact area. Significantly different values may result from the static and dynamic orientation. Both of these types of collision conditions can be calculated each with 50 percent likelihood (i.e., equal weighting between Scenarios 2 and 3, to average these potentially different values).

Impact probability P is the probability of impacting one animal with the given number, type, and dimensions of all military items used in training or testing activities occurring in the area per year, and is given by the ratio of total area ( $A_{tot}$ ) to training or testing area (R): P =  $A_{tot}/R$ . Number of exposures is  $T = N^*P = N^*A_{tot}/R$ , where N = number of animals in the training or testing area per year (given as the product of the animal density [D] and range size [R]). Thus, N = D\*R and hence  $T = N^*P = N^*A_{tot}/R = D^*A_{tot}$ . Using this procedure, P and T were calculated for each of the four scenarios, for Endangered Species Act (ESA)-listed marine mammals and the marine mammal and sea turtle species with the highest average month density (used as the annual density value) and for each military item type. The scenario-specific P and T values were averaged over the four scenarios (using equal weighting) to obtain a single scenario -averaged annual estimate of P and T. The potential number of exposures (t) are reported in Table F-4, Table F-5, and Table F-6.

### F.2.2 PARAMETERS FOR ANALYSIS

Impact probabilities (P) and number of exposures (T) were estimated by the analysis for the following parameters:

- 1. Two action alternatives: Alternative 1 and Alternative 2. Animal densities, animal dimensions, and military item dimensions are the same for the two action alternatives.
- 2. One training and testing area: The NWTT Offshore Area.
- 3. The following types of non-explosive items:
  - Small-caliber projectiles: up to and including .50 caliber rounds
  - Medium-caliber projectiles: larger than .50 caliber rounds but smaller than 57 millimeters (mm) projectiles
  - Large-caliber projectiles: includes projectiles greater than or equal to a 57 mm projectile
  - Missiles: includes rockets and jet-propelled munitions
  - Bombs: non-explosive practice bombs and mine shapes, ranging from 10 to 2,000 lb.
  - Torpedoes: includes all aircraft-released lightweight torpedoes
  - Sonobuoys: includes all sonobuoys
  - Targets: includes expended, airborne and surface targets, as well as mine shapes
  - Lightweight torpedo accessories: includes all accessories that are dropped along with the torpedo (nose cap, air stabilizer, etc.)

- Expended bathythermographs: small sensors deployed from ships
- 4. High-energy lasers: includes high-energy laser weapons that are directed at a surface target.
- 5. Animal species of interest: the eight species of ESA-listed marine mammals and the non-ESA listed marine mammal species with the highest average month density in the training and testing area of interest (harbor porpoise and California sea lion), and the only sea turtle species with a possible occurrence in the training and testing area of interest.

### F.2.3 INPUT DATA

Input data for the direct strike analysis include animal species likely to be in the area and military items proposed for use under each of the two action alternatives. Animal species data include: (1) species identification and status (i.e., threatened, endangered, or neither), (2) highest average month density estimate for the species of interest, and (3) adult animal dimensions (length and width) for the species with the highest density. The animal's dimensions are used to calculate individual animal footprint areas (A = length\*width), and animal densities are used to calculate the number of exposures (T) from the impact probability (P): T = N\*P. Military items data include: (1) military items category (e.g., projectile, bomb, rocket, target), (2) military items dimensions (length and width), and (3) total number of military items used annually.

Military items input data, specifically the quantity (e.g., numbers of bombs and rockets), are different in magnitude between the two action alternatives. All animal species input data, the military items' identification and category, and the military items' dimensions are the same for the two alternatives; only the quantities (i.e., total number of military items) are different.

### F.2.4 OUTPUT DATA

Estimates of impact probability (P) and number of exposures (T) for a given species of interest were made for the specified training or testing area with the highest annual number of military items used for each of the two action alternatives. The calculations derived P and T from the highest annual number of military items used in the Study Area for the given alternative. Differences in P and T between the alternatives arise from different numbers of events (and therefore military items) for the two alternatives.

Results for marine mammals and sea turtles are presented in Tables F-4 through F-6.

# Table F-4: Estimated Exposures from Direct Strike of a High-Energy Laser by Area andAlternative in a Single Year

NWTT Offshore Area							
	Trai	ning	Testing				
Species	Alternative 1	Alternative 2	Alternative 1	Alternative 2			
All Marine Mammals Species	0.000000	0.000000	0.000619	0.000619			
Leatherback Sea Turtle	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000			

# Table F-5: Estimated Representative Marine Mammal Exposures from Direct Strike of MilitaryExpended Materials by Area and Alternative in a Single Year

NWTT Offshore Area									
	Trai	ning	Testing						
Species	Alternative 1	Alternative 2	Testing           ative 2         Alternative 1         Alternative 2           00534         0.000353         0.000372           0007         0.000004         0.000005           0265         0.000177         0.000186           0073         0.000049         0.000052           0062         0.000041         0.000043           0014         0.00009         0.000010           0249         0.000164         0.000173           .2568         0.008129         0.008576						
Humpback Whale	0.000463	0.000534	0.000353	0.000372					
Sei Whale	0.000006	0.000007	0.000004	0.000005					
Fin Whale	0.000230	0.000265	0.000177	0.000186					
Blue Whale	0.000064	0.000073	0.000049	0.000052					
Sperm Whale	0.000054	0.000062	0.000041	0.000043					
Killer Whale (Southern Resident)	0.000012	0.000014	0.000009	0.000010					
Gray Whale	0.000215	0.000249	0.000164	0.000173					
Harbor porpoise	0.010810	0.012568	0.008129	0.008576					
California sea lion	0.004216	0.004902	0.003170	0.003345					
Guadalupe Fur Seal	0.000216	0.000251	0.000162	0.000171					

# Table F-6: Estimated Leatherback Sea Turtle Exposures from Direct Strike of MilitaryExpended Materials by Area and Alternative in a Single Year

NWTT Offshore Area							
Species	Trai	ning	Testing				
	Alternative 1	Alternative 2	Alternative 1	Alternative 2			
Leatherback Sea Turtle	0.000001	0.000002	0.000001	0.000001			

## **REFERENCES**

- Karlsson, S., and A. C. Albertsson. (1998). Biodegradable polymers and environmental interaction. *Polymer Engineering and Science, 38*(8), 1251–1253.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2018). *Quantifying Acoustic Impacts on Marine Mammals and Sea Turtles: Methods and Analytical Approach for Phase III Training and Testing* (Technical Report prepared by NUWC Division Newport, Space and Naval Warfare Systems Center Pacific, G2 Software Systems, and the National Marine Mammal Foundation). Newport, RI: Naval Undersea Warfare Center.

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

### **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

## Northwest Training and Testing

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

APPENDIX G FEDERAL REGISTER NOTICES......G-1

# **List of Figures**

There are no figures in this appendix.

# **List of Tables**

There are no tables in this appendix.

This page intentionally left blank.

### Appendix G Federal Register Notices

Appendix G contains the following Federal Register Notices:

- 1. Notice of Intent to Prepare a Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement for Northwest Training and Testing
- 2. Notice of Extension of Scoping Period for the Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement for Northwest Training and Testing

#### Federal Register/Vol. 82, No. 161/Tuesday, August 22, 2017/Notices

Any associated form(s) for this collection may be located within this same electronic docket and downloaded for review/testing. Follow the instructions at *http:// www.regulations.cov* for submitting

www.regulations.gov for submitting comments. Please submit comments on any given form identified by docket number, form number, and title.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: To request more information on this proposed information collection or to obtain a copy of the proposal and associated collection instruments, please write to the DSS Office of Information Management, Russell Knox Building, 27130 Telegraph Rd., Quantico, VA 22134 or email dss.niss@ mail.mil.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Title; Associated Form; and OMB Number: National Industrial Security System (NISS); OMB Control Number 0704–XXXX.

Needs and Uses: The information collection requirement is necessary for DSS to oversee the National Industrial Security Program (NISP) pursuant to Executive Order 12829. The National Industrial Security System (NISS) will become the repository of records related to the maintenance of information pertaining to contractor facility security clearances (FCL) and contractor capabilities to protect classified information in its possession.

Affected Public: Cleared contractor companies participating in the NISP. Annual Burden Hours: 11,671. Number of Respondents: 11,671. Responses per Respondent: 1. Annual Responses: 11,671. Average Burden per Response: 60

Frequency: On occasion.

Respondents are security professionals who provide information to DSS in order to process facility security clearances (FCL), report changes of the facility that may affect the FCL, and managing incident response. In addition to this standard processing, NISS will enable security staff to communicate with their DSS representative pursuant to requirement DoD 5220.22–M, National Industrial Security Program Operating Manual. The NIŠS will be an integrated automated solution that will facilitate efficient execution of the Agency's core mission. NISS will allow users to manage large amounts of information through increased automated workflows to ensure accuracy, create linkages in data, and close the gap of missing data elements.

Dated: August 16, 2017. Aaron Siegel, Alternate OSD Federal Register Liaison Officer, Department of Defense. [FR Doc. 2017-17686 Filed 8-21-17; 8:45 am] BILLING CODE 5001-06-P

#### DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

#### Department of the Navy

Notice of Intent To Prepare a Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement for Northwest Training and Testing

AGENCY: Department of the Navy, DoD. ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Pursuant to the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) of 1969 and regulations implemented by the Council on Environmental Quality, the Department of the Navy (DoN) announces its intent to prepare a supplement to the 2015 Final Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Environmental Impact Statement/ Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS).

DATES: Public comments will be accepted during the 30-day scoping period from August 22, 2017 to September 21, 2017. Public scoping meetings will not be held. However, public meetings are planned to occur following the release of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS in early 2019. ADDRESSES: The DoN invites scoping comments on the NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS from all interested parties. Substantive comments may be provided by mail to the address below and through the project Web site at http:// nwtteis.com/. Comments must be postmarked or received online by September 21, 2017 for consideration during the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: John Mosher, (360) 257–3234, john.g.mosher@navy.mil. Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest, Attention: NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager, 3730 North Charles Porter Avenue, Building 385, Oak Harbor, Washington 98278–3500.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The DoN will assess the potential environmental effects associated with ongoing and future at-sea military readiness activities conducted within the NWTT EIS/OEIS Study Area (hereafter known as the "Study Area") beyond 2020. Military readiness activities include training and research, development, testing, and evaluation (hereafter known as "testing"). The Supplemental EIS/OEIS will include an analysis of training and testing activities using new information available after the release of the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS. New information includes an updated acoustic effects model, updated marine mammal density data, and evolving and emergent best available science. Proposed activities are generally consistent with those analyzed in the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS and are representative of training and testing activities the DoN has been conducting in the Study Area for decades.

The Study Area remains unchanged since the 2015 Final EIS/OEIS. The Study Area is comprised of established maritime operating areas and warning areas in the northeastern Pacific Ocean, including areas within the Strait of Juan de Fuca, Puget Sound, and the Western Behm Canal in southeastern Alaska. The Study Area includes air and water space within and outside Washington state waters, air and water space outside state waters of Oregon and Northern California, and DoN pierside locations where sound navigation and ranging (sonar) maintenance and testing occur. In the supplement to the 2015 Final EIS/ OEIS, the DoN will only analyze those training and testing activities conducted at sea within the Study Area.

at sea within the Study Area. As part of this process, the DoN will seek the issuance of federal regulatory permits and authorizations under the Marine Mammal Protection Act and Endangered Species Act to support ongoing and future at-sea military readiness activities within the Study Area beyond 2020.

Pursuant to 40 CFR 1501.6, the DoN will invite the National Marine Fisheries Service and the U.S. Coast Guard to be cooperating agencies in preparation of the Supplemental EIS/ OEIS.

The DoN's lead action proponent is Commander, U.S. Pacific Fleet. Additional action proponents include Naval Sea Systems Command and Naval Air Systems Command.

The DoN's Proposed Action is to conduct at-sea training and testing activities within the Study Area. Activities include the use of active sonar and explosives while employing marine species protective mitigation measures. The Proposed Action does not alter the DoN's original purpose and need as discussed in the 2015 Final EIS/ OEIS.

The purpose of the Proposed Action is to maintain a ready force, which is needed to ensure the DoN can accomplish its mission to maintain, train, and equip combat-ready naval

#### 39780

#### Federal Register/Vol. 82, No. 161/Tuesday, August 22, 2017/Notices

forces capable of winning wars, deterring aggression, and maintaining freedom of the seas, consistent with Congressional direction in section 5062 of Title 10 of the U.S. Code. A Supplemental EIS/OEIS is considered the appropriate document, as there is recent scientific information including revised acoustic criteria to consider, in furtherance of NEPA, relevant to the environmental effects of the DoN's Proposed Action. The analysis will support Marine Mammal Protection Act authorization requests. Proposed training and testing

activities are generally consistent with those analyzed in the 2015 Final EIS/ OEIS. In the Supplemental EIS/OEIS, the DoN will analyze the proposed changes to the tempo and types of training and testing activities, accounting for the introduction of new technologies, the evolving nature of international events, advances in warfighting doctrine and procedures, and changes in the organization of vessels, aircraft, weapons systems, and DoN personnel. In the NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS, the DoN will reflect the compilation of training and testing activities required to fulfill the DoN's military readiness requirements beyond 2020, and therefore includes the analysis of newly proposed activities and changes to previously analyzed activities.

In the Supplemental EIS/OEIS, the DoN will evaluate the potential environmental effects of a no action alternative and action alternatives. Resources to be evaluated include, but are not limited to, marine mammals, sea turtles, essential fish habitat, threatened and endangered species, and American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources.

The scoping process is used to identify public concerns and local issues to be considered during the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS. Federal agencies, state agencies, local agencies, the public, and interested persons are encouraged to provide substantive comments to the DoN on environmental resources and issue areas of concern the commenter believes the DoN should consider.

Comments must be postmarked or received online by September 21, 2017 for consideration during the development of the Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS. Comments can be mailed to: Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest, Attention: NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager, 3730 North Charles Porter Avenue, Building 385, Oak Harbor, Washington 98278–3500. Comments can be submitted online via the project Web site at *http://www.nwtteis.com/*. Also at this Web site, those interested in receiving electronic project updates can subscribe to receive notifications via email for key milestones throughout the environmental planning process.

### Dated: August 16, 2017.

A.M. Nichols,

Lieutenant Commander, Judge Advocate General's Corps, U.S. Navy, Federal Register Liaison Officer.

[FR Doc. 2017–17618 Filed 8–21–17; 8:45 am] BILLING CODE 3810–FF–P

#### DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA<sup>®</sup>) Information To Be Verified for the 2018–2019 Award Year

#### Correction

In notice document 2017–09167, appearing on pages 21204 through 21208, in the issue of Friday, May 5, 2017, make the following corrections:

1. On page 21207, in the second column, on the second line, the entry that reads "I certify that I \_\_\_\_", should read:

"I certify that I am".

2. On the same page, in the same column, on the nineteenth line, the entry that reads "I certify that I \_\_\_\_", should read:

"I certify that I \_\_\_\_ am".

[FR Doc. C1-2017-09167 Filed 8-21-17; 8:45 am] BILLING CODE 1301-00-D

#### DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy

[EERE-2017-BT-CRT-0054]

Proposed Agency Information Collection Extension

AGENCY: Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, U.S. Department of Energy.

ACTION: Information collection extension, with changes; notice and request for comment.

SUMMARY: The U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) intends to extend with changes for three years with the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), the Certification Reports, Compliance Statements, Application for a Test Procedure Waiver, and Recordkeeping for Consumer Products and Commercial/Industrial Equipment subject to Energy or Water Conservation Standards Package under OMB No. 1910-1400. Comments are invited on: (a) Whether the proposed collection of information is necessary for the proper performance of the functions of the agency, including whether the information shall have practical utility; (b) the accuracy of the agency's estimate of the burden of the proposed collection of information, including the validity of the methodology and assumptions used; (c) ways to enhance the quality, utility, and clarity of the information to be collected; and (d) ways to minimize the burden of the collection of information on respondents, including through the use of automated collection techniques or other forms of information technology.

DATES: Written comments and information are requested and will be accepted on or before October 23, 2017. ADDRESSES: Interested persons are encouraged to submit comments using the Federal eRulemaking Portal at *http://www.regulations.gov.* Follow the instructions for submitting comments. Alternatively, interested persons may submit comments, identified by docket number EERE-2017-BT-CRT-0054, by any of the following methods:

1. Federal eRulemaking Portal: http:// www.regulations.gov. Follow the instructions for submitting comments.

2. Email: to InfoCollection2017CRT0054@ ee.doe.gov. Include docket number EERE-2017-BT-CRT-0054 in the subject line of the message.

Subject line of the message.
3. Postal Mail: Appliance and
Equipment Standards Program, U.S.
Department of Energy, Building
Technologies Office, Mailstop EE–5B,
1000 Independence Avenue SW.,
Washington, DC 20585–0121.
Telephone: (202) 287–1445. If possible,
please submit all items on a compact
disc ("CD"), in which case it is not

necessary to include printed copies. 4. Hand Delivery/Courier: Appliance and Equipment Standards Program, U.S. Department of Energy, Building Technologies Office, 950 L'Enfant Plaza SW., Suite 600, Washington, DC 20024. Telephone: (202) 287–1445. If possible, please submit all items on a CD, in which case it is not necessary to include printed copies.

No telefacsimilies (faxes) will be accepted.

Docket: The docket for this activity, which includes Federal Register notices, comments, and other supporting documents/materials, is available for review at http:// www.regulations.gov. All documents in the docket are listed in the http:// www.regulations.gov index. However, some documents listed in the index, 43950

#### Federal Register/Vol. 82, No. 181/Wednesday, September 20, 2017/Notices

Responses to Disturbance and Climate Variability on DoD Lands (FY18 New Start)-Dr. Scott Ferrenberg, United States Geological Survey; 2:00 p.m. RC18-C2-1021 (RC18-1021): Using Unmanned Aerial Systems to Model Spatially-Mediated Heterogeneity in 3D Microclimate Landscapes (FY18 New Start)-Dr. Anna Carter, Iowa State University; 2:45 p.m. Break; 3:00 p.m. RC18–C2–1108 (RC18–1108): Aquatic Ecosystem Vulnerability to Fire and Climate Change in Alaskan Boreal Forests (FY18 New Start)—Dr. Jeffrey Falke, United States Geological Survey; 3:45 p.m. Resource Conservation and Resiliency Overview—Dr. Kurt Preston, Resource Conservation and Resiliency Program Manager; 3:55 p.m. RC18-C1-1358 (RC18-1358): Using Remotelysensed Data and Light-level Geolocator Technology to Inform Off-Post Landscape-Scale Conservation Planning for a Migratory Species (FY18 New Start)-Dr. Ashley Long, Texas A&M AgriLife Research; 4:40 p.m. Public Discussion/Adjourn for the day

Thursday, October 19, 2017: 8:30 a.m.: Convene-Dr. Joseph Hughes, Chair; 8:40 a.m. Weapons Systems and Platforms Overview-Dr. Robin Nissan, WP Program Manager; 8:50 a.m. WP18-C4-1047 (WP18-1047): Development of an Agile, Novel Expeditionary Battlefield Manufacturing Plant using Recycled and Reclaimed Thermoplastic Materials (FY18 New Start)-Dr. Prabhat Krishnaswamy, Engineering Mechanics Corporation of Columbus: 9:35 a.m. WP18-C4-1323 (WP18-1323) Recycling and Reuse of Metal Alloys by a Single Solid-State Additive Manufacturing and Repair Process (FY18 New Start)-Dr. Paul Allison, University of Alabama; 10:20 a.m. Break; 10:35 a.m. Weapons Systems and Platforms Overview-Dr. Robin Nissan, WP Program Manager; 10:45 a.m. WP18–C1–1114 (WP18–1114): Emulsion Characterization Study for Improved Bilgewater Treatment and Management (FY18 New Start)-Ms. Danielle Paynter, Naval Surface Warfare Center; 11:30 a.m. Weapons Systems and Platforms Overview—Dr. Robin Nissan, WP Program Manager; 11:40 a.m. WP18-C3-1193 (WP18-1193): An Integral Hypergolic Hybrid-Solid Fuel Ramjet Concept for AP-Free High Performance Tactical Rocket Motors (FY18 New Start)—Dr. Mark Pfeil, U.S. Army Aviation & Missile Research. Development, and Engineering Center; 12:25 p.m. Lunch; 1:25 p.m. Weapons Systems and Platforms Overview—Dr. Robin Nissan, WP Program Manager; 1:35 p.m. WP18-F2-1439 (WP18-1439) Development and Evaluation of Non-

Chromate LHE ZnNi Passivations for DoD Electrical Connectors (Follow-on to FY15 SEED Project)—Dr. Matthew O'Keefe, Missouri S&T; 2:20 p.m. Munitions Response Overview-Dr. Herbert Nelson, Munitions Response Program Manager; 2:30 p.m. MR18-C1-1233 (MR18-1233): Improved Penetrometer Performance in Stratified Sediment for Cost-Effective Characterization, Monitoring and Management of Submerged Munitions Sites (FY18 New Start)-Dr. Nina Stark, Virginia Tech; 3:15 p.m. Break; 3:30 p.m. Environmental Restoration Overview—Dr. Andrea Leeson, ER Program Manager; 3:40 p.m. ER-2531: Role of Acidophilic Methanotrophs in Long Term Natural Attenuation of VOCs in Low pH Aquifers (Follow On to FY15 Limited Scope Project)—Dr. Paul Hatzinger, Aptim Federal Services; 4:25 p.m. Strategy Session-Dr. Herb Nelson, Acting Executive Director; 4:55 p.m. Public Discussion/Adjourn.

Meeting Accessibility: The meeting location has proper and working facilities for those with disabilities. Please contact the Designated Federal Officer (DFO) if there are any issues.

Written Statements: Pursuant to 41 CFR 102-3.140, and section 10(a)(3) of the Federal Advisory Committee Act of 1972, the public or interested organizations may submit written statements to the Strategic Environmental Research and Development Program, Scientific Advisory Board. Written statements may be submitted to the committee at any time or in response to an approved meeting agenda. All written statements shall be submitted to the DFO for the Strategic Environmental Research and Development Program, Scientific Advisory Board. The DFO will ensure that the written statements are provided to the membership for their consideration. Time is allotted at the close of each meeting day for the public to make comments.

Dated: September 15, 2017.

#### Aaron Siegel,

Alternate OSD Federal Register Liaison Officer, Department of Defense. [FR Doc. 2017–20011 Filed 9–19–17; 8:45 am] BILLING CODE 5001–06–P

#### DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE

Department of the Navy

#### Notice of Extension of Scoping Period for the Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement for Northwest Training and Testing

AGENCY: Department of the Navy, DoD. ACTION: Notice.

**SUMMARY:** A notice of intent was published by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency in the Federal **Register** (82 FR 39779) on August 22, 2017 for the supplement to the 2015 Final Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS). The 30day scoping period ends on September 21, 2017. This notice announces a 15day extension of the scoping period until October 6, 2017.

DATES: Public comments will be accepted during the 45-day scoping period from August 22, 2017 to October 6, 2017.

ADDRESSES: Comments may be provided via mail to the address provided below or through the project Web site at http:// nwtteis.com/. Comments must be postmarked or received online by October 6, 2017 for consideration during the development of the Supplemental EIS/OEIS. Anyone interested in receiving electronic project updates can subscribe on the project Web site to receive notifications via email for key milestones throughout the environmental planning process. FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Mr. John Mosher, 360–257–3234,

*john.g.mosher@navy.mil.* U.S. Pacific *fohn.g.mosher@navy.mil.* U.S. Pacific Fleet, Attention: NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS Project Manager, 3730 North Charles Porter Avenue, Building 385, Oak Harbor, Washington 98278–3500.

Dated: September 14, 2017. S.E. Milewski,

Deputy Division Director, Administrative Law Division, Judge Advocate General's Corps, U.S. Navy, Alternate Federal Register Liaison Officer.

[FR Doc. 2017-20013 Filed 9-19-17; 8:45 am] BILLING CODE 3810-FF-P

#### DEFENSE NUCLEAR FACILITIES SAFETY BOARD

#### Sunshine Act Notice

TIME AND DATE: 12:00 p.m.–3:00 p.m., September 26, 2017. PLACE: Defense Nuclear Facilities Safety Board Headquarters, 625 Indiana Appendix H: Public Comment Responses

This appendix to appear in the Final Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

# Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

## **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

## Northwest Training and Testing

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

APPENDIX I	AGE	ENCY CORRESPONDENCE	I-1
I.1	Сооре	erating Agency Status	.I-2
	I.1.1	Navy Request to National Marine Fisheries Service	. I-2
	I.1.2	Navy Request to U.S. Coast Guard	.I-6
	I.1.3	Navy Request to U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service	. I-9
	I.1.4	National Marine Fisheries Service Response to Navy	-13
	I.1.5	U.S. Coast Guard Response to Navy	-14

# List of Figures

There are no figures in this appendix.

# **List of Tables**

There are no tables in this appendix.

This page intentionally left blank.

# Appendix I Agency Correspondence

This appendix contains correspondence sent between the Navy and relevant government agency status.

### I.1 Cooperating Agency Status

### I.1.1 Navy Request to National Marine Fisheries Service



DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY OFFICE OF THE CHIEF OF NAVAL OPERATIONS 2000 NAVY PENTAGON WASHINGTON DC 20350-2000

> 5090 Ser N45/17U132423 September 27, 2017

Ms. Donna S. Wieting Director, Office of Protected Resources National Marine Fisheries Service 1315 East West Highway Silver Spring, MD 20910

### SUBJECT: NORTHWEST TRAINING AND TESTING SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT/OVERSEAS ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT - COOPERATING AGENCY REQUEST

#### Dear Ms. Wieting:

In accordance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) of 1969 and Executive Order (EO) 12114, the United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy (Navy) is preparing a Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS) to assess the potential environmental impacts associated with the continuation of military readiness activities, which consist of training as well as research, development, testing, and evaluation (RDT&E, hereinafter referred to as "testing") activities that include the use of active sonar and explosives in the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Study Area. The proposed training and testing activities within the NWTT Study Area support the Navy's Title 10 of the U.S. Code requirements to achieve and maintain military readiness by ensuring the Navy can provide trained and equipped combat-ready forces capable of winning wars, deterring aggression, and maintaining freedom of the seas.

This NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS represents the third phase (Phase III) of ongoing NEPA and EO 12114 compliance for continuation of at-sea training and testing. It will evaluate the conduct of military readiness activities from 2020 into the reasonably foreseeable future and accommodate evolving mission requirements associated with force structure changes, including those resulting from the development, testing, and ultimate introduction of new platforms (vessels, aircraft, and weapon systems) into the Fleet.

The Phase III NWTT Study Area remains consistent with the area studied in the Phase II NWTT EIS/OEIS completed in 2015 and consists of established maritime operating and warning areas in the eastern North Pacific Ocean region, located adjacent to the northwest coast of the United States, and areas within the Strait of Juan de Fuca, Puget Sound, and the Behm Canal. The Study Area includes four existing range complexes and facilities: the Northwest Training Range Complex, the Naval Undersea Warfare Center Keyport Range Complex, the Carr Inlet Operations Area, and the Southeast Alaska Acoustic Measurement Facility. In addition to these range complexes, the Study Area also includes select Navy pierside locations and inland waters that are outside the range complexes.

5090 Ser N45/17U132423 September 27, 2017

The Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS is intended to serve as a basis for the renewal of current regulatory permits and authorizations and the analysis of emerging and future force structure changes and training and testing requirements. An important aspect of the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS will be the analysis of the potential effects to marine species protected under the Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) and the Endangered Species Act (ESA) and habitats protected under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act. The existing MMPA Final Rule and Letters of Authorization for NWTT Phase II activities will expire in November 2020.

To complete the analysis required by the permitting and consultation process pursuant to MMPA and ESA in an efficient and effective way, the Navy believes that participation by the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) is needed. Therefore, in accordance with the Council on Environmental Quality's (CEQ) regulations implementing NEPA (specifically 40 CFR Part 1501) and CEQ's 2002 guidance on cooperating agencies, the Navy requests that NMFS serve as a cooperating agency for the development of the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

Consistent with 40 CFR 1501.6, the Navy is requesting NMFS' participation as early in the planning process as possible. As the lead agency, the Navy will:

a. Gather all necessary background information and prepare the Supplemental EIS/OEIS and all necessary permit applications associated with acoustic issues within the Study Area;

b. Work with NMFS personnel to determine the method of estimating potential effects to protected marine species, including threatened and endangered species;

c. Determine the scope of the NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS, including the alternatives evaluated;

d. Circulate the NEPA document to the general public and any other interested parties;

e. Schedule and supervise meetings held in support of the NEPA process and compile comments received; and

f. Maintain an administrative record and respond to Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests relating to the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

The Navy respectfully requests that NMFS, in its role as a cooperating agency, provide the following support:

a. Participate in the NEPA process, to include public participation efforts pertaining to the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS, and fund such support through its own sources to the maximum extent possible;

5090 Ser N45/17U132423 September 27, 2017

b. Provide timely comments on working drafts of the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS in accordance with the approved project schedule and commenting protocols, and provide minutes of any agency information meetings that have been adjudicated within the agency;

c. Adhere to the overall schedule as set forth by the Navy in coordination with NMFS;

d. Respond to Navy requests for information, in particular, those related to review of the acoustic effects analysis and evaluation of the effectiveness of protection and mitigation measures;

e. Coordinate, to the maximum extent practicable, any public comment periods that are necessary in the MMPA permitting process with the Navy's NEPA public comment periods;

f. Make available staff support at Navy's request to enhance the Navy's interdisciplinary capability;

g. Participate, as necessary, in meetings hosted by the Navy for discussion of issues related to the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS;

h. Utilize NMFS resources, including funding where appropriate, in support of executing its cooperating agency responsibilities.

i. Prepare any NMFS-specific documents required to support the NMFS decisionmaking process;

j. Maintain an administrative record and respond to FOIA requests relating to the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS; and

k. Provide a formal, written response to this request.

The Navy views this agreement as important to the successful completion of the environmental planning process for the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS. It is the Navy's goal to complete the analysis as expeditiously as possible, while using the best scientific information available. NMFS assistance is invaluable to this endeavor.

5090 Ser N45/17U132423 September 27, 2017

We appreciate your consideration of our request and look forward to your response. The point of contact for this action is Ms. Dawn Schroeder, (703) 695-5219, email: dawn.schroeder@navy.mil.

Sincerely,

C. A. LAHTI

Director, Energy and Environmental Readiness Division

Copy to: OPNAV (N9I, N83) Commander, U.S. Fleet Forces Command (N46) Commander, U.S. Pacific Fleet (N465) Commander, Navy Installations Command (N45) Commander, Naval Sea Systems Command Commander, Naval Air Systems Command Commander, Navy Region Northwest Commander, Naval Facilities Engineering Command, (N45)

### I.1.2 Navy Request to U.S. Coast Guard



DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY COMMANDER UNITED STATES PACIFIC FLEET 250 MAKALAPA DRIVE PEARL HARBOR, HAWAII 96860-3131

> **IN REPLY REFER TO:** 5090 Ser N46/1250 October 12, 2017

Vice Admiral Fred M. Midgette Commander, U.S. Coast Guard Pacific Area Coast Guard Defense Force West Coast Guard Island, Bldg. 51-6 Alameda, CA, 94501-5100

Dear Admiral Midgette:

### Subj: NORTHWEST TRAINING AND TESTING SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT/OVERSEAS ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT -COOPERATING AGENCY REQUEST

In accordance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) of 1969 and Executive Order (EO) 12114, the United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy (Navy) is preparing a Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS) to assess the potential environmental impacts associated with training and testing activities in the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Study Area. The proposed training and testing activities within the NWTT Study Area supports the Navy's Title 10 of the U.S. Code requirements to achieve and maintain military readiness by ensuring the Navy can provide trained and equipped combat-ready forces.

The NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS represents the third phase (Phase III) of ongoing NEPA and EO 12114 compliance for continuation of at-sea training and testing. It will evaluate the conduct of military readiness activities from 2020 into the reasonably foreseeable future and accommodate evolving mission requirements associated with force structure changes, including those resulting from the development, testing, and ultimate introduction of new platforms (vessels, aircraft, and weapon systems) into the Fleet.

The Phase III NWTT Study Area remains consistent with the area studied in the Phase II NWTT EIS/OEIS completed in 2015 and consists of established maritime operating and warning areas in the eastern North Pacific Ocean region, located adjacent to the northwest coast of the United States, and areas within the Strait of Juan de Fuca, Puget Sound, and the Behm Canal in southeastern Alaska.

The Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS is intended to serve as a basis for the renewal of current regulatory permits and authorizations and the analysis of emerging and future force structure changes and training and testing requirements. An important aspect of the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS will be the analysis of the potential effects to marine species protected under the Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) and the Endangered Species Act (ESA) and habitats protected under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and

5090 Ser N46/1250 October 12, 2017

Management Act. The existing MMPA Final Rule and Letters of Authorization for Phase II NWTT activities will expire in November 2020.

As with the 2015 Phase II NWTT EIS/OEIS, certain U.S. Coast Guard units and personnel are proposed to continue to support Navy Maritime Security Operation activities within the NWTT Study Area, and are appropriate to incorporate within this study. Therefore, in accordance with the Council on Environmental Quality's (CEQ) regulations implementing NEPA (specifically 40 CFR Part 1501) and CEQ's 2002 guidance on cooperating agencies, the Navy requests that the U.S. Coast Guard serve as a cooperating agency for the development of the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

Consistent with 40 CFR Part 1501.6, the Navy is the lead agency for the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS. As the lead agency, the Navy will:

- Use U.S. Coast Guard environmental analysis and proposals to the maximum extent possible consistent with its responsibility as lead agency.
- Meet with the U.S. Coast Guard to discuss the Supplemental EIS/OEIS process, as requested.
- Circulate the appropriate NEPA documentation to the general public and any other interested parties.
- Schedule and supervise meetings held in support of the NEPA process and compile comments received.
- Maintain an administrative record and respond to Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests relating to the SEIS/OEIS.

Navy respectfully requests the U.S. Coast Guard, in its role as a cooperating agency, provide the following support:

- Participate in the NEPA process.
- Provide a representative during the public outreach process within the USCG Area of Responsibility.
- Provide data to the Navy on Coast Guard activities that take place in the NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS study area.
- Assume, on request of the Navy, responsibility for developing information and preparing environmental analyses, for which the Coast Guard has special expertise.

I-7

5090 Ser N46/1250 October 12, 2017

- Make available staff support at the Navy's request to enhance the Navy's interdisciplinary capability for the study.
- Participate, as necessary, in meetings hosted by the Navy for discussion of issues related to the Supplemental EIS/OEIS.
- Utilize Coast Guard resources, including funding where appropriate, to support the cooperating agency role.
- Adhere to the overall schedule, as set forth by the Navy.
- · Provide a formal, written response to this request.

The Navy views this agreement as important to the successful completion of the environmental planning process for the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS. It is the Navy's goal to complete the analysis as expeditiously as possible, while using the best scientific information available. The Coast Guard's assistance is invaluable in this endeavor.

We appreciate your consideration of our request and look forward to your response. The point of contact for this action is Mr. John Mosher, COMPACFLT N465JM at (360) 257 - 3234, email: john.g.mosher@navy.mil.

Very respectfully,

J. W. KORKA Fleet Civil Engineer

Copy to: CNO WASHINGTON DC (N45) COMNAVSEASYSCOM WASHINGTON DC COMNAVAIRSYSCOM PATUXENT RIVER MD COMNAVREG NW SILVERDALE WA

### I.1.3 Navy Request to U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service



DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY OFFICE OF THE CHIEF OF NAVAL OPERATIONS 2000 NAVY PENTAGON WASHINGTON DC 20350-2000

> 5090 Ser N45/17U132427 October 4, 2017

Mr. Greg Sheehan Director U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 1849 C Street, NW Washington, D.C. 20240

### SUBJECT: NORTHWEST TRAINING AND TESTING SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT/OVERSEAS ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT - COOPERATING AGENCY

#### Dear Mr. Sheehan:

In accordance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) of 1969 and Executive Order (EO)12114, the United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy (Navy) is preparing a Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS) to assess the potential environmental impacts associated with the continuation of military readiness activities, which consist of training as well as research, development, testing, and evaluation (RDT&E, hereinafter referred to as "testing") activities that include the use of active sonar and explosives in the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Study Area. The proposed training and testing activities within the NWTT Study Area supports the Navy's Title 10 of the U.S. Code requirements to achieve and maintain military readiness by ensuring the Navy can provide trained and equipped combat-ready forces capable of winning wars, deterring aggression, and maintaining freedom of the seas.

This NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS represents the third phase (Phase III) of ongoing NEPA and EO 12114 compliance for continuation of at-sea training and testing. It will evaluate the conduct of military readiness activities from 2020 into the reasonably foreseeable future and accommodate evolving mission requirements associated with force structure changes, including those resulting from the development, testing, and ultimate introduction of new platforms (vessels, aircraft, and weapon systems) into the Fleet.

The Phase III NWTT Study Area remains consistent with the area studied in the Phase II NWTT EIS/OEIS completed in 2015 and consists of established maritime operating and warning areas in the eastern North Pacific Ocean region, located adjacent to the northwest coast of the United States, and areas within the Strait of Juan de Fuca, Puget Sound, and the Behm Canal in southeastern Alaska. The Study Area includes four existing range complexes and facilities: the Northwest Training Range Complex, the Naval Undersea Warfare Center Keyport Range Complex, the Carr Inlet Operations Area, and the Southeast Alaska Acoustic Measurement Facility. In addition to these range complexes, the Study Area also includes select Navy pierside locations and inland waters that are outside the range complexes.

An important aspect of the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS will be the analysis of the potential effects to species protected under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) and habitats protected under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act. The

5090 Ser N45/17U132427 October 4, 2017

programmatic Biological Opinion for NWTT will expire in July 21, 2036. The NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS is intended to serve as a basis for a review of and potential amendment to the Biological Opinion and the analysis of emerging and future force structure changes and training and testing requirements.

To complete the analysis required by the permitting and consultation process pursuant to ESA in an efficient and effective way, the Navy believes that participation by U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) is needed. Therefore, in accordance with the Council on Environmental Quality's (CEQ) regulations implementing NEPA (specifically 40 CFR Part 1501) and CEQ's 2002 guidance on cooperating agencies, the Navy requests that the USFWS serve as a cooperating agency for the development of the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

Consistent with 40 CFR 1501.6, the Navy is requesting USFWS' participation as early in the planning process as possible. As the lead agency, the Navy will:

a. Gather all necessary background information and prepare the Supplemental EIS/OEIS and all necessary permit applications associated with acoustic issues within the Study Area.

b. Work with USFWS personnel to determine the method of estimating potential effects to threatened and endangered species.

c. Determine the scope of the NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS, including the alternatives evaluated.

d. Circulate the appropriate NEPA documentation to the general public and any other interested parties.

e. Schedule and supervise meetings held in support of the NEPA process and compile comments received.

f. Maintain an administrative record and respond to Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests relating to the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

The Navy respectfully requests the USFWS, in its role as a cooperating agency, provide support as follows:

a. Participate in the NEPA process, to include public participation efforts pertaining to the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS, and fund such support through its own sources to maximum extent possible.

5090 Ser N45/17U132427 October 4, 2017

b. Provide timely comments on working drafts of the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS and minutes of any agency information meetings that have been adjudicated within the agency.

c. The Navy requests that comments on draft documents be provided in accordance with approved project schedules and commenting protocols.

d. Respond to Navy requests for information, in particular, those related to review of the acoustic effects analysis and evaluation of the effectiveness of protection and mitigation measures.

e. Make available staff support at Navy's request to enhance the Navy's interdisciplinary capability.

f. Participate, as necessary, in meetings hosted by the Navy for discussion of issues related to the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS.

g. Utilize USFWS resources, including funding where appropriate, to support the cooperating agency role.

j. Prepare any USFWS-specific documents required to support the USFWS decisionmaking process.

k. Provide a formal, written response to this request.

The Navy views this agreement as important to the successful completion of the environmental planning process for the Phase III NWTT Supplemental EIS/OEIS. It is the Navy's goal to complete the analysis as expeditiously as possible, while using the best scientific information available. USFWS assistance is invaluable to this endeavor.

We appreciate your consideration of our request and look forward to your response. The point of contact for this action is Ms. Dawn Schroeder, (703) 695 - 5219, email: dawn.schroeder@navy.mil.

Sincerely,

C. A. LAHTI Director, Energy and Environmental Readiness Division

Copy to: (see next page)

5090 Ser N45/17U132427 October 4, 2017

Copy to: OPNAV (N9I, N83) Commander, U.S. Fleet Forces Command (N46) Commander, U.S. Pacific Fleet (N465) Commander, Navy Installations Command (N45) Commander, Naval Sea Systems Command Commander, Naval Air Systems Command Commander, Navy Region Northwest Commander, Naval Facilities Engineering Command, (N45) Mr. Eric Rickerson, State Supervisor, Washington Fish and Wildlife Office, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 510 Desmond Drive SE, Suite 102, Lacey, WA 98503

### I.1.4 National Marine Fisheries Service Response to Navy



Captain C.A. Lahti Director, Energy and Environmental and Readiness Division Department of the Navy 2000 Navy Pentagon Washington, DC 20350-2000

Dear Captain Lahti:

Thank you for your letter requesting the National Marine Fisheries Service (NOAA Fisheries) be a cooperating agency in the preparation of a Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (EIS/OEIS) to evaluate potential environmental effects in the Department of the Navy's (Navy) Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Study Area. Activities conducted in the NWTT Study Area will achieve and maintain military readiness and include current, emerging, and future training activities and research, development, test and evaluation events (Phase III). We support the Navy's decision to prepare a Supplemental EIS/OEIS on this activity and agree to be a cooperating agency, due, in part, to our responsibilities under section 101(a)(5)(A) of the Marine Mammal Protection Act and under section 7 of the Endangered Species Act. NOAA Fisheries will make every effort to support the Navy in the development of a Supplemental EIS/OEIS, including:

- Participating, as necessary, in meetings hosted by the Navy for the discussion of issues related to the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS;
- Providing timely comments on working drafts of the Phase III Supplemental EIS/OEIS in accordance with the approved project schedule and commenting protocols;
- Responding to Navy requests for information, in particular, those related to review of the acoustic effects analysis and evaluation of the effectiveness of protection and mitigation measures; and
- Adhering to the overall schedule as set forth by the Navy in coordination with NMFS.

If you need any additional information, please contact Jolie Harrison at (301) 427-8420.

Sincerely,

Samuel D. Rauch III Deputy Assistant Administrator for Regulatory Programs National Marine Fisheries Service

cc: Barry Thom, NMFS WCRO Vicki Wedell, NMFS HQ NMS Steve Leathery, NMFS HQ NEPA Dawn Schroeder, Navy



Printed on Recycled Paper

### I.1.5 U.S. Coast Guard Response to Navy



Ref: (a) Your letter 5090 of 12 Oct 2017

1. The Coast Guard is pleased to accept the offer, as per reference (a), to participate as a cooperating agency in the subject EIS/OEIS. Doing so will materially further the Coast Guard's interest in the use of Navy range complexes for necessary Coast Guard weapons and military readiness training. The Coast Guard's participation will also assist in mutual efforts associated with the operation of the Range Complex and establishment of safety zones in accordance with 33 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 165. As the Coast Guard is a military service and a branch of the Armed Forces, we believe that this action is, and will remain, in full compliance with 40 CFR Part 1501 and the council on Environmental Quality Cooperating Agency guidance issued on 30 January 2002.

2. The Coast Guard agrees with the Navy's statements on pages 2 and 3 of reference (a) concerning the Navy's actions as the lead agency in the EIS/OEIS. As a cooperating agency, the Coast Guard will, to the extent allowed by available resources and fiscal constraints:

• Participate in the NEPA process;

• Provide data to the Navy on Coast Guard activities and operations that take place in the NWTT EIS/OEIS study areas;

• Assume, on request of the Navy, responsibility for developing information and preparing environmental analyses, for which the Coast Guard has special expertise;

• Make staff support available at the lead agency's request to enhance the Navy's interdisciplinary capability, consistent with operational requirements;

• Participate, as necessary, in meetings hosted by the Navy for discussion of issues related to the EIS/OEIS;

• Utilize available Coast Guard resources, including funding where appropriate and available, to support our role as a cooperating agency; and

### Subj: NORTHWEST TRAINING & TESTING EIS COOPERATING AGENCY REQUEST

5090

• Adhere to the overall schedule as set forth by the Navy.

3. As a cooperating agency, I request that the U.S. Coast Guard, as an armed force of the United States within the Department of Homeland Security, be expressly mentioned and described in the NWTT EIS/OEIS, and our operations and activities that take place in the study area be analyzed for environmental effects. To assist the Navy, the Coast Guard is providing operational data to the Navy on Coast Guard operations and activities that take place in the NWTT EIS/OEIS study areas, and we will continue to do so as necessary and appropriate.

4. This memo constitutes the formal written response requested by your letter. I request that the Navy supply the Coast Guard with two preliminary copies of all draft and final NWTT EISs/OEISs for our review of these documents, with a minimum 14 day response period in each instance. This action is important to the successful completion of the environmental planning process for the NWTT EIS/OEIS. We look forward to working with the Navy to facilitate mission accomplishment through productive use of the Northwest Training and Testing Range Complex.

5. The Coast Guard point of contact for all correspondence and exchanges of information with the Navy concerning the NWTT EIS/OEIS is Mr. Brad McKitrick, CG-OES-4 at (202) 372-1443, <u>Bradley.K.McKitrick@uscg.mil</u>.

#

Copy: DCMS DCO CG-4 CG-47 CG-0941 CG-7 CG-OES CGDELEVEN CGD THIRTEEN CGD SEVENTEEN This page intentionally left blank.

Appendix J: Airspace Noise Analysis for the Olympic Military Operations Areas
## Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

## **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

## Northwest Training and Testing

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

APPENDIX J AI	RSPACE NOISE ANALYSIS FOR THE OLYMPIC MILITARY OPERATIONS AREAS
J.1 Introdu	ction J-1
J.2 Purpos	e J-1
J.3 Descrip	tion of the Special Use Air SpaceJ-1
J.4 Noise M	Aetrics J-3
J.4	1 Day-Night Average Sound Level J-4
J.4	2 Maximum Noise Level J-6
J.4	3 Computerized Noise Exposure Models J-6
J.5 Airspac	e Training and Testing ActivitiesJ-7
J.5	1 Reference Missions J-8
J.5	2 Proposed Missions J-12
J.6 Project	ed Aircraft Noise Exposure J-16
J.6	1 Terrain J-16
J.6	2 Day-Night Average Sound Level Results J-18
J.6	3 Maximum Noise Level J-22
J.7 Acoust	c Monitoring Report J-26

## List of Figures

Figure J-1: SUA W-237 and the Olympic MOAs, with the A and B Sections Identified. The A and B Sect	ions
Were Combined into a Single Airspace for this Study	J-2
Figure J-2: Floor of the Olympic MOA Airspace	J-3
Figure J-3: Elevation Distributions within the Olympic MOAs	J-17
Figure J-4: Entry and Exit Routes to/from Olympic MOAs and W-237	J-21

## List of Tables

Table J-1: Examples of Various Sound Levels
Table J-2: Noise Zone Definitions    J-6
Table J-3: Reference Training Mission Descriptions for the EA-18G
Table J-4: Reference Training Mission Descriptions for the P-3C
Table J-5: Reference Training Mission Descriptions for the P-8A      J-10
Table J-6: Reference Training Mission Descriptions for the F-15      Image: Comparison of the F-15      Image: Comparis
Table J-7: Proposed Training Missions for the EA-18G J-12
Table J-8: Proposed Training Missions for the P-3C
Table J-9: Proposed Training Missions for the P-8A J-14
Table J-10: Proposed Training Missions for the F-15 J-15
Table J-11: Cumulative Noise Metrics Values for Baseline and Proposed Aircraft Activities J-18
Table J-12: Entry and Exit Routes to/from Olympic MOAs and W-237 J-19
Table J-13: Estimated $L_{max}$ Duration for EA-18G Training Operations Within the Olympic MOAs J-22
Table J-14: Estimated $L_{max}$ Duration for P-3 and P-8 Training Operations Within the Olympic MOAs J-23
Table J-15: Estimated $L_{max}$ Duration for F-15 Training Operations Within the Olympic MOAs J-23
Table J-16: Maximum Noise Levels for Entry and Exit Routes to/from Olympic MOAs and W-237 J-25
Table J-17: Maximum Noise Level from the EA-18G for Different Distances and Engine Powers J-26
Table J-18: Percent Time Above Metrics for Winter Season Beneath the Olympic MOAs      J-27
Table J-19: Summary of Acoustic Observer Log Data for All Sites for the Winter Season

# APPENDIX J AIRSPACE NOISE ANALYSIS FOR THE OLYMPIC MILITARY OPERATIONS AREAS

### J.1 INTRODUCTION

This noise study is a component of the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (OEIS) (Supplemental). This study models the noise from aircraft while conducting training activities within the Olympic Military Operations Area (MOAs) and Warning Areas W-237A and W-237B. The transit of aircraft to and from these areas is discussed in the body of this Supplemental in Section 2.3.3.2 (Sea Space and Airspace Deconfliction), Section 3.0.3.1.3.1 (Navigation and Safety), and Section 3.12.3.2.1.1 (Impacts on Airborne Acoustics Under Alternative 1 for Training Activities). The noise model utilizes a database of measured aircraft noise levels under different flyover conditions. The results of this study were used throughout the body of this Supplemental to support the analysis and effects determinations for resources such as birds, cultural resources, American Indian and Alaska Native Traditional Resources, and socioeconomic resources.

### J.2 PURPOSE

The purpose of this noise study is to document potential changes to the noise environment within the special use airspace (SUA) of the Olympic A MOA, Olympic B MOA, W-237A, and W-237B for operations of the EA-18G Growler, P-3C Orion, P-8A Poseidon, and F-15 Eagle. This noise analysis is an update to the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS published in October of 2015. Therefore, this analysis serves to update the modeled noise environment between reference training activities based on historical data and a future proposed state. The reference activities for the EA-18G, the P-3C, the P-8, and the F-15 were derived from a three-year average of actual aircraft flight information derived from 2015–2017 Sierra Hotel Aviation Reporting Program (SHARP) and Data Collection and Scheduling Tool (DCAST) data. SHARP enables aircrew to capture after flight information for fleet training as well as combat readiness data for calculating aircrew and squadron combat readiness levels for operational missions. DCAST is a web-based range complex scheduling system developed for use across all Commander Pacific Fleet's training areas and ranges. DCAST provides the ability to schedule all training resources and Commander Pacific Fleet range complex use in a safe and efficient manner, while collecting data for the purpose of range sustainment (i.e., environmental stewardship and training area and range administration). The proposed future year activities entail updates to both Navy training and testing requirements into the foreseeable future.

## J.3 DESCRIPTION OF THE SPECIAL USE AIR SPACE

The SUA analyzed in this study includes the Olympic MOAs and the Warning Areas W-237A and W-237B.<sup>1</sup> The Federal Aviation Administration established the Olympic MOAs, W-237A, and W-237B in 1977 as components of the National Airspace System. The Olympic MOAs begin approximately 53 nautical miles (NM) west of Seattle and extend 3 NM off the coast of Washington State. Although the Olympic MOAs are comprised of A and B sections, normal training activities utilize both sections as one unified block of airspace. W-237A and W-237B begin on the western edge of the Olympic MOAs, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Warning Area W-237 has several other sections. However, all of these are located farther off shore, away from acoustically sensitive receptors on land, and thus were not considered in this noise analysis.

they extend to the west offshore for approximately 50 NM. As with the Olympic MOAs, these two sections are normally used as a single block of airspace. For modeling purposes, these two units are identified as W-237. All four airspace units are shown in Figure J-1.



Figure J-1: SUA W-237 and the Olympic MOAs, with the A and B Sections Identified. The A and B Sections Were Combined into a Single Airspace for this Study.

The altitude range for the Olympic MOA airspace begins at 6,000 ft. above mean sea level (MSL) and extends to an upper limit of 18,000 ft. MSL. The 6,000 ft. MSL floor of the airspace is straightforward for the majority of the MOAs, but in the eastern part of the MOAs the terrain can rise several thousand feet above sea level, approaching the floor of the airspace. To account for this, a further restriction requires that aircraft operating over land in the Olympic MOAs maintain an altitude of at least 1,200 ft. above ground level. This 1,200 ft. restriction would only affect terrain located at the eastern edge of the MOAs, where elevations could exceed 4,800 ft. MSL, which is less than 1 percent of the area beneath the MOAs (see Figure J-2). Above the Olympic MOAs, the Olympic Air Traffic Control Assigned Airspace (ATCAA) extends the upper altitude limit of the combined airspace to 35,000 ft. MSL. The altitude range for W-237A and W-237B begins at sea level and extends to 50,000 ft. MSL (Naval Air Station Whidbey Island, 2016). While W-237A and W-237B are not over land, they are included in this study to address noise from activities in these areas.



Figure J-2: Floor of the Olympic MOA Airspace

To reduce the likelihood of exceeding the limits of these designated airspaces, aircrews specifically plan their flight maneuvers to avoid inadvertently flying outside of the airspace boundaries. For modeling purposes, a 3 NM offset was applied to the Warning Areas and to the north, south, and east borders of the Olympic MOAs A and B, effectively restricting the modeled aircraft from flying within 3 NM of the edges of the airspace. This offset is used to represent how the aircraft actually fly within the MOA. No offset was applied to the west portion of the Olympic MOA since aircraft often enter the warning areas from the MOA. The result for the acoustic modeling is to concentrate the noise into the interior of the MOA.

### J.4 NOISE METRICS

Noise is one of the most prominent environmental issues associated with military training activities. The noise environment at military bases and training areas can include various types of noise sources that can either be classified as intermittent time varying noise (e.g., on-base vehicular traffic and aircraft training activities), or impulsive noise (e.g., weapons firing or detonation of explosives). Not all of these noise sources are directly associated with military training, such as civilian vehicular traffic or building heating, ventilation, and air conditioning system noise. However, military training activities may dominate the noise environment around military bases and training areas. For this study, the standard

noise metric, Day-Night Average Sound Level (DNL), is utilized as well as supplement metrics (e.g., maximum noise level [L<sub>max</sub>]), to provide more information on noise events that would occur within the Olympic National Park.

### J.4.1 DAY-NIGHT AVERAGE SOUND LEVEL

In 1979, the Federal Interagency Committee on Urban Noise (FICUN) was established, and they published "Guidelines for Considering Noise in Land-Use Planning and Control" (FICUN, 1980). These guidelines complement federal agency criteria by providing for the consideration of noise in all land-use planning and interagency/intergovernmental processes. The FICUN established DNL as the most appropriate descriptor for all noise sources in land-use planning. In 1982, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) published "Guidelines for Noise Impact Analysis" to provide all types of decision-makers with analytic procedures to uniformly express and quantify noise impacts (EPA, 1982). The American National Standards Institute (ANSI) endorsed DNL in 1990 as the "acoustical measure to be used in assessing compatibility between various land uses and outdoor noise environment" (ANSI, 2003). In 1992, the Federal Interagency Committee on Noise (FICON) reaffirmed the use of DNL as the principal aircraft noise descriptor in the document entitled "Federal Agency Review of Selected Airport Noise Analysis Issues" (FICON, 1992). For aviation noise analyses, the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) has determined that the cumulative noise energy exposure of individuals to noise resulting from aviation activities must be established in terms of yearly DNL, the FAA's primary noise metric (FAA, 2015). In general, scientific studies and social surveys have found a high correlation between the percentages of groups of people highly annoyed and the level of average noise exposure measured in DNL (Schultz, 1974; Fidell et al., 1991; Finegold et al., 1994).

The DNL is a noise measure used for assessing cumulative sound levels. This measure accounts for the exposure of all noise events in an average 24-hour period. DNL (which is also denoted as L<sub>dn</sub>) is an average sound level, expressed in decibels (dB), which is commonly used to assess aircraft noise exposures in communities in the vicinity of airfields and under SUA (FICUN, 1980; EPA, 1982; ANSI, 2005). DNL values are related to compatible/incompatible land uses and do not directly relate to any singular sound event a person may hear. DNL includes a 10 dB adjustment for acoustical nighttime noise events. Acoustical daytime is defined as the period from 0700 to 2200 hours local, and acoustical nighttime is the period from 2200 to 0700 hours the following morning. The 10 dB penalty accounts for the generally lower background sound levels and greater community sensitivity to noise during nighttime hours.

To assess accurately the impacts on humans from different types of noise events, the DNL metric is used along with weighting factors that emphasize certain parts of the audio frequency spectrum. The normal human ear detects sounds in the range from 20 hertz (Hz) to 20,000 Hz, but our ears are most sensitive to sounds in the 1,000 to 4,000 Hz range. Community noise is therefore assessed using a filter that approximates the frequency response of the human ear, adjusting low and high frequencies to match the sensitivity of the ear. This "A-weighting" filter is used to assess most community noise sources. Noise defined with the "A-weighting" filter uses the decibel designation dBA. See Table J-1 for sound levels of common noise sources.

dBA	Example	Home & Yard Appliances	Workshop and Construction
0	Healthy hearing threshold	n/a	n/a
10	A pin dropping	n/a	n/a
20	Rustling leaves	n/a	n/a
30	Whisper	n/a	n/a
40	Babbling brook	Computer	n/a
50	Light traffic	Refrigerator	n/a
60	Conversational speech	Air conditioner	n/a
70	Shower	Dishwasher	n/a
75	Toilet flushing	Vacuum cleaner	n/a
80	Alarm clock	Garbage disposal	n/a
85	Passing diesel truck	Snow blower	n/a
90	Squeeze toy	Lawn mower	Arc welder
95	Inside subway car	Food processor	Belt sander
100	Motorcycle (riding)	n/a	Handheld drill
105	Sporting event	n/a	Table saw
110	Rock band	n/a	Jackhammer

Notes: n/a =not applicable Source: Berger et al., 2015

In the late 1980s, Congress directed the Department of Interior to investigate public concerns on aircraft noise within national parks and wilderness areas. One of the results of the Park Service's investigation was the introduction of audibility as a way of assessing the impact of transportation noise on natural quiet. The prediction of audibility estimates the ability of a human to hear a noise within the ambient soundscape. However, no uniform criteria nor threshold on percent time audible has been established to determine a potential noise impact within these SUA. In Section J.7 (Acoustic Monitoring Report), a 2010 National Park Service acoustic monitoring study, in which percent time audible data are provided, will be discussed.

Aircraft noise generated in SUA is somewhat different from that associated with airfield activities. As opposed to patterned or routine overflight over a specific area associated with airfields, overflights within SUA can be highly variable in occurrence and location. Individual military overflight events also differ from typical airfield noise events in that noise from a low-altitude, high-airspeed flyover can have a sudden onset (i.e., exhibiting a rate of increase in sound level [onset rate] of up to 15 to 150 dB per second). To represent these differences, the conventional DNL metric is adjusted to account for the "surprise" effect of the sudden onset of aircraft noise events on humans. This adjustment is applied by adding a noise penalty of up to 11 dB above the normal Sound Exposure Level (Stusnick et al., 1993, ANSI, 2005). Onset rates between 15 to 150 dB per second require an adjustment penalty of 0 to 11 dB, while onset rates below 15 dB per second require no adjustment. The adjusted DNL is designated as the onset-rate adjusted day-night average sound level (DNL<sub>r</sub> or L<sub>dnr</sub>).

Because DNL takes into account both the amount of noise from each aircraft operation as well as the total number of operations flying throughout the day, there are many ways in which aircraft noise can add up to a specific DNL. Small numbers of relatively loud operations can result in the same DNL as large numbers of relatively quiet operations.

### J.4.2 MAXIMUM NOISE LEVEL

Another noise metric that can provide additional supplemental information about the noise environment is the maximum noise level  $(L_{max})$ . For SUA noise analysis, the  $L_{max}$  metric provides the maximum noise level from the single loudest event potentially occurring within the SUA. Moreover, the  $L_{max}$  is unaltered by the number of training activities. However, an observer might not necessarily experience that event depending on where the observer was located in relation to the aircraft overflight. Because the flight activities within SUA are dispersed throughout the airspace, this means an observer would need to be directly below an aircraft as it flew at the lowest possible altitude to experience the maximum level of noise.

In this analysis, noise from aircraft training activities within the Olympic MOA was assessed using noise metrics recommended by the Department of Defense (DoD), the Federal Interagency Committee on Aviation Noise (FICAN),<sup>2</sup> ANSI, and the FAA. Aircraft flight noise was assessed using the A-weighted L<sub>dn</sub> and the L<sub>dnr</sub>. Table J-2 provides the noise level limits associated with land use planning (DoD, 2011; Navy, 2008). In general, most land uses are considered compatible within Noise Zone 1. For Noise Zone 2, some land uses are incompatible with the noise. Within Noise Zone 3, most land uses are incompatible. In addition, the analysis provides L<sub>max</sub> levels from the EA-18G (Table J-13) to aid in the assessment of noise intrusions into the natural soundscape areas underneath and adjacent to the SUA.

Noise Zone	Noise Limit L <sub>dn</sub> (dBA)	Potential Impacts
1	<65	Lesser
2	65 - 75	Moderate
3	75 +	Highest

Table J-2: Noise Zone Definitions

Notes: Ldn = Day-Night Average Sound Level, dBA = A-Weighted Sound Pressure Level

#### J.4.3 COMPUTERIZED NOISE EXPOSURE MODELS

Analyses of aircraft noise exposures and compatible land uses around and underneath SUA are normally accomplished using MOA and Route NoiseMap Model (MRNMap) (Ikelheimer & Downing, 2013). The United States Air Force developed this general-purpose computer model for calculating noise exposures occurring away from airbases, since aircraft noise is also an issue within MOAs and ranges, as well as along Military Training Routes (MTRs). This model expands the calculation of noise exposures away from airbases by using algorithms from both NoiseMap (Moulton, 1992; Czech & Plotkin, 1998) and ROUTEMAP (Bradley, 1996). NoiseMap is the DoD noise model to assess aircraft noise in and around airfields, and ROUTEMAP is a legacy DoD prediction model for cumulative noise underneath and near MTRs. MRNMap leverages the algorithms in these DoD noise models to predict cumulative noise levels underneath and near SUA. MRNMap uses two primary noise models to calculate the noise exposure:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> FICAN was established in 1993 as the successor to Federal Interagency Committee on Noise (FICON).

track and area operations. Track operations are for training activities that have a well-defined flight track, such as MTRs, aerial refueling, and strafing tracks. Area operations are for training activities that do not have well defined tracks, but occur within a defined area, such as basic fighter maneuvers within a MOA. The Navy used MRNMap – area operations for this noise study as it is ideally suited to analyze aircraft noise in MOAs.

For area operations, the model allows flexibility. If little is known about the airspace utilization within a MOA, then the MOA boundaries can simply be used, and the training activities are uniformly distributed within the defined area. However, if more is known about how and where the aircraft fly within the MOA, subareas can be defined within the MOA to refine the modeled noise exposure.

Once the airspace is defined, the user must describe the different types of missions occurring within each airspace segment. Individual aircraft missions include the altitude distribution, airspeed, and engine power settings. These individual profiles are coupled with airspace components and annual operational rates.

The noise model MRNMap uses the airspace and operational parameters defined to calculate the desired noise metrics. The model calculates these noise metrics either for a user-defined grid or at user-defined specific points. The specific point calculation, used for this analysis in order to consider the changing elevation, generates a table that provides the noise exposure, as well as the top contributors to the noise exposure. The noise model MRNMap is the FAA-approved model for conducting a detailed noise analysis in MOAs and other SUA, such as the airspace over the Olympic Peninsula.

## J.5 AIRSPACE TRAINING AND TESTING ACTIVITIES

Flight training activities conducted within the Olympic MOAs and Warning Area W-237 include a range of aircraft and mission types. Specific mission types and associated aircraft for these missions are defined in the Tables J-3 through J-10 below. Mission definitions are broken out into the reference training missions, based on historical data, and the proposed training missions projected to occur in the foreseeable future. Additional details on the modeled activities can be found in Chapter 2 (Description of Proposed Action and Alternatives) and Appendix A (Navy Activities Descriptions) of the Supplemental. The numbers reflected in the following tables are based on the number of aircraft sorties, while the numbers in the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS are the number of activity events; therefore, a comparison between the two sets of data is not easily made. One aircraft sortie could result in the completion of multiple training events, as a sortie is simply a single operational flight by one aircraft. Similarly, in some cases, one event could include multiple aircraft sorties. Naval Air Systems Command would conduct comparatively few testing events that involve only P-8A and Triton aircraft. For the purposes of this analysis, the events would be conducted in the same manner and locations as Fleet training events.

Aircraft modeled include the primary user of the airspace units, EA-18G, along with other users: P-3C, P-8A, and F-15. The F-15 activities were modeled with the Pratt and Whitney F100-PW-229 engines. For the P-8A (a modified Boeing 737), the Boeing 737-700 with a CFM56-7B-24 engine was selected for the reference noise database within MRNMap. These engine selections were made to provide the loudest available variants of these aircraft for the noise modeling.

The noise model relies on performance parameters (airspeed, altitude, and power settings) provided by the aircrews, who fly these missions. Because the actual locations of any given event are unpredictable due to variables such as specific mission requirements and weather, the model assumes that the aircraft events are uniformly distributed throughout the SUA within the 3 NM offset with a diminishing distribution from the offset to the SUA boundary.

#### J.5.1 REFERENCE MISSIONS

	EA-18G - Reference								
	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	
Name/Identifier	Entry/Exit: Ing Rou	gress & Egress tes <sup>3</sup>	Suppress Enem	Suppress Enemy Air Defenses <sup>1</sup>		Electronic Warfare Close Air Support <sup>1</sup>		Air to Air Counter Tactics <sup>2</sup>	
# Aircraft/Year	4448	0	1194	187	318	92	712	132	
% Day (0700L-2159L)	94%	0%	99%	98%	99%	99%	96%	100%	
% Night (2200L-0659L)	6%	0%	1%	2%	1%	1%	4%	0%	
Avg Minutes in Airspace/Aircraft	NA	NA	90	90	90	90	60	60	
Avg Power Setting in % NC	75	NA	80	80	82	82	89	89	
Avg Speed (Knots indicated)	250	NA	265	265	298	298	342	342	
Altitude MSL	Altitude MSL Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		
FLR - 2,000 ft				1.6%		1.6%			
2,000 - 4,000 ft				1.6%		1.6%			
4,000 - 6,000 ft				1.6%		1.6%		2.3%	
6,000 - 8,000 ft		2.0%	2.0%	F 0%	2.0%	F 0%	3.2%		
8,000 - 10,000 ft		F 0%	F 0%	5.0%	F 00/	5.0%	6.6%	7.5%	
10,000 - 12,000 ft		5.0%	5.0%		5.0%		6.6%		
12,000 - 14,000 ft				10.0%		10.0%			
14,000 - 16,000 ft	100.0%	24.0%	24.0%	16.0%	24.0%	16.0%	FF 20/	FF 20/	
16,000 - 18,000 ft		24.0%	24.0%		24.0%		55.2%	55.2%	
18,000 - 20,000 ft				4.2%		4.2%			
20,000 - 23,000 ft		64.0%	64.0%	65.0%	64.0%	65.0%	35.0%	25.0%	
23,000 - 30,000 ft		64.0%	64.0%	05.0%	04.0%	05.0%	35.0%	35.0%	
30,000 - 40,000 ft *		5.0%	5.0%	5.0%	5.0%	5.0%			
Total % Time	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	

#### Table J-3: Reference Training Mission Descriptions for the EA-18G

\*Olympic MOA activities are all at or below 35,000 feet MSL, with over 95% of activities at or above 10,000 feet MSL.

<sup>1</sup> Suppress Enemy Air Defenses and Electronic Warfare Close Air Support are two types of Electronic Warfare activities.

<sup>2</sup> Electronic Warfare (EW) and Advanced Air to Air Combat Tactics (AACT) 3-year average of data was 68% EW and 32% AACT – this ratio of events was used for this study.

<sup>3</sup> Entry/Exit number is 2x 1 for entry 1 for exit. W-237 entry/exit are zero because the EA-18G enters the warning area from the MOA.

Notes: ATCAA = Air Traffic Control Assigned Airspace, Avg = Average, NC = Compressor Stage Rotations Per Minute (a measure of jet engine power setting), FLR = Floor, MSL = Mean Sea Level, NA = Not Applicable

	P-3C/EP-3 - Reference							
	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B				
Name/Identifier	Entry	//Exit	Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance					
# Aircraft/Year Avg FY 15-17 (SHARP)	0	155	0	155				
% Day (0700L-2159L)	90%	90%	90%	90%				
% Night (2200L-0659L)	10%	10%	10%	10%				
Avg Minutes in Airspace/Aircraft	NA	NA	180	180				
Avg Power Setting in ESHP	2500	2500	2000	2000				
Avg Speed (Knots indicated)	260	260	220	220				
Altitude MSL	Percent of tota these a	l time spent at titudes.	Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.					
FLR - 2,000 ft				5%				
2,000 - 4,000 ft								
4,000 - 6,000 ft								
6,000 - 8,000 ft								
8,000 - 10,000 ft				5%				
10,000 - 12,000 ft	100%	100%	10%	10%				
12,000 - 14,000 ft								
14,000 - 16,000 ft				10%				
16,000 - 18,000 ft								
18,000 - 20,000 ft			90%	70%				
Total % Time	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%				

Table J-4: Reference Training Mission Descriptions for the P-3C

Notes: ATCAA = Air Traffic Control Assigned Airspace, SHARP = Sierra Hotel Aviation Reporting Program, Avg = Average, ESHP = Equivalent Shaft Horsepower, FLR = Floor, MSL = Mean Sea Level, NA = Not Applicable

	P-8A - Reference							
	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B				
Name/Identifier	Entry	Entry/Exit		rveillance and				
# Aircraft/Year Avg FY 15-17 (SHARP)	0	64	0	32				
% Day (07001-21591)	90%	90%	90%	90%				
	3078	5078	50%	30%				
% Night (2200L-0659L)	10%	10%	10%	10%				
Avg Minutes in Airspace/Aircraft	NA	NA	180	180				
Avg Power Setting in ESHP	6000	6000	5500	5500				
Avg Speed (Knots indicated)	260	260	240	240				
Altitude MSL	Percent of total time spent at		Percent of total time spent at					
	these al	titudes.	these altitudes.					
FLR - 2,000 ft				5%				
2,000 - 4,000 ft								
4,000 - 6,000 ft								
6,000 - 8,000 ft								
8,000 - 10,000 ft				5%				
10,000 - 12,000 ft	100%	100%	10%	10%				
12,000 - 14,000 ft								
14,000 - 16,000 ft				10%				
16,000 - 18,000 ft								
18,000 - 20,000 ft			90%	70%				

Table J-5: Reference Training Mission Descriptions for the P-8A

Notes: ATCAA = Air Traffic Control Assigned Airspace, SHARP = Sierra Hotel Aviation Reporting Program, Avg = Average,

ESHP = Equivalent Shaft Horsepower, FLR = Floor, MSL = Mean Sea Level, NA = Not Applicable

	F-15 - Reference							
	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B		
Name/Identifier FY Avg FY15-17	Entry/Exit		Basic Fighter Maneuvers		Air Combat Maneuvers			
# Aircraft/Year	24	42	6	10	6	11		
% Day (0700L-2159L)	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%		
% Night (2200L-0659L)	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%		
Avg Minutes in Airspace/Aircraft	NA	NA	25	25	30	25		
Avg Power Setting in % NC	75	75	88	88	88	88		
Avg Speed (Knots indicated)	250	250	375	375	375	375		
Altitude MSL	Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.			
FLR - 2,000 ft								
2,000 - 4,000 ft								
4,000 - 6,000 ft								
6,000 - 8,000 ft		10%	10%	10%	10%	10%		
8,000 - 10,000 ft		10%	10%	10%	10%	10%		
10,000 - 12,000 ft		10%	10%	10%	10%	10%		
12,000 - 14,000 ft		20%	20%	20%	20%	20%		
14,000 - 16,000 ft	100%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%		
16,000 - 18,000 ft		20%	20%	20%	20%	20%		
18,000 - 20,000 ft		10%	10%	10%	10%	10%		
Total % Time	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%		

Table J-6: Reference Training Mission Descriptions for the F-15

\* F-15 Eagle is a U.S. Air Force aircraft that may occasionally use Olympic MOAs and W-237 for training. For an inclusive analysis of military aircraft noise they were included in this study Notes: ATCAA = Air Traffic Control Assigned Airspace, Avg = Average, NC = Compressor Stage Rotations Per Minute (a measure of jet engine power setting), FLR = Floor, MSL = Mean Sea Level, NA = Not Applicable

#### J.5.2 PROPOSED MISSIONS

	EA-18G - Proposed									
	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B		
Name/Identifier	Entry/Exit:Inន្ Rou	gress & Egress tes <sup>3</sup>	Suppress Enemy Air Defenses <sup>1</sup>		Electronic Warfare Close Air Support <sup>1</sup>		Air to Air Counter Tactics <sup>2</sup>			
# Aircraft/Year	5048	0	1201	319	515	137	808	214		
% Day (0700L-2159L)	94%	0%	99%	98%	99%	99%	96%	100%		
% Night (2200L-0659L)	6%	0%	1%	2%	1%	1%	4%	0%		
Avg Minutes in Airspace/Aircraft	NA	NA	90	90	90	90	60	60		
Avg Power Setting in % NC	75	NA	80	80	82	82	89	89		
Avg Speed (Knots indicated)	250	NA	265	265	298	298	342	342		
Altitude MSL	Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.			
FLR - 2,000 ft				1.6%		1.6%				
2,000 - 4,000 ft				1.6%		1.6%				
4,000 - 6,000 ft				1.6%		1.6%		2.3%		
6,000 - 8,000 ft		2.0%	2.0%	F 0%	2.0%	F 0%	3.2%			
8,000 - 10,000 ft		F 0%	F 0%	5.0%	F 0%	5.0%	C (9)	7.5%		
10,000 - 12,000 ft		5.0%	5.0%		5.0%		0.0%			
12,000 - 14,000 ft				16.0%		16.0%				
14,000 - 16,000 ft	100.0%	24.0%	24.0%	16.0%	24.0%	16.0%	FF 20/	FF 20/		
16,000 - 18,000 ft		24.0%	24.0%		24.0%		55.2%	55.2%		
18,000 - 20,000 ft			4.2%			4.2%				
20,000 - 23,000 ft		64.00/	64.00/	65.00/	64.00%	65.00/	25.0%	25.00/		
23,000 - 30,000 ft		64.0%	64.0%	64.0%	64.0%	65.0%	64.0%	65.0%	35.0%	35.0%
30,000 - 40,000 ft *		5.0%	5.0%	5.0%	5.0%	5.0%				
Total % Time	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%		

#### Table J-7: Proposed Training Missions for the EA-18G

\*Olympic MOA activities are all at or below 35,000 feet MSL, with over 95% of activities at or above 10,000 feet MSL.

<sup>1</sup> Suppress Enemy Air Defenses and Electronic Warfare Close Air Support are two types of Electronic Warfare activities.

<sup>2</sup> Electronic Warfare (EW) and Advanced Air to Air Combat Tactics (AACT) 3-year average of data was 68% EW and 32% AACT – this ratio of events was used for this study.

<sup>3</sup> Entry/Exit number is 2x 1 for entry 1 for exit. W-237 entry/exit are zero because the EA-18G enters the warning area from the MOA.

Notes: ATCAA = Air Traffic Control Assigned Airspace, Avg = Average, NC = Compressor Stage Rotations Per Minute (a measure of jet engine power setting), FLR = Floor, MSL = Mean Sea Level, NA = Not Applicable Table J-8: Proposed Training Missions for the P-3C

	P3/EP-3 - Proposed 2020-2025							
	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B				
Name/Identifier	Entry	/Exit	Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance					
# Aircraft/Year	4	94	2	47				
% Day (0700L-2159L)	90%	90%	90%	90%				
% Night (2200L-0659L)	10%	10%	10%	10%				
Avg Minutes in Airspace/Aircraft	NA	NA	180	180				
Avg Power Setting in ESHP	2500	2500	2000	2000				
Avg Speed (Knots indicated)	260	260	220	220				
Altitude MSL	Percent of tota these al	l time spent at titudes.	Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.					
FLR - 2,000 ft				5%				
2,000 - 4,000 ft								
4,000 - 6,000 ft								
6,000 - 8,000 ft								
8,000 - 10,000 ft				5%				
10,000 - 12,000 ft	100%	100%	10%	10%				
12,000 - 14,000 ft								
14,000 - 16,000 ft				10%				
16,000 - 18,000 ft								
18,000 - 20,000 ft			90%	70%				
Total % Time	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%				

Notes: ATCAA = Air Traffic Control Assigned Airspace, Avg = Average, ESHP = Equivalent Shaft Horsepower, FLR = Floor, MSL = Mean Sea Level, NA = Not Applicable

Table J-9: Proposed Training Missions for the P-8A

	P-8A - Proposed 2020-2025				
	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	
Name/Identifier	Entry/Exit		Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance		
# Aircraft/Year	4	778	2	389	
% Day (0700L-2159L)	90%	90%	90%	90%	
% Night (2200L-0659L)	10%	10%	10%	10%	
Avg Minutes in Airspace/Aircraft	NA	NA	180	180	
Avg Power Setting in ESHP	6000	6000	5500	5500	
Avg Speed (Knots indicated)	260	260	240	240	
Altitude MSL	Percent of tota these al	l time spent at titudes.	Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		
FLR - 2,000 ft				5%	
2,000 - 4,000 ft					
4,000 - 6,000 ft					
6,000 - 8,000 ft					
8,000 - 10,000 ft				5%	
10,000 - 12,000 ft	100%	100%	10%	10%	
12,000 - 14,000 ft					
14,000 - 16,000 ft				10%	
16,000 - 18,000 ft					
18,000 - 20,000 ft			90%	70%	
Total % Time	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	

Notes: ATCAA = Air Traffic Control Assigned Airspace, Avg = Average, ESHP = Equivalent Shaft Horsepower, FLR = Floor, MSL = Mean Sea Level, NA = Not Applicable

		F-15 - Proposed					
	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	Olympic A & B (including ATCAA)	W-237 A & B	
Name/Identifier	Entry	/Exit	Air Combat	Air Combat Maneuvers		r Maneuvers	
# Aircraft/Year	24	48	6	12	6	12	
% Day (0700L-2159L)	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	
% Night (2200L-0659L)	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	
Avg Minutes in Airspace/Aircraft	10	10	30	25	25	25	
Avg Power Setting in % NC	75	75	88	88	88	88	
Avg Speed (Knots indicated)	250	250	375	375	375	375	
Altitude MSL	Percent of tota these al	l time spent at titudes.	Percent of tota these al	Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.		Percent of total time spent at these altitudes.	
FLR - 2,000 ft							
2,000 - 4,000 ft							
4,000 - 6,000 ft							
6,000 - 8,000 ft		10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	
8,000 - 10,000 ft		10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	
10,000 - 12,000 ft		10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	
12,000 - 14,000 ft		20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	
14,000 - 16,000 ft	100%	20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	
16,000 - 18,000 ft		20%	20%	20%	20%	20%	
18,000 - 20,000 ft		10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	
Total % Time	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	

Table J-10: Proposed Training Missions for the F-15

\* F-15 Eagle is a U.S. Air Force aircraft that may occasionally use Olympic MOAs and W-237 for training. For an inclusive analysis of military aircraft noise they were included in this study Notes: ATCAA = Air Traffic Control Assigned Airspace, Avg = Average, NC = Compressor Stage Rotations Per Minute (a measure of jet engine power setting), FLR = Floor, MSL = Mean Sea Level, NA = Not Applicable

### J.6 PROJECTED AIRCRAFT NOISE EXPOSURE

The operational parameters described in Section J.5 (Airspace Training and Testing Activities) were used as inputs to MRNMap to calculate the noise exposures within the Olympic MOAs and the Warning Area W-237.

### J.6.1 TERRAIN

The area beneath the Olympic MOAs includes mountainous terrain. The Olympic MOAs have a 3 NM boundary offset, which was applied to the north, south, and east boundaries. The offset was not applied to the west boundary as aircraft often cross the boundary when traversing between the MOA and warning area. The elevation distributions were calculated in both the area inside of the 3 NM boundary offset (where most of the operations will take place), and the area between the MOA boundary and the 3 NM boundary offset (fewer operations occur in this area).

Area inside of the 3 NM boundary offset:

- 14.47 percent of the MOA's area lies above terrain with an elevation range between 0 and 5 ft. (MSL),
- 46.87 percent between 5 and 500 ft. MSL,
- 18.53 percent between 500 and 1,000 ft. MSL,
- 7.87 percent between 1,000 and 1,500 ft. MSL,
- 5.32 percent between 1,500 and 2,000 ft. MSL,
- 3.86 percent between 2,000 and 2,500 ft. MSL,
- 2.13 percent between 2,500 and 3,000 ft. MSL,
- 0.78 percent between 3,000 and 3,500 ft. MSL,
- 0.15 percent between 3,500 and 4,000 ft. MSL,
- 0.02 percent between 4,000 and 4,500 ft. MSL,
- 0.00 percent between 4,500 and 4,800 ft. MSL, and
- 0.00 percent between 4,800 and 5,000 ft. MSL.

Area between the MOA boundary and the 3 NM boundary offset:

- 5.75 percent of the MOA's area lies above terrain with an elevation range between 0 and 5 ft. (MSL),
- 29.17 percent between 5 and 500 ft. MSL,
- 20.98 percent between 500 and 1,000 ft. MSL,
- 12.30 percent between 1,000 and 1,500 ft. MSL,
- 8.42 percent between 1,500 and 2,000 ft. MSL,
- 7.86 percent between 2,000 and 2,500 ft. MSL,
- 6.81 percent between 2,500 and 3,000 ft. MSL,
- 4.62 percent between 3,000 and 3,500 ft. MSL,
- 2.88 percent between 3,500 and 4,000 ft. MSL,
- 1.01 percent between 4,000 and 4,500 ft. MSL,
- 0.16 percent between 4,500 and 4,800 ft. MSL, and
- 0.04 percent between 4,800 and 5,000 ft. MSL.

More than 82 percent of the total combined Olympic A and Olympic B MOA area is inside of the 3 NM boundary offset, and the other 18 percent of the area is between the combined MOA boundary and the 3 NM boundary offset. The elevation distributions are shown graphically in Figure J-3.



Figure J-3: Elevation Distributions within the Olympic MOAs

To further refine the analysis (since the highest elevations are closer to the MOA boundary than the 3 NM offset), the 3 NM offset area (the area between the 3 NM offset and the MOA boundary) was split in half (at the 1.5 NM offset of the MOA boundary) and the probability of aircraft within each portion of the 3 NM offset and the area inside of the 3 NM offset was calculated.

### J.6.2 DAY-NIGHT AVERAGE SOUND LEVEL RESULTS

The current version of MRNMap, which uses the best available science to calculate noise within SUA, does not have the capability to model complex terrain. However, the model can accurately estimate the noise exposure at different elevations by varying the modeled ground elevation. For the Olympic MOA, noise was modeled with different reference ground elevations from 0 ft. MSL to 5,000 ft. MSL to represent the expected noise exposures for the lowest and the highest ground elevations within the MOA. The results are presented in Table J-11. As described above in Section J.4 (Noise Metrics), the results presented from MRNMap consider an average 24-hour period with a 10 dB penalty added for activities occurring at night ( $L_{dn}$ ) and an additional 11 dB penalty added to adjust for "surprise" effects of the sudden onset of aircraft noise ( $L_{dnr}$ ).

Terrain Height (feet above MSL)	Baseline L <sub>dnr</sub> (dBA)	Proposed L <sub>dnr</sub> (dBA)
0–5	<35	<35
5–500	<35	<35
500–1,000	<35	<35
1,000–1,500	<35	<35
1,500–2,000	<35	<35
2,000–2,500	<35	35.6
2,500-3,000	35.5	36.0
3,000-3,500	36.1	36.7
3,500–4,000	35.7	36.2
4,000–4,500	35.4	36.0

Table J-11: Cumulative Noise Metrics Values for Baseline and Prop	oosed Aircraft Activities
---	---------------------------

 $MSL = Mean Sea Level, L_{dn} = Day-Night Average Sound Level,$ 

dBA = A-Weighted Sound Pressure Level

For the cumulative noise metrics (L<sub>dnr</sub>), the noise modeling results show that the area underneath the Olympic MOAs would experience a cumulative noise exposure of less than 37 dBA for both the reference (current) activities and the proposed activities. The slightly higher values for the proposed activities are a reflection of the 13.5 percent projected increase in sorties over the current level of activities. For the lower ground elevations, the computed noise levels are correspondingly lower, as the distance would increase between the airborne source and the receptor on the ground (see Figure J-2 and Table J-11). For comparison, 35 dBA would be considered the natural ambient noise level of a wilderness area, and 39 dBA the level of a rural residential area. The peak cumulative noise exposures shown in Table J-11 are predicted to occur at 3,000-3,500 ft. terrain height, and not at the highest terrain elevations above 3,500 ft. This reduced cumulative noise exposure is because those higher

elevations occur near the boundaries of the MOAs, where aircraft seldom fly and noise events are less likely to occur.

As described above in Section J.4.1 (Day-Night Average Sound Level), there are many ways in which aircraft noise can add up to a specific DNL. Small numbers of relatively loud operations can result in the same DNL as large numbers of relatively quiet operations. Any one location beneath the MOAs could reach a 35 dBA level from several high-noise events, while another location would experience the same average with no high-noise events, but a number of barely audible jet flyovers.

The analysis also considered cumulative noise at locations where air traffic is most common and predictable, beneath specific points that aircraft use to enter or exit the MOAs. These entry points are described in Table J-12 and depicted in Figure J-4.

Aircraft	Entry/Exit to Area	Point Number	Fix	Altitude (feet above MSL)	Airspeed (knots)
	Navigation Point to Olympic B MOA	1	MCCUL	15,000	250
EA-18G	Entry to Olympic B MOA	2	NUW 233065	15,000	250
EA-18G	Exit from Olympic A MOA	1	HQM 360040	14,000	250
	Navigation Point to NASWI	2	YETII	At or above 10,000	250
	Departure Point to Olympic A MOA	1	KPDX	At or above 10,000	250
	Entry to Olympic A MOA	2	HQM001035	14,000–16,000	250
	Exit from Olympic A MOA	1	HQM001035	25,000–27,000	250
F 4 F	Reporting point returning to KPDX	2	KEIKO	At or above 10,000	250
F-15	Departure Point to Olympic A MOA	1	KPDX	25,000	250
	Reporting Point for Entry to W-237A	2	HQM	25,000	250
	First Navigation Fix after Exit from W-237A	1	HQM	25,000	250
	Reporting Point Returning to KPDX	2	KEIKO	25,000	250
	1st Navigation Point to W-237A	1	MCCUL	10,000–12,000	260
	2nd Navigation Point to W-237A	2	HQM	10,000–12,000	260
	Entry to W-237A	3	HQM270030	10,000–12,000	260
	Exit from W-237A	1	HQM270030	10,000–12,000	260
P-3 / P-8	1st Navigation Point to NASWI	2	HQM	10,000–12,000	260
	Reporting Point Returning to NASWI	3	YETII	10,000–12,000	260
	1st Navigation Point to W-237B	1	MCCUL	10,000–12,000	260
	2nd Navigation Point to W-237B	2	NUW233035	10,000–12,000	260
	3rd Navigation Point to W-237B	3	TOU	10,000–12,000	260

#### Table J-12: Entry and Exit Routes to/from Olympic MOAs and W-237

Aircraft	Entry/Exit to Area	Point Number	Fix	Altitude (feet above MSL)	Airspeed (knots)
	Entry to W-237B	4	TOU210030	10,000-12,000	260
	Exit from W-237B	1	TOU210030	10,000–12,000	260
	1st Navigation Point to NASWI	2	TOU	10,000–12,000	260
	2nd Navigation Point to NASWI	3	NUW233035	10,000–12,000	260
	Reporting Point Returning to NASWI	4	MCCUL	10,000–12,000	260

#### Table J-12: Entry and Exit Routes to/from Olympic MOAs and W-237 (continued)

Notes: MOA = Military Operations Area, MSL = Mean Sea Level, NASWI = Naval Air Station Whidbey Island

Directly under the entry and exit routes to the MOAs and Warning Areas, the highest level of noise exposure was computed to be 36 dBA for both reference activities and proposed activities. These  $L_{dnr}$  and  $L_{dn}$  noise levels are well below 65 dBA, meaning that the entire area beneath the Olympic MOAs falls within Noise Zone 1.

One of the reasons for these low DNL levels is that the EA-18G spends, on average, more than 95 percent of flight time at or above 10,000 ft. MSL while in the Olympic MOAs. In addition, the P-8A stays at or above 10,000 ft. MSL 100 percent of the flight time. This higher altitude translates into lower cumulative noise levels on the ground. The area beneath W-237 is computed to have cumulative noise levels below 35 dBA.

These calculated noise exposures are based on the average annual operational tempo, as defined in Section J.5 (Airspace Training and Testing Activities). If the training tempo for an active month were twice the annual average, the expected noise exposure would increase by 3 dB. In this situation, the higher elevations within the Olympic MOAs would be exposed to an  $L_{dn}$  (and  $L_{dnr}$ ) of 40 dBA for the proposed activities, which is still within Noise Zone 1 limits.

While these noise zones are applicable to most situations, special consideration needs to be given to the evaluation of significance of noise impacts on noise-sensitive areas such as national parks and historic sites that could include traditional cultural resources (Federal Aviation Administration, 2015). With these noise-sensitive areas in mind, it is notable that the noise exposure for more than 91 percent of the area beneath the Olympic MOAs would be less than 35 dBA, which is considered the natural ambient noise level of a wilderness area. Also, an additional analysis was conducted in which maximum noise levels are considered.



Figure J-4: Entry and Exit Routes to/from Olympic MOAs and W-237

#### J.6.3 MAXIMUM NOISE LEVEL

Cumulative noise metrics, such as DNL, are well suited for general land use planning, but fall short of providing an understanding of the experience from individual events. In contrast, the L<sub>max</sub> provides a simple metric to describe single noise events that people may experience while underneath the MOAs. For the modeled missions defined in Section J.5.1 (Reference Missions), the loudest event in terms of L<sub>max</sub> occurs during the EA-18G Air-to-Air Counter Tactics (see Table J-3 and Table J-7). This situation only occurs when the aircraft is at a relatively high engine power (89 percent NC), flying at the lowest altitudes (6,000 ft. to 8,000 ft. MSL), and flying over the highest elevations. Aircraft performing these training activities only spend 3.2 percent of their flight time at this lowest altitude band across the entire airspace. Combining this operational distribution with the terrain altitude distributions, the noise analysis provides an estimate of the time that areas within the Olympic MOAs will experience noise at a given maximum level. The results for the EA-18G, P-3/P-8, and F-15 are shown in Tables J-13, J-14, and J-15, respectively.

Terrain Elevation	errain Distribution Lmax (min) per EA-18G (min) per EA-18G		Time at this Lmax (min per Year for all Combined Missions			
(MSL)	Combined MOA	(dBA)	SEAD and EWCAS Mission Sortie <sup>(1)</sup>	AACT Mission Sortie <sup>(2)</sup>	Baseline	Proposed Action
0 –5	13.67%	81.5	0.246	0.262	558	634
5–500	45.15%	82.9	0.813	0.867	1847	2096
500-1,000	18.77%	84.4	0.338	0.360	767	871
1,000–1,500	8.23%	86.0	0.148	0.158	336	382
1,500–2,000	5.66%	87.8	0.102	0.109	232	263
2,000–2,500	4.28%	89.7	0.077	0.082	175	198
2,500-3,000	2.60%	91.8	0.047	0.050	107	121
3,000–3,500	1.15%	94.2	0.021	0.022	47	54
3,500-4,000	0.40%	97.1	0.007	0.008	16	18
4,000-4,500	0.09%	100.6	0.002	0.002	4	5

Table J-13: Estimated L<sub>max</sub> Duration for EA-18G Training Operations Within the Olympic MOAs

(1) For SEAD and EWCAS missions, 2% of the mission flight time is spent at the lowest altitude that results in this Lmax (6,000–8,000 ft. MSL)

(2) For AACT missions, 3.2% of the mission time is spent at the lowest altitude that results in this Lmax (6,000-8,000 ft. MSL)

Notes: MOA = Military Operations Area, MSL = Mean Sea Level, dBA = A-Weighted Sound Pressure Level,

L<sub>max</sub> = Maximum Received Noise Level, min = minutes, ISR = Intelligence Surveillance Reconnaissance

Terrain Elevation (feet	Probability Distribution within the	P-3 Lmax (dBA)	P-8 Lmax (dBA)	Time at this Lmax (min) per ISR Mission	Time at th Year fo	is Lmax (min) per r all Combined Missions
	Combined MOA			Sortie <sup>(1)</sup>	Baseline	Proposed Action
0–5	13.67%	51.6	51.2	2.461	0	10
5–500	45.15%	53.0	52.5	8.127	0	33
500–1,000	18.77%	53.7	53.3	3.379	0	14
1,000–1,500	8.23%	54.3	53.9	1.481	0	6
1,500–2,000	5.66%	55.4	55.0	1.019	0	4
2,000–2,500	4.28%	56.4	56.0	0.770	0	3
2,500–3,000	2.60%	57.3	56.9	0.468	0	2
3,000–3,500	1.15%	58.2	57.7	0.207	0	1
3,500–4,000	0.40%	59.2	58.7	0.072	0	<1
4,000–4,500	0.09%	59.8	59.3	0.016	0	<1

Table J-14: Estimated Lm	<sub>ax</sub> Duration for P-3 and P-8	<b>Training Operations</b>	Within the Olympic MOAs
--------------------------	--	----------------------------	-------------------------

(1) For ISR missions, 10% of the mission flight time is spent at the lowest altitude that results in this Lmax (10,000–12,000 ft. MSL)

Notes: MOA = Military Operations Area, MSL = Mean Sea Level, dBA = A-Weighted Sound Pressure Level, Lmax = Maximum Received Noise Level, min = minutes, ISR = Intelligence Surveillance Reconnaissance

Terrain Elevation (feet above	Probability Distribution within the	Lmax (dBA)	Time at this Lmax (min) per F-15 ACM	Time at this Lmax (min) per F-15 BFM Mission	Time at th Year fo	nis Lmax (min) per or all Combined Missions
MSL)	Combined MOA		Mission Sortie <sup>(1)</sup>	Sortie <sup>(1)</sup>	Baseline	Proposed Action
0–5	13.67%	80.8	0.410	0.342	5	5
5–500	45.15%	82.3	1.355	1.129	15	15
500-1,000	18.77%	83.6	0.563	0.469	6	6
1,000–1,500	8.23%	85.0	0.247	0.206	3	3
1,500–2,000	5.66%	86.6	0.170	0.142	2	2
2,000–2,500	4.28%	88.3	0.128	0.107	1	1
2,500-3,000	2.60%	90.2	0.078	0.065	1	1
3,000–3,500	1.15%	92.4	0.035	0.029	<1	<1
3,500-4,000	0.40%	95.0	0.012	0.010	<1	<1
4,000–4,500	0.09%	98.1	0.003	0.002	<1	<1

Table J-15: Estimated L <sub>max</sub> Duration	n for F-15 Training	<b>Operations Within</b>	the Olympic MOAs
---	---------------------	--------------------------	------------------

(1) For ACM and BFM missions, 10% of the mission flight time is spent at the lowest altitude that results in this Lmax (6,000–8,000 ft. MSL)

Notes: MOA = Military Operations Area, MSL = Mean Sea Level, dBA = A-Weighted Sound Pressure Level, Lmax = Maximum Received Noise Level, min = minutes, ISR = Intelligence Surveillance Reconnaissance, ACM = Air Combat Maneuver, BFM = Basic Fighter Maneuver The maximum noise levels  $(L_{max})$  perceived on the ground are dependent on the elevation of the terrain below the aircraft. Because the terrain elevation bands of 4,500–4,800 ft. MSL and 4,800–5,000 ft. MSL occur in the outermost area between the 1.5 NM offset and the MOA boundary, the probability of aircraft flying over these altitudes approaches 0 (less than 0.001 percent). Thus, the time each aircraft spends over these terrain heights is 0.

In W-237A and W-237B, the  $L_{max}$  is 88.6 dBA. This is a lower  $L_{max}$  than the  $L_{max}$  within the MOAs because the warning areas are completely over the ocean (0 ft. MSL elevation) and the distance from the surface of the water to the aircraft flying above is greater than the distance from the higher elevations in the MOAs to the aircraft. The  $L_{max}$  is the same for the Proposed Action as the Baseline since the individual mission profiles do not change.

Table J-13 provides the duration that the specified EA-18G L<sub>max</sub> occurs within the MOAs for an average sortie above the specified terrain height. For areas with ground elevations between 4,000 ft. MSL and 4,500 ft. MSL, for example, the L<sub>max</sub> values of 100.6 dBA are estimated to occur for 0.12 seconds on average for each EA-18G mission type. Using this average time per sortie provides a cumulative time of five minutes over the course of an entire year for the proposed activities. To clarify this table, it does not suggest that the entire area beneath the MOA will experience noise at these levels for each sortie. Rather, somewhere within the MOAs the noise will reach these levels for brief moments as aircraft fly directly overhead, and these aircraft will not fly over these higher altitude areas for every mission. The total time is the accumulation of all events for the entire area over the course of a year. Thus, the likelihood of someone experiencing these levels is low. Additionally, the L<sub>max</sub> occurs when the aircraft is flying in the lowest altitude band distribution for that mission. At some locations beneath the MOAs, L<sub>max</sub> above 81.5 would occur, for a total duration of 4,642 minutes (approximately 77 hours or less than 1 percent of the time) throughout the year. 81.5 dBA equates roughly to a truck driving by at 50 ft.

As an example, suppose a hiker is beneath the Olympic MOAs at a terrain elevation of 300 ft. This is a likely situation, as 45.15 percent of the Olympic MOA is over terrain between 0 and 500 ft. (Table J-13). If an EA-18G Growler aircraft flew directly overhead at full power, at the lowest permissible altitude (the floor of the MOA airspace), the hiker would experience an 82.9 dBA exposure to the jet noise (referred to as L<sub>max</sub> in Table J-13). That is roughly the sound level the hiker might experience 5 meters from a busy roadway. However, the sound of the jet would be at this level for only an instant, decreasing rapidly as the jet flew away from the hiker. Tables J-14 and J-15 provide similar information for the P-3/P-8 and F-15, respectively, but Table J-13 was chosen as it represents the loudest aircraft of the three.

As the hiker climbs in elevation, the loudest possible noise exposure from an EA-18G would increase as the hiker is moving closer to the floor of the MOA airspace. If the hiker was at 4,500 ft. terrain height, the noise level could potentially be as loud as 100.6 dBA. The likelihood of louder noise exposures grows increasingly unlikely for four reasons:

- Most of the terrain beneath the Olympic MOAs (more than 77 percent) is 1,000 ft. or lower, thereby creating a buffer of at least 5,000 ft. between the hiker and the jet (when the jet is flying at its lowest permissible altitude). Only 0.09 percent of the area beneath the Olympic MOAs is above 4,000 ft. elevation (Table J-13), where the 100.6 dBA exposure is possible and, for more than 77 percent of the area, the maximum noise level would be 84.4 dBA (Table J-13).
- The highest terrain beneath the Olympic MOAs is found at the eastern most border of the MOAs, where aircraft presence is unlikely due to the 3 NM offset used by aircrew to avoid accidentally spilling out of the airspace.

- 3. The highest terrain areas on the Olympic peninsula are extremely remote, where few people are likely to occur (Figure J-3).
- 4. As shown in Table J-13, the 100.6 dBA noise level would occur somewhere beneath the MOA for only five minutes in any year under the proposed level of activities.

The analysis also considered maximum noise levels at locations where air traffic is most common and predictable, beneath specific points that aircraft use to enter or exit the MOAs. These entry/exit points are described in Table J-12. Table J-16 provides the maximum noise levels of entry and exit routes to/from the MOAs and warning areas. These L<sub>max</sub> values would occur only at areas directly below each route; noise levels would be lower farther from the route. Maximum noise levels at both the minimum and maximum terrain elevations were provided to show the range of noise levels potentially experienced on the ground. Although the warning areas (except for F-15). For terrain between 0 ft. MSL and 4,500 ft. MSL to reach the warning areas (except for F-15). For terrain between 0 ft. MSL and 4,500 ft. MSL, linear interpolation can be used to estimate the L<sub>max</sub>. For example, at a location under the EA-18G entry route into Olympic MOAs where the elevation is 2,250 ft. MSL, the L<sub>max</sub> is estimated to be 53.0 dBA. Table J-12 lists the fixes, altitudes, and airspeeds that each aircraft type utilizes to enter and exit each area.

Aircraft	Terrain Elevation (feet above MSL)	Entry/Exit to Area	Lmax (dBA)
EA-18G	0	Entry to Olympic MOA	49.8
EA-18G	0	Exit from Olympic MOA	51.1
EA-18G	4,500	Entry to Olympic MOA	56.4
EA-18G	4,500	Exit from Olympic MOA	58.2
P-3 and P-8	0	Entry and Exit to W-237A	52.6
P-3 and P-8	0	Entry and Exit to W-237B	52.6
P-3 and P-8	4,500	Entry and Exit to W-237B	61.2
F-15	0	Entry and Exit to W-237	62.3
F-15	0	Entry and Exit to Olympic MOA	49.5
F-15	4,500	Entry and Exit to Olympic MOA	55.7

Table I-16: Maximum	Noise Levels for	Entry and Exi	t Routes to/from	Olvm	nic MOAs and W-23 <sup><math>\circ</math></sup>	7
Table J-TO. Maximum	INDISE LEVEIS IDI	EIILIY AIIU EXI	i Roules lo/ 110111	Olym	ipic ivioas and vv-25	,

Notes: MOA = Military Operations Area, MSL = Mean Sea Level,

dBA = A-Weighted Sound Pressure Level, Lmax = Maximum Received Noise Level

Like all aircraft, the EA-18G produces varied sound output under different conditions, as indicated in Table J-17. The distance listed in this table is the total distance to the aircraft, and the Engine Power represents the maximum and minimum power conditions as identified in Table J-3 and Table J-7. This table is useful as a general guide to the maximum noise levels from this aircraft and can be used to estimate maximum noise levels for different activities.

For example, Table J-12 lists the Entry/Exit activity of the EA-18G into the Olympic MOAs with the aircraft flying between 14,000 and 16,000 ft. MSL, at a power level of 75 percent NC. If a ground

elevation of 0 ft. MSL is assumed, the closest total distance to an aircraft that flies directly overhead will be approximately 15,000 ft., and Table J-17 can be used to estimate that the Lmax for this activity is 50 dBA. If a ground height of 5,000 ft. MSL is assumed, the total distance to the aircraft becomes 10,000 ft., and the estimate for Lmax is 57 dBA.

	EA-18G Lmax Values (dBA)			
Distance to Aircraft	Engine Power			
Distance to Aircraft	75% NC	89% NC		
2,000 ft	81	97		
5,000 ft	69	84		
10,000 ft	57	73		
15,000 ft	50	65		
20,000 ft	44	59		
30,000 ft	35	50		
40,000 ft	<35*	44		
* MONINASIS de se se transmiter values la la value de la deserva				

#### Table J-17: Maximum Noise Level from the EA-18G for Different Distances and Engine Powers

\* MRNMap does not compute values below 35 dBA
 Notes: NC = Compressor Stage Rotations Per Minute (a measure of jet engine power setting),
 dBA = A-Weighted Sound Pressure Level,
 Lmax = Maximum Received Noise Level

### J.7 ACOUSTIC MONITORING REPORT

In 2010, the National Park Service conducted an acoustic monitoring study within the Olympic National Park (NPS 2016). Of five ground locations where noise sampling took place, three (Hoh River Trail, Third Beach Trail, and Lake Ozette) lie beneath the Olympic MOAs. The purpose of this monitoring effort was to characterize existing sound levels and estimate natural ambient acoustic baselines for these areas, as well as identify audible sound sources. (Two other sites were monitored, but they lie well outside the boundary of the MOAs. While they could be indicative of noise levels received during transit to the MOAs, the results at these two sites were very similar to results seen in the other three sites, and so add no new information.)

The natural daytime ambient acoustic baseline was found to be 34.1 dBA for Hoh River Trail, 35.6 dBA for Third Beach Trail, and 31.4 dBA for Lake Ozette.

Data from the study are summarized below in Tables J-18 and J-19. Table J-18 reports the percent of time that sound levels were above 4 metrics (35, 45, 52, and 60 dBA) at each of the measurement locations for the winter season. The metric of 52 dBA is the Environmental Protection Agency's speech interference threshold for speaking in a raised voice to an audience at 10 meters; and 60 dBA provides a basis for estimating impacts on normal voice communications at 3 ft. Hikers and visitors viewing scenic vistas in the park would likely be conducting these types of conversations.

Site Name	% Time above sound level: Daytime (7 am to 7 pm)				% Time above sound level: Nighttime (7 pm to 7 am)			
	35 dBA	45 dBA	52 dBA	60 dBA	35 dBA	45 dBA	52 dBA	60 dBA
Hoh River Trail	41.39	2.29	0.21	0.01	29.88	3.86	0.21	0.00
Third Beach Trail	57.43	19.29	5.79	0.18	58.91	19.46	4.83	0.33
Lake Ozette	40.14	16.67	7.85	1.19	44.36	16.15	5.18	1.40

#### Table J-18: Percent Time Above Metrics for Winter Season Beneath the Olympic MOAs

Notes: MOA = Military Operations Area, dBA = A-Weighted Sound Pressure Level

#### Table J-19: Summary of Acoustic Observer Log Data for All Sites for the Winter Season

	% Time Audible: Daytime (7 am to 7 pm)						
Site Name	Fixed-Wing Aircraft and Helicopter Sounds	Other Aircraft Sounds	Other Human Sounds	Natural Sounds			
Hoh River Trail	0.5	11.2	4.9	83.4			
Third Beach Trail	1.3	3.7	4.2	90.8			
Lake Ozette	0.8	6.3	0.4	92.5			

As noted in the National Park Service study, none of these metrics should be construed as thresholds of impact. The results indicate that, at the Hoh River Trail site where aircraft sounds were audible 11.7 percent of the time, 52 dBA was exceeded less than 0.3 percent of the time. At the other two sites, while the time above 52 dBA was greater, approximately 6–8 percent, fewer of those occurrences appear to be related to aircraft noise. Natural sounds were the predominant sources of sounds measured at all three sites, and were audible between 83 and 93 percent of the time.

The data for this study were collected in 2010 but are considered relevant to current conditions related to Navy aircraft training, as the level of Navy activity in 2010 is generally consistent with the baseline data presented in Section J.5 (Airspace Training and Testing Activities) of this Airspace Noise Analysis.

## **REFERENCES**

- American National Standard Institute, "Quantities and Procedures for Description and Measurement of Environmental Sound -- Part 4: Noise Assessment and Prediction of Long-term Community Response," Acoustical Society of America and America National Standard Institute, ANSI S12.9-2005/Part 4, 2005.
- American National Standards Institute, Inc. (ANSI), American National Standard Quantities and Procedures for Description and Measurement of Environmental Sound, Part 5: Sound Level Descriptors for Determination of Compatible Land Use, ANSI S12.9/Part 5-1998 (R 2003), 2003.
- Berger, E.H., R. Neitzel, & C.A. Kladden. (2015). Noise Navigator Sound Level Database (June 26, 2015 ed.).
  3M Personal Safety Division, E-A-RCAL Laboratory: Univ. of Michigan, Dept. of Environmental Health Science, Ann Arbor, MI.
- Bradley, K.A., "RouteMap Version 2.0: Military Training Route Noise Model User's Manual," AL/OE-MN-1996-0002, Armstrong Research Laboratory, Brooks AFB, TX, June 1996.
- Czech, J. and Plotkin, K.J., NMAP 7.0 User's Manual, Wyle Research Report, WR 98-13, November 1998.
- Department of Defense, DoD Instruction, "Air Installations Compatible Use Zones, # 4165.57, 2 May 2011.
- Department of the Navy, "Range Air Installations Compatible Use Zones," OPNAV Instruction 3550.1A, 28 Jan 2008.
- Federal Aviation Administration (FAA). 1050.1F Desk Reference, Office of Environment and Energy, July 2015.
- Federal Interagency Committee on Noise (FICON). "Federal Agency Review of Selected Airport Noise Analysis Issues," Federal Interagency Committee on Noise, August 1992.
- Federal Interagency Committee on Urban Noise (FICUN). Guidelines for Considering Noise in Land-Use Planning and Control. U.S. Government Printing Office Report #1981-337-066/8071, Washington, D.C., 1980.
- Fidell, S., Barger, D.S., and Schultz, T.J., "Updating a Dosage-Effect Relationship for the Prevalence of Annoyance Due to General Transportation Noise," J. Acoust. Soc. Am., 89, 221-233. January 1991.
- Finegold, L.S., Harris, C.S., and von Gierke, H.E., "Community Annoyance and Sleep Disturbance: Updated Criteria for Assessing the Impact of General Transportation Noise on People," Noise Control Engineering Journal, 42: 25-30, 1994.
- Ikelheimer, B., and Plotkin, K.J., "Noise Model Simulation (NMSim) User's Manual," Wyle Report WR 03-09, October 2004.
- Ikelheimer, B., and Downing, M., "MRNMap Noise Model Improvements," Report No. BRRC13-03, August 2013.
- Moulton, C.M., "Air Force Procedure for Predicting Noise Around Airbases: Noise Exposure Model (NoiseMap) Technical Report," Report AL-TR-1992-0059, 1992.

- National Park Service (NPS), "Olympic National Park Acoustic Monitoring Winter 2010," Natural Resource Report NPS/NRSS/NSNSD/NRR—2016/1310. November 2016.
- National Park Service, "Aircraft Noise Model Validation Study," 68 FR 63131, November 7, 2003.
- National Park Service, "Notice of Recommendation from the Aircraft Noise Model Validation Study," 68 FR 63131, November 7, 2003a.
- Northwest Training Range Complex User's Manual, NAS Whidbey Island Instruction 3770.1HF, 18 October 20162012.
- Ross, J., Menge, C., Miller, N.P., "Percentage of Time Jet Aircraft are Audible in Grand Canyon Park," Harris Miller and Hanson, Inc., NPS-HMMH Job No. 295860.044, 2004.
- Schultz, T.J., "Synthesis of Social Surveys on Noise Annoyance," J. Acoust. Soc. Am., 64: 377-405, August 1974.
- Stusnick, E., K.A. Bradley, M.A. Bossi, J.A. Molino, and D.G. Rickert. The Effect of Onset Rate on Aircraft Noise Annoyance, Volume 3: Hybrid Own-Home Experiment. Wyle Laboratories Research Report WR 93-22, December 1993.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Guidelines for Noise Impact Analysis, Report 550/9-82-105 and #PB82-219205. April 1982.

This page intentionally left blank.

## Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement/

## **Overseas Environmental Impact Statement**

## Northwest Training and Testing

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

APPENDIX K		GEOGRAI	PHIC MITIGATION ASSESSMENTK-1			
K.1	Introduction K					
К.2	Mitigat	ation Area Development Process K-				
	K.2.1	Biological	Effectiveness Assessment CriteriaK-2			
	K.2.2	Operation	nal Assessment CriteriaK-2			
К.З	Resour	ces and Ha	abitats Assessed K-2			
	K.3.1	Seafloor I	ResourcesK-5			
	K.3.2	Banks and	d CanyonsK-5			
	K.3.3	Gray Wha	alesK-5			
	K.3.4	Humpbac	k WhalesK-7			
	K.3.5	Killer Wh	alesK-8			
	K.3.6	Olympic (	Coast National Marine SanctuaryK-9			
К.4	Mitigat	ion Areas	to be ImplementedK-10			
	K.4.1	Biological	Effectiveness AssessmentK-14			
		K.4.1.1	Seafloor Resource Mitigation AreasK-14			
		K.4.1.2	Marine Species Coastal Mitigation AreaK-14			
		K.4.1.3	Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Mitigation AreaK-15			
		K.4.1.4	Stonewall and Heceta Bank Humpback Whale Mitigation AreaK-15			
		K.4.1.5	Point St. George Humpback Whale Mitigation AreaK-15			
		K.4.1.6	Puget Sound and Strait of Juan de Fuca Mitigation AreaK-16			
		K.4.1.7	Northern Puget Sound Gray Whale Mitigation AreaK-16			
	K.4.2	Operation	nal AssessmentK-16			

## **List of Figures**

Figure K-1: Resources and Habitats Assessed	К-4
Figure K-2: Marine Species Mitigation Areas	.K-13

## **List of Tables**

Table K-1: Seafloor Resource Mitigation Areas	K-10
Table K-2: Marine Species Mitigation Areas	K-11

i

This page intentionally left blank.

# APPENDIX K GEOGRAPHIC MITIGATION ASSESSMENT

## **K.1** INTRODUCTION

As described in Chapter 5 (Mitigation), the United States (U.S.) Department of the Navy (Navy) will implement mitigation measures to avoid or reduce potential impacts from the Northwest Training and Testing (NWTT) Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (EIS)/Overseas Environmental Impact Statement (OEIS) Proposed Action. Mitigation measures that the Navy will implement under the Proposed Action are organized into two categories: procedural mitigation and mitigation areas. The Navy will implement procedural mitigation measures (e.g., using trained Lookouts to observe for marine mammals and sea turtles prior to, during, and after an activity) whenever and wherever applicable training or testing activities take place within the Study Area. Procedural mitigation measures are discussed in Chapter 5 (Mitigation). Chapter 5 (Mitigation) also presents information about the Navy's mitigation development process, such as a brief history of mitigation development for previous at-sea environmental compliance documents, definitions of mitigation terminology, and details on Navy monitoring, research, and reporting initiatives.

The purpose of this Appendix is to present the Navy's assessment of mitigation areas in the NWTT Study Area. Mitigation areas are geographic locations within the Study Area where the Navy will implement additional mitigation to: (1) avoid or reduce potential impacts on biological or cultural resources for which procedural mitigation cannot be implemented (e.g., seafloor resources), (2) in combination with procedural mitigation, effect the least practicable adverse impact on marine mammal species or stocks and their habitat, or (3) in combination with procedural mitigation, ensure that the Proposed Action does not jeopardize the continued existence of endangered or threatened species, or result in destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.

As discussed in Chapter 5 (Mitigation), the Navy will coordinate its mitigation with the appropriate regulatory agencies, including the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, through the consultation and permitting processes. The Final Supplemental, Navy and NMFS Records of Decision, Marine Mammal Protection Act Regulations and Letters of Authorization, and Endangered Species Act (ESA) Biological Opinions will document all mitigation measures the Navy will implement under the Proposed Action.

## K.2 MITIGATION AREA DEVELOPMENT PROCESS

The Navy completed an extensive assessment of the Study Area to develop the mitigation areas included in this Appendix to the Draft Supplemental. The Navy reanalyzed existing mitigation areas implemented under the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS; assessed additional habitat areas suggested by the public, NMFS, other governmental agencies, and non-governmental organizations; and considered other habitats identified internally by the Navy.

In developing mitigation areas, the Navy considered the manner and degree to which a potential mitigation measure was likely to avoid or reduce potential impacts on applicable seafloor and cultural resources and species or stocks of biological resources while still being practical and safe to implement, and not impeding the effectiveness of military readiness activities. The Navy operational community (i.e., leadership from the aviation, surface, subsurface, and special warfare communities; leadership from the research and acquisition community; and training and testing experts), environmental planners, and scientists provided input on the effectiveness and practicality of mitigation implementation. Data inputs for mitigation area assessment and development included the operational

information described in Section 5.2.3 (Practicality of Implementation), the best available science discussed in Chapter 3 (Affected Environment and Environmental Consequences), published literature, predicted activity impact footprints, and marine species monitoring and density data. A Biological Assessment and operational analysis of the mitigation areas the Navy developed for the NWTT Study Area is provided in Section K.4 (Mitigation Areas to be Implemented). Additional details about the assessment criteria are provided in the sections below.

### K.2.1 BIOLOGICAL EFFECTIVENESS ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

Mitigation areas are designed to help avoid or reduce potential impacts in key areas of importance. Therefore, the mitigation benefit is discussed qualitatively in terms of the context of impact avoidance or reduction. The Navy considers a mitigation area to be effective if it meets the following criteria:

- The mitigation area is a key area of biological or ecological importance or contains cultural resources: The best available science suggests that the mitigation area contains submerged cultural resources (e.g., shipwrecks) or is particularly important to one or more species or resources for a biologically important life process (i.e., foraging, migration, reproduction) or ecological function (e.g., live hard bottom habitat that provides critical ecosystem functions); and
- The mitigation will result in an avoidance or reduction of impacts: Implementing the mitigation will likely avoid or reduce potential impacts on: (1) species, stocks, or populations of marine mammals based on data regarding their seasonality, density, and behavior; or (2) other biological or cultural resources based on their distribution and physical properties. Furthermore, implementing the mitigation will not shift or transfer adverse effects from one species to another (e.g., to a more vulnerable or sensitive species).

## K.2.2 OPERATIONAL ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

Mitigation measures are expected to have some degree of impact on the training and testing activities that implement them (e.g., modifying where and when activities occur, ceasing an activity in response to a sighting). The Navy is able to accept a certain level of impact on its military readiness activities because of the benefit that mitigation measures provide for avoiding or reducing impacts on environmental and cultural resources. The Navy's focus during mitigation assessment and development is that mitigation measures must meet the appropriate balance between being effective and practical to implement.

To evaluate practicality, the Navy operational community conducted an extensive and comprehensive assessment to determine how and to what degree potential mitigation measures would be compatible with planning, scheduling, and conducting training and testing activities under the Proposed Action in order to meet the Navy's Title 10 requirements. During its assessment to determine how and to what degree the implementation of mitigation would be compatible with meeting the purpose and need of the Proposed Action, the Navy considered a mitigation measure to be practical to implement if it met all criteria discussed in Section 5.2.3.1 (Assessment Criteria) for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

## K.3 RESOURCES AND HABITATS ASSESSED

The Navy assessed resources and habitats throughout the NWTT Study Area for potential mitigation areas. The assessment included, but was not limited to, the resources and habitats listed below and shown in Figure K-1 that were identified internally by the Navy, suggested by the public during the
National Environmental Policy Act scoping process, identified as biologically important areas by Van Parijs et al. (2015), or designated as a National Marine Sanctuary:

- Seafloor resources (i.e., live hard bottom habitat, artificial reefs, shipwrecks)
- Banks and Canyons
  - Nehalem Bank, Daisy Bank
  - Nitinat Canyon, Juan de Fuca Canyon, Quinault Canyon, Grays Canyon, Guide Canyon, Willapa Canyon, Astoria Canyon, Eel Canyon
- Gray whales
  - Gray whale migration areas in Puget Sound and off the U.S. West Coast (seasonal depending on location)
  - Gray whale feeding area off Northwest Washington (May November)
  - Gray whale feeding area in Northern Puget Sound (March May)
- Humpback whales
  - Humpback whale feeding area off Northern Washington (May November)
  - Humpback whale feeding area at Stonewall and Heceta Bank (May November)
  - Humpback whale feeding area at Point St. George (July November)
- Killer whales
  - Transient killer whale habitat
  - Southern Resident killer whale habitat
- Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary

Several areas were suggested by public comments during the National Environmental Policy Act scoping process that are located outside of the Study Area; therefore, those habitats are not considered in this Appendix. Information on Marine Protected Areas other than the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary is presented in full in Chapter 6 (Additional Regulatory Considerations) of this Draft Supplemental.

### Northwest Training and Testing Draft Supplemental EIS/OEIS





### K.3.1 SEAFLOOR RESOURCES

Seafloor resources fulfill important ecosystem functions. Live hard bottom habitats and artificial structures (e.g., artificial reefs, shipwrecks) provide attachment substrate for aquatic vegetation and invertebrates, such as corals, seaweed, seagrass, macroalgae, and sponges. These habitats in turn support a community of organisms, such as fish, shrimp, crabs, barnacles, worms, and sea cucumbers.

Dive sites occur throughout nearshore areas of the Study Area where there are shipwrecks and artificial reefs, making these resources highly valuable from a socioeconomic standpoint. Similarly, submerged aquatic vegetation provides important habitat for commercially and recreationally important fish species. Historic shipwrecks are classified as archaeological resources and are an important part of maritime history. For additional information on the biological, cultural, and socioeconomic importance of seafloor resources and their associated ecosystem components, refer to Chapter 3.3 (Marine Habitats), Chapter 3.4 (Marine Mammals), Chapter 3.7 (Marine Vegetation), Chapter 3.8 (Marine Invertebrates), Chapter 3.9 (Fishes), Chapter 3.10 (Cultural Resources), and Chapter 3.11 (Socioeconomic Resources) of this Draft Supplemental.

# K.3.2 BANKS AND CANYONS

Nehalem and Daisy Banks are reefs designated by the Environmental Protection Agency as ecologically significant areas. The reefs are known for their high biological diversity and are thought to be particularly important habitat for numerous species, including marine invertebrates, for foraging and reproduction (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2017).

Submarine canyon environments are characterized by high pressure and low oxygen, light, and temperature levels. Many are thought to be particularly important for a wide variety of marine species, including marine mammals, invertebrates, and fishes, due to their association with primary productivity. For example, submarine canyons contribute to the growth and reproduction of important zooplankton and phytoplankton populations (Hickey & Banas, 2003). The Willapa, Nitinat, Juan de Fuca, Grays, Quinault, and Guide submarine canyons are located off the coast of Washington state. The Nitinat, Juan de Fuca, and Quinault canyons exist partially within the boundaries of the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary (National Marine Sanctuaries, 2017). Astoria Canyon is located off the coast of Oregon, and Eel Canyon is located off northern California. The Eel, Astoria, and Grays canyons have each been characterized by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration as essential fish habitats and are listed as Marine Protected Areas (Vander Schaaf et al., 2013).

# K.3.3 GRAY WHALES

Eastern North Pacific gray whales are known to migrate along the U.S. West Coast on both their northward and southward migrations. This species makes the longest annual migration of any mammal: 15,000–20,000 kilometers roundtrip (Jefferson et al., 2008; Jones & Swartz, 2009). The migration connects summer arctic and north Pacific feeding grounds with winter mating and calving regions in temperate and subtropical coastal waters. Winter grounds extend from central California south along Baja California, the Gulf of California, and the mainland coast of Mexico.

Gray whale migration along the U.S. West Coast can be loosely categorized into three phases (Rugh et al., 2001; Rugh et al., 2008). Beginning in the fall, whales start the southward migration from summer feeding areas (which span the coast from the northern Gulf of Alaska to the Study Area) to winter calving areas. The Southbound Phase includes all age classes as they migrate primarily to the nearshore waters and lagoons of Baja, Mexico, mainly following the coast, and occurs from October through

March. During the southbound phase of migration, peak sightings occur in January off the Oregon and Washington coasts (Herzing & Mate, 1984; Rugh et al., 2001). The southbound trip averages two months in length. The northward migration to the feeding grounds occurs in two phases. Northbound Phase A consists mainly of adults and juveniles that lead the beginning of the north-bound migration from late January through July, peaking in April through July. Newly pregnant females go first to maximize feeding time, followed by adult females and males, then juveniles (Jones & Swartz, 2009). The Northbound Phase B consists primarily of cow-calf pairs which begin their northward migration later (February to July), remaining on the reproductive grounds longer to allow calves to strengthen and rapidly increase in size before the northward migration (Herzing & Mate, 1984; Jones & Swartz, 2009). Selected areas of the migrations have recently been identified by NMFS as biologically important areas (Calambokidis et al., 2015).

Most of the eastern North Pacific stock summers in the shallow waters of the northern Bering Sea, Chukchi Sea, and western Beaufort Sea (Rice et al., 1981), but a small proportion (approximately 200 individuals) spend the summer and fall feeding along the Pacific coast from Southeastern Alaska to central California (Calambokidis et al., 1987; Calambokidis et al., 2002; Carretta et al., 2017; Gosho et al., 2011; Sumich, 1984). These whales, collectively known as the "Pacific Coast Feeding Group," are a transboundary population within the United States and Canada and are defined by the International Whaling Commission as a gray whale that is observed between 1 June and 30 November within the region between northern Vancouver Island and Northern California and has been photo-identified within this area during two or more years (Carretta et al., 2017; Punt & Moore, 2013). Information from nonsystematic, visual boat-based surveys and tagging data indicate the existence of Pacific Coast Feeding Group aggregation areas in the Pacific Northwest. The occurrence of eastern North Pacific gray whales and members of the Pacific Coast Feeding Group is considered seasonally likely in the offshore portion of the Study Area. Given their small population size and limited number of sightings off the U.S. West Coast, the occurrence of ESA-listed western North Pacific gray whales in the offshore portion of the Study Area is considered rare.

Clear seasonal differences in gray whale distribution were noted based on three distinct time periods: (1) winter (December–January), corresponding to the timing of their southbound migration; (2) spring (February–April), corresponding to the timing of their northbound migration; and (3) summer/fall (May– October), a time when any gray whales present are primarily members of the Pacific Coast Feeding Group. The eastern (shoreward) boundary of the Offshore Area of the Study Area is 12 nautical miles (NM) from the coast of Northern California, Oregon, and southern Washington and therefore does not overlap most of the gray whale migration corridor, which is closer to shore in these areas. Calambokidis et al. (2015) report that migration corridors used by most gray whales are within 10 kilometers of the U.S. West Coast. Data from tags placed on gray whales in Northern California adjacent to the Study Area in 2012 and 2013 confirmed the whales predominantly used the narrow continental shelf area along the Oregon coast, which is outside the Study Area (Mate, 2013; Mate et al., 2013). As shown Figure K-1, the only portion of the Study Area that overlaps the three documented gray whale migration routes is the area off northern Washington in W-237 of the Offshore Area that abuts the coastline (Aquatic Mammals, 2015; Calambokidis et al., 2015). Gray whales tagged in 2012 and 2013 showed a strong preference for shallow, nearshore habitat. These whales did not appear to use any canyons or underwater features preferentially, and were rarely found in the Offshore Area more than 19 kilometers from shore (Mate, 2013; Mate et al., 2013). In aerial surveys conducted in waters off Washington, Oregon, and Northern California covering the approximate nearshore half of the Study Area in the spring, summer, and fall of 2011 and 2012, gray whales were present during all surveys and within

25 kilometers of the coast except for two sightings over deeper water (Adams et al., 2014). In boat surveys between 1984 and 2011 off the Washington coast, gray whales were most commonly observed in very shallow waters with depths ranging from 5 to 15 meters over rocky substrates and often near kelp forests (Scordino et al., 2017).

As gray whales migrate between feeding and breeding grounds, a few may enter the Strait of Juan de Fuca to feed. Gray whales are observed in Washington inland waters in all months of the year (Calambokidis et al., 2010), with peak abundance from March through June (Calambokidis et al., 2010). One stranding occurred at Naval Base Kitsap Bremerton in January 2013. Gray whales have been sighted in Hood Canal south of the Hood Canal Bridge on six occasions since 1999, including a stranded whale at Belfair State Park (Calambokidis, 2013; Scheffer & Slipp, 1948). The most recent report in Hood Canal was of "blows" (air exhaled through the whale's blowhole) characteristic of gray whales in the waters near Lilliwaup in November 2010 (Calambokidis, 2013).

Calambokidis et al. (2010) reported that Puget Sound (mudflats near the Whidbey Island and Camano Island area) is used as a springtime feeding area for a small, regularly occurring group of gray whales. Observed feeding areas are located in Saratoga Passage between Whidbey and Camano Islands including Crescent Harbor, and in Port Susan Bay located between Camano Island and the mainland in Possession Sound. These areas are between Naval Air Station Whidbey Island (Crescent Harbor) and Naval Station Everett. In the Rich Passage to Agate Passage area in the vicinity of Naval Base Kitsap Bremerton and Keyport, 11 opportunistic sightings of gray whales in inland waters were reported to Orca Network between January 2003 and July 2012. NMFS has identified a seasonal, gray whale feeding area located in the vicinity of Everett, Washington and designated the Gray Whale Northern Puget Sound feeding area (Calambokidis et al., 2015). NMFS has identified this area as important for feeding during the March through May season associated with gray whale feeding at that location.

### K.3.4 HUMPBACK WHALES

In inland waters of Washington including the Strait of Juan de Fuca, Puget Sound, and other parts of the Salish Sea, scientists have noted a trend of increased humpback whale abundance (Cascadia Research, 2017; Cogan, 2015). Located near the inland waters portion of the Study Area (Aquatic Mammals, 2015; Calambokidis et al., 2015), NMFS identified the Northern Washington (May–November) feeding area. This area is primarily used annually during the approximate 6–7 month period when humpback whale feeding occurs at those locations. Shipboard surveys in July 2005 that included both U.S. and Canadian waters found that humpback whale sightings were concentrated around the edge of what appears to be the semi-permanent eddy associated with the outflow from the Strait of Juan de Fuca (Dalla-Rosa et al., 2012). The majority of this semi-permanent eddy and associated feeding area is present to the north of the designated feeding biologically important area's northern boundary (drawn between the U.S. and Canadian Exclusive Economic Zones). The designated biologically important area was bounded to the north by Canadian waters because the identification of biologically important areas was restricted to locations only in U.S. waters (Calambokidis et al., 2015; Ferguson et al., 2015a; Ferguson et al., 2015b).

The two humpback whale feeding areas in and around the offshore portion of the Study Area are (1) Point St. George (feeding July to November), and (2) Stonewall and Heceta Bank (feeding May–November). The Stonewall and Heceta Bank biologically important area begins inside of 12 NM from shore and extends beyond 12 NM in two small portions of the Study Area. Each of these areas is primarily utilized during the approximate 6–7 month period annually when humpback whale feeding occurs at those locations (Aquatic Mammals, 2015; Calambokidis et al., 2015).

Visual surveys and acoustic monitoring studies have detected humpbacks along the Washington coast year-round, with peak occurrence during the summer and fall (Oleson et al., 2009). Consistent with previous recordings from two Navy-funded offshore passive acoustic monitoring devices (Širović et al., 2012a; Širović et al., 2012b), humpback whales were most commonly detected in acoustic recordings between September and December, which is also the peak time for humpback whale singing (Širović et al., 2012a). Lower levels of humpback whale calling were also detected from February through May (Oleson et al., 2009; Širović et al., 2012a; Širović et al., 2012b). Visual and acoustic detections of humpback whales in this area do not fully overlap, as most visual sightings occur during the summer and early fall (Oleson et al., 2009), which is likely the result of the strong seasonal variation in humpback whale singing and other vocal behavior (Širović et al., 2012a; Širović et al., 2012a).

The California, Oregon, and Washington stock of humpback whales uses the waters off the West Coast of the United States as a summer feeding ground. They are present off the Northern California coast mainly between April and December and off the Oregon and Washington coasts mainly from May through November (Calambokidis et al., 2004a; Calambokidis et al., 2010; Dohl et al., 1983; Forney & Barlow, 1998; Green et al., 1992). Photo-identification studies suggest that whales feeding in this region are part of a small sub-population that primarily feeds from central Washington to southern Vancouver Island (Calambokidis et al., 2004a; Calambokidis et al., 2008). Whales appear to range broadly throughout the continental shelf waters, with significant seasonal trends in distribution; however, detailed knowledge of habitat use and individual residency patterns while in this feeding area cannot be determined easily through visual surveys alone (Falcone & Schorr, 2014). In winter and spring (roughly January–March), most whales are south on their breeding grounds and are likely not as abundant in this region of the Study Area during these times.

Off the U.S. West Coast, humpback whales are more abundant in shelf and slope waters (<2,000 meters deep), and are often associated with areas of high productivity (Becker et al., 2010; Becker et al., 2012; Forney et al., 2012). Humpback whales primarily feed along the shelf break and continental slope (Green et al., 1992). Off Washington, higher concentrations have been reported between Juan de Fuca Canyon and the outer edge of the shelf break in a region called "the Prairie," near Barkley and Nitinat Canyons, and near Swiftsure Bank (Calambokidis et al., 2004b). Five humpback whales were satellite tagged off Washington between May 2010 and May 2013. Although tag durations were short with a median duration of 7 days, tag tracks showed all five whales using both shelf and slope waters as well as some underwater canyons such as the Juan de Fuca Canyon (one of five whales) (Schorr et al., 2009; U.S. Department of the Navy, 2013).

# K.3.5 KILLER WHALES

Transient (Bigg's) killer whales in the Pacific Northwest spend most of their time along the outer coast of British Columbia and Washington, but visit NWTT Inland Waters in search of harbor seals, sea lions, and other prey. Transients may occur in NWTT Inland Waters in any month (Orca Network, 2010) but several studies have shown peaks in occurrences: Morton (1990) found bimodal peaks in spring (March) and fall (September–November) for transients on the northeastern coast of British Columbia. Baird and Dill, (1995) found some transient groups frequenting the vicinity of harbor seal haulout sites around southern Vancouver Island during August and September, which is the peak period for pupping through post-weaning of harbor seal pups. However, not all transient groups were seasonal in these studies, and their movements appear to be unpredictable. Transient killer whale occurrences in inland waters have increased between 1987 and 2010, possibly because the abundance of some prey species (e.g., seals, sea lions, and porpoises) has increased (Houghton, 2014). The Southern Resident stock of killer whales is a trans-boundary stock including killer whales in inland Washington and southern British Columbia waters as well as waters offshore (Carretta et al., 2018; National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016). The Southern Resident Distinct Population Segment is listed as endangered under the ESA. Photo-identification of individual whales through the years has resulted in a substantial understanding of this stock's structure, behaviors, and movements in inland waters (Wiles, 2016; Wright et al., 2017). In spring and summer months, Southern Resident killer whales are most frequently seen in the San Juan Islands region with intermittent sightings in Puget Sound (Olson & Osborne, 2017; Shields et al., 2018). In the fall and early winter months, the Southern Residents are seen more frequently in Puget Sound, where returning chum and Chinook salmon are concentrated. By winter, they spend progressively less time in the inland marine waters and more time off the coast of Washington, Oregon, and California (Black, 2011; Cogan, 2015; Hanson et al., 2017; National Marine Fisheries Service, 2016; Olson & Osborne, 2017).

While both Southern Resident killer whales and transient (Bigg's) killer whales are frequently sighted in the main basin of Puget Sound, their presence near Navy installations varies from not present to infrequent sightings, depending on the season (Orca Network, 2012). Southern Resident killer whales have not been reported in Hood Canal or Dabob Bay since 1995 (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2008). Southern Resident killer whales (J pod) were historically documented in Hood Canal by sound recordings in 1958 (Ford, 1991), a photograph from 1973, sound recordings in 1995 (Unger, 1997), and also anecdotal accounts of historical use, but these latter sightings may be transient whales (National Marine Fisheries Service, 2008). Transient killer whales were last observed in Hood Canal in 2005 and prior to that in 2003. In the last two weeks of April of 2018, a transient killer whale matriline transited and foraged the entire length of Hood Canal. The Navy captured acoustic recordings at Zelatched Point. Prior to these occurrences, transients were rarely seen. Near Naval Base Kitsap Bremerton and Keyport, the Southern Resident killer whale is also rare, with the last confirmed sighting in Dyes Inlet in 1997. Transient killer whales have been seen infrequently near Naval Base Kitsap Bremerton (e.g., a sighting in 2013 at Dyes Inlet; (Orca Network, 2013)). The Navy assumes Transients will occasionally be present in this area. Both Southern Resident killer whales and transients have been observed in Saratoga Passage and Possession Sound near Naval Air Station Whidbey Island and Naval Station Everett, respectively. Transients and Southern Resident killer whales have also been observed in southern Puget Sound in the Carr Inlet area.

### K.3.6 OLYMPIC COAST NATIONAL MARINE SANCTUARY

The Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary consists of an area of 2,408 square NM of marine waters and the submerged lands off the Olympic Peninsula Coastline of Washington State. The sanctuary extends approximately 38 miles seaward, covering much of the continental shelf and several major submarine canyons.

Due to the Juan de Fuca Eddy ecosystem created from localized currents at the entrance to the Strait of Juan de Fuca, and the diversity of bottom habitats, the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary supports a variety of marine life. See Section 3.4 (Marine Mammals), Section 3.5 (Sea Turtles), Section 3.6 (Birds), Section 3.7 (Marine Vegetation), Section 3.8 (Marine Invertebrates), and Section 3.9 (Fishes) for additional information on these species.

Key habitats within the sanctuary include kelp forest, surfgrass, seafloor (sand and silt, gravel and cobbles), deep-sea coral and sponge gardens, rocky reefs, intertidal zone, nearshore subtidal, deep-water benthic, and water column habitat. The diversity of habitats, and the nutrient-rich upwelling zone

(which exhibits the greatest volume of upwelling in North America) that drives high primary productivity in this province, contribute to the high species diversity in the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary, with 309 species of fish, more than 56 species of seabirds and 24 species of shorebirds, occurring in the sanctuary (Office of National Marine Sanctuaries, 2008). The sanctuary is thought to provide important foraging and migration habitat for 29 species of marine mammals, including toothed and baleen whales, seals and sea lions, and sea otters (Office of National Marine Sanctuaries, 2008).

## K.4 MITIGATION AREAS TO BE IMPLEMENTED

As a result of the Navy's biological and operational assessments, the Navy will implement mitigation within the mitigation areas detailed in Table K-1 and Table K-2 to avoid or reduce potential impacts on biological or cultural resources under the Proposed Action. Figure K-2 shows the locations of mitigation areas developed for marine species.

### **Table K-1: Seafloor Resource Mitigation Areas**

Mitigation Area Description
Stressor or Activity
Explosives
<ul> <li>Physical disturbance and strikes</li> </ul>
Mitigation Requirements
<ul> <li>Seafloor Resource Mitigation Areas (year-round)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Within the anchor swing circle of live hard bottom, artificial reefs, and shipwrecks, the Navy will not conduct precision anchoring (except in designated anchorages).</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Within a 350-yd. radius of live hard bottom, artificial reefs, and shipwrecks, the Navy will not conduct explosive mine countermeasure and neutralization activities or explosive mine neutralization activities involving Navy divers (except in designated locations), and the Navy will not place mine shapes, anchors, or mooring devices on the seafloor (except in designated areas).</li> </ul>

# Table K-2: Marine Species Mitigation Areas

Mitigation Area Description
Stressor or Activity
• Sonar
Explosives
Physical disturbance and strikes
Mitigation Requirements
<ul> <li>Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area (year-round)</li> </ul>
— Within 50 NM from shore in the Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area, the Navy will not conduct: (1) explosive training activities, (2) explosive testing activities (with the exception of explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing activities), (3) non-explosive missile training activities, and (4) non-explosive torpedo training activities. Should national security present a requirement to conduct these activities in the mitigation area, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to commencement of the activity. The Navy will provide NMFS with advance notification and include information about the event in its annual activity reports to NMFS.
— Within 20 NM from shore in the Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area, the Navy will not conduct non-explosive large-caliber gunnery training activities and non-explosive bombing training activities. Should national security present a requirement to conduct these activities in the mitigation area, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to commencement of the activity. The Navy will provide NMFS with advance notification and include information about the event in its annual activity reports to NMFS.
<ul> <li>Within 12 NM from shore in the Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area, the Navy will not conduct non-explosive</li> </ul>
small- and medium-caliber gunnery training activities and Anti-Submarine Warfare Tracking Exercise – Helicopter, Maritime Patrol Aircraft, Ship, or Submarine training activities. Should national security present a requirement to conduct these activities in the mitigation area, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to commencement of the activity. The Navy will provide NMFS with advance notification and include information about the event in its annual activity reports to NMFS.
Orympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Mitigation Area (year-round)     Within the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Mitigation Area, the Nawy will not conduct more than 22 hours
— Within the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Mitigation Area, the Navy will not conduct more than 32 hours of MF1 mid-frequency active sonar during training annually and will not conduct non-explosive bombing training activities. Should national security present a requirement to conduct more than 32 hours of MF1 mid-frequency active sonar during training annually or conduct non-explosive bombing training activities in the mitigation area, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to commencement of the activity. The Navy will provide NMFS with advance notification and include information about the event in its annual activity reports to NMFS.
— Within the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Mitigation Area, the Navy will not conduct more than 33 hours of MF1 mid-frequency active sonar during testing annually (except within the portion of the mitigation area that overlaps the Quinault Range Site) and will not conduct explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing activities. Should national security present a requirement for the Navy to conduct more than 33 hours of MF1 mid-frequency active sonar during testing annually (except within the portion of the mitigation area that overlaps the Quinault Range Site) or conduct explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing activities in the mitigation area, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to commencement of the activity. The Navy will provide NMFS with advance notification and include information about the event in its annual activity reports to NMFS.
<ul> <li>Stonewall and Heceta Bank Humpback Whale Mitigation Area (May – November)</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Within the Stonewall and Heceta Bank Humpback Whale Mitigation Area, the Navy will not use MF1 mid-frequency active sonar or explosives during training and testing from May to November. Should national security present a requirement to use MF1 mid-frequency active sonar or explosives during training and testing from May to November, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to commencement of the activity. The Navy will provide NMFS with advance notification and include information about the event in its annual activity reports to NMFS.</li> </ul>

### Table K-2: Marine Species Mitigation Areas (continued)

#### Mitigation Area Description

#### • Point St. George Humpback Whale Mitigation Area (July – November)

— Within the Point St. George Humpback Whale Mitigation Area, the Navy will not use MF1 mid-frequency active sonar or explosives during training and testing from July to November. Should national security present a requirement to use MF1 mid-frequency active sonar or explosives during training and testing from July to November, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to commencement of the activity. The Navy will provide NMFS with advance notification and include information about the event in its annual activity reports to NMFS.

#### • Puget Sound and Strait of Juan de Fuca Mitigation Area (year-round)

- Within the Puget Sound and Strait of Juan de Fuca Mitigation Area, the Navy will require units to obtain approval from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to: (1) the use of hull-mounted mid-frequency active sonar during training while underway, and (2) conducting ship and submarine active sonar pierside maintenance or testing.
- Within the Puget Sound and Strait of Juan de Fuca Mitigation Area for Civilian Port Defense Homeland Security Anti-Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises, Navy event planners will coordinate with Navy biologists during the event planning process. Navy biologists will work with NMFS to determine the likelihood of gray whale and Southern Resident Killer Whale presence in the planned training location. Navy biologists will notify event planners of the likelihood of species presence as they plan specific details of the event (e.g., timing, location, duration). The Navy will ensure environmental awareness of event participants. Environmental awareness will help alert participating ship and aircraft crews to the possible presence of marine mammals in the training location, such as gray whales and Southern Resident Killer Whales.

#### • Northern Puget Sound Gray Whale Mitigation Area (March – May)

 Within the Northern Puget Sound Gray Whale Mitigation Area, the Navy will not conduct Civilian Port Defense – Homeland Security Anti-Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises from March to May. Should national security present a requirement to conduct Civilian Port Defense – Homeland Security Anti-Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises from March to May, naval units will obtain permission from the appropriate designated Command authority prior to commencement of the activity. The Navy will provide NMFS with advance notification and include information about the event in its annual activity reports to NMFS.





### K.4.1 BIOLOGICAL EFFECTIVENESS ASSESSMENT

Mitigation areas in the NWTT Study Area will avoid or reduce impacts on one or more marine mammal species or stocks and their habitat, as summarized below:

### K.4.1.1 Seafloor Resource Mitigation Areas

The seafloor resource mitigation is a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Without mitigation, explosives and physical disturbance and strike stressors could potentially impact live hard bottom, artificial reefs, shipwrecks, and their associated ecosystem components during certain training and testing activities in the Study Area. The Navy developed mitigation areas as either the anchor swing circle diameter or a 350-yard (yd.) radius around a seafloor resource, as indicated by the best available georeferenced data. Mitigating within the anchor swing circle will protect seafloor resources during precision anchoring activities when factoring in environmental conditions that could affect anchoring position and swing circle size, such as winds, currents, and water depth.

For other activities that will implement the mitigation, a 350-yd. radius around a seafloor resource is a conservatively sized mitigation area that will provide protection well beyond the maximum expected impact footprint (e.g., crater and expelled material radius) of the explosives and non-explosive practice munitions used in the Study Area. The mitigation zone size extends beyond the military expended material with the largest footprint for all Study Areas where this mitigation measure is implemented. For example, the military expended material with the largest footprint (which is not used in the NWTT Study Area) is an explosive mine with a 650-pound net explosive weight, which has an estimated impact footprint of approximately 14,800 square feet and an associated radius of 22.7 yd. The largest explosive applicable to this mitigation zone is well beyond the maximum expected direct impact footprint for the activities that will implement the seafloor resource mitigation in the NWTT Study Area, and further mitigates some level of indirect impact from explosive disturbances. Other applicable explosive activities and non-explosive practice munitions have a smaller impact footprint; therefore, the mitigation area will result in additional protection during those activities.

The seafloor resource mitigation areas will help the Navy avoid or reduce potential impacts from explosives and physical disturbance and strike stressors on sensitive seafloor resources and to any biological or cultural resources that inhabit, shelter, rest, feed, or occur in the mitigation areas. As described in Chapter 3.3 (Marine Habitats) of this Draft Supplemental, other habitats, such as soft bottom, are expected to recover relatively quickly from potential disturbances; therefore, there would be a limited benefit of mitigation for other habitat types. To facilitate mitigation implementation, the Navy will include maps of the best available georeferenced data for artificial reefs, live hard bottom, and shipwrecks in its Protective Measures Assessment Protocol. Mitigation areas apply to georeferenced resources because the Navy requires accurate resource identification and mapping for mitigation to be effective and practical to implement.

### K.4.1.2 Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area

The Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area is designed to avoid or reduce potential impacts from explosives, non-explosive practice munitions, and active sonar on ESA-listed fish, ESA-listed birds, and marine mammals that inhabit, feed in, or migrate through this area, including killer whales, humpback whales, and gray whales. As shown in Figure K-2, the Navy will implement mitigation for applicable activities within 50 NM, 20 NM, or 12 NM from shore in the at-sea portion of the Study Area (including to the Washington shoreline in the W-237 Offshore Area). Mitigation within 12 NM and 20 NM from

shore in the Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area is a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Mitigation within 50 NM from shore in the Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area is a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS for training activities. Mitigation requirements within 50 NM from shore have been expanded to include explosive testing activities (except explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing activities).

### K.4.1.3 Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Mitigation Area

Mitigation within the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Mitigation Area is a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Mitigation within the Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary is designed to avoid or reduce potential impacts from mid-frequency active sonar, explosives during Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing activities, and non-explosive practice munitions on marine mammals that inhabit, feed in, or migrate through this area, including killer whales, humpback whales, and gray whales. The mitigation will also help the Navy avoid or reduce potential impacts on a wide assemblage of other resources that inhabit, forage in, and migrate through the sanctuary, such as leatherback sea turtles, invertebrates, birds, and fishes.

Because this mitigation area is located entirely within 50 NM from shore in the Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area, the Navy's combined mitigation will ensure that marine mammals and other sanctuary resources are not exposed to explosives in the sanctuary from any training or testing activity under the Proposed Action. Furthermore, mitigation within 20 NM and 12 NM from shore in the Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area will help the Navy avoid or reduce potential impacts from active sonar and non-explosive practice munitions on sanctuary resources.

### K.4.1.4 Stonewall and Heceta Bank Humpback Whale Mitigation Area

The Stonewall and Heceta Bank Humpback Whale Mitigation Area is new for the Draft Supplemental. Mitigation within the Stonewall and Heceta Bank Humpback Whale Mitigation Area is designed to avoid or reduce potential impacts seasonally from mid-frequency active sonar and explosives, including explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing activities, on humpback whales in an important feeding area. The mitigation will also help the Navy avoid or reduce potential impacts on other marine mammals that may inhabit or migrate through this area, including killer whales and gray whales.

The Stonewall and Heceta Bank Humpback Whale Mitigation Area is located within the Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area; therefore, humpback whales and other marine mammals will also benefit from the mitigation measures implemented for explosives and non-explosive practice munitions in that area.

### K.4.1.5 Point St. George Humpback Whale Mitigation Area

The Point St. George Humpback Whale Mitigation Area is new for the Draft Supplemental. Mitigation within the Point St. George Humpback Whale Mitigation Area is designed to avoid or reduce potential impacts seasonally from mid-frequency active sonar and explosives, including explosive Mine Countermeasure and Neutralization Testing activities, on humpback whales in an important feeding area. The mitigation will also help the Navy avoid or reduce potential impacts on other marine mammals that may inhabit or migrate through this area, including killer whales and gray whales.

The Point St. George Humpback Whale Mitigation Area is located within the Marine Species Coastal Mitigation Area; therefore, marine mammals will also benefit from the mitigation measures implemented for explosives and non-explosive practice munitions in that area.

### K.4.1.6 Puget Sound and Strait of Juan de Fuca Mitigation Area

Mitigation within the Puget Sound and Strait of Juan de Fuca Mitigation Area is a continuation from the 2015 NWTT Final EIS/OEIS. Although not depicted in Figure K-2, the mitigation area encompasses the full extent of the NWTT Inland Waters portion of the Study Area. Mitigation within the Puget Sound and Strait of Juan de Fuca Mitigation Area is designed to avoid or reduce potential impacts from active sonar on killer whales and gray whales. The mitigation will also help the Navy avoid or reduce potential impacts on other marine mammals that inhabit, feed in, or migrate through this area.

### K.4.1.7 Northern Puget Sound Gray Whale Mitigation Area

The Northern Puget Sound Gray Whale Mitigation Area is new for the Draft Supplemental. Mitigation within the Northern Puget Sound Gray Whale Mitigation Area is designed to avoid or reduce potential impacts seasonally from active sonar on gray whales in an important feeding area. The mitigation will also help the Navy avoid or reduce potential impacts on other marine mammals that inhabit or migrate through this area seasonally.

### K.4.2 OPERATIONAL ASSESSMENT

The Navy conducts training and testing activities in the NWTT Study Area because this region provides valuable access to sea space and airspace conditions analogous to areas where the Navy operates or may need to operate in the future. Training and testing schedules are based on national tasking, the number and duration of training cycles identified in the Optimized Fleet Response Plan and various training plans, forecasting of future testing requirements, and emerging requirements. When scheduling activities, the Navy considers the need to minimize sea space and airspace conflicts throughout the entire Study Area. For example, the Navy schedules training and testing to minimize conflicts between its own activities and with consideration for public safety (e.g., safe distances from recreational boating activities). Daily fluctuations in training and testing schedules and objectives could mean that, on any given day, vessels may depend on discrete locations of the Study Area for discrete purposes.

The Navy selects training areas in this region to allow for the realistic tactical development of the myriad training scenarios Navy units are required to complete to be mission effective. Certain activities, such as deployment certification exercises that involve integration with multiple warfare components, require large areas of the littorals and open ocean for realistic and safe training. The Navy chooses training locations based on proximity to training ranges, available airspace (e.g., avoiding airspace conflicts with major airports), unobstructed sea space, and aircraft emergency landing fields. The Navy requires flexibility in the timing of its use of active sonar and explosives in order to meet individual training and testing schedules and deployment schedules. Navy vessels, aviation squadrons, and testing programs have a limited amount of time available for training and testing. The Navy must factor in variables such as maintenance and weather when scheduling event locations and timing.

The Navy uses select areas in NWTT Inland Waters for a limited number of training and testing activities. These waters overlap the habitat extent of marine mammal habitat within Puget Sound. It is critical for national security that the Navy's inshore activities, such as Civilian Port Defense – Homeland Security Anti-Terrorism/Force Protection exercises, occur in NWTT Inland Waters as planned to provide realism and access to the necessary environmental conditions. The Navy selects the locations and scenarios for Civilian Port Defense – Homeland Security Anti-Terrorism/Force Protection Exercises according to Department of Homeland Security strategic goals and evolving world events. The Navy conducts testing activities in the Study Area because it provides a variety of bathymetric and environmental conditions necessary to ensure functionality and accuracy of systems and platforms in areas analogous to where the military operates. Testing locations are typically located near systems command support facilities, which provide critical safety, platform, and infrastructure support and technical expertise necessary to conduct testing (e.g., proximity to air squadrons). The testing community is required to install and test systems on platforms at the locations where those platforms are stationed. Additionally, the testing community has a need for rapid development to quickly resolve tactical deficiencies. Overall, training and testing schedules can be cyclical and are partially driven by geo-political situations, which precludes the Navy from implementing additional mitigation to reduce or eliminate the use of active sonar or explosives in the Study Area.

Expanding the mitigation areas in the Study Area would encroach upon the primary water space where training and testing activities are scheduled to occur. For example, expanding the mitigation to protect additional seafloor features where marine species are known to occur (e.g., soft bottom, which provides habitat for resources such as seagrass, worms, and clams) would essentially result in the Navy not conducting training and testing activities throughout a significant portion of the Study Area. This would prohibit the Navy from accessing a majority of its ranges and operating areas and conducting the Proposed Action in environments that are analogous to where the military operates, or may need to operate in the future, which would prevent it from meeting its mission requirements.

Further expansions of mitigation areas in the Study Area would require the Navy to relocate its activities to alternative locations, such as farther offshore in the NWTT Offshore Area. Moving activities farther offshore would reduce a unit's training opportunities during its limited available training timeframes (i.e., increased time spent transiting to more distant training areas results in decreased time available for training). This would also result in training and testing activities being conducted in water conditions that do not accurately reflect the types of environments where military missions and combat operations occur. Increasing transit distances would result in additional fuel consumption and expenditures, which could serve as a limiting factor for Navy surface units whose available underway times are constrained by fuel expenses.

Implementing additional mitigation in the Study Area would have a significant impact on the ability of units to meet their individual training and certification requirements (impacting the ability to deploy with the required level of readiness necessary to accomplish their missions), to certify forces to deploy to meet national security tasking (limiting the flexibility of Combatant Commanders and warfighters to project power, engage in multi-national operations, and conduct the full range of naval warfighting capability in support of national security interests), and for program managers and weapons system acquisition programs to meet testing requirements and required acquisition milestones. Based on the Navy's preliminary assessment for this Draft Supplemental, additional mitigation in the Study Area would increase operational costs (due to extending distance offshore, which would increase fuel consumption, maintenance, and time on station to complete required training and testing activities), increase safety risks (associated with conducting training and testing at extended distances offshore and farther away from critical medical and search and rescue capabilities), and accelerate fatigue-life of aircraft and ships (leading to increased safety risk and higher maintenance costs). Furthermore, additional mitigation would significantly impact training and testing realism due to reduced access to necessary environmental or oceanographic conditions that replicate military mission and combat conditions. This would diminish the ability for Navy Sailors to train and become proficient in using sensors and weapon systems as required during military missions and combat operations.

The iterative and cumulative impact of all potential mitigation measures the Navy assessed, including certain mitigation measures suggested through public scoping comments, would deny national command authorities the flexibility to respond to national security challenges and effectively accomplish the training necessary for deployment. For example, additional limitations on the use of active sonar and explosives would require the Navy to shift its training activities to alternative locations farther offshore. This would have significant impacts on safety, sustainability, and the ability to meet mission requirements within limited available timeframes. Likewise, requiring weapons system program managers and research, testing, and development program managers to use alternative areas within limited available timeframes would deny them the necessary flexibility to rapidly field or develop systems to meet testing program requirements and emerging requirements.

In summary, the Navy developed the mitigation areas identified in Table K-1 and Table K-2 to provide further protection for marine mammals and ESA-listed species, and help the Navy avoid or reduce potential impacts on seafloor resources in areas the best available science suggests are key areas of biological or ecological importance, or locations of submerged cultural resources. The mitigation will help the Navy avoid or reduce potential impacts from active sonar, explosives, and physical disturbance and strike stressors on these resources. Further restrictions on the level, number, or timing (seasonal or time of day) of training or testing activities would be impractical due to implications for safety, sustainability, and mission requirements.

# **REFERENCES**

- Adams, J., J. Felis, J. W. Mason, and J. Y. Takekawa. (2014). *Pacific Continental Shelf Environmental Assessment (PaCSEA): Aerial Seabird and Marine Mammal Surveys off Northern California, Oregon, and Washington, 2011–2012* (OCS Study BOEM 2014-003). Camarillo, CA: Bureau of Ocean Energy Management.
- Aquatic Mammals. (2015). Supplemental tables: Biologically important areas for selected cetaceans within U.S. Waters West Coast region. *Aquatic Mammals, 41*(1), 30–32.
- Baird, R. W., and L. M. Dill. (1995). Occurrence and behaviour of transient killer whales: Seasonal and pod-specific variability, foraging behaviour, and prey handling. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 73, 1300–1311.
- Becker, E. A., K. A. Forney, M. C. Ferguson, D. G. Foley, R. C. Smith, J. Barlow, and J. V. Redfern. (2010).
   Comparing California Current cetacean–habitat models developed using in situ and remotely sensed sea surface temperature data. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 413, 163–183.
- Becker, E. A., K. A. Forney, D. G. Foley, and J. Barlow. (2012). Density and Spatial Distribution Patterns of Cetaceans in the Central North Pacific based on Habitat Models (NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SWFSC-490). La Jolla, CA: Southwest Fisheries Science Center.
- Black, N. A. (2011). Fish-eating (Resident) Killer Whales Sighted in Monterey Bay on Feb. 10, 2011. Retrieved from http://www.montereybaywhalewatch.com/Features/PugetSoundKillerWhales1102.htm.
- Calambokidis, J., G. H. Steiger, and J. C. Cubbage. (1987). *Marine Mammals in the Southwestern Strait of Juan de Fuca: Natural History and Potential Impacts of Harbor Development in Neah Bay.* Olympia, WA: Cascadia Research Institution, and Seattle, WA: Seattle District Army Corps of Engineers.
- Calambokidis, J., J. D. Darling, V. Deecke, P. Gearin, M. Gosho, W. Megill, C. M. Tombach, D. Goley, C. Toropova, and B. Gisborne. (2002). Abundance, range and movements of a feeding aggregation of gray whales (*Eschrichtius robustus*) from California to southeastern Alaska in 1998. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management*, 4(3), 267–276.
- Calambokidis, J., T. Chandler, E. Falcone, and A. Douglas. (2004a). *Research on Large Whales off California, Oregon, and Washington in 2003*. Olympia, WA: Cascadia Research.
- Calambokidis, J., G. H. Steiger, D. K. Ellifrit, B. L. Troutman, and C. E. Bowlby. (2004b). Distribution and abundance of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) and other marine mammals off the northern Washington coast. *Fishery Bulletin*, *102*, 563–580.
- Calambokidis, J., E. A. Falcone, T. J. Quinn, A. M. Burdin, P. J. Clapham, J. K. B. Ford, C. M. Gabriele, R. LeDuc, D. Mattila, L. Rojas-Bracho, J. M. Straley, B. L. Taylor, J. Urbán R., D. Weller, B. H. Witteveen, M. Yamaguchi, A. Bendlin, D. Camacho, K. Flynn, A. Havron, J. Huggins, and N. Maloney. (2008). SPLASH: Structure of Populations, Levels of Abundance and Status of Humpback Whales in the North Pacific. Olympia, WA: Cascadia Research.
- Calambokidis, J., J. L. Laake, and A. Klimek. (2010). *Abundance and Population Structure of Seasonal Gray Whales in the Pacific Northwest, 1998–2008*. Washington, DC: International Whaling Commission Scientific Committee.

- Calambokidis, J. (2013). [Personal communication between John Calambokidis (Cascadia Research Collective) and Andrea Balla-Holden (Navy) via email between February 21 and February 22, 2013 regarding historical stranding and sighting records of gray whales in Hood Canal].
- Calambokidis, J., G. H. Steiger, C. Curtice, J. Harrison, M. C. Ferguson, E. Becker, M. DeAngelis, and S. M. Van Parijs. (2015). Biologically Important Areas for Selected Cetaceans Within U.S. Waters West Coast Region. *Aquatic Mammals (Special Issue), 41*(1), 39–53.
- Carretta, J. V., E. M. Oleson, K. A. Forney, J. Baker, J. E. Moore, D. W. Weller, A. R. Lang, M. M. Muto, B. Hanson, A. J. Orr, H. Huber, M. S. Lowry, J. Barlow, D. Lynch, L. Carswell, and R. L. Brownell, Jr. (2017). U.S. Pacific Draft Marine Mammal Stock Assessments: 2017 (NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SWFSC-602). La Jolla, CA: Southwest Fisheries Science Center.
- Carretta, J. V., K. A. Forney, E. M. Oleson, D. W. Weller, A. R. Lang, J. Baker, M. M. Muto, B. Hanson, A. J. Orr, H. Huber, M. S. Lowry, J. Barlow, J. E. Moore, D. Lynch, L. Carswell, and R. L. Brownell, Jr. (2018). U.S. Pacific Marine Mammal Stock Assessments: 2017. La Jolla, CA: Southwest Fisheries Science Center.
- Cascadia Research. (2017). *Return of humpback whales to the Salish Sea*. Retrieved from http://www.cascadiaresearch.org/projects/return-humpback-whales-salish-sea.
- Cogan, J. (2015). 2015 Whale Sightings in the Salish Sea: Central Salish Sea and Puget Sound (Southern Resident Killer Whale Project). Friday Harbor, WA: Center for Whale Research.
- Dalla-Rosa, L., J. K. B. Ford, and A. W. Trites. (2012). Distribution and relative abundance of humpback whales in relation to environmental variables in coastal British Columbia and adjacent waters. *Continental Shelf Research*, *36*, 89–104.
- Dohl, T. P., R. C. Guess, M. L. Duman, and R. C. Helm. (1983). Cetaceans of Central and Northern California, 1980-1983: Status, Abundance, and Distribution (OCS Study MMS 84–005). Los Angeles, CA: U.S. Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service, Pacific Outer Continental Shelf Region.
- Falcone, E. A., and G. S. Schorr. (2014). *Distribution and Demographics of Marine Mammals in SOCAL through Photo-Identification, Genetics, and Satellite Telemetry* (Prepared for Chief of Naval Operations Energy and Environmental Readiness Division: NPS-OC-14-005CR). Monterey, CA: Naval Postgraduate School.
- Ferguson, M. C., C. Curtice, J. Harrison, and S. M. Van Parijs. (2015a). Biologically important areas for cetaceans within U.S. waters – Overview and rationale. *Aquatic Mammals (Special Issue)*, 41(1), 2–16.
- Ferguson, M. C., J. M. Waite, C. Curtice, J. T. Clarke, and J. Harrison. (2015b). Biologically important areas for cetaceans within U.S. waters Aleutian Islands and Bering Sea region. In S. M. Van Parijs, C. Curtice, & M. C. Ferguson (Eds.), *Biologically Important Areas for cetaceans within U.S. waters* (Vol. Aquatic Mammals (Special Issue) 41, pp. 79–93).
- Ford, J. K. B. (1991). Vocal traditions among resident killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) in coastal waters of British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Zoology, 69*, 1454–1483.
- Forney, K. A., and J. Barlow. (1998). Seasonal patterns in the abundance and distribution of California cetaceans, 1991–1992. *Marine Mammal Science*, *14*(3), 460–489.

- Forney, K. A., M. C. Ferguson, E. A. Becker, P. C. Fiedler, J. V. Redfern, J. Barlow, I. L. Vilchis, and L. T. Ballance. (2012). Habitat-based spatial models of cetacean density in the eastern Pacific Ocean. Endangered Species Research, 16(2), 113–133.
- Gosho, M., P. Gearin, R. Jenkinson, J. Laake, L. Mazzuca, D. Kubiak, J. Calambokidis, W. Megill, B.
   Gisborne, D. Goley, C. Tombach, J. Darling, and V. Deecke. (2011). *Movements and diet of gray whales (Eschrichtius robustus) off Kodiak Island, Alaska, 2002–2005*. Paper presented at the International Whaling Commission AWMP workshop 28 March–1 April 2011. Washington, DC.
- Green, G. A., J. J. Brueggeman, R. A. Grotefendt, C. E. Bowlby, M. L. Bonnell, and K. C. Balcomb, III.
   (1992). Cetacean Distribution and Abundance off Oregon and Washington, 1989–1990. Los
   Angeles, CA: U.S. Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service.
- Hanson, M. B., E. J. Ward, C. K. Emmons, M. M. Holt, and D. M. Holzer. (2017). *Assessing the Movements* and Occurrence of Southern Resident Killer Whales Relative to the U.S. Navy's Northwest *Training Range Complex in the Pacific Northwest*. Seattle, WA: Northwest Fisheries Science Center.
- Herzing, D. L., and B. R. Mate. (1984). *Gray whale migrations along the Oregon coast, 1978–1981* (The gray whale *Eschrichtius robustus*). San Diego, CA: Academic Press, Inc.
- Hickey, B. M., and N. S. Banas. (2003). Oceanography of the U.S. Pacific Northwest Coastal Ocean and Estuaries with Application to Coastal Ecology. *Estuaries, 26*(4B), 1010–1031.
- Houghton, J. (2014). The relationship between vessel traffic and noise levels received by killer whales and an evaluation of compliance with vessel regulations. (Unpublished Master's Thesis Master's Thesis). University of Washington, Seattle, WA. Retrieved from http://digital.lib.washington.edu/researchworks/handle/1773/27476.
- Jefferson, T. A., M. A. Webber, and R. L. Pitman. (2008). *Marine Mammals of the World: A Comprehensive Guide to Their Identification*. London, United Kingdom: Elsevier.
- Jones, M. L., and S. L. Swartz. (2009). Gray whale, *Eschrichtius robustus*. In W. F. Perrin, B. Wursig, & J. G. M. Thewissen (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* (2nd ed., pp. 503–511). Cambridge, MA: Academic Press.
- Mate, B. (2013). *Offshore Gray Whale Satellite Tagging in the Pacific Northwest*. Silverdale, WA: Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest.
- Mate, B. R., A. Bradford, G. A. Tsidulko, V. Vertankin, and V. Ilyashenko. (2013). *Late feeding season movements of a western North Pacific gray whale off Sakhalin Island, Russia and subsequent migration into the eastern North Pacific* (Paper SC/63/BRG23). Washington, DC: International Whaling Commission.
- Morton, A. B. (1990). A quantitative comparison of the behaviour of resident and transient forms of the killer whale off the central British Columbia coast. *Reports of the International Whaling Commission* (Special Issue 12), 245–248.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2008). *Recovery Plan for Southern Resident Killer Whales (Orcinus orca)*. Seattle, WA: U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, Northwest Region.
- National Marine Fisheries Service. (2016). Southern Resident Killer Whales (Orcinus orca) 5-Year Review: Summary and Evaluation. Seattle, WA: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, West Coast Region.

- National Marine Sanctuaries. (2017). *Seafloor*. Retrieved from https://olympiccoast.noaa.gov/living/habitats/seafloor/seafloor.html.
- Office of National Marine Sanctuaries. (2008). *Olympic Coast National Marine Sanctuary Condition Report 2008*. Silver Spring, MD: U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Office of National Marine Sanctuaries.
- Oleson, E. M., J. Calambokidis, E. Falcone, G. Schorr, and J. A. Hildebrand. (2009). Acoustic and visual monitoring for cetaceans along the outer Washington coast. San Diego, CA: University of California San Diego Scripps Institution of Oceanography and Cascadia Research Collective.
- Olson, J., and R. W. Osborne. (2017). *Southern Resident Killer Whale Sighting Compilation 1948–2016* (RA133F-12-CQ-0057). Friday Harbor, WA: The Whale Museum and Olympic Natural Resources Center.
- Orca Network. (2010). Population Information. Retrieved from www.orcanetwork.org.
- Orca Network. (2012). A review of the sighting archives from January 2003 through July 2012 accessed in July 2012. Retrieved from http://www.orcanetwork.org/sightings/archives.html.
- Orca Network. (2013). Orca Network Sightings Archives. Retrieved from http://www.orcanetwork.org/Archives/index.php?categories\_file=Sightings%20Archives%20Ho me.
- Punt, A. E., and J. E. Moore. (2013). Seasonal Gray Whales in the Pacific Northwest: An Assessment of Optimum Sustainable Population Level for the Pacific Coast Feeding Group. La Jolla, CA: Southwest Fisheries Science Center.
- Rice, D. W., A. A. Wolman, D. E. Withrow, and L. A. Fleischer. (1981). Gray whales on the winter grounds in Baja California. *Reports of the International Whaling Commission*, *31*, 477–493.
- Rugh, D. J., K. E. W. Shelden, and A. Schulman-Janiger. (2001). Timing of the gray whale southbound migration. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management*, *3*(1), 31–39.
- Rugh, D. J., M. M. Muto, R. C. Hobbs, and J. A. Lerczak. (2008). An assessment of shore-based counts of gray whales. *Marine Mammal Science*, *24*(4), 864–880.
- Scheffer, V. B., and J. W. Slipp. (1948). The whales and dolphins of Washington State with a key to the cetaceans of the west coast of North America. *The American Midland Naturalist Journal, 39*(2), 257–337.
- Schorr, G., R. Baird, M. Hanson, D. Webster, D. McSweeney, and R. Andrews. (2009). Movements of satellite-tagged Blainville's beaked whales off the island of Hawai'i. *Endangered Species Research*, 10, 203–213.
- Scordino, J. J., M. Gosho, P. J. Gearin, A. Akamajian, J. Calambokidis, and N. Wright. (2017). Individual gray whale use of coastal waters off northwest Washington during the feeding season 1984–2011: Implications for management. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management*, 16, 57–69.
- Shields, M. W., J. Lindell, and J. Woodruff. (2018). Declining spring usage of core habitat by endangered fish-eating killer whales reflects decreased availability of their primary prey. *Pacific Conservation Biology*, *24*, 189–193.
- Širović, A., J. A. Hildebrand, S. Baumann-Pickering, J. Buccowich, A. Cummins, S. Kerosky, L. Roche, A. S. Berga, and S. M. Wiggins. (2012a). *Passive Acoustic Monitoring for Marine Mammals in the Northwest Training Range Complex 2011* (MPL Technical Memorandum MPL-TM 535). La Jolla,

CA: Marine Physical Laboratory, Scripps Institute of Oceanography, University of California San Diego.

- Širović, A., E. M. Oleson, J. Calambokidis, S. Baumann-Pickering, A. Cummins, S. Kerosky, L. Roche, A. Simonis, S. M. Wiggins, and J. A. Hildebrand. (2012b). Acoustic monitoring for marine mammals off Washington. In E. Oleson & J. Hildebrand (Eds.), *Marine Mammal Demographics off the Outer Washington Coast and Near Hawaii* (pp. 1–69). Monterey, CA: Naval Postgraduate School.
- Sumich, J. L. (1984). Gray whales along the Oregon coast in summer, 1977–1980. *Murrelet*, 65(2), 33–40.
- U.S. Department of the Navy. (2013). *Marine Species Monitoring Report for the U.S. Navy's Northwest Training Range Complex: Annual Report 2013*. Pearl Harbor, HI: U.S. Pacific Fleet.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2017). *Offshore Seafood Processors in Federal Waters Off the Coast of Washington and Oregon (WAG520000)*. Seattle, WA: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 10.
- Unger, S. (1997). *Identification of Orcinus orca by underwater acoustics in Dabob Bay.* Paper presented at the Presented at Oceans '97 MTS/IEE. Marine Technology Society and The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. Halifax, Nova Scotia.
- Van Parijs, S. M., C. Curtice, and M. C. E. Ferguson. (2015). Biologically important areas for cetaceans within U.S. Waters. *Aquatic Mammals (Special Issue), 41*(1), 128.
- Vander Schaaf, D., K. Popper, D. Kelly, and J. Smith. (2013). *Pacific Northwest Marine Ecoregional Assessment*. Portland, OR: The Nature Conservancy.
- Wiles, G. J. (2016). *Periodic Status Review for the Killer Whale*. Olympia, WA: Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife.
- Wright, B. M., J. K. B. Ford, G. M. Ellis, V. B. Deecke, A. D. Shapiro, B. C. Battaile, and A. W. Trites. (2017).
   Fine-scale foraging movements by fish-eating killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) relate to the vertical distributions and escape responses of salmonid prey (*Oncorhynchus* spp.). *Movement Ecology*, 5(3), 1–18.

This page intentionally left blank.